Regenerative Medicine and Plastic Surgery

Elements, Research Concepts and Emerging Technologies

Dominik Duscher Melvin A. Shiffman *Editors*



Regenerative Medicine and Plastic Surgery

Dominik Duscher • Melvin A. Shiffman Editors

Regenerative Medicine and Plastic Surgery

Elements, Research Concepts and Emerging Technologies



Editors Dominik Duscher Department for Plastic Surgery and Hand Surgery Division of Experimental Plastic Surgery Technical University of Munich Munich Germany

Melvin A. Shiffman Private Practice Tustin, CA USA

ISBN 978-3-030-19957-9 ISBN 978-3-030-19958-6 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19958-6

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019, corrected publication 2020

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

To Aura, the love of my life Dominik Duscher

Foreword

Plastic surgery, by its very nature, takes care of nearly every part of the human body including the skin, muscles, bones, nerves, and blood vessels. As Joseph G. McCarthy, my former Chief at NYU, once said, plastic surgeons are problem-solvers. They are called upon by other practioners to develop creative solutions to unsolvable problems in nearly every anatomic region. Thus, it is not surprising that plastic surgeons have flocked to the burgeoning field of regenerative medicine, which promises even more elegant solutions to clinical problems found everywhere in the human body. Regenerative medicine proposes using cellular and molecular processes to recreate the exact same tissues that plastic surgeons perform long operations to recreate.

It is logical that plastic surgery would be at the forefront of the field of regenerative medicine. And this is indeed the case at stem cell conferences and tissue engineering symposia, where plastic surgeons often outnumber all the other clinical attendees combined. However, up until now, there did not exist an authoritative reference documenting all the ways that plastic surgical practice and regenerative medicine science overlap or provide a road map for the future of both specialties. Drs. Duscher and Shiffman have provided a valuable service by gathering in one place the leading voices in these two fields in clear and concise manner.

Reading through this work, one is impressed by both the breadth of plastic surgery practice and the enormous potential of regenerative medicine to cure a multitude of human diseases. One also sees the potential for regenerative medicine to be integrated into clinical plastic surgery. With beautiful clinical images and artwork, this book will be a central companion to both practicing plastic surgeons who wish to remain abreast of upcoming technological advances and regenerative medicine researchers who wish to understand the current state of the art of surgical reconstruction. The analogies between the two disciplines are clearly laid out, and the possibilities for advances in clinical care leap off the pages.

Ultimately, regenerative medicine may make many operations plastic surgeons perform obsolete. This is familiar territory for plastic surgeons who always need to look for the next clinical arena for innovation. I am confident that clinical plastic surgeons will remain at the forefront and become leaders in this emerging field. In your hands is a comprehensive encyclopedia of two rapidly converging fields. Drs. Duscher and Shiffman have done an outstanding job of highlighting the interdependent relationship between plastic surgery and regenerative medicine. Ultimately, this is to the benefit of both fields.

Stanford, CA

Geoffrey C. Gurtner

Preface

A surgical success will impact the patient in question, but a research success can impact a global population. This thought came to me at the end of medical school and still is the main reason for my fascination for science today. Driven by my desire to create knowledge and discover new things, I found the seemingly endless possibilities of the young field of regenerative medicine particularly enchanting.

Through channelling the power of stem cells to repair or replace damaged tissues, regenerative therapies are making their way into mainstay clinical routine. As both case-based stem cell therapy and global understanding evolve, we are entering an era in which we can design treatments for some of the world's most devastating diseases. Innovative therapeutic concepts borne of the intersection of clinical medicine, engineering, and cell biology have potential to change the way we practice medicine.

The international efforts put into this field have created an unyielding body of literature. Staying abreast of the genetic, epigenetic, cellular, stromal, hematopoietic, and pathologic research emerging each year is critical. A comprehensive, up-to-date reconnaissance of these parameters in the field of regenerative medicine is therefore a valuable tool. The expertise required to generate such a text far exceeded that of its editors, and the roots of this book are nourished in the soul of collaboration. I am indebted to the scores of renowned specialists who have contributed their expertise and ingenuity to this work. This book is intended for surgeons and scientists, for biologists and engineers, and for students of medicine, biomedical engineering, cell biology, and biotechnology, simply for everyone who is interested in the extraordinary potential that regenerative medicine has to offer. The first edition of this book represents an attempt to organize the current knowledge in the field. However, knowledge is of no value unless you put it into practice. Thus, we all need to strive for the clinical translation of the principles presented here to make the dream of tissue and organ regeneration become reality.

You can have results or excuses. Not both.

-Arnold Schwarzenegger

Munich, Germany

Dominik Duscher

Contents

Part I	Elements	of Regenerativ	e Medicine
		0	

1	Definitions Dominik Duscher, Matthias M. Aitzetmüller, and Elizabeth A. Brett	3
2	History of Regenerative Medicine	5
3	Basic Principles and Current Approach for Soft TissueRegenerationMatthias M. Aitzetmüller, Elizabeth A. Brett,Matthias A. Sauter, and Dominik Duscher	7
4	Sophisticated Biocomposite Scaffolds from Renewable Biomaterials for Bone Tissue Engineering Yavuz Emre Arslan, Eren Ozudogru, Tugba Sezgin Arslan, Burak Derkus, Emel Emregul, and Kaan C. Emregul	17
Par	t II Research Concepts	
5	Machanatropoduction in Wound Healing and Soon Formation	25
	Dominik Duscher	33
6	Mechanor ansurction in would Hearing and Scar Formation . Dominik Duscher Stromal Cell-Derived Factor 1 (SDF-1) Signaling and Tissue Homeostasis . Zeshaan N. Maan, Mimi R. Borrelli, Khosrow Siamak Houschyar, and Geoffrey C. Gurtner	47
6 7	Mechanical Cell-Derived Factor 1 (SDF-1) Signaling and Tissue Homeostasis Zeshaan N. Maan, Mimi R. Borrelli, Khosrow Siamak Houschyar, and Geoffrey C. Gurtner Stem Cell Differentiation Directed by Material and Mechanical Cues Caitlyn A. Moore, Alexandra Condé-Green, Pranela Rameshwar, and Mark S. Granick	354761

9	Bacteriophages as Biocontrol Agents of Biofilm InfectionsAssociated with Abiotic Prosthetic Devices81Shilpa Deshpande Kaistha, Pramila Devi Umrao, Ravish Katiyar, and Neelima Deshpande81
10	Extracellular Vesicles Derived from Mesenchymal Stem/Stromal Cells: Current Approaches to Enhance Their Release and Therapeutic Potential
11	Anti-Biofilm Activity of Viruses, Bacteria, Fungi, and Lichens: Mechanisms and Impact on Clinical Practice 113 Oana Săndulescu, Anca Streinu-Cercel, Mihai Săndulescu, and Adrian Streinu-Cercel
Par	t III Emerging Technologies
12	Bionic Reconstruction: The New Frontier
13	Carbohydrates in Regenerative Medicine: From Scaffolds to Cell Fate Modulators
14	Biomimetics: A New Abstraction for Bone Implant Design 151 Elizabeth A. Brett, Matthias A. Sauter, and Dominik Duscher
15	The Role of Microbiota in Skin Regeneration
16	Erythropoietin: An Innovative Therapeutic Approach in Thermal Trauma
17	Targeting C-Reactive Protein in Inflammatory Disease 173 Johannes Zeller and Steffen U. Eisenhardt
18	Stem Cell Therapies for Tissue Regeneration and Wound Healing: Strategies to Enhance Therapeutic Effectiveness 187 Silvia Mihalceanu, Matthias M. Aitzetmüller, Hans-Günther Machens, and Dominik Duscher
19	Iron Chelators & HIF-1α: A New Frontier forSkin Rejuvenation.201Andrea Pagani, Matthias M. Aitzetmüller,and Dominik Duscher
Par	t IV Translational Aspects
20	How to Overcome the Valley of Death from Basic Science to

20	How to Overcome the Valley of Death from Basic Science to	
	Clinical Trials	
	Kelly Bridgham, Akash Chandawarkar, Halley Darrach,	
	and Justin M. Sacks	

21	Moving Your Results from Bench to Bedside: Protecting Scientific Findings
22	The Regulatory Landscape of Cell- and Tissue-BasedRegenerative Medicine: Current Challengesand Emerging Issues.Sarah Khalid Alageel, Martin Hildebrandt,and Ana Valéria Gouveia de Andrade
23	Translational Challenges in Soft Tissue Regeneration
24	Bone Tissue Engineering Challenges in CraniofacialReconstructive SurgeriesSeyed Mohammad Zargar and Nima Jamshidi
25	Translational Challenges: Lymph Node Tissue Engineering 293 Philipp Neßbach and Matthias M. Aitzetmüller
26	Implementing Tissue Engineering and RegenerativeMedicine Solutions in Silicone ImplantsJae Chul Lee and Chan Yeong Heo
Par	t V Regenerative Plastic Surgery
27	Microdeformational Wound Therapy
28	Clinical Treatment of Hypertrophic Scars
29	Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine in Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery: The Most Important Clinical Applications of Mesenchymal Stem Cells
30	Reconstruction of Post-Traumatic Maxillary Ridges Usinga Radial Forearm Free Flap and AllogeneicTissue-Engineered Bone GraftsJames C. Melville, Huy Q. Tran, Jonathan W. Shum,Ramzey Tursun, and Robert E. Marx
31	Postoperative Complications of Mandibular Fracture Management

32	Use of Porcine Urinary Bladder Matrix (UBM-ECM) in the Head and Neck Region
	Bruce A. Kraemer and Amanda Gryniewicz Rowe
33	Advances in Facial Nerve Paralysis: Surgical Innovation, Tissue Engineering, and Emerging Technology
34	Management of Capsular Contracture: Non-surgical and Surgical Options411Jacob Haiavy and Whitney Florin
35	Soft Tissue Reconstruction of the Lower Limb
Cor Tiss Cur	rection to: The Regulatory Landscape of Cell- and sue-Based Regenerative Medicine: rrent Challenges and Emerging IssuesC1
Ind	ex

xiv

Contributors

Tommaso Agostini, MD Department of Maxillo Facial Surgery, Azienda Ospedaliero-Universitaria Careggi, Florence, Italy

Matthias M. Aitzetmüller, MD Department of Plastic and Hand Surgery, Klinikum rechts der Isar, Technical University of Munich, Munich, Germany

Section of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Department of Trauma, Hand and Reconstructive Surgery, Westfaelische Wilhelms, University of Muenster, Muenster, Germany

Sarah Khalid Alageel, MSc Department for Plastic Surgery and Hand Surgery, TUM School of Medicine, Technical University of Munich, München, Germany

TUM Cells Interdisciplinary Center for Cellular Therapies, TUM School of Medicine, Technical University of Munich, München, Germany

Francesco Arcuri, MD, PhD Department of Maxillo Facial Surgery, Azienda Ospedaliero-Universitaria Careggi, Florence, Italy

Tugba Sezgin Arslan, MSc Regenerative Biomaterials Laboratory, Department of Bioengineering, Engineering Faculty, Canakkale Onsekiz Mart University, Canakkale, Turkey

Yavuz Emre Arslan, PhD, MSc Regenerative Biomaterials Laboratory, Department of Bioengineering, Engineering Faculty, Canakkale Onsekiz Mart University, Canakkale, Turkey

Oskar C. Aszmann, MD Division of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Department of Surgery, Medical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria

Christian Doppler Laboratory for Restoration of Extremity Function, Medical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria

Patrick C. Baer, MD Division of Nephrology, Department of Internal Medicine III, Goethe-University, Frankfurt am Main, Germany

Mimi R. Borrelli, MBBS, MSc, BSc Division of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Department of Surgery, Stanford University School of Medicine, Stanford, CA, USA

Julia R. Brennan Department of Otolaryngology—Head and Neck Surgery, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, USA

Michael J. Brenner, MD Department of Otolaryngology—Head and Neck Surgery, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, USA

Elizabeth A. Brett, MSc Experimental Plastic Surgery, Department of Plastic and Hand Surgery, Klinikum rechts der Isar, Technical University of Munich, Munich, Germany

Kelly Bridgham, BS Department of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Johns Hopkins School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA

Akash Chandawarkar, MD Department of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Johns Hopkins School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA

Laura Cipolla, PhD Department of Biotechnology and Biosciences, University of Milano-Bicocca, Milano, Italy

Bruna Codispoti, BBSc, PhD Tecnologica Research Institute, Biomedical Section, Crotone, Italy

Alexandra Condé-Green, MD Division of Plastic Surgery, Department of General Surgery, Rutgers New Jersey Medical School, Newark, NJ, USA

Halley Darrach, BS Department of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Johns Hopkins School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA

Ana Valéria Gouveia de Andrade, MD TUM Cells Interdisciplinary Center for Cellular Therapies, TUM School of Medicine, Klinikum rechts der Isar, Technical University of Munich, Munich, Germany

Burak Derkus, PhD Department of Biomedical Engineering, Engineering Faculty, Eskisehir Osmangazi University, Eskisehir, Turkey

Neelima Deshpande, MD Healthpoint Polyclinic, Kothrud, Pune, MH, India

Dominik Duscher, MD Department for Plastic Surgery and Hand Surgery, Division of Experimental Plastic Surgery, Technical University of Munich, Munich, Germany

Steffen U. Eisenhardt, MD Division of Reconstructive Microsurgery, Department of Plastic and Hand Surgery, Medical Center—University of Freiburg Faculty of Medicine, University of Freiburg, Freiburg, Germany

Emel Emregul, PhD Bioelectrochemistry Laboratory, Department of Chemistry, Ankara University, Tandogan, Ankara, Turkey

Kaan C. Emregul, PhD Bioelectrochemistry Laboratory, Department of Chemistry, Ankara University, Tandogan, Ankara, Turkey

Jennifer Ernst, MD Clinic for Trauma Surgery, Orthopedics and Plastic Surgery, University Medical Center Goettingen, Goettingen, Germany

Angela Faga, MD Advanced Technologies for Regenerative Medicine and Inductive Surgery Research Center (T.A.Me.Ri.C.I.), University of Pavia, Pavia, Pavia, Italy **Gunter Felmerer, MD** Clinic for Trauma Surgery, Orthopedics and Plastic Surgery, University Medical Center Goettingen, Goettingen, Germany

Whitney Florin, MD, DDS Inland Cosmetic Surgery, Rancho Cucamonga, CA, USA

Mark S. Granick, MD Division of Plastic Surgery, Department of General Surgery, Rutgers New Jersey Medical School, Newark, NJ, USA

Amanda Gryniewicz Rowe, MS Division of Plastic Surgery, Department of Surgery, St. Louis University School of Medicine, St. Louis, MO, USA

Christina Irene Günter, MD Department for Plastic Surgery and Hand Surgery, Klinikum rechts der Isar, Technical University of Munich, Germany

Geoffrey C. Gurtner, MD Division of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Department of Surgery, Stanford University School of Medicine, Stanford, CA, USA

Jacob Haiavy, MD Inland Cosmetic Surgery, Rancho Cucamonga, CA, USA

Douglas Helm, MD Brigham and Women's Hospital Wound Care Center, Division of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Boston, MA, USA

Chan Yeong Heo, MD, PhD Department of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Seoul National University Bundang Hospital, Seongnam-si, Gyeonggi-do, Republic of Korea

Department of Plastic Surgery, College of Medicine, Interdisciplinary Program in Bioengineering, College of Engineering, Seoul National University, Seoul, Republic of Korea

Martin Hildebrandt, MD TUM Cells Interdisciplinary Center for Cellular Therapies, TUM School of Medicine, Klinikum rechts der Isar, Technical University of Munich, Munich, Germany

Institute of Clinical Chemistry and Pathobiochemistry, Klinikum rechts der Isar, Technical University of Munich, Munich, Germany

Sandip Hindocha, MD, MP, MBChB, MRCS Plastic Surgery & Laser Centre, Bedford Hospital NHS Trust, Bedford, UK

Khosrow Siamak Houschyar, MD Department of Plastic Surgery, BG University Hospital Bergmannsheil, Ruhr University Bochum, Bochum, Germany

Nima Jamshidi, PhD Department of Biomedical Engineering, Faculty of Engineering, University of Isfahan, Isfahan, Iran

Daniel J. Jordan, MBChB, MRCS, BSc, MSc Plastic Surgery and Reconstruction Department, Ninewells Hospital and Medical School, Tayside NHS Trust, Dundee, UK Shilpa Deshpande Kaistha, PhD Department of Microbiology, Institute of Biosciences & Biotechnology, Chhatrapati Shahu Ji Maharaj University, Kanpur, UP, India

Reba Kanungo, MD Department of Clinical Microbiology, Pondicherry Institute of Medical Sciences, Kalapet, Puducherry, India

Ravish Katiyar, PhD Department of Microbiology, Sanjay Gandhi Post Graduate Institute of Medical Sciences, Lucknow, UP, India

Jennifer C. Kim Department of Otolaryngology—Head and Neck Surgery, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, USA

Eric Klingelhoefer, MD Clinic for Trauma Surgery, Orthopedics and Plastic Surgery, University Medical Center Goettingen, Goettingen, Germany

Benjamin Koch, MD Division of Nephrology, Department of Internal Medicine III, Goethe-University, Frankfurt am Main, Germany

Bruce A. Kraemer, M.D. Division of Plastic Surgery, Department of Surgery, St. Louis University School of Medicine, St. Louis, MO, USA

Jae Chul Lee, PhD Department of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Seoul National University Bundang Hospital, Seongnam-si, Gyeonggi-do, Republic of Korea

Wolfgang Lehmann, MD Clinic for Trauma Surgery, Orthopedics and Plastic Surgery, University Medical Center Goettingen, Goettingen, Germany

Juan Liu, MD Department of Hand Surgery, Wuhan Union Hospital, Tongji Medical College, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, Wuhan, China

Zeshaan N. Maan, MD Division of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Department of Surgery, Stanford University School of Medicine, Stanford, CA, USA

Hans-Günther Machens, MD Clinic for Plastic Surgery and Hand Surgery, Klinikum Rechts der Isar, Technical University Munich, Munich, Germany

Division for Experimental Plastic Surgery, Department of Plastic and Hand Surgery, Klinikum Rechts der Isar, Technical University of Munich, Munich, Germany

Massimo Marrelli, MD Marrelli Health, Clinical Research Unit, Crotone, Italy

Robert E. Marx, DDS University of Miami, Jackson Memorial Hospital, Miami, FL, USA

Stephen K. Mathew, MD Department of Microbiology, Believers Church Medical College, Thiruvalla, Kerala, India

Department of Microbiology, Pondicherry Institute of Medical Sciences, Kalapet, Puducherry, India

Johannes A. Mayer, MD Christian Doppler Laboratory for Restoration of Extremity Function, Medical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria

James C. Melville, DDS Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, University of Texas Health Sciences Center at Houston, Houston, TX, USA

Department of Oral and Head and Neck Oncology and Microvascular Surgery, School of Dentistry, University of Texas Health Sciences Center at Houston, Houston, TX, USA

Silvia Mihalceanu Division for Experimental Plastic Surgery, Department of Plastic and Hand Surgery, Klinikum rechts der Isar, Technical University of Munich, Munich, Germany

Caitlyn A. Moore, ME Division of Plastic Surgery, Department of General Surgery, Rutgers New Jersey Medical School, Newark, NJ, USA

Mahmoud Kazem Nassar, MBChB, MRCS Plastic Surgery and Reconstruction Department, Ninewells Hospital and Medical School, Tayside NHS Trust, Dundee, UK

Philipp Neßbach, MSc Department for Plastic and Hand Surgery, Klinkum rechts der Isar, Technical University of Munich, Munich, Germany

Giovanni Nicoletti, MD Advanced Technologies for Regenerative Medicine and Inductive Surgery Research Center (T.A.Me.Ri.C.I.), University of Pavia, Pavia, Italy

Plastic Surgery Unit, Department of Clinical-Surgical, Diagnostic and Pediatric Sciences, University of Pavia, Pavia, Italy

Rei Ogawa, MD, PhD Department of Plastic, Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgery, Nippon Medical School, Tokyo, Japan

Dennis P. Orgill, MD, PhD Brigham and Women's Hospital Wound Care Center, Division of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Boston, MA, USA

Eren Ozudogru, MSc Regenerative Biomaterials Laboratory, Department of Bioengineering, Engineering Faculty, Canakkale Onsekiz Mart University, Canakkale, Turkey

Francesco Paduano, BBSc, PhD Marrelli Health, Clinical Research Unit, Crotone, Italy

Andrea Pagani Department of Plastic and Hand Surgery, Klinikum rechts der Isar, Technical University of Munich, Munich, Germany

Francesca Palmieri, Biol. Lab.Technician Tecnologica Research Institute, Biomedical Section, Crotone, Italy

Pranela Rameshwar, PhD Division of Plastic Surgery, Department of General Surgery, Rutgers New Jersey Medical School, Newark, NJ, USA

Carlo Rengo, DDS, PhD University of Naples "Federico II", Naples, Italy

Sandro Rengo, MD, DDS, PhD University of Naples "Federico II", Naples, Italy

Roberto Guizzardi Department of Biotechnology and Biosciences, University of Milano-Bicocca, Milan, Italy

Justin M. Sacks, MD, MBA Department of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Johns Hopkins School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA

Stefan Salminger, MD, PhD Division of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Department of Surgery, Medical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria

Christian Doppler Laboratory for Restoration of Extremity Function, Medical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria

Mihai Săndulescu, DDS, PhD Department of Implant Prosthetic Therapy, Carol Davila University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Bucharest, Romania

Oana Săndulescu, MD, PhD Department of Infectious Diseases I, National Institute for Infectious Diseases "Prof. Dr. Matei Bals", Carol Davila University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Bucharest, Romania

Dominik Saul, MD Clinic for Trauma Surgery, Orthopedics and Plastic Surgery, University Medical Center Goettingen, Goettingen, Germany

Matthias A. Sauter, MD Experimental Plastic Surgery, Department of Plastic and Hand Surgery, Klinikum rechts der Isar, Technical University of Munich, München, Germany

Richard Schäfer, MD Institute for Transfusion Medicine and Immunohematology, German Red Cross Blood Donor Service Baden-Württemberg-Hessen gGmbH, Goethe University Hospital, Frankfurt am Main, Germany

Arndt F. Schilling Clinic for Trauma Surgery, Orthopedics and Plastic Surgery, University Medical Center Goettingen, Goettingen, Germany

Jonathan W. Shum, DDS, MD Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, University of Texas Health Sciences Center at Houston, Houston, TX, USA

Department of Oral and Head and Neck Oncology and Microvascular Surgery, School of Dentistry, University of Texas Health Sciences Center at Houston, Houston, TX, USA

Gianrico Spagnuolo, DDS, PhD University of Naples "Federico II", Naples, Italy

Matthew E. Spector Department of Otolaryngology—Head and Neck Surgery, University of Michigan, Ann ArborMI, USA

Giuseppe Spinelli, MD Department of Maxillo Facial Surgery, Azienda Ospedaliero-Universitaria Careggi, Florence, Italy

Adrian Streinu-Cercel, MD, PhD Department of Infectious Diseases I, National Institute for Infectious Diseases "Prof. Dr. Matei Bals", Carol Davila University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Bucharest, Romania

Anca Streinu-Cercel, MD, PhD Department of Infectious Diseases I, National Institute for Infectious Diseases "Prof. Dr. Matei Bals", Carol Davila University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Bucharest, Romania

Marco Tatullo, MD, DS, PhD Tecnologica Research Institute, Biomedical Section, Crotone, Italy

Dominik Thor, PhD Vienna University of Economics and Business, Institute for Small Business Management and Entrepreneurship, Vienna, Austria

Huy Q. Tran, DDS Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, University of Texas Health Sciences Center at Houston, Houston, TX, USA

Department of Oral and Head and Neck Oncology and Microvascular Surgery, School of Dentistry, University of Texas Health Sciences Center at Houston, Houston, TX, USA

Marco Mario Tresoldi, MD Plastic Surgery Unit, Department of Clinical-Surgical, Diagnostic and Pediatric Sciences, University of Pavia, Pavia, Italy

I.C.S. Maugeri Research and Care Institute, Pavia, Italy

Ramzey Tursun, DDS Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, University of Texas Health Sciences Center at Houston, Houston, TX, USA

Department of Oral and Head and Neck Oncology and Microvascular Surgery, School of Dentistry, University of Texas Health Sciences Center at Houston, Houston, TX, USA

University of Miami, Jackson Memorial Hospital, Miami, FL, USA

Pramila Devi Umrao, MSc, PhD Department of Microbiology, Institute of Biosciences & Biotechnology, Chhatrapati Shahu Ji Maharaj University, Kanpur, UP, India

Mattia Vacchini Department of Biotechnology and Biosciences, University of Milano-Bicocca, Milan, Italy

Domenico Valente, MD Department of Maxillo Facial Surgery, Azienda Ospedaliero-Universitaria Careggi, Florence, Italy

Maximilian Zaussinger, MD Department of Plastic and Hand Surgery, Klinikum rechts der Isar, Technical University of Munich, Munich, Germany

Johannes Zeller, EMDM, MD Division of Reconstructive Microsurgery, Department of Plastic and Hand Surgery, Medical Center—University of Freiburg Faculty of Medicine, University of Freiburg, Freiburg, Germany

Part I

Elements of Regenerative Medicine

Definitions

1

Dominik Duscher, Matthias M. Aitzetmüller, and Elizabeth A. Brett

1.1 Regenerative Medicine

Regenerative medicine is an area of biomedicine, bridging the gap between life science and engineering [1]. Combining tissue engineering and stem cell biology with a focus on translational aspects, it aims to achieve replacement and engineering/regeneration of cells, tissues, and organs.

1.2 Tissue Engineering

Tissue engineering has the ultimate translational goal to utilize scaffolds, cells, and active molecules to form fully functional tissue. It is an inter-

M. M. Aitzetmüller

disciplinary field that applies the principles of engineering and life sciences toward the development of biological substitutes. The goal functions include restoration, maintenance, or improvement of tissue or organ [2].

1.3 Stem Cells

Stem cells are undifferentiated cells belonging to multicellular organisms. They are capable of giving rise to identical daughter cells, or alternate phenotypes through differentiation. Stem cells are the building blocks of life, whose un-mutated genetic pool is the hallmark of health. However, stem cells are also the building blocks for molecular medicine in the twenty-first century [3]. Following the principle of regenerative medicine, stem cell-based therapies have the potential to treat countless human diseases.

References

- Mao AS, Mooney DJ. Regenerative medicine: current therapies and future directions. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2015;112(47):14452–9.
- 2. Langer R, Vacanti JP. Tissue engineering. Science. 1993;260(5110):920–6.
- 3. Caplan AI, Bruder SP. Mesenchymal stem cells: building blocks for molecular medicine in the 21st century. Trends Mol Med. 2001;7(6):259–64.

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

D. Duscher, M. A. Shiffman (eds.), *Regenerative Medicine and Plastic Surgery*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19958-6_1

D. Duscher (🖂)

Department for Plastic Surgery and Hand Surgery, Division of Experimental Plastic Surgery, Technical University of Munich, Munich, Germany

Department of Plastic and Hand Surgery, Klinikum rechts der Isar, Technical University München, Munich, Germany

Section of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Department of Trauma, Hand and Reconstructive Surgery, Westfaelische Wilhelms, University of Muenster, Muenster, Germany e-mail: matthias.aitzetmueller@tum.de

E. A. Brett

Division for Experimental Plastic Surgery, Department of Plastic and Hand Surgery, Klinikum rechts der Isar, Technical University of Munich, Munich, Germany e-mail: Eliza.Brett@tum.de

Regenerative medicine is associated with engineering or regeneration of human cells, tissues, or medicine [2]. Far earlier, in 1968 the first successful bone marrow transplantation in humans was performed [3]. Subsequently, this development grew and led to achieving further milestones in the fields of stem cells and transplantation.

Although regenerative medicine is considered as a novel target of medical research, the idea of creating artificial organs is not so recent. Already in 1938. Alexis Carrell, a Nobel Prize winner for his work on vascular anastomosis, and Charles Lindbergh, the first pilot who crossed the Atlantic sea alone, published the book The Culture of New Organs [4]. In 1954, the kidney was the first organ to be substituted in a human. No rejection reaction occurred due to the factor of identical twins [5].

The regenerative potential of body parts is a common phenomenon in nature; salamanders are able to restore an amputated limb in a few days. Even the human potential of regeneration was well known in ancient times, as described by the myth of the great Titan Prometheus: an eagle was eating his liver during the day and it regenerated itself completely overnight [6]. During the last centuries, regenerative medicine strove to construct artificial organs mimicking natural tissue by combining modulated cells with extracellular matrix-hybridized synthetic polymers that have produced biologically functioning artificial tissues [1]. These developments open new avenues for curing patients with malignant and impaired tissues.

In 1989, a book titled *Tissue Engineering* [7] was published with the first expressive definition of tissue engineering given by Robert Nerem:

Tissue engineering is the application of the principles and methods of engineering and the life sciences towards the fundamental understanding of structure/function relationships in normal and pathological mammalian tissues and the development of biological substitutes to restore, maintain, or improve functions.

The evolution from tissue engineering into regenerative medicine was driven by intense developments in the financial, research, and political landscape. However, from a financial point of view, the last two decades, anticipated to bring the biotechnological revolution, were characterized by a disconnect between expectations and reality. Current strategies to pursue the objec-

2.1 History

organs and to restore or establish normal function [1]. Historically, regenerative medicine was first introduced by Kaiser in 1992, who described technologies which would impact the future of

D. Duscher (🖂)

Maximilian Zaussinger and Dominik Duscher

History of Regenerative Medicine



[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

D. Duscher, M. A. Shiffman (eds.), Regenerative Medicine and Plastic Surgery, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19958-6_2

M. Zaussinger

Department of Plastic and Hand Surgery, Klinikum rechts der Isar, Technical University of Munich, Munich, Germany

Department for Plastic Surgery and Hand Surgery, Division of Experimental Plastic Surgery, Technical University of Munich, Munich, Germany

tives of regenerative medicine are based on three concepts:

- Cell-based therapy
- Either biological or synthetic materials to restore cells and tissues
- Implantation of scaffolds seeded with cells

Understanding innovative technologies is fundamental to developing successful approaches in the biotech sector and hence is influential in developing the field of regenerative medicine [8]. To date, only a multidisciplinary team, including doctors, biologists, bioengineers, surgeons, and chemists, is able to master all key steps in these revolutionary fields of regenerative medicine.

References

 Mason C, Dunnill P. A brief definition of regenerative medicine. Regen Med. 2008;3:1–5.

- Kaiser LR. The future of multihospital systems. Top Health Care Financ. 1992;18(4):32–45.
- Starzl TE. History of clinical transplantation. World J Surg. 2000;24(7):759–82.
- Aida L. Alexis Carrel (1873–1944): visionary vascular surgeon and pioneer in organ transplantation. J Med Biogr. 2014;22(3):172–5.
- Guild WR, Harrison JH, Merrill JP, Murray J. Successful homotransplantation of the kidney in an identical twin. Trans Am Clin Climatol Assoc. 1956;67:167–73.
- Sampogna G, Guraya SY, Forgione A. Regenerative medicine: historical roots and potential strategies in modern medicine. J Microsc Ultrastruct. 2015;3(3):101–7.
- Skalak R, Fox CF. Tissue engineering: proceedings of a workshop, held at Granlibakken, Lake Tahoe, California, February 26–29, 1988. Vol. 107. New York: Alan R. Liss; 1988.
- Polykandriotis E, Popescu LM, Horch RE. Regenerative medicine: then and now—an update of recent history into future possibilities. J Cell Mol Med. 2010;14(10):2350–8. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/20825521

7

Matthias M. Aitzetmüller, Elizabeth A. Brett, Matthias A. Sauter, and Dominik Duscher

3.1 Introduction

Due to the ongoing shift in the distribution of the world's population towards old age, we recently experience a dramatic increase in comorbidities like diabetes or venous and arterial insufficiency. This results in a raising number of chronic wounds which have become not only an individual medical but also a significant economic burden, consuming 2–4% of health care budgets worldwide [1].

Section of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Department of Trauma, Hand and Reconstructive Surgery, Westfaelische Wilhelms, University of Muenster, Muenster, Germany e-mail: matthias.aitzetmueller@tum.de

M. A. Sauter

D. Duscher

Department for Plastic Surgery and Hand Surgery, Division of Experimental Plastic Surgery, Technical University of Munich, Munich, Germany

Wound healing is a complex system depending on the timed coordination of several cell types, intra- and extracellular mechanisms, proteins, and pathways, but also on several external factors like infections or mechanical irritation (Fig. 3.1). Defect or dominance of one factor can cause to a sudden breakdown of localized healing capacity, leading to formation of chronic wounds. A famous example for the fragility of the cellular mechanism for tissue homeostasis and repair is the connection between vitamin C deficiency and scurvy resulting in nonhealing wounds and spontaneous bleeding known since the sixteenth century [2, 3]. Mentioned first in journey books of Christopher Columbus as a result of monotone diet, the pathomechanism remained unclear until the twentieth century. Then it could be demonstrated that vitamin C represents a main cofactor for collagen crosslinking and an important factor to reduce oxidative stress [4]. This example shows how impactful minimal alterations in our metabolism can be for tissue regeneration. Therefore, a complete understanding of all molecular and cellular players involved in wound healing is pivotal for developing treatment strategies and effective drugs.

In this chapter, we summarize the most promising recent advances in wound healing therapeutics with the corresponding challenges and shed light on possible solutions for effective application.



3

Basic Principles and Current Approach for Soft Tissue Regeneration

M. M. Aitzetmüller (🖂)

Experimental Plastic Surgery, Department of Plastic and Hand Surgery, Klinikum rechts der Isar, Technical University of Munich, Munich, Germany

E. A. Brett

Experimental Plastic Surgery, Department of Plastic and Hand Surgery, Klinikum rechts der Isar, Technical University of Munich, Munich, Germany e-mail: Eliza.Brett@tum.de

Experimental Plastic Surgery, Department of Plastic and Hand Surgery, Klinikum rechts der Isar, Technical University of Munich, München, Germany e-mail: matthias.sauter@tum.de

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

D. Duscher, M. A. Shiffman (eds.), *Regenerative Medicine and Plastic Surgery*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19958-6_3



Fig. 3.1 Phases of adult wound healing with main affecting cells and signals. (Left) Coagulation and inflammation—day 0–3. Platelets: formation of platelet plug and secretion of platelet-derived growth factor and transforming growth factor for chemotaxis of neutrophils. Neutrophils: secrete interleukin 1 for the beginning of chemokine-cascade for chemotaxis of inflammatory cells; macrophages: phagocyte bacteria and secrete paracrine factors for keratinocyte-based epithelization and fibroblast activation. (Middle) Proliferation—day 4–21.

Beginning of angiogenesis, dependent on endothelial cells: activated by vascular endothelial growth factor. Formation of the extracellular matrix based on fibroblast activation: activated by basic fibroblast growth factor, interleukin 1, and platelet-derived growth factor. Epithelialization: keratinocyte based as a response to keratinocyte growth factor. (Right) Maturation phase—day 21–1 year. Wound contraction: transformation of fibroblasts to myofibroblasts. Collagen remodeling: effected by myofibroblasts and macrophages

3.2 Recent Advances in Wound Therapeutics

3.2.1 Growth Factor Therapy

The wound healing promoting effect of growth factors is broadly known. Although they have shown to act beneficial in preclinical studies, large clinical studies supporting this are still missing. A meta-analysis based on the Cochrane database showed a general benefit of growth factor-induced wound healing without any significant general adverse effects [5]. The plateletderived growth factors (PDGF), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), epidermal growth factor (EGF), fibroblast growth factor (FGF), and the transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- β) are in current focus of research.

PDGF-BB, administered in hydrogels and available as "Regranex" (Ortho-McNeil, Raritan, NJ), is the only growth factor therapy that is currently approved for treatment of nonhealing wounds [6]. Although there has been shown advantage in hypertensive leg ulcers, the application of this gel should be considered only as ultima-ratio treatment due to a higher rate of malignancies in patients treated with PDGF-BB [7].

As another growth factor VEGF was successfully used for accelerated wound closure in diabetic mice. Preclinical study showed less than half of resurfacing time in VEGF-treated group than in a non-treated group [8]. Also non-treated wounds on the contralateral site of animals with VEGF therapy showed an accelerated wound closure time. This leads to the suggestion of an additional systemic effect of local VEGF treatment with the possibility of interacting with tumor growth and of promoting malignant tendencies. There has been only one clinical trial comparing VEGF treatment and placebo showing no significant benefit for VEGF [9].

Several study groups investigated the effect of intralesional EGF injections on wound closure [10–12]. Although first clinical trials have been performed in Cuba in 2006 and have shown accelerated wound healing of high-grade diabetic foot healing and complete wound closure in up to 85% of cases, it is still no treatment option in western countries. A meta-analysis performed by Yang et al. [13] confirmed these first results strengthening the hopes for a new clinical treatment option for diabetic and avascular wounds.

B-FGF is one of the first growth factors that has been investigated. A clinical study by Richard et al. in 1995 involved 17 patients and could find no promoting effect of b-FGF [14]. Up to now the efficacy of b-FGF in wound healing remains unclear. While there exist clinical studies showing a promotion of diabetic wound healing effected by injectable b-FGF, others deny a significant effect of b-FGF releasing sponges while preclinical trials have shown a promising effect [15–17]. Furthermore, not only b-FGF but also acid-FGF has been tested for wound healing and similarly showed inconclusive results [18].

Although the TGF- β family, including TGF- β -1, 2, and 3, has shown to be involved in both promotion of wound healing and scarring, it has not become a possible treatment option in clinical routine yet [19]. The wound healing ability of TGF- β -1 and TGF- β -2 in murine models are well described. Although first clinical phase I and II trials have shown efficacy and safety of a TGF- β -releasing scaffold for treatment of venous ulcers, there exist no supporting phase III study [20].

Despite the fact that growth factor therapy has shown to be effective in preclinical and some clinical trials, only few of these substances hold promise to enter the clinical routine. A therapy containing only one growth factor is most likely not sufficient to efficiently promote wound healing, especially compared to NPWT, which has shown to significantly enhance a plethora of autologous growth factor levels.

3.2.2 Negative-Pressure Wound Therapy

The use of negative-pressure wound therapies (NPWT = vacuum-assisted closure = VAC) provides an effective and elegant way to close wounds, prevent infections, and simultaneously increase local growth factor levels. NPWT has shown benefit on bacterial contamination rate. It also temporarily creates relative hypoxia in the wound region, resulting in significant higher levels of the main growth factors (VEGF, TGF β , and basic FGF), angiopoietin 1 (essential for neoangiogenesis), and bone morphogenetic protein 2 (BMP 2-involved in cartilage and bone metabolism) [21–25]. Several studies suggest that microdeformation of the wound surface leads to accelerated cell migration and matrix production (Fig. 3.2) [23–25]. Interestingly, the temporary hypoxia induces the osteogenetic differentiation of MSCs. Therefore NPWT seems to be the perfect option for treatment of soft tissue defects involving bone defects and infected or potentially infected wounds. Further research has to be carried out to confirm these hypotheses in a clinical setting.



Technical development has led to change in handling of NPWT systems. Dressing changes only three times a week instead of twice daily as recommended in the first trails using NPWT has led to the possibility of a long-term use. By using silver-coated foams, that additionally hinder bacterial growth, NPWT became even more successful [26]. In aggregate, NPWT provides an effective and elegant way to treat difficult wounds by enhancing local growth factor levels and decreasing bacterial contamination of wounds.

3.2.3 Antioxidants and Wnt Modulation

The human skin is constantly exposed to environmental factors such as UV light, radiation, ozone (O₃), or air pollution inducing reactive oxygen species (= ROS). Additionally, cellular metabolism leads to ROS as side products. The causality between free radicals and aging has been described by different groups within the last century [27–31]. By causing accumulation of oxidative toxic products in long-living molecules such as collagen, it leads to peroxidation and dysfunction of these molecules. ROSinduced damaging of the DNA is directly followed by base loss/modification or breakage. ROS can further lead to glycation of proteins followed by degradation. According to this, ROS can significantly inhibit endogenous ability for



Fig. 3.3 Mechanism of reactive oxygen species (ROS) damage

wound healing by destruction of cells, key proteins, or parts of the ECM (Fig. 3.3).

Antioxidant treatment has been used since several years as a product improving the quality of skin. The most popular and most commonly used antioxidant is a polyphenol, also called aloe vera. As the main component of ointments or gels its therapeutic effect is related to the stimulation of collagen syntheses on the one hand and to antioxidative effects on the other hand [32]. But the use of anti-oxidants is not only limited on aesthetic treatment options. Some iron chelators like deferoxamine (= Desferal or more potent, desferriexochelin-772SM (D-Exo)) [33], deferiprone, and deferasirox are already in use in different medical fields [34]. Next to being well known as treatment option for beta-thalassemia [35, 36], anti-oxidant drugs have shown benefits mainly due to their anti-inflammatory potential to increase the retention rate of fat grafts, the survival rate of free flaps, and the healing process of diabetic wounds [37, 38]. This can be explained by the ability of free iron to induce the prolylhydroxylation of the hypoxia-inducible factor 1a (HIF-1 α), a process leading to inactivation and degradation of HIF-1 α [39]. Less free iron results in a higher expression of HIF-1 α and thereby

Fig. 3.2 Molecular mechanism of negative-pressure wound therapy

leads to benefits in local neovascularization and tissue regeneration. Harnessing these effects, a transdermal delivery system releasing DFO showed accelerated wound healing in diabetic ulcers. Prophylactic use of this system has a preventive effect on ulcer formation [40].

But not only antioxidative agents, also wnt pathway manipulation is a promising new alley of wound healing research. The wnt pathway represents a sequence of factors that can easily be targeted by nanoparticles. The wnt pathway was found to play an important role in embryonic vertebrae development, in the development of different malignancies, and additionally in tissue repair and scarring [41–44]. Pyrvinium, an antihelminthic drug, inhibits the wnt pathway by promoting the effectivity of the case in kinase 1α (CK1 α), leading to accelerated degradation of casein, a factor of wnt pathway [45, 46]. Studies using pyrvinium show a 1.4-fold increase of MSC proliferation by simultaneously inhibiting the osteogenic and chondrogenic differentiation. These changes were initiated by a pyrvinium-releasing sponge. Pyrvinium only affected the proliferation rate of MSCs. Other cell lines like HUVECs have shown no significant changes compared to nontreated cells [47].

Additionally, the wnt pathway has also shown to play a significant role in scar formation. By stimulation of the wnt pathway and the FGF pathway, the regeneration of hair follicles could be induced. Hair follicle secretes bone morphogenetic protein (BMP), which again stimulates myofibroblasts to differentiate into adipocytes. This pathway leads to inhibition of scar formation. Targeting and mimicking these three pathways to either prevent scarring or treat hypertrophic scars or keloids is a future goal of drug development [48–50].

3.2.4 RNA Interference-Based Therapy

Gene expression initially starts in the nucleus with transcription—the production of mRNA (messenger-RNA) followed by an export to the cytoplasm. Translation of mRNA leads to the production of proteins. After this process the mRNA is degraded.

The basic principle of RNA interference (RNAi-based therapy) is based on body's own mechanism for mRNA degradation: By binding to mRNAs, endogenous miRNAs (micro-RNAs) or synthetic siRNAs (small interfering RNAs) lead to mRNA degradation or to formation of double-stranded RNA and as a result to suppression of their translation [51, 52]. Synthetically produced siRNA can be used for knocking down factors which inhibit neo-angiogenesis and inhibit keratinocyte migration followed by reepithelialization [53–55].

For example, endogenous miRNA-21 is one of the best studied miRNAs. It has been shown to regulate re-epithelialization, cell proliferation, wound contraction, and formation of granulation tissue [54, 56, 57]. RNAi is not limited to wound healing applications, but also offers new possibilities in cancer therapy or treatment of genetic diseases like amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (by targeting and destroying wild-type mRNAs) [58, 59].

Difficulties for the application of this novel therapy include delivery to specific cells and problems with internalization of i-RNA to certain cell types [60, 61]. Additionally, a high degradation rate through RNases leads to a short intracellular half-life. However, further development of this technique may lead to new ways to enhance tissue regeneration and to bring us closer to the holy grail of scarless wound healing [62, 63].

3.2.5 Stem Cell-Based Therapy

Mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs) can be utilized to treat challenging wounds, such as wounds followed irradiation, ischemic or diabetic wounds. The basic principle is a potential differentiation of stromal cells and a higher local level of growth factors. Although preclinical and clinical studies showed promising results, there still remain several problems. Irregularities are caused by patient's individual factors, such as diabetes or age [64, 65]. These uncertainties still limit the clinical use. But stem cell-based therapy is not only limited to the regenerative potential of MSCs harvested from bone marrow or adipose tissue. Also peripheral blood cells (PBCs) have shown to secrete a mixture of the pro-angiogenetic factors VEGF and HIF-1, when being temporally conditioned under hypoxic stress [66]. These findings have been used for developing both an implantable and an injectable wound healing system and seem to be a promising approach to accelerate wound healing [67].

3.2.6 Scaffolds and Skin Equivalents

Bioactive dressings are engineered from components that are naturally present in the ECM or composed of polymers to mimic this unique matrix [68]. Biomimetic collagen hydrogels have been shown to accelerate early wound healing by modifying cell recruitment and augmenting granulation tissue formation [69]. Recently biologic matrices have evolved from being simple ECM replacements towards drug and cell delivery vehicles. Novel regenerative matrices are capable of both skin replacement and stimulation of endogenous cells [70]. For example, pullulan (a polysaccharide polymer)-collagen matrices was seeded with mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) and showed to enhance cell survival [71]. MSCs delivered in such a structured matrix environment have demonstrated enhanced efficacy by increased angiogenic cytokine expression [72]. Therefore, scaffolds can represent an intelligent and efficient drug-delivery vehicle to overcome certain problems of cell-based therapies [73].

In addition to improving wound healing and skin regeneration by increased neovascularization, scaffold-seeded progenitor cells can also enhance tissue repair by inducing a specific immune response. Delivery in the correct niche environment can further enhance the immunemodulatory effects of MSCs and have positive impact on scar formation. ASCs delivered to cutaneous excisional wounds via an ECM patch attenuate wound fibrosis more effectively than ASCs applied without scaffold support [74].

Despite significant scientific advancements and early clinical trials, clinical translation of progenitor cell-seeded biomimetic scaffolds for skin regeneration still remains a challenge. However, innovative therapies based on emerging concepts arising from the intersection of engineering, molecular signaling, and stem cell biology will potentially result in the transformation of fibrotic healing into skin regeneration. Looking ahead, understanding the genetic and epigenetic indicators that might predispose a patient to impaired wound healing or excessive scarring may enhance tissue regenerative approaches further.

3.3 Conclusions

A growing number of patients suffering from chronic wounds have brought soft tissue regeneration into spotlight of current research. The ideal treatment for wound healing is cheap and effective for most wounds. Furthermore, it is essential for upcoming devices to avoid side effect, to provide long-lasting application and should not be impaired by patient-dependent factors such as chronic systemic diseases. Several different approaches have been developed and have shown promising results in preclinical studies. Nevertheless, only NPWT has made the step to clinical routine. Possible reasons for this big gap between basic science and clinical implementation include several uncertain factors such as possible malignancy (growth factor-based therapy), high degradation rate (RNAi, growth factor, and stem cell-based therapy), systemic side effects (pyrvinium), uncertain retention rates, and individual limitations (stem cell-based therapy). Further approached should strive for a holistic attempt to correct the plethora of molecular defects that lead to nonhealing wounds rather than a one-factor replacement therapy.

References

- Lindholm C, Searle R. Wound management for the 21st century: combining effectiveness and efficiency. Int Wound J. 2016;13(Suppl 2):5–15.
- Lanman TH, Ingalls TH. Vitamin C deficiency and wound healing: an experimental and clinical study. Ann Surg. 1937;105(4):616–25.

- Tiesler V, Coppa A, Zabala P, Cucina A. Scurvyrelated morbidity and death among Christopher Columbus' Crew at La Isabela, the first european town in the new world (1494–1498): an assessment of the skeletal and historical information. Int J Osteoarchaeol. 2014;26(2):191–202.
- Grinnell F, Fukamizu H, Pawelek P, Nakagawa S. Collagen processing, crosslinking, and fibril bundle assembly in matrix produced by fibroblasts in longterm cultures supplemented with ascorbic acid. Exp Cell Res. 1989;181(2):483–91.
- Marti-Carvajal AJ, Gluud C, Nicola S, Simancas-Racines D, Reveiz L, Oliva P, Cedeño-Taborda J. Growth factors for treating diabetic foot ulcers. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2015;10:CD008548.
- Senet P, Vicaut E, Beneton N, Debure C, Lok C, Chosidow O. Topical treatment of hypertensive leg ulcers with platelet-derived growth factor-BB: a randomized controlled trial. Arch Dermatol. 2011;147(8):926–30.
- Papanas N, Maltezos E. Benefit-risk assessment of becaplermin in the treatment of diabetic foot ulcers. Drug Saf. 2010;33(6):455–61.
- Galiano RD, Tepper OM, Pelo CR, Bhatt KA, Callaghan M, Bastidas N, Bunting S, Steinmetz HG, Gurtner GC. Topical vascular endothelial growth factor accelerates diabetic wound healing through increased angiogenesis and by mobilizing and recruiting bone marrow-derived cells. Am J Pathol. 2004;164(6):1935–47.
- Hanft JR, Pollak RA, Barbul A, van Gils C, Kwon PS, Gray SM, Lynch CJ, Semba CP, Breen TJ. Phase I trial on the safety of topical rhVEGF on chronic neuropathic diabetic foot ulcers. J Wound Care. 2008;17(1):30–2, 4–7
- Singla S, Garg R, Kumar A, Gill C. Efficacy of topical application of beta urogastrone (recombinant human epidermal growth factor) in Wagner's grade 1 and 2 diabetic foot ulcers: comparative analysis of 50 patients. J Nat Sci Biol Med. 2014;5(2):273–7.
- Fernandez-Montequin JI, Betancourt BY, Leyva-Gonzalez G, Mola EL, Galan-Naranjo K, Ramirez-Navas M, Bermúdez-Rojas S, Rosales F, García-Iglesias E, Berlanga-Acosta J, Silva-Rodriguez R, Garcia-Siverio M, Martinez LH. Intralesional administration of epidermal growth factor-based formulation (Heberprot-P) in chronic diabetic foot ulcer: treatment up to complete wound closure. Int Wound J. 2009;6(1):67–72.
- 12. Fernandez-Montequin JI, Infante-Cristia E, Valenzuela-Silva C, Franco-Perez N, Savigne-Gutierrez W, Artaza-Sanz H, Morejón-Vega L, González-Benavides C, Eliseo-Musenden O, García-Iglesias E, Berlanga-Acosta J, Silva-Rodríguez R, Betancourt BY, López-Saura PA, Cuban Citoprot-P Study Group. Intralesional injections of Citoprot-P (recombinant human epidermal growth factor) in advanced diabetic foot ulcers with risk of amputation. Int Wound J. 2007;4(4):333–43.
- Yang S, Geng Z, Ma K, Sun X, Fu X. Efficacy of topical recombinant human epidermal growth fac-

tor for treatment of diabetic foot ulcer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Low Extrem Wounds. 2016;15(2):120–5.

- 14. Richard JL, Parer-Richard C, Daures JP, Clouet S, Vannereau D, Bringer J, Rodier M, Jacob C, Comte-Bardonnet M. Effect of topical basic fibroblast growth factor on the healing of chronic diabetic neuropathic ulcer of the foot. A pilot, randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled study. Diabetes Care. 1995;18(1):64–9.
- 15. Kanda N, Morimoto N, Ayvazyan AA, Takemoto S, Kawai K, Nakamura Y, Sakamoto Y, Taira T, Suzuki S. Evaluation of a novel collagen-gelatin scaffold for achieving the sustained release of basic fibroblast growth factor in a diabetic mouse model. J Tissue Eng Regen Med. 2014;8(1):29–40.
- Uchi H, Igarashi A, Urabe K, Koga T, Nakayama J, Kawamori R, Tamaki K, Hirakata H, Ohura T, Furue M. Clinical efficacy of basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) for diabetic ulcer. Eur J Dermatol. 2009;19(5):461–8.
- Yang Y, Xia T, Chen F, Wei W, Liu C, He S, Li X. Electrospun fibers with plasmid bFGF polyplex loadings promote skin wound healing in diabetic rats. Mol Pharm. 2012;9(1):48–58.
- Tan Y, Xiao J, Huang Z, Xiao Y, Lin S, Jin L, Feng W, Cai L, Li X. Comparison of the therapeutic effects recombinant human acidic and basic fibroblast growth factors in wound healing in diabetic patients. J Health Sci. 2008;54(4):432–40.
- Pakyari M, Farrokhi A, Maharlooei MK, Ghahary A. Critical role of transforming growth factor beta in different phases of wound healing. Adv Wound Care. 2013;2(5):215–24.
- Robson MC, Phillip LG, Cooper DM, Lyle WG, Robson LE, Odom L, Hill DP, Hanham AF, Ksander GA. Safety and effect of transforming growth factorbeta(2) for treatment of venous stasis ulcers. Wound Repair Regen. 1995;3(2):157–67.
- Ingber DE. Mechanical control of tissue growth: function follows form. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005;102(33):11571–2.
- Ingber DE. The mechanochemical basis of cell and tissue regulation. Mech Chem Biosyst. 2004;1(1):53–68.
- Nie B, Yue B. Biological effects and clinical application of negative pressure wound therapy: a review. J Wound Care. 2016;25(11):617–26.
- 24. Zhang YG, Wang X, Yang Z, Zhang H, Liu M, Qiu Y, Guo X. The therapeutic effect of negative pressure in treating femoral head necrosis in rabbits. PLoS One. 2013;8(1):e55745.
- 25. Li X, Liu J, Liu Y, Hu X, Dong M, Wang H, Hu D. Negative pressure wound therapy accelerates rats diabetic wound by promoting agenesis. Int J Clin Exp Med. 2015;8(3):3506–13.
- Valente PM, Deva A, Ngo Q, Vickery K. The increased killing of biofilms in vitro by combining topical silver dressings with topical negative pressure in chronic wounds. Int Wound J. 2016;13(1):130–6.
- 27. Dunn JA, McCance DR, Thorpe SR, Lyons TJ, Baynes JW. Age-dependent accumulation of N

epsilon-(carboxymethyl)lysine and N epsilon-(carboxymethyl)hydroxylysine in human skin collagen. Biochemistry. 1991;30(5):1205–10.

- 28. Rhie G, Shin MH, Seo JY, Choi WW, Cho KH, Kim KH, Park KC, Eun HC, Chung JH. Agingand photoaging-dependent changes of enzymic and nonenzymic antioxidants in the epidermis and dermis of human skin in vivo. J Invest Dermatol. 2001;117(5):1212–7.
- Kohen R. Skin antioxidants: their role in aging and in oxidative stress—new approaches for their evaluation. Biomed Pharmacother. 1999;53(4):181–92.
- Harman D. Aging: a theory based on free radical and radiation chemistry. J Gerontol. 1956;11(3):298–300.
- Harman D. The free radical theory of aging. Antioxid Redox Signal. 2003;5(5):557–61.
- Surjushe A, Vasani R, Saple D. Aloe vera: a short review. Indian J Dermatol. 2008;53(4):163.
- Hodges YK, Reese SM, Pahl PM, Horwitz LD. Paradoxical effects of iron chelation on growth of vascular endothelial cells. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol. 2005;45(6):539–44.
- 34. Pepe A, Meloni A, Capra M, Cianciulli P, Prossomariti L, Malaventura C, Putti MC, Lippi A, Romeo MA, Bisconte MG, Filosa A, Caruso V, Quarta A, Pitrolo L, Missere M, Midiri M, Rossi G, Positano V, Lombardi M, Maggio A. Deferasirox, deferiprone and desferrioxamine treatment in thalassemia major patients: cardiac iron and function comparison determined by quantitative magnetic resonance imaging. Haematologica. 2011;96(1):41–7.
- 35. Kuo KH, Mrkobrada M. A systematic review and meta-analysis of deferiprone monotherapy and in combination with deferoxamine for reduction of iron overload in chronically transfused patients with beta-thalassemia. Hemoglobin. 2014;38(6):409–21.
- Moayedi Esfahani BA, Reisi N, Mirmoghtadaei M. Evaluating the safety and efficacy of silymarin in beta-thalassemia patients: a review. Hemoglobin. 2015;39(2):75–80.
- 37. Ram M, Singh V, Kumawat S, Kumar D, Lingaraju MC, Uttam Singh T, Rahal A, Tandan SK, Kumar D. Deferoxamine modulates cytokines and growth factors to accelerate cutaneous wound healing in diabetic rats. Eur J Pharmacol. 2015;764:9–21.
- Temiz G, Sirinoglu H, Yesiloglu N, Filinte D, Kacmaz C. Effects of Deferoxamine on fat graft survival. Facial Plast Surg. 2016;32(4):438–43.
- 39. Lu H, Dalgard CL, Mohyeldin A, McFate T, Tait AS, Verma A. Reversible inactivation of HIF-1 prolyl hydroxylases allows cell metabolism to control basal HIF-1. J Biol Chem. 2005;280(51):41928–39.
- 40. Duscher D, Neofytou E, Wong VW, Maan ZN, Rennert RC, Inayathullah M, Januszyk M, Rodrigues M, Malkovskiy AV, Whitmore AJ, Walmsley GG, Galvez MG, Whittam AJ, Brownlee M, Rajadas J, Gurtner GC. Transdermal deferoxamine prevents pressure-induced diabetic ulcers. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2015;112(1):94–9.

- Miller JR, Moon RT. Signal transduction through beta-catenin and specification of cell fate during embryogenesis. Genes Dev. 1996;10(20):2527–39.
- Brennan KR, Brown AM. Wnt proteins in mammary development and cancer. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia. 2004;9(2):119–31.
- Barham W, Frump AL, Sherrill TP, Garcia CB, Saito-Diaz K, VanSaun MN, Fingleton B, Gleaves L, Orton D, Capecchi MR, Blackwell TS, Lee E, Yull F, Eid JE. Targeting the Wnt pathway in synovial sarcoma models. Cancer Discov. 2013;3(11):1286–301.
- 44. Leavitt T, Hu MS, Marshall CD, Barnes LA, Lorenz HP, Longaker MT. Scarless wound healing: finding the right cells and signals. Cell Tissue Res. 2016;365(3):483–93.
- 45. Saraswati S, Alfaro MP, Thorne CA, Atkinson J, Lee E, Young PP. Pyrvinium, a potent small molecule Wnt inhibitor, promotes wound repair and post-MI cardiac remodeling. PLoS One. 2010;5(11):e15521.
- 46. Thorne CA, Hanson AJ, Schneider J, Tahinci E, Orton D, Cselenyi CS, Jernigan KK, Meyers KC, Hang BI, Waterson AG, Kim K, Melancon B, Ghidu VP, Sulikowski GA, LaFleur B, Salic A, Lee LA, Miller DM 3rd, Lee E. Small-molecule inhibition of Wnt signaling through activation of casein kinase 1alpha. Nat Chem Biol. 2010;6(11):829–36.
- 47. Saraswati S, Deskins DL, Holt GE, Young PP. Pyrvinium, a potent small molecule Wnt inhibitor, increases engraftment and inhibits lineage commitment of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs). Wound Repair Regen. 2012;20(2):185–93.
- 48. Plikus MV, Guerrero-Juarez CF, Ito M, Li YR, Dedhia PH, Zheng Y, Shao M, Gay DL, Ramos R, Hsi TC, Oh JW, Wang X, Ramirez A, Konopelski SE, Elzein A, Wang A, Supapannachart RJ, Lee HL, Lim CH, Nace A, et al. Regeneration of fat cells from myofibroblasts during wound healing. Science. 2017;355(6326):748–52.
- Plikus MV, Mayer JA, de la Cruz D, Baker RE, Maini PK, Maxson R, Chuong CM. Cyclic dermal BMP signalling regulates stem cell activation during hair regeneration. Nature. 2008;451(7176):340–4.
- Chan CK, Longaker MT. Fibroblasts become fat to reduce scarring. Science. 2017;355(6326):693–4.
- Banerjee J, Chan YC, Sen CK. MicroRNAs in skin and wound healing. Physiol Genomics. 2011;43(10):543–56.
- 52. Lai WF, Siu PM. MicroRNAs as regulators of cutaneous wound healing. J Biosci. 2014;39(3):519–24.
- 53. Yu J, Ryan DG, Getsios S, Oliveira-Fernandes M, Fatima A, Lavker RM. MicroRNA-184 antagonizes microRNA-205 to maintain SHIP2 levels in epithelia. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2008;105(49):19300–5.
- 54. Wang XH, Qian RZ, Zhang W, Chen SF, Jin HM, Hu RM. MicroRNA-320 expression in myocardial microvascular endothelial cells and its relationship with insulin-like growth factor-1 in type 2 diabetic rats. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol. 2009;36(2):181–8.
- Dykxhoorn DM, Palliser D, Lieberman J. The silent treatment: siRNAs as small molecule drugs. Gene Ther. 2006;13(6):541–52.

- 56. Shaw TJ, Martin P. Wound repair at a glance. J Cell Sci. 2009;122(Pt 18):3209–13.
- 57. Liu X, Ma L, Liang J, Zhang B, Teng J, Gao C. RNAi functionalized collagen-chitosan/silicone membrane bilayer dermal equivalent for full-thickness skin regeneration with inhibited scarring. Biomaterials. 2013;34(8):2038–48.
- Brummelkamp TR, Bernards R, Agami R. Stable suppression of tumorigenicity by virus-mediated RNA interference. Cancer Cell. 2002;2(3):243–7.
- 59. Ding H, Schwarz DS, Keene A, Affar e B, Fenton L, Xia X, Shi Y, Zamore PD, Xu Z. Selective silencing by RNAi of a dominant allele that causes amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Aging Cell. 2003;2(4):209–17.
- Toloue MM, Ford LP. Antibody targeted siRNA delivery. Methods Mol Biol. 2011;764:123–39.
- Gary DJ, Puri N, Won YY. Polymer-based siRNA delivery: perspectives on the fundamental and phenomenological distinctions from polymer-based DNA delivery. J Control Release. 2007;121(1–2):64–73.
- 62. Walmsley GG, Maan ZN, Wong VW, Duscher D, Hu MS, Zielins ER, Wearda T, Muhonen E, McArdle A, Tevlin R, Atashroo DA, Senarath-Yapa K, Lorenz HP, Gurtner GC, Longaker MT. Scarless wound healing: chasing the holy grail. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2015;135(3):907–17.
- 63. Scarabel L, Perrone F, Garziera M, Farra R, Grassi M, Musiani F, Russo Spena C, Salis B, De Stefano L, Toffoli G, Rizzolio F, Tonon F, Abrami M, Chiarappa G, Pozzato G, Forte G, Grassi G, Dapas B. Strategies to optimize siRNA delivery to hepatocellular carcinoma cells. Expert Opin Drug Deliv. 2017;14(6):797–810.
- 64. Rennert RC, Sorkin M, Januszyk M, Duscher D, Kosaraju R, Chung MT, Lennon J, Radiya-Dixit A, Raghvendra S, Maan ZN, Hu MS, Rajadas J, Rodrigues M, Gurtner GC. Diabetes impairs the angiogenic potential of adipose-derived stem cells by selectively depleting cellular subpopulations. Stem Cell Res Ther. 2014;5(3):79.
- 65. Duscher D, Rennert RC, Januszyk M, Anghel E, Maan ZN, Whittam AJ, Perez MG, Kosaraju R, Hu MS, Walmsley GG, Atashroo D, Khong S, Butte AJ, Gurtner GC. Aging disrupts cell subpopulation dynamics and diminishes the function of mesenchymal stem cells. Sci Rep. 2014;4:7144.

- 66. Hadjipanayi E, Schilling AF. Regeneration through autologous hypoxia preconditioned plasma. Organogenesis. 2014;10(2):164–9.
- 67. Hadjipanayi E, Bauer AT, Moog P, Salgin B, Kuekrek H, Fersch B, Hopfner U, Meissner T, Schlüter A, Ninkovic M, Machens HG, Schilling AF. Cell-free carrier system for localized delivery of peripheral blood cell-derived engineered factor signaling: towards development of a one-step device for autologous angiogenic therapy. J Control Release. 2013;169(1–2):91–102.
- Yildirimer L, Thanh NT, Seifalian AM. Skin regeneration scaffolds: a multimodal bottom-up approach. Trends Biotechnol. 2012;30(12):638–48.
- 69. Wong VW, Rustad KC, Galvez MG, Neofytou E, Glotzbach JP, Januszyk M, Major MR, Sorkin M, Longaker MT, Rajadas J, Gurtner GC. Engineered pullulan-collagen composite dermal hydrogels improve early cutaneous wound healing. Tissue Eng Part A. 2011;17(5–6):631–44.
- Rennert RC, Rodrigues M, Wong VW, Duscher D, Hu M, Maan Z, Sorkin M, Gurtner GC, Longaker MT. Biological therapies for the treatment of cutaneous wounds: phase III and launched therapies. Expert Opin Biol Ther. 2013;13(11):1523–41.
- Wong VW, Rustad KC, Glotzbach JP, Sorkin M, Inayathullah M, Major MR, Longaker MT, Rajadas J, Gurtner GC. Pullulan hydrogels improve mesenchymal stem cell delivery into high-oxidative-stress wounds. Macromol Biosci. 2011;11(11):1458–66.
- Rustad KC, Wong VW, Sorkin M, Glotzbach JP, Major MR, Rajadas J, Longaker MT, Gurtner GC. Enhancement of mesenchymal stem cell angiogenic capacity and stemness by a biomimetic hydrogel scaffold. Biomaterials. 2012;33(1):80–90.
- 73. Garg RK, Rennert RC, Duscher D, Sorkin M, Kosaraju R, Auerbach LJ, Lennon J, Chung MT, Paik K, Nimpf J, Rajadas J, Longaker MT, Gurtner GC. Capillary force seeding of hydrogels for adipose-derived stem cell delivery in wounds. Stem Cells Transl Med. 2014;3:1079–89.
- 74. Lam MT, Nauta A, Meyer NP, Wu JC, Longaker MT. Effective delivery of stem cells using an extracellular matrix patch results in increased cell survival and proliferation and reduced scarring in skin wound healing. Tissue Eng Part A. 2013;19(5–6):738–47.



4

Sophisticated Biocomposite Scaffolds from Renewable Biomaterials for Bone Tissue Engineering

Yavuz Emre Arslan, Eren Ozudogru, Tugba Sezgin Arslan, Burak Derkus, Emel Emregul, and Kaan C. Emregul

4.1 Introduction

Loss or the dysfunction of bone tissue may occur due to trauma, injury, disease, or aging [1]. Currently there are excessive amount of materials to be applied to bone regeneration [2]. In turn, the autograft-, allograft-, or xenograft-based bone regeneration techniques have their disadvantages such as the need for extra surgical procedures, infection, chronic pain, or tissue rejection, which in turn has increased the importance of tissue engineering and regenerative medicine [3]. The main goal of tissue engineering is to assemble isolated functional cells and biodegradable tissue scaffolds made from bioengineered materials with the aim of regenerating diseased or damaged tissue. Many scientists from this multidisciplinary field have focused on designing and generating appropriate scaffolds for various tissues, by primarily overcoming cell-dependent problems in addition to scrutinizing tissue engineering structures in vitro and in vivo [4].

This chapter aims at describing the importance of renewable materials which have great potential for use in bone tissue engineering. In this context, the chapter offers new approaches in the improvement of polymeric composite matrices with the aim of obtaining 3D tissue-engineered scaffolds from renewable biomaterials.

4.2 Biology of Bone Tissue: Structure and Function

Bone tissues are responsible for many crucial assignments, the most notable ones being structural support and protection against external forces in the vertebrates. Its ability to self-repair and rebuild by promoting mechanical requirements makes this tissue very unique in a structural sense. However, healthy bone functions can be influenced by many different pathological situations or diseases. On the other hand, the bone tissue has been established to have limited regenerative capacities depending on patient age, anatomical site, and fracture size since it is hard for the body to repair huge gaps by itself [5, 6]. Critical-sized fractures (~5 mm) do not have the ability to heal on their own and need surgical procedures to ensure the appropriate restoration. Typical fractures seldom give rise to the formation of a hole of critical size, whereas some trau-

Y. E. Arslan $(\boxtimes) \cdot E$. Ozudogru $\cdot T$. Sezgin Arslan Regenerative Biomaterials Laboratory, Department of Bioengineering, Engineering Faculty, Canakkale Onsekiz Mart University, Canakkale, Turkey

B. Derkus

Department of Biomedical Engineering, Engineering Faculty, Eskisehir Osmangazi University, Eskisehir, Turkey

E. Emregul · K. C. Emregul Bioelectrochemistry Laboratory, Department of Chemistry, Ankara University, Tandogan, Ankara, Turkey

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

D. Duscher, M. A. Shiffman (eds.), *Regenerative Medicine and Plastic Surgery*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19958-6_4

matic defects, cancer, infections of the bone, or age-related degenerations result in areas where the bone cannot renew by itself. Thus, bone tissue transplantation is the second most performed procedure after blood, with over 100 million operations a year, where patients only in the USA pay approximately \$800 billion for treating bone diseases annually [6].

Bone, an enduring and extremely vascularized tissue, can keep reconstructing itself throughout a life span. Within its dynamics are different mechanical, biological, and chemical functions which act in controlled harmony. These include structural support, protection and regulation and storage of restorative cells and minerals, in addition to protection and regulation of Ca and P ions by arrangement of crucial electrolyte concentrations in the blood [7]. It actively contributes to the generation of various types of blood cells (known as hematopoiesis) by regulating homeostasis [8]. The bone structure has a complementary role in mobility, through the skeletal structure which has sufficient load-bearing capability and behaves as a protective cover for the sensitive interior organs of the body [9]. For a better understanding of the mechanical features of a compact bone tissue, it is significant in understanding the hierarchical constructional behavior they possess: (1) cancellous and cortical bone; (2) the microstructure (from 10 to 500 µm); Haversian systems, osteons, single trabeculae; (3) the sub-microstructure $(1-10 \ \mu m)$; lamellae; (4) the nanostructure (from a few hundred nanometers to 1 micron): molecular structure of constituent elements like fibrillar collagen and embedded mineral; and (5) the sub-nanostructure (less than a few nanometers): molecular structure of component elements such as minerals, collagen, and non-collagenous organic proteins (Fig. 4.1). Thus, the components of bone material are both heterogeneous and anisotropic in nature [10].

The bone ultrastructure is composed of collagen and minerals such as tricalcium phosphate, and hydroxyapatite (HA), $Ca_{10}(PO_4)_6(OH)_2$. Synthetic HA is one of the most preferred bioc-



Fig. 4.1 Anatomy of bone tissue: The ultrastructure of compact bone [16]

eramic structures used in the construction of bone substitutes. When examined in detail, bone macromolecules are formed from collagen type I (90%) and over 200 different types of noncollagenous matrix proteins (i.e., osteocalcin, osteonectin, glycoproteins, proteoglycans, and sialoprotein) [11, 12]. These non-collagenous matrix proteins induce intermediate extracellular signals which tend to regulate the homeostasis of various cell types such as osteoblast, osteocyte, and osteoclast. The other crucial section of bone is the mineralized inorganic components (composed of 4-nm-thick plate-like carbonated apatite mineralities). Moreover, the compact structure composed of collagen and HA gives this tissue a unique compressive strength and high fracture toughness [12].

HA is a bioactive, biocompatible, osteoconductive, nontoxic, noninflammatory, and nonimmunogenic ceramic for bone tissue engineering and one of the most widely used biomaterials due to its resemblance to the inorganic constituent of the vertebrae, bone and its ability to encourage cell-scaffold adaptation [13]. Hydroxyapatite nanoparticles (HAp) in collagen fibers reach for supporting assistants by activating the production of alkaline phosphatase in bone, resulting in its overwhelming endurance [14]. Nanoscale HAp $(50 \times 25 \times 3 \text{ nm}^3)$ is crucial for appropriate generation of osteocytes in the bone matrix. Naturally produced HAp has a Ca:P ratio of 1.67 which needs to be imitated in the production of HAp to acquire the necessary biological response, solubility, and mechanical sensitivity [15].

Autogenous bone implants are widely selected in bone replacement. Nevertheless, this treatment technique is limited due to insufficiency of donors, infection, veto of implant, etc., especially in wide fractures [17]. Various studies have been conducted since the discovery of the differentiation potential of human adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells (hAMSCs) into osteogenic lineage, and hence these cells have been considered as an excellent source for bone tissue engineering applications. Even though first practices included the direct implementation of stem cells into fracture locations, nowadays scaffolds combined with stem cells, particularly MScs, are applied, so that they promote cell colonization, immigration, growth, and differentiation [18].

An optimal scaffold for bone tissue engineering practices should permit or enhance cell viability, attachment, proliferation, homing, osteogenic differentiation, vascularization, host integration, and high load-bearing capacity (Fig. 4.2). In addition, it should be simple to apply and susceptible to minimally invasive implant treatment. It should be reproducible on an industrial scale and at the same time be sterile. Eventually, all its features should be practical and meet the demands [19].

4.3 An Overview of Biomaterials in Tissue Engineering

The field of tissue engineering involves chemistry, biology, medicine, and engineering approaches, with the aim of repairing and/or replacing injured tissues and organs with the aid of bioartificial substitutes using biopolymers, cells, and biologically active agents such as growth factors and cytokines (Fig. 4.3). This is a thriving interdisciplinary field presenting new opportunities to scientists [7, 20]. The extracellular matrix comprises a complex combination of structural and functional proteins, glycoproteins and proteoglycans that are organized in a unique tissue-specific three-dimensional structure. They play a vital role in morphogenesis, composition, and function of tissues as well as organs [21].

Providing a suitable microenvironment, that is to say, fabricating scaffolds or decellularized extracellular matrices for cell growth, migration, and proliferation is crucial in tissue engineering (Fig. 4.4). This is due to the fact that scaffolds which include growth factors or other signaling molecules serve as a so-called niche for cells [7, 23, 24]. In essence, big progress in the fabrication three-dimensional of novel (3D) tissueengineered scaffolds, using biodegradable polymers for the purpose of therapy, has been achieved. An extensive number of attempts at developing new scaffold technologies using both polymers and cells, including stem and/or



Fig. 4.2 General overview of scaffold construction for bone regeneration [19]

somatic cells, isolated from various tissues have been made. Polymers used in the fabrication of scaffolds in regenerative medicine can usually be categorized as synthetic or natural, where the commonly used polysaccharides (starch, alginate, chitosan, hyaluronic acid derivatives, etc.) and proteins (collagen, fibrin gels, silk, keratin, etc.) are examples for natural polymers (Table 4.1). On the other hand, synthetic polymers such as acid (PLA), poly(L-lactic polylactic acid) (PLLA), poly(D,L-lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA), polyglycolic acid (PGA), and polycaprolactone (PCL), approved by U.S. Food & Drug Administration (FDA), can be easily processed and handled in contrast to natural polymers which is their superiority (Table 4.2) [25]. Major

advances seen in biomaterials technology in recent years have led to the development of sophisticated materials [26]. Ideally, functionalized biomaterials like ceramics and natural/synthetic biodegradable polymers can be utilized for the production of 3D scaffolds which tend to supply not only mechanical support but also microscale architecture for neo-tissue construction allowing in vitro and in vivo cell growth, attachment, migration, and proliferation [24, 27, 28]. These biomaterials are seen to have a wide range of applications, including replacement of biological tissues and development of instruments for injury and surgical applications, and medical diagnosis has led to a revolution in biomaterial science [26].


Fig. 4.3 The repairing mechanism of femur fractures and common complications that may occur [9]

4.4 The Importance of Popular Renewable Materials for Regenerative Medicine

The applicability of native materials containing polysaccharides and proteins in the structure of hydrogels has been well studied. These materials, including ECM proteins such as collagen, elastin, fibrin, keratin, hydroxyapatite, and hyaluronic acid, show significant bioactivity in biomedical applications [30].

Bone is a complicated material consisting of mostly collagen, proteins, with hydroxyapatite in organic component. Although HA is the essential inorganic constituent of bone, it does not have the ability to be applied as bone healing material alone because of its delicate and brittle nature. At present, many researchers have devoted themselves to the development of durable hybrid biomaterials of hydroxyapatite with proteins and alternative synthetic polymers [31– 35]. For many years, HA ceramics that can improve bone mass and formation of the implant and the bone interface have become quite important as bone grafting material, due to their great mechanical properties, corrosion resistance, biocompatibility, bioactive properties, and perfect osteoconductive features [17, 36, 37]. Using an enhanced hygienic, nontoxic and in addition to an environmentally friendly approach, HA powders have been obtained utilizing bioproducts such as corals, cuttlefish shells, natural gypsum, natural calcite, bovine bone, sea urchin, starfish, and eggshell [38-41]. Chemical studies have demonstrated that these bio-wastes, contrary to popular opinion, are rich in calcium



Fig. 4.4 Different scaffold fabrication techniques in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine [22]

in the form of carbonates and oxides. Eggshells are one of the best examples for bio-waste. Millions of tons of eggshells are produced by people as bio-waste on daily basis throughout the world. The eggshell constitutes ~11% of the whole weight of an egg and consisted of calcium carbonate (~94%), calcium phosphate (~1%), and organic matter (~4%) [42]. In addition, eggshells are inexpensive, abundant in nature, biocompatible, yet not osteoconductive. Therefore, transforming these powders in HA before implantation is favorable [43].

Keratins are structural proteins that display high mechanical resistance owing to numerous intra- and intermolecular disulfide bonds containing a fair amount of cysteine [44]. Keratin is mostly consisting of β -sheets, a small number of α -helices, and loops [45, 46]. Waste keratins are generally obtained from human hair (Fig. 4.5), animal nails, horns, hoofs, wool, and feathers [47]. Additionally, about 300,000 tons of hair is wasted in hair salons, hospitals, and similar places each year [48]. Keratin obtained from renewable sources is highly biocompatible, possesses cellular interaction sites, and exhibits enhanced biodegradability. In contrast to alternative natural materials, human hair keratins have different benefits like being abundant, bioactive, having a powerful capacity to self-assemble inside hydrogels, and being an exact source of autologous proteins [49, 50]. Likewise, in addition to enhancing mechanical properties, this autologous protein has some signaling patterns like Leucine-Aspartic Acid-Valine (LDV) and Glutamic Acid-Aspartic Acid-Serine (EDS) peptide regions which increase the adhesion characteristics of cells [47, 51]. Nonetheless, new improvements have been made to obtain keratin easily from human hair which has resulted in good tissue engineering applications [52].

Collagen is the most widespread protein in the body and provides endurance and constructional stability to tissues containing skin, blood vessels, tendons, cartilage, and bone [27]. The characterizing property of the collagen is its molecular form that is defined by a unique

Table 4.1 Well-known nat	urally derived polymers used in tissue engin	neering and regenerative medicine [29]		
Polymer	Biocompatibility	Disadvantage	Biodegradability	Application
Collagen	Minimal cytotoxicity, mild foreign body reaction, minimal inflammation	Proteolytic removal of small non- helical telopeptides	Bulk, controllable	Skin, cartilage, bone, tendons, ligaments, vessels, nerves, bladder, liver
Hyaluronic acid	Minimal foreign body reaction, no inflammation	Highly viscous solution, many purification steps after chemical modification	Bulk, 1 h to 1 month	Skin, cartilage, nerves ligaments, vessels, liver
Alginic acid	Minimal foreign body reaction, no inflammation	Uncontrollable dissolution of hydrogel	Bulk, 1 day to 3 months	Skin, cartilage, bone, nerves, muscle, pancreas
Chitosan	Minimal foreign body reaction, no inflammation	Uncontrollable deacetylation and molecular weight	Bulk, 3 days to 6 months	Skin, cartilage, bone, nerves, muscle, pancreas
Gelatin	Minimal cytotoxicity, mild foreign body reaction, minimal inflammation	Weak mechanical property	Bulk, controllable	Skin, bone, cartilage, breast ligaments
Fibrin	Minimal cytotoxicity, mild foreign body reaction, minimal inflammation	Weak mechanical property	Bulk, controllable	Skin, bone, cartilage, liver, tendons, vessels ligaments
Poly(hydroxyalkanoate)	Minimal cytotoxicity, mild foreign body reaction, minimal inflammation	Pyrogen removed	Bulk, controllable	Skin, bone, tendons, nerves cartilage, ligaments, heart; vessels, muscle
Silk	Minimal cytotoxicity, mild foreign body reaction, minimal inflammation	Inflammation of sericin	Bulk, controllable	Skin, ligaments, bone, cartilage, tympanic membrane, vessels, tendons

2	-
madioina	IIICUICIIIC
anarotina	culci au vo
hor hor	n r
10.1	5
oninee	
ui vue	man
2 011301	oncer
2	Ξ
pean	noen
0.100.012	/IIICIS
Ś	ξ
• herrin	
7	5
notinelly	ila uli all y
- united	IIMOI
7all 1/r	
2	>
111	f
_	2

24

Polymer				
Biocompatibility		Disadvantage	Biodegradability	Application
Poly(lactic acid)	Minimal cytotoxicity, mild foreign body reaction, minimal inflammation	Local inflammation, random chain hydrolysis	Bulk, 24 months	Skin, cartilage, bone ligaments, tendons, vessels, nerves, bladder, liver
Poly(glycolic acid)	Minimal cytotoxicity, mild foreign body reaction, minimal inflammation	Local inflammation, random chain hydrolysis	Bulk, 6–12 months	Skin, cartilage, bone ligaments, tendons, vessels nerves, bladder, liver
Poly(lactic-co- glycolic acid)	Minimal cytotoxicity, mild foreign body reaction, minimal inflammation	Local inflammation, random chain hydrolysis	Bulk, 1–6 months	Skin, cartilage, bone ligaments, tendons, vessels, nerves, bladder, liver
Poly(caprolactone)	Minimal cytotoxicity, mild foreign body reaction, minimal inflammation	Hydrophobic	Bulk, 3 years	Skin, cartilage, bone ligaments, tendons, vessels, nerves
Poly(ethylene oxide)	Mild foreign body reaction, no inflammation	Complex biodegradability	Bulk, 1 month-5 years	Skin, cartilage, bone, muscles
Polyanhydrides	Minimal foreign body reaction, minimal inflammation, minimal cytotoxicity	Limited mechanical property	Surface erosion, controllable	Bone
Poly(propylene fumarate)	Mild foreign body reaction, minimal inflammation	Weak mechanical property	Surface erosion, 1 week–16 months	Bone
Poly(orthoester)s	Mild inflammation, mild foreign body reaction	Weak mechanical property	Bulk ~ several months	Ear, bone, cartilage
Polyphosphazene	Minimal foreign body reaction, minimal inflammation	Wide molecular weight distribution	Surface erosion, 1 week–3 years	Skin, cartilage, bone, nerves, ligaments

 Table 4.2
 Well-known synthetic polymers used in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine [29]

conformation which is a three α -polypeptide chain of one or more spaces formed in a triplehelical structure of [Gly–X–Y]_n arrangement in one of the main sorts of constructional ECM proteins [30, 53]. This design comprises a supercoiled triple helix that consists of three left-handed polyproline-like chains twisted together into a right-handed triple-helix. Hydroxyapatite and collagen, the most important structural protein present in bone, are two main constituents of bone. They compose 89% of the organic matrix and 32% of the volumetric constituent of bone. Therefore, it is a special protein that promises to produce bone from cultured cells [54]. Collagen is one of the most frequently used materials due to its superior biocompatibility, biodegradability, weak immunogenicity, and cell-adhesive properties in tissue engineering [55, 56]. Although collagen can be produced from different organisms, generally, bovine skin, tendon, and porcine skinderived collagens for tissue engineering practices are preferred. Yet, collagen obtained from bovine sources includes the risk of infection with illnesses such as bovine sponge-like encephalopathy. Additionally, particularly porcine-derived mammalian collagens are refused for religious reasons [57]. Marine living creatures are also a native origin of collagen and, probably, are more secure source than



Fig. 4.5 The microscopic structure of hair [52]

mammals. Recent studies focus primarily on the extraction and characterization of collagen from various fish types like salmon, shark or deep-sea redfish and marine sponges. Jellyfish, which is also of marine origin, is another alternative charming source of collagen [58–61]. The worldwide growth of the jellyfish population has caused great concern in the ecological environment. Their potential for utilization in tissue engineering, in addition to the food industry and medicine, we believe, will assist in the preservation of the jellyfish population. Jellyfish has more than 60% collagen, thus the potential to become a perfect source for in biomedical applications [62–64].

4.5 Fabrication of 3D Scaffolds from Keratin-Collagen-nHA for Bone Tissue Engineering

Keratin is insoluble in several prevalent solvents like dilute acids, alkalines, water, and organic solvents. Soluble hair keratins can directly be obtained from human hair utilizing reducing assistant solutions in alkaline or acidic media (Fig. 4.6) [49, 50]. A common way of obtaining keratin includes the utilization of reducing assistants because the natural

structure is difficult to extract, owing to its extremely cross-linked status with disulfide bonds [65–67].

Hydroxyapatite is usually obtained through chemical methods by way of calcium hydroxide or nitrate as pioneers [69]. Recently the synthesis of nanostructures using native resources or waste like eggshell, fish scale, or bovine bone has become an outstanding issue. Eggshell, one of the main residual outputs of the food industry, is a great resource of calcium carbonate (95%) enabling its use in the synthesis of HA. There are many different studies related to the synthesis of HA utilizing eggshells [70, 71]. Nanostructured HA has been obtained via various techniques, like homogeneous precipitation, hydrothermal synthesis, combination of electrospinning and thermal treatment, and application of fibrous β -Ca(PO₃)₂ crystalline as pioneer [72–74]. Derkus et al. [31] have demonstrated a significantly novel method, the sonochemical synthesis technique, which is a more applicable, homogenous, and cheap method for the synthesis of nanostructured HA (nHA) utilizing various resources. This technique was implemented in the synthesis of nHA using eggshells as the resource (Fig. 4.7), for the design and application of an aptasensor, which has emerged as an interesting application in literature [31].



Fig. 4.6 Keratin extraction process from human hair [68]



Fig. 4.7 nHA synthesis from eggshell by sonochemical method [77]

Collagen-originated biomaterials are actually based on three basic techniques and subtechniques of these. The first one is to decellularize the collagen matrix protecting the primary tissue form and ECM architecture, whereas the second method is based on extraction, purification, and polymerization of collagen and its various constituents in order to create a handy scaffold and finally to obtain a collagen solution from different biomolecules. All methods could be applied to several cross-linking techniques and protocols that can be applicable to a large arena of tissue resources [75, 76].

The collagen matrix or ECM could be produced through decellularization methods. Gilbert et al. [76] have discussed the three ways for tissue decellularization: physical, chemical, and enzymatic. Physical techniques include snap freezing, which disturbs cells by forming ice crystals, leading to high pressure that explodes cells and in turn agitates and stimulates cell lysis. The chemical processes of decellularization involve multiple reagents that remove the cellular ingredient of ECM. These materials range from acids to alkaline tests, which are as good as chelating agents like EDTA, ionic or non-ionic detergents and solutions of excessive osmolarity. Enzymatic therapies like trypsin, which particularly separates proteins and nucleases, evacuating DNA and RNA, are usually utilized to fabricate decellularized scaffolds as well. Nevertheless, all of these methods are unable to fabricate an ECM exactly free of cellular waste on their own; therefore a combination of different techniques is frequently necessary for this purpose [75].

The alternative source for collagen-originated biomaterials are actually marine resources as previously defined. Various ways were applied and enhanced to obtain collagen from jellyfish so as to be able to fabricate collagen-originated biomaterials (Fig. 4.8). Advanced isolation techniques were asserted on three major bases of solubility: in acid solutions, in inactive salt solutions, and in proteolytic solutions. Proteolytic extraction changes collagen molecular architecture by separating the terminal telopeptide areas resulting in the proportional decrease of tropocollagen selfassembled fibrils. In order to prevent this effect, endogenous proteases could be inhibited during acid solubilization. Nevertheless, acid ejection which utilizes light pepsin solubilization is the most efficient technique in terms of yield, although some telopeptides do separate or are partly denatured [77].

There are a limited number of studies concerning the application of bioengineered keratin, jellyfish collagen, and nHA scaffolds to bone tissue engineering. Arslan et al. [17] fabricated 3D tissue-engineered osteoinductive biocomposite scaffolds utilizing human hair keratin, jellyfish collagen, and eggshell-derived nanostructured spherical HA (Fig. 4.9). Two different osteoinductive scaffolds, collagen-nHA and collagen-keratin-nHA, were produced utilizing the freeze-drying method. hAMSCs were then seeded into these scaffolds and the early osteogenic differentiation markers were evaluated. The collagen-keratin-nHA osteoinductive biocomposite scaffolds were observed to have the potential of being used in bone tissue engineering.



Fig. 4.8 Process steps of jellyfish collagen isolation [31]



4.6 Conclusions

The field of tissue engineering and, in particular, bone tissue engineering has been studied extensively. Polymeric products, in combination with mineral based nanostructures, have been used by various research groups in order to trigger the osteogenic differentiation. Recently, natural resources have become popular due to their cost efficiency, nontoxic nature and easyto-produce materials suitable for bone tissue engineering. Different research groups have focused on the synthesis of hydroxyapatite bioceramics, which constitute the inorganic phase of bone, using various waste material like mussel shells, flue gas desulfurization gypsum, fish bones, and eggshells. Likely, some research groups have been focused on the isolation of collagen with low immunogenicity and high purity from different kind of species such as jellyfish instead of the traditionally used skin or rodent tail. In our opinion, adaptation to this approach is like "killing two birds with one stone." Firstly, waste is evaluated as a renewable material resource of unlimited volume and chemical diversity. Secondly, it will have a positive effect on waste accumulation in the environment. Provided that biomaterials obtained from waste resources have low immunogenic response and toxicity, this technology can be expected to become available for clinical use in the next few years.

References

- Black CRM, Goriainov V, Gibbs D, Kanczler J, Tare RS, Oreffo ROC. Bone tissue engineering. Curr Mol Biol Rep. 2015;1:132–40.
- Healy K, Guldberg RE. Bone tissue engineering. J Musculoskelet Neuronal Interact. 2007;7:328–30.
- Siddappa R, Licht R, Blitterswijk C, Boer J. Donor variation and loss of multipotency during in vitro expansion of human mesenchymal stem cells for bone tissue engineering. Orthop Res Soc. 2007;28:1029–41.
- Chen Q, Roether JA, Boccaccini A. Tissue engineering scaffolds from bioactive glass and composite materials. In: Ashammakhi N, Reis R, Chiellini F, editors. Topics in tissue engineering. Chapter 6, vol.
 Oulu: Oulu University; 2008. p. 1–27. www.oulu. fi/spareparts/ebook_topics_in_t_e_vol4/abstracts/q_ chen.pdf Accessed 8 Dec 2017.
- Cox SC, Thornby JA, Gibbons GJ, Williams MA, Mallick KK. 3D printing of porous hydroxyapatite scaffolds intended for use in bone tissue engineering applications. Mater Sci Eng C. 2015;47:237–47.
- Messina PV, D'Elía NL, Benedini LA. Bone tissue regenerative medicine via bioactive nanomaterials. In: Ficai D, Grumezescu A, editors. Nanostructures for novel therapy. Amsterdam: Elsevier Inc.; 2017. p. 769–92.
- Venkatesan J, Lowe B, Kim SK. Bone tissue engineering using functional marine biomaterials. In: Kim SW, editor. Functional marine biomaterials. Cambridge: Woodhead Publishing; 2015. p. 53–61.
- Bhattacharjee P, Kundu B, Naskar D, Kim HW, Maiti TK, Bhattacharya D, Kundu SC. Silk scaffolds in bone tissue engineering: an overview. Acta Biomater. 2017;63:1–17.
- Baldwin J, Henkel J, Hutmacher DW. Engineering the organ bone. In: Ducheyne P, editor. Comprehensive Biomaterials II. Philadelphia, PA: Elsevier; 2017. p. 54–74.
- Rho JY, Kuhn-Spearing L, Zioupos P. Mechanical properties and the hierarchical structure of bone. Med Eng Phys. 1998;20:92–102.
- Arvidson K, Abdallah BM, Applegate LA, Baldini N, Cenni E, Gomez-Barrena E, Granchi D, Kassem M, Konttinen YT, Mustafa K, Pioletti DP, Sillat T, Finne-Wistrand A. Bone regeneration and stem cells. J Cell Mol Med. 2011;15:718–46.
- Stevens MM. Biomaterials for bone tissue engineering. Mater Today. 2008;11:18–25.

- Du C, Jin J, Li Y, Kong X, Wei K, Yao J. Novel silk fibroin/hydroxyapatite composite films: structure and properties. Mater Sci Eng C. 2009;29:62–8.
- Swetha M, Sahithi K, Moorthi A, Srinivasan N, Ramasamy K, Selvamurugan N. Biocomposites containing natural polymers and hydroxyapatite for bone tissue engineering. Int J Biol Macromol. 2010;47(1):1–4.
- Venugopal J, Prabhakaran MP, Zhang Y, Low S, Choon AT, Ramakrishna S. Biomimetic hydroxyapatitecontaining composite nanofibrous substrates for bone tissue engineering. Philos Trans A Math Phys Eng Sci. 2010;368(1917):2065–81.
- Farokhi M, Mottaghitalab F, Samani S, Shokrgozar MA, Kundu SC, Reis RL, Fatahi Y, Kaplan DL. Silk fibroin/hydroxyapatite composites for bone tissue engineering. Biotechnol Adv. 2018;36(1):68–91.
- Arslan YE, Sezgin Arslan T, Derkus B, Emregul E, Emregul KC. Fabrication of human hair keratin/ jellyfish collagen/eggshell-derived hydroxyapatite osteoinductive biocomposite scaffolds for bone tissue engineering: From waste to regenerative medicine products. Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces. 2017;154:160–70.
- Romagnoli C, Brandi ML. Adipose mesenchymal stem cells in the field of bone tissue engineering. World J Stem Cells. 2014;6:144–52.
- Roseti L, Parisi V, Petretta M, Cavallo C, Desando G, Bartolotti I, Grigolo B. Scaffolds for bone tissue engineering: state of the art and new perspectives. Mater Sci Eng C Mater Biol Appl. 2017;78:1246–62.
- Batioglu-Karaaltin A, Karaaltin MV, Ovali E, Yigit O, Kongur M, Inan O, Bozkurt E, Cansiz H. In vivo tissue-engineered allogenic trachea transplantation in rabbits: a preliminary report. Stem Cell Rev Rep. 2015;11:347–56.
- Furth ME, Atala A, Van Dyke ME. Smart biomaterials design for tissue engineering and regenerative medicine. Biomaterials. 2007;28:5068–73.
- Chan BP, Leong KW. Scaffolding in tissue engineering: general approaches and tissue-specific considerations. Eur Spine J. 2008;17:467–79.
- Arslan YE, Hiz MM, Sezgin Arslan T. The use of decellularized animal tissues in regenerative therapies. Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg. 2015;21:139–45.
- 24. Erten E, Arslan Sezgin T, Derkus B, Arslan YE. Detergent-free decellularization of bovine costal cartilage for chondrogenic differentiation of human adipose mesenchymal stem cells in vitro. RSC Adv. 2016;6:94236–46.
- Tan L, Yu X, Wan P, Yang K. Biodegradable materials for bone repairs: a review. J Mater Sci Technol. 2013;29:503–13.
- 26. Burnett LR, Rahmany MB, Richter JR, Aboushwareb TA, Eberli D, Ward CL, Orlando G, Hantgan RR, Van Dyke ME. Hemostatic properties and the role of cell receptor recognition in human hair keratin protein hydrogels. Biomaterials. 2013;34:2632–40.
- Brien FJO. Biomaterials and scaffolds for tissue engineering. Mater Today. 2011;14:2345–7.

- Song E, Yeon Kim S, Chun T, Byun HJ, Lee YM. Collagen scaffolds derived from a marine source and their biocompatibility. Biomaterials. 2006;27:2951–61.
- Kim BS, Park IK, Hoshiba T, Jiang HL, Choi YJ, Akaike T, Cho CS. Design of artificial extracellular matrices for tissue engineering. Prog Polym Sci. 2011;36:238–68.
- Lee CH, Singla A, Lee Y. Biomedical applications of collagen. Int J Pharm. 2001;221:1–22.
- Derkus B, Arslan YE, Emregul KC, Emregul E. Enhancement of aptamer immobilization using egg shell-derived nano-sized spherical hydroxyapatite for thrombin detection in neuroclinic. Talanta. 2016;158:100–9.
- Tachibana A, Kaneko S, Tanabe T, Yamauchi K. Rapid fabrication of keratin-hydroxyapatite hybrid sponges toward osteoblast cultivation and differentiation. Biomaterials. 2005;26:297–302.
- Takeuchi A, Ohtsuki C, Miyazaki T, Tanaka H, Yamazaki M, Tanihara M. Deposition of bone-like apatite on silk fiber in a solution that mimics extracellular fluid. J Biomed Mater Res A. 2003;65:283–9.
- 34. Oliveira AL, Malafaya PB, Reis RL. Sodium silicate gel as a precursor for the in vitro nucleation and growth of a bone-like apatite coating in compact and porous polymeric structures. Biomaterials. 2003;24:2575–84.
- 35. Ren L, Tsuru K, Hayakawa S, Osaka A. Novel approach to fabricate porous gelatin-siloxane hybrids for bone tissue engineering. Biomaterials. 2002;23:4765–73.
- 36. Tian B, Chen W, Dong Y, Marymont JV, Lei Y, Ke Q, Guo Y, Zhu Z. Silver nanoparticle-loaded hydroxyapatite coating: structure, antibacterial properties, and capacity for osteogenic induction in vitro. RSC Adv. 2016;6:8549–62.
- Sanosh KP, Chu MC, Balakrishnan A, Kim TN, Cho SJ. Utilization of biowaste eggshells to synthesize nanocrystalline hydroxyapatite powders. Mater Lett. 2009;63:2100–2.
- Rocha JHG, Lemos AF, Agathopoulos S, Valério P, Kannan S, Oktar FN, Ferreira JMF. Scaffolds for bone restoration from cuttlefish. Bone. 2005;37:850–7.
- 39. Komalakrishna H, Shine Jyoth T, Kundu B, Mandal S. Low temperature development of nanohydroxyapatite from austromegabalanus psittacus, star fish and sea urchin. Mater Today Proc. 2017;4:11933–8.
- Herliansyah MK, Hamdi M, Ide-Ektessabi A, Wildan MW, Toque JA. The influence of sintering temperature on the properties of compacted bovine hydroxyapatite. Mater Sci Eng C. 2009;29:1674–80.
- Murugan R, Ramakrishna S. Porous bovine hydroxyapatite for drug delivery. J Appl Biomater Biomech. 2005;3:93–7.
- Rivera EM, Araiza M, Brostow W, Castaño VM, Díaz-Estrada J, Hernández R, Rodríguez JR. Synthesis of hydroxyapatite from eggshells. Mater Lett. 1999;41:128–34.

- Dupoirieux L. Ostrich eggshell as a bone substitute: a preliminary report of its biological behaviour in animals - a possibility in facial reconstructive surgery. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1999;37:467–71.
- Reichl S, Borrelli M, Geerling G. Keratin films for ocular surface reconstruction. Biomaterials. 2011;32:3375–86.
- 45. Saravanan S, Sameera DK, Moorthi A, Selvamurugan N. Chitosan scaffolds containing chicken feather keratin nanoparticles for bone tissue engineering. Int J Biol Macromol. 2013;62:481–6.
- Fraser RD, Parry DA. Molecular packing in the feather keratin filament. J Struct Biol. 2008;162:1–13.
- Tachibana A, Furuta Y, Takeshima H, Tanabe T, Yamauchi K. Fabrication of wool keratin sponge scaffolds for long-term cell cultivation. J Biotechnol. 2002;93:165–70.
- Holkar CR, Jain SS, Jadhav AJ, Pinjari DV. Valorization of keratin based waste. Process Saf Environ Prot. 2017;115:85–98. www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0957582017303002 Accessed 8 Dec 2017
- Fujii T, Murai S, Ohkawa K, Hirai T. Effects of human hair and nail proteins and their films on rat mast cells. J Mater Sci Mater Med. 2008;19:2335–42.
- Wrześniewska-Tosik K, Adamiec J. Biocomposites with a content of keratin from chicken feathers. Fibres Text East Eur. 2007;15:106–12.
- Verma V, Verma P, Ray P, Ray AR. Preparation of scaffolds from human hair proteins for tissue-engineering applications. Biomed Mater. 2008;3:25007.
- Lee H, Noh K, Lee SC, Kwon IK, Han DW, Lee LS, Hwang YS. Human hair keratin and its-based biomaterials for biomedical applications. Tissue Eng Regen Med. 2014;11:255–65.
- Ramshaw JA. Biomedical applications of collagens. J Biomed Mater Res Part B Appl Biomater. 2016;104:665–75.
- 54. Yannas IV, Lee E, Orgill DP, Skrabut EM, Murphy GF. Synthesis and characterization of a model extracellular matrix that induces partial regeneration of adult mammalian skin. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 1989;86:933–7.
- 55. Maeda M, Tani S, Sano A, Fujioka K. Microstructure and release characteristics of the minipellet, a collagen-based drug delivery system for controlled release of protein drugs. J Control Release. 1999;62:313–24.
- Hoyer B, Bernhardt A, Lode A, Heinemann S, Sewing J, Klinger M, Notbohm H, Gelinsky M. Jellyfish collagen scaffolds for cartilage tissue engineering. Acta Biomater. 2014;10:883–92.
- 57. Gomez-Guillen MC, Gimenez B, Lopez-Caballero ME, Montero MP. Functional and bioactive properties of collagen and gelatin from alternative sources: A review. Food Hydrocoll. 2011;25:1813–27.
- Heinemann S, Ehrlich H, Douglas T, Heinemann C, Worch H, Schatton W, Hanke T. Ultrastructural studies on the collagen of the marine sponge Chondrosia reniformis nardo. Biomacromolecules. 2007;8:3452–7.

- Wang L, An X, Xin Z, Zhao L, Hu Q. Isolation and characterization of collagen from the skin of deep-sea redfish (Sebastes mentella). J Food Sci E Food Eng Phys Prop. 2007;72:450–5.
- Nomura Y, Yamano M, Hayakawa C, Ishii Y, Shirai K. Structural property and in vitro self-assembly of shark type i collagen. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem. 1997;61:1919–23.
- Yunoki S, Suzuki T, Takai M. Stabilization of low denaturation temperature collagen from fish by physical cross-linking methods. J Biosci Bioeng. 2003;96:575–7.
- 62. Addad S, Exposito JY, Faye C, Ricard-Blum S, Lethias C. Isolation, characterization and biological evaluation of jellyfish collagen for use in biomedical applications. Mar Drugs. 2011;9:967–83.
- Nagai T, Ogawa T, Nakamura T, Ito T, Nakagawa H, Fujiki K, Nakao M, Yano T. Collagen of edible jellyfish exumbrella. J Sci Food Agric. 1999;79:855–8.
- 64. Nagai T, Worawattanamateekul W, Suzuki N, Nakamura T, Ito T, Fujiki K, Nakao M, Yano T. Isolation and characterization of collagen from rhizostomous jellyfish (Rhopilema asamushi). Food Chem. 2000;70:205–8.
- Bragulla HH, Homberger DG. Structure and functions of keratin proteins in simple, stratified, keratinized and cornified epithelia. J Anat. 2009;214:516–59.
- 66. Nakamura A, Arimoto M, Takeuchi K, Fujii T. A rapid extraction procedure of human hair proteins and identification of phosphorylated species. Biol Pharm Bull. 2002;25:569–72.
- Lusiana, Reichl S, Müller-Goymann CC. Keratin film made of human hair as a nail plate model for studying drug permeation. Eur J Pharm Biopharm. 2011;78:432–40.
- 68. Sezgin Arslan T. Keratin-based scaffold fabrication and evaluation of the effectiveness for tissue engi-

neering applications. Canakkale: Mart University Meeting; 2017.

- Chen S, Pujari-Palmer S, Rubino S, Westlund V, Ott M, Engqvist H, Xia W. Highly repeatable synthesis of nHA with high aspect ratio. Mater Lett. 2015;159:163–7.
- Gergely G, Wéber F, Lukács I, Tóth AL, Horváth ZE, Mihály J, Balázsi C. Preparation and characterization of hydroxyapatite from eggshell. Ceram Int. 2010;36:803–6.
- Prabakaran K, Rajeswari S. Spectroscopic investigations on the synthesis of nano-hydroxyapatite from calcined eggshell by hydrothermal method using cationic surfactant as template. Spectrochim Acta Part A Mol Biomol Spectrosc. 2009;74:1127–34.
- Zhang C, Yang J, Quan Z, Yang P. Hydroxyapatite nano-and microcrystals with multiform morphologies: Controllable synthesis and luminescence properties. Cryst Growth Des. 2009;9:2725–33.
- Lee JH, Kim YJ. Hydroxyapatite nanofibers fabricated through electrospinning and sol-gel process. Ceram Int. 2014;40:3361–9.
- 74. Han Y, Li S, Wang X, Bauer I, Yin M. Sonochemical preparation of hydroxyapatite nanoparticles stabilized by glycosaminoglycans. Ultrason Sonochem. 2007;14:286–90.
- Parenteau-Bareil R, Gauvin R, Berthod F. Collagenbased biomaterials for tissue engineering applications. Materials (Basel). 2010;3:1863–87.
- Gilbert TW, Sellaro TL, Badylak SF. Decellularization of tissues and organs. Biomaterials. 2006;27:3675–83.
- 77. Derkus B, Arslan YE, Bayrac AT, Kantarcioglu I, Emregul KC, Emregul E. Development of a novel aptasensor using jellyfish collagen as matrix and thrombin detection in blood samples obtained from patients with various neurodisease. Sensors Actuators B Chem. 2016;228:725–36.

Part II

Research Concepts

Division of Experimental Plastic Surgery,

Department for Plastic Surgery and Hand Surgery,

Technical University of Munich, Munich, Germany

D. Duscher (🖂)

Mechanotransduction in Wound Healing and Scar Formation

Dominik Duscher

5.1 Introduction

Scar formation belongs to the most complex biological processes and represents a substantial source of morbidity worldwide. In humans, scarring is the typical response to tissue injuries. The process of fibrotic repair, providing early restoration of tissue integrity rather than functional regeneration, offers a survival advantage and is therefore evolutionary highly preserved [1, 2]. Despite extensive research efforts dedicated to the expansion of our understanding of the mechanisms underlying scar formation, effective clinical therapies for scar mitigation are only beginning to be developed. A detailed understanding of the numerous signaling pathways involved is essential to develop remedies for fibrosis and scarring. Initial research efforts concentrated on the biochemical mechanisms involved in scar formation, however, evidence begins to emerge that mechanical forces play a previously underestimated role in the modulation of these pathways. The impact of mechanical forces on cutaneous scarring has been first observed as early as the nineteenth century [3], but only recently the underlying signaling mechanisms begin to be elucidated. Mechanotransduction, which refers to the mechanisms by which mechanical forces are converted to biochemical stimuli, has been closely linked to inflammation and is believed to play a pivotal role in cutaneous fibrosis [4]. There is increasing evidence that all phases of wound healing are influenced by mechanical forces [5], but the field of wound mechanobiology is still in its infancy. However, utilizing the recent insights into how mechanotransduction of environmental cues effects the behavior of cells and tissues will help us to formulate effective therapeutics and may lead to the achievement of the ultimate goal, to transform fibrotic healing into tissue regeneration.

5.2 Molecular Biomechanics of Scar Formation

The field of mechanobiology continues to advance rapidly. The application of innovative in vitro and in vivo models leads to a more thorough understanding of the effects of mechanical forces on biological processes [6]. It could be demonstrated that cells are able to convert mechanical stimuli into biochemical or transcriptional changes via the process of mechanotransduction [7]. Signal transduction from the microenvironment involves numerous proteins and molecules of the ECM, the cytoplasmic membrane, the cytoskeleton, and the nuclear membrane, which transport mechanical cues





[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

D. Duscher, M. A. Shiffman (eds.), *Regenerative Medicine and Plastic Surgery*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19958-6_5

down to the nuclear chromatin to alter cellular programs at the genetic and epigenetic level [8].

Several attempts to define the role of mechanical influences in molecular biology have been made. The most widely accepted system linking the different levels of mechanotransduction is known as tensional integrity or "tensegrity" [9]. First described as an architectural concept [10], this principle was adapted and developed by Ingber et al. to explain how cellular structures and processes are influenced by mechanical force. However, a complete understanding of the complex mechanotransduction pathways in living organisms remains elusive. Nevertheless, the observations made in small and large animal studies implicate a significant involvement of mechanical influences in the development of cutaneous scarring. Translating these findings into clinical therapies must be our principal goal.

5.3 Extracellular Mechanotransduction

The extracellular matrix (ECM) is much more than just an inert three-dimensional network passively offering structural support. It is a dynamic and living tissue responsible for numerous functions. The ECM governs cell adhesion, migration, differentiation, proliferation, and apoptosis and is highly involved in the complex processes of mechanotransduction (Fig. 5.1) [11, 12]. Mechanical cues transported through the ECM to cells can directly affect gene expression, because



Fig. 5.1 Extracellular mechanotransduction. Biomechanical cues directly affect the extracellular matrix (ECM), which is a dynamic structure with multiple functions. Mechanical stimuli can expose hidden domains and alter spatial concentration

of growth factors within the ECM, resulting in changes of cellular behavior and phenotype. Additionally, stored factors within the ECM can be released based on the effects of mechanical force. Reproduced with permission [44] of a direct link between structural proteins of the ECM to nuclear chromatin [13].

Additional evidence supporting the theories how ECM can alter cell functionality and phenotype is provided by the fact that tissue stiffness and rigidity could be linked to tumor growth and malignancy [14]. The extracellular environment can function in both ways, being pro-oncogenic [15], but also reverse malignant behavior if corrected [16]. Similarly, microenvironmental signals can influence scarring and fibrosis [17–19]. It could be demonstrated that scar progression results from a positive feedback loop connecting the accumulation of ECM and increased matrix stiffness to enhancement of fibroblast proliferation and collagen production via mechanoresponsive mechanisms [20, 21].

In addition to direct effects on cell behavior via ECM-cell membrane/cytoskeletal interfaces, mechanical cues can also execute indirect affects. Specifically, alterations in ECM structure can expose normally hidden domains and binding sites that have regulatory capabilities [22]. The ECM can also alter the spatiotemporal composition of the microenvironment by changing the concentrations of soluble and matrix-bound effector molecules and growth factors, such as transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β), resulting in considerable impact on biological functions [23].

5.4 Intracellular Mechanotransduction

The complexity of the mechanisms by which cells "feel" and interact with their environment is incompletely understood. However, recent efforts have led to the identification of key signaling pathways involved in intracellular mechanotransduction. The central mediators of mechanotransduction include mechanoresponsive ion channels (e.g., Ca²⁺), growth factor and cytokine receptors (e.g., for TGF- β and SDF-1), integrin-matrix interactions, and G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) (Fig. 5.2) [24, 25].

The fact that conformational alterations of ion channels govern numerous cellular functions is



Fig. 5.2 Intracellular mechanotransduction. Key players of mechanotransduction on the cellular level are mechanoresponsive ion channels (e.g., Ca^{2+}), growth factor and

cytokine receptors (e.g., for TGF- β or SDF-1), integrinmatrix interactions, and G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs). Reproduced with permission [44]

an established biological concept. However, an understanding of how mechanoresponsive calcium channels influence fibrotic pathways only recently begins to emerge [26]. Specifically, calcium-dependent ion channels have been demonstrated to be heavily involved in the arrangement of elements of the cytoskeleton, which are associated with mechanotransduction [27]. Additionally, Ca²⁺ influx caused by mechanical stimulation of the cell membrane activates mitogen-activated kinases (MAPKs), which enhance pro-fibrotic gene expression [28].

Growth factors and cytokines together with their receptors are implicated in all stages of wound healing and the development of cutaneous scarring. Recent work has shown promising results regarding scar formation and appearance when the cytokine system is manipulated [29]. Specifically, modulating the ratios of subsets of transforming growth factor beta in the wound microenvironment has received significant attention (see below). Mechanical stimuli result in the release of TGF- β from its reservoir in the extracellular latent complexes [30–32]. This growth factor is associated with numerous fibrotic diseases, and acts mainly via the transforming growth factor- β receptor 2 and its downstream effector proteins Smad 2 and 3. The TGF-β signaling cascade controls numerous pro-fibrotic mechanisms, such as collagen production and fibroblast to myofibroblast differentiation [33, 34]. Another mechanoresponsive signaling molecule responsible for the regulation of cutaneous healing and fibrosis is stromal cell-derived factor 1 (SDF-1 or CXCL12). It has been demonstrated that mechanical stretching can upregulate SDF-1a in skin which directly leads to the recruitment of circulating pro-regenerative MSCs through the SDF-1a/CXCR4 axis [35]. However, somewhat contradictory results regarding the influence of SDF-1 on wound healing and scar formation have been reported. Whereas hypertrophic burn scars could be associated with increased SDF-1a/ CXCR4 signaling [36], it could also be demonstrated that the therapeutic application of SDF-1 to cutaneous wounds of mice and pigs leads to enhanced healing with decreased fibrosis [37, 38]. Additionally, a local increase of SDF-1 has

been identified as the potential underlying mechanism of noncontact, low-frequency ultrasound therapy, which has been shown to have beneficial effects in the treatment of chronic wounds [39]. This further corroborates the pivotal role of cytokines at the intersection of mechanotransduction and tissue healing, which strongly merits further investigation.

Although ion channels and cytokines certainly play an important role in the mechanobiology of scar formation, the most extensively studied cellular elements in this context are integrins. The members of this family of heterodimeric transmembrane receptor proteins possess a cytoplasmic domain, which communicates with the actin cytoskeleton, and an extracellular domainbinding molecules of the ECM [40]. Integrins carry out both "outside-in" communication of environmental mechanical cues to the cell and "inside-out" interactions via forces produced by the cytoskeleton [40]. This two-way signaling process is influenced by intracellular proteins, which bind to integrins to form large macromolecular structures, the so-called focal adhesions [41, 42]. The most prominent of these intracellular binding proteins is the focal adhesion kinase (FAK). Conformational changes in the complex macrostructure of the focal adhesions caused by mechanical stimuli lead to an activation of the non-receptor protein tyrosine kinase FAK via autophosphorylation. While integrins have no intrinsic enzymatic activity, they can affect downstream signaling pathways via FAK. Specifically, FAK signaling has been heavily linked to wound healing aberrations [4, 43]. While mechanical stimuli influence all cell types involved in wound healing [44], the effects of FAK activation demonstrate how mechanical cues can change biological mechanisms in different cell types in diametrically opposed directions. Our laboratory has previously demonstrated that FAK is a key regulator of mechanosensing in cutaneous fibroblasts and that a fibroblastspecific deletion of FAK leads to reduced fibrosis after injury in a mouse model of scar formation [4]. In stark contrast, the loss of FAK in cutaneous keratinocytes leads to a significant delay in wound healing and dermal proteolysis in mice

[43], suggesting a skin layer-specific effect of FAK signaling with a complex influence on extracellular matrix repair.

Further highlighting the important role that FAK plays in the mechanical regulation of tissue repair, our laboratory recently demonstrated how mechanically activated pathways link scar formation with extracellular-related kinase (Erk, part of the family of mitogen activated kinases [MAPKs]). Erk could be identified as a key mediator in the FAK-related response to wound tension, leading to the overproduction of collagen and the pro-fibrotic chemokine monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) [4, 45]. Moreover, other groups have shown involvement of other MAPKs in tension-induced fibrotic reactions, namely c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) and p38 isoforms [46, 47]. However, their specific roles in the mechanobiology of wound healing and scar formation need further clarification.

FAK also executes its effects via the Rho family of GTPases. The activity of RhoGTPases could be linked to cell motility, adherence, and cytoskeletal dynamics, as well as to the stimulation of myofibroblast differentiation [48, 49], demonstrating their extensive mechanosensing utility. Moreover, evidence is accumulating that FAK-RhoGTPases signaling influences mechanobiology via two downstream effectors of the mammalian Hippo pathway. The Hippo pathway is an evolutionary highly conserved signaling pathway involved in cell proliferation, apoptosis, differentiation, stem cell function, and malignant transformation (Fig. 5.3) [50, 51]. Specifically, the mechanoresponsive Hippo-effectors YAP (Yes-associated protein) and TAZ (transcriptional coactivator with PDZ-binding motif, also known as WWTR1) have been identified as key factors of tissue regeneration [52–54], and have pivotal roles in cutaneous wound healing [55].

Fig. 5.3 The Hippo

pathway in mechanotransduction. The two main downstream Hippoeffectors YAP and TAZ have recently been identified to orchestrate biomechanical influences to alter cell behavior via the transcription of pro-fibrotic signaling molecules such as connective tissue growth factor (CTGF) and TGF-β. This predisposes YAP and TAZ as potential targets for anti-fibrotic therapy. Reproduced with permission [86]

Biomechanical Cues:



Stimulated via biomechanical cues, YAP and TAZ are stabilized and trigger the transcription of pro-fibrotic targets such as connective tissue growth factor (CTGF) and TGF- β [54, 56]. YAP and TAZ have recently been characterized to be GPCR regulated. Specifically, G12/13 and Gs-coupled receptors act upstream of these transcriptional coactivators to modulate the Hippo pathway [57]. Remarkably, GPCRs function generally as cell surface mechanoreceptors and have been shown to influence similar intracellular pathways as the focal adhesion complexes [24, 25]. Despite the need for further research to fully understand the involvement of the Hippo pathway in biomechanics of wound healing and scar formation, it is likely that YAP and TAZ signaling is an attractive target for anti-fibrotic treatment approaches.

5.5 Modulation of Cutaneous Biomechanics to Reduce Scarring

5.5.1 Pharmacological Approaches

Excessive scarring often results from aberrant signaling in response to injury. Deregulation of signaling pathways at the intersection of mechanotransduction and inflammation leads to a disruption of homeostasis between collagen production and collagen degradation. Therapies targeting fibrosis consequently seek to modulate these pathways for a shift from fibrosis towards regenerative healing [58–61].

Transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β) controls collagen synthesis, and consequently fibrosis, which suggests its suitability as a target in anti-fibrotic therapy. TGF- β exists in at least three isoforms. While TGF- β 1 and 2 have profibrotic effects, TGF- β 3 acts as an anti-fibrotic [62]. Based on the diverse effects of the TGF- β family on tissue fibrosis, strategies for therapeu-

tic application include neutralizing antibodies to TGF- β 1 and 2, or alternatively, means to raise TGF- β 3 levels. Surprisingly, the promising preclinical results of TGF- β antibodies have not been able to be translated from bench to bedside. Clinical trials evaluating anti-TGF- β antibodies for systemic sclerosis [63] and scleroderma [64] concluded with disappointing results. Similarly, TGF- β 3 had no clinically significant anti-fibrotic effect despite promising results in experimental studies and failed in an international Phase III clinical trial [65].

In addition to the TGF- β family, alternative therapeutic targets for the treatment of fibrosis are under current investigation. Promising areas of research include the hedgehog pathway [66], extracellular cross-linking enzymes (transglutaminases, lysyl oxidases, and prolyl hydroxylases) [67–69], early growth response gene-1 [58], canonical Wnt [59], heat shock protein 90 [61], histone deacetylase [60], and IL-10 [70–75].

Despite remarkable results in preclinical models, translation of substances influencing mechanoresponsive pro-fibrotic pathways has been lagging behind expectations and further innovation and refinement is needed before the clinical application of such therapies. The key to any mitigation of scar formation is the coordinated modulation of numerous cellular and molecular processes. Targeting a single element of a process as complex as scar formation is unlikely to yield clinically significant results and it is likely that only therapeutic approaches tackling multiple effectors in the aberrant physiology of problem wounds will be successful.

5.5.2 Mechanomodulatory Approaches

Evidence is accumulating that a mitigation of fibrosis in the setting of cutaneous injury can be achieved by modulating traction forces on wounds via mechanical off-loading. Environmental cues play a critical role in scar formation and development and studies suggest that mechanical tension is a driver of fibrosis [4, 76]. Based on this theory it is not surprising that trials utilizing compression dressings [77–81] or just paper tape for stable wound approximation [82] have revealed moderate efficacy in scar reduction.

Building upon these findings, approaches utilizing active mechanical off-loading in contrast to passive approximation have recently been developed. Minimizing tension across healing wounds has proven effective in both preclinical and clinical studies resulting in decreased scarring via influencing numerous mechanoresponsive signaling pathways [4, 83]. Moving these insights from bench to bedside, a phase I clinical trial [83] as well as two multicenter randomized controlled trials [84, 85] have demonstrated that stress-shielding of surgical incisions leads to a significant reduction of scar formation (Fig. 5.4). Lim AF et al. [84] showed that utilizing the principles of mechanomodulation significantly improves aesthetic outcomes following scar revision surgery. Similarly, Longaker MT et al. [85] observed a significant reduction of scarring following abdominoplasty surgery in a 12-month, prospective, open-label, randomized, multicenter clinical trial providing the first level I evidence for postoperative scar reduction. Collectively, these findings suggest that the complexity of the pathways involved in fibrosis and the limitations of our current understanding necessitate mechanomodulatory rather than pharmacological approaches to mitigate fibrosis, at least in the cutaneous setting.

5.6 Conclusions and Future Perspectives

A profound understanding of the biomechanical principles influencing scarring and fibrosis is imperative to combat this significant pathology that represents a substantial healthcare burden worldwide. Elucidating how mechanoresponsive signaling pathways affect scar development is the only way how effective strategies to mitigate fibrotic processes can be formulated. Consequently, advances at the intersection of biology and material science already lead to novel therapeutics for hypertrophic scarring recently beginning to enter the clinical realm. However, a complete understanding of the mechanobiology of scar formation has yet to be achieved to potentially ultimately transform tissue fibrosis into regenerative healing.



63% IMPROVEMENT IN SCAR APPEARANCE



Fig. 5.4 Mechanomodulation therapy to reduce cutaneous scarring. The embraceTM device is an elastomeric silicone dressing. The user applies the device using an applicator that pre-strains the dressing. The dressing is applied directly over the center of the closed incision to

С

mechanically off-load the wound. Randomized controlled clinical trials have demonstrated that mechanomodulation of the wound environment using embrace[™] significantly reduces scar development. Adapted with permission [84, 85]

References

- Gurtner GC, Werner S, Barrandon Y, Longaker MT. Wound repair and regeneration. Nature. 2008;453(7193):314–21.
- Ting SB, Caddy J, Hislop N, Wilanowski T, Auden A, Zhao LL, Ellis S, Kaur P, Uchida Y, Holleran WM, Elias PM, Cunningham JM, Jane SM. A homolog of drosophila grainy head is essential for epidermal integrity in mice. Science. 2005;308(5720):411–3.
- Langer K. Zur Anatomie und Physiologie der Haut. Über die Spaltbarkeit der Cutis. Sitzungsbericht der Mathematisch-naturwissenschaftlichen Classe der Wiener Kaiserlichen Academie der Wissenschaften. 1861;44:19.
- Wong VW, et al. Focal adhesion kinase links mechanical force to skin fibrosis via inflammatory signaling. Nat Med. 2012;18(1):148–52.
- Agha R, Ogawa R, Pietramaggiori G, Orgill DP. A review of the role of mechanical forces in cutaneous wound healing. J Surg Res. 2011;171(2):700–8.
- Carver W, Goldsmith EC. Regulation of tissue fibrosis by the biomechanical environment. Biomed Res Int. 2013;2013:101979.
- Alenghat FJ, Ingber DE. Mechanotransduction: all signals point to cytoskeleton, matrix, and integrins. Sci STKE. 2002;2002(119):pe6.
- Wang N, Tytell JD, Ingber DE. Mechanotransduction at a distance: mechanically coupling the extracellular matrix with the nucleus. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2009;10(1):75–82.
- 9. Ingber DE. The architecture of life. Sci Am. 1998;278(1):48–57.
- Fuller RB. Tensegrity. Portfolio Art News Annu 1961;4:112–127, 144, 148. tensegritywiki.com/Tense grity%2C+Portfolio+and+Art+News+Annual+1961. Accessed 16 Feb 2018.
- Huxley-Jones J, Pinney JW, Archer J, Robertson DL, Boot-Handford RP. Back to basics—how the evolution of the extracellular matrix underpinned vertebrate evolution. Int J Exp Pathol. 2009;90(2):95–100.
- Oschman JL. Charge transfer in the living matrix. J Bodyw Mov Ther. 2009;13(3):215–28.
- Gieni RS, Hendzel MJ. Mechanotransduction from the ECM to the genome: are the pieces now in place? J Cell Biochem. 2008;104(6):1964–87.
- Huang S, Ingber DE. Cell tension, matrix mechanics, and cancer development. Cancer Cell. 2005;8(3):175–6.
- Ingber DE. Tensegrity-based mechanosensing from macro to micro. Prog Biophys Mol Biol. 2008;97(2–3): 163–79.
- Kenny PA, Bissell MJ. Tumor reversion: correction of malignant behavior by microenvironmental cues. Int J Cancer. 2003;107(5):688–95.
- Solon J, Levental I, Sengupta K, Georges PC, Janmey PA. Fibroblast adaptation and stiffness matching to soft elastic substrates. Biophys J. 2007;93(12):4453–61.

- Brown AC, Fiore VF, Sulchek TA, Barker TH. Physical and chemical microenvironmental cues orthogonally control the degree and duration of fibrosis- associated epithelial-to-mesenchymal transitions. J Pathol. 2013;229(1):25–35.
- Huang X, Yang N, Fiore VF, Barker TH, Sun Y, Morris SW, Ding Q, Thannickal VJ, Zhou Y. Matrix stiffnessinduced myofibroblast differentiation is mediated by intrinsic mechanotransduction. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 2012;47(3):340–8.
- Hinz B. Tissue stiffness, latent TGF-beta1 activation, and mechanical signal transduction: implications for the pathogenesis and treatment of fibrosis. Curr Rheumatol Rep. 2009;11(2):120–6.
- Hadjipanayi E, Mudera V, Brown RA. Close dependence of fibroblast proliferation on collagen scaffold matrix stiffness. J Tissue Eng Regen Med. 2009;3(2):77–84.
- Baneyx G, Baugh L, Vogel V. Fibronectin extension and unfolding within cell matrix fibrils controlled by cytoskeletal tension. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002;99(8):5139–43.
- Hynes RO. The extracellular matrix: not just pretty fibrils. Science. 2009;326(5957):1216–9.
- Jaalouk DE, Lammerding J. Mechanotransduction gone awry. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2009;10(1):63–73.
- Wong VW, Longaker MT, Gurtner GC. Soft tissue mechanotransduction in wound healing and fibrosis. Semin Cell Dev Biol. 2012;23(9):981–6.
- Goto M, Ikeyama K, Tsutsumi M, Denda S, Denda M. Calcium ion propagation in cultured keratinocytes and other cells in skin in response to hydraulic pressure stimulation. J Cell Physiol. 2010;224(1):229–33.
- Martinac B. The ion channels to cytoskeleton connection as potential mechanism of mechanosensitivity. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2014;1838(2):682–91.
- Huang C, Akaishi S, Ogawa R. Mechanosignaling pathways in cutaneous scarring. Arch Dermatol Res. 2012;304(8):589–97.
- 29. Rees PA, Greaves NS, Baguneid M, Bayat A. Chemokines in wound healing and as potential therapeutic targets for reducing cutaneous scarring. Adv Wound Care. 2015;4(11):687–703.
- Margadant C, Sonnenberg A. Integrin-TGF-beta crosstalk in fibrosis, cancer and wound healing. EMBO Rep. 2010;11(2):97–105.
- Buscemi L, Ramonet D, Klingberg F, Formey A, Smith-Clerc J, Meister JJ, Hinz B. The singlemolecule mechanics of the latent TGF-beta1 complex. Curr Biol. 2011;21(24):2046–54.
- Shi M, Zhu J, Wang R, Chen X, Mi L, Walz T, Springer TA. Latent TGF-beta structure and activation. Nature. 2011;474(7351):343–9.
- Leask A, Abraham DJ. TGF-beta signaling and the fibrotic response. FASEB J. 2004;18(7):816–27.
- LeBleu VS, Taduri G, O'Connell J, Teng Y, Cooke VG, Woda C, Sugimoto H, Kalluri R. Origin and function of myofibroblasts in kidney fibrosis. Nat Med. 2013;19(8):1047–53.

- 35. Zhou SB, Wang J, Chiang CA, Sheng LL, Li QF. Mechanical stretch upregulates SDF-1alpha in skin tissue and induces migration of circulating bone marrow-derived stem cells into the expanded skin. Stem Cells. 2013;31(12):2703–13.
- 36. Ding J, Hori K, Zhang R, Marcoux Y, Honardoust D, Shankowsky HA, Tredget EE. Stromal cell-derived factor 1 (SDF-1) and its receptor CXCR4 in the formation of postburn hypertrophic scar (HTS). Wound Repair Regen. 2011;19(5):568–78.
- 37. Henderson PW, Singh SP, Krijgh DD, Yamamoto M, Rafii DC, Sung JJ, Rafii S, Rabbany SY, Spector JA. Stromal-derived factor-1 delivered via hydrogel drug-delivery vehicle accelerates wound healing in vivo. Wound Repair Regen. 2011;19(3):420–5.
- Rabbany SY, Pastore J, Yamamoto M, Miller T, Rafii S, Aras R, Penn M. Continuous delivery of stromal cellderived factor-1 from alginate scaffolds accelerates wound healing. Cell Transplant. 2010;19(4):399–408.
- 39. Maan ZN, Januszyk M, Rennert RC, Duscher D, Rodrigues M, Fujiwara T, Ho N, Whitmore A, Hu MS, Longaker MT, Gurtner GC. Noncontact, lowfrequency ultrasound therapy enhances neovascularization and wound healing in diabetic mice. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2014;134(3):402e–11e.
- Schwarz US, Gardel ML. United we stand: integrating the actin cytoskeleton and cell-matrix adhesions in cellular mechanotransduction. J Cell Sci. 2012;125(Pt 13):3051–60.
- 41. Wehrle-Haller B. Structure and function of focal adhesions. Curr Opin Cell Biol. 2012;24(1):116–24.
- Zaidel-Bar R, Itzkovitz S, Ma'ayan A, Iyengar R, Geiger B. Functional atlas of the integrin adhesome. Nat Cell Biol. 2007;9(8):858–67.
- 43. Wong VW, Garg RK, Sorkin M, Rustad KC, Akaishi S, Levi K, Nelson ER, Tran M, Rennert R, Liu W, Longaker MT, Dauskardt RH, Gurtner GC. Loss of keratinocyte focal adhesion kinase stimulates dermal proteolysis through upregulation of MMP9 in wound healing. Ann Surg. 2014;260(6):1138–46.
- 44. Wong VW, Akaishi S, Longaker MT, Gurtner GC. Pushing back: wound mechanotransduction in repair and regeneration. J Invest Dermatol. 2011;131(11):2186–96.
- 45. Januszyk M, Wong VW, Bhatt KA, Vial IN, Paterno J, Longaker MT, Gurtner GC. Mechanical offloading of incisional wounds is associated with transcriptional downregulation of inflammatory pathways in a large animal model. Organogenesis. 2014;10(2):186–93.
- 46. Kook SH, Jang YS, Lee JC. Involvement of JNK-AP-1 and ERK-NF-kappaB signaling in tension-stimulated expression of type I collagen and MMP-1 in human periodontal ligament fibroblasts. J Appl Physiol (1985). 2011;111(6):1575–83.
- 47. Hofmann M, Zaper J, Bernd A, Bereiter-Hahn J, Kaufmann R, Kippenberger S. Mechanical pressureinduced phosphorylation of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase in epithelial cells via Src and protein kinase C. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2004;316(3):673–9.

- Chiquet M, Tunc-Civelek V, Sarasa-Renedo A. Gene regulation by mechanotransduction in fibroblasts. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab. 2007;32(5):967–73.
- Haudek SB, Gupta D, Dewald O, Schwartz RJ, Wei L, Trial J, Entman ML. Rho kinase-1 mediates cardiac fibrosis by regulating fibroblast precursor cell differentiation. Cardiovasc Res. 2009;83(3):511–8.
- Tremblay AM, Camargo FD. Hippo signaling in mammalian stem cells. Semin Cell Dev Biol. 2012;23(7):818–26.
- Zhao B, Tumaneng K, Guan KL. The hippo pathway in organ size control, tissue regeneration and stem cell self-renewal. Nat Cell Biol. 2011;13(8):877–83.
- Hiemer SE, Varelas X. Stem cell regulation by the hippo pathway. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2013;1830(2):2323–34.
- Halder G, Dupont S, Piccolo S. Transduction of mechanical and cytoskeletal cues by YAP and TAZ. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2012;13(9):591–600.
- 54. Dupont S, Morsut L, Aragona M, Enzo E, Giulitti S, Cordenonsi M, Zanconato F, Le Digabel J, Forcato M, Bicciato S, Elvassore N, Piccolo S. Role of YAP/TAZ in mechanotransduction. Nature. 2011;474(7350):179–83.
- Lee MJ, Byun MR, Furutani-Seiki M, Hong JH, Jung HS. YAP and TAZ regulate skin wound healing. J Invest Dermatol. 2013;134(2):518–25.
- 56. Varelas X, Samavarchi-Tehrani P, Narimatsu M, Weiss A, Cockburn K, Larsen BG, Rossant J, Wrana JL. The crumbs complex couples cell density sensing to hippo-dependent control of the TGF-beta-SMAD pathway. Dev Cell. 2010;19(6):831–44.
- 57. Yu FX, Zhao B, Panupinthu N, Jewell JL, Lian I, Wang LH, Zhao J, Yuan H, Tumaneng K, Li H, Fu XD, Mills GB, Guan KL. Regulation of the hippo-YAP pathway by G-protein-coupled receptor signaling. Cell. 2012;150(4):780–91.
- Yamaguchi Y, Takihara T, Chambers RA, Veraldi KL, Larregina AT, Feghali-Bostwick CA. A peptide derived from endostatin ameliorates organ fibrosis. Sci Transl Med. 2012;4(136):136ra71.
- 59. Beyer C, Reichert H, Akan H, Mallano T, Schramm A, Dees C, Palumbo-Zerr K, Lin NY, Distler A, Gelse K, Varga J, Distler O, Schett G, Distler JH. Blockade of canonical Wnt signalling ameliorates experimental dermal fibrosis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2013;72(7):1255–8.
- 60. Diao JS, Xia WS, Yi CG, Yang Y, Zhang X, Xia W, Shu MG, Wang YM, Gui L, Guo SZ. Histone deacetylase inhibitor reduces hypertrophic scarring in a rabbit ear model. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2013;132(1):61e–9e.
- 61. Tomcik M, Zerr P, Pitkowski J, Palumbo-Zerr K, Avouac J, Distler O, Becvar R, Senolt L, Schett G, Distler JH. Heat shock protein 90 (Hsp90) inhibition targets canonical TGF-beta signalling to prevent fibrosis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2013;73(6):1215–22.
- 62. Murata H, Zhou L, Ochoa S, Hasan A, Badiavas E, Falanga V. TGF-beta3 stimulates and regulates collagen synthesis through TGF-beta1-dependent and independent mechanisms. J Invest Dermatol. 1997;108(3):258–62.

- 63. Denton CP, Merkel PA, Furst DE, Khanna D, Emery P, Hsu VM, Silliman N, Streisand J, Powell J, Akesson A, Coppock J. Hoogen Fv, Herrick a, et al. recombinant human anti-transforming growth factor beta1 antibody therapy in systemic sclerosis: a multicenter, randomized, placebo-controlled phase I/II trial of CAT-192. Arthritis Rheum. 2007;56(1):323–33.
- 64. Prey S, Ezzedine K, Doussau A, Grandoulier AS, Barcat D, Chatelus E, Diot E, Durant C, Hachulla E, de Korwin-Krokowski JD, Kostrzewa E, Quemeneur T, et al. Imatinib mesylate in scleroderma-associated diffuse skin fibrosis: a phase II multicentre randomized double-blinded controlled trial. Br J Dermatol. 2012;167(5):1138–44.
- Renovo Group PLC, Juvista EU Phase 3 trial results. 2011. https://www.fiercebiotech.com/biotech/juvistaeu-phase-3-trial-results. Accessed 16 Feb 2018.
- 66. Horn A, et al. Inhibition of hedgehog signalling prevents experimental fibrosis and induces regression of established fibrosis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2012;71(5):785–9.
- J. Kolb MR, Gauldie J. Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: the matrix is the message. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2011;184(6):627–9.
- Barry-Hamilton V, et al. Allosteric inhibition of lysyl oxidase-like-2 impedes the development of a pathologic microenvironment. Nat Med. 2010;16(9):1009–17.
- Olsen KC, et al. Transglutaminase 2 and its role in pulmonary fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2011;184(6):699–707.
- 70. Shi JH, et al. Protection against TGF-beta1-induced fibrosis effects of IL-10 on dermal fibroblasts and its potential therapeutics for the reduction of skin scarring. Arch Dermatol Res. 2013;305(4):341–52.
- Occleston NL, et al. New therapeutics for the prevention and reduction of scarring. Drug Discov Today. 2008;13(21–22):973–81.
- Nakagome K, et al. In vivo IL-10 gene delivery attenuates bleomycin induced pulmonary fibrosis by inhibiting the production and activation of TGF-beta in the lung. Thorax. 2006;61(10):886–94.
- 73. Yamamoto T, Eckes B, Krieg T. Effect of interleukin-10 on the gene expression of type I collagen, fibronectin, and decorin in human skin fibroblasts: differential regulation by transforming growth factor-beta and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2001;281(1):200–5.

- Reitamo S, et al. Interleukin-10 modulates type I collagen and matrix metalloprotease gene expression in cultured human skin fibroblasts. J Clin Invest. 1994;94(6):2489–92.
- Yuan W, Varga J. Transforming growth factorbeta repression of matrix metalloproteinase-1 in dermal fibroblasts involves Smad3. J Biol Chem. 2001;276(42):38502–10.
- Rustad KC, Wong VW, Gurtner GC. The role of focal adhesion complexes in fibroblast mechanotransduction during scar formation. Differentiation. 2013;86(3):87–91.
- Engrav LH, et al. 12-year within-wound study of the effectiveness of custom pressure garment therapy. Burns. 2010;36(7):975–83.
- Li-Tsang CW, Zheng YP, Lau JC. A randomized clinical trial to study the effect of silicone gel dressing and pressure therapy on posttraumatic hypertrophic scars. J Burn Care Res. 2010;31(3):448–57.
- 79. Steinstraesser L, et al. Pressure garment therapy alone and in combination with silicone for the prevention of hypertrophic scarring: randomized controlled trial with intraindividual comparison. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2011;128(4):306e–13e.
- Ward RS. Pressure therapy for the control of hypertrophic scar formation after burn injury. A history and review. J Burn Care Rehabil. 1991;12(3):257–62.
- Akaishi S, et al. The tensile reduction effects of silicone gel sheeting. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2010;126(2):109e–11e.
- 82. Atkinson JA, et al. A randomized, controlled trial to determine the efficacy of paper tape in preventing hypertrophic scar formation in surgical incisions that traverse Langer's skin tension lines. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2005;116(6):1648–56.
- Gurtner GC, et al. Improving cutaneous scar formation by controlling the mechanical environment: large animal and phase I studies. Ann Surg. 2011;254(2):217–25.
- 84. Lim AF, et al. The embrace device significantly decreases scarring following scar revision surgery in a randomized controlled trial. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2014;133(2):398–405.
- Longaker MT, et al. A randomized controlled trial of the embrace advanced scar therapy device to reduce incisional scar formation. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2014;134(3):536–46.
- Buscher D, et al. Mechanotransduction and fibrosis. J Biomech. 2014;47(9):1997–2005.



Stromal Cell-Derived Factor 1 (SDF-1) Signaling and Tissue Homeostasis

Zeshaan N. Maan, Mimi R. Borrelli, Khosrow Siamak Houschyar, and Geoffrey C. Gurtner

6.1 Introduction

Stromal-derived factor 1 (SDF-1) is a highly potent chemoattractant protein that critically regulates cell migration and behavior during embryogenesis, hematopoiesis, tissue repair, and regeneration. Through similar molecular mechanisms, SDF-1 may also regulate the migration and behavior of cancer stem cells. Impaired SDF-1 signaling, on the other hand, is a feature of aging and certain disease states such as diabetes. This chapter outlines the structure of SDF-1 and its function in development, homeostasis, and disease.

6.2 SDF-1 Structure and Function

SDF-1, also known as CXC chemokine ligand-12 (CXCL12), is a small molecular weight protein belonging to the CXC motif family of chemokines with several isoforms. SDF-1 exists as two

ggurtner@stanford.edu

alternative splice variants, SDF-1 α and SDF-1 β , which are identical except for the addition of 4 amino acids at the carboxyl-terminus of SDF-1β. The functional significance of this difference is not known [1]. SDF-1 is located on chromosome 10, unlike the remainder of the CXC subfamily, which cluster on chromosome 4, or the CC chemokines which cluster on chromosome 17. Also unique among chemokines, SDF-1 has remained evolutionarily conserved, with 99% homology between mouse and human SDF-1 [1-3]. SDF-1 is constitutively and ubiquitously expressed in many tissues and cell types, including the stromal and endothelial cells located in bone marrow [4]. cardiac tissue [5–7], skeletal muscle [8, 9], liver [10], neural dendritic tissue [11, 12], and the kidney [7, 13].

Studies at the molecular level demonstrate that the promoter region of the SDF-1 gene contains hypoxia inducible factor-1 (HIF-1) binding sites, as revealed by chromatin immunoprecipitation analysis, and that SDF-1 expression is upregulated in endothelial cells by HIF-1 α [14, 15]. HIF-1 consists of an oxygen-sensitive α -subunit, and a constitutive β -subunit [16]. In normoxia propyl hydroxylases (PHDs) prepare the α -subunit for degradation [17, 18]. In hypoxia, HIF-1a is stabilized, and can accumulate, translocate to the nucleus [19], and bind to the hypoxiaresponsive region of the SDF-1 promoter, upregulating SDF-1 expression [15]. SDF-1 expression is normally directly proportional to

Z. N. Maan · M. R. Borrelli · G. C. Gurtner (⊠) Division of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Department of Surgery, Stanford University School of Medicine, Stanford, CA, USA e-mail: zmaan@stanford.edu; mimib@stanford.edu;

K. S. Houschyar

Department of Plastic Surgery, BG University Hospital Bergmannsheil, Ruhr University Bochum, Bochum, Germany

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

D. Duscher, M. A. Shiffman (eds.), *Regenerative Medicine and Plastic Surgery*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19958-6_6

decreased local tissue oxygen tensions but can also be activated under normoxic conditions by HIF-1 mimetics [15, 20].

The biologic effects of SDF-1 are mediated by the chemokine receptors CXCR4 and CXCR7. CXCR4 is the primary receptor of SDF-1. Unusual in chemokine signaling, SDF-1 is the only ligand of CXCR4 [21]. CXCR4 (aka fusin and CD184) is a 352 amino acid rhodopsin-like transmembrane-specific G protein-coupled receptor (GPCR). Various cell lines express CXCR4, including muscle cells, endothelial cells, leucocytes, and progenitor cells. The expression of CXCR4 is upregulated by HIF-1a and nuclear factor-kb (NF-kb) [22, 23]. Numerous stem cells express functional CXCR4 gradients, and follow SDF-1 including hematopoietic cells [24], embryonic pluripotent stem cells (PSC) [25, 26], primordial germ stem cells (PGC) [27-29], and various tissuecommitted stem cells including neural [30, 31], skeletal/smooth muscle [8, 9], cardiac [5, 32], hepatic [10, 33], nervous [34], endothelial [15, 35], renal tubular- [13], and retina pigmentepithelial cells [36]. The SDF-1-CXCR4 axis has a central role in chemotactic responses, cell mobility, and paracrine signaling. SDF-1-CXCR4 binding can alter cellular expression of adhesion molecules, metalloproteinases, and angiogenic factors including vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) [25]. By activating and/or modulating the function of several cell surface integrins, SDF-1 increases cellular adhesion in response to VCAM-1, intercellular adhesion molecule-1, fibronectin, and fibrinogen [37]. The SDF-1/CXCR4 axis is also involved in maintaining hemostasis of the bone marrow niche [38, 39], and hematopoiesis [40]. Additionally, SDF-1 may directly affect cell proliferation and survival [41, 42], including myeloid progenitor cells [43]. CXCR7 (RDCI) has more recently been identified as the second SDF-1 receptor, regulating distinct physiological processes [39, 44]. These cellular and molecular mechanisms underpin the actions of SDF-1 in the developing embryo, as well as in homeostasis, regeneration, and repair in the adult.

6.3 Embryological Development

During embryological development, SDF-1 is expressed in parallel with its receptor CXCR4 in numerous adjacent tissue pairs, including the ectoderm/mesoderm in gastrulation and the mesoderm/endothelium in neuronal, cardiac, vascular, thyroid hematopoietic, and craniofacial development [45]. Transgenic mice, deficient in either CXCR4 or SDF-1, have lethal embryonic phenotypes with multiple congenital malformations, including defects in intestinal vasculature, cardiac ventricular septum, lymphoid and myeloid hematopoiesis, neuronal migration of cerebellar neurons, and hematopoietic colonization of embryonic bone marrow (BM) [4, 30, 31, 46, 47]. Rapid tissue growth during embryonic development continually outpaces the supportive vasculature, creating localized areas of hypoxia. Hypoxia upregulates the expression of SDF-1, which in turn acts to guide the migration of CXCR4expressing embryonic stem cells to hypoxic areas where they can contribute to tissue regeneration and neovascularization [45]. Embryonic hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs), for example, migrate from the liver to the fetal BM in the third trimester along SDF-1 gradients [48], and BM colonization is disrupted in both SDF-1 and CXCR4 knockout mice [4].

Likewise, aortopulmonary septal cells express CXCR4 and migrate towards the SDF-1-rich regions in the cardiac outflow tract during conotruncal development [4]. In the cerebellum SDF signaling prevents premature ventral migration of external granular layer (EGL) cells. In early development CXCR4expressing EGL cells are bound to pia mater cells on the dorsal edge of the cerebellum, which in turn express SDF-1. This chemotactic attraction is thought to hold EGL cells in position until they are ready to differentiate. CXCR4- or SDF-1-deficient mice have EGL cells that exhibit early pathological ventral migration [30, 31, 45]. In summary, SDF-1 gradients orchestrate complex cellular migration during embryogenesis.

6.4 BM Maintenance

In addition to its embryologic role, SDF-1 also regulates the bone marrow microenvironment postnatally [24, 49–55]. Bone marrow is physiologically hypoxic [15] and SDF-1 is constitutively expressed by BM endothelial cells and mesenchymal stromal cells, including osteoblasts [4, 45, 56]. A subset of BM cells, known as "CXCL12 abundant reticular cells" (CAR), highly express SDF-1 and form networks within the BM surrounding all sinusoidal endothelial cells [57]. SDF-1 expression by BM stromal cells and CAR cells serves as a potent chemoattractant for CXCR4-expressing immature and mature hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells [3, 58, 59]. This generates a unique hypoxia-induced microenvironment in which SDF-1 maintains HSC niche homeostasis [57]. Proteolytic degradation of bone marrow SDF-1 or disruption of SDF-1-CXCR4 binding by granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF) mobilizes and disrupts the quiescence of hematopoietic progenitor cells within the bone marrow, leading to differentiation and egress into the peripheral circulation [54, 60]. This mobilization is mediated through the metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-9) release of Kitligand, evidenced by the observation that HSC mobilization is suppressed in MMP9-deficient mice [50].

SDF-1 expression by BM cells also facilitates the homing of transplanted HSCs [24]. HSCs injected into the peripheral bloodstream, in both clinical and experimental data, migrate to the bone marrow and repopulate it with myeloid and lymphoid cell lines [61]. BM-derived progenitors virally transfected to express a modified SDF-1intrakine, which has altered structure and function, blocked the expression and function of CXCR4 and impaired B lymphopoiesis and myelopoiesis, compared **BM**-derived to progenitors transduced to express SDF-1 [62]. Cytokines such as Kit-ligand (stem cell factor, SCF) and interleukin-6 (IL-6) upregulate CXCR4 expression on mouse CD34+ HSCs and improve HSC engraftment [24, 63]. BM SDF-1 levels increase after irradiation or with treatment using

other cytotoxic DNA-damaging agents, including Cy or 5-fluorouracil (5-FU). The increase in SDF-1 correlates with increases in BM-homing and/or repopulation by primitive human HSCs [56].

SDF-1 mediates homing of CXCR4expressing hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells by inducing integrin-mediated arrest under shear stress on BM endothelium [21, 24, 37, 64]. SDF-1 rapidly and transiently upregulates CD34+ HSC adhesion to both CS-1/fibronectin and vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1) expressed by BM stromal cells, and enhances very late antigen-4 (VLA-4)-dependent cell adhesion in primitive LTC-IC and committed CD34 cells [65]. Activation of lymphocyte function-associated antigen-1 (LFA-1), $\alpha 4$ and $\alpha 5\beta 1$ (VLA-5) converts the rolling of CD34+ cells into a stable arrest on the BM endothelium [37]. Blocking CXCR4 inhibits the homing and engraftment of CD34+ human progenitor cells in NOD/SCID mice (Fig. 6.1) [24].

The SDF-1-mediated niche microenvironment within the BM maintains HSCs in an undifferentiated quiescent state [50, 66]. Induced deletions of CXCR4 in mice result in large numbers of HSCs entering the cell cycle [56, 67, 68]. The CXCR4/SDF-1 axis is associated with differentiation of both pre-B cells and the megakaryocytic progenitors [69, 70], which has led to SDF-1 being called "pre-B-cell growthstimulating factor." Synergistic action of SDF-1 with other cytokines may also enhance survival [71, 72]. SDF-1 acts with thrombopoietin or KitL, to suppress apoptosis and trigger CD34+ cells to progress from G0 into the S and G2/M phases of cell cycle [67]. In summary, the SDF1/ CXCR4 signaling pathway plays critical roles in supporting HSC mobilization, migration, engraftment, proliferation, and survival.

6.5 Tissue Repair and Regeneration

The SDF-1/CXCR4 axis is essential for the trafficking of mature and immature hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells from the bone marrow



Fig. 6.1 Homing of the CXCR4-expressing hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells to the bone marrow. SDF-1 enhances the adherence and arrest of hematopoietic stem/

to areas of tissue injury. HIF-1a is stabilized in the endothelial cells of ischemic tissue and induces expression of SDF-1. This results in elevated plasma SDF-1 and decreased bone marrow SDF-1 levels. This has been observed across a variety of injury models including following cardiac infarction [6], limb ischemia [73, 74], toxic liver damage [10, 33], excessive bleeding [6], and total body irradiation or chemotherapy [56]. Disrupting the BM-to-peripheral blood SDF-1 gradients stimulates CXCR4-expressing cells to egress from the BM into the circulation and towards sites of increased SDF-1 expression (Fig. 6.2). Mobilized cells include lymphocytes, monocytes, neutrophils, megakaryocytes, hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells (HSPCs), as well as non-hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells (NSPCs) with repopulating potential (CFU-S) [3, 4, 59, 75-77]. These SDF-1-responsive cells populate the peripheral blood in tandem with increasing plasma SDF-levels [78-80].

progenitor cells to endothelial cells by increasing VCAM-1, VLA-4, VLA5, LFA-1, and VL1

SDF-1 gradients direct the CXCR4+ HSCs and NSPCs to the respective sites of injury, where they proliferate and assemble for tissue regeneration [15, 25, 33, 58, 81]. SDF-1 signaling is localized to endothelial cells, providing a luminal signal to facilitate adhesion and egression of CXCR4+ cells from the circulation into ischemic tissue, similar to what has been reported in the BM (2, 64). The binding of SDF-1 to the CXCR4 receptor initiates a cascade of signaling processes within the CXCR4+ cells, initiating adhesion, transgression across the endothelial basal lamina, paracrine activity, and cell retention at the target organ [15, 32, 64]. SDF-1 activates lymphocyte functionassociated antigen-1 (LFA-1), very late antigen-4 (VLA-4), and VLA-5, which enable cells to firmly adhere to vascular endothelium and begin to migrate out of the circulation [37]. When the CXCR4+ cells encounter the extra cellular matrix (ECM)-rich basal lamina membrane, SDF-1 induces the secretion of matrix metalloproteinases



Fig. 6.2 Egression of the CXCR4-expressing hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells from the bone marrow into the bloodstream as a result of disrupting the resting SDF-1 gradient

(MMPs) MMP-2 and MMP-9, enzymatically degrading the ECM basal lamina membrane [33, 82]. Interestingly, MMP-9 inhibitors completely inhibit SDF-1-mediated cell migration [83]. Neural progenitor cells may also secrete MMP-3 in response to SDF-1 [84].

A critical component of tissue regeneration is neovascularization, the formation of new blood vessels. SDF-1 induces the secretion of nitric oxide NO and angiogenic factors, including VEGF, in resident endothelial cells and lymphohematopoietic cells, promoting neovascularization [41, 85]. In addition, SDF-1 recruits circulating progenitor cells, which contribute to neovascularization through either paracrine stimulation of resident cells, incorporation into newly forming blood vessels, or vasculogenesis [86], the de novo formation of blood vessels distinct from angiogenesis, the sprouting of vessels from existing vascular structures. Vasculogenesis is largely attributed to putative BM-derived endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs), which are

recruited to hypoxic tissue by SDF-1 [15]. Vasculogenesis is abundant throughout embryogenesis, and is believed by some to contributes to post-ischemic vascular regeneration by similar regulatory pathways in the adult [87], though this is controversial (Fig. **6.3**). Transplanted BM-derived progenitor cells have been detected in ischemic tissue as proliferative clusters outside existing blood vessels [88]. These clusters eventually form cords aligned in the direction of hypoxic gradients and have been co-stained with von Willebrand factor, believed to confirm their endothelial phenotype. However, these results have been questioned and many believe that putative EPCs instead serve a largely paracrine function that enhances the local angiogenic process. Regardless, ischemic tissue recruits EPCs and other BM-derived progenitor cells via SDF-1, promoting neovascularization and enhancing tissue regeneration [89]. Restoration of normal tissue oxygenation levels eventually decreases SDF-1 to baseline levels.



Fig. 6.3 Vasculogenesis: endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs) home to the area of ischemic tissue by SDF-1 gradients, proliferate, and assemble to form new blood vessels

6.6 Disease States

6.6.1 Underexpression

Impaired HIF/SDF-1function, present in certain disease states, limits the capacity for neovascularization and tissue repair. In the setting of aging, HIF-1, and subsequently SDF-1, expression is wound reduced during healing [PMID: 19182665]. Aged mice also have reduced numbers of CXCR4-expressing mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) and stromal cells within their bone marrow and fewer CXCR transcripts within those cells that are CXCR4+. HSCs from young mice transplanted into the SDF-1 deficient bone marrow of aged mice demonstrated higher cycling, reduced engraftment, and myeloid biased differentiation, all of which are features of aging, suggesting the effects of aging are intrinsic to both the HSCs and their supportive stromal cells. Interestingly, aged stroma demonstrated increased reactive oxygen species (ROS), and treatment with N-acetyl-cysteine (NAC) for 1 week improved SDF-1 expression and niche supporting activity in terms of proliferative potential and attenuated the HSC aging phenotype [90].

Diabetes impairs the synthesis and stabilization of HIF-1 α , hastens its degradation, and hyperglycemia-induced increases in ROS prevent HIF-1 α from binding to the SDF-1 promoter [91–93]. In diabetic mice, wound HIF-1 α protein levels are reduced [93], and myocardial cell HIF-1 α activity is reduced, which is associated with an increased myocardial infarction size after an ischemic insult [94]. Hyperglycemia impairs HIF-1 α activity in hypoxic aortic smooth muscle cells, which accelerates smooth muscle cell proliferation and atherosclerotic disease progression [95]. Human dermal fibroblasts (HDFs) and dermal microvascular endothelial cells (d-HMVECs) biopsied from diabetic ulcers have decreased HIF-1 α compared to the same cells biopsied from nondiabetic venous ulcers [96]. Reduced HIF-1 α leads to reduced expression of SDF-1 and impaired neovascularization. Reduced SDF-1 levels in diabetic cutaneous wounds have been associated with impaired progenitor cell recruitment [97, 98], further impacting tissue repair. Diabetic mice also demonstrate fewer circulating CXCR4+ cells circulating in the cerebral circulation following middle cerebral artery (MCA) occlusion [99].

6.6.2 Overexpression

Hypoxia-driven SDF-1 expression also appears to mediate both tumor progression and metastasis [14] and the recruitment of progenitor cells by tumor vasculature [100]. Tumors are thought to depend on a small population of cancer stem cells (CSCs) for their continuous growth. CSCs possess tumor initiation and self-renewal capacity and can give rise to bulk populations of non-tumorigenic cancer cell progeny through differentiation [101]. SDF-1 signaling acts in CSCs through both the CXCR4 [102] and CXCR7 axes [102]. CSCs, like NSPCs, are responsive to an SDF-1 gradient [103]. Thus, the SDF-1–CXCR4 axis mediates numerous other neoplastic processes which enhance and facilitate cancer survival. CXCR4+ tumor cells are guided towards organs with high levels of SDF-1 expression, including the lymph nodes, lungs, liver, or bones. Indeed, a number of CXCR4+ cancers, such as breast, ovarian, and prostate cancer, rhabdomyosarcoma and neuroblastoma, have been shown to metastasize through the blood to the bones and lymph nodes in an SDF-1-dependent manner [11, 104]. Additionally, tumors continually outgrow their blood supply, creating hypoxic а microenvironment, which in turn is associated with chronically elevated SDF-1. This seemingly constitutive expression of SDF-1 recruits EPCs and BM-derived CXCR4 responsive stromal cells, promoting neovascularization [105], and differentiation of recruited fibroblasts into tumorassociated myofibroblasts [106]. Together these cells provide a supportive stromal environment that promotes tumor growth.

SDF-1 signaling may also facilitate cancer survival via other mechanisms, dependent on the cancer subtype. For example, the interaction between SDF-1 and CXCR4 plays a key role in retaining acute lymphoid leukemia and acute myeloid leukemia (AML) cells in the BM and protecting these cancer cells from apoptosis [107, 108]. In AML cells, the SDF-1–CXCR4 axis mediates VLA-4–VCAM-1 interactions, which promotes their survival and drug resistance [109, 110].

6.7 Future/Therapy

As our understanding of SDF-1 signaling across various biological processes has increased, so have the opportunities to therapeutically manipulate this pathway [111]. We discuss a few

examples of therapeutic strategies manipulating different aspects of this pathway.

For successful BM transplantation host HSCs must be mobilized into the peripheral blood to facilitate extraction. Disrupting the SDF-1/CXCR4 binding by blocking the CXCR4 receptor with ADM3100 [51], by MMP-mediated enzymatic cleavage using GCSF [54], or blocking SDF-1 using diprotin [112] successfully mobilizes HSCs into the peripheral circulation.

Numerous approaches have been attempted to augment the deficient SDF-1/CXCR4 signaling in diabetes. Sitagliptin inhibits dipeptidylpeptidase-IV (DPP-IV), the enzyme which usually catabolizes SDF-1, and results in increased SDF-1 signaling. In a non-randomized clinical trial of type 2 diabetes Sitagliptin was able to progenitor cells mobilize [113]. Direct administration of SDF-1 into diabetic wounds can also promote homing of circulating progenitors and enhance wound healing [98]. HIF-1 α and SDF-1 have been applied to diabetic wounds using plasmid-based and viral methods for delivery, and both were successful in improving neovascularization and accelerating wound healing [1–3, 114, 115].

BM fibroblasts and adipose derived stromal cells (ASCs) made to overexpress SDF-1 in cell-based therapies promote wound healing [116, 117] and improve survival of ischemic skin flaps on diabetic mice [118]. Autologous BM progenitor cells from diabetic mice treated with SDF-1 promote diabetic murine wound healing and neovascularization [119], and this approach circumvents the difficulties of using allogeneic cells.

In cancer therapy, in contrast, the aim is to block or inhibit SDF-1/CXCR4 signaling to inhibit growth and metastasis of tumors. Small molecule CXCR4 antagonists (e.g., T140) have been employed to inhibit growth and metastasis of experimental tumors in animal models [120, 121]. Chetomin has been identified as a small molecule that inhibits the transcriptional coactivation of HIF-1a. Systemic administration of chetomin-inhibited hypoxia inducible transcription of HIF-1a regulated genes within tumors and inhibited tumor growth in mice [122]. The emergence of more targeted and efficient approaches to modulating SDF-1 signaling will permit the augmentation of endogenous pathways of tissue repair and regeneration while preventing them from being hijacked by neoplastic processes.

6.8 Conclusions

SDF-1 critically regulates chemotaxis and plays a pivotal role in the response to ischemic insult. SDF-1 expression by injured tissue is mediated by hypoxia and HIF-1 and stimulates mobilization and recruitment of circulating progenitor cells. Through a similar mechanism, stem cells selectively home to the bone marrow compartment after intravenous infusion. Reduced expression of SDF-1 has been linked with impaired tissue repair in the setting of disease, while overexpression has been linked with the unregulated tissue growth of cancer. The SDF-1/CXCR4 axis is also significantly associated with several diseases which have not been a focus of this chapter, including HIV, cancer, WHIM syndrome, rheumatoid arthritis, pulmonary fibrosis, and lupus.

References

- Shirozu M, Nakano T, Inazawa J, Tashiro K, Tada H, Shinohara T, Honjo T. Structure and chromosomal localization of the human stromal cell-derived factor 1 (SDF1) gene. Genomics. 1995;28(3):495–500.
- Campbell JJ, Hedrick J, Zlotnik A, Siani MA, Thompson DA, Butcher EC. Chemokines and the arrest of lymphocytes rolling under flow conditions. Science. 1998;279(5349):381–4.
- Bleul CC, Fuhlbrigge RC, Casasnovas JM, Aiuti A, Springer TA. A highly efficacious lymphocyte chemoattractant, stromal cell-derived factor 1 (SDF-1). J Exp Med. 1996;184(3):1101–9.
- Nagasawa T, Hirota S, Tachibana K, Takakura N, Nishikawa S-I, Kitamura Y, Yoshida N, Kikutani H, Kishimoto T. Defects of B-cell lymphopoiesis and bone-marrow myelopoiesis in mice lacking the CXC chemokine PBSF/SDF-1. Nature. 1996;382(6592):635.
- Damås JK, Eiken HG, Øie E, Bjerkeli V, Yndestad A, Ueland T, Tonnessen T, Geiran OR, Aass H, Simonsen S, Christensen G, Froland SS, Attramadal H, Gullestad L, Aukrust P. Myocardial expression of CC-and CXC-chemokines and their receptors in human end-stage heart failure. Cardiovasc Res. 2000;47(4):778–87.
- Kucia M, Dawn B, Hunt G, Guo Y, Wysoczynski M, Majka M, Ratajczak J, Rezzoug F, Ildstad ST, Bolli

R, Ratajczak MZ. Cells expressing early cardiac markers reside in the bone marrow and are mobilized into the peripheral blood after myocardial infarction. Circ Res. 2004;95(12):1191–9.

- Ratajczak M, Kucia M, Reca R, Majka M, Janowska-Wieczorek A, Ratajczak J. Stem cell plasticity revisited: CXCR4-positive cells expressing mRNA for early muscle, liver and neural cells 'hide out' in the bone marrow. Leukemia. 2004;18(1):29.
- Pituch-Noworolska A, Majka M, Janowska-Wieczorek A, Baj-Krzyworzeka M, Urbanowicz B, Malec E, Ratajczak MZ. Circulating CXCR4positive stem/progenitor cells compete for SDF-1positive niches in bone marrow, muscle and neural tissues: an alternative hypothesis to stem cell plasticity. Folia Histochem Cytobiol. 2003;41(1):13–21.
- Ratajczak MZ, Majka M, Kucia M, Drukala J, Pietrzkowski Z, Peiper S, Janowska-Wieczorek A. Expression of functional CXCR4 by muscle satellite cells and secretion of SDF-1 by musclederived fibroblasts is associated with the presence of both muscle progenitors in bone marrow and hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells in muscles. Stem Cells. 2003;21(3):363–71.
- Hatch HM, Zheng D, Jorgensen ML, Petersen BE. SDF-1α/CXCR4: a mechanism for hepatic oval cell activation and bone marrow stem cell recruitment to the injured liver of rats. Cloning Stem Cells. 2002;4(4):339–51.
- Bagri A, Gurney T, He X, Zou Y-R, Littman DR, Tessier-Lavigne M, Pleasure SJ. The chemokine SDF1 regulates migration of dentate granule cells. Development. 2002;129(18):4249–60.
- Pablos JL, Amara A, Bouloc A, Santiago B, Caruz A, Galindo M, Delaunay T, Virelizier JL, Arenzana-Seisdedos F. Stromal-cell derived factor is expressed by dendritic cells and endothelium in human skin. Am J Pathol. 1999;155(5):1577–86.
- Tögel F, Isaac J, Hu Z, Weiss K, Westenfelder C. Renal SDF-1 signals mobilization and homing of CXCR4-positive cells to the kidney after ischemic injury. Kidney Int. 2005;67(5):1772–84.
- Semenza GL. Targeting HIF-1 for cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 2003;3(10):721.
- Ceradini DJ, Kulkarni AR, Callaghan MJ, Tepper OM, Bastidas N, Kleinman ME, Capla JM, Galiano RD, Levine JP, Gurtner GC. Progenitor cell trafficking is regulated by hypoxic gradients through HIF-1 induction of SDF-1. Nat Med. 2004;10(8):858.
- Wang GL, Jiang BH, Rue EA, Semenza GL. Hypoxiainducible factor 1 is a basic-helix-loop-helix-PAS heterodimer regulated by cellular O2 tension. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1995;92(12):5510–4.
- Jaakkola P, Mole DR, Tian YM, Wilson MI, Gielbert J, Gaskell SJ, von Kriegsheim A, Hebestreit HF, Mukherji M, Schofield CJ, Maxwell PH, Pugh CW, Ratcliffe PJ. Targeting of HIF-alpha to the von Hippel-Lindau ubiquitylation complex by O2-regulated prolyl hydroxylation. Science. 2001;292(5516):468–72.

- Ivan M, Kondo K, Yang H, Kim W, Valiando J, Ohh M, Salic A, Asara JM, Lane WS, Kaelin WG Jr. HIFalpha targeted for VHL-mediated destruction by proline hydroxylation: implications for O2 sensing. Science. 2001;292(5516):464–8.
- Hitchon C, Wong K, Ma G, Reed J, Lyttle D, El-Gabalawy H. Hypoxia-induced production of stromal cell-derived factor 1 (CXCL12) and vascular endothelial growth factor by synovial fibroblasts. Arthritis Rheum. 2002;46(10):2587–97.
- 20. Jiang X, Malkovskiy AV, Tian W, Sung YK, Sun W, Hsu JL, Manickam S, Wagh D, Joubert LM, Semenza GL, Rajadas J, Nicolls MR. Promotion of airway anastomotic microvascular regeneration and alleviation of airway ischemia by deferoxamine nanoparticles. Biomaterials. 2014;35(2):803–13.
- Kim CH, Broxmeyer HE. Chemokines: signal lamps for trafficking of T and B cells for development and effector function. J Leukoc Biol. 1999;65(1):6–15.
- 22. Helbig G, Christopherson KW, Bhat-Nakshatri P, Kumar S, Kishimoto H, Miller KD, Broxmeyer HE, Nakshatri H. NF-κ B promotes breast cancer cell migration and metastasis by inducing the expression of the chemokine receptor CXCR4. J Biol Chem. 2003;278(24):21631–8.
- 23. Schioppa T, Uranchimeg B, Saccani A, Biswas SK, Doni A, Rapisarda A, Bernasconi S, Saccani S, Nebuloni M, Vago L, Mantovani A, Melillo G, Sica A. Regulation of the chemokine receptor CXCR4 by hypoxia. J Exp Med. 2003;198(9):1391–402.
- 24. Peled A, Petit I, Kollet O, Magid M, Ponomaryov T, Byk T, Nagler A, Ben-Hur H, Many A, Shultz L, Lider O, Alon R, Zipori D, Lapidot T. Dependence of human stem cell engraftment and repopulation of NOD/SCID mice on CXCR4. Science. 1999;283(5403):845–8.
- Kucia M, Reca R, Miekus K, Wanzeck J, Wojakowski W, Janowska-Wieczorek A, Ratajczak J, Ratajczak MZ. Trafficking of normal stem cells and metastasis of cancer stem cells involve similar mechanisms: pivotal role of the SDF-1–CXCR4 axis. Stem Cells. 2005;23(7):879–94.
- 26. Guo Y, Hangoc G, Bian H, Pelus LM, Broxmeyer HE. SDF-1/CXCL12 Enhances Survival and Chemotaxis of Murine Embryonic Stem Cells and Production of Primitive and Definitive Hematopoietic Progenitor Cells. Stem Cells. 2005;23(9):1324–32.
- 27. Ara T, Nakamura Y, Egawa T, Sugiyama T, Abe K, Kishimoto T, Matsui Y, Nagasawa T. Impaired colonization of the gonads by primordial germ cells in mice lacking a chemokine, stromal cell-derived factor-1 (SDF-1). Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2003;100(9):5319–23.
- Doitsidou M, Reichman-Fried M, Stebler J, Köprunner M, Dörries J, Meyer D, Esguerra CV, Leung T, Raz E. Guidance of primordial germ cell migration by the chemokine SDF-1. Cell. 2002;111(5):647–59.
- Rich IN. Primordial germ cells are capable of producing cells of the hematopoietic system in vitro. Blood. 1995;86(2):463–72.

- 30. Ma Q, Jones D, Borghesani PR, Segal RA, Nagasawa T, Kishimoto T, Bronson RT, Springer TA. Impaired B-lymphopoiesis, myelopoiesis, and derailed cerebellar neuron migration in CXCR4and SDF-1-deficient mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 1998;95(16):9448–53.
- Zou Y-R, Kottmann AH, Kuroda M, Taniuchi I, Littman DR. Function of the chemokine receptor CXCR4 in haematopoiesis and in cerebellar development. Nature. 1998;393(6685):595.
- 32. Kucia M, Jankowski K, Reca R, Wysoczynski M, Bandura L, Allendorf DJ, Zhang J, Ratajczak J, Ratajczak MZ. CXCR4–SDF-1 signalling, locomotion, chemotaxis and adhesion. J Mol Histol. 2004;35(3):233–45.
- 33. Kollet O, Shivtiel S, Chen Y-Q, Suriawinata J, Thung SN, Dabeva MD, Kahn J, Spiegel A, Dar A, Samira S, Goichberg P, Kalinkovich A, Arenzana-Seisdedos F, Nagler A, Hardan I, Revel M, Shafritz DA, Lapidot T. HGF, SDF-1, and MMP-9 are involved in stress-induced human CD34+ stem cell recruitment to the liver. J Clin Invest. 2003;112(2):160–9.
- 34. Imitola J, Raddassi K, Park KI, Mueller F-J, Nieto M, Teng YD, Frenkel D, Li J, Sidman RL, Walsh CA, Snyder EY, Khoury SJ. Directed migration of neural stem cells to sites of CNS injury by the stromal cell-derived factor 1α/CXC chemokine receptor 4 pathway. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2004;101(52):18117–22.
- 35. Moore M, Hattori K, Heissig B, SHIEH JH, Dias S, Crystal R, Rafii S. Mobilization of endothelial and hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells by adenovector-mediated elevation of serum levels of SDF-1, VEGF, and angiopoietin-1. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2001;938(1):36–47.
- 36. Li Y, Reca RG, Atmaca-Sonmez P, Ratajczak MZ, Ildstad ST, Kaplan HJ, Enzmann V. Retinal pigment epithelium damage enhances expression of chemoattractants and migration of bone marrow– derived stem cells. Inv Ophthalmol Visual Sci. 2006;47(4):1646–52.
- 37. Peled A, Kollet O, Ponomaryov T, Petit I, Franitza S, Grabovsky V, Slav MM, Nagler A, Lider O, Alon R, Zipori D, Lapidot T. The chemokine SDF-1 activates the integrins LFA-1, VLA-4, and VLA-5 on immature human CD34+ cells: role in transendothelial/ stromal migration and engraftment of NOD/SCID mice. Blood. 2000;95(11):3289–96.
- 38. Liu H, Xue W, Ge G, Luo X, Li Y, Xiang H, Ding X, Tian P, Tian X. Hypoxic preconditioning advances CXCR4 and CXCR7 expression by activating HIF-1α in MSCs. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2010;401(4):509–15.
- 39. Burns JM, Summers BC, Wang Y, Melikian A, Berahovich R, Miao Z, Penfold ME, Sunshine MJ, Littman DR, Kuo CJ, Wei K, McMaster BE, Wright K, Howard MC, Schall TJ. A novel chemokine receptor for SDF-1 and I-TAC involved in cell survival, cell adhesion, and tumor development. J Exp Med. 2006;203(9):2201–13.

- 40. Sierro F, Biben C, Martínez-Muñoz L, Mellado M, Ransohoff RM, Li M, Woehl B, Leung H, Groom J, Batten M, Harvey RP, Martínez-A C, Mackay CR, Mackay F. Disrupted cardiac development but normal hematopoiesis in mice deficient in the second CXCL12/SDF-1 receptor, CXCR7. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2007;104(37):14759–64.
- 41. Kijowski J, Baj-Krzyworzeka M, Majka M, Reca R, Marquez LA, Christofidou-Solomidou M, Janowska-Wieczorek A, Ratajczak MZ. The SDF-1-CXCR4 axis stimulates VEGF secretion and activates integrins but does not affect proliferation and survival in lymphohematopoietic cells. Stem Cells. 2001;19(5):453–66.
- Strieter RM, Burdick MD, Mestas J, Gomperts B, Keane MP, Belperio JA. Cancer CXC chemokine networks and tumour angiogenesis. Eur J Cancer. 2006;42(6):768–78.
- 43. Broxmeyer HE, Cooper S, Kohli L, Hangoc G, Lee Y, Mantel C, Clapp DW, Kim CH. Transgenic expression of stromal cell-derived factor-1/CXC chemokine ligand 12 enhances myeloid progenitor cell survival/antiapoptosis in vitro in response to growth factor withdrawal and enhances myelopoiesis in vivo. J Immunol. 2003;170(1):421–9.
- 44. Balabanian K, Lagane B, Infantino S, Chow KY, Harriague J, Moepps B, Arenzana-Seisdedos F, Thelen M, Bachelerie F. The chemokine SDF-1/ CXCL12 binds to and signals through the orphan receptor RDC1 in T lymphocytes. J Biol Chem. 2005;280(42):35760–6.
- McGrath KE, Koniski AD, Maltby KM, McGann JK, Palis J. Embryonic expression and function of the chemokine SDF-1 and its receptor, CXCR4. Dev Biol. 1999;213(2):442–56.
- 46. Lazarini F, Tham TN, Casanova P, Arenzana-Seisdedos F, Dubois-Dalcq M. Role of the α-chemokine stromal cell-derived factor (SDF-1) in the developing and mature central nervous system. Glia. 2003;42(2):139–48.
- 47. Tachibana K, Hirota S, Iizasa H, Yoshida H, Kawabata K, Kataoka Y, Kitamura Y, Matsushima K, Yoshida N, Nishikawa S, Kishimoto T, Nagasawa T. The chemokine receptor CXCR4 is essential for vascularization of the gastrointestinal tract. Nature. 1998;393(6685):591.
- Medvinsky A, Dzierzak E. Definitive hematopoiesis is autonomously initiated by the AGM region. Cell. 1996;86(6):897–906.
- 49. Sugiyama T, Kohara H, Noda M, Nagasawa T. Maintenance of the hematopoietic stem cell pool by CXCL12-CXCR4 chemokine signaling in bone marrow stromal cell niches. Immunity. 2006;25(6):977–88.
- Heissig B, Hattori K, Dias S, Friedrich M, Ferris B, Hackett NR, Crystal RG, Besmer P, Lyden D, Moore MA, Werb Z, Rafii S. Recruitment of stem and progenitor cells from the bone marrow niche requires MMP-9 mediated release of kit-ligand. Cell. 2002;109(5):625–37.

- 51. Larochelle A, Krouse A, Metzger M, Orlic D, Donahue RE, Fricker S, Bridger G, Dunbar CE, Hematti P. AMD3100 mobilizes hematopoietic stem cells with long-term repopulating capacity in nonhuman primates. Blood. 2006;107(9):3772–8.
- 52. Broxmeyer HE, Orschell CM, Clapp DW, Hangoc G, Cooper S, Plett PA, Liles WC, Li X, Graham-Evans B, Campbell TB, Calandra G, Bridger G, Dale DC, Srour EF. Rapid mobilization of murine and human hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells with AMD3100, a CXCR4 antagonist. J Exp Med. 2005;201(8):1307–18.
- 53. Kollet O, Dar A, Shivtiel S, Kalinkovich A, Lapid K, Sztainberg Y, Tesio M, Samstein RM, Goichberg P, Spiegel A, Elson A, Lapidot T. Osteoclasts degrade endosteal components and promote mobilization of hematopoietic progenitor cells. Nat Med. 2006;12(6):657.
- 54. Petit I, Szyper-Kravitz M, Nagler A, Lahav M, Peled A, Habler L, Ponomaryov T, Taichman RS, Arenzana-Seisdedos F, Fujii N, Sandbank J, Zipori D, Lapidot T. G-CSF induces stem cell mobilization by decreasing bone marrow SDF-1 and upregulating CXCR4. Nat Immunol. 2002;3(7):687.
- Méndez-Ferrer S, Lucas D, Battista M, Frenette PS. Haematopoietic stem cell release is regulated by circadian oscillations. Nature. 2008;452(7186):442.
- 56. Ponomaryov T, Peled A, Petit I, Taichman RS, Habler L, Sandbank J, Arenzana-Seisdedos F, Magerus A, Caruz A, Fujii N, Nagler A, Lahav M, Szyper-Kravitz M, Zipori D, Lapidot T. Induction of the chemokine stromal-derived factor-1 following DNA damage improves human stem cell function. J Clin Invest. 2000;106(11):1331–9.
- Sugiyama T, Nagasawa T. Bone marrow niches for hematopoietic stem cells and immune cells. Inflamm Allergy Drug Targets. 2012 Jun;11(3):201–6.
- 58. Aiuti A, Webb I, Bleul C, Springer T, Gutierrez-Ramos J. The chemokine SDF-1 is a chemoattractant for human CD34+ hematopoietic progenitor cells and provides a new mechanism to explain the mobilization of CD34+ progenitors to peripheral blood. J Exp Med. 1997;185(1):111–20.
- Jo D-Y, Rafii S, Hamada T, Moore MA. Chemotaxis of primitive hematopoietic cells in response to stromal cell-derived factor-1. J Clin Invest. 2000;105(1):101–11.
- 60. Lévesque J-P, Hendy J, Takamatsu Y, Simmons PJ, Bendall LJ. Disruption of the CXCR4/CXCL12 chemotactic interaction during hematopoietic stem cell mobilization induced by GCSF or cyclophosphamide. J Clin Invest. 2003;111(2):187–96.
- Moore MA. "Turning brain into blood"—clinical applications of stem-cell research in neurobiology and hematology. N Engl J Med. 1999;341(8):605–7.
- 62. Onai N, Zhang Y-Y, Yoneyama H, Kitamura T, Ishikawa S, Matsushima K. Impairment of lymphopoiesis and myelopoiesis in mice reconstituted with bone marrow-hematopoietic

progenitor cells expressing SDF-1–intrakine. Blood. 2000;96(6):2074–80.

- Lapidot T. Mechanism of human stem cell migration and repopulation of NOD/SCID and B2mnull NOD/ SCID mice. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2001;938(1):83–95.
- 64. Peled A, Grabovsky V, Habler L, Sandbank J, Arenzana-Seisdedos F, Petit I, Ben-Hur H, Lapidot T, Alon R. The chemokine SDF-1 stimulates integrin-mediated arrest of CD34+ cells on vascular endothelium under shear flow. J Clin Invest. 1999;104(9):1199–211.
- 65. Hidalgo A, Sanz-Rodríguez F, Rodríguez-Fernández JL, Albella B, Blaya C, Wright N, Cabañas C, Prósper F, Gutierrez-Ramos JC, Teixidó J. Chemokine stromal cell-derived factor-1α modulates VLA-4 integrin-dependent adhesion to fibronectin and VCAM-1 on bone marrow hematopoietic progenitor cells. Exp Hematol. 2001;29(3):345–55.
- 66. Cheng T, Rodrigues N, Shen H, Yang Y-G, Dombkowski D, Sykes M, Scadden DT. Hematopoietic stem cell quiescence maintained by p21cip1/waf1. Science. 2000;287(5459):1804–8.
- 67. Lataillade JJ, Clay D, Bourin P, Hérodin F, Dupuy C, Jasmin C, Le Bousse-Kerdilès MC. Stromal cell– derived factor 1 regulates primitive hematopoiesis by suppressing apoptosis and by promoting G0/G1 transition in CD34+ cells: evidence for an autocrine/ paracrine mechanism. Blood. 2002;99(4):1117–29.
- 68. Grafte-Faure S, Leveque C, Ketata E, Jean P, Vasse M, Soria C, Vannier JP. Recruitment of primitive peripheral blood cells: synergism of interleukin 12 with interleukin 6 and stromal cell-derived factor-1. Cytokine. 2000;12(1):1–7.
- Hodohara K, Fujii N, Yamamoto N, Kaushansky K. Stromal cell-derived factor-1 (SDF-1) acts together with thrombopoietin to enhance the development of megakaryocytic progenitor cells (CFU-MK). Blood. 2000;95(3):769–75.
- Honczarenko M, Douglas RS, Mathias C, Lee B, Ratajczak MZ, Silberstein LE. SDF-1 responsiveness does not correlate with CXCR4 expression levels of developing human bone marrow B cells. Blood. 1999;94(9):2990–8.
- Lataillade JJ, Clay D, Dupuy C, Rigal S, Jasmin C, Bourin P, Le Bousse-Kerdilès MC. Chemokine SDF-1 enhances circulating CD34+ cell proliferation in synergy with cytokines: possible role in progenitor survival. Blood. 2000;95(3):756–68.
- 72. Lee Y, Gotoh A, Kwon H-J, You M, Kohli L, Mantel C, Cooper S, Hangoc G, Miyazawa K, Ohyashiki K, Broxmeyer HE. Enhancement of intracellular signaling associated with hematopoietic progenitor cell survival in response to SDF-1/ CXCL12 in synergy with other cytokines. Blood. 2002;99(12):4307–17.
- 73. Yamaguchi J, Kusano KF, Masuo O, Kawamoto A, Silver M, Murasawa S, Bosch-Marce M, Masuda H, Losordo DW, Isner JM, Asahara T. Stromal cell-derived factor-1 effects on ex vivo expanded endothelial progenitor cell recruitment

for ischemic neovascularization. Circulation. 2003;107(9):1322–8.

- 74. De Falco E, Porcelli D, Torella AR, Straino S, Iachininoto MG, Orlandi A, Truffa S, Biglioli P, Napolitano M, Capogrossi MC, Pesce M. SDF-1 involvement in endothelial phenotype and ischemiainduced recruitment of bone marrow progenitor cells. Blood. 2004;104(12):3472–82.
- Tashiro K, Tada H, Heilker R, Shirozu M, Nakano T, Honjo T. Signal sequence trap: a cloning strategy for secreted proteins and type I membrane proteins. Science. 1993;261(5121):600–3.
- Körbling M, Estrov Z. Adult stem cells for tissue repair—a new therapeutic concept? N Engl J Med. 2003;349(6):570–82.
- Kucia M, Ratajczak J, Ratajczak MZ. Bone marrow as a source of circulating CXCR4+ tissue-committed stem cells. Biol Cell. 2005;97(2):133–46.
- Hattori K, Heissig B, Tashiro K, Honjo T, Tateno M, Shieh JH, Hackett NR, Quitoriano MS, Crystal RG, Rafii S, Moore MA. Plasma elevation of stromal cell–derived factor-1 induces mobilization of mature and immature hematopoietic progenitor and stem cells. Blood. 2001;97(11):3354–60.
- Hattori K, Heissig B, Rafii S. The regulation of hematopoietic stem cell and progenitor mobilization by chemokine SDF-1. Leuk Lymphoma. 2003;44(4):575–82.
- Sweeney EA, Lortat-Jacob H, Priestley GV, Nakamoto B, Papayannopoulou T. Sulfated polysaccharides increase plasma levels of SDF-1 in monkeys and mice: involvement in mobilization of stem/ progenitor cells. Blood. 2002;99(1):44–51.
- Lapidot T, Dar A, Kollet O. How do stem cells find their way home? Blood. 2005;106(6):1901–10.
- 82. Janowska-Wieczorek A, Marquez LA, Dobrowsky A, Ratajczak MZ, Cabuhat ML. Differential MMP and TIMP production by human marrow and peripheral blood CD34+ cells in response to chemokines. Exp Hematol. 2000;28(11):1274–85.
- Rao Q, Zheng G, Lin Y, Wu K. Production of matrix metalloproteinase-9 by cord blood CD34+ cells and its role in migration. Ann Hematol. 2004;83(7):409–13.
- 84. Barkho BZ, Munoz AE, Li X, Li L, Cunningham LA, Zhao X. Endogenous matrix metalloproteinase (mmp)-3 and mmp-9 promote the differentiation and migration of adult neural progenitor cells in response to chemokines. Stem Cells. 2008;26(12):3139–49.
- 85. Neuhaus T, Stier S, Totzke G, Gruenewald E, Fronhoffs S, Sachinidis A, Vetter H, Ko YD. Stromal cell-derived factor 1α (SDF- 1α) induces geneexpression of early growth response-1 (Egr-1) and VEGF in human arterial endothelial cells and enhances VEGF induced cell proliferation. Cell Prolif. 2003;36(2):75–86.
- Asahara T, Murohara T, Sullivan A, Silver M, van der Zee R, Li T, Witzenbichler B, Schatteman G, Isner JM. Isolation of putative progenitor endothelial cells for angiogenesis. Science. 1997;275(5302):964–6.

- Ceradini DJ, Gurtner GC. Homing to hypoxia: HIF-1 as a mediator of progenitor cell recruitment to injured tissue. Trends Cardiovasc Med. 2005;15(2):57–63.
- Tepper OM, Capla JM, Galiano RD, Ceradini DJ, Callaghan MJ, Kleinman ME, Gurtner GC. Adult vasculogenesis occurs through in situ recruitment, proliferation, and tubulization of circulating bone marrow-derived cells. Blood. 2005;105(3):1068–77.
- 89. Kalka C, Masuda H, Takahashi T, Kalka-Moll WM, Silver M, Kearney M, Li T, Isner JM, Asahara T. Transplantation of ex vivo expanded endothelial progenitor cells for therapeutic neovascularization. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2000;97(7):3422–7.
- Singh P, Kacena MA, Orschell CM, Pelus LM. Attenuation of CXCR4/SDF-1 axis in bone marrow mesenchymal stromal cells impairs hematopoietic niche activity and promotes stem cell aging. Blood. 2017;130:92.
- Ceradini DJ, Yao D, Grogan RH, Callaghan MJ, Edelstein D, Brownlee M, Gurtner GC. Decreasing intracellular superoxide corrects defective ischemiainduced new vessel formation in diabetic mice. J Biol Chem. 2008;283(16):10930–8.
- 92. Thangarajah H, Yao D, Chang EI, Shi Y, Jazayeri L, Vial IN, Galiano RD, Du XL, Grogan R, Galvez MG, Januszyk M, Brownlee M, Gurtner GC. The molecular basis for impaired hypoxia-induced VEGF expression in diabetic tissues. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2009;106(32):13505–10.
- Mace KA, Yu DH, Paydar KZ, Boudreau N, Young DM. Sustained expression of Hif-1alpha in the diabetic environment promotes angiogenesis and cutaneous wound repair. Wound Repair Regen. 2007;15(5):636–45.
- 94. Marfella R, D'Amico M, Di Filippo C, Piegari E, Nappo F, Esposito K, Berrino L, Rossi F, Giugliano D. Myocardial infarction in diabetic rats: role of hyperglycaemia on infarct size and early expression of hypoxia-inducible factor 1. Diabetologia. 2002;45(8):1172–81.
- 95. Gao W, Ferguson G, Connell P, Walshe T, Murphy R, Birney YA, O'Brien C, Cahill PA. High glucose concentrations alter hypoxia-induced control of vascular smooth muscle cell growth via a HIFlalpha-dependent pathway. J Mol Cell Cardiol. 2007;42(3):609–19.
- Catrina SB, Okamoto K, Pereira T, Brismar K, Poellinger L. Hyperglycemia regulates hypoxiainducible factor-1alpha protein stability and function. Diabetes. 2004;53(12):3226–32.
- Restivo TE, Mace KA, Harken AH, Young DM. Application of the chemokine CXCL12 expression plasmid restores wound healing to near normal in a diabetic mouse model. J Trauma. 2010;69(2):392–8.
- Gallagher KA, Liu ZJ, Xiao M, Chen H, Goldstein LJ, Buerk DG, Nedeau A, Thom SR, Velazquez OC. Diabetic impairments in NO-mediated endothelial progenitor cell mobilization and homing

are reversed by hyperoxia and SDF-1 alpha. J Clin Invest. 2007;117(5):1249–59.

- 99. Chen J, Chen J, Chen S, Zhang C, Zhang L, Xiao X, Das A, Zhao Y, Yuan B, Morris M, Zhao B, Chen Y. Transfusion of CXCR4-primed endothelial progenitor cells reduces cerebral ischemic damage and promotes repair in db/db diabetic mice. PLoS One. 2012;7(11):e50105.
- 100. Lyden D, Hattori K, Dias S, Costa C, Blaikie P, Butros L, Chadburn A, Heissig B, Marks W, Witte L, Wu Y, Hicklin D, Zhu Z, Hackett NR, Crystal RG, Moore MA, Hajjar KA, Manova K, Benezra R, Rafii S. Impaired recruitment of bone-marrow–derived endothelial and hematopoietic precursor cells blocks tumor angiogenesis and growth. Nat Med. 2001;7(11):1194.
- 101. Frank NY, Schatton T, Frank MH. The therapeutic promise of the cancer stem cell concept. J Clin Invest. 2010;120(1):41–50.
- 102. Sun X, Cheng G, Hao M, Zheng J, Zhou X, Zhang J, Taichman RS, Pienta KJ, Wang J. CXCL12/CXCR4/ CXCR7 chemokine axis and cancer progression. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 2010;29(4):709–22.
- 103. Ratajczak M, Zuba-Surma E, Kucia M, Reca R, Wojakowski W, Ratajczak J. The pleiotropic effects of the SDF-1–CXCR4 axis in organogenesis, regeneration and tumorigenesis. Leukemia. 2006;20(11):1915.
- 104. Libura J, Drukala J, Majka M, Tomescu O, Navenot JM, Kucia M, Marquez L, Peiper SC, Barr FG, Janowska-Wieczorek A, Ratajczak MZ. CXCR4– SDF-1 signaling is active in rhabdomyosarcoma cells and regulates locomotion, chemotaxis, and adhesion. Blood. 2002;100(7):2597–606.
- Orimo A, Weinberg RA. Stromal fibroblasts in cancer: a novel tumor-promoting cell type. Cell Cycle. 2006;5(15):1597–601.
- 106. Kojima Y, Acar A, Eaton EN, Mellody KT, Scheel C, Ben-Porath I, Onder TT, Wang ZC, Richardson AL, Weinberg RA, Orimo A. Autocrine TGF-β and stromal cell-derived factor-1 (SDF-1) signaling drives the evolution of tumor-promoting mammary stromal myofibroblasts. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2010;107(46):20009–14.
- 107. Konopleva M, Konoplev S, Hu W, Zaritskey A, Afanasiev B, Andreeff M. Stromal cells prevent apoptosis of AML cells by up-regulation of antiapoptotic proteins. Leukemia. 2002;16(9):1713.
- Panayiotidis P, Jones D, Ganeshaguru K, Foroni L, Hoffbrand A. Human bone marrow stromal cells prevent apoptosis and support the survival of chronic lymphocytic leukaemia cells in vitro. Br J Haematol. 1996;92(1):97–103.
- 109. Zeng Z, Samudio IJ, Munsell M, An J, Huang Z, Estey E, Andreeff M, Konopleva M. Inhibition of CXCR4 with the novel RCP168 peptide overcomes stroma-mediated chemoresistance in chronic and acute leukemias. Mol Cancer Therapeut. 2006;5(12):3113–21.

- 110. Zeng Z, Shi YX, Samudio IJ, Wang R-Y, Ling X, Frolova O, Levis M, Rubin JB, Negrin RR, Estey EH, Konoplev S, Andreeff M, Konopleva M. Targeting the leukemia microenvironment by CXCR4 inhibition overcomes resistance to kinase inhibitors and chemotherapy in AML. Blood. 2009;113(24):6215–24.
- 111. Debnath B, Xu S, Grande F, Garofalo A, Neamati N. Small molecule inhibitors of CXCR4. Theranostics. 2013;3(1):47.
- 112. Christopherson KW, Hangoc G, Mantel CR, Broxmeyer HE. Modulation of hematopoietic stem cell homing and engraftment by CD26. Science. 2004;305(5686):1000–3.
- 113. Fadini GP, Boscaro E, Albiero M, Menegazzo L, Frison V, de Kreutzenberg S, Agostini C, Tiengo A, Avogaro A. The oral dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitor sitagliptin increases circulating endothelial progenitor cells in patients with type 2 diabetes: possible role of stromal-derived factor-1alpha. Diabetes Care. 2010;33(7):1607–9.
- 114. Thiersch M, Rimann M, Panagiotopoulou V, Ozturk E, Biedermann T, Textor M, Lühmann TC, Hall H. The angiogenic response to PLL-g-PEG-mediated HIF-1alpha plasmid DNA delivery in healthy and diabetic rats. Biomaterials. 2013;34(16):4173–82.
- 115. Badillo AT, Chung S, Zhang L, Zoltick P, Liechty KW. Lentiviral gene transfer of SDF-1alpha to wounds improves diabetic wound healing. J Surg Res. 2007;143(1):35–42.
- 116. Di Rocco G, Gentile A, Antonini A, Ceradini F, Wu JC, Capogrossi MC, Toietta G. Enhanced healing of diabetic wounds by topical administration of adipose tissue-derived stromal cells overexpressing stromalderived factor-1: biodistribution and engraftment

analysis by bioluminescent imaging. Stem Cells Int. 2010;2011:304562.

- 117. Liu ZJ, Tian R, An W, Zhuge Y, Li Y, Shao H, Habib B, Livingstone AS, Velazquez OC. Identification of E-selectin as a novel target for the regulation of postnatal neovascularization: implications for diabetic wound healing. Ann Surg. 2010;252(4):625–34.
- 118. Gao W, Qiao X, Ma S, Cui L. Adipose-derived stem cells accelerate neovascularization in ischaemic diabetic skin flap via expression of hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha. J Cell Mol Med. 2011;15(12):2575–85.
- 119. Castilla DM, Liu ZJ, Tian R, Li Y, Livingstone AS, Velazquez OC. A novel autologous cell-based therapy to promote diabetic wound healing. Ann Surg. 2012;256(4):560–72.
- 120. Jankowski K, Kucia M, Wysoczynski M, Reca R, Zhao D, Trzyna E, Trent J, Peiper S, Zembala M, Ratajczak J, Houghton P, Janowska-Wieczorek A, Ratajczak MZF. Both hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) and stromal-derived factor-1 regulate the metastatic behavior of human rhabdomyosarcoma cells, but only HGF enhances their resistance to radiochemotherapy. Cancer Res. 2003;63(22):7926–35.
- 121. Liang Z, Wu T, Lou H, Yu X, Taichman RS, Lau SK, Nie S, Umbreit J, Shim H. Inhibition of breast cancer metastasis by selective synthetic polypeptide against CXCR4. Cancer Res. 2004;64(12):4302–8.
- 122. Kung AL, Zabludoff SD, France DS, Freedman SJ, Tanner EA, Vieira A, Cornell-Kennon S, Lee J, Wang B, Wang J, Memmert K, Naegeli HU, Petersen F, Eck MJ, Bair KW, Wood AW, Livingston DM. Small molecule blockade of transcriptional coactivation of the hypoxia-inducible factor pathway. Cancer Cell. 2004;6(1):33–43.
Stem Cell Differentiation Directed by Material and Mechanical Cues

Caitlyn A. Moore, Alexandra Condé-Green, Pranela Rameshwar, and Mark S. Granick

7.1 Introduction

Stem cells self-renew and have the capacity to differentiate into specialized cell types under certain physiologic or experimental conditions, making them critical for tissue regeneration. The breast is home to both adipose stem cells (ASCs) and mammary epithelial stem cells. These cells are responsible for maintaining the glandular and adipose networks of the breast, respectively. Adipose tissue is primarily responsible for breast volume [1]. The mammary gland is composed of multiple systems of branched ducts that connect functional glandular units called acini to the nipple, allowing milk to be produced and released from the breast [2].

Ideally, for regenerative medicine applications, adult stem cells should be abundantly available from harvesting through minimally invasive procedures. Furthermore, adult stem cells can differentiate into multiple cell lineages in a manner that is both reproducible and able to be regulated, safely and effectively transplanted, and manufactured in accordance with Good

C. A. Moore · A. Condé-Green · P. Rameshwar ·

Division of Plastic Surgery, Department of General

Surgery, Rutgers New Jersey Medical School, Newark, NJ, USA

e-mail: cam618@gsbs.rutgers.edu;

a.condegreen@rutgers.edu; rameshwa@njms.rutgers.edu; mgranickmd@rutgers.edu; mgranickmd@njms.rutgers.edu

Manufacturing Practice guidelines [3]. Hence, these aspects must be considered when determining the utility of a particular stem cell in a tissue engineering application, especially for eventual translation into clinic.

Stem cell properties are regulated and maintained using various approaches that could modulate them to suit the application. The desired outcomes include, but are not limited to, genetic regulation, soluble factors, and interactions with the extracellular matrix (ECM). Recently, ECM has been found to contribute significantly to alterations in cell phenotype and behavior, providing cues to ensure specific structure, biochemical, and mechanical properties [4]. For instance, fiber alignment, pore size, matrix density, matrix composition, and material stiffness serve as environmental signals from ECM that are transduced into downstream gene expression and stem cell fate [5]. Although there are several critical design parameters that must be assessed in tissue engineering, it is of the utmost importance to consider mechanical and material properties of scaffolds because, as a substitute for native ECM, scaffolds are an important player in regulation of cell behavior. As a result, understanding the role of such cues on stem cell maintenance and differentiation has grown concomitantly with advances in three-dimensional (3D) culture systems and biomaterial scaffolds.

Due to the high global prevalence of breast cancer and increasing incidence of breast



[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

D. Duscher, M. A. Shiffman (eds.), Regenerative Medicine and Plastic Surgery, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19958-6_7

M. S. Granick (🖂)

reconstruction procedures following mastectomy, there is a necessity to develop approaches to regenerate breast tissue de novo and restore healthy tissue appearance and function. Since the breast is home to both ASCs and mammary epithelial stem cells, this chapter will focus on the mechanical and material cues that control differentiation of stem cells in mammary tissues. We will also discuss current approaches in breast tissue engineering that aim to restore healthy tissue.

7.2 Technique

7.2.1 Breast Reconstruction

Mastectomy is commonly performed for women who have been diagnosed with breast cancer or who are at elevated risk of developing breast cancer, as in the case of individuals with the BRCA1 mutation. This procedure involves removal of all breast tissue. Following mastectomy, patients have the opportunity to undergo breast reconstruction surgery in which a plastic surgeon recreates a breast shape using an artificial implant, a flap of autologous tissue, or both simultaneously. Breast tissue must be properly reconstituted after mastectomy to recover the aesthetic and, if possible, some functional properties of the breast. Donor site morbidity, inadequate supply of donor tissue, patient comorbidities, and patient choice may lead surgeons to perform prosthetic reconstruction using acellular dermal matrices (ADMs) rather than performing an autologous reconstruction [6].

Human ADMs are widely used in conjunction with breast implants, with many advantages. ADMs are derived from full-thickness skin that has been physically or chemically treated to remove cells and cellular components (by repeated freezing and thawing, osmotic solution, enzyme digestion) and retain the native structure of the dermal fiber meshwork. It is mainly composed of collagen I, a structural protein with a stable triple helix structure that conceal amino acid differences from the host immune system, and once transplanted into the host, the ADM degrades over time and the triple helix collagen structure collapses [7]. Bacterial collagenases are used to further degrade the ADM [8]. Their availability and quality depend on the ability of a tissue bank to recover suitable dermal tissue, process and decontaminate the tissue, and release the tissue that meets appropriate sterility standards [9]. The process of decellularization is very important as studies have shown that extracellular components in cell-free dermal matrices or ADM are critical for success in biomedical applications as scaffolds.

ADMs are advantageous for this indication due to improved aesthetic outcomes, reduction in postoperative pain, decreased operative time, and improved structural strength and vascular ingrowth [6, 10–12]. Further, ADMs have been reported to provide better control of the mastectomy space, optimize implant positioning, allow for increased intraoperative expansion, and prevent migration of the implant [11]. Despite the many benefits, literature is accumulating in which ADMs are associated with increased incidence of postoperative complications, such as infection or seroma formation [6].

Past generations of implanted materials were designed with a focus on establishing a naturallooking breast. More recent generations utilize tissue engineering techniques in which biodegradable scaffolds containing appropriate cells and factors are implanted into the defect area to stimulate cells de novo tissue regeneration (Fig. 7.1). Alternative methods are being investigated to regenerate breast tissue while addressing the limitations of currently utilized techniques. Tissue engineering scaffolds that successfully integrate with host tissue, support growth, and biodegrade in a controlled manner to be replaced by new tissue, all while achieving ease of use and low price-points, directly address these limitations. Advancements in our understanding of the breast and the influence of materials on cell behavior have enabled for significant improvements toward regenerative constructs. Fabrication and optimization of such scaffolds would drastically improve standard of care for breast reconstruction patients.



Fig. 7.1 Summary of breast tissue engineering approaches. Relevant types of stem cells are seeded on a scaffold. The mechanical and material properties of the scaffold provide signals to the stem cells that contribute to changes in cell size, shape, polarization, adhesion

7.2.2 Mechanical Cues

Stiffness, or elasticity, is the key mechanical factor that dictates stem cell behavior. Cells can "feel" the softness of a material based on the distribution of focal contacts and their ability to pull against the ECM, triggering cellular mechanotransducers to produce downstream signals based on the magnitude of force needed to deform the matrix [13]. Therefore, mechanical cues imparted on stem cells cannot be ignored by tissue engineering and regenerative medicine.

Depending on the niche, the mechanical properties of the tissue can vary widely. For instance, brain tissue stiffness is about 0.1 kPa, whereas that of calcified bone is greater than 30 kPa [14]. Natural variations in ECM stiffness manifest during development to guide stem cell migration and differentiation into various tissues [15–17]. The concept that cells migrate preferentially onto stiffer surfaces, otherwise known as durotaxis, is a fundamental process during embryonic morphogenesis [18]. Moreover, mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) will either differentiate into bone or fat when exposed to a stiff or compliant matrix, respectively, mimicking the mechanical proper-

strength, cytoskeletal organization and stiffness, and other characteristics. These changes trigger downstream gene expression changes that lead stem cells to differentiate into various progenitor cells in order to regenerate the breast tissue

ties of the natural tissue [19, 20]. Particularly, in terms of breast tissue, mammary cells within compliant matrices demonstrate growth control, organization of glandular architecture, expression of proteins consistent with more "differentiated" phenotype, and support cell polarization [21, 22]. In contrast, mammary cells on stiff matrices are more proliferative and experience increased proliferative signals, characteristics that are not exhibited in normal mammary tissue [23–26].

Mechanical regulation within stem cells has been proposed to occur through three avenues:

- 1. Force-sensitive protein conformational changes in focal adhesions or in matrix.
- 2. Changes in Rho activity.
- 3. Stretch-activated calcium channels [5, 18].

These regulatory pathways are susceptible to dysfunction if the microenvironment becomes abnormally rigid, as is frequently seen in malignant tissues. With rigid ECM, cell-generated forces are dissipated within the cells themselves, likely altering the conformation of proteins that connect cytoskeleton and ECM [4, 27]. It has been shown that stiff ECM induces differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) into cancerassociated fibroblasts (CAFs), supporting carcinoma progression [28].

Other important mechanical cues include fluid flow and substrate strain. These external mechanical forces stimulate stem cell differentiation through enhancement of adhesion strength, cytoskeletal stiffness and organization, and mechanotransductive signals [29, 30].

7.2.3 Material Cues

ECM and 3D scaffolds also provide structural and biochemical cues to stem cells, such as topography, fiber alignment, density, pore size, and component composition [31, 32]. These aspects communicate more intimate details about the niche to the stem cells. Although pore size provides a direct physical constraint on cell size and shape, which is known to determine intracellular downstream signaling, ECM topography relays important biophysical signals critical to stem cell differentiation [20, 33, 34]. Instead of directly affecting cytoskeletal tension, such topographical cues appear to directly modulate the molecular arrangement, dynamic organization, and signaling of alpha- and beta-integrins [5, 14, 18]. Upon binding of stem cells to ECM, integrins cluster to form dynamic adhesion structures called focal adhesions (FAs) [35]. On the cytoplasmic side of FAs, cytoplasmic tails of integrins can interact with different adaptor and signaling proteins that provide direct physical linkage to the actin cytoskeleton [5, 35]. Also, ECM-integrin binding can activate tyrosine kinase and phosphatase signaling which elicits downstream biochemical signals important to gene expression and stem cell fate regulation [36].

Glandular breast tissue is revered for its ability to involute and regenerate, regulating milk production based on hormonal control. Since a functional unit of the mammary gland is an epithelial cell and adjacent ECM, it is logical that responsiveness of mammary epithelial cells to hormones is facilitated by concomitant modification of the ECM [37, 38]. Hence, ECM tensile requirements change in order to accommodate the distinct demands required for different stages of breast tissue regeneration. This is exemplified by the fact that fibronectin (FN) and a5b1-integrin, two highly prevalent mammary tissue components, are under endocrine control [39, 40]. FN is responsible for modifying the mechanics and structure of collagen fibers; the more FN in the ECM, the higher the fraction of linear collagen fibers relative to cross-linked collagen, resulting in decreased tissue elasticity [32, 41] Additionally, a5b1-integrin binding is required for assembly of secreted FN into fibrils which is thought to be a mechanism for precise temporal-spatial integration between FN assembly, local tissue tension, and specific cell or tissue requirements [42, 43].

7.3 Discussion

7.3.1 Tissue Engineering Constructs for Breast Reconstruction

7.3.1.1 Mammary Adipose Tissue

When fat grafting is performed, the lipoaspirate incorporates terminally differentiated mature adipocytes and stromal vascular fraction (SVF), which includes preadipocytes and multipotent adipose-derived stem cells (ADSCs) [44]. The proliferation and differentiation of SVF-derived cells is key for graft survival. ADSCs and preadipocytes cooperate to encourage angiogenesis and adipogenesis through growth factor release and differentiation into mature adipose cells [45]. Major limitations of fat grafting are resorption, volume loss, and necrosis that may lead to longterm inflammation and progressive calcification [46, 47]. To address such undesirable outcomes, experimental work using laminin-alginate beads as carriers of preadipocytes has proven effective in vitro and in vivo [48].

Engineered adipose tissue approaches generally utilize natural and synthetic polymer constructs. Synthetic scaffolds include those fabricated with PLA, PGA, PLGA, PET, PTFE, and PEGDA scaffolds [49]. Natural polymers utilized mainly consist of collagen, hyaluronic acid, natural ECM, and Matrigel [50]. Synthetic and natural hydrogel biomaterials, in particular, are well suited for this application because the polymers are porous and deform easily, mimicking the properties of the native ECM [51]. Conversely, rather than replicating the physical structure of the native tissue, solid scaffolds aim to guide the regeneration process by designing a scaffold architecture to guide tissue formation [52, 53]. A critical obstacle in design of solid biomaterials is their potential for interference with diagnostic imaging for early stage breast cancer detection.

7.3.1.2 Mammary Epithelial Tissue

Tissue-engineered mammary epithelium has been developed to meet the increasing clinical need for breast tissue regeneration that is not achieved through addressing adipose tissue loss alone. Currently, they primarily serve as useful models of mammary gland development, regeneration, and tumorigenesis, enabling better understanding of healthy and unhealthy breast epithelial tissue [2, 54–57].

Several studies have successfully modeled acinar and ductal structures in vitro. A 3D culture system was fabricated in which hormone action on human breast epithelium can be suitably studied [57]. This model is responsive to major mammotropic hormones and the influence of those hormones on epithelial morphogenesis can be observed in vitro. Similarly, specialized 3D hydrogels can be fabricated by incorporating ECM proteins with relevant growth factors to grow primary breast cells [58]. Such scaffolds can recapitulate the endogenous morphology and development, allowing for creation of a life-like in vitro system with which to study the mammary gland. Further, the advent of 3D bioprinting technology allows for high precision control of cellular and structural deposition when creating tissue-engineered solutions [59]. This approach has been recently utilized for the reconstruction of the nipple-areola complex [60].

7.4 Conclusions

Substantial evidence has accumulated regarding the response of stem cells to mechanical and material cues in both healthy and pathological microenvironments. Similarly, cancer stem cells, which share many properties of healthy stem cells, are implicated in cancer recurrence and are sustained by cues from the microenvironment. Therefore, it is critical to evaluate the degree to which tissue-engineered constructs for breast reconstruction may potentially cultivate cancer resurgence. This increases the importance of deliberately designing scaffolds that support regeneration while deterring cancer regrowth.

Tissue engineering approaches to breast reconstruction offer promising alternatives to current techniques, addressing limitations that impact patient outcomes. Future directions focusing on mechanical and vascular support, regeneration-inducing factors, dynamic composite biomaterial scaffolds, and high-precision fabrication techniques will offer improved control over the mechanical and material parameters of scaffolds. With these improvements, scaffolds can relay more appropriate signals to the stem and progenitor cells within, leading to more regulated and reproducible tissue regeneration. Advancements will positively change the landscape of the field of breast reconstruction and, importantly, will drastically enhance patient quality of life.

References

- Visscher LE, Cheng M, Chhaya M, Hintz ML, Schantz JT, Tran P, Ung O, Wong C, Hutmacher DW. Breast augmentation and reconstruction from a regenerative medicine point of view: state of the art and future perspectives. Tissue Eng Part B Rev. 2017;23(3):281–93.
- 2. Vidi PA, Bissell MJ, Lelievre SA. Three-dimensional culture of human breast epithelial cells: the how and the why. Methods Mol Biol. 2013;945:193–219.
- Gimble JM, Katz AJ, Bunnell BA. Adipose-derived stem cells for regenerative medicine. Circ Res. 2007;100(9):1249–60.
- Reilly GC, Engler AJ. Intrinsic extracellular matrix properties regulate stem cell differentiation. J Biomech. 2010;43(1):55–62.
- Sun Y, Chen CS, Fu J. Forcing stem cells to behave: a biophysical perspective of the cellular microenvironment. Annu Rev Biophys. 2012;41:519–42.
- Ibrahim AMS, Koolen PGL, Ashraf AA, Kim K, Mureau MAM, Lee BT, Lin SJ. Acellular dermal matrix in reconstructive breast surgery. Plast Reconstr Surg Glob Open. 2015;3(4):e381.

- Xu Y, Zhang G, Chang Y, Oiu YX, Wang C. The preparation of acellular dermal matrices by freeze-thawing and ultrasonication process and the evaluation of its antigenicity. Cell Biochem Biophys. 2015;73(1):2733.
- Eckhard U, Huesgen PF, Brandstetter H, Overall CM. Proteomic protease specificity profiling of clostridial collagenases reveal their intrinsic nature as dedicated degraders of collagen. J Proteomics. 2014;100:102–14.
- Nilsen TJ, Dasgupta A, Huang YC, Wilson H, Chnari E. Do processing methods make a difference in acellular dermal matrix properties? Aesthet Surg J. 2016;36(Suppl 2):S7–S22.
- Ho G, Nguyen TJ, Shahabi A, Hwang BH, Chan LS, Wong AK. A systematic review and meta-analysis of complications associated with acellular dermal matrix-assisted breast reconstruction. Ann Plast Surg. 2012;68(4):346–56.
- Nahabedian MY. Acellular dermal matrices in primary breast reconstruction: principles, concepts, and indications. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2012;130(5 Suppl 2):44S–53S.
- McCarthy CM, Lee CN, Halvorson EG, Riedel E, Pusic AL, Mehrara BJ, Disa JJ. The use of acellular dermal matrices in two-stage expander/implant reconstruction: a multicenter, blinded, randomized controlled trial. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2012;130(5 Suppl 2):57S–66S.
- 13. Wells RG. The role of matrix stiffness in regulating cell behavior. Hepatology. 2008;47(4):1394–400.
- Ramiao NG, Martins PS, Rynkevic R, Fernandes AA, Barroso M, Santos DC. Biomechanical properties of breast tissue, a state-of-the-art review. Biomech Model Mechanobiol. 2016;15(5):1307–23.
- Zamir EA, Srinivasan V, Perucchio R, Taber LA. Mechanical asymmetry in the embryonic chick heart during looping. Ann Biomed Eng. 2003;31(11):1327–36.
- Krieg M, Arboleda-Estudillo Y, Puech PH, Kafer J, Graner F, Muller DJ, Heisenberg CP. Tensile forces govern germ-layer organization in zebrafish. Nat Cell Biol. 2008;10(4):429–36.
- Rozario T, Dzamba B, Weber GF, Davidson LA, DeSimone DW. The physical state of fibronectin matrix differentially regulates morphogenetic movements in vivo. Dev Biol. 2009;327(2):386–98.
- Schedin P, Keely PJ. Mammary gland ECM remodeling, stiffness, and mechanosignaling in normal development and tumor progression. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 2011;3(1):a003228.
- Engler AJ, Sen S, Sweeney HL, Discher DE. Matrix elasticity directs stem cell lineage specification. Cell. 2006;126(4):677–89.
- McBeath R, Pirone DM, Nelson CM, Bhadriraju K, Chen CS. Cell shape, cytoskeletal tension, and RhoA regulate stem cell lineage. Dev Cell. 2004;6(4):483–95.
- 21. Nelson CM, Bissell MJ. Of extracellular matrix, scaffolds, and signaling: tissue architecture regulates

development, homeostasis, and cancer. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol. 2006;22:287–309.

- Hebner C, Weaver VM, Debnath J. Modeling morphogenesis and oncogenesis in three-dimensional breast epithelial cultures. Annu Rev Pathol. 2008;3:313–39.
- 23. Wozniak MA, Desai R, Solski PA, Der CJ, Keely PJ. ROCK-generated contractility regulates breast epithelial cell differentiation in response to the physical properties of a three-dimensional collagen matrix. J Cell Biol. 2003;163(3):583–95.
- 24. Chandler EM, Seo BR, Califano JP, Andresen Eguiluz RC, Lee JS, Yoon CJ, Tims DT, Wang JX, Cheng L, Mohanan S, Buckley MR, Cohen I, Nikitin AY, Williams RM, Gourdon D, Reinhart-King CA, Fischbach C. Implanted adipose progenitor cells as physicochemical regulators of breast cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2012;109(25):9786–91.
- Paszek MJ, Zahir N, Johnson KR, Lakins JN, Rozenberg GI, Gefen A, Reinhart-King CA, Margulies SS, Dembo M, Boettiger D, Hammer DA, Weaver VM. Tensional homeostasis and the malignant phenotype. Cancer Cell. 2005;8(3):241–54.
- Butcher DT, Alliston T, Weaver VM. A tense situation: forcing tumour progression. Nat Rev Cancer. 2009;9(2):108–22.
- 27. Engler AJ, Carag-Krieger C, Johnson CP, Raab M, Tang HY, Speicher DW, Sanger JW, Sanger JM, Discher DE. Embryonic cardiomyocytes beat best on a matrix with heart-like elasticity: scar-like rigidity inhibits beating. J Cell Sci. 2008;121(22):3794–802.
- Ishihara S, Inman DR, Li WJ, Ponik SM, Keely P. Mechano-signal transduction in mesenchymal stem cells induces prosaposin secretion to drive the proliferation of breast cancer cells. Cancer Res. 2017;77(22):6179–89.
- Sonam S, Sathe SR, Yim EK, Sheetz MP, Lim CT. Cell contractility arising from topography and shear flow determines human mesenchymal stem cell fate. Sci Rep. 2016;6:20415.
- Kshitiz, Park J, Kim P, Helen W, Engler AJ, Levchenko A, Kim DH. Control of stem cell fate and function by engineering physical microenvironments. Integr Biol (Camb). 2012;4(9):1008–18.
- Xu R, Boudreau A, Bissell MJ. Tissue architecture and function: dynamic reciprocity via extra- and intra-cellular matrices. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 2009;28(1–2):167–76.
- Zhu J, Xiong G, Trinkle C, Xu R. Integrated extracellular matrix signaling in mammary gland development and breast cancer progression. Histol Histopathol. 2014;29(9):1083–92.
- Song W, Lu H, Kawazoe N, Chen G. Adipogenic differentiation of individual mesenchymal stem cell on different geometric micropatterns. Langmuir. 2011;27(10):6155–62.
- 34. Kilian KA, Bugarija B, Lahn BT, Mrksich M. Geometric cues for directing the differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010;107(11):4872–7.

- Burridge K. Focal adhesions: a personal perspective on a half century of progress. FEBS J. 2017;284(20):3355–61.
- Schwartz MA. Integrins and extracellular matrix in mechanotransduction. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 2010;2(12):a005066.
- 37. Villadsen R, Fridriksdottir AJ, Ronnov-Jessen L, Gudjonsson T, Rank F, LaBarge MA, Bissell MJ, Petersen OW. Evidence for a stem cell hierarchy in the adult human breast. J Cell Biol. 2007;177(1):87–101.
- Warburton MJ, Mitchell D, Ormerod EJ, Rudland P. Distribution of myoepithelial cells and basement membrane proteins in the resting pregnant lactating, and involution rat mammary gland. J Histochem Cytochem. 1982;30(7):667–76.
- Woodward TL, Mienaltowski AS, Modi RR, Bennett JM, Haslam SZ. Fibronectin and the a5b1 integrin are under developmental and ovarian steroid regulation in the normal mouse mammary gland. Endocrinologie. 2001;142(7):3214–22.
- Haslam SZ, Woodward TL. Reciprocal regulation of extracellular matrix proteins and ovarian steroid activity in the mammary gland. Breast Cancer Res. 2001;3(6):365–72.
- 41. Guarnieri D, Battista S, Borzacchiello A, Mayol L, De Rosa E, Keene DR, Muscariello L, Barbarisi A, Netti PA. Effects of fibronectin and laminin on structural, mechanical and transport properties of 3D collageneous network. J Mater Sci Mater Med. 2007;18(2):245–53.
- 42. Fogerty FJ, Akiyama SK, Yamada KM, Mosher DF. Inhibition of binding of fibronectin to matrix assembly sites by anti-integrin (a5b1) antibodies. J Cell Biol. 1990;111(2):699–708.
- Mao Y, Schwarzbauer JE. Fibronectin fibrillogenesis, a cell-mediated matrix assembly process. Matrix Biol. 2005;24(6):389–99.
- 44. Liao HT, Marra KG, Rubin JP. Application of plateletrich plasma and platelet-rich fibrin in fat grafting: basic science and literature review. Tissue Eng Part B Rev. 2014;20(4):267–76.
- 45. Rigotti G, Marchi A, Galie M, Baroni G, Benati D, Krampera M, Pasini A, Sbarbati A. Clinical treatment of radiotherapy tissue damage by lipoaspirate transplant: a healing process mediated by adipose-derived adult stem cells. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2007;119(5):1409–22.
- Mashiko T, Yoshimura K. How does fat survive and remodel after grafting? Clin Plast Surg. 2015;42(2):181–90.
- 47. Mineda K, Kuno S, Kato H, Kinoshita K, Doi K, Hashimoto I, Nakanishi H, Yoshimura K. Chronic inflammation and progressive calcification as a result of fat necrosis: the worst outcome in fat grafting. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2014;133(5):1064–72.

- 48. Hsueh YS, Chen YS, Tai HC, Ondrej M, Chao SC, Chen YY, Shih Y, Lin JF, Shieh MJ, Lin FH. Lamininalginate beads as preadipocyte carriers to enhanve adipogenesis in vitro and in vivo. Tissue Eng Part A. 2016;23(5–6):185–94.
- Banyard DA, Bourgeois JM, Widgerow AD, Evans GR. Regenerative biomaterials: a review. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2015;135(6):1740–8.
- Combellack EJ, Jessop ZM, Naderi N, Griffin M, Dobbs T, Ibrahim A, Evans S, Burnell S, Doak SH, Whitaker IS. Adipose regeneration and implications for breast reconstruction: update and the future. Gland Surg. 2016;5(2):227–41.
- 51. Van Nieuwenhove I, Tytgat L, Ryx M, Blondeel P, Stillaert F, Thienpont H, Ottevaere H, Dubruel P, Van Vlierberghe S. Soft tissue fillers for adipose tissue regeneration: from hydrogel development toward clinical applications. Acta Biomater. 2017;63:37–49.
- 52. Puskas JE, Luebbers MT. Breast implants: the good, the bad and the ugly. Can nanotechnology improve implants? Wiley Interdiscip Rev Nanomed Nanobiotechnol. 2012;4(2):153–68.
- Campbell JJ, Watson CJ. Three-dimensional culture models of mammary gland. Organogenesis. 2009;5(2):43–9.
- 54. Hillreiner M, Muller NI, Koch HM, Schmautz C, Kuster B, Pfaffl MW, Kliem H. Establishment of a 3D cell culture model of primary bovine mammary epithelial cells extracted from fresh milk. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim. 2017;53(8):706–20.
- 55. Hilmarsdottir B, Briem E, Halldorsson S, Kricker J, Ingthorsson S, Gustafsdottir S, Mælandsmo GM, Magnusson MK, Gudjonsson T. Inhibition of PTP1B disrupts cell-cell adhesion and induces anoikis in breast epithelial cells. Cell Death Dis. 2017;8(5):e2769.
- 56. Ingthorsson S, Briem E, Bergthorsson JT, Gudjonsson T. Epithelial plasticity during human breast morphogenesis and cancer progression. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia. 2016;21(3–4):139–48.
- Speroni L, Sweeney MF, Sonnenschein C, Soto AM. A hormone-responsive 3D culture model of the human mammary gland epithelium. J Vis Exp. 2016;108:e53098.
- Sokol ES, Miller DH, Breggia A, Spencer KC, Arendt LM, Gupta PB. Growth of human breast tissues from patient cells in 3D hydrogel scaffolds. Breast Cancer Res. 2016;18(1):19.
- Murphy SV, Atala A. 3D bioprinting of tissues and organs. Nat Biotechnol. 2014;32(8):773–85.
- Thomas DJ. 3D bioprinting as a solution for engineering the nipple areola complex for breast cancer reconstruction. Int J Surg. 2017;41:14–5.

Bacteriophages: A New (Yet Old) Weapon Against Infections

Stephen K. Mathew and Reba Kanungo

8.1 Introduction

The alarming spread of antimicrobial resistance, identified by the WHO as a global threat, is drawing healthcare into the post-antibiotic era [1, 2]. Healthcare-associated infections (HAIs) are among the top five leading causes of morbidity and mortality in industrialized countries [3]. Infections by extensively drug-resistant bacteria are being increasingly reported: just one, methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA), kills more Americans every year than emphysema, HIV/AIDS, Parkinson's disease and homicide combined [4, 5].

Bacteria are extremely adept at developing mechanisms to survive hostile environments. This is underscored by the isolation of *Escherichia coli*, *Klebsiella pneumoniae* and *Acinetobacter baumannii* strains resistant to even silver salts present in antibacterial preparations [6].

Development of new antibiotics has been hampered by rising costs of drug development coupled with relatively low returns of investment due to the rapid development of resistance to the

S. K. Mathew (🖂)

R. Kanungo

new agent [7, 8]. In the face of ever-increasing resistance, this dearth of research and development has been called "the perfect storm" [9]. With only a few large multinational pharmaceutical companies involved in antibiotic discovery, the Infectious Diseases Society of America (IDSA) launched the "10 × '20 Initiative" with the aim of supporting the development of ten new systemic antibiotics by 2020, which was successful in identifying seven novel agents targeting Gram-negative bacilli [10, 11]. However, resistance against agents such as ceftolozane-tazobactam has already been observed [10, 12].

Surgical site infection (SSI) currently ranks as the most common cause of nosocomial infection, accounting for 31% of all hospital-acquired infections, and is associated with a mortality rate of 3% [13–16]. The additional cost of managing an SSI exceeds \$20,000 per admission, and more than \$90,000 per infection where an antimicrobialresistant organism is responsible [14, 17]. The economic burden of antibiotic-resistant infections to the US healthcare system is estimated to be more than \$20 billion each year [5].

Postoperative infection, though rare following plastic surgery, can significantly affect the cosmetic outcome, which also increases the risk of malpractice suits [13, 18]. It complicated approximately 1% of clean surgeries and 4% of clean contaminated surgeries [19]. As cosmetic surgery becomes increasingly popular, SSIs, particularly





8

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

D. Duscher, M. A. Shiffman (eds.), *Regenerative Medicine and Plastic Surgery*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19958-6_8

Department of Microbiology, Believers Church Medical College, Thiruvalla, Kerala, India

Department of Microbiology, Pondicherry Institute of Medical Sciences, Kalapet, Puducherry, India

Department of Microbiology, Pondicherry Institute of Medical Sciences, Kalapet, Puducherry, India

those caused by MDR bacterial strains and are difficult to treat, become a pressing issue [18].

The "perfect storm" threatening to derail much of the progress in medicine could also be an opportunity for alternate antimicrobial modalities to emerge [20]. One of these modalities currently generating significant interest was discovered more than a century ago, in the preantibiotic era. Felix d'Herelle discovered bacteriophages and also realized their potential as antibacterial agents, following which it was used to contain human infections in several countries. The new world of antibiotics that was soon discovered, and the promise it brought-the end of infectious diseases-however, dwarfed much of the interest in phage therapy. Acceptance of bacteriophages as a therapeutic modality was further hampered by poorly designed studies generating conflicting results. Bacteriophage preparations available in the early twentieth century, apart from being of questionable quality, were also being marketed for pathologies not necessarily caused by bacterial infections [20]. While phage research died out in the western world, it remained an active area of research and use in parts of Eastern Europe and former Soviet Union.

Following the rediscovery of phages by the western world, the first randomized controlled trial (RCT) which was published in 2009 saw researchers treat chronic otitis and venous leg with bacteriophage-based preparations [21–23].

8.2 Current Status of Skin Infections in Plastic Surgery

Between 2006 and 2009, a conservative estimate of 1.9% of surgical procedures in the United States was complicated by surgical site infections (SSIs) [17]. In 2006, the Surgical Care Improvement Project (SCIP) drafted nine measures to reduce surgical complications; of these, six focussed on prevention of postoperative infections [24]. However, a decade later, despite a high level of compliance with the core measures, infection rates remain largely unaffected and have only been further complicated by resistance to commonly used antimicrobial agents. SSIs now reportedly complicate over a tenth of inpatient and outpatient procedures [25–27].

The incidence of wound infections following breast plastic surgery, considered a "clean surgery", ranges from 3% to 30%, and is more than 50% among women undergoing reconstruction after treatment for breast cancer [13, 28]. Wound care is particularly problematic in burn patients, in whom 50% of all deaths are due to resultant infections [29, 30].

A rise in infective complications has been accompanied by a dramatic increase in the use of antibiotics. In plastic surgery alone, there has been up to a 200% increase since 1975 [31]. Prophylactic antibiotics are widely used even in procedures, such as rhinoplasties, that are rarely complicated by postoperative infections [32]. The overuse of antibiotics, due to lack of consensus, specific guidelines and a fear of litigation, has further contributed to antimicrobial resistance, and could paradoxically make empirical prophylactic antibiotics ineffective [32, 33].

8.3 History of Bacteriophage Therapy

While anecdotes of river waters possessing the ability to cure infectious diseases can be found in historical and religious texts, the idea of bacteriophages and their action as an antibacterial can be traced back to 1896, when British bacteriologist Ernest Hankin suggested the presence of an unidentified, heat-labile, filterable substance in the rivers Ganga and Yamuna in India with antibacterial activity against *Vibrio cholerae* which possibly helped to limit the spread of cholera [34].

Frederick Twort [34], a bacteriologist from England, reported a similar phenomenon almost 20 years later and advanced the possibility of this being due to a virus. Twort, however, did not pursue this finding and it was another 2 years before Felix d'Herelle, a microbiologist at the Institut Pasteur in Paris, France, officially discovered bacteriophages. He observed the bacteriophage phenomenon in 1910, in Mexico, while studying methods of controlling an epizootic among locusts. D'Herelle, who a few years later was called to investigate an outbreak of severe dysentery among French troops, stationed on the outskirts of Paris, observed the appearance of small, clear areas on agar cultures when Shigella strains isolated from the patients were incubated with bacterium-free filtrates from the faecal samples. He termed these clear areas as "plaques", and proposed the name "bacteriophage" for a "virus parasitic on bacteria" [34]. Not long after, d'Herelle carried out what could be labelled a phase I trial when he along with his family members ingested phage preparations to demonstrate their safety before administering it to children with dysentery at the Hopital Des Enfants-Malades, Paris, all of whom exhibited signs of recovery [5]. However, the results of these studies were not immediately published and, therefore, the first reported use of phages to treat infectious diseases in humans came from Bruynoghe and Maisin in 1921, who used bacteriophages to treat staphylococcal skin disease [34, 35].

D'Herelle continued his studies on phages and some of his most sensational work was carried out in India, where he visited in 1927. There were reportedly no deaths among cholera patients in Calcutta and Lahore who received d'Herelle's phage preparations orally and intravenously, in contrast to a mortality rate of 40% among patients who received conventional injections of fluids and salts [36, 37].

Contrasting these successes, several scientists highlighted d'Herelle's failure to meet scientific standards for research. Combined with the introduction of penicillin to medical practice, this led to dwindling interest in d'Herelle's research [38].

Commercial phage preparations began with d'Herelle as well, whose laboratory produced at least five phage preparations: Bacté-coli-phage, Bacté-rhino-phage, Bacté-intesti-phage, Bactépyo-phage, Bacté-staphy-phage—marketed by Societé Francaise de Teintures Inoffensives pour Cheveux (now, L'Oreal). Therapeutic phage preparations began to be available in the United States since the 1930s, with companies such as Eli Lilly and Abbott Laboratories taking an interest. Commercial production, however, was plagued with quality control issues: d'Herelle also reported that some preparations being marketed contained no detectable biologically active phage [37]. Though commercial production in the Western world declined with the advent of antibiotics, phage preparations were available in France till 1978 at d'Herelle's company, and at the Institut Pasteur till the 1990s [5, 37]. Phages continued to be used therapeutically in Eastern Europe and the former Soviet Union, centred around the Eliava Institute of Bacteriophages, Microbiology and Virology in Tbilisi, Georgia, and the Hirszfeld Institute of Immunology and Experimental Therapy in Wroclaw, Poland [34]. The former was focussed on phage cocktail formulation and production (the Eliava Institute had a production capacity of up to two tons per week), and the work at the latter has been extensively documented [37].

8.4 What Is a Bacteriophage?

Bacteriophages are essentially viruses; as obligate parasites, they infect, replicate within and finally lyse the bacterium [20]. Over 6000 different bacteriophages have been discovered, which have been classified into 13 families depending on morphology, type of nucleic acid, and presence or absence of an envelope. About 96% of the discovered phages are "tailed", possessing an icosahedral head and a double-stranded DNA genome. Tailed phages, which comprise the order Caudovirales, are classified into 3 families based on the morphological features of the tail: Myoviridae (contractile tail), Siphoviridae (long, non-contractile tail) and Podoviridae (extremely short tail). The remaining 4% of the phages, classified into 10 families, may contain singlestranded or double-stranded RNA or DNA. These phages are cubic, filamentous or pleomorphic. Most therapeutic phages are tailed; some cubic and filamentous phages have also been used for therapy [21, 39].

Bacteriophages attach to receptors on the bacterial surface via tail fibres or base plate spikes, following which they inject their genome into the cell [40]. The nature of the receptor, its chemical composition and spatial configuration, along with the structure of viral-receptor binding proteins play a major role in stabilizing the bacterial cell-bacteriophage interaction [41]. These receptors might be the same antigens determining the serotype of the bacteria, or transport channel proteins, or pili [7]. Importantly, receptor binding confers specificity on the bacteriophages. Termed the host range, this specificity is typically narrow—limited to a single bacterial species, or to a few strains within a species, or even a single strain.

Phages can also be divided roughly into two groups, according to their life cycle: lytic or lysogenic. In the lytic cycle, the bacterial cell machinery is hijacked to assemble and package progeny phages, which are released following death of the host cell and its rapid lysis with the help of holins and lysins [40]. Phages with a large burst sizethe number of progeny phages released from each infected bacterial cell-are preferred for use in therapeutics [7]. Temperate phages undergo lysogeny, where the phage genome integrates with the bacterial genome and are transmitted vertically through successive generations of the bacteria. The genome of temperate phages may encode transmissible bacterial virulence factors, as seen with Corynebacterium diphtheriae where only isolates that harbour tox⁺ phages produce diphtheria toxin [42]. At the same time, host genes for virulence and toxin production may be packaged into the bacteriophages during replication, which may in turn be transferred to other bacteria. As a result, temperate phages are thought to be less suitable than lytic phages for use in therapeutic preparations. However, it may be possible to inactivate genes responsible for lysogenicity and toxin production by genetic modifications, overcoming a disadvantage of lysogenic phages [39].

8.5 Why Should We Consider Bacteriophage Therapy?

Bacteriophages are a potent, natural antibacterial capable of inducing rapid bacterial cell lysis [21]. They are also ubiquitous, with up to 1×10^8 par-

ticles per gram of soil, and can be readily isolated from various environments. It is estimated that they destroy one-half of the bacterial population worldwide every 48 h [40]. Billions of years of this co-evolutionary predator-prey relationship have made bacteriophages a potentially rich source of antibacterial agents [29, 40].

Strain specificity, briefly mentioned earlier, allows for targeted therapy, limiting the deleterious effect on the normal microbial flora. This can help prevent adverse effects associated with antibiotic use, such as *Clostridium difficile* colitis, a leading cause of nosocomial diarrhoea particularly associated with the use of cephalosporins and clindamycin [33]. Bacteriophages also have little or no effect on eukaryotic cells, thus staving off more of the adverse effects associated with antibiotic use [21, 29]. Application in the nose and sinuses in an animal model did not alter the normal architecture of the mucosa [43]. Oral administration in patients with diarrhoea did not lead to adverse events [44, 45].

An added advantage, in contrast to antibiotics, is that the concentration of bacteriophages increases after reaching the site of infection due to self-replication [46]. As a result, the required dose of phages would generally be much less than that of antibiotics [47]. Economic considerations also favour bacteriophage therapy over conventional antibiotics, as the cost and complexity of developing a phage system is less than that of developing a new antibiotic [8]. While it is unlikely that bacteriophages will replace antibiotics, phage therapy could decrease antibiotic resistance by reducing the need for antibiotics [29]. Phages can also find use in situations where the necessary antibiotics are contraindicated, such as nephrotoxic antibiotics in patients with impaired renal function [37].

8.6 What Is the Evidence that Bacteriophages Work?

While bacteriophages as a therapeutic option failed to take off in the United States and Western Europe particularly following the discovery of antibiotics, clinical research with bacteriophages continued in the former Soviet Union and Eastern Europe. These studies were published primarily in non-English languages, and as a result, not readily available to the global scientific community [34]. Interest in phages in the Western world was partly rekindled by the work of Smith et al. who demonstrated the effectiveness of a single intramuscular dose of phage in potentially lethal infections in animals by *Escherichia coli*. This was in contrast to the need for multiple doses of antibiotics such as tetracycline, ampicillin and chloramphenicol to control the infection. The emergence of phage-resistant strains of *E. coli* over the course of the experiments was however noted [48, 49].

Numerous experiments studying various infection models (bacteremia, central nervous system infection, sinus infection, lung infection, urinary tract infection, osteomyelitis, skin and wound infection, including burns) caused by bacterial pathogens such as Pseudomonas aerugi-Ε. Klebsiella nosa, coli. pneumoniae, Staphylococcus aureus and vancomycin-resistant Enterococcus faecium have since been conducted. Bacteriophage therapy decreased mortality in several studies. Where it was compared to antibiotics as controls, a more positive outcome was observed. No adverse effects were observed in mice following inoculation with high doses [21, 29, 30, 39, 43]. Phage treatment was shown to improve survival in mice infected with methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus* aureus (MRSA), and lethal doses of Vibrio vulnificus [29, 50, 51]. Bacteriophages have also been shown to be effective against Yersinia pestis, responsible for plague, and against Burkholderia pseudomallei, a Category B bioterrorism agent that causes melioidosis [52, 53].

There is currently a lack of consensus on the most effective route of administration to target specific infections. Where some studies suggest that aerosolized formulations of phages are effective against respiratory infections, others have found systemic administrations to yield better access to bacteria in the lungs [54, 55]. This is also an important consideration in severe skin and soft tissue infections with a propensity to progress to septicaemia. Phages administered systemically offered better protection than when administered locally in a mouse burn wound model [30]. Orally delivered phages were effective against gastrointestinal infections caused by *E. coli* and *Campylobacter jejuni*, but concerns of phage inactivation due to gastric acidity need to be addressed [54].

Bacteriophages can also help to tackle biofilms which prove to be a significant challenge to conventional treatment. Biofilms are commonly associated with chronic, refractory infections, due to indwelling medical devices, and can be a thousand times more resistant to antibiotics than free-floating bacteria [29]. Treatment of silicone catheters with bacteriophage significantly reduced biofilm formation by Staphylococcus epidermidis, P. aeruginosa, E. coli and Proteus mirabilis [54, 56]. Bacteriophages have several advantages over antibiotics in treating infections caused by biofilms. Replication at the site of infection allows for a high concentration of phages on the biofilm; they are able to infect dormant cells within the biofilm; and phages may possess or induce the bacterial cells to express enzymes capable of dissolving the biofilm matrix [20]. Phage treatment has been shown to significantly reduce biofilm biomass and cell density in experimental models [29].

Lysin, a phage genome-encoded protein expressed by tailed phages, which enables liberation of progeny phages from infected bacteria, is also a candidate therapeutic agent against Grampositive bacteria because of its ability to destroy peptidoglycan, a vital component of the cell wall [39].

Bacteriophages have complex pharmacokinetics that are yet to be fully elucidated. Most researchers observed that phages afforded best protection when given within a few hours of bacterial inoculation, but computerized models have predicted that inoculations given too early could either be less effective or fail completely [51, 57, 58]. Paradoxically, some antibiotics can even diminish the effectiveness of phages [58]. Available data from animal experiments suggests that phages enter the bloodstream following a single oral dose within 2–4 h and are found in the internal organs within 10 h. Phages were preferentially compartmentalized to the liver and spleen, irrespective of the route of administration [29]. In the human body, administered phages can remain for up to several days [5]. A better, if not complete, understanding of the behaviour of bacteriophages in vivo is necessary to achieve consistent and predictable results with bacteriophage therapy.

8.7 Concerns with Bacteriophage Therapy

Since phages capable of infecting across bacterial species or genera are few in number, rapid and precise identification of the pathogenic bacteria is necessary in order to select an appropriate bacteriophage from an established phage library [39]. Such an individualized approach has been by and large successfully followed in Poland [37]. Use of phage cocktails targeting commonly encountered bacterial species and strains can potentially tackle this shortcoming. However, these cocktails would have to be re-formulated regularly taking into account prevalent species and strains [21]. Even when mixed to form cocktails, the host range can remain relatively narrow [37]. This also limits the role of bacteriophages in empirical therapy [7]. Experiments have extended the host range of phages through genetic modifications that allow them to overcome barriers to adsorption and infection [59]. There is also much to be understood of the interaction between phages and the target bacterial hosts at the site of infection, as opposed to under laboratory conditions [60].

Phages administered intravenously can activate the immune system. Subsequently, phage titres may fall due to innate immunity and phago-cytosis in the blood and liver. While non-neutralizing antibodies have been observed following certain phage injections, clinical and animal trials have not demonstrated serious immunological reactions. Long-term intrasinus application of phages did not alter the local profile of immune cells in an animal model [43]. The immunological response against every phage considered for parenteral therapy, however, would need to be studied [7]. The large size of the

phage particles, when compared to antibiotic molecules, also limits the concentrations that can be achieved in therapeutic preparations—solutions may become viscous at high concentrations, more than 10¹³ phages per mL [7]. Models created to calculate dosage requirements would need to take into account the complex pharmaco-kinetics of bacteriophages [47].

Some bacteriophages, though mostly temperate phages, enhance virulence by transferring genetic elements vital to the bacteria. The ability to produce exotoxin in Vibrio cholerae is carried and transferred by phages, as is Shiga toxin production in E. coli, as well as virulence determinants in P. aeruginosa, Shigellae and S. aureus [20, 61]. This potential problem with therapeutic bacteriophages may be overcome by selection of phages incapable of such transfer, or by genetically modifying them. The genome sequence of therapeutic phages needs to be characterized, which would also help to confirm the absence of undesirable genetic elements. The safety and efficacy of phages should also be demonstrated [20, 39, 40, 46].

A possible side effect of phage therapy, also seen with bactericidal antibiotics, is the release of cell wall components which are mediators of septicaemia, such as endotoxins from Gram-negative bacteria [62]. Patients receiving phages have occasionally experienced right hypochondrial pain and fever a few days into treatment, possibly due to the release of endotoxins [63]. Genetically modified, non-replicating phages designed to digest bacterial genomic DNA kill bacteria with minimal release of endotoxin. The survival rate of mice infected with P. aeruginosa was significantly higher with non-replicating phages that do not cause endotoxin release, than with lytic phages; this was also correlated with lower levels of inflammation [62].

As with antibiotics, the development of resistance by the bacterial targets could blunt the efficacy of phages. Resistance to phages is often due to changes, as a result of mutations or acquisition of genes, in the receptors on the bacterial surface [30]. However, phages rapidly co-evolve with bacteria and bacteriophages capable of overcoming protective bacterial systems have been isolated [7, 39]. Phage cocktails effective against various bacterial strains and possible mutants arising during therapy could pre-empt the rise of resistance [54]. Bacteriophages can multiply within bacteria only if their density exceeds a threshold [47]. On the other hand, a higher-than-necessary concentration would lyse the target bacteria before secondary phage multiplication can be initiated, necessitating multiple doses to eradicate infection [47]. Dosage would also depend on duration of infection at initiation of therapy. Phage preparations administered up to 10 days after infection have been successful [54].

Therapeutic preparations will need to be stable and viable during transportation and storage [40]. Purified phages remained stable for up to 2 years when maintained at 4 °C [52, 53, 64]. Further research is required on phage delivery formulations, and on long-term stability of the phages within formulations [54].

The pharmaceutical industry has largely stayed away from phage therapy probably because it does not see large investments being profitable [60]. The risk of mutations developing during the course of therapy also challenges large-scale production as it would require rigorous monitoring [46]. Institutes such as the Eliava Institute, Georgia, and Queen Astrid Military Hospital, Brussels, Belgium, have shown that small-scale production of bacteriophage cocktails, following strict quality-control protocols, is possible [64].

Current regulations requiring full clinical trials for each therapeutic bacteriophage make it difficult for bacteriophages to find their way to routine clinical use. While stringent legislation is necessary for any therapeutic product licensed for human use, factors unique to phages need to be taken into account. Regulatory authorities would need to discuss and consider whether phage therapy merits a distinct set of rules [7, 46].

8.8 Non-human Uses of Bacteriophages

Strain specificity has an already established use in the laboratory in typing systems used for identification of bacterial strains and newer diagnostic tests such as KeyPath (MicroPhage, Inc., Longmont, Colorado) to rapidly identify MRSA from blood cultures [65]. The Eliava Institute has been using phages to track enteric pathogens in the environment, and for rapid detection of anthrax and brucellosis [66].

Anti-Listeria phage cocktails were among the first phage products to obtain a Generally Recognized as Safe (GRAS) status from the United State Food and Drug Administration (FDA) [59]. ListShield[™] and LISTEX[™] P100 are marketed as food additives intended to disinfect processed poultry products and meat. Omnilytics, Inc. (US) specializes in supplying customized phage preparations (Omnilytics' AgriphageTM) tailored against the prevalent crop pathogens for agricultural use [67]. Staphylococcus aureus phage lysate Staphage Lysate® has been shown to be effective in treating and controlling recurrent pyoderma in dogs [68].

8.9 Human Applications of Bacteriophages

Work with phages carried out in the 1930s report successful treatment of skin infections, surgical infections, typhoid fever, Salmonella and Shigella spp.-related colitis, septicaemia, and urinary tract infections [21, 69]. One of the largest studies, involving 30,769 children, on the effectiveness of phages against bacterial dysentery was conducted in Tbilisi, Georgia, in 1963–1964. Children living on one side of the streets were given anti-Shigella phages orally and those on the other side served as the controls. The incidence of dysentery was 2.6-fold higher in the control group [70].

Numerous reports of successful topical applications of phages, particularly from Eastern European countries, are available [54]. Oral administrations may be useful in fighting enteric infections due to *C. difficile* [40]. Nestlé Research Centre and other subsidiaries of Nestlé S.A. have conducted RCTs on patients, including children, suffering from diarrhoea [44, 45].

The first fully regulated, placebo-controlled, double-blinded, randomized Phase I/II trial on phage therapy was conducted in the UK in 2009 on patients suffering from chronic *P. aeruginosaotitis*. A single local application of a cocktail of phages (Biophage-PA) resulted in decreased colony counts on culture, improved symptoms and clinical indicators, without adverse reactions [23].

Much of the published research on human application of phages is from case studies subject to experimenter's bias [37]. This can be traced back to d'Herelle's first known use of phages at the Hospital Des Enfants-Malades where phages were administered to all the sick patients without a placebo group [5]. In order to conclusively demonstrate the consistent efficacy of phages, more double-blind, randomized controlled trials, complying with regulatory and ethical guidelines, are required for greater acceptance of phage therapy [71].

8.9.1 Bacteriophage Therapy for Skin Infections

Topical application of bacteriophages is the most studied route of administration. Phages have been successfully used against ulcers, pyogenic infections, burns, and wounds [22, 37, 63, 72].

PhageBioDerm[®], a commercially successful biodegradable wound dressing consisting of a stabilized hydrogel system impregnated with ciprofloxacin, benzocaine, chymotrypsin, bicarbonate, and 6 lytic phages against *S. aureus*, *Streptococcus spp.*, *P. aeruginosa*, *E. coli*, and Proteus spp., was approved for human use in Georgia in 2000 [40, 54]. Studies have reported successful treatment of ulcers that failed to respond to conventional therapy [72]. Phase I trials on chronic venous leg ulcers and burn wounds have not reported any adverse events associated with bacteriophage use [22, 37].

Phages against *Propionibacterium acnes* involved in the pathogenesis of acne have displayed a broad ability to kill clinical isolates of *P. acnes* [73]. These phages, incorporated into an aqueous cream, retained their antibacterial activity up to 90 days when stored appropriately [74]. A number of trials evaluating phage therapy for burn wound infections, diabetic foot, and acne have been registered in the USA over the past few years [75–77].

8.10 Future Possibilities for Bacteriophage Therapy

Phage therapy can be an important component of personalized medicine, tailored against bacteria isolated from the site of infection [46]. This approach has been shown to be successful at some centres, but would require facilities for phage susceptibility testing [37]. Bacteriophages have been used to transfer gene cassettes that confer susceptibility to antibiotics, thereby reversing drug resistance in bacteria [21].

Phages bearing chloramphenicol on the surface have been shown to specifically target S. aureus in vitro [40]. Preparations of bacteriophage lysins could be effectively used in infections caused by Gram-positive bacteria: lysins against Bacillus anthracis, Enterococcus spp., and Streptococcus pneumoniae have been identified [40]. Liquid-based phage skin disinfectants could be formulated to target difficult-to-treat nosocomial pathogens such as MRSA, Pseudomonas aeruginosa or Acinetobacter bau*mannii*, without affecting the normal flora [78].

8.11 Conclusions

Bacteriophages have been shown to be potent antibacterial agents targeting most of the known human bacterial pathogens. Animal and human studies have so far not reported serious adverse effects. Local applications of phages have been effective in treating ulcers, wound and burn infections. Commercially successful wound dressings such as PhageBioDerm[®] have been in use for almost two decades. Similar topical formulations against local infections could be among the first to gain widespread use.

While using bacteriophages therapeutically appears promising, care must be taken to ensure that resistance does not develop. One of the ways that this may be done is to ensure that adequate concentrations of the phages are maintained at the site of infection during therapy. Therapeutic use must be preceded by rigorous clinical trials. Regulations, definitions and standards need to be established by internationally recognized organizations. Though it is unlikely that phages will replace conventional antibiotics anytime in the near future, robust studies providing reliable and reproducible results will enable bacteriophage therapy to complement antibiotics. Pharmaceutical companies play a critical role in bringing phage therapy to patients suffering from infectious diseases.

While we move towards developing and adopting new weapons to fight infections, it is imperative that we avoid the mistakes that led to the development and spread of antimicrobial resistance.

References

- Laxminarayan R, Duse A, Wattal C, Zaidi AKM, Wertheim HFL, Sumpradit N, Vlieghe E, Hara G, Gould I, Goossens H, Greko C, So A, Bigdeli M, Tomson G, Woodhouse W, Ombaka E, Peralta A, Qamar F, Mir F, Kariuki S, Bhutta Z, Coates A, Bergstrom R, Wright G, Brown E, Cars O. Antibiotic resistance—the need for global solutions. Lancet Infect Dis. 2013;13(12):1057–98.
- 2. WHO. Antimicrobial resistance: a global threat. Essent Drugs Monit. 2000;(28–29):1.
- Guggenbichler J, Assadian O, Boeswald M, Kramer A. Incidence and clinical implication of nosocomial infections associated with implantable biomaterials – catheters, ventilator-associated pneumonia, urinary tract infections. GMS Krankenhhyg Interdiszip. 2011;6(1):Doc18.
- Shields R, Clancy C, Gillis L, Kwak E, Silveira F, Massih R, Eschenauer G, Potoski B, Nguyen M, Conly J. Epidemiology, clinical characteristics and outcomes of extensively drug-resistant Acinetobacter baumannii infections among solid organ transplant recipients. PLoS One. 2012;7(12):e52349.
- Golkar Z, Bagasra O, Pace D. Bacteriophage therapy: a potential solution for the antibiotic resistance crisis. J Infect Dev Ctries. 2014;8(2):129–36.
- Murphy P, Evans G. Advances in wound healing: a review of current wound healing products. Plast Surg Int. 2012;2012:190436.
- Nilsson A. Phage therapy constraints and possibilities. J Med Sci. 2014;119(2):192–8.
- Miedzybrodzki R, Fortuna W, Weber-Dabrowska B, Górski A. Phage therapy of staphylococcal infections (including MRSA) may be less expensive than antibiotic treatment. Postepy Hig Med Dosw. 2007;61:461–5.
- Spellberg B, Guidos R, Gilbert D, Bradley J, Boucher HW, Scheld WM, Bartlett J, Edwards J. The epidemic of antibiotic-resistant infections: a call to action for the medical community from the Infectious Diseases Society of America. Clin Infect Dis. 2008;46(2):155–64.

- Boucher HW, Talbot GH, Benjamin DK, Bradley J, Guidos RJ, Jones RN, Murray B, Bonomo R, Gilbert D. 10 × '20 Progress—development of new drugs active against gram-negative bacilli: an update from the Infectious Diseases Society of America. Clin Infect Dis. 2013;56(12):1685–94.
- Infectious Diseases Society of America. The 10 × '20 initiative: pursuing a global commitment to develop 10 new antibacterial drugs by 2020. Clin Infect Dis. 2010;50(8):1081–3.
- Cabot G, Bruchmann S, Mulet X, Zamorano L, Moya B, Juan C, Haussler S, Oliver A. Pseudomonas aeruginosaceftolozane-tazobactam resistance development requires multiple mutations leading to overexpression and structural modification of AmpC. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2014;58(6):3091–9.
- Park B, Kwon J, Kang S, Hong S. Analysis of malpractice claims associated with surgical site infection in the field of plastic surgery. J Korean Med Sci. 2016;31:1963–8.
- de Lissovoy G, Fraeman K, Hutchins V, Murphy D, Song D, Vaughn B. Surgical site infection: incidence and impact on hospital utilization and treatment costs. Am J Infect Control. 2009;37(5):387–97.
- 15. Magill SS, Hellinger W, Cohen J, Kay R, Bailey C, Boland B, Carey D, Guzman J, Dominguez K, Edwards J, Goraczewski L, Horan T, Miller M, Phelps M, Saltford R, Seibert J, Smith B, Starling P, Viergutz B, Walsh K, Rathore M, Guzman N, Fridkin S. Prevalence of healthcare-associated infections in acute care hospitals in Jacksonville. Florida Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 2012;33(03):283–91.
- Awad S. Adherence to surgical care improvement project measures and post-operative surgical site infections. Surg Infect (Larchmt). 2012;13(4):234–7.
- 17. Berríos-Torres S, Umscheid C, Bratzler D, Leas B, Stone E, Kelz R, Reinke C, Morgan S, Solomkin J, Mazuski J, Dellinger P, Itani K, Berbari E, Segreti J, Parvizi J, Blanchard J, Allen G, Kluytmans J, Donlan R, Schecter W. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Guideline for the Prevention of Surgical Site Infection, 2017. JAMA Surg. 2017;152(8):784–91.
- Gupta V, Winocour J, Shi H, Shack R, Grotting J, Higdon K. Preoperative risk factors and complication rates in facelift: analysis of 11,300 patients. Aesthet Surg J. 2016;36(1):1–13.
- Toia F, D'Arpa S, Massenti M, Amodio E, Pirrello R, Moschella F. Perioperative antibiotic prophylaxis in plastic surgery: a prospective study of 1100 adult patients. J Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg. 2012;65:601–9.
- Harper D, Enright M. Bacteriophages for the treatment of Pseudomonas aeruginosa infections. J Appl Microbiol 2011;111:1–7, 1.
- Wittebole X, De Roock S, Opal S. A historical overview of bacteriophage therapy as an alternative to antibiotics for the treatment of bacterial pathogens. Virulence. 2014;5(1):226–35.
- Rhoads D, Wolcott R, Kuskowski M, Wolcott B, Ward L, Sulakvelidze A. Bacteriophage therapy of venous

leg ulcers in humans: results of a phase I safety trial. J Wound Care. 2009;18(6):237–8.

- 23. Wright A, Hawkins C, Anggård E, Harper D. A controlled clinical trial of a therapeutic bacteriophage preparation in chronic otitis due to antibiotic-resistant Pseudomonas aeruginosa; a preliminary report of efficacy. Clin Otolaryngol. 2009;34:349–57.
- Stulerg J, Delaney C, Neuhauser D, Aron D, Fu P, Koroukian S. Adherence to surgical care improvement project measures and the association with postoperative infections. JAMA. 2010;303(24):2479–85.
- 25. Stevens D, Bisno A, Chambers H, Dellinger E, Goldstein E, Gorbach S, Hirschmann J, Kaplan S, Montoya J, Wade J. Practice guidelines for the diagnosis and management of skin and soft tissue infections: 2014 update by the Infectious Diseases Society of America. Clin Infect Dis. 2014;59(2):e10–52.
- Leaper D, Tanner J, Kiernan M, Assadian O, Edmiston C Jr. Surgical site infection: poor compliance with guidelines and care bundles. Int Wound J. 2015;12(3):357–62.
- Nazarian Mobin S, Keyes G, Singer R, Yates J, Thompson D. Infections in outpatient surgery. Clin Plast Surg. 2013;40:439–46.
- Jones D, Bunn F, Bell-Syer S. Prophylactic antibiotics to prevent surgical site infection after breast cancer surgery. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2014;3:CD005360.
- Burrowes B, Harper D, Anderson J, McConville M, Enright M. Bacteriophage therapy: potential uses in the control of antibiotic-resistant pathogens. Expert Rev Anti Infect Ther. 2011;9(9):775–85.
- McVay C, Velasquez M, Fralick J. Phage therapy of Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection in a mouse burn wound model. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2007;51(6):1934–8.
- 31. Lyle W, Outlaw K, Krizek T, Koss N, Payne W, Robson M. Prophylactic antibiotics in plastic surgery: trends of use over 25 years of an evolving specialty. Aesthet Surg J. 2003;23(3):177–83.
- 32. Yoo D, Peng G, Azizzadeh B, Nassif P. Microbiology and antibiotic prophylaxis in rhinoplasty: a review of 363 consecutive cases. JAMA Facial Plast Surg. 2015;17(1):23–7.
- Hsu P, Bullocks J, Matthews M. Infection prophylaxis update. Semin Plast Surg. 2006;20(4):241–8.
- 34. Sulakvelidze A, Alavidze Z, Morris J Jr. Bacteriophage therapy. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2001;45(3):649–59.
- Bruynoghe R, Maisin J. Essais de therapeutique au moyen du. C R Soc Biol. 1921;85:1.
- Summers W. In: Summers WC, editor. Felix d'Herelle and the origins of molecular biology. Hyderabad: Universities Press; 2000. p. 125–44.
- Abedon S, Kuhl S, Blasdel B, Kutter E. Phage treatment of human infections. Bacteriophage. 2011;1:66–85.
- 38. Fruciano D, Bourne S. Phage as an antimicrobial agent: d'Herelle's heretical theories and their role in the decline of phage prophylaxis in the west. Can J Infect Dis Med Microbiol. 2007;18(1):19–26.

- 39. Matsuzaki S, Rashel M, Uchiyama J, Sakurai S, Ujihara T, Kuroda M, Ikeuchi M, Tani T, Fujieda M, Wakiguchi H, Imai S. Bacteriophage therapy: a revitalized therapy against bacterial infectious diseases. J Infect Chemother. 2005;11:211–9.
- Deresinski S. Bacteriophage therapy: exploiting smaller fleas. Clin Infect Dis. 2009;48:1096–101.
- Rakhuba D, Kolomiets E, Dey E, Novik G. Bacteriophage receptors, mechanisms of phage adsorption and penetration into host cell. Pol J Microbiol. 2010;59(3):145–55.
- 42. Holmes R. Biology and molecular epidemiology of diphtheria toxin and the tox gene. J Infect Dis. 2000;181(Suppl 1):S156–67.
- 43. Drilling A, Ooi M, Miljkovic D, James C, Speck P, Vreugde S, Clark J, Wormald P. Long-term safety of topical bacteriophage application to the frontal sinus region. Front Cell Infect Microbiol. 2017;7:49.
- 44. Sarker S, McCallin S, Barretto C, Berger B, Pittet A, Sultana S, Krause L, Huq S, Bibiloni R, Bruttin A, Reuteler G, Brussow H. Oral T4-like phage cocktail application to healthy adult volunteers from Bangladesh. Virology. 2012;434:222–32.
- 45. Sarker S, Sultana S, Reuteler G, Moine D, Descombes P, Charton F, Bourdin G, McCallin S, Ngom-Bru C, Neville T, Akter M, Huq S, Qadri F, Talukdar K, Kassam M, Delley M, Loiseau C, Deng Y, Aidy S, Berger B, Brussow H. Oral phage therapy of acute bacterial diarrohea with two coliphage preparations: a randomized trial in children from Bangladesh. EBioMedicine. 2016;4:124–37.
- 46. Verbeken G, Pirnay J, Lavigne R, Jennes S, De Vos D, Casteels M, Huys I. Calls for a dedicated European legal framework for bacteriophage therapy. Arch Immunol Ther Exp (Warsz). 2014;62:117–29.
- Payne R, Jansen V. Phage therapy: the peculiar kinetics of self-replicating pharmaceuticals. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 2000;68(3):225–30.
- Smith H, Huggins M. Successful treatment of experimental Escherichia coli infections in mice using phage: its general superiority over antibiotics. J Gen Microbiol. 1982;128:307–18.
- Smith H, Huggins M, Shaw K. The control of experimental Escherichia coli diarrhoea in calves by means of bacteriophages. J Gen Microbiol. 1987;133:1111–26.
- 50. Matsuzaki S, Yasuda M, Nishikawa H, Kuroda M, Ujihara T, Shuin T, Shen Y, Jin Z, Fujimoto S, Nasimuzzaman M, Wakiguchi H, Sugihara S, Sugiura T, Koda S, Muraoka A, Imai S. Experimental protection of mice against lethal Staphylococcus aureus infection by novel bacteriophage φMR11. J Infect Dis. 2003;187(4):613–24.
- Cerveny K, DePaola A, Duckworth D, Gulig P. Phage therapy of local and systemic disease caused by Vibrio vulnificus in iron-dextran-treated mice. Infect Immun. 2002;70(11):6251–62.
- Guang-Han O, Leang-Chung C, Vellasamy K, Mariappan V, Li-Yen C, Vadivelu J. Experimental phage therapy for Burkholderiapseudomallei infection. PLoS One. 2016;11(7):e0158213.

- Filippov A, Sergueev K, He Y, Huang X, Gnade B, Mueller A, Fernandez-Prada C, Nikolich M. Bacteriophage therapy of experimental bubonic plague in mice. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2012;954:337–48.
- 54. Ryan E, Gorman S, Donnelly R, Gilmore B. Recent advances in bacteriophage therapy: how delivery routes, formulation, concentration and timing influence the success of phage therapy. J Pharm Pharmacol. 2011;63:1253–64.
- 55. Carmody L, Gill J, Summer E, Sajjan U, Gonzalez C, Young R, LiPuma J. Efficacy of bacteriophage therapy in a model of Burkholderia cenocepacia pulmonary infection. J Infect Dis. 2010;201(2):264–71.
- Curtin J, Donlan R. Using bacteriophages to reduce formation of catheter-associated biofilms by Staphylococcus epidermidis. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2006;50(4):1268–75.
- 57. Biswas B, Adhya S, Washart P, Paul B, Trostel A, Powell B, Carlton R, Merril C. Bacteriophage therapy rescues mice bacteremic from a clinical isolate of vancomycin-resistant Enterococcus faecium. Infect Immun. 2002;70(1):204–10.
- Payne R, Jansen V. Pharmacokinetic principles of bacteriophage therapy. Clin Pharmacokinet. 2003;42(4):315–25.
- Lu T, Koeris M. The next generation of bacteriophage therapy. Curr Opin Microbiol. 2011;14:1–8.
- Brussow H. What is needed for phage therapy to become a reality in Western medicine? Virology. 2012;434:138–42.
- Abedon ST, LeJeune JT. Why bacteriophage encode exotoxins and other virulence factors. Evol Bioinform Online. 2005;1:97–110.
- 62. Hagens S, Habel A, von Ahsen U, von Gabain A, Blasi U. Therapy of experimental Pseudomonas infections with a nonreplicating genetically modified phage. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2004;48(10):3817–22.
- 63. Slopek S, Durlakova I, Weber-Dabrowska B, Kucharewicz-Krukowska A, Dabrowski M, Bisikiewicz R. Results of bacteriophage treatment of suppurative bacterial infections. I. General evaluation of the results. Arch Immunol Ther Exp (Warsz). 1983;31:267–91.
- 64. Merabishvili M, Pirnay JP, Verbeken G, Chanishvili N, Tediashvili M, Lashki N, Glonti T, Krylov V, Mast J, Van Parys L, Lavigne R, Volckaert G, Mattheus W, Verween G, De Corte P, Rose T, Jennes S, Zizi M, De Vos D, Vaneechoutte M. Quality-controlled small-scale production of a well-defined bacteriophage cocktail for use in human clinical trials. PLoS One. 2009;4(3):e4944.
- 65. Sullivan K, Turner N, Roundtree S, McGowan K. Rapid detection of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) and methicillin-susceptible Staphylococcus aureus (MSSA) using the KeyPath MRSA/MSSA blood culture test and the BacT/ALERT system in a pediatric population. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2013;137(8):1103–5.
- 66. Kutter E, De Vos D, Gvasalia G, Alavidze Z, Gogokhia L, Kuhl S, Abedon S. Phage therapy in clinical prac-

tice: treatment of human infections. Curr Pharm Biotechnol. 2010;11:69–86.

- Gill J, Hyman P. Phage choice, isolation, and preparation for phage therapy. Curr Pharm Biotechnol. 2010;11:2–14.
- 68. Solomon S, de Farias M, Pimpao C. Use of Staphylococcus aureus phage lysate Staphage lysate (SPL) for the control of recurrent pyoderma eczema in dogs with atopic dermatitis. Acta Sci Vet. 2016;44:1382.
- 69. d'Herelle F. Bacteriophage as a treatment in acute medical and surgical infections. Bull N Y Acad Med. 1931;7:329–48.
- Babalova E, Katsitadze K, Sakvarelidze L, Imnaishvili N, Sharashidze T, Badashvili V, Kiknadze G, Meipariani A, Gendzekhadze N, Machavariani E, Gogoberidze K, Gozalov E, Dekanosidze N. Preventive value of dried dysentery bacteriophage. Microbiol Epidemiol Immunobiol. 1968;2:143–5.
- Parracho H, Burrowes B, Enright M, McConville M, Harper D. The role of regulated clinical trials in the development of bacteriophage therapeutics. J Mol Genet Med. 2012;6:279–86.
- 72. Markoishvili K, Tsitlanadze G, Katsarava R, Morris J Jr, Sulakvelidze A. A novel sustained-release matrix based on biodegradable poly(ester amide)s and impregnated with bacteriophages and an antibiotic shows promise in management of infected venous stasis ulcers and other poorly healing wounds. Int J Dermatol. 2002;41(7):453–8.
- 73. Marinelli L, Fitz-Gibbon S, Hayes C, Bowman C, Inkeles M, Loncaric A, Russell D, Jacobs-Sera D, Cokus S, Pellegrini M, Kim J, Miller J, Hatfull G, Modin R. Propionibacterium acnes bacteriophages display limited genetic diversity and broad killing activity against bacterial skin isolates. mBio. 2012;3(5):e00279–12.
- 74. Brown T, Petrovski S, Dyson Z, Seviour R, Tucci J. The formulation of bacteriophage in a semi solid preparation for control of Propionibacterium acnes growth. McDowell A, editor. PLoS One. 2016;11(3):e0151184.
- 75. ClinicalTrials.gov. Evaluation of phage therapy for the treatment of Escherichia coli and Pseudomonas aeruginosa wound infections in burned patients (PHAGOBURN). 2014. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/ show/NCT02116010. Accessed 7 July 2017.
- ClinicalTrials.gov. Evaluation and detection of facial propionibacterium acnes bacteria and phage. 2016. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03009903. Accessed 7 July 2017.
- 77. ClinicalTrials.gov. Standard treatment associated with phage therapy versus placebo for diabetic foot ulcers infected by S. aureus (PhagoPied). 2016. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02664740. Accessed 7 July 2017.
- Chen L, Liu Y, Hu A, Chang K, Lin N, Lai M, Tseng C. Potential of bacteriophage ΦAB2 as an environmental biocontrol agent for the control of multidrugresistant Acinetobacter baumannii. BMC Microbiol. 2013;13(1):154.

9

Bacteriophages as Biocontrol Agents of Biofilm Infections Associated with Abiotic Prosthetic Devices

Shilpa Deshpande Kaistha, Pramila Devi Umrao, Ravish Katiyar, and Neelima Deshpande

9.1 Introduction

Abiotic prosthetic devices or cellular, tissue, or organ substitutes which help restore biological functions in the face of total organ failure form an essential part of regenerative medicine [1]. A combination of advances in the fields of bionic engineering, material science, tissue engineering, nanoengineering, and electrical engineering has led to phenomenal developments in modern healthcare treatments for various ailments. Commonly used prosthetic devices include central venous and urinary tract catheters, artificial muscles in prosthetic limbs, orthopedic prostheses and joints, heart valves, endotracheal tubes, intrauterine devices, extended wear lenses, meshes, retinal and cochlear implants, etc. [2, 3]. A potential threat in the successful implantation of the abiotic prosthetic devices is the possibility of microbial infections. Infections at the site of device insertion, septic thrombophlebitis, septicemia, endocarditis, mesh erosion and tissue

N. Deshpande Healthpoint Polyclinic, Pune, MH, India decay, perforation and encapsulation of intrauterine devices, metastatic abscesses and their translation into invasive infections are a cause for significant morbidity and complications that are difficult to diagnose and treat [2]. Comparative microscopic, microbiological, and biochemical studies show microbial growths in the form of biofilms associated with infections on abiotic prosthetic devices as they provide a suitable substrate for microbial adsorption and colony maturation [4, 5]. Microbial colonies adhering onto implants in the body secrete an outer covering made of exopolymeric substances (EPS), which protects its residents from the external stressors such as the immune response as well as antimicrobial drugs [6]. According to a study by the National Institute of Health, 65% of infectious disease is associated with biofilms and 80% of such are chronic infections. Such biofilmmediated infections are difficult to diagnose and highly persistent in the face of antimicrobial treatments [7].

Biofilm-mediated persistent infections and their mechanisms of acquiring antibiotic and host defense resistance have been extensively researched [7–9]. Several biofilm control strategies have been devised in order to prevent the development of biofilms on the substratum provided by such devices [2, 10, 11]. A promising and unexplored strategy involves the use of biological control agents such as bacteriophages, which specifically target the pathogen while

Check for updates

S. D. Kaistha (🖂) · P. D. Umrao

Department of Microbiology, Institute of Biosciences & Biotechnology, Chhatrapati Shahu Ji Maharaj University, Kanpur, UP, India

R. Katiyar

Department of Microbiology, Sanjay Gandhi Post Graduate Institute of Medical Sciences, Lucknow, UP, India

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

D. Duscher, M. A. Shiffman (eds.), *Regenerative Medicine and Plastic Surgery*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19958-6_9

having no ill effects on the human eukaryotic cells [12-14]. Bacteriophages are intracellular parasitic lytic agents of bacterial hosts, typically nanometer in size, composed of a genome made of DNA or RNA ensconced within a proteinaceous coat (capsid) [15]. Use of bacteriophages (phages) in targeting in vivo infections has an ancient history which fell into disuse in major parts of the world during the era of antibiotics [16, 17]. However, with the alarming increase in antimicrobial resistance particularly amongst biofilm-associated infections, phage therapy is again being explored in earnest [18-20]. This article focuses on recent understanding of the role of bacteriophages as control measures for biofilm-related infections associated with abiotic prosthetic devices.

9.2 Biofilm Formation on Abiotic Prosthetic Devices

Microbial growths in the form of biofilms on abiotic prosthetic devices or implants have serious healthcare and economic consequences [2, 3]. The patients' normal flora or microorganisms from the surrounding environment are likely to be the sources of infection occurring either during peri- or postoperative stage. Many infections occur during hospitalization and are referred to as nosocomial or hospital-associated infections (HAI) [2]. Typically, insertion of abiotic device is likely to be present either for short duration, i.e., catheter tubes, or for years as in case of prosthetic limbs, heart valves, etc. In either cases, the risk of biofilm-related infections and resulting complications are always a potential threat. Although biofilm formation is highly heterogeneous based on the type and strain of infecting species, it can be broadly divided into the four stages (Fig. 9.1).

9.2.1 Stage 1. Adsorption

Microorganism adhesion onto the surface is affected by several factors including surface charge, energy, hydrophobicity, and surface topography [21]. Surrounding host proteins such as fibrinogen, fibronectin, vitronectin, immunoglobulin, and albumin adsorb onto the surfaces of implants developing it into a surface that accelerates bacterial adhesion [22]. The role of microbial surface components recognizing adhesive matrix molecules (MSCRAMMs), polysaccharide intercellular adhesin (PIA), accumulation-associated protein (Aap), extracellular matrix protein (Emp), protein A, and Staphylococcus aureus surface protein G (SasG) help in biofilm colonization [21, 23]. Physical forces associated with bacterial adhesion include Van der Waals forces, steric interactions, and electrostatic (double layer) interaction. collectively known as the DVLO (Derjaguin, Verwey, Landau, and Overbeek) forces [21]. In these early stages, the biofilm can be easily eradicated before reversible adsorption converts to an irreversible process. Biofilm biocontrol is most effective when initial adhesion of microbes can be prevented.

9.2.2 Stage 2. Colony Formation

Following irreversible adhesion to suitable substrate, the genetic switch between free living and biofilm mode is induced by secondary messenger molecules cyclic guanosine mono phosphate (cGMP) [24]. cGMP downregulates motility and upregulates the genes responsible for the production of multicomponents which comprise the architecture and biomass of the biofilm exopolymeric matrix (EPM) [24]. The composition of the EPM although largely dependent on the nutrients available in the surrounding milieu is also highly species specific and maybe comprised largely of water with extracellular DNA, proteins, lipids, as well as heteropolymers of soluble polysaccharides [25-27]. Confocal and atomic force microscopy has defined layers of spatial architectures within biofilms with channels and pores for an effective circulatory system within its confines [28, 29]. As the biofilm grows, heterogeneity wthin the structure regarding genotypes and metabolic phenotypes emerge, resulting in the development of chemical gradients and environmental



Fig. 9.1 Stages in biofilm formation: adhesion, microcolony formation, maturation, and dispersal leading to swarm cells which may form a fresh biofilm by adhesion to suitable substrate. Following phage application to biofilm, phage replication cycle in a single cell of the biofilm will consist of following steps: (**a**) adsorption of phage on specific host receptor, (**b**) entry of genomic material. Phage life cycle may enter one of two alternative states: lysogency (**c**) or lytic cycle (**d**). (**c**) Lysogeny wherein phage DNA integrates into host chromosome and be transferred to daughter cells until lytic cycle is reactivated. (d) Lytic cycle: Phage DNA replicates to create several virion DNA copies. (e) Several copies of structural capsid and proteins of phage are formed. (f) Assembly of genomic DNA within the capsid structure occurs followed by cell lysis and release of progeny phage to continue the life cycle

83

micropockets [27]. This heterogenity further contributes to the antibiotic recalcitrant nature of the biofilm.

9.2.3 Stage 3. Maturation [30]

Acquiring certain cell density within the confines of the exopolymeric substances turns on the production of autoinducer signaling molecules by the cells which control the formation of quorum sensing molecules (QSM) [11]. Quorum sensing (QS) is a cell population-dependent gene regulatory mechanism for coordinated community behavior which is characteristic of biofilms [31]. QS signal molecules have a low molecular weight and belong to a wide range of chemical classes including acyl homoserine lactones (AHLs), furanosyl borate diesters (AI2), cisunsaturated fatty acids (DSF family signals), and peptides. QSM and their regulation have been excellently reviewed and also a major target for anti-biofilm strategy development [32]. LuxI/ LuxR and RhII/R quorum sensing systems are typically seen in gram-negative bacteria such as Ps. aeruginosa and Enterobacteriaceae family using specific or a combinations of acyl homoserine lactones (AHL) as QSM [30]. The secreted AHL molecules (synthesized by autoinducer synthetase LuxI) upon attaining a certain concentration bind to LuxR-like protein, which in turn activate transcription of several downstream genes which determine the coordinated biofilm behavior. In gram-positive bacteria, signaling peptides are recognized by a two-component signal transduction system which consists of a histidine kinase-based ATP-binding cassette (ABC) membrane protein and a cytoplasmic response regulator protein represented by the agrBDCA quorum sensing system in S. aureus [31]. In Streptococcus species a conserved quorum sensing system represented by ComCDE quorum sensing system regulates bacteriocin production as well as several virulence factors including biofilm formation [33]. A LuxS/AI2 autoinducer interspecies quorum sensing molecule composed of interconvertible furanosyl borate diester has been described for many

gram-negative and gram-positive bacteria [34]. In a mature biofilm, QS circuits has been reported to affect antibiotic resistance by upregulating antibiotic degrading enzymes, multiple drug efflux pumps, horizontal gene transfer of antibiotic resistant carrying extrachromosomal elements as well as retarding antibiotic permeability by production of exopolymeric matrix [11, 32]. Also, horizontal gene transfer within the close architecture of the biofilms permits the transfer of antibiotic resistance genes via extrachromosomal elements as well as extracellular DNA [8].

9.2.4 Stage 4. Biofilm Dispersal

During the stationary phase of the biofilm wherein cell density is so high as to cause nutrient deficiency, QSM initiate the dispersal or disassembly of the biofilm [35]. Initially, as synthesis of EPM is inhibited, QSM induce production of biofilm EPM degrading enzymes as well breakdown of non-covalent interactions within the biofilm begins. An increase in number of swarming motile cells which break away from the parent biofilm for fresh colonization of niches is observed [36]. In P. aeruginosa, LasI/ LasR positively regulates the expression of the periplasmic tyrosine phosphatase TpbA [35]. TpbA dephosphorylates the membraneanchored GGDEF protein TpbB deactivating its DGC activity and thus reducing c-di-GMP levels in the cell. As a result, the c-di-GMP receptor PelD is no longer bound to c-di-GMP and PEL polysaccharide production is decreased [37]. QSM such as AHL and PQS signals also promotes the synthesis of biosurfactant rhamnolipids whose overproduction results in biofilm detachment [38]. In cases of immunocompromised patients, such dispersed biofilms may result in spread of systemic infections [2].

The main concerns associated with biofilm formation on abiotic prosthetic devices are heightened resistance to antibiotic regimens and the development of persister cells within the biofilm niches which are difficult to eradicate [6–8]. The various mechanisms for antibiotic resistance within biofilms are summarized in Table 9.1.

Property	Mechanisms	References
Biofilm exopolymeric substances (EPS) and matrix	Retard penetrations of antimicrobial compounds Adsorb antimicrobial compounds Harbor antibiotic degrading enzymes	[6, 25–27]
Heterogeneity in growth rate and metabolism	Biofilm composed of aerobic and microaerophilic pockets, nutrient deficient/rich areas create conditions causing cells to become refractory to effect of antibiotic action	[27]
Quorum sensing	Regulate virulence factors including antibiotic resistance genes, motility and virulence factors	[31, 32, 34]
Multiple drug efflux pumps	Upregulated within the biofilm population under stress conditions	[9]
Genetic transfer	Biofilms matrix also contains eDNA and permits genetic transfer of antibiotic resistance gene by conjugation, transformation and transduction	[6]
Persister cells	Stationary phase cells develop into dormant persister cells which are highly antibiotic resistant	[7, 8]

Table 9.1 Mechanisms of antimicrobial resistance in biofilm associated with abiotic prosthetic devices

9.3 Biofilm Infections Associated with the Use of Abiotic Prosthetic Devices

In the multidisciplinary regenerative medicine field, replacement of non-functional organs or systems with artificial implants has revolutionized modern medicine [1]. Indwelling abiotic prosthetic or implant devices have also become a niche area for the development of highly antibiotic-resistant device-related biofilm infections. Device-related infections (DRI) are defined by Center for Disease Control (CDC) as infection in a patient with a device (intravascular catheter, endotracheal tube or indwelling urinary catheter) that was in use for at least 48 h before the onset of infection [39]. The most frequently isolated bacterial biofilm formers associated with DRI include gram-negative Klebsiella pneumonia, Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Acinetobacter baumannii. Escherichia coli, gram-positive Staphylococcus aureus, and emerging pathogens coagulase-negative Staphylococci (CoNS). Candida sp. amongst fungi are most commonly isolated with implant devices. Most of these are opportunistic pathogens derived from normal microflora or they may be nosocomial in origin [2, 39, 40].

The following is a brief account of the common DRI associated with biofilms. The various biomaterials used with medical devices and the associated biofilm-related infections are summarized in Table 9.2.

9.3.1 Catheters

Catheter is a thin tube made from medicine grade material that can be inserted in the body or used for drainage, supply of fluids or gases, surgical operations applicable for cardiovascular, urological, gastrointestinal, cardiovascular, and ophthalmic uses [41]. The most common biofilm-related infections are reported for the use of indwelling vascular and urinary catheters. Catheter-associated urinary tract infections (CAUTI) accounts for 80% of urinary tract infections leading to patient morbidity which may develop into further complications such as cystitis, pyelonephritis, gram-negative bacteremia, prostatitis, epididymitis, endocarditis, vertebral osteomvelitis. septic arthritis. endophthalmitis, and meningitis [42, 43, 59]. Acidic pH of the urine also results in the formation of crystalline biofilms within the catheter which is the cause of bladder and urethral trauma [2]. In situ central venous catheters (CVC) are sites for biofilm formation both on the outer sides and luminal region [2]. Catheter-related bloodstream infections (CRBSI) or central line-

Abiotic prosthetic				
devise	Biomaterials used	Diseases	Biofilms	References
Intravascular catheters	Polyvinyl chlorine, polyurethane, latex, silicone	CVC septicemia	Staphylococcus aureus, Candida, Enterobacteriaceae	[41, 42]
Indwelling urinary tract catheters	Silicone rubber, nylon, polyurethane, polyethylene terephthalate (PET)	Bacteriuria, CAUTI	Pseudomonas aeruginosa, E. coli, Proteus, Klebsiella, Enterobacteriaceae, Enterococcus, Enterob acter faecalis	[42, 43]
Intracardiac prostheses, total artificial heart, permanent pacemakers (PPMs), implantable cardioverter defibrillators (ICDs), cardiac resynchronization devices (CRTDs)	Titanium, graphite, pyrolytic carbon, and polyester	Endocarditis	Enterococci, S. aureus CoNS, Klebsiella sp., E. coli, Streptococci, Hemophilus sp., Actinobacillus actinomycetemcomitans, Cardiobacterium hominis, Coryneb acterium sp., Chryseobacterium sp., Bacillus sp., Mycobacteria	[44-47]
Endotracheal tubes (ETT)	Polyvinylchloride, polyurethane	Nosocomial pneumonia, ventilator- associated pneumonia	Streptococci, Ps. aeruginosa, Acinetobacter baumannii, Staphylococcus aureus, Candida albicans	[2, 48, 49]
Corneal/ retinal implants	Polymethylmethacrylate (PMMA), silicone, hydrophobic and hydrophilic acrylate and collamer photovoltaic conjugated polymers	Endophthalmitis, keratitis, periorbital and sclera buckle infections	S. aureus, CoNS, Propionibacterium acnes, Pseudomonas aeruginosa, non-tubercle mycobacteria, Serratia, Fungi	[50, 51]
Orthopedic prostheses	Titanium (and its alloys), stainless steel, cobalt- chromium, various polymeric biomaterials (e.g., ceramics, hydroxyapatite, and polyethylene, PMMA, cement)	Prostheses infections	Pseudomonas aeruginosa, MRSA, Propionibacterium acnes, Haemophilus influenzae, Enterococci, Streptococcus viridans, Escherichia coli, Citrobacter, Acinetobacter, Serratia marcescens, Klebsiella pneumoniae, Coryneb acterium	[45, 52]
Dental implants, periodontal reconstruction	Titanium, zirconium, ceramics	Peri-implantitis	Prevotella intermedia, Porphyromonas gingivalis, Aggregatibacter actinomycetemcomitans, Prevotella nigrescens, Treponema denticola, Bacteriodes forsythus	[3, 53, 54, 55]
Intrauterine contraceptive devices, penile prosthetics	Copper, stainless steel, plastics—PVA progesterone, silver	Endometritis, pelvic inflammatory disease, peritonitis	Staphylococci, Group B Streptococci, Micrococcus, Corynebacteria, Candida	[56–58]

 Table 9.2
 Biofilm related infections on commonly used abiotic prosthetic devices

associated bloodstream infections (CLABSI) are chronic complications associated with biofilms of CoNS, *S. aureus*, and members of Enterobacteriaceae family which require catheter removal which is in itself a high-risk procedure [41, 60].

9.3.2 Endotracheal Tubes (ETT)

Biofilm formation on the inner surface of ETT in mechanically ventilated patients has a very high rate of incidence and it has been related to the pathogenesis of ventilator-associated pneumonia (VAP) and nosocomial pneumonia [48, 49, 61]. Advances imaging techniques such acoustic reflection technique, optical microscopy, and atomic force microscopy have been used for imaging the ETT biofilm in clinical study along with microbiological colonization data [49]. Majority of biofilm were correlated with VAP pathogens with 73% of the cases being mainly Pseudomonas species, Staphylococcus aureus, Candida albicans, Enterobacteriaceae. Streptococcus viridans, Acinetobacter baumannii, CoNS, and diphtheroid bacilli were also found to colonize ETT.

9.3.3 Orthopedic Implants

Orthopedic implants are an integral part of the treatments of osteoarthritis as well as bone fracture management. Periprosthetic joint infections (PJI) are a cause of high morbidity and economic loss to operated patients [52]. Trampuz and Zimmerli (2008) classified PJI into three categories based on infection onset: (i) early infection in less than 3 months post implantation caused by highly virulent organisms, e.g., S. aureus, E coli; (ii) delayed infection occurring 3-24 months post implantation caused by CoNS or Propionibacterium acnes; and (iii) late infection post 24 months caused by S. aureus, Streptococci, and gram-negative rods usually as a consequence of hematogenous spreading from skin or soft tissue infections [44]. Biofilms can be found attached to the hardware, cement, bone,

and fibrous tissue and even in joint fluids [45, 46]. Diagnosis of PJI is cumbersome and difficult wherein direct culture of organism is one criteria for which molecular diagnostic methods such as polymerase chain reaction amplification of 16 s rDNA sequence of biopsy or joint fluid in addition to fluorescent in situ hybridization (FISH) techniques have been employed [52].

9.3.4 Intracardiac Implants

Intracardiac prostheses, total artificial heart, permanent pacemakers (PPMs), implantable cardioverter defibrillators (ICDs), and cardiac resynchronization devices (CRTDs) are some of the devices associated with cardiovascular implantable electronic device infections (CIED) [40, 47, 62]. Prosthetic valve endocarditis (PVE) is a biofilm infection on the heart valve and associated heart tissue wherein S. aureus, CoNS S. epidermis, Candida, and Enterococcus are implicated in 80% of the cases [63]. PVE occurs in 71% cases within the first year of implantation and complications include heart failure (32.8%), stroke (18.2%), intracardiac abscesses (29.7%), cardiac surgery (48.9%), and hospital death (22.8%) [63]. The pacemaker pocket as well as leads of the implantation in the endocardium are susceptible to S. epidermis and Candida biofilms. Treatment regimen requires rigorous antibiotic therapy and in most cases implant replacement [64]. Corynebacterium sp., Propionibacterium acnes, gram-negative bacilli including Pseudomonas aeruginosa, and nontubercle Mycobacteria species account for a minority of CIED infections [62].

9.3.5 Intrauterine/ Penile Prosthetic Devices

An important risk factor for recurrent vulvovaginal candidiasis was found to be biofilm-related infections associated with intrauterine devices (IUD) [56]. In a study wherein 56 IUD were studied, 26 were Candida positive which were represented with highest biofilm formation in *Candida* *krusei* and *C. glabrata* strains, followed by *C. albicans* and *C. tropicalis*. The minimum inhibitory concentrations for fluconazole and amphotericin B were 64–1000 times higher for biofilm-forming isolates over the free-living counterparts [57]. Patients treated for erectile dysfunction, prostate cancer, and Peyronie's disease, amongst others, are being treated with inflatable penile prosthesis implants. Biofilm-

related infections were found on penile prosthesis devices in 80% of the cases where clinical symptoms associated with biofilm infections included pus and induration over the device with presentation of fever, erythema, and chronic pain [58].

9.3.6 Dental Implants

Oral rehabilitation systems regularly replace old teeth with dental implants (artificial teeth) in combination with artificial crowns. Dental implant-supported fixed prosthesis are in contact with oral fluids and abutments on one part while the other is in contact with tissue. Maximum biofilm formation has been reported around the implant-abutment connection or below the original bone margin level [3]. Implant-related biofilm infections may lead to peri-implantitis that results in the progressive loss of bone tissue [30]. The bacteria that cause per-implantitis and periodontitis are mainly anaerobic gram-negative bacteria such as Prevotella intermedia, Porphyromonas gingivalis, Aggregatibacter actinomycetemcomitans, Prevotella nigrescens, Treponema denticola, and Bacteroides forsythus [30].

9.3.7 Other Device-Related Infections

Cochlear implant, intraocular lens, breast implants, and implantable neurological simulators are some of the other biofilm-associated device-related infections [2, 6, 50, 51]. Microbial biofilms formed on breast implants might contribute to a chronic inflammatory response and thus formation of capsular fibrosis and subsequent capsular contracture [65]. Pathophysiology of biofilm-related CC suggests the involvement of *Staphylococcus epidermidis* is a part of the microflora of the skin and the endogenous flora of the breast. Other bacteria isolated from biofilms on implants include *Propionibacterium acne, Staphylococcus aureus*, members of *Staphylococci, Streptococci, Bacillus* species, *Escherichia coli, Mycobacterium* species, *Corynebacterium*, and *Lactobacilli* [2].

9.4 Bacteriophage as Biocontrol Agents (Phage Therapy)

One of the most abundant predatory acellular biological entities on our planet are viruses which structurally consists of genetic material (either DNA or RNA) encapsulated in a proteinaceous coat. Viruses that infect bacteria are known as bacteriophages [15]. These bacteriophages (phages) are nano-sized intracellular obligate predators with a high degree of specificity for bacterial cells. Following specific phage-host receptor interaction, the genetic material of the phage is injected into the host. The successive spatial and temporal events in the phage life cycle may follow any of the following turns: Lytic infections involve hijacking of the host replication machinery for the generation of several copies of progeny virion, its assembly and eventual host cell lysis for progeny release in the surrounding milieu. Alternatively, in lysogeny, the phage genome may integrate into the host chromosomal material or assume episomal status within the cytosol for several host multiplication rounds. Upon encountering fortuitous times, the phage may reactivate its lytic genes and ensue the lytic course of events. Hence, lytic phage infections can successfully eradicate an entire bacterial population without affecting surrounding human cells and be contained when the vulnerable population has been cleared (Fig. 9.1).

Use of appropriate phages in combating infectious pathogens has been aptly termed as phage therapy and has been in use since the 1920s. Its historical significance has been extensively covered in recent excellent reviews on the subject [19, 66]. The advent of antibiotic era cast a shadow on the use of phage therapy post World War, although it has been practiced successfully since in the Eliava Institute in Tbsilli, Georgia, and the Hirsfeld Institute, Wroclaw, Poland. The interest in phage research and therapy however continued in research institute all over the world as evidenced by their large numbers in the literature databases. The translation of phage therapy in research laboratories to their use in the biotechnology industry and its commercial applications has taken on a furious pace with rapidly emerging antimicrobial drug resistance amongst bacteria.

Bacteriophages are naturally occurring bacterial population control predators which thrive when provided with hosts confined within the biofilm EPS and hence serve as effective biofilm control agents [14, 67]. The advantages of bacteriophages as biofilm-controlling strategies are manifold as described below:

- Target specificity: Biofilms offer large numbers and concentrated host for rapid multiplication of the phages. Unlike antimicrobial drugs, phages can differentiate between pathogens and beneficial microbiomes. Since bacteriophages are highly specific in their target identification and lysis, the phages can be directed for pathogenic biofilm and beneficial normal microflora can be spared during treatment regimen.
- 2. Autodosing: Phage thrive on the presence of host. Once phages have been delivered to target locations, they perpetuate as long as hosts are present and eventually are eliminated from the system and there are no side effects of extra dosage. This system of autodosing makes phage therapy highly attractive. However, in practice, presence of immune response and other environmental factors may require repeated application of phage treatment for efficacy.
- 3. Non-toxicity: Typically lytic tailed phages belonging to the Myoviridae, Siphoviridae, and Podoviridae families are used for phage therapy. Phages are nucleoprotein and there is no evidence of any harmful effects of phage

on the immune response. However, it is imperative that highly purified phage preparation be used for human applications.

- 4. Phage genetic engineering: Phage genome show great plasticity and it has been possible to genetically re-engineer phage as homing devices to infectious sites [68]. Phage display technology helps express peptides, antibodies, enzymes, quorum sensing antagonists, and antimicrobial compounds within the phage capsid. Phage-mediated delivery of CRISPR/ Cas-encoded RNA-guided nucleases (RGNs) is a recent strategy in causing digestion of target bacterial DNA in a sequence-specific manner. Staphylococcal *\phiMN1phage* particles carrying CRISPR/Cas in engineered phagemid with spacers targeting certain S. aureus virulence genes killed virulent, but not avirulent, S. aureus. A reduction was observed in virulent S. aureus strain cells on a skin infection mouse model [69]. Use of multiple CRISPR spacers encoded on phage genomes were found to be efficient in degrading multiple DNA targets in the infected host cell [13].
- 5. *Stability and formulation diversity*: Phage preparations are stable and can be formulated into various creams, ointments, and colloid suspensions and impregnated into surfaces without losing their viability or biofilm control potential [70].

9.5 Strategies Adopted for Anti-Biofilm Phage Treatments

9.5.1 Phage-Modified Polymeric Substrates

Phage sequestered onto the adsorbing biomaterials or coating surfaces with hydrogel-containing phages have been developed to prevent microbial adhesion [71] (Fig. 9.2a). Covalent anchorage of phages onto adsorbing surfaces ensures that the phage is capable of injecting its genetic material in the adsorbing bacteria and result in the generation of several copies of progeny which are free living. *E. coli*- and *S. aureus*-specific T1 and ϕ phages were simultaneously cova-

A Preventing microbial adsorption



B Mitigating mature biofilms using in *vivo* phage applications



(d) Lytic Natural/ Engineered Phages expressing EPS depolymerases & lysins penetrate through EPS and infect biofilms on devices

Fig. 9.2 Bacteriophage applications to prevent biofilm infections on abiotic prosthetic devices. (A) Prophylactic prevention by inhibiting microbial adsorption and adhesion by phage coating (a), encapsulated phage polymers (b), or coating with engineered phages expressing antibiofilm compounds (c). Phage coating can also function as biosensors for diagnostic applications. (B) Therapeutic approach by phage application on mature biofilms. Penetration through mature biofilm exopolymeric sub-

lently adsorbed onto polyethylene and polytetrafluoroethylene surfaces which could effectively eliminate biofilm formation [72]. A US patent (US20160010077 A1) has also been filed by the University of Southern Mississippi for a method for the covalent attachment of bacteriophages on to polymeric surfaces (http:// www.google.sr/patents/US20160010077). Triggered release of phages from agarose/hyaluronase hydrogel matrixes for the control of skin biofilm infection model of S. aureus was also found to be an effective strategy [73].



.....

(e) Lytic Natural/Engineered Phages expressing antibiotics, Quorum sensing antagonists, dispersive products proliferate within biofilm



(f) Biofilm disrupted: Natural/Engineered Phages virions released from cell disruption and available for autodosing

stances (EPS) by production of depolymerases and lysins (d). Upon phage penetration, lysis of biofilm residents by natural or genetically engineered phages expressing antibiotics, quorum sensing antagonists or biofilm-dispersive products like nitric oxide and enzymes (e). Once the biofilm is disrupted, virions would be released and available for mitigation of other biofilms on abiotic devices via autodosing regime (f)

9.5.2 Recombinant Filamentous Phages as Nanocoatings

Filamentous phages such as M13 phage, RS2 RNA phage, and T4 phage are being used as nanoengineering biosystems which are being used as nanoscaffolds to express antimicrobial compounds and as biosensors [20, 74, 75]. Filamentous phages coat proteins coated with aptamers, ribozymes, siRNA and vaccines form excellent nanocarriers [74].

9.5.3 Phage Therapy, Phage Cocktails, and Cotherapy

Phage therapy for biofilms is usually carried out by direct application over the biofilm formed on the abiotic prosthetic device surface. Factors affecting biofilm clearance success in direct applications include phage dosage, route of administration as well as the stage of biofilm maturation and its resident clinical species [16, 76, 77]. Phage cocktails (combination of phage with varying host specificities) have also proved very efficacious in controlling polymicrobial infections on abiotic prosthetic devices [78]. Medical applications of phage therapy have undergone clinical trials as in the case of phage burn (funded by European commission), a phage cocktail targeting Ps. aeruginosa and E. coli infections associated with burn patients [20].

Use of phages alongside sub-minimum inhibitory concentrations of antibiotics in solution or in an immobilized form have been shown to be efficacious in controlling mature biofilms [79, 80]. Meropenem-phage and amikacin-phage combination showed synergistic activity in reducing planktonic and biofilm formed *Ps. aeruginosa* biofilms [81]. Phage antibiotic synergistic treatment for *Ps. aeruginosa* PA14 biofilm was tested with phage and 5 different bactericidal antibiotics [82].

9.5.4 Phage Enzybiotics

Phage-derived products such as bacteriolytic enzymes: lysins, depolymerases, as well biofilm exopolymeric matrix degrading enzymes are being exploited as anti-biofilm agents while circumventing potential threats associated with the use of live phages [83, 84]. Engineered bacteriophage enzymes have been employed to disperse biofilms by breaking down components of the extracellular polymeric matrix [85]. These phage-derived endolysins, including the novel Artilysins, show activity against persister cells of gram-positive, gram-negative, as well Mycobacterial origin [86]. The T7 phage was genetically engineered to express the dsp B gene encoding biofilm-dispersing enzymes from Acinobacillus actinomycetemcomitans which drastically reduced E. coli biofilm counts even as such enzymes have low substrate specificities [87]. Use of T7-engineered phages expressing quorum sensing quenching enzymes AiiA lactonase effectively inhibited mixed biofilm of Ps. aeruginosa and E.coli [88]. S. aureus biofilm control with the use of a chimeric protein CHAPSH3b derived from peptidoglycan hydrolase of phage vB_SauS-philPLA88 and lysostaphin was reported [89].T4 lysozyme is fused with cellulose-binding module for facilitating phage on wound dressings and retained antimicrobial activity against E. coli and Micrococcus lysodeikticus bacteria [90].

9.5.5 Phage Directly Affecting Antibiotic Resistance within the Biofilm

Antibiotic resistance is one of the major problems of biofilm-associated prosthetic device infections. Isolation of phages that exert selective pressure on bacteria to confer them sensitive to the current regimen of antibiotics is a new strategy in phage biocontrol. A lytic bacteriophage OMKO1 (family Myoviridae) of Pseudomonas aeruginosa that utilizes the outer membrane porin M (OprM) of the multidrug efflux systems MexAB and MexXY as a receptor-binding site has been isolated [91]. Phage-OMKO1-resistant strain (oprM knockout) showed increased sensitivity to ceftazidime, ciprofloxacin, tetracycline, and erythromycin antibiotics. A novel method of introducing antibiotic sensitizing gene cassette through genes rpsL and gyrA to two antibiotics, streptomycin and nalidixic acid, respectively, through temperate phage therapy to reverse engineer antibiotic resistance in E. coli pathogens is reported [92]. Gene transfer of antibiotic resistance genes through conjugative plasmids has higher frequency rates within the closely confined populations within the biofilm. A lytic plasmid-dependant phage PRD1 and antibiotic-resistant plasmid RP4 co-evolution was studied in *E. coli* and *Salmonella enteric*. Infections with PRD1 drastically reduced the frequency of antibiotic resistance cells [93]. Bacteriophages could play a significant role in restricting the spread of plasmid-encoded antibiotic resistance [94].

9.5.6 Overcoming Bacterial Phage Defense Systems and CRISPR-Dependent Biofilm Inhibition

Development of resistance to phage infections by the host may result in ineffective biofilm control. Bacterial cells may acquire resistance either by altering phage entry receptors or through viral nucleic acid degradation post entry via the CRISPR (Clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats) and CRISPR-associated Cas9 cascade proteins [69, 95]. CRISPR are prokaryotic adaptive immune systems which involve an array of repetitive sequences with spacers acquired from potential foreign DNA sources such as viruses, plasmids, or transposons. Upon reinfection with foreign DNA source, CRISPR RNA (crRNA) activates Cas proteins to degrade the complimentary foreign DNA.

Bacteriophages in response encode anti CRISPR proteases that inhibit the CRIPR defense system [96]. Genetically engineered phages that encode anti CRISPR proteases have been designed. Pseudomonas DMS3 temperate phage through elegant experiments involving the CRIPR Cas system was shown to modulate biofilm formation and swarming motility behavior [97]. In Streptococcus thermophilus phages mutations within the protospacer regions provide protection against CRISPR cas system. In Vibrio cholera phage-encoded CRISPR/Cas system is used to counteract a phage inhibitory chromosomal island of the bacterial host. A recent study describes a novel Bacteriophage extrusion (BREX) system which involves a six cassette gene system in Bacillus subtilis wherein host DNA is methylated at fifth position of a nonpalindromic 5-TAGGAC-3 hexamer sequence and phage inhibited by blocking phage DNA replication of both lytic and temperate phages [98].

Phage-transferable CRISPR-Cas systems are capable of specifically killing pathogens or resensitizing them to antibiotics [69, 99].

9.5.7 Phages and Quorum Sensing

In a recent work, it was shown that phage phiCDHM1 infecting *Clostridium difficile* harbors QS gene homologs (*agr3*) which can influence pathogen behavior [100]. The decision between lytic and lysogenic behavior of phage infection is also shown to be guided by arbitrium system which consists of the production of oligomeric signaling peptides [101]. Understanding phage communication signals can help better manipulate biofilm dispersal strategies using phage therapy. Engineered T7 phages expressing quorum quenching molecules lactonases have successfully inhibited *Ps. aeruginosa* and *E. coli* biofilm [88].

9.5.8 Phages as Theranostics

Theranostics combines specific targeted therapy wherein diagnosis and therapy are combined in a single agent [102]. Classical phage typing involving the use of specific phages for bacterial strain identification has now been extended to the use of phages as biosensors or diagnostic markers [20]. Fluorescent-labeled Mycobacteriophage DS6A can differentiate between members of MTB complex [103]. NanoLuc reporter phage has been developed for the detection of *E. coli* OH:157 foodborne pathogen [104]. Similar technological advances can be applied for the diagnosis as well as therapy of DRI-associated biofilms.

9.5.9 Phages as Vaccine Delivery Agents

Prophylactic measures using phage nanosystems used as vaccine-carrying agents prior to a planned implantation for the prevention of biofilm formation by common skin microflora or nosocomial infections are being explored [75]. A combination of phage display vaccines and phage DNA vaccines are being developed wherein antigens as fusion products are expressed on the major surface proteins of phages such as M13 and T4 phages while it carries gene for vaccine candidate in its genome under a strong expression promoter [105].

9.6 Control of Biofilm-Associated DRI with Phage Applications

Applications of the above phage control strategies are being successfully applied for the mitigation of biofilm-related infections on medical implants in in vitro studies, animal models, and human therapies. The control of catheter-induced urinary tract infections (CAUTI) caused by in vitro-induced Proteus mirabilis biofilms with two novel virulent phages, the podovirus vB_ PmiP_5460 and the myovirus vB_PmiM_5461 was reported [106]. Further, phage-coated catheters using a dynamic biofilm model simulating CAUTIs showed a significant reduction of P. mirabilis biofilm formation up to 168 h of catheterization [106]. The potential of a 3 phage cocktail in treatment of established infection as well as early colonization of in vitro model of catheterized urinary tract infection showed significant decrease in crystalline biofilm formation [107]. Another study investigated the effect of pretreating hydrogel-coated silicone catheters with mixtures of mixed species (Pseudomonas aeruginosa and Proteus mirabilis) bacteriophages on the development of single- and two-species biofilms in a multiday continuous-flow in vitro model using artificial urine media. Phage pretreatment reduced P. aeruginosa biofilm counts by 4 log10 CFU/cm2 ($P \le 0.01$) and *P. mirabilis* biofilm counts by >2 log10 CFU/cm² ($P \le 0.01$) over 48 h [108].

Catheter-related bloodstream infections (CRBSI) are indicative in patients requiring longterm treatment of parenteral nutrition, chemotherapy, or hemodialysis [60]. Antibiotic lock therapy (ALT) is a catheter sterilization method using high concentrations of antibiotics into the catheter lumen for extended periods of time. In a rabbit model, treatment of 24-h *S. aureus* biofilminfected central venous catheters with a *S. aureus*specific bacteriophage K antimicrobial-lock technique significantly reduced *S. aureus* bacterial colonization and biofilm presence [109]. Mean colony-forming units (CFU/ cm²) of biofilm measured in the distal catheter segment were significantly decreased in experimental animals (7.6 × 10³ CFU/cm²) as compared with controls (1.2 × 10⁵ CFU/cm²). Scanning electron microscopy demonstrated that biofilms were present on the surface of five of five control catheters but only one of five treated catheters (P = 0.048).

In catheter-induced aortic vegetation and experimental endocarditis due to Ps. aeruginosa biofilm studied in Wistar rats, synergistic action between intravenous supply of phage cocktail and antibiotic ciprofloxacin reduced bacterial load in comparison to control [90]. Synergistic activity of phage and antibiotic combination has proved to be highly effective in controlling antibiotic-resistant biofilms. In vitro fibrin clots as well as aorta-induced experimental endocarditis treated with phage/ciprofloxacin combinations were highly synergistic, killing >6 log CFUs/g of vegetations in 6 h and successfully treating 64% (n = 7/11) of rats in comparison to single-dose phage therapy or ciprofloxacin mono treatments that killed 2.5 log CFUs/g of vegetations in 6 h (P < 0.001 vs. untreated controls).

Prosthetic joint infections (PJI) are a devastating postsurgical complication [46]. S. aureus biofilms account for 20-40% arthoplasty infections following knee or hip joint replacements leading to prolonged antibiotic treatments, multiple surgeries, and replacement of prosthetics or eventual amputations. The use of engineered bacteriophages targeting S. aureus and other microbial infections has been successfully demonstrated in the following studies. In an implant-related infection model in rats, MRSA and Pseudomonas aeruginosa-specific bacteriophages were tested with antibiotic regimen of teicoplanin for MRSA and imipenem, cilastatin, and amikacin for Ps. aeruginosa, respectively [110]. S. aureus-specific phage along with linezolid (incorporated in hydroxymethyl propyl cellulose biopolymer) allowed gradual release of the two agents at the implant site in a mouse model of prosthetic joint infection with *S. aureus* ATCC 43300(MRSA) resulting in reduction in bacterial adherence as well inflammation [111].

Bacteriophage treatments in face of chronic symptomatic antibiotic-resistant infections have also been implicated in having anti-inflammatory properties [112]. In a clinical study, thirtyseven patients, some with periprosthetic infections with chronic antibiotic-resistant bacterial infections, were treated with oral bacteriophage therapy and their inflammation markers such as C reactive protein and mean WBC were found to diminish [112].

9.7 Outlooks and Challenges

Biofilm infections of prosthetic devices not only cause inflammatory responses but also lead to complications due to loosening of implanted devices, wound dehiscence, or disruption of prosthetic valves and embolism. Bacteriophage therapy is a promising alternative to counter effects of recalcitrant biofilms and several phage strategies have been described for the control of infectious microorganisms. Even so, specific study targeting their behavior with biofilms is still being explored. Some of the greatest challenges that phages face within the biofilm are penetration through the exopolymeric substances (EPS) which is being hopefully addressed with several genetically engineered phages expressing lysins and EPS degrading enzymes. Even within biofilms, the presence of multiple species is common and hence the use of broad range phages is required for effective biofilm removal [113]. A host range expansion protocol wherein coculturing of several Ps. aeruginosa cultures with four phage mix was used to develop a phage cocktail with the requisite host range [114]. Two sequential multihost strategies have been evolved for the isolation of polyvalent bacteriophages PX1 of the Podoviridae family and PEf1 of the Siphoviridae family using Pseudomonas putida F1 or Escherichia coli K-12 and subsequently used to infect model problematic bacteria [115].

Phage dosing for biofilms clearance on prosthetic devices is very critical. Initial high dose of phage application when bacterial density is high results in an immediate arrest of biofilm growth. However, if there is low bacterial density, initial phage concentrations may decay as a consequence of lack of adequate host supply [116]. Slow release of appropriate dosages of phages using phage encapsulation technology can be used to maintain *in situ* phage amplification in response to microbe within the biofilm [117, 118].

Immune response to phage administered is still of concern in human phage therapy and studies documenting humoral responses to phages have been recorded [119]. Immune response to *Pseudomonas* phages F8 and T4 in mice showed an upregulation of innate (phagocytes) and specific immune response (antibodies) to the circulating phages similar to that observed for eukaryotic viruses [120]. Mathematical modeling of the experimental data also showed that preimmunization or natural pre-exposure to a phage may hamper its effectiveness as a therapeutic agent.

Use of biofilm-dispersing agents in co-therapy approaches or the use of genetically engineered phages expressing dispersive enzymes, nitric oxides, and quorum sensing antagonists is effective in targeting biofilms [68, 87]. Following a biofilm-dispersive regimen, the use of antimicrobial agents at much lower inhibitory concentrations appears to be a comprehensive antibiofilm strategy.

Detection of biofilms remains one of the greatest challenges of biofilm infections [5]. New molecular methods should be introduced in the practice along with microscopy which can substantially reduce time taken in conventional culture methods [4]. These innovative methods are expected to provide a more sensitive bacterial enumeration and detection that would contribute to better treatment regimens. Phage theranostics combine diagnosis and therapeutic applications for effective and timely control of biofilmassociated device-related infections [102].

Apart from preventing infections on prosthetic devices, bacteriophages are also finding use in regenerative medicine as nanoscaffolds for tissue regeneration [20]. Genetically engineered M13 phages have long rod-shaped nanostructures which self-assemble as scaffolds used for tissue regeneration [71]. Additionally, the M13 major coat protein can be genetically engineered to express cellular differentiating markers helping in osteogenesis and neovascularization. Phage-based regenerative medicine shows great promise with developing technologies such as 3D printing and precision-based nanomedicines [20].

Since there is currently no legislation regarding the use of bacteriophage therapy, the development of bacteriophages as novel drugs comes under the purview of the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in the United States. Similarly the efficacy of phage therapy is yet not approved by the European regulatory standards [121]. Developing a cost-effective phage therapy module requires deliberation from both the legislative/regulatory bodies and the pharmaceutical industry. In Belarus, Russia, and Ukraine, a number of companies including Microgen are already marketing phage cocktails for a number of infections which are available as registered medicines [122]. Intralytics Inc. in the USA has developed a patented and FDA-approved phage cocktail against E. coli and Listeria monocytogenes for the food industry marketed as ListShieldTM (http://intralytix.com/). It is hoped that coordinated efforts from the medical community, pharmaceutical companies, and legislative bodies will make phage therapy an economical and highly effective treatment option for the control of DRI.

9.8 Conclusions

Awareness regarding the potential of phage usage has increased manifold. Commercial patents afforded for biofilm control of infections in food industry as well as the success of clinical trials worldwide are providing a major credence to phage therapy. It is hoped that combination treatments will gain popularity in mainstream medicine with phage treatment units in hospitals worldwide. Acknowledgement Research grant from Chhatrapati Shahu Ji Maharaj University supports the work on bacteriophage control that forms the basis of this manuscript.

References

- Hutmatcher D. Regenerative medicine will impact, but not replace medical device industry. Expert Rev Med Devices. 2006;3(4):1745–2422.
- Percival SL, Suleman L, Vuotto C, Donelli G. Healthcare-associated infections, medical devices and biofilms: risk, tolerance and control. J Med Microbiol. 2015;64:323–34.
- Wagner C, Hänsch GM. Mechanisms of bacterial colonization of implants and host response. In: A modern approach to biofilm-reltaed orthopaedic implant infections advances in experimental medicine and biology. Cham: Springer; 2016. p. 15–27.
- Doll K, Jongsthaphongpun KL, Stumpp NS, Winkel A, Stiesch M. Quantifying implant-associated biofilms: comparison of microscopic, microbiologic and biochemical methods. J Microbiol Methods. 2016;130:61–8.
- Pantanella F, Valenti P, Natalizi T, Passeri D, Berlutti F. Analytical techniques to study microbial biofilm on abiotic surfaces: pros and cons of the main techniques currently in use. Ann Ig. 2013;25(1):31–42.
- Costerton JW, Montanaro L, Arciola CR. Biofilm in implant infections: its production and regulation. Int J Artif Organs. 2005;28(11):1062–8.
- Costerton JW, Stewart PS, Greenberg EP. Bacterial biofilms: a common cause of persistent infections. Science. 1999;284(5418):1318–22.
- Høiby N, Bjarnsholt T, Givskov M, Molin S, Ciofu O. Antibiotic resistance of bacterial biofilms. Int J Antimicrob Agents. 2010;35(4):322–32.
- 9. Soto SM. Role of efflux pumps in the antibiotic resistance of bacteria embedded in a biofilm. Virulence. 2013;4(3):223–9.
- Khelissa SO, Abdallah M, Jama C, Faille C, Chihib N-E. Bacterial contamination and biofilm formation on abiotic surfaces and strategies to overcome their persistence. J Mater Environ Sci. 2017;8(9):3326–46.
- Hofer U. Biofilms: turning tides for quorum sensing. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2016;14(2):64–5.
- Sharma S, Chatterjee S, Datta S, Prasad R, Dubey D, Prasad RK, et al. Bacteriophages and its applications: an overview. Folia Microbiol (Praha). 2017;62(1):17–55.
- Weber-Dąbrowska B, Jończyk-Matysiak E, Żaczek M, Łobocka M, Łusiak-Szelachowska M, Górski A. Bacteriophage procurement for therapeutic purposes. Front Microbiol. 2016;7:1177.
- Kaistha S, Umrao P. Bacteriophage for mitigation of multiple drug resistant biofilm forming pathogens. Recent Pat Biotechnol. 2016;10(2):184–94.
- Ackermann H-W, Wegrzyn G. General characteristics of bacteriophages. In: Phage therapy: cur-

rent research and applications. Norfolk: Caister Academic Press; 2014. p. 43–56.

- Cisek AA, Dabrowska I, Gregorczyk KP, Wyżewski Z. Phage therapy in bacterial infections treatment: one hundred years after the discovery of bacteriophages. Curr Microbiol. 2017;74(2):277–83.
- Wittebole X, De Roock S, Opal SM. A historical overview of bacteriophage therapy as an alternative to antibiotics for the treatment of bacterial pathogens. Virulence. 2014;5(1):226–35.
- Vandenheuvel D, Lavigne R, Ussow HB, Brüssow H. Bacteriophage therapy: advances in formulation strategies and human clinical trials. Annu Rev Virol. 2015;2(1):599–618.
- Sulakvelidze A, Alavidze Z, Morris JG Jr. Bacteriophage therapy. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2001;45(3):649–59.
- Sunderland KS, Yang M, Mao C. Phage-enabled nanomedicine: from probes to therapeutics in precision medicine HHS public access. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl Febr. 2017;13(568):1964–92.
- Garrett TR, Bhakoo M, Zhang Z. Bacterial adhesion and biofilms on surfaces. Prog Nat Sci. 2008;18(9):1049–56.
- Laverty G, Gorman S, Gilmore B. Biofilms and implant associated infections. In: Barnes L, Cooper IR, editors. Biomaterials and medical device associated infections. Cambridge: Woodhead Publishers, Elsevier; 2015. p. 19–37.
- Berne C, Ducret A, Hardy GG, Brun YV. Adhesins involved in attachment to abiotic surfaces by gram-negative bacteria. Microbiol Spectr. 2015;3(4):1–46.
- Valentini M, Filloux A. Biofilms and cyclic di-GMP (c-di-GMP) signaling: lessons from Pseudomonas aeruginosa and other bacteria. J Biol Chem. 2016;291(24):12547–55.
- Wei Q, Ma LZ. Biofilm matrix and its regulation in Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Int J Mol Sci. 2013;14(10):20983–1005.
- 26. Flemming H-C, Wingender J. The biofilm matrix. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2010;8:623–33.
- Stewart PS, Franklin MJ. Physiological heterogeneity in biofilms. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2008;6(3):199–210.
- James SA, Powell LC, Wright CJ. Atomic force microscopy of biofilms—Imaging, interactions, and mechanics. In: Dhanasekaran D, editor. Microbial biofilms - importance and applications. Rijeka: Intech Ope; 2016.
- Schlafer S, Meyer RL. Confocal microscopy imaging of the biofilm matrix. J Microbiol Methods. 2017;138:50–9.
- Papenfort K, Bassler BL. Quorum sensing signal– response systems in gram-negative bacteria. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2016;14(9):576–88.
- Li Y-H, Tian X. Quorum sensing and bacterial social interactions in biofilms. Sensors. 2012;12(12):2519–38.
- 32. Rutherford ST, Bassler BL. Bacterial quorum sensing: its role in virulence and possibilities

for its control. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med. 2012;2(11):a012427.

- 33. Vidal JE, Howery KE, Ludewick HP, Nava P, Klugman KP. Quorum-sensing systems LuxS/ autoinducer 2 and Com regulate Streptococcus pneumoniae biofilms in a bioreactor with living cultures of human respiratory cells. Infect Immun. 2013;81(4):1341–53.
- Koul S, Prakash J, Mishra A, Kalia VC. Potential emergence of multi-quorum sensing inhibitor resistant (MQSIR) bacteria. Indian J Microbiol. 2016;56(1):1–18.
- Harmsen M, Yang L, Pamp SJ, Tolker-Nielsen T. An update on Pseudomonas aeruginosa biofilm formation, tolerance, and dispersal. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol. 2010;59:253–68.
- Solano C, Echeverz M, Lasa I. Biofilm dispersion and quorum sensing. Curr Opin Microbiol. 2014;18:96–104.
- Ueda A, Wood TK. Connecting quorum sensing, c-di-GMP, pel polysaccharide, and biofilm formation in Pseudomonas aeruginosa through tyrosine phosphatase TpbA (PA3885). PLoS Pathog. 2009;5(6):e1000483.
- Nickzad A, Déziel E. The involvement of rhamnolipids in microbial cell adhesion and biofilm development - an approach for control? Lett Appl Microbiol. 2014;58(5):447–53.
- Singhai M, Malik A, Shahid M, Malik MA, Goyal R. A study on device-related infections with special reference to biofilm production and antibiotic resistance. J Glob Infect. 2012;4(4):193–8.
- 40. Inacio RC, Klautau GB, Murça MAS, da Silva CB, Nigro S, Rivetti LA, et al. Microbial diagnosis of infection and colonization of cardiac implantable electronic devices by use of sonication. Int J Infect Dis. 2015;38:54–9.
- Gominet M, Compain F, Beloin C, Lebeaux D. Central venous catheters and biofilms: where do we stand in 2017? APMIS. 2017;125(4):365–75.
- 42. Majumder MI, Ahmed T, Hossain D, Ali M, Islam B, Chowdhury NH. Bacteriology and antibiotic sensitivity patterns of urine and biofilm in patients with indwelling urinary catheter in a tertiary hospital in bangladesh. J Bacteriol Parasitol. 2014;5(3):1–5.
- Soto SM, M. S. Importance of biofilms in urinary tract infections: new therapeutic approaches. Adv Biol. 2014;2014:1–13.
- Trampuz A, Zimmerli W. Diagnosis and treatment of implant-associated septic arthritis and osteomyelitis. Curr Infect Dis Rep. 2008;10(5):394–403.
- McConoughey SJ, Howlin R, Granger JF, Manring MM, Calhoun JH, Shirtliff M, et al. Biofilms in periprosthetic orthopedic infections. Future Microbiol. 2014;9(8):987–1007.
- 46. Antony S, Farran Y. Prosthetic joint and orthopedic device related infections. The role of biofilm in the pathogenesis and treatment. Infect Disord Drug Targets. 2016;16(1):22–7.

- 47. Baddour LM, Epstein AE, Erickson CC, Knight BP, Levison ME, Lockhart PB, et al. Update on cardiovascular implantable electronic device infections and their management: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2010;121(3):458–77.
- Fernández-Barat L, Torres A. Biofilms in ventilator-associated pneumonia. Future Microbiol. 2016;11(12):1599–610.
- 49. Danin P-E, Girou E, Legrand P, Louis B, Fodil R, Christov C, et al. Description and microbiology of endotracheal tube biofilm in mechanically ventilated subjects. Respir Care. 2015;60(1):21–9.
- Katiyar R, Vishwakarma A, Kaistha SD. Analysis of biofilm formation and antibiotic resistance of microbial isolates from intraocular lens following conventional extracapsular cataract surgery. Int J Res Pure Appl Microbiol. 2012;2(2):20–4.
- Bispo PJM, Haas W, Gilmore MS. Biofilms in infections of the eye. Pathogens. 2015;4(1):111–36.
- Gbejuade HO, Lovering AM, Webb JC. The role of microbial biofilms in prosthetic joint infections. Acta Orthop. 2015;86(2):147–58.
- Smeets R, Henningsen A, Jung O, Heiland M, Hammächer C, Stein JM. Definition, etiology, prevention and treatment of peri-implantitis—a review. Head Face Med. 2014;10:34.
- Tavares F, Pereira J, Lima K, Carreiro A, Henriques B, Silva F, et al. Relation between dental implant joint surfaces and biofilm formation. Dentistry. 2015;5(5)
- 55. Kim K-K, Sung H-M. Outcomes of dental implant treatment in patients with generalized aggressive periodontitis: a systematic review. J Adv Prosthodont. 2012;4(4):210–7.
- 56. Auler ME, Morreira D, Rodrigues FFO, Abr Ao MS, Margarido PFR, Matsumoto FE, et al. Biofilm formation on intrauterine devices in patients with recurrent vulvovaginal candidiasis. Med Mycol. 2010;48(1):211–6.
- Zahran KM, Agban MN, Ahmed SH, Hassan EA, Sabet MA. Patterns of Candida biofilm on intrauterine devices. J Med Microbiol. 2015;64(Pt_4): 375–81.
- Faller M, Kohler T. The status of biofilms in penile implants. Microorganisms. 2017;5(2):19–25.
- 59. Amalaradjou MAR, Venkitanaray K. Role of bacterial biofilms in catheter-associated urinary tract infections (CAUTI) and strategies for their control. In: Thomas N, editor. Recent Advances in the field of urinary tract infections. Vienna, Austria: InTech Open; 2013.
- Yousif A, Jamal MA, Raad I. Biofilm-based central line-associated bloodstream infections. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2015;830:157–79.
- Bauer TT, Torres A, Ferrer R, Heyer CM, Schultze-Werninghaus G, Rasche K. Biofilm formation in endotracheal tubes. Association between pneumonia and the persistence of pathogens. Monaldi Arch Chest Dis. 2002;57(1):84–7.

 Nielsen JC, Gerdes JC, Varma N. Infected cardiacimplantable electronic devices: prevention, diagnosis, and treatment. Eur Heart J. 2015;36(37):2484–90.

97

- Fong IW. New perspectives of infections in cardiovascular disease. Curr Cardiol Rev. 2009;5(2):87–104.
- 64. Paula A, Santos A, Watanabe E, De Andrade D. Clinical update biofilm on artificial pacemaker: fiction or reality? Arq Bras Cardiol. 2011;97(5):e120.
- Ajdic D, Zoghbi Y, Gerth D, Panthaki ZJ, Thaller S. The relationship of bacterial biofilms and capsular contracture in breast implants. Aesthet Surg J. 2016;36(3):297–309.
- Międzybrodzki R, Borysowski J, Weber-Dąbrowska B, Fortuna W, Letkiewicz S, Szufnarowski K, et al. Clinical aspects of phage therapy. Adv Virus Res. 2012;83:73–121.
- 67. Abedon ST. Bacteriophage exploitation of bacterial biofilms: phage preference for less mature targets? FEMS Microbiol Lett. 2016;363
- Motlagh AM, Bhattacharjee AS, Goel R. Biofilm control with natural and genetically-modified phages. World J Microbiol Biotechnol. 2016;32(4):67.
- 69. Bikard D, Euler CW, Jiang W, Nussenzweig PM, Goldberg GW, Duportet X, et al. Exploiting CRISPR-Cas nucleases to produce sequence-specific antimicrobials. Nat Biotechnol. 2014;32(11):1146–50.
- Chan BK, Abedon ST. Phage therapy pharmacology. Phage cocktails Adv Appl Microbiol. 2012;78:1–23.
- Yang SH, Chung J, Mcfarland S, Lee S-W. Assembly of Bacteriophage into functional materials. Chem Rec. 2013;13:43–59.
- Pearson HA, Sahukhal GS, Elasri MO, Urban MW. Phage-bacterium war on polymeric surfaces: can surface-anchored bacteriophages eliminate microbial infections? Biomacromolecules. 2013;14(5):1257–61.
- Bean JE, Alves DR, Laabei M, Esteban PP, Thet NT, Enright MC, et al. Triggered release of bacteriophage K from agarose/hyaluronan hydrogel matrixes by Staphylococcus aureus virulence factors. Chem Mater. 2014;26(24):7201–8.
- Cao B, Yang M, Mao C. Phage as a genetically modifiable supramacromolecule in chemistry, Materials and Medicine. Acc Chem Res. 2016;49(6):1111–20.
- Henry KA, Arbabi-Ghahroudi M, Scott JK. Beyond phage display: non-traditional applications of the filamentous bacteriophage as a vaccine carrier, therapeutic biologic, and bioconjugation scaffold. Front Microbiol. 2015;6(Article 755):1–18.
- Gill JJ, Hyman P. Phage choice, isolation, and preparation for phage therapy. Curr Pharm Biotechnol. 2010;11(1):2–14.
- 77. Loc-Carrillo C, Abedon ST. Pros and cons of phage therapy. Bacteriophage. 2011;1(2):111–4.
- Chan BK, Abedon ST, Loc-Carrillo C. Phage cocktails and the future of phage therapy. Future Microbiol. 2013;8(6):769–83.
- 79. Abdulamir AS, Jassim SAA, Hafidh RR, Bakar FA. The potential of bacteriophage cocktail in eliminating Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus

biofilms in terms of different extracellular matrices expressed by PIA, ciaA-D and FnBPA genes. Ann Clin Microbiol Antimicrob. 2015;14(1):49.

- Sagar SSSS, Kumar R, Kaistha SDSD. Efficacy of phage and ciprofloxacin co-therapy on the formation and eradication of Pseudomonas aeruginosa biofilms. Arab J Sci Eng. 2017;42(1):95–103.
- Nouraldin AAM, Baddour MM, Harfoush RAH, Essa SAM. Bacteriophage-antibiotic synergism to control planktonic and biofilm producing clinical isolates of Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Alexandria J Med. 2015;52(2):99–105.
- 82. Chaudhry WN, Concepción-Acevedo J, Park T, Andleeb S, Bull JJ, Levin BR. Synergy and order effects of antibiotics and phages in killing Pseudomonas aeruginosa biofilms. Rozen DE, editor. PLoS One. 2017;12(1):e0168615.
- Latka A, Maciejewska B, Majkowska-Skrobek G, Briers Y, Drulis-Kawa Z. Bacteriophage-encoded virion-associated enzymes to overcome the carbohydrate barriers during the infection process. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol. 2017;101(8):3103–19.
- 84. Pires DP, Oliveira H, Melo LDR, Sillankorva S, Azeredo J. Bacteriophage-encoded depolymerases: their diversity and biotechnological applications. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol. 2016;100(5):2141–51.
- Chan BK, Abedon ST. Bacteriophages and their enzymes in biofilm control. Curr Pharm Des. 2015;21(1):85–99.
- 86. Gerstmans H, Rodriguez-Rubio L, Lavigne R, Briers Y. From endolysins to Artilysin(R)s: novel enzymebased approaches to kill drug-resistant bacteria. Biochem Soc Trans. 2016;44(1):123–8.
- Lu TK, Collins JJ. Dispersing biofilms with engineered enzymatic bacteriophage. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2007;104(27):11197–202.
- Pei R, Lamas-Samanamud GR. Inhibition of biofilm formation by T7 bacteriophages producing quorumquenching enzymes. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2014;80(17):5340–8.
- Fernández L, González S, Campelo AB, Martínez B, Rodríguez A, García P. Downregulation of autolysinencoding genes by phage-derived lytic proteins inhibits biofilm formation in Staphylococcus aureus. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2017;61(5):e02724–16.
- Abouhmad A, Mamo G, Dishisha T, Amin MA, Hatti-Kaul R. T4 lysozyme fused with cellulose-binding module for antimicrobial cellulosic wound dressing materials. J Appl Microbiol. 2016;121(1):115–25.
- Chan BK, Sistrom M, Wertz JE, Kortright KE, Narayan D, Turner PE. Phage selection restores antibiotic sensitivity in MDR Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Sci Rep. 2016;6:26717.
- Edgar R, Friedman N, Molshanski-Mor S, Qimron U. Reversing bacterial resistance to antibiotics by phage-mediated delivery of dominant sensitive genes. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2012;78(3):744–51.

- Jalasvuori M, Friman V-P, Nieminen A, Bamford JKH, Buckling A. Bacteriophage selection against a plasmid-encoded sex apparatus leads to the loss of antibiotic-resistance plasmids. Biol Lett. 2011;7(6):902–5.
- 94. Harrison E, Wood AJ, Dytham C, Pitchford JW, Truman J, Spiers A, et al. Bacteriophages limit the existence conditions for conjugative plasmids. MBio. 2015;6(3):e00586–15.
- 95. Garneau JE, Dupuis M-È, Villion M, Romero DA, Barrangou R, Boyaval P, et al. The CRISPR/Cas bacterial immune system cleaves bacteriophage and plasmid DNA. Nature. 2010;468(7320):67–71.
- Bondy-Denomy J, Pawluk A, Maxwell KL, Davidson AR. Bacteriophage genes that inactivate the CRISPR/Cas bacterial immune system. Nature. 2012;493(7432):429–32.
- Palmer KL, Whiteley M. DMS3–42: the secret to CRISPR-dependent biofilm inhibition in Pseudomonas aeruginosa. J Bacteriol. 2011;193(14):3431–2.
- Chaudhary K. BacteRiophage EXclusion (BREX): A novel anti-phage mechanism in the arsenal of bacterial defense system. J Cell Physiol. 2017;233(1):57–9.
- Yosef I, Manor M, Kiro R, Qimron U. Temperate and lytic bacteriophages programmed to sensitize and kill antibiotic-resistant bacteria. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2015;112(23):7267–72.
- 100. Hargreaves KR, Kropinski AM, Clokie MRJ. What does the talking?: Quorum sensing signalling genes discovered in a bacteriophage genome. Kaufmann GF, editor. PLoS One. 2014;9(1):e85131.
- 101. Erez Z, Steinberger-Levy I, Shamir M, Doron S, Stokar-Avihail A, Peleg Y, et al. Communication between viruses guides lysis–lysogeny decisions. Nature. 2017;541(7638):488–93.
- 102. Kelkar SS, Reineke TM. Theranostics: combining imaging and therapy. Bioconjug Chem. 2011;22(10):1879–903.
- 103. Mayer O, Jain P, Weisbrod TR, Biro D, Ho L, Jacobs-Sera D, et al. Fluorescent reporter DS6A mycobacteriophages reveal unique variations in infectibility and phage production in mycobacteria. O'Toole GA, editor. J Bacteriol. 2016;198(23):3220–32.
- 104. Zhang D, Coronel-Aguilera CP, Romero PL, Perry L, Minocha U, Rosenfield C, et al. The use of a novel NanoLuc-based reporter phage for the detection of Escherichia coli O157:H7. Sci Rep. 2016;6(1):33235.
- 105. Adhya S, Merril CR, Biswas B. Therapeutic and prophylactic applications of bacteriophage components in modern medicine. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med. 2014;4(1):a012518.
- 106. Melo LDR, Veiga P, Cerca N, Kropinski AM, Almeida C, Azeredo J, et al. Development of a phage cocktail to control Proteus mirabilis catheterassociated urinary tract infections. Front Microbiol. 2016;7:1024.
- 107. Nzakizwanayo J, Hanin A, Alves DR, McCutcheon B, Dedi C, Salvage J, et al. Bacteriophage can prevent encrustation and blockage of urinary catheters by Proteus mirabilis. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2016;60(3):1530–6.
- 108. Lehman SM, Donlan RM. Bacteriophagemediated control of a two-species biofilm formed by microorganisms causing catheter-associated urinary tract infections in an in vitro urinary catheter model. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2015;59(2):1127–37.
- 109. Lungren MP, Donlan RM, Kankotia R, Paxton BE, Falk I, Christensen D, et al. Bacteriophage K antimicrobial-lock technique for treatment of Staphylococcus aureus central venous catheterrelated infection: a leporine model efficacy analysis. J Vasc Interv Radiol. 2014;25(10):1627–32.
- 110. Yilmaz C, Colak M, Yilmaz BC, Ersoz G, Kutateladze M, Gozlugol M. Bacteriophage therapy in implant-related infections an experimental study. J Bone Joint Surg. 2013;95:117–25.
- 111. Kaur S, Harjai K, Chhibber S. In Vivo assessment of phage and linezolid based implant coatings for treatment of methicillin resistant S. aureus (MRSA) mediated orthopaedic device related infections. PLoS One. 2016;11(6):e0157626.
- 112. Międzybrodzki R, Fortuna W, Weber-Dąbrowska B, Górski A. A retrospective analysis of changes in inflammatory markers in patients treated with bacterial viruses. Clin Exp Med. 2009;9(4):303–12.
- 113. Ross A, Ward S, Hyman P. More is better: selecting for broad host range bacteriophages. Front Microbiol. 2016;7:1352.

- 114. Mapes AC, Trautner BW, Liao KS, Ramig RF. Development of expanded host range phage active on biofilms of multi-drug resistant *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Bacteriophage. 2016;6(1):e1096995.
- 115. Yu P, Mathieu J, Li M, Dai Z, Alvarez PJJ. Isolation of polyvalent bacteriophages by sequential multiplehost approaches. Dozois CM, editor. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2016;82(3):808–15.
- Abedon ST, Kuhl SJ, Blasdel BG, Kutter EM. Phage treatment of human infections. Bacteriophage. 2011;1(2):66–85.
- 117. Goodridge LD. Designing phage therapeutics. Curr Pharm Biotechnol. 2010;11(1):15–27.
- 118. Malik DJ, Sokolov IJ, Vinner GK, Mancuso F, Cinquerrui S, Vladisavljevic GT, et al. Formulation, stabilisation and encapsulation of bacteriophage for phage therapy. Adv Colloid Interface Sci. 2017;249:100–33.
- 119. Navarro F, Muniesa M. Phages in the human body. Front Microbiol. 2017;8:566.
- 120. Hodyra-Stefaniak K, Miernikiewicz P, Drapała J, Drab M, Jończyk-Matysiak E, Lecion D, et al. Mammalian Host-Versus-Phage immune response determines phage fate in vivo. Sci Rep. 2015;5:14802.
- 121. Verbeken G, Huys I, Pirnay J-P, Jennes S, Chanishvili N, Scheres J, et al. Taking bacteriophage therapy seriously: a moral argument. Biomed Res Int. 2014;2014:621316.
- 122. Brussow H. What is needed for phage therapy to become a reality in Western medicine? Virology. 2012;434(2):138–42.



10

Extracellular Vesicles Derived from Mesenchymal Stem/Stromal Cells: Current Approaches to Enhance Their Release and Therapeutic Potential

Richard Schäfer, Benjamin Koch, and Patrick C. Baer

10.1 Introduction

Cell-based therapies have been widely used in experimental and clinical studies as a new therapeutic approach for several diseases. In particular, transplantation of mesenchymal stem/stromal cells (MSCs) is a very promising therapy option to support organ and tissue regeneration. During embryonic development MSCs originate from the somatic lateral plate mesoderm [1]. Later, MSCs can be isolated from umbilical cord/cord blood, amniotic fluid and the placenta, but also from nearly all tissues and organs of the adult organism [2]. In vivo MSCs can be traced close to the vasculature, but they can also be detected in other distinct localizations such as the endosteum or the medullary cavity of the bone [3, 4]. Observations that MSCs can be differentiated

Institute for Transfusion Medicine and Immunohematology, German Red Cross Blood Donor Service Baden-Württemberg-Hessen gGmbH, Goethe University Hospital, Frankfurt am Main, Germany e-mail: r.schaefer@blutspende.de

B. Koch · P. C. Baer Division of Nephrology, Department of Internal Medicine III, Goethe-University, Frankfurt am Main, Germany e-mail: B.Koch@med.uni-frankfurt.de in vitro into mesodermal lineages such as osteocytes, chondrocytes, and adipocytes [5] suggested a "stem cell" character of MSCs. However, this has been heavily debated due to lack of evidence, or at least inconsistent reproducibility, of functional MSCs' transdifferentiation into nonmesodermal cell types [6]. Yet, the existence of MSCs subpopulations featuring different degrees of stemness or plasticity in vivo and in vitro cannot be completely ruled out [4, 6, 7].

Currently, the most widely used MSC isolation technique is outgrowth and subculturing of adherent fibroblastoid cells, and MSCs ex vivo expansion is feasible for up to 50 cumulative population doublings [8], hereby providing substantial cell numbers for manufacture of MSC therapies. MSCs research has been growing steadily for decades, and MSCs productions for clinical applications are on the rise [9]. But what, besides their relatively simple isolation procedure and their ex vivo upscaling potential, makes MSCs attractive as cell therapeutics for regenerative medicine? MSCs have been successfully evaluated for decades in a great variety of preclinical disease models such as cardiac and cerebral ischemia, lung injury, bone defects, as well as autoimmune diseases [10–14]. Meanwhile, MSCs have been used in the clinic and current clinical indications for MSCs (mainly derived from bone marrow and adipose tissue) in regenerative medicine, such as organ ischemia or

R. Schäfer (🖂)

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

D. Duscher, M. A. Shiffman (eds.), *Regenerative Medicine and Plastic Surgery*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19958-6_10

skeletal degenerations, are measuring up to immunomodulation therapy of graft-versus-host disease (GvHD) [9].

Despite promises and hopes for successful treatment of severe conditions by MSCs, there are substantial challenges to overcome before MSC therapies can be sustainably implemented in clinical medicine. Particularly, MSCs' heterogeneity [2] and lack of deep understanding their mechanisms of action are hampering rapid progress. What we know so far is that MSCs produce various growth factors and cytokines suggesting that both their regenerative and immunomodulatory functions are mediated by such secreted and/ or released proteins interacting with local effector cells [9, 15]. Specifically, extracellular vesicles (EVs) are regarded as a relevant means for factor trafficking between MSCs and other cell types [16], and, as proof-of-principle, MSCderived EVs have been already successfully applied in the clinic [17].

In the following, the concept of MSC-EVs, as well as approaches to enhance their release and to improve their therapeutic potential, will be discussed.

10.2 Extracellular Vesicles

All eukaryotic cells and even prokaryotes release nano-sized, membranous vesicles, termed EVs [18]. Initially believed to take part only in waste management [19], it has mean-while become clear that EVs are involved in many biological processes and diseases, and that they may have great potential as biomarkers

and possibly also for therapy development in regenerative medicine [20, 21]. According to their origin and size, the following particle types are subsumed under the EV concept: exosomes (about 30-150 nm, released by exocytosis from multivesicular bodies), microvesicles (ca. 100-1000 nm, shed from the plasma membrane), and apoptotic bodies (about 400-5000 nm, released by blebbing of apoptotic cells) (Table 10.1) [22]. According to our current understanding, exosomes are primarily described as mediators of short- and long-range communication, while they, together with microvesicles and apoptotic bodies, take also part in waste disposal and recycling [23-26]. EVs' cargo can consist of proteins, cytokines, lipids, RNA [e.g., mRNA, ncRNA], and DNA (e.g., mitochondrial DNA) (Fig. 10.1) [22, 27, 28]. EV-mediated changes in cellular activity in both healthy and diseased conditions can be affected by exosomes carrying MHC complexes [29], anti-inflammatory noncoding RNA [30], factors promoting angiogenesis (e.g., PDGF, EGF, VEGF, NF-kB pathway proteins) [31], or wound healing [32]. Key in isolation of EVs and EV subpopulations are reproducible, affordable, and efficient technologies. Current methods can only enrich but not selectively purify EV subpopulations, and protein-RNA-complex contaminations are still an issue [33–35]. Therefore, it is of no surprise that EV studies suffer from inconsistencies of reproducibility [36]. However, the number of studies dealing with EVs has continuously increased in the past decade and therefore many efforts to standardize isolation and characterization are made. Current techniques for EVs isolation are

Type Origin Size Markers Contents Exosomes Multivesicular bodies 30 -Tetraspanins, ESCRT Proteins, lipids, (endosomal pathway), 150 nm components, PDCD6IP, coding and TSG101, flotillin, MFGE8 internal budding, exocytosis noncoding RNA, cytosol Microvesicles Plasma membrane budding 100 -Integrins, selectins, CD40 Like exosomes 1000 nm ligand Apoptotic Cell fragmentation/blebbing 400 -Phosphatidylserines Proteins, lipids, bodies 5000 nm DNA, rRNA, organelles and cytosol

 Table 10.1
 Extracellular vesicles: characterization by size, markers, and contents [21, 22]



Fig. 10.1 Overview of characteristic extracellular vesicle (EV) contents. *LBPA* lysobisphosphatidic acid, *PS* phosphatidylserine, *LPC* lysophosphatidylcholine, *ncRNA* noncoding RNA

precipitation, differential ultracentrifugation, density gradient enrichment, size-exclusion chromatography, and immune-affinity capture technology. Differential ultracentrifugation is widely used but without further purification steps (such as sucrose density gradient ultracentrifugation) contaminating proteins are often present in the EV preparations [20]. Also, ultracentrifugation produces aggregates of EVs and non-vesicular macromolecules [37] and introduces many, likely uncontrollable parameters, like g-force, rotor-type, and angle [36]. In comparison, immune-affinity purification holds promise for more pure isolates [22].Currently, there are more and more supporters for sizeexclusion chromatography [34, 38], especially in combination with preceding concentration steps [39], as it delivers better preserved bioactive vesicles compared to other isolation techniques [40].

10.3 Preconditioning Regimens to Enhance MSCs Regenerative Potential

Cell-based therapies have been widely used in experimental and clinical studies as a new therapeutic approach for several diseases. The protective effects of MSCs, their conditioned medium (CM), or EVs derived from MSCs have been shown to promote regeneration after various organ and tissue injuries. The mechanisms by which MSCs enhance regeneration and ease inflammation and injury are not completely understood, but multiple pathways might mediate the release of soluble mediators, EVs, organelle transfer. and cell-to-cell contacts [41]. Comprehensive profiling of the factors secreted by MSCs revealed that their secretome consists of various cytokines, chemokines, growth factors, extracellular matrix proteins, and molecules

of vascularization and hematopoiesis pathways. Factors that limit the regenerative capacity and the therapeutic efficacy of transplanted MSCs are their poor migration and survival in the target tissue. Transplantation of MSCs or application of their CM including EVs or even purified EVs requires MSCs with maximum regenerative capacity. Therefore, the rationale should be primarily to develop new strategies for improvement of the regenerative efficiency of MSCs and the vesicles released by MSCs (Table 10.2). In vitro pretreatment ("preconditioning") strategies have been shown to enhance survival, engraftment, and paracrine properties of MSCs and, therefore, optimize their reparative and regenerative capacity [9].

Recent data indicate that the regenerative potential of MSCs could be boosted by pretreatment with environmental or pharmacological stimuli, enhancing their therapeutic efficacy. The factors and vesicles released by preconditioned MSCs are manifold and exert immunomodulatory, anti-apoptotic, pro-angiogenic, and trophic effects [42]. Currently used MSCs preconditioning regimens include their culture in a hypoxic or anoxic atmosphere, incubation with trophic factors (growth factors, cytokines, or hormones), application of lipopolysaccharides or pharmacological agents, as well as overexpression of specific factors by genetic modification of the cells [43–46]. Nevertheless, genetic modifications such as overexpression of genes involved in migration, apoptosis, or survival can be complex to translate into clinical-grade protocols. Therefore, alternative preconditioning regimens without active manipulation in the genome might be considered.

Hypoxic preconditioning has been shown to enhance cell survival, proliferation, and also the angiogenic potential of MSCs [47-50]. Also, hypoxic preconditioning protects MSCs by activation of anti-apoptotic signaling mechanisms and enhances their angiogenic potential by induction of the expression of proangiogenic genes in vitro [51]. Furthermore, preincubation under hypoxia leads to metabolic changes resulting in higher in vivo cell survival after transplantation [48], and also induces the expression of genes that are involved in migration and homing (e.g., CXCR4 and SDF-1) [52]. The downstream signaling pathway during hypoxic pretreatment is the induction and translocation of HIF1 α to the cell nucleus with the activation of gene expression (e.g., VEGF), and also the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) [50]. The findings of Lee and coworkers showed that hypoxic preconditioning of MSCs promotes proliferation and angiogenic cytokine secretion via the HIF1α-GRP78-Akt signal pathway, and improves the survival of the cells in an in vivo model of hind limb ischemia [53]. MSCs treatment by anoxia also enhances their survival and promotes their regenerative capacity [54]. As underlying mechanism of these beneficial effects

Table 10.2 Characteristics of extracellular vesicles derived from MSCs (Modified from [95])

Type [Human]	Protein content	RNA content	
Adipose-derived MSCs	CD105, CD90	miR29c, miR150	
Wharton-Jelly MSCs	CD9, CD44, CD63, CD73	miR15a,-15b,-16	
Bone marrow MSCs	CD44, CD29, α4- α5-integrins, CD73, TIA, TIAR, HuR, STAU1, STAU2, AGO2	POLR2E, SENP2/SUMO1, RBL1, CXCR7, LTA4H, CLOCK, IRF6, CRLF1, IL1RN, miR-24, -103-1, -140, -143-5p, -340, -223, -451, -564	
Embryonic MSCs	OCT4, WNT3 [isoform A and B]	OCT4, NANOG, GATA4, SOX2, KLF4, LIN28, miR-292, -294, -295	
MSCs from induced pluripotent stem cells	CD9, CD24, CD63, CD81, integrins, glycoproteins	OCT4, NANOG, SOX2, miR-302/367 cluster miRNAs	
Liver-derived MSCs	CD29, α 4-integrin, CD44	MATK, MRE11A, CHECK2, MYH11, VASP, CDK2, STAU2, miR-451, -223, -24, -125b, -31, -122	

anoxia induced increased phosphorylation of cell survival factors such as Akt and endothelial nitric oxide synthase [55].

ROS and reactive nitrogen species are biologically active oxidants and are regarded as important physiological signaling molecules. Various reports indicate the role of ROS as second messengers in the O_2 sensing [56, 57]. Preconditioning by ROS has been shown to enhance the proangiogenic properties of MSCs [57]. ROS generation increased MSCs secretion of the proangiogenic and anti-apoptotic factors VEGF and HGF, but did not affect MSCs ability to differentiate into cells with endothelial phenotype in vitro [57]. Applying a pharmacological preconditioning strategy with the mitochondrial inhibitors to modulate ROS generation in MSCs, Carriere et al. [57] described a strongly improved revascularization and increased number of CD31positive cells in the ischemic area of their in vivo model.

In vitro pretreatment with pharmacological or chemical agents is an alternative preconditioning concept to boost MSCs regenerative potential. For example, preincubation with sildenafil (or a silencing vector to phosphodiesterase-5) significantly improved viability and decreased necrosis and apoptosis of MSCs. It increased the release of growth factors in MSCs, and enhanced their regenerative potential in an in vivo model of myocardial infarction [58]. Incubation of MSCs with deferoxamine, an iron chelating drug, has been shown to stabilize HIF-1 α under normoxic conditions as well as the activity of two metalloproteases [59]. The stabilization of HIF-1 α resulted in its increased translocation to the nucleus and in increased transcription of genes involved in cell migration [60]. In addition, deferoxamine preconditioning prior to transplantation increased homing of MSCs through modulating the expression of chemokine receptors as well as metalloproteases [59]. Other pharmacological approaches include the pretreatment with atorvastatin [61], diazoxide [62], or curcumin [63]. For example, curcumin has been reported to cause potent antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties, and free radical-scavenging activity

[63]. Consequentially, pretreatment of MSCs with curcumin improved tolerance to oxidative stress injury and resulted in enhancement of their therapeutic potential in myocardial repair after myocardial infarction [63].

Another promising approach to enhance MSCs therapeutic potential is the preincubation with growth factors or other small molecules via the culture medium (reviewed in [9]). In this regard, the growth factors EGF, GDNF, and IGF-1, the pro-inflammatory cytokine TNF α , the chemokine SDF-1 (CXCL12), or hormones such as angiotensin-II have been shown to enhance regenerative capacity or the paracrine functions of MSCs [64-72]. EGF promoted in vitro expansion of MSCs without altering their multipotency [71–73] and enhanced MSCs motility and migration [72-74], and also the release of factors like VEGF, HGF, HB-EGF, and interleukin (IL)-6 and -11 [71, 75]. Others have shown that pretreatment with TGF-ß increased VEGF production of MSCs in vitro [66]. TNF- α pretreated MSCs increased the release of cytokines, chemokines, and proteases compared to untreated MSCs. In this study, the enhanced secretion of 118 proteins into the culture medium upon TNF- α incubation was identified [76], specifically, many of them known to be critically involved in inflammatory processes (e.g., IL-6, IL-8, and MCP-1). Inflammation is a key response to organ and tissue injury, with cytokines and chemokines also being associated with regeneration processes. Enhanced expression of IL-6, IL-8, or MCP-1 goes along with enhanced migration of monocytes to the site of injury, hereby promoting aproinflammatory response.

Taken together, enhancement of the regenerative capacities of MSCs by preceding in vitro preconditioning regimens is a promising strategy for regenerative therapies, which may also decrease the amount of cells for transplantation and, therefore, possibly reduces the risk of side effects. Due to the proposed main mechanistic concept by paracrine activation, the application of CM (including regenerative factors and EVs) or EVs might be an alternative or complement of the cell therapy.

10.4 Current Approaches to Enhance the Release and Potential of MSC-EVs

Although there are a substantial number of studies showing the highly promising effects of preconditioning strategies on the therapeutic potential of MSCs or their CM, only few studies have been published to date focussing on the specific involvement of isolated EVs in this context. Increasing amounts of experimental data have revealed that MSC-derived EVs can stimulate angiogenesis, modulate the immune status, and exert paracrine effects that improve organ or tissue regeneration following injury. EVs were shown to carry variety of biomolecules such as growth factors, receptors, enzymes, transcription factors, signaling and immunomodulatory molecules, DNA, RNA transcripts, and noncoding RNA including retrotransposons, vault RNA, long noncoding RNAs, and microRNAs (Fig. 10.1) [77, 78], and are major communication mediators between cells [79-81]. EVs are taken up by cells and can alter gene expression or activate intracellular signal cascades. Hypoxic or anoxic microenvironment or oxidative stress can increase the amount and concentration of EVs in culture [82-84]. In this context, in vitro preconditioning regimens of MSCs prior to EV isolation and their transplantation in an in vivo injury model seem to be promising approaches to enhance the regenerative potential of EVs.

It has been shown that hypoxic preconditioning not only stimulates the secretion of growth factors, cytokines, and other proteins, but also the release of exosomes and microvesicles from MSCs. EVs from hypoxia-preconditioned cells had better therapeutic effects in organ injury through specific cargoes compared to EVs from non-preconditioned cells [85]. A recent study by Cui and coworkers examined whether exosomes derived from hypoxia-preconditioned MSCs (hypEx) and non-preconditioned MSCs (npEx) could prevent memory deficits in Alzheimer disease (AD) [86]. The results showed that neurologic conditions were significantly improved, plaque deposition and A^β levels were lower, and expression of many effector proteins was different in the hypEx group compared to the npEx group. Furthermore, hypEx increased the level of miR-21 in the brain of AD mice [86], which may induce a positive effect during pathophysiological processes in the brain [87]. Others investigated whether hypEx were superior for myocardial repair, compared to exosomes from normoxia-treated MSCs [88]. The study showed that infusion of hypEx resulted in significantly higher survival, smaller scar size, and better cardiac functions recovery. In addition, significantly higher levels of miRNA-210 were detected in hypEx. Hypoxia treatment of MSCs increased the expression of neutral sphingomyelinase 2 (nSMase2) which is crucial for exosome secretion. Blocking the activity of nSMase2 resulted in reduced miR-210 secretion and abrogated the beneficial effects of hypEx. The authors therefore concluded that hypoxia augments miR-210 and nSMase2 activities, which is responsible at least in part for the enhanced cardioprotective potential of hypEx [88]. Feng et al. [89] showed that exosomes enriched with miR-22 were secreted by MSCs following ischemic preconditioning (repeated cycles of anoxia with intermittent reoxygenation). These miR-22 enriched exosomes reduced apoptosis of cardiomyocytes in vitro, and reduced cardiac fibrosis in an in vivo model.

Another recent study investigated the influence of an in vitro preconditioning stimulus, i.e., hypoxia or isoflurane, on EV concentration and composition of cardiomyocytes, fibroblasts, and a myoblast cell line [90]. Whereas the authors found no significant influence of the preconditioning regimen on secretion of EVs and their morphology, the protein and miRNA (e.g., miR-761) load was affected by the in vitro pretreatment. Also, EV markers (e.g., CD63, heat shock protein 70) were significantly upregulated. In another study, pretreatment of cardiomyocytes with hypoxia resulted in the upregulation and enrichment of miR-30a in their exosomes [91].

The main downstream signaling pathway during hypoxic pretreatment is the induction and translocation of HIF1 α to the cell nucleus. In this context, it has been shown that overexpression of HIF-1 α in MSCs enhanced their exosome secretion and improved therapeutic potential by inducing angiogenesis in transplanted tissues [92].

Lu et al. [93] showed that the trophic functions of adipose-derived MSCs for their use in bone tissue regeneration were further potentiated when cells were preconditioned with tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α). This effect was mainly mediated by their EVs, as the removal of EVs from the medium largely diminished their effects on proliferation and osteogenic differentiation of primary osteoblasts. The study further showed that the cellular content of Wnt-3a was elevated in MSC-EVs after preconditioning with TNF- α , and inhibition of Wnt signaling decreased the effect of MSC-EVs on osteoblasts [93]. Interestingly, preconditioning with interferon-y, another proinflammatory cytokine, abrogated the protective effects of MSC-EVs in an animal model of ischemic acute kidney injury [94]. Specifically, EVs from untreated control MSCs ameliorated kidney dysfunction and acute tubular necrosis, whereas EVs from preconditioned MSCs did not influence the development of kidney injury [94]. Also, this study demonstrated that interferon-y pretreatment leads to the production of EVs, which originate from distinct internal vesicle routes. EVs from untreated and preconditioned cells contained different and unique proteins, and had different therapeutic potential.

Although not finally proven, it appears that the regenerative potential of EVs is promising and may be even greater by preconditioning. Nevertheless, recent preconditioning regimens mainly focus on hypoxic or anoxic microenvironment. The results from these studies that show the potential of pretreatment regimens on MSC preparations demonstrate the urgent need to further investigate the mechanistic influence and involvement of MSC-derived EVs in organ and tissue regeneration, and the enhancement of these processes by preconditioning regimens. Elucidating the multiple functions of EVs will eventually contribute to further understanding the complex self-regeneration mechanisms of the organism and the therapeutic capacities of MSCs, hereby optimizing their clinical application to support organ or tissue regeneration in the future.

References

- Sheng G. The developmental basis of mesenchymal stem/stromal cells (MSCs). BMC Dev Biol. 2015;15:44.
- Schäfer R, Bieback K. Characterization of mesenchymal stem or stromal cells: tissue sources, heterogeneity, and function. Transfusion. 2016;56:2S–5S.
- Murray IR, Peault B. Q&A: Mesenchymal stem cells - where do they come from and is it important? BMC Biol. 2015;13:99.
- Rasini V, Dominici M, Kluba T, Siegel G, Lusenti G, Northoff H, Horwitz EM, Schäfer R. Mesenchymal stromal/stem cells markers in the human bone marrow. Cytotherapy. 2013;15:292–306.
- Dominici M, Le BK, Mueller I, Slaper-Cortenbach I, Marini F, Krause D, Deans R, Keating A, Prockop D, Horwitz E. Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. Cytotherapy. 2006;8:315–7.
- Schäfer R. Does the adult stroma contain stem cells? Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol. 2013;129:177–89.
- Churchman SM, Ponchel F, Boxall SA, Cuthbert R, Kouroupis D, Roshdy T, Giannoudis PV, Emery P, McGonagle D, Jones EA. Transcriptional profile of native CD271+ multipotential stromal cells: evidence for multiple fates, with prominent osteogenic and Wnt pathway signaling activity. Arthritis Rheum. 2012;64:2632–43.
- Bieback K, Hecker A, Kocaomer A, Lannert H, Schallmoser K, Strunk D, Kluter H. Human alternatives to fetal bovine serum for the expansion of mesenchymal stromal cells from bone marrow. Stem Cells. 2009;27:2331–41.
- Schäfer R, Spohn G, Baer PC. Mesenchymal stem/ stromal cells in regenerative medicine: can preconditioning strategies improve therapeutic efficacy? Transfus Med Hemother. 2016;43:256–67.
- Psaltis PJ, Zannettino AC, Worthley SG, Gronthos S. Concise review: mesenchymal stromal cells: potential for cardiovascular repair. Stem Cells. 2008;26:2201–10.
- 11. Li G, Yu F, Lei T, Gao H, Li P, Sun Y, Huang H, Mu Q. Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell therapy in ischemic stroke: mechanisms of action and treatment optimization strategies. Neural Regen Res. 2016;11:1015–24.
- McIntyre LA, Moher D, Fergusson DA, Sullivan KJ, Mei SH, Lalu M, Marshall J, Mcleod M, Griffin G, Grimshaw J, Turgeon A, Avey MT, Rudnicki MA, Jazi M, Fishman J, Stewart DJ. Efficacy of mesenchymal stromal cell therapy for acute lung injury in preclinical animal models: a systematic review. PLoS One. 2016;11:e0147170.
- Sui BD, Hu CH, Liu AQ, Zheng CX, Xuan K, Jin Y. Stem cell-based bone regeneration in diseased microenvironments: challenges and solutions. Biomaterials. 2019;196:18–30.

- 14. Lee HK, Lim SH, Chung IS, Park Y, Park MJ, Kim JY, Kim YG, Hong JT, Kim Y, Han SB. Preclinical efficacy and mechanisms of mesenchymal stem cells in animal models of autoimmune diseases. Immune Netw. 2014;14:81–8.
- Fontaine MJ, Shih H, Schafer R, Pittenger MF. Unraveling the mesenchymal stromal cells' paracrine immunomodulatory effects. Transfus Med Rev. 2016;30:37–43.
- Phinney DG, Pittenger MF. Concise review: MSCderived exosomes for cell-free therapy. Stem Cells. 2017;35:851–8.
- Kordelas L, Rebmann V, Ludwig AK, Radtke S, Ruesing J, Doeppner TR, Epple M, Horn PA, Beelen DW, Giebel B. MSC-derived exosomes: a novel tool to treat therapy-refractory graft-versus-host disease. Leukemia. 2014;28:970–3.
- Harding CV, Heuser JE, Stahl PD. Exosomes: looking back three decades and into the future. J Cell Biol. 2013;200:367–71.
- Johnstone RM, Adam M, Hammond JR, Orr L, Turbide C. Vesicle formation during reticulocyte maturation. Association of plasma membrane activities with released vesicles (exosomes). J Biol Chem. 1987;262:9412–20.
- Li P, Kaslan M, Lee SH, Yao J, Gao Z. Progress in exosome isolation techniques. Theranostics. 2017;7:789–804.
- EL Andaloussi S, Mager I, Breakefield XO, Wood MJ. Extracellular vesicles: biology and emerging therapeutic opportunities. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2013;12:347–57.
- Zeringer E, Barta T, Li M, Vlassov AV. Strategies for isolation of exosomes. Cold Spring Harb Protoc. 2015;2015:319–23.
- Cocucci E, Meldolesi J. Ectosomes and exosomes: shedding the confusion between extracellular vesicles. Trends Cell Biol. 2015;25:364–72.
- Nieuwland R, Sturk A. Why do cells release vesicles? Thromb Res. 2010;125(Suppl 1):S49–51.
- Baixauli F, Lopez-Otin C, Mittelbrunn M. Exosomes and autophagy: coordinated mechanisms for the maintenance of cellular fitness. Front Immunol. 2014;5:403.
- Colombo M, Raposo G, Thery C. Biogenesis, secretion, and intercellular interactions of exosomes and other extracellular vesicles. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol. 2014;30:255–89.
- 27. Sansone P, Savini C, Kurelac I, Chang Q, Amato LB, Strillacci A, Stepanova A, Iommarini L, Mastroleo C, Daly L, Galkin A, Thakur BK, Soplop N, Uryu K, Hoshino A, Norton L, Bonafe M, Cricca M, Gasparre G, Lyden D, Bromberg J. Packaging and transfer of mitochondrial DNA via exosomes regulate escape from dormancy in hormonal therapyresistant breast cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2017;114:E9066–E75.
- Vlassov AV, Magdaleno S, Setterquist R, Conrad R. Exosomes: current knowledge of their composition, biological functions, and diagnostic and

therapeutic potentials. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1820;2012:940–8.

- Thery C, Ostrowski M, Segura E. Membrane vesicles as conveyors of immune responses. Nat Rev Immunol. 2009;9:581–93.
- Alexander M, Hu R, Runtsch MC, Kagele DA, Mosbruger TL, Tolmachova T, Seabra MC, Round JL, Ward DM, O'Connell RM. Exosome-delivered microRNAs modulate the inflammatory response to endotoxin. Nat Commun. 2015;6:7321.
- 31. Anderson JD, Johansson HJ, Graham CS, Vesterlund M, Pham MT, Bramlett CS, Montgomery EN, Mellema MS, Bardini RL, Contreras Z, Hoon M, Bauer G, Fink KD, Fury B, Hendrix KJ, Chedin F, El-Andaloussi S, Hwang B, Mulligan MS, Lehtio J, Nolta JA. Comprehensive proteomic analysis of mesenchymal stem cell exosomes reveals modulation of angiogenesis via nuclear factor-KappaB Signaling. Stem Cells. 2016;34:601–13.
- Rani S, Ritter T. The exosome a naturally secreted nanoparticle and its application to wound healing. Adv Mater. 2016;28:5542–52.
- 33. Lotvall J, Hill AF, Hochberg F, Buzas EI, Di VD, Gardiner C, Gho YS, Kurochkin IV, Mathivanan S, Quesenberry P, Sahoo S, Tahara H, Wauben MH, Witwer KW, Thery C. Minimal experimental requirements for definition of extracellular vesicles and their functions: a position statement from the International Society for Extracellular Vesicles. J Extracell Vesicles. 2014;3:26913.
- 34. Sluijter JPG, Davidson SM, Boulanger CM, Iren BE, de Kleijn DPV, Engel FB, Giricz Z, Hausenloy DJ, Kishore R, Lecour S, Leor J, Madonna R, Perrino C, Prunier F, Sahoo S, Schiffelers RM, Schulz R, Van Laake LW, Ytrehus K, Ferdinandy P. Extracellular vesicles in diagnostics and therapy of the ischaemic heart: position paper from the Working Group on Cellular Biology of the Heart of the European Society of Cardiology. Cardiovasc Res. 2018;114(1):19–34.
- 35. Van Deun J, Mestdagh P, Sormunen R, Cocquyt V, Vermaelen K, Vandesompele J, Bracke M, De Wever O, Hendrix A. The impact of disparate isolation methods for extracellular vesicles on downstream RNA profiling. J Extracell Vesicles. 2014;3(1):24858. https://doi.org/10.3402/jev.v3.24858.
- Taylor DD, Shah S. Methods of isolating extracellular vesicles impact down-stream analyses of their cargoes. Methods. 2015;87:3–10.
- Linares R, Tan S, Gounou C, Arraud N, Brisson AR. High-speed centrifugation induces aggregation of extracellular vesicles. J Extracell Vesicles. 2015;4:29509.
- Böing AN, van der Pol E, Grootemaat AE, Coumans FA, Sturk A, Nieuwland R. Single-step isolation of extracellular vesicles by size-exclusion chromatography. J Extracell Vesicles. 2014;3:23430.
- 39. Benedikter BJ, Bouwman FG, Vajen T, Heinzmann ACA, Grauls G, Mariman EC, Wouters EFM, Savelkoul PH, Lopez-Iglesias C, Koenen RR, Rohde GGU, Stassen FRM. Ultrafiltration combined with

size exclusion chromatography efficiently isolates extracellular vesicles from cell culture media for compositional and functional studies. Sci Rep. 2017;7:15297.

- 40. Gamez-Valero A, Monguio-Tortajada M, Carreras-Planella L, Franquesa M, Beyer K, Borras FE. Sizeexclusion chromatography-based isolation minimally alters extracellular vesicles' characteristics compared to precipitating agents. Sci Rep. 2016;6:33641.
- 41. Cruz FF, Rocco PRM. Stem-cell extracellular vesicles and lung repair. Stem Cell Investig. 2017;4:78.
- 42. Doorn J, Moll G, Le Blanc K, van Blitterswijk C, de Boer J. Therapeutic applications of mesenchymal stromal cells: paracrine effects and potential improvements. Tissue Eng Part B Rev. 2012;18:101–15.
- 43. Yang J, Zhou W, Zheng W, Ma Y, Lin L, Tang T, Liu J, Yu J, Zhou X, Hu J. Effects of myocardial transplantation of marrow mesenchymal stem cells transfected with vascular endothelial growth factor for the improvement of heart function and angiogenesis after myocardial infarction. Cardiology. 2007;107:17–29.
- 44. Zhao SL, Zhang YJ, Li MH, Zhang XL, Chen SL. Mesenchymal stem cells with overexpression of midkine enhance cell survival and attenuate cardiac dysfunction in a rat model of myocardial infarction. Stem Cell Res Ther. 2014;5:37.
- 45. Madonna R, Taylor DA, Geng YJ, De CR, Shelat H, Perin EC, Willerson JT. Transplantation of mesenchymal cells rejuvenated by the overexpression of telomerase and myocardin promotes revascularization and tissue repair in a murine model of hindlimb ischemia. Circ Res. 2013;113:902–14.
- 46. Wang X, Zhao T, Huang W, Wang T, Qian J, Xu M, Kranias EG, Wang Y, Fan GC. Hsp20-engineered mesenchymal stem cells are resistant to oxidative stress via enhanced activation of Akt and increased secretion of growth factors. Stem Cells. 2009;27:3021–31.
- 47. Stubbs SL, Hsiao ST, Peshavariya HM, Lim SY, Dusting GJ, Dilley RJ. Hypoxic preconditioning enhances survival of human adipose-derived stem cells and conditions endothelial cells in vitro. Stem Cells Dev. 2012;21:1887–96.
- 48. Beegle J, Lakatos K, Kalomoiris S, Stewart H, Isseroff RR, Nolta JA, Fierro FA. Hypoxic preconditioning of mesenchymal stromal cells induces metabolic changes, enhances survival, and promotes cell retention in vivo. Stem Cells. 2015;33:1818–28.
- 49. Zhang W, Liu L, Huo Y, Yang Y, Wang Y. Hypoxiapretreated human MSCs attenuate acute kidney injury through enhanced angiogenic and antioxidative capacities. Biomed Res Int. 2014;2014:462472.
- Kang S, Kim SM, Sung JH. Cellular and molecular stimulation of adipose-derived stem cells under hypoxia. Cell Biol Int. 2014;38:553–62.
- 51. Bader AM, Klose K, Bieback K, Korinth D, Schneider M, Seifert M, Choi YH, Kurtz A, Falk V, Stamm C. Hypoxic preconditioning increases survival and pro-angiogenic capacity of human cord blood mesenchymal stromal cells in vitro. PLoS One. 2015;10:e0138477.

- 52. Ceradini DJ, Kulkarni AR, Callaghan MJ, Tepper OM, Bastidas N, Kleinman ME, Capla JM, Galiano RD, Levine JP, Gurtner GC. Progenitor cell trafficking is regulated by hypoxic gradients through HIF-1 induction of SDF-1. Nat Med. 2004;10:858–64.
- Lee JH, Yoon YM, Lee SH. Hypoxic preconditioning promotes the bioactivities of mesenchymal stem cells via the HIF-1alpha-GRP78-Akt axis. Int J Mol Sci. 2017;18(6):E1320.
- 54. Li JH, Zhang N, Wang JA. Improved anti-apoptotic and anti-remodeling potency of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells by anoxic pre-conditioning in diabetic cardiomyopathy. J Endocrinol Invest. 2008;31:103–10.
- Uemura R, Xu M, Ahmad N, Ashraf M. Bone marrow stem cells prevent left ventricular remodeling of ischemic heart through paracrine signaling. Circ Res. 2006;98:1414–21.
- Chandel NS, Maltepe E, Goldwasser E, Mathieu CE, Simon MC, Schumacker PT. Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species trigger hypoxia-induced transcription. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1998;95:11715–20.
- 57. Carriere A, Ebrahimian TG, Dehez S, Auge N, Joffre C, Andre M, Arnal S, Duriez M, Barreau C, Arnaud E, Fernandez Y, Planat-Benard V, Levy B, Penicaud L, Silvestre JS, Casteilla L. Preconditioning by mitochondrial reactive oxygen species improves the proangiogenic potential of adipose-derived cells-based therapy. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2009;29:1093–9.
- 58. Hoke NN, Salloum FN, Kass DA, Das A, Kukreja RC. Preconditioning by phosphodiesterase-5 inhibition improves therapeutic efficacy of adipose-derived stem cells following myocardial infarction in mice. Stem Cells. 2012;30:326–35.
- Najafi R, Sharifi AM. Deferoxamine preconditioning potentiates mesenchymal stem cell homing in vitro and in streptozotocin-diabetic rats. Expert Opin Biol Ther. 2013;13:959–72.
- Tsai CC, Yew TL, Yang DC, Huang WH, Hung SC. Benefits of hypoxic culture on bone marrow multipotent stromal cells. Am J Blood Res. 2012;2:148–59.
- 61. Li N, Yang YJ, Qian HY, Li Q, Zhang Q, Li XD, Dong QT, Xu H, Song L, Zhang H. Intravenous administration of atorvastatin-pretreated mesenchymal stem cells improves cardiac performance after acute myocardial infarction: role of CXCR4. Am J Transl Res. 2015;7:1058–70.
- 62. Cui X, Wang H, Guo H, Wang C, Ao H, Liu X, Tan YZ. Transplantation of mesenchymal stem cells preconditioned with diazoxide, a mitochondrial ATPsensitive potassium channel opener, promotes repair of myocardial infarction in rats. Tohoku J Exp Med. 2010;220:139–47.
- 63. Liu J, Zhu P, Song P, Xiong W, Chen H, Peng W, Wang S, Li S, Fu Z, Wang Y, Wang H. Pretreatment of adipose derived stem cells with curcumin facilitates myocardial recovery via antiapoptosis and angiogenesis. Stem Cells Int. 2015;2015:638153.

- 64. Pasha Z, Wang Y, Sheikh R, Zhang D, Zhao T, Ashraf M. Preconditioning enhances cell survival and differentiation of stem cells during transplantation in infarcted myocardium. Cardiovasc Res. 2008;77:134–42.
- 65. Hahn JY, Cho HJ, Kang HJ, Kim TS, Kim MH, Chung JH, Bae JW, Oh BH, Park YB, Kim HS. Pre-treatment of mesenchymal stem cells with a combination of growth factors enhances gap junction formation, cyto-protective effect on cardiomyocytes, and therapeutic efficacy for myocardial infarction. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2008;51:933–43.
- 66. Herrmann JL, Wang Y, Abarbanell AM, Weil BR, Tan J, Meldrum DR. Preconditioning mesenchymal stem cells with transforming growth factor-alpha improves mesenchymal stem cell-mediated cardioprotection. Shock. 2010;33:24–30.
- 67. Rota C, Imberti B, Pozzobon M, Piccoli M, De CP, Atala A, Gagliardini E, Xinaris C, Benedetti V, Fabricio AS, Squarcina E, Abbate M, Benigni A, Remuzzi G, Morigi M. Human amniotic fluid stem cell preconditioning improves their regenerative potential. Stem Cells Dev. 2012;21:1911–23.
- 68. Xinaris C, Morigi M, Benedetti V, Imberti B, Fabricio AS, Squarcina E, Benigni A, Gagliardini E, Remuzzi G. A novel strategy to enhance mesenchymal stem cell migration capacity and promote tissue repair in an injury specific fashion. Cell Transplant. 2013;22:423–36.
- 69. Heo SC, Jeon ES, Lee IH, Kim HS, Kim MB, Kim JH. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha-activated human adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells accelerate cutaneous wound healing through paracrine mechanisms. J Invest Dermatol. 2011;131:1559–67.
- Xu B, Luo Y, Liu Y, Li BY, Wang Y. Platelet-derived growth factor-BB enhances MSC-mediated cardioprotection via suppression of miR-320 expression. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2015;308:H980–H9.
- Tamama K, Kawasaki H, Wells A. Epidermal growth factor (EGF) treatment on multipotential stromal cells (MSCs). Possible enhancement of therapeutic potential of MSC. J Biomed Biotechnol. 2010;2010:795385.
- Tamama K, Barbeau DJ. Early growth response genes signaling supports strong paracrine capability of mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells Int. 2012;2012:428403.
- 73. Tamama K, Fan VH, Griffith LG, Blair HC, Wells A. Epidermal growth factor as a candidate for ex vivo expansion of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells. 2006;24:686–95.
- 74. Baer PC, Schubert R, Bereiter-Hahn J, Plosser M, Geiger H. Expression of a functional epidermal growth factor receptor on human adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells and its signaling mechanism. Eur J Cell Biol. 2009;88:273–83.
- Kerpedjieva SS, Kim DS, Barbeau DJ, Tamama K. EGFR ligands drive multipotential stromal cells to produce multiple growth factors and cyto-kines via early growth response-1. Stem Cells Dev. 2012;21:2541–51.

- Lee MJ, Kim J, Kim MY, Bae YS, Ryu SH, Lee TG, Kim JH. Proteomic analysis of tumor necrosis factoralpha-induced secretome of human adipose tissuederived mesenchymal stem cells. J Proteome Res. 2010;9:1754–62.
- Chistiakov DA, Chekhonin VP. Extracellular vesicles shed by glioma cells: pathogenic role and clinical value. Tumour Biol. 2014;35:8425–38.
- Quesenberry PJ, Goldberg LR, Aliotta JM, Dooner MS, Pereira MG, Wen S, Camussi G. Cellular phenotype and extracellular vesicles: basic and clinical considerations. Stem Cells Dev. 2014;23:1429–36.
- Bayraktar R, Van RK, Calin GA. Cell-to-cell communication: microRNAs as hormones. Mol Oncol. 2017;11:1673–86.
- Devhare PB, Ray RB. Extracellular vesicles: novel mediator for cell to cell communications in liver pathogenesis. Mol Aspects Med. 2018;60:115–22.
- Record M, Carayon K, Poirot M, Silvente-Poirot S. Exosomes as new vesicular lipid transporters involved in cell-cell communication and various pathophysiologies. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2014;1841:108–20.
- 82. Salomon C, Ryan J, Sobrevia L, Kobayashi M, Ashman K, Mitchell M, Rice GE. Exosomal signaling during hypoxia mediates microvascular endothelial cell migration and vasculogenesis. PLoS One. 2013;8:e68451.
- King HW, Michael MZ, Gleadle JM. Hypoxic enhancement of exosome release by breast cancer cells. BMC Cancer. 2012;12:421.
- 84. Hedlund M, Nagaeva O, Kargl D, Baranov V, Mincheva-Nilsson L. Thermal- and oxidative stress causes enhanced release of NKG2D ligand-bearing immunosuppressive exosomes in leukemia/lymphoma T and B cells. PLoS One. 2011;6:e16899.
- 85. Cosme J, Guo H, Hadipour-Lakmehsari S, Emili A, Gramolini AO. Hypoxia-induced changes in the fibroblast secretome, exosome, and wholecell proteome using cultured, cardiac-derived cells isolated from neonatal mice. J Proteome Res. 2017;16:2836–47.
- 86. Cui GH, Wu J, Mou FF, Xie WH, Wang FB, Wang QL, Fang J, Xu YW, Dong YR, Liu JR, Guo HD. Exosomes derived from hypoxia-preconditioned mesenchymal stromal cells ameliorate cognitive decline by rescuing synaptic dysfunction and regulating inflammatory responses in APP/PS1 mice. FASEB J. 2018;32(2):654–68.
- 87. Ge XT, Lei P, Wang HC, Zhang AL, Han ZL, Chen X, Li SH, Jiang RC, Kang CS, Zhang JN. miR-21 improves the neurological outcome after traumatic brain injury in rats. Sci Rep. 2014;4:6718.
- 88. Zhu J, Lu K, Zhang N, Zhao Y, Ma Q, Shen J, Lin Y, Xiang P, Tang Y, Hu X, Chen J, Zhu W, Webster KA, Wang J, Yu H. Myocardial reparative functions of exosomes from mesenchymal stem cells are enhanced by hypoxia treatment of the cells via transferring microRNA-210 in an nSMase2-dependent way. Artif Cells Nanomed Biotechnol. 2017;16:1–12.

- Feng Y, Huang W, Wani M, Yu X, Ashraf M. Ischemic preconditioning potentiates the protective effect of stem cells through secretion of exosomes by targeting Mecp2 via miR-22. PLoS One. 2014;9:e88685.
- 90. Borosch S, Dahmen E, Beckers C, Stoppe C, Buhl EM, Denecke B, Goetzenich A, Kraemer S. Characterization of extracellular vesicles derived from cardiac cells in an in vitro model of preconditioning. J Extracell Vesicles. 2017;6(1):1390391.
- Yang Y, Li Y, Chen X, Cheng X, Liao Y, Yu X. Exosomal transfer of miR-30a between cardiomy-ocytes regulates autophagy after hypoxia. J Mol Med (Berl). 2016;94:711–24.
- 92. Gonzalez-King H, Garcia NA, Ontoria-Oviedo I, Ciria M, Montero JA, Sepulveda P. Hypoxia inducible factor-1alpha potentiates jagged 1-mediated angiogenesis by mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes. Stem Cells. 2017;35:1747–59.

- 93. Lu Z, Chen Y, Dunstan C, Roohani-Esfahani S, Zreiqat H. Priming adipose stem cells with tumor necrosis factor-alpha preconditioning potentiates their exosome efficacy for bone regeneration. Tissue Eng Part A. 2017;23:1212–20.
- 94. Kilpinen L, Impola U, Sankkila L, Ritamo I, Aatonen M, Kilpinen S, Tuimala J, Valmu L, Levijoki J, Finckenberg P, Siljander P, Kankuri E, Mervaala E, Laitinen S. Extracellular membrane vesicles from umbilical cord blood-derived MSC protect against ischemic acute kidney injury, a feature that is lost after inflammatory conditioning. J Extracell Vesicles. 2013;2:21927.
- 95. Bjørge IM, Kim SY, Mano JF, Kalionis B, Chrzanowski W. Extracellular vesicles, exosomes and shedding vesicles in regenerative medicine - a new paradigm for tissue repair. Biomater Sci. 2018;6:60–78.



11

Anti-Biofilm Activity of Viruses, Bacteria, Fungi, and Lichens: Mechanisms and Impact on Clinical Practice

Oana Săndulescu, Anca Streinu-Cercel, Mihai Săndulescu, and Adrian Streinu-Cercel

11.1 Introduction

Biofilms are pluricellular structures displaying sophisticated regulatory mechanisms that allow the survival of bacteria or fungi in hostile environments such as those found in human hosts during clinical infection. When adopting a sessile lifestyle, bacteria gain the adaptive ability to tolerate a wide range of antimicrobials, becoming increasingly resilient. In such cases, antimicrobial treatment may fail not necessarily due to resistance but rather through tolerance and target evasion [1, 2]. Biofilms have different characteristics in Grampositive [3] and Gram-negative germs [4, 5] and, consequently, different mechanism may be required to fight biofilm-driven infections.

In the clinic, there is an acute need to find new options for the treatment of biofilm-driven infections, and research on biofilm-active agents is well underway. Theoretically, if the three-

Department of Infectious Diseases I, National Institute for Infectious Diseases "Prof. Dr. Matei Balş", Carol Davila University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Bucharest, Romania e-mail: oana.sandulescu@umfcd.ro; anca_sc@germs.ro; astreinucercel@germs.ro

M. Săndulescu

Department of Implant Prosthetic Therapy, Carol Davila University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Bucharest, Romania e-mail: mihai.sandulescu@umfcd.ro dimensional biofilm structure is specifically targeted, the remaining planktonic cells can be easily reached by common antimicrobials, and the infectious process can thus be stopped. However, despite the abundant research on this topic, the transition from bench to bedside is not always as straightforward. Through this chapter, we aim to characterize the existing body of knowledge on the topic of natural anti-biofilm agents, by reviewing the specific literature, in order to identify the main types of agents, their mechanisms and their potential clinical role and impact on medical practice.

11.2 Viruses

A well-described category of natural anti-biofilm agents is that of bacteriophages, which are viruses infecting bacterial cells and either destroying these bacterial cells or circumventing their ability to form biofilms.

As bacteriophages display target specificity, different bacteriophages target different bacteria. Most of the literature on this topic specifically discusses bacterial lysis, but a lot of recent work has also focused on their specific ability to inhibit biofilm formation or to contribute to the disruption of mature biofilm. As bacteriophages play a wide range of roles, they can also be involved in biofilm-building activities, by contributing to polymer assembly, and increasing the amount of

O. Săndulescu (⊠) · A. Streinu-Cercel

A. Streinu-Cercel

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

D. Duscher, M. A. Shiffman (eds.), *Regenerative Medicine and Plastic Surgery*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19958-6_11

extracellular DNA as is the case with *Pseudomonas aeruginosa's* internal phage Pf [6]. This subchapter will however focus on the antibiofilm properties of bacteriophages.

One of the best-characterized actions of bacteriophages is bacterial lysis, which leads to a decrease in bacterial load, similar to the mechanisms of other antimicrobial agents. However, particularly in infections with Gram-negative germs, lysis can lead to release of endotoxin [7], specifically its lipid A component [8], potentially associating exaggerated proinflammatory cytokine responses; Escherichia coli, for example, can display on its surface up to 10⁶ lipid A residues [9] and induce a strong host response. Therefore, the use of lysis-deficient bacteriophages has been proposed as option for decreasing endotoxin release [8], and promising results have been shown in a murine peritonitis model [10]. Nevertheless recent data suggest that in E. coli clinical isolates the release of endotoxin with the use of therapeutic virulent phages (LM33_P1 and 536_P1) may be comparable to that associated with amikacin use, and two- to fourfold lower compared to carbapenem (specifically, imipenem) use [11].

Bacteriophage mixtures have been studied in clinical trials and are already marketed in countries such as Georgia, or used as experimental adjunctive local treatment in patients who fail conventional antimicrobial therapy in a few other countries, including Romania [12–15] and Poland [7], where most of the in vitro and clinical experience is available for Gram-positives, but an extending body of work also addresses Gramnegatives [7].

Apart from bacteriophage mixtures, or cocktails, specific bacteriophage-encoded enzymes have been studied for the anti-biofilm activity. Among these, depolymerases have been, until recently, by far the best studied, and are known for their activity against carbohydrates such as those found in capsular polysaccharides and extracellular polymeric substances (EPS). A thorough review by Pires et al. [16] classified depolymerases into three main categories: O-glycosyl hydrolases (divided into six groups, among which three are more frequently encoun-

tered: sialidases or neuraminidases, levanases, and peptidases, and three are less common: xylosidases, dextranases, and rhamnosidases), polysaccharide lyases (divided into three groups: hyaluronate lyases, alginate lyases, and pectin/ pectate lyases), and other types of enzymes, such as lipases. A large number of the described depolymerases are encoded by bacteriophages from the Caudovirales order, and are constituents of the tail structure. For example, multiple types of tail fiber and tailspike proteins have been reported to have depolymerase, or, specifically, endoglycosidase activity [17]. The roles that depolymerases play in biofilm control are twofold. First, they can degrade the EPS and decrease the viscosity of the biofilm matrix, leading to better diffusion of both bacteriophages and other antimicrobials in the bacterial biomass. Second, they can degrade capsular polysaccharides and facilitate bacteriophage adsorption and entry into bacterial cells [17], where bacteriophage-induced bacterial lysis can now occur. Therefore, depolymerases can be further studied for prospective application in clinical practice either as part of bacteriophage therapy or, potentially, as purified enzyme extracts or recombinant depolymerases. Further data is needed to ascertain the degree to which they retain their biological activity under in vivo conditions, but a number of studies do point towards a preserved activity of recombinant enzymes in decreasing virulence in E. coli K1 [18, 19]. Specific examples of potential clinical applications include alginate lyase in the reduction of exopolysaccharides produced by P. aeruginosa mucoid strains from patients with cystic fibrosis [20, 21], or CHAPK murein peptidase (cysteine, histidine-dependent amido hydrolase/peptidase) derived from anti-staphylococcal bacteriophage Κ, which inhibits biofilm formation and disrupts mature methicillin-resistant S. aureus (MRSA) biofilm [22]. The K bacteriophage-derived modified murein hydrolase domain has also been combined in vitro with a cell wall-binding domain derived from lysostaphin, to generate the chimeric protein P128, which was able to induce a 95.5% reduction in mature 48-h biofilm by S. aureus isolates from chronic rhinosinusitis [23].

Lysozymes such as Cpl-1 and Cpl-7 have shown anti-biofilm activity on *Streptococcus pneumoniae*, *S. pseudopneumoniae*, and *S. oralis* 14–16-h biofilms [24].

Bacteriophage-encoded endolysins have long been described as potential antimicrobial agents, through their lytic activity resulting from the hydrolysis of peptidoglycan layers. Recent data also point towards their potential role as anti-biofilm agents, again, either as part of bacteriophage therapy or through their administration as purified extracts, and a notable example is that of endolysin MR-10, which has been shown to decrease bacterial biomass in mature 7-day-old MRSA biofilm, and has been proposed for its potential use in sequential treatment, following initial administration of an antimicrobial (specifically, minocycline) [25]. Another study also demonstrated the activity of nine other endolysins on S. aureus mature 24-h biofilm; among these recombinant peptidoglycan hydrolases containing the SH3b domains, four appeared highly active (LysK, lysostaphin, Twort, phiSH2), while others demonstrated a concentration-dependent activity (80a, phi11, P68, 2638A, and WMY) [26]. Further data on endolysins show that LysH5 is also active on mature 24-h S. aureus and S. epidermidis biofilms, albeit at a lower extent when compared to lysostaphin; furthermore, LysH5 also targets persister cells, and does not lead to biofilm induction when administered at sub-inhibitory concentrations [27]. By comparison, SAP-2 is as efficient as lysostaphin on 2-day mature S. aureus biofilm [28]. PlyGRCS also induces a rapid decrease in S. aureus mature 24-h biofilm, with a reduction of the biomass to half in as little as 1 h [29].

As described above, peptidoglycan hydrolases have been intensely studied for their potential role in the management of Gram-positive biofilmrelated infections. The structural characteristics of Gram-negative germs make them less susceptible to endolysins, as their outer membrane efficiently covers the peptidoglycan layer. Different strategies for facilitating the action of endolysins on Gram-negative bacteria have been assessed; an example is pretreatment with outer membrane permeabilizers, including chelators, such as ethylene diamine tetraacetic acid disodium salt dihydrate (EDTA), or polycationic agents, such as polymyxins, aminoglycosides, or lysine polymers [30], but recombinant proteins such as LysPA26 may also display stand-alone anti-biofilm activity on *P. aeruginosa* [31].

Apart from the already well-described bacteriophage-derived enzymes, other types of bacteriophage proteins, specifically tail tubular proteins such as TTPAgp31 from Klebsiella pneumoniae bacteriophage KP32 and TTPAgp44 from K. pneumoniae bacteriophage KP34 have been shown to display dual function, with structural and enzymatic activity alike [7]. In a recent study, Brzozowska et al. (2017) [7] have shown that TTPAgp31 degrades multiple types of K. pneumoniae polysaccharides, including capsular, cell-free (slime), and lipo-polysaccharides through an α -1,4-glucosidase activity, and displays activity on 20-h mature biofilm, decreasing the biomass by 80% for K. pneumoniae, 50% for S. aureus, and 60% for Enterococcus faecalis, while TTPAgp44 hydrolyzes E. faecium capsular polysaccharides through a glucohydrolase-like activity and also displays activity on mature 20-h biofilm, reducing the bacterial biomass by 80% for E. faecium, 40% for P. aeruginosa, and 40% for Bacillus subtilis.

11.3 Bacteria

In natural environments, bacteria often come into contact with each other, and they can display a complex range of interactions, from collaborating within microbial consortia, to competing with each other for scavenging resources, or even directly attacking each other by synthetizing specific molecules, bioactive peptides, or by secondary metabolites.

LytA, an *N*-acetylmuramoyl-L-alanine amidase, is a pneumococcal autolysin which, when purified and administered under in vitro conditions, decreases pneumococcal biofilm biomass by 80%, and also displays synergy with the Cpl-1 bacteriophage-derived lysozyme [24]. 116

Bacillus aneurinolyticus, or *Bacillus brevis*, produce a wide array of secondary metabolites. Among these, tyrocidines TrcA, TrcB, and gramicidin S significantly inhibit biofilm formation by *C. albicans*, while gramicidin S is also able to fully eradicate 24-h mature biofilm, although all studied tyrocidines (TrcA, TrcB, TrcC, TpcC, and PhcA) display some bactericidal effect on mature biofilm, in the range of 28–74% reduction [32]. When looking specifically at TrcA, TrcB, and TrcC, they eradicate 55–74% of mature *C. albicans* biofilms, and they display synergy with caspofungin and amphotericin B [32].

Bacillus safensis, a soil-dwelling germ, can also inhibit biofilm formation and impair yeastto-hypha transition in *C. albicans*; it also inhibits biofilm formation and capsule formation by *Cryptococcus neoformans*, potentially by impacting the accumulation of glucuronoxylomannan and its organization into a matrix [33].

P. aeruginosa displays an anti-biofilm effect on *Aspergillus fumigatus* through the production of pyoverdine, which acts as a siderophore, decreasing the iron concentrations and inducing iron starvation in *A. fumigatus* [34]. Extracellular products such as polysaccharides from *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 can disperse mature 24-h *S. epidermidis* biofilm [35]. Furthermore, anti-biofilm effects of either planktonic or biofilm-associated polysaccharide extracts or Gram-negative lipopolysaccharides have also been demonstrated for a wider range of bacteria-bacteria interactions, whereby one germ's products or components inhibit the other's biofilm mode of growth [36].

Kolodkin-Gal et al. [37] have shown that biofilm-grown Bacillus subtilis produces D-amino acids once the biofilm reaches a mature state (5-8 days growth). Among these D-amino acids, a spontaneously occurring mixture of D-methionine, D-leucine, D-tyrosine, and D-tryptophan is able to disperse mature biofilm and also, when extracted and purified, it also inhibits biofilm formation. The mixture's antibiofilm activity is explained through the incorporation of these biofilm-disassembling D-amino acids into the cell wall on the third day of growth. Once incorporated, they subsequently impair the anchoring into the cell wall of the amyloid fibers formed by the TasA protein, which is the main component of *B. subtilis* biofilms, along with exopolysaccharides [38]. The study by Kolodkin-Gal et al. [37] also tested the efficacy of this mixture of D-amino acids in inhibiting biofilm by other bacterial species, and they found that both D-tyrosine and the D-amino acid mixture were able to prevent biofilm formation by *S. aureus* and *P. aeruginosa*.

Oral microbiota may play a role in preventing dental caries, by inhibiting biofilm formation by Streptococcus mutans. Multiple species of lactobacilli have been studied for their anti-biofilm properties, either through coculturing, administration of cell-free supernatant, or extraction of bacterial products such as bacteriocins. For example, Ahn et al. have shown that Lactobacillus plantarum inhibits the production of exopolysaccharide from sucrose by S. mutans [39], while Wasfi et al. have shown that four Lactobacillus species inhibit biofilm formation, namely L. salivarius, L. reuteri, L. plantarum subspecies plantarum, and L. casei subspecies casei, while only three of these are also active on mature overnight S. mutans biofilm: L. salivarius, L. reuteri, and L. plantarum subspecies plantarum, through the same mechanism of reducing exopolysaccharide formation [40].

Salivary isolates of L. paracasei, L. rhamnosus, and L. fermentum also inhibit C. albicans biofilm formation through their production of exometabolites and organic acids, both when cocultured with the fungi and when administered as mature 24-h growth supernatant [41]. Matsubara et al. have also shown that L. rhamnosus, L casei, and L. acidophilus inhibit biofilm formation and are active on mature C. albicans biofilm, while also hindering its yeast-to-hyphae differentiation, which is an important anti-virulence effect [42], and this was also demonstrated by Vilela et al. specifically for L. acidophilus, both in vitro and in an experimental candidiasis model of Galleria mellonella [43]. The supernatant derived from certain probiotic lactobacilli (Lactobacillus gasseri and Lactobacillus rhamnosus) can inhibit biofilm formation and disrupt mature 24-h biofilm of Candida non-albicans biofilms, specifically C. tropicalis, C. krusei, and *C. parapsilosis*, both alone and in a mixed plurispecies biofilm model [44].

Mixed biofilms can be encountered in clinical practice, and Krzyściak et al. [45] have studied the dental caries biofilm, showing that the presence of *S. mutans* increases the number of *C. albicans* colonies and increases the overall biofilm mass. They also showed that coculturing with *Lactobacillus salivarius* significantly decreased biofilm formation by *S. mutans* and *C. albicans* alone, or in mixed biofilms.

L. fermentum was used for purification of a bacteriocin, namely fermencin SD11, which displays antimicrobial activity on oral bacteria such as S. mutans, S. sobrinus, periopathogenic bacteria such as A. actinomycetemcomitans, Fusobacterium nucleatum, and Porphyromonas gingivalis, as well as C. albicans, but has not yet been further studied for a potential anti-biofilm activity [46]. However, other bacteriocins have been shown to display anti-biofilm properties, as is the case with sonorensin, produced by a marine isolate of Bacillus sonorensis, MT93, which is bactericidal to both metabolically active and dormant S. aureus and E. *coli* strains, and also inhibits biofilm formation by S. aureus [47]. Specific strains of L. fermentum have also been shown to produce bacteriocins able to inhibit biofilm formation by P. aeruginosa PAO-1 [48], and L. kunkeei also inhibits biofilm formation by *P. aeruginosa* and attenuates infection in a Galleria mellonella model [49]. When extracted or purified for standalone administration, bacteriocins can be considered as postbiotics, as they are bacterial products or by-products of probiotic bacterial metabolism [50].

Okuda et al. [51] have studied two class I bacteriocins (lantibiotics): nisin A produced by *Lactococcus lactis* and nukacin ISK-1 produced by *Staphylococcus warneri* ISK-1, and a class II bacteriocin, lacticin Q, produced by *Lactococcus lactis* QU 5. In their study, only nisin A and lacticin Q were bactericidal on mature 24-h biofilm-embedded *S. aureus*, and their activity could be explained by their pore-forming potential, which is not present for nukacin ISK-1. However, none of the tested bacteriocins were able to completely eradicate mature biofilm in this study.

A bacteriocin produced by *L. plantarum* ST8SH displayed potent anti-biofilm activity on *Listeria monocytogenes* strains, and synergy with vancomycin [52]. Another *L. plantarum* isolate (CIRM653) decreased 24-h mature *K. pneumoniae* biofilm by 77.8%, leading to bacterial dispersal, but also to an increased rate of gastro-intestinal colonization by *K. pneumoniae* in a murine model [53].

Another class of bacteriocins, sactibiotics, are small antimicrobial peptides. Such an example is hyicin 4244, produced by *Staphylococcus hyicus* 4244, which showed strong inhibition of biofilm formation, and strong activity on 24-h mature biofilm produced by clinical isolates of *S. aureus* and *S. saprophyticus* [54].

Bifidobacteria have also been studied for their potential anti-biofilm activity, albeit to a lesser extent than lactobacilli. Kim et al. have shown that *Bifidobacterium longum* cell extracts can inhibit biofilm formation by enterohemorrhagic *E. coli* O157:H7 by 36%, and attenuate its virulence in a *Caenorhabditis elegans* model [55],

Among cyanobacteria, *Spirulina platensis* can display antimicrobial [56] and antifungal properties [57], and its methanolic exact has recently been shown to inhibit *P. aeruginosa* biofilms by decreasing the amount of EPS [56]. Furthermore, the aqueous extract of *Spirulina platensis* has been used in the biosynthesis of silver nanoparticles, which were then used to coat Foley catheters in combination with amikacin and nitrofurantoin, and displayed a complete inhibition of colonization or biofilm formation by uropathogenic *E. coli* for 14 days, in a murine model of UTI [58].

Other types of silver nanoparticles have been biosynthesized from *Streptomyces calidiresistens* supernatant, and have been shown to inhibit biofilm formation by *S. aureus*, *E. coli*, and *C. albicans*, albeit the degree of biofilm inhibition was significantly influenced by the type of *Streptomyces calidiresistens* strain used for biosynthesis [59].

Streptomyces hawaiiensis produces acyldepsipeptides (ADEPs) [60]; among these, a semi-synthetic derivative, ADEP4, binds to the ClpP protease and activates proteolysis, leading to the destruction of bacterial cells, both metabolically active and inactive, and specifically bacterial persisters [61], and its association with rifampin fully eradicated *S. aureus* biofilm in vitro and in a murine thigh infection model [61].

11.4 Fungi and Lichens

In the phylogenetic tree of life, Bacteria and Eukaryota represent different domains, each comprising multiple life forms. Fungi are part of the Eukaryota domain, and can be involved in clinical infections in humans. However, recent research has shown that some of their cell wall components or some of their secondary metabolites may display important roles in limiting infections or biofilms. Here, we will briefly describe anti-biofilm compounds isolated from either clinically relevant fungi or lichenassociated fungi.

Different members of the Penicillium genus produce different biofilm-active compounds, including the dipeptide cis-cyclo (Leucyl-Tyrosyl), which inhibits biofilm formation by S. epidermidis [62], or norlichexanthone, a nonreduced tricyclic polyketide isolated from Penicillium algidum, which inhibits biofilm formation and virulence traits such as neutrophil lysis by MRSA [63]. Other members of this genus produce shearinines, secondary metabolites that can inhibit yeast-to-hyphae transition and biofilm formation, and disrupt 48-h mature biofilm in C. albicans, while also displaying synergy with amphotericin B [64]. The hyphal transition and biofilm formation can also be inhibited by other alkaloid and polyketide secondary fungal metabolites, waikialoid A and waikialide A, produced by members of the Aspergillus genus; however, these metabolites are not active on mature biofilm [65].

Mannoprotein is a surfactant which has been extracted from *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* cell wall. Mannoprotein does not possess antimicrobial activity on *S. aureus* or *S. epidermidis* but it does inhibit biofilm formation, and disrupt mature staphylococcal biofilms, potentially by influencing cell surface hydrophobicity [66].

Metabolites from *Plectosphaerella cucumerina* such as patulin and emodin can specifically inhibit biofilm formation, disrupt mature 24-h biofilm, and inhibit the production of virulence factors such as protease, elastase, and pyocyanin, by *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 without displaying antibacterial activity [67]. Terreic acid, a secondary metabolite of *Aspergillus terreus*, can inhibit biofilm formation by *E. coli* [68].

Farnesol, a sesquiterpene from *C. albicans* or *C. dubliniensis*, can inhibit biofilm formation by other *Candida* isolates [69], but also by *Pneumocystis jirovecii* [69, 70], *S. epidermidis*, or *S. mutans* [69]. Other fungi-derived terpenes have also been reported to display anti-biofilm activity, including guignardone N and guignardic acid, produced by *Guignardia* spp., which display synergy with fluconazole in the inhibition of *C. albicans* biofilm [69, 71].

Lichens have also been studied for their capacity to produce anti-biofilm compounds, and a recent study by Millot et al. has identified four acetone lichen extracts, from *Cladonia uncialis*, *Evernia prunastri*, *Ramalina fastigiata*, and *Xanthoparmelia conspersa*, that showed promising anti-biofilm activity on *C. albicans*, through a non-lethal effect. The main metabolites identified in the acetone extracts were squamatic acid and usnic acid, evernic acid and usnic acid, evernic acid and usnic acid, and stictic acid and usnic acid, respectively [72].

Potentially one of the best characterized secondary metabolites of licheni-associated fungi, usnic acid has been studied for its anti-biofilm properties. It inhibits biofilms by most group A streptococci [73], S. aureus strains isolated from patients with cystic fibrosis [74], C. albicans [75], C. orthopsilosis [76], but not by C. krusei [77], while data for *C. parapsilosis* is contradictory [77]. It has been loaded onto magnetic nanoparticles [78], carboxylated poly(L-lactide) microparticles used for disrupting 24-h mature S. epidermidis biofilm [79], and used for coating magnetic polylactic-co-glycolic acid-polyvinyl alcohol (PLGA-PVA) microsphere thin films [80], and used for surface coating of zirconium dioxide bearing and barium sulfate bearing bone cement, to prevent biofilm formation by MRSA [81]; however, it failed to inhibit biofilm formation by *S. aureus* when used loaded onto polyurethane surfaces [82].

Retigeric acid B, a pentacyclic triterpenoid isolated from the lichen *Lobaria kurokawae*, synergistically attenuates yeast-to-hyphae transition and biofilm formation by *C. albicans*, together with fluconazole [83].

Evernic acid, a secondary metabolite isolated from lichens from the *Evernia* genus, inhibits biofilm formation and quorum sensing of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* PAO1 [84], and a similar but even stronger effect has been demonstrated by the same author group for zeaxanthin, a tetraterpenoid isolated from the *Cladonia* genus, among other lichens [85].

Pyridoxatin, a product isolated from an endolichenic fungus from the *Acremonium* genus, inhibits biofilm formation and growth of *C. albicans* by inhibiting ergosterol synthesis [86]. Diorcinol D, a diphenyl ether derivative isolated from the lichen endophytic fungus *Aspergillus versicolor*, displays synergy with fluconazole on *C. albicans* in disrupting 24-h mature biofilm, and in reversing azole resistance, potentially by inhibiting efflux pumps and ergosterol biosynthesis [87].

11.5 Conclusions

A multitude of natural compounds have been studied for their potential use as anti-biofilm agents, and promising data show effect on nascent biofilm for most substances, but also on mature biofilm for some of the studied products. However, further research is still needed for most of these compounds, as the available body of knowledge is mostly based on in vitro studies, or in vivo euarthropode, nematode, or murine models.

References

- Săndulescu O. Managing sticky situations—anti-biofilm agents. Germs. 2016;6(2):49.
- Nunez-Nunez M, Navarro MD, Palomo V, Rajendran NB, Del Toro MD, Voss A, Sharland M, Sifakis F, Tacconelli E, Rodriguez-Bano J. The methodology of

surveillance for antimicrobial resistance and healthcare-associated infections in Europe (SUSPIRE): a systematic review of publicly available information. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2018;24(2):105–9.

- Săndulescu O, Streinu-Cercel A, Săndulescu M, Neguț A, Calistru P, Berciu I, Preoțescu L, Streinu-Cercel A. Quorum sensing and biofilm formation in *Staphylococcus* species. Therap Pharmacol Clin Toxicol. 2015;19(2):45–51.
- Bleotu C, Chifiriuc M, Mircioaga D, Săndulescu O, Aldea I, Banu O, Ion D, Diaconu C, Lazar V. The influence of nutrient culture media on *Escherichia coli* adhesion and biofilm formation ability. Rom Biotechnol Lett. 2017;22(2):12483–91.
- Săndulescu O. Global distribution of antimicrobial resistance in *E. coli*. J Contemp Clin Pract. 2016;2(2):69–74.
- Secor PR, Sweere JM, Michaels LA, Malkovskiy AV, Lazzareschi D, Katznelson E, Rajadas J, Birnbaum ME, Arrigoni A, Braun KR, Evanko SP, Stevens DA, Kaminsky W, Singh PK, Parks WC, Bollyky PL. Filamentous bacteriophage promote biofilm assembly and function. Cell Host Microbe. 2015;18(5):549–59.
- Brzozowska E, Pyra A, Pawlik K, Janik M, Gorska S, Urbanska N, Drulis-Kawa Z, Gamian A. Hydrolytic activity determination of Tail Tubular Protein A of *Klebsiella pneumoniae* bacteriophages towards saccharide substrates. Sci Rep. 2017;7(1):18048.
- Colavecchio A, Goodridge LD. Phage therapy approaches to reducing pathogen persistence and transmission in animal production environments: opportunities and challenges. Microbiol Spectr. 2017;5:3. https://doi.org/10.1128/microbiolspec. PFS-0017-2017.
- Ramachandran G. Gram-positive and gram-negative bacterial toxins in sepsis: a brief review. Virulence. 2014;5(1):213–8.
- Matsuda T, Freeman TA, Hilbert DW, Duff M, Fuortes M, Stapleton PP, Daly JM. Lysis-deficient bacteriophage therapy decreases endotoxin and inflammatory mediator release and improves survival in a murine peritonitis model. Surgery. 2005;137(6):639–46.
- Dufour N, Delattre R, Ricard JD, Debarbieux L. The lysis of pathogenic *Escherichia coli* by bacteriophages releases less endotoxin yhan by beta-lactams. Clin Infect Dis. 2017;64(11):1582–8.
- Neguţ A, Streinu-Cercel A, Săndulescu O, Moţoi M, Berciu I, Popa M, Streinu-Cercel A. Bacteriophages – novel biotechnology tools available in clinical practice in Romania. Rom Biotechnol Lett. 2017;22(2):12492–5.
- Negut AC, Chifiriuc MC, Sandulescu O, Streinu-Cercel A, Oprea M, Dragulescu EC, Gheorghe I, Berciu I, Coralia B, Popa M, Otelea D, Talapan D, Dorobat O, Codita I, Popa MI. Bacteriophage-driven inhibition of biofilm formation in *Staphylococcus* strains from patients attending a Romanian reference center for infectious diseases. FEMS Microbiol Lett. 2016;363:18. pii: fnw193

- Negut AC, Sandulescu O, Popa M, Streinu-Cercel A, Alavidze Z, Berciu I, Bleotu C, Popa MI, Chifiriuc MC. Experimental approach for bacteriophage susceptibility testing of planktonic and sessile bacterial populations—study protocol. Germs. 2014;4(4):92–6.
- 15. Săndulescu O, Bleotu C, Matei L, Streinu-Cercel A, Oprea M, Drăgulescu EC, Chifiriuc MC, Rafila A, Pirici D, Tălăpan D, Dorobăţ OM, Neguţ AC, Oţelea D, Berciu I, Ion DA, Codiţă I, Calistru PI. Comparative evaluation of aggressiveness traits in staphylococcal strains from severe infections versus nasopharyngeal carriage. Microb Pathog. 2016;102:45–53.
- Pires DP, Oliveira H, Melo LD, Sillankorva S, Azeredo J. Bacteriophage-encoded depolymerases: their diversity and biotechnological applications. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol. 2016;100(5):2141–51.
- Yan J, Mao J, Xie J. Bacteriophage polysaccharide depolymerases and biomedical applications. Bio Drugs. 2014;28(3):265–74.
- Mushtaq N, Redpath MB, Luzio JP, Taylor PW. Prevention and cure of systemic *Escherichia coli* K1 infection by modification of the bacterial phenotype. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2004;48(5):1503–8.
- Zelmer A, Martin MJ, Gundogdu O, Birchenough G, Lever R, Wren BW, Luzio JP, Taylor PW. Administration of capsule-selective endosialidase E minimizes upregulation of organ gene expression induced by experimental systemic infection with *Escherichia coli* K1. Microbiology. 2010;156(Pt 7):2205–15.
- Glonti T, Chanishvili N, Taylor PW. Bacteriophagederived enzyme that depolymerizes the alginic acid capsule associated with cystic fibrosis isolates of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. J Appl Microbiol. 2010;108(2):695–702.
- Latka A, Maciejewska B, Majkowska-Skrobek G, Briers Y, Drulis-Kawa Z. Bacteriophage-encoded virion-associated enzymes to overcome the carbohydrate barriers during the infection process. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol. 2017;101(8):3103–19.
- 22. Keary R, Sanz-Gaitero M, van Raaij MJ, O'Mahony J, Fenton M, McAuliffe O, Hill C, Ross RP, Coffey A. Characterization of a bacteriophage-derived murein peptidase for elimination of antibiotic-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*. Curr Protein Pept Sci. 2016;17(2):183–90.
- Drilling AJ, Cooksley C, Chan C, Wormald PJ, Vreugde S. Fighting sinus-derived *Staphylococcus aureus* biofilms in vitro with a bacteriophagederived muralytic enzyme. Int Forum Allergy Rhinol. 2016;6(4):349–55.
- Domenech M, Garcia E, Moscoso M. In vitro destruction of *Streptococcus pneumoniae* biofilms with bacterial and phage peptidoglycan hydrolases. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2011;55(9):4144–8.
- Chopra S, Harjai K, Chhibber S. Potential of sequential treatment with minocycline and *S. aureus* specific phage lysin in eradication of MRSA biofilms: an in vitro study. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol. 2015;99(7):3201–10.

- 26. Schmelcher M, Shen Y, Nelson DC, Eugster MR, Eichenseher F, Hanke DC, Loessner MJ, Dong S, Pritchard DG, Lee JC, Becker SC, Foster-Frey J, Donovan DM. Evolutionarily distinct bacteriophage endolysins featuring conserved peptidoglycan cleavage sites protect mice from MRSA infection. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2015;70(5):1453–65.
- Gutierrez D, Ruas-Madiedo P, Martinez B, Rodriguez A, Garcia P. Effective removal of staphylococcal biofilms by the endolysin LysH5. PLoS One. 2014;9(9):e107307.
- Son JS, Lee SJ, Jun SY, Yoon SJ, Kang SH, Paik HR, Kang JO, Choi YJ. Antibacterial and biofilm removal activity of a podoviridae *Staphylococcus aureus* bacteriophage SAP-2 and a derived recombinant cellwall-degrading enzyme. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol. 2010;86(5):1439–49.
- Linden SB, Zhang H, Heselpoth RD, Shen Y, Schmelcher M, Eichenseher F, Nelson DC. Biochemical and biophysical characterization of PlyGRCS, a bacteriophage endolysin active against methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol. 2015;99(2):741–52.
- Briers Y, Walmagh M, Lavigne R. Use of bacteriophage endolysin EL188 and outer membrane permeabilizers against *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. J Appl Microbiol. 2011;110(3):778–85.
- Guo M, Feng C, Ren J, Zhuang X, Zhang Y, Zhu Y, Dong K, He P, Guo X, Qin J. A novel antimicrobial endolysin, LysPA26, against *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Front Microbiol. 2017;8:293.
- 32. Troskie AM, Rautenbach M, Delattin N, Vosloo JA, Dathe M, Cammue BP, Thevissen K. Synergistic activity of the tyrocidines, antimicrobial cyclodecapeptides from Bacillus aneurinolyticus, with amphotericin B and caspofungin against *Candida albicans* biofilms. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2014;58(7):3697–707.
- 33. Mayer FL, Kronstad JW. Disarming fungal pathogens: *Bacillus safensis* inhibits virulence factor production and biofilm formation by *Cryptococcus neoformans* and *Candida albicans*. MBio. 2017;8(5): e01537–17.
- 34. Sass G, Nazik H, Penner J, Shah H, Ansari SR, Clemons KV, Groleau MC, Dietl AM, Visca P, Haas H, Deziel E, Stevens DA. Studies of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* mutants indicate pyoverdine as the central factor in inhibition of *Aspergillus fumigatus* biofilm. J Bacteriol. 2018;200(1):e00345–17.
- 35. Qin Z, Yang L, Qu D, Molin S, Tolker-Nielsen T. *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* extracellular products inhibit staphylococcal growth, and disrupt established biofilms produced by *Staphylococcus epidermidis*. Microbiology. 2009;155(Pt 7):2148–56.
- Rendueles O, Kaplan JB, Ghigo JM. Antibiofilm polysaccharides. Environ Microbiol. 2013;15(2):334–46.
- Kolodkin-Gal I, Romero D, Cao S, Clardy J, Kolter R, Losick R. D-amino acids trigger biofilm disassembly. Science. 2010;328(5978):627–9.
- 38. Romero D, Aguilar C, Losick R, Kolter R. Amyloid fibers provide structural integrity to *Bacillus*

subtilis biofilms. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010;107(5):2230–4.

- 39. Ahn KB, Baik JE, Park OJ, Yun CH, Han SH. *Lactobacillus plantarum* lipoteichoic acid inhibits biofilm formation of *Streptococcus mutans*. PLoS One. 2018;13(2):e0192694.
- Wasfi R, Abd El-Rahman OA, Zafer MM, Ashour HM. Probiotic *Lactobacillus* sp. inhibit growth, biofilm formation and gene expression of cariesinducing *Streptococcus mutans*. J Cell Mol Med. 2018;22(3):1972–83.
- 41. Rossoni RD, de Barros PP, de Alvarenga JA, Ribeiro FC, Velloso MDS, Fuchs BB, Mylonakis E, Jorge AOC, Junqueira JC. Antifungal activity of clinical *Lactobacillus* strains against *Candida albicans* biofilms: identification of potential probiotic candidates to prevent oral candidiasis. Biofouling. 2018;34(2):212–25.
- 42. Matsubara VH, Wang Y, Bandara HM, Mayer MP, Samaranayake LP. Probiotic lactobacilli inhibit early stages of *Candida albicans* biofilm development by reducing their growth, cell adhesion, and filamentation. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol. 2016; 100(14):6415–26.
- 43. Vilela SF, Barbosa JO, Rossoni RD, Santos JD, Prata MC, Anbinder AL, Jorge AO, Junqueira JC. *Lactobacillus acidophilus* ATCC 4356 inhibits biofilm formation by *C. albicans* and attenuates the experimental candidiasis in *Galleria mellonella*. Virulence. 2015;6(1):29–39.
- 44. Tan Y, Leonhard M, Moser D, Ma S, Schneider-Stickler B. Inhibitory effect of probiotic lactobacilli supernatants on single and mixed non-*albicans Candida* species biofilm. Arch Oral Biol. 2018;85:40–5.
- 45. Krzyściak W, Kościelniak D, Papież M, Vyhouskaya P, Zagórska-Świeży K, Kołodziej I, Bystrowska B, Jurczak A. Effect of a *Lactobacillus salivarius* probiotic on a double-species *Streptococcus mutans* and *Candida albicans* caries biofilm. Nutrients. 2017;9(11):E1242.
- 46. Wannun P, Piwat S, Teanpaisan R. Purification, characterization, and optimum conditions of fermencin SD11, a bacteriocin produced by human orally *Lactobacillus fermentum* SD11. Appl Biochem Biotechnol. 2016;179(4):572–82.
- 47. Chopra L, Singh G, Kumar Jena K, Sahoo DK. Sonorensin: A new bacteriocin with potential of an anti-biofilm agent and a food biopreservative. Sci Rep. 2015;5:13412.
- Sharma V, Harjai K, Shukla G. Effect of bacteriocin and exopolysaccharides isolated from probiotic on *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 biofilm. Folia Microbiol (Praha). 2018;63(2):181–90.
- 49. Berrios P, Fuentes JA, Salas D, Carreno A, Aldea P, Fernandez F, Trombert AN. Inhibitory effect of biofilm-forming *Lactobacillus kunkeei* strains against virulent *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in vitro and in honeycomb moth (*Galleria mellonella*) infection model. Benef Microbes. 2017;9(2):257–68.
- 50. Patel RM, Denning PW. Therapeutic use of prebiotics, probiotics, and postbiotics to prevent necrotiz-

ing enterocolitis. what is the current evidence? Clin Perinatol. 2013;40(1):11–25.

- Okuda K, Zendo T, Sugimoto S, Iwase T, Tajima A, Yamada S, Sonomoto K, Mizunoe Y. Effects of bacteriocins on methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* biofilm. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2013;57(11):5572–9.
- 52. Todorov SD, de Paula OAL, Camargo AC, Lopes DA, Nero LA. Combined effect of bacteriocin produced by Lactobacillus plantarum ST8SH and vancomycin, propolis or EDTA for controlling biofilm development by *Listeria monocytogenes*. Rev Argent Microbiol. 2018;50:48–55.
- 53. Lagrafeuille R, Miquel S, Balestrino D, Vareille-Delarbre M, Chain F, Langella P, Forestier C. Opposing effect of *Lactobacillus* on in vitro *Klebsiella pneumoniae* in biofilm and in an in vivo intestinal colonisation model. Benef Microbes. 2018;9(1):87–100.
- 54. Duarte AFS, Ceotto-Vigoder H, Barrias ES, Souto-Padron T, Nes IF, Bastos M. Hyicin 4244, the first sactibiotic described in staphylococci, exhibits an anti-staphylococcal biofilm activity. Int J Antimicrob Agents. 2018;51:349–56.
- 55. Kim Y, Lee JW, Kang SG, Oh S, Griffiths MW. *Bifidobacterium* spp. influences the production of autoinducer-2 and biofilm formation by *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. Anaerobe. 2012;18(5):539–45.
- 56. Lewis Oscar F, Nithya C, Alharbi SA, Alharbi NS, Thajuddin N. In vitro and in silico attenuation of quorum sensing mediated pathogenicity in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* using *Spirulina platensis*. Microb Pathog. 2018;116:246–56.
- 57. Marangoni A, Foschi C, Micucci M, Nahui Palomino RA, Gallina Toschi T, Vitali B, Camarda L, Mandrioli M, De Giorgio M, Aldini R, Corazza I, Chiarini A, Cevenini R, Budriesi R. In vitro activity of *Spirulina platensis* water extract against different *Candida* species isolated from vulvo-vaginal candidiasis cases. PLoS One. 2017;12(11):e0188567.
- 58. Mala R, Annie Aglin A, Ruby Celsia AS, Geerthika S, Kiruthika N, VazagaPriya C, Srinivasa KK. Foley catheters functionalised with a synergistic combination of antibiotics and silver nanoparticles resist biofilm formation. IET Nanobiotechnol. 2017;11(5):612–20.
- 59. Wypij M, Swiecimska M, Czarnecka J, Dahm H, Rai M, Golinska P. Antimicrobial and cytotoxic activity of silver nanoparticles synthesized from two haloalkaliphilic actinobacterial strains alone and in combination with antibiotics. J Appl Microbiol. 2018;124:1411–24.
- drugs KCTA. Persisters come under fire. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2014;13(1):18–9.
- Conlon BP, Nakayasu ES, Fleck LE, LaFleur MD, Isabella VM, Coleman K, Leonard SN, Smith RD, Adkins JN, Lewis K. Activated ClpP kills persisters and eradicates a chronic biofilm infection. Nature. 2013;503(7476):365–70.
- 62. Scopel M, Abraham WR, Henriques AT, Macedo AJ. Dipeptide cis-cyclo(Leucyl-Tyrosyl) produced by sponge associated *Penicillium* sp. F37 inhibits biofilm

formation of the pathogenic *Staphylococcus epidermidis*. Bioorg Med Chem Lett. 2013;23(3):624–6.

- 63. Baldry M, Nielsen A, Bojer MS, Zhao Y, Friberg C, Ifrah D, Glasser Heede N, Larsen TO, Frokiaer H, Frees D, Zhang L, Dai H, Ingmer H. Norlichexanthone reduces virulence gene expression and biofilm formation in *Staphylococcus aureus*. PLoS One. 2016;11(12):e0168305.
- 64. You J, Du L, King JB, Hall BE, Cichewicz RH. Smallmolecule suppressors of *Candida albicans* biofilm formation synergistically enhance the antifungal activity of amphotericin B against clinical *Candida* isolates. ACS Chem Biol. 2013;8(4):840–8.
- 65. Wang X, You J, King JB, Powell DR, Cichewicz RH. Waikialoid A suppresses hyphal morphogenesis and inhibits biofilm development in pathogenic *Candida albicans*. J Nat Prod. 2012;75(4):707–15.
- 66. Walencka E, Wieckowska-Szakiel M, Rozalska S, Sadowska B, Rozalska B. A surface-active agent from *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* influences staphylococcal adhesion and biofilm development. Z Naturforsch C. 2007;62(5–6):433–8.
- 67. Zhou J, Bi S, Chen H, Chen T, Yang R, Li M, Fu Y, Jia AQ. Anti-biofilm and antivirulence activities of metabolites from *Plectosphaerella cucumerina* against *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Front Microbiol. 2017;8:769.
- 68. Sharma R, Lambu MR, Jamwal U, Rani C, Chib R, Wazir P, Mukherjee D, Chaubey A, Khan IA. *Escherichia coli* N-acetylglucosamine-1-phosphateuridyltransferase/glucosamine-1-phosphate-acetyltransferase (GlmU) inhibitory activity of terreic acid isolated from *Aspergillus terreus*. J Biomol Screen. 2016;21(4):342–53.
- Bergamo Estrela A, Abraham W. Fungal metabolites for the control of biofilm infections. Agri. 2016;37(6):37.
- Cushion MT, Collins MS, Linke MJ. Biofilm formation by *Pneumocystis* spp. Eukaryot Cell. 2009;8(2):197–206.
- 71. Li TX, Yang MH, Wang XB, Wang Y, Kong LY. Synergistic antifungal meroterpenes and dioxolanone derivatives from the endophytic fungus *Guignardia* sp. J Nat Prod. 2015;78(11):2511–20.
- Millot M, Girardot M, Dutreix L, Mambu L, Imbert C. Antifungal and anti-biofilm activities of acetone lichen extracts against *Candida albicans*. Molecules. 2017;22(4):E651.
- 73. Nithyanand P, Beema Shafreen RM, Muthamil S, Karutha Pandian S. Usnic acid, a lichen secondary metabolite inhibits Group A *Streptococcus* biofilms. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek. 2015;107(1):263–72.
- 74. Pompilio A, Pomponio S, Di Vincenzo V, Crocetta V, Nicoletti M, Piovano M, Garbarino JA, Di Bonaventura G. Antimicrobial and antibiofilm activity of secondary metabolites of lichens against methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* strains from cystic fibrosis patients. Future Microbiol. 2013;8(2):281–92.
- 75. Nithyanand P, Beema Shafreen RM, Muthamil S, Karutha Pandian S. Usnic acid inhibits biofilm for-

mation and virulent morphological traits of *Candida albicans*. Microbiol Res. 2015;179:20–8.

- 76. Pires RH, Lucarini R, Mendes-Giannini MJ. Effect of usnic acid on *Candida orthopsilosis* and *C. parapsilosis*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2012;56(1):595–7.
- 77. Kvasnickova E, Matatkova O, Cejkova A, Masak J. Evaluation of baicalein, chitosan and usnic acid effect on *Candida parapsilosis* and *Candida krusei* biofilm using a Cellavista device. J Microbiol Methods. 2015;118:106–12.
- Taresco V, Francolini I, Padella F, Bellusci M, Boni A, Innocenti C, Martinelli A, D'Ilario L, Piozzi A. Design and characterization of antimicrobial usnic acid loaded-core/shell magnetic nanoparticles. Korean J Couns Psychother. 2015;52:72–81.
- Martinelli A, Bakry A, D'Ilario L, Francolini I, Piozzi A, Taresco V. Release behavior and antibiofilm activity of usnic acid-loaded carboxylated poly(Llactide) microparticles. Eur J Pharm Biopharm. 2014;88(2):415–23.
- 80. Grumezescu V, Holban AM, Grumezescu AM, Socol G, Ficai A, Vasile BS, Trusca R, Bleotu C, Lazar V, Chifiriuc CM, Mogosanu GD. Usnic acid-loaded biocompatible magnetic PLGA-PVA microsphere thin films fabricated by MAPLE with increased resistance to staphylococcal colonization. Biofabrication. 2014;6(3):035002.
- 81. Kim S, Greenleaf R, Miller MC, Satish L, Kathju S, Ehrlich G, Post JC, Sotereanos NG, Stoodley P. Mechanical effects, antimicrobial efficacy and cytotoxicity of usnic acid as a biofilm prophylaxis in PMMA. J Mater Sci Mater Med. 2011;22(12):2773–80.
- 82. Francolini I, Norris P, Piozzi A, Donelli G, Stoodley P. Usnic acid, a natural antimicrobial agent able to inhibit bacterial biofilm formation on polymer surfaces. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2004;48(11):4360–5.
- 83. Chang W, Li Y, Zhang L, Cheng A, Liu Y, Lou H. Retigeric acid B enhances the efficacy of azoles combating the virulence and biofilm formation of *Candida albicans*. Biol Pharm Bull. 2012;35(10):1794–801.
- Gokalsin B, Sesal NC. Lichen secondary metabolite evernic acid as potential quorum sensing inhibitor against *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. World J Microbiol Biotechnol. 2016;32(9):150.
- 85. Gokalsin B, Aksoydan B, Erman B, Sesal NC. Reducing virulence and biofilm of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* by potential quorum sensing inhibitor carotenoid: zeaxanthin. Microb Ecol. 2017;74(2):466–73.
- 86. Chang W, Zhang M, Li Y, Li X, Gao Y, Xie Z, Lou H. Lichen endophyte derived pyridoxatin inactivates *Candida* growth by interfering with ergosterol biosynthesis. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2015;1850(9):1762–71.
- 87. Li Y, Chang W, Zhang M, Li X, Jiao Y, Lou H. Synergistic and drug-resistant reversing effects of diorcinol D combined with fluconazole against *Candida albicans*. FEMS Yeast Res. 2015;15(2):fov001.

Part III

Emerging Technologies



12

Bionic Reconstruction: The New Frontier

Stefan Salminger, Johannes A. Mayer, and Oskar C. Aszmann

12.1 Introduction

Brachial plexus lesions including avulsion injuries of multiple nerve roots most commonly affect young adults as the vast majority of these patients suffer a motor vehicle accident [1, 2]. In these high-velocity accidents whiplash injuries may result in high traction forces on nerve fascicles leading to temporary or even permanent global plexopathies [3, 4]. These disabling injuries often have negative social and emotional consequences and are leading to unemployment in this mostly young population [5, 6].

Aside from standard trauma management, the treatment of such complex nerve injuries should be initiated in a timely manner. In patients suffering an avulsion injury of multiple roots, surgical reconstruction focuses on the restoration of a stable shoulder as well as elbow function [7–9].

oskar.aszmann@meduniwien.ac.at

e-mail: johannes.mayer@meduniwien.ac.at

Especially after avulsion injuries of the lower roots, return of hand function is hardly ever achieved, resulting in sensory loss, intrinsic wasting, and stiffness. The existing secondary reconstructive procedures for brachial plexus injuries that include muscle and tendon transfers, free functional muscle transplantations (FFMT), arthrodesis, tenodesis, or corrective osteotomy may be able to restore useful hand and arm function in some patients; however, in very severe cases, beyond the scope of biological reconstruction, it may be more appropriate to replace the non-functioning hand with a prosthetic device after elective amputation [10, 11]. This concept of bionic limb replacement has been successfully demonstrated in patients with functionless hands after brachial plexus injuries, massive tissue damage, or congenital deficiencies [10, 12, 13].

12.2 Technique

12.2.1 Initial Review

Upper limb function is first assessed preoperatively for both range of motion and sensation. Prosthetic replacement with an artificial hand requires a stable shoulder, a strong elbow flexion, and at least two myosignals at the forearm to open and close a prosthetic hand. Insufficient motor power to move the biological hand and missing sensation represents the main indications for

S. Salminger · O. C. Aszmann (⊠) Division of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Department of Surgery, Medical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria

Christian Doppler Laboratory for Restoration of Extremity Function, Medical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria e-mail: stefan.salminger@meduniwien.ac.at;

J. A. Mayer

Christian Doppler Laboratory for Restoration of Extremity Function, Medical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

D. Duscher, M. A. Shiffman (eds.), *Regenerative Medicine and Plastic Surgery*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19958-6_12

prosthetic limb replacement. Importantly, a structured interview with a psychologist is performed to explore patient concerns and adequate coping mechanisms to deal with the loss of extremity function or the event of an elective amputation.

12.2.2 Identification and Creation of EMG Signals

Nerve conduction and EMG studies should be performed to assess the extent of nerve damage as well as to quantify the EMG activity present in the remaining musculature. If there are two distinct EMG signals, no nerve transfers or muscle transplantations are needed. If EMG signals are missing after the initial nerve injury, but muscles in the forearm are still vital, nerve transfers or standard nerve repair can be performed to establish new EMG signals. However, if the forearm presents as a biologic wasteland, either due to long denervation time or other reasons (e.g., ischemia or fibrosis), then autologous muscle needs to be transplanted to serve as a bioamplifier for prosthetic control. This can be achieved by FFMT using the gracilis muscle from the leg and coapting its motor branch to a target nerve within the forearm. The presence of motor axons in the target nerve can be distinguished by using an intraoperative staining method. Still, the presence of a Tinel-Hoffman sign suggests the existence of regenerated fibers. In patients with known brachial plexopathy, the brachial plexus is explored surgically and its branches electrically stimulated for motor activity. Once the presence of motor fibers is confirmed by intraoperative staining, fascicles of the donor nerve can then be transferred to the target nerve to create a useful EMG signal for prosthetic control. Residual faint muscular activity in other muscle groups can be used as the opposing control signal.

12.2.3 Rehabilitation and EMG-Signal Training

After nerve transfer surgery, a nerve regeneration period of approximately 3–9 months is needed for motor nerves to reach their targets. Once neu-



Fig. 12.1 Hybrid hand fitting

romuscular activity is recordable, rehabilitation training can be initiated with visual feedback. EMG activity recorded by surface electrodes can be displayed visually on a computer screen and used to train specific muscle activations.

Once patients are comfortable with this feedback, these signals can be used to control a virtual hand. This is especially useful while the non-functioning hand is still in place, as it encourages patients by visualizing prospective prosthetic hand use. Once the patient is familiar with the different prosthetic functions in the virtual environment, a "hybrid hand" can be fitted, where a prosthetic hand is mounted to a forearm cast onto the non-functioning hand (Fig. 12.1). This hybrid hand acts as a further rehabilitation tool to encourage confidence in myoelectric control prior to amputation.

12.2.4 Amputation and Prosthetic Fitting

The prosthetic limb will replace the existing human hand, and as such the positioning should be customized to each patient. Based on the technical needs the adequate distance for amputation was determined between 15 and 17 cm distal to the lateral epicondyle. The skin area showing the best sensory capacity is included in the flap design for stump coverage. This results in



Fig. 12.2 Patient after prosthetic fitting

improved comfort and prosthetic feedback for the patient. A compressive garment is used for early edema control. As the forearm of such patients suffering severe brachial plexus injuries is already completely atrophied, prosthetic fitting can take place as early as 6 weeks post amputation (Fig. 12.2).

12.3 Discussion

In some patients an accident may not lead to an amputation, however to a severe nerve injury, which may result in an "inner" amputation, leaving the patient with a non-functional and insensate hand or arm [10]. Although it is possible to achieve shoulder stability and sufficient elbow function in most of the patients, reconstruction of useful hand function still represent a goal difficult to achieve, especially in patients suffering lower root avulsions. Due to accidents dating back decades in some patients, muscle atrophy and complete joint stiffness of the hand, reconstructive procedures are unable to restore useful hand function. In such cases, bionic hand reconstruction was established as a new treatment option to overcome these biological limitations. The proposed concept of bionic hand substitution was also successfully adapted to patients after massive traumatic tissue loss as well as a patient suffering a congenital limb deficiency. This new concept of bionic hand replacement is able to restore useful hand function in patients who were beyond any type of biological reconstruction. In these cases hand transplantation represents no option since the reinnervation of the transplanted hand would fail due to the extensive neurological damage.

Still, the functional capacity of a myoelectric prosthetic device can by no means be compared with that of a biologically sound hand. However, in such severe cases, the useful prospective prosthetic hand function justifies artificial replacement. Still, the prosthetic hand will always act as a helping hand for managing bimanual activities, whereas the prosthesis can take over simple tasks that require brute strength, freeing the sound extremity for demanding dexterous tasks.

Additionally, in patients suffering severe brachial plexus injuries including root avulsions, the chronic pain syndrome, referred to as deafferentation pain, represents an equal burden to the patient as the loss of hand function. In our experience, prosthetic hand replacement leads to a significant pain relief as a consequence of functional reafferentation and replacement of the phantom limb with a functioning artificial hand.

12.4 Conclusions

The presented technique of bionic hand reconstruction overcomes biological limitations of classic reconstructive approaches in patients suffering severe injuries leading to a substantial chronic loss of hand function. Future upcoming technological developments will have great impact on signal processing and interpretation for prosthetic control. Due to the reduced number of myosignals in this patient population, pattern recognition or regression algorithms may not be as beneficial as for conventional amputees. Still, these advanced systems may be able to extract more information on the existing faint muscle signals and therefore improve prosthetic function. Additionally, prosthetic control will be improved by implantable electrodes providing consistent high-quality myosignals independent from skin texture or transpiration, amount of subcutaneous fat, or prosthetic socket movements [14]. Although skin sensation is limited in most patients suffering brachial plexus injuries, tactile prosthetic feedback may also be realized, thus enhancing prosthetic use and bodily integrity in future prosthetic systems [15].

References

- Birch R. Traction lesions of the brachial plexus. Br J Hosp Med. 1984;32:140–3.
- Bertelli JA, Ghizoni MF. Brachial plexus avulsion injury repairs with nerve transfers and nerve grafts directly implanted into the spinal cord yield partial recovery of shoulder and elbow movements. Neurosurgery. 2003;52:1385–9.
- Soldado F, Ghizoni MF, Bertelli J. Thoracodorsal nerve transfer for elbow flexion reconstruction in infraclavicular brachial plexus injuries. J Hand Surg Am. 2014;39:1766–70.
- Bonney G. Watson-Jones lecture, 1976. Some lesions of the brachial plexus. Ann R Coll Surg Engl. 1977;59:298–306.
- Bertelli JA, Ghizoni MF. Reconstruction of complete palsies of the adult brachial plexus by root grafting using long grafts and nerve transfers to target nerves. J Hand Surg Am. 2010;35:1640–6.

- Franzblau L, Chung KC. Psychosocial outcomes and coping after complete avulsion traumatic brachial plexus injury. Disabil Rehabil. 2015;37:135–43.
- Terzis JK, Kostopoulos VK. Free muscle transfer in posttraumatic plexopathies part II: the elbow. Hand (N Y). 2010;5:160–70.
- Terzis JK, Barmpitsioti A. Secondary shoulder reconstruction in patients with brachial plexus injuries. J Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg. 2011;64:843–53.
- Terzis JK, Barbitsioti A. Primary restoration of elbow flexion in adult post-traumatic plexopathy patients. J Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg. 2012;65:72–84.
- Aszmann OC, Roche AD, Salminger S, Paternostro-Sluga T, Herceg M, Sturma A, Hofer C, Farina D. Bionic reconstruction to restore hand function after brachial plexus injury: a case series of three patients. Lancet. 2015;385(9983):2183–9.
- Hruby LA, Sturma A, Mayer JA, Pittermann A, Salminger S, Aszmann OC. Algorithm for bionic hand reconstruction in patients with global brachial plexopathies. J Neurosurg. 2017;17:1–9.
- Aszmann OC, Vujaklija I, Roche AD, Salminger S, Herceg M, Sturma A, Hruby LA, Pittermann A, Hofer C, Amsuess S, Farina D. Elective amputation and bionic substitution restore functional hand use after critical soft tissue injuries. Sci Rep. 2016;6:34960.
- Salminger S, Roche AD, Sturma A, Hruby LA, Aszmann OC. Improving arm function by prosthetic limb replacement in a patient with severe arthrogryposis multiplex congenita. J Rehabil Med. 2016;48:725–8.
- 14. Pasquina PF, Evangelista M, Carvalho AJ, Lockhart J, Griffin S, Nanos G, McKay P, Hansen M, Ipsen D, Vandersea J, Butkus J, Miller M, Murphy I, Hankin D. First-in-man demonstration of a fully implanted myoelectric sensors system to control an advanced electromechanical prosthetic hand. J Neurosci Methods. 2014;244:85–93.
- Farina D, Aszmann O. Bionic limbs: clinical reality and academic promises. Sci Transl Med. 2014;6(257): 257ps12.



13

Carbohydrates in Regenerative Medicine: From Scaffolds to Cell Fate Modulators

Roberto Guizzardi, Mattia Vacchini, and Laura Cipolla

13.1 Introduction

Regenerative medicine can be defined as a biomedical field aimed at regenerating or replacing human cells, tissues, or entire organs for the restoration of the native functions of impaired part [1-3]. A synergistic partnership of different elements may be required in order to regenerate body parts: the interplay among suitable natural or artificial scaffolds for cells growth, molecular/ physical signals and cells, eventually engineered with different techniques (Fig. 13.1).

In the last two decades, tremendous breakthrough has been achieved in the field, due to a better understanding of cell biology and the advances in material science, chemistry, and engineering strategies, all integrated within a multidisciplinary context and boosted by the revolutionary discovery of stem cells and the development of their applications. Plastic surgery practices have nowadays incorporated a large variety of the above-cited key elements of regenerative medicine [4]. Natural or artificial material scaffolds, standing at the core of regenerative medicine technologies, are devised to modulate cells behavior, and can be macroscopically designed to

R. Guizzardi · M. Vacchini · L. Cipolla (⊠) Department of Biotechnology and Biosciences, University of Milano-Bicocca, Milan, Italy e-mail: r.guizzardi@campus.unimib.it; m.vacchini@campus.unimib.it; laura.cipolla@unimib.it

mimic natural tissue mechanical properties (i.e., hardness or elasticity for bone or bladder, veins and arteries, or cartilage respectively). Recently, biomaterial design has reached the nanoscale level, granting the possibility to fine-tune their properties, better mirroring the interactions between cells and the extracellular matrix (ECM) within living organisms, generating more suitable and functional architectures, thus increasing the chances of obtaining concrete biomedical benefits. For instance, a good enhancement of cell adhesion, proliferation, and expression of matrix components has been achieved through simply increasing the nanoscaled roughness of the scaffold pore walls [5]. This represents the ground level of tuning of biomaterials, and a variety of parameters can be modulated to influence cells behavior, comprising physical ones, such as morphology (i.e., fibers, sponges), roughness, topology, and topography (both at the micro- and nanoscale), and mechanical ones (i.e., stiffness). Upon these premises, new smart biomaterials and biopolymers can be created, such as elastic degradable polymers or polymers with shape memory [6]. Significant improvements have been made in recent years in understanding how physical properties of biomaterials affect cellular biochemical responses. This is principally carried out through mechano-sensing, an active cellular process involving dynamic interplay between cells and their physical environment, and several studies have shed light on how physical signals potently guide cell fate [7].

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

D. Duscher, M. A. Shiffman (eds.), *Regenerative Medicine and Plastic Surgery*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19958-6_13



Regulatory Signals

In addition to the tuning of nano- and microscaled physical, topographical, and mechanical properties, biomaterials can be functionalized with biological signals in order to obtain bioactive scaffolds. In this respect, the creation of a biologically active surrounding puts cells in a naturally mimicked or engineered environment towards which they are inherently sensitive and can respond with different and specific behaviors triggered even with epitopes at the molecular level. Thus, the incorporation of bioactive cues may foster the desired cellular response towards tissue regeneration. Several signaling (macro) molecules can be used towards this aim, such as bioactive peptides, whole proteins, or even carbohydrates. In fact, a cell outer membrane is usually covered by a forest of carbohydrate structures (known as the glycocalyx) and at least six different receptor systems, which can be activated by interactions with adjacent cells, secreted signaling molecules, and specific ligands within the ECM, triggering a plethora of biochemical events, comprising cell adhesion, proliferation, migration, organogenesis, and wound repair. Carbohydrates in particular, in the form of complex polysaccharides or smaller epitopes, represent a tremendous resource for regenerative medicine applications that can be exploited directly as building blocks for natural scaffolds or as signaling cues added to the scaffold to better drive cells behavior.

Beyond scaffold bioengineering, enormous advances in cell biology, above all the discovery of human embryonic stem cells (hESCs) [8] and induced pluripotent stem cells (iPS) [9], have strongly broadened the horizons of regenerative medicine. Plastic surgery may benefit from regenerative medicine advancement in several fields of applications, such as burn care, nerve regeneration, breast reconstruction, wound healing, scar treatment, hand and face transplantation, bioprosthetic interfaces, bone regeneration, deformities treatments, and skin regeneration. In this chapter we will review recent advances of regenerative medicine based on carbohydrates, from scaffold design and bioactivation, to cell glycoengineering aspects, towards the modulation of cellular responses and behaviors.

13.2 Carbohydrate-Based Scaffolds

13.2.1 General Issues in Scaffold Design

Regardless of the tissue type that needs to be restored, a number of key issues (such as biocompatibility, biodegradability, and mechanical properties) should be considered in the design of implantable scaffolds for regenerative medicine.

13.2.2 Biocompatibility

First of all, any scaffold for tissue engineering needs to be biocompatible; cells must adhere, maintain their functions, and migrate onto the surface. After implantation, the scaffold or tissueengineered construct must elicit a negligible immune reaction, in order to prevent severe inflammatory responses that might reduce healing capacities or cause material rejection by the body.

13.2.3 Biodegradability

Scaffolds and constructs are often not intended as permanent implants. The scaffold must therefore be biodegradable, while cells produce their own renewable extracellular matrix and renovate tissues. The by-products of scaffold degradation should be nontoxic, in order to ensure safety of the material, and waste products should be degraded through endogenous cellular metabolism.

13.2.4 Mechanical Properties

Ideally, the scaffold should have mechanical properties consistent with the anatomical site to be restored and, from a practical perspective, it must be strong enough to allow surgical handling during implantation. Producing scaffolds with adequate mechanical properties is one of the great challenges, for example, in bone tissue regeneration, since strong materials resembling our bone are necessary, which is a nontrivial task, while they have to be at the same time biocompatible, and porous, in order to allow vascularization. Many materials have been produced with good mechanical properties but to the detriment of retaining a suitable porosity. It is clear that a balance between mechanical properties and porous architecture, required for vascularization and sufficient to allow cell infiltration, has to be considered in the design of suitable scaffolds.

These issues are crucial in biomaterial design because mechanical properties, due to the nature of material and its chemistry, need to merge with biocompatibility and suitability for cellular life.

13.2.5 Scaffold Architecture

Scaffold architecture used in tissue engineering is a critical issue for surgery applications: generally these materials should have an interconnected pore structure and suitable porosity to ensure cell invasion and diffusion of nutrients towards cells. Moreover, a porous and interconnected structure is required to allow diffusion of waste products.

The issue of core degradation, arising from lack of vascularization and waste removal from the center of the engineered tissue constructs, is a major concern in the field of tissue engineering. Therefore, for any scaffold, a critical range of pore sizes exists which may vary depending on the cell type used and kind of tissue being engineered [10, 11].

13.2.6 Manufacturing Technology

In order to obtain a particular scaffold or engineered tissue construct which can be clinically and commercially viable, creation procedures should be cost effective and scalable up to small batch production [12]. The development of scalable manufacturing processes to good manufacturing practice (GMP) standard is critically important in ensuring successful translation of tissue engineering strategies to the clinic [13, 14]. Another key factor is determining how a product will be delivered and made available to clinicians. This will determine how either the scaffold or the engineered tissue construct will be stored. Clinicians typically prefer off-the-shelf availability without the requirement for extra surgical procedures in order to harvest cells prior to a number of weeks of in vitro culture before implantation. However, for some tissue types, this is not possible and in vitro engineering prior to implantation is required.

13.2.7 Material of Choice

The final point in scaffolds design, and the one which all of the criteria listed above are dependent upon, is the choice of material from which the scaffold should be fabricated.

Different materials have been proposed to be used as both three-dimensional porous scaffolds and hydrogel matrices for distinct tissue engineering strategies. Typically, three groups of biomaterials, ceramics, synthetic polymers, and natural polymers, are used in the fabrication of scaffolds for tissue engineering [15]. Each of these individual material groups has specific advantages and, needless to say, disadvantages, so the use of composite scaffolds comprising different phases is becoming increasingly common.

Among materials, polymers of natural origin are one of the most attractive option, in some cases due to their similarities with the extracellular matrix (ECM), chemical versatility, as well as good biological performance. An important aspect is the processing of natural materials into porous matrices, a task that usually needs other technologies rather than those commonly employed in the processing of conventional synthetic polymers. There are also clinical needs for processing biomaterials into several different shapes, including nano/microparticles (for controlled release application), or into two-dimensional structures (e.g., membranes as wound dressing).

It should be noted that natural-derived materials may result in undesired or unexpected immune reactions while, more generally, inflammatory responses may arise from chemical impurities due to production processes.

13.3 Carbohydrate-Based Scaffolds

Being carbohydrates widely distributed in nature and performing different biological functions, their use in scaffolds preparation is particularly attractive, offering a variety of potential applications in regenerative medicine. Polysaccharidic materials can be isolated from different sources (plants, animals, microorganisms, algae); they show different biological and physical properties (i.e., solubility, mechanical features, gelling behavior, surface, and interfacial properties) as a function of their monosaccharide composition, chain length and tridimensional conformation, molecular weight, glycosidic bond stereochemistry, and regiochemistry [16, 17].

Several polysaccharides are already used as scaffolds in plastic surgery (Table 13.1) [18].

Some of them are constituents of the ECM, such as hyaluronic acid, and for this reason in the last decades gained widespread applications in regenerative medicine. In fact, as ECM plays an instructive role in cell functions, the hypothesis is that such biomolecules would maintain the biological information and other physicochemical features, which would preserve the potential of new tissue development after cell seeding. This would help to overcome one of the main drawbacks in the use of synthetic and inorganic materials: lacking of cell recognition signals.

In the following section, a brief overview of polysaccharides and their applications in regenerative medicine will be given.

13.3.1 Polysaccharides from Animal Sources

13.3.1.1 Hyaluronic Acid (HYA)

Hyaluronic acid (or hyaluronan) is a nonadhesive non-sulfated glycosaminoglycan, found mostly in connective, epithelial, and neural tissue [19]. Hyaluronic acid is a linear polysaccharide composed of 250–25,000 $\beta(1 \rightarrow 4)$ -linked disaccharide units, consisting of D-glucuronic acid and N-acetyl-D-glucosamine (GlcNAc) linked by $\beta(1 \rightarrow 3)$ bond. The repeating units of HYA form

Products, commercial			
availability, or sources	Materials	Uses	Advantages/ disadvantages
VivoDerm (ER Squibb and Co, Princeton, New Jersey)	Hyaluronic acid	Partial-thickness burns; venous and pressure ulcers; vitiligo treatment	No apparent rejection; 2-d shelf life; delay in preparation because of graft cultivation
Hyalomatrix PA (Addmedica Paris, France)	Partial benzylester of hyaluronic acid	Partial-thickness burns; deep burns in children	No animal or allogeneic human-derived components
Hyalo graft 3D (Fidia Advanced Biopolymers Padova, Italy)	Esterified hyaluronic acid	Full, partial-thickness wounds; scleroderma cutaneous ulcers	May be combined with Laser Skin technologies for treatment of deep wounds
Integra (Integra Life Sciences Corp., Plainsboro, New Jersey)	Collagen and chondroitin-6- sulfate	Deep partial-thickness and full-thickness burns; post surgical wounds; diabetic ulcers	Bilayered; good barrier function; long shelf life; may be applied over bone; removal of silicone layer and auto graft required; possible fluid entrapment beneath construct
Algicell Calcium Alginate (Derma Sciences, Princeton, New Jersey); AlgiDERM (Bard Medical, Covington, Georgia); KALTOSTAT (ConvaTec, Skillman, New Jersey); Tegagen (3 M, St Paul, Minnesota)	Alginates and derivatives	Deep wounds; autolytic debridement; rope form to pack deep or tunneling wounds; infected wounds	Conformable and allows gas exchange; draws out contaminates and excess exudate in heavily draining wounds. May dehydrate wounds with minimal exudate; contraindicated in third-degree burns; need to be changed daily
Allevyn (Smith &Nephew, London, United Kingdom); DuoDERM (ConvaTec, Skillman, New Jersey); Hydrocol (Bertek, Rockford, Illinois); InvacareHydrocolloid (Invacare Supply Group, Elyria, Ohio); Tegasorb (3 M, St Paul, Minnesota)	Polycarboxymethyl cellulose and derivatives	Light to moderate exudate in shallow full-thickness defects; wounds requiring moisture, such as granulation tissue; used under compression dressing; autolytic debridement, especially with necrotic, dry eschar	Reduce pain; its property allows patients to continue daily activity; may leave residue or adhere to wound surfaces; not recommended with heavy exudate, active infection, or sinus tracts; highly occlusive property can promote anaerobic infection
Restylane (Medicis, Scottsdale, Arizona)	Stabilized Hyaluronic acid gel,	Mid-dermal applications, such as deeper wrinkle reduction, lip augmentation, nasolabial folds, and glabellar creases; also used in treatment of tear trough deformities	Advantages include minimal hyper sensitivity reactions, easily injected with nice flow through small-gauge needle, long persistence after injection; but include higher cost, higher incidence of bruising, and potential for severe swelling and pain from lack of anesthetic mixture
Hylaform/Hylaform Plus (InamedAesthetics, Santa Barbara, California)	Cross-linked molecules of hyaluronic acid	Approved for injection into the mid-dermis to deepdermis for correction of moderate to severe facial wrinkles and folds, subdermal injection lead to inferior results, and if injected too superficially	No skin test is necessary, thus can be used at initial consultation; disadvantages include shorter longevity than other hyaluronic acid products; cannot be used in patients with hypersensitivity to avian proteins, most notably eggs

 Table 13.1
 Commercial polysaccharide-based biomaterials

(continued)

Products, commercial			
availability, or sources	Materials	Uses	Advantages/ disadvantages
Radiesse	Gel carrier	Indicated for correction of	No risk of antigenic or
(BioFormMedicalInc,	comprising cellulose	nasolabial folds, vertical lip	inflammatory reaction,
San Matteo, California)		lines, acne scars, marionette	implants do not calcify and
		lines, and restoring volume in	remain soft and flexible, and
		and around the cheeks; also	because of very low particle
		being studied for use in	solubility, volume retention
		treatment of vocal cord	may theoretically persist for
		insufficiency, radiographic	years; disadvantages include
		marking, vesicoureteral	potential for aggregate of scar
		incontinence and HIV	of the porticies
		associated facial lineatrophy	of the particles
Juwadamm (Allangan	Hualurania agid	Suitable for use in ony	A dyanta gas include longavity
Santa Barbara	Hyalufollic aciu	wrinkles moderate or deep	with better initial and
California)		as well as scar correction:	sustained correction than
Cumorina)		approved for pasolabial folds	bovine filler: disadvantage
		off-label use for lip	include more volume injection
		augmentation, marionette	required, lack anesthetic, thus
		fold correction, prejugal	patients feel pain during
		sulci, and volume filler for	injection
		atrophy and acne scars; will	
		absorb water after injections	
		and thus slightly expand	
		within 24 h after correction;	
		effects typically lasts	
		9–12 months	

Table 13.1 (continued)

a rigid macromolecule with several repelling anionic groups able to coordinate cations and water. Hyaluronic acid is easily obtained in large scales through microbial fermentation. HYA scaffolds can be designed for both hard and soft tissue regenerations. A common form of HYA is as a hydrogel, for encapsulating cell and bioactive molecules. HYA may also be fabricated as fibrous scaffold by electrospinning techniques or blended with other materials and shaped into porous scaffolds. A promising technique for the fabrication of HYA scaffolds appears to be 3D printing. The wide scaffolding properties of HYA allow this biomaterial to be used for nearly any tissue regeneration application.

13.3.1.2 Chitin/Chitosan

Chitin is a hard, nonelastic, hydrophobic polysaccharide, main constituent of exoskeleton and of the internal structure of invertebrates, is the second most abundant natural polysaccharide after cellulose. Chitin can be obtained from many natural sources, including the exoskeleton of arthropods and insects. Chitin consists of $(1 \rightarrow 4)$ - β -N-acetyl-D-glucosamine repeating monosaccharide units. Chitosan is a partially deacetylated form of chitin, thus consisting of a mixture of N-acetyl-D-glucosamine and D-glucosamine units; it is usually insoluble in neutral or basic aqueous solutions, soluble in weak aqueous acids (pH < 6), due to amino groups protonation, and possesses gelling properties at low pH. Chitin and chitosan are known for their excellent biological properties, among which are the biocompatibility with human cells, the ordered regeneration of wounded tissues, the immunoenhancing activity, the induction of immediate hemostasis, the radical scavenging activity, and antimicrobial activity [20].

Chitosan and its derivatives are being extensively used for bone tissue engineering and central nervous system-related applications. Chitosan in vivo is biodegradable, probably by lysozyme through hydrolysis of acetylated residues. Furthermore, extracellular lysozyme activity was found enhanced in in vitro cultures of several mammalian cells in the presence of chitin and its derivatives; as a result, connective tissue formation was stimulated and the self-defense function against microbial infection was also enhanced.

The partial absence of N-acetyl groups in chitosan allows exposed amino groups to react with different derivatization chemicals, such as acyl chlorides, anhydrides, or carbonyl compounds, by reductive amination. Of great importance are chemical derivatives of both types, formed through reaction with bi- or polyfunctional reagents, thus allowing further chemical reactions. On the basis of chitosan chemistry, several chitosan dressing materials have been developed commercially for the healing treatment of human and animal wounds [21].

As for HYA, chitosan-based biomaterials can be produced in different shapes, such as sponges, nanofibers, films, membranes, hydrogels with wide applicability especially in wound healing [22], and orthopedic tissue engineering [23–25].

13.3.2 Polysaccharides from Plant Sources

13.3.2.1 Cellulose

Cellulose is a linear polysaccharide of up to 15,000 D-glucose residues linked by β -(1 \rightarrow 4)-glycosidic bonds, with good biocompatibility, excellent thermal stability, and interesting mechanical properties for biomedical applications. Cellulose is regarded as a semiflexible polymer; the relative structural properties as rigidity or stiffness are favored by the β -glucosidic linkage that bestows the linear form of the chain. A huge number of intermolecular hydrogen bonds participate to its structural properties, reflecting on its high viscosity in solution, a high tendency to crystallize, and its ability to form fibrillar strands [26, 27]. Cellulose can be converted into several different derivatives (oxidized cellulose, carboxymethylcellulose, cellulose nitrate, cellulose acetate, cellulose xanthate) [28] that can be easily molded or drawn into fibers.

While cellulose is typically obtained from wood, several algae, bacteria, and other organisms in culture can produce cellulose microfibrils in their cell wall. There are considerable structural differences between the various organisms due to different biosynthetic pathways; however, bacterial cellulose (BC), produced through fermentation processes, is gaining more interest in the last decades, resulting from its unique nanostructure, compatible with a wide range of biomedical applications [29]. For example, BC synthesized by Acetobacter xylinum shows great biocompatibility, high water-holding capacity, high crystallinity, a fine fiber network, and high tensile strength in the wet state so that it is gaining considerable potential as a novel wound healing system and skin tissue repair tool [30-32], for micronerve surgery, and as material for making artificial blood vessels suitable for microsurgery, for cardiac applications [33], and cartilage [34] tissue engineering (TE) [35].

13.3.2.2 Starch

Starch is a mixture of α -amylose (normally 20–30%) and amylopectin (normally 70–80%) synthesized by plants. α -Amylose is a linear polymer made up of several thousands of glucose $\alpha(1 \rightarrow 4)$ linked. Amylopectin adds to the amylose structure $\alpha(1 \rightarrow 6)$ branches at every 24–30 glucose residues. The α -glucosidic bonds of starch render this glucose-based polymer completely different from cellulose in terms of structure, properties, and applicability, sometimes inadequate to surgery devices.

Starch can be easily modified (cross-linked, oxidized, and acetylated) [36]; it can be converted into thermoplastics [37] or blended with synthetic polymers to improve its mechanical properties [30] towards bone and other TE applications [31].

13.3.3 Polysaccharides from Algae

13.3.3.1 Alginates

Alginate is a linear polymer made up of $\beta(1 \rightarrow 4)$ linked D-mannuronic acid (M) and $\alpha(1 \rightarrow 4)$ -linked L-guluronic acid (G), which can be randomly arranged or alternated. Alginates are found combined with calcium and other bases as main structural component of cell walls of brown seaweeds [32]. The M and G ratios and the polymer lengths can be extremely different, depending on the source of the alginate. The polymer undergoes ionotropic gelation in the presence of divalent cations, and gelling depends on the ion involved (Mg²⁺, Ca²⁺, Sr²⁺, Ba²⁺). Alginate hydrogels find application for cell encapsulation, cartilage TE, and injectable cell delivery vehicle, while alginate scaffolds have been proposed for hepatic and cardiac TE [38, 39].

13.3.3.2 Agarose and Carrageenan

Agarose, belonging to the galactan polysaccharide family, is one of the components of agar, the major polysaccharide of red algae. Agarose is a linear polysaccharide based on the $\beta(1 \rightarrow 3)$ -D-galactopyranose- $(1 \rightarrow 4)$ -3,6anhydro- α -L-galactopyranose repeating unit. This characteristic composition makes the chains to join together and adopt a double helix structure. The two chains result wrapped together tightly, trapping water inside the helix. Agarose gels/sponges have been proposed for cartilage and disc TE, along with nerve regeneration [40].

On the other side, carrageenan polysaccharides are linear polymers consisting of chains of $(1 \rightarrow 3)$ -linked β -D-galactose and $(1 \rightarrow 4)$ -linked a-D-galactose units, which are variously substituted and modified into the 3,6-anhydro derivative, depending on the source and extraction conditions.

All carrageenans are known to be highly flexible molecules, forming double-helical structures at high concentrations, able to form hydrogel at room temperature, in some case thermoreversible [41].

Another key feature of carrageenans is the ability to show thixotropic behavior, i.e., they thin under shear stress and recover their viscosity once the stress is removed. Carrageenan-based gels find application for cell encapsulation [42].

13.3.4 Polysaccharides from Microbial Sources

13.3.4.1 Dextran

Dextran is a hyper-branched polysaccharide obtained by bacteria from sucrose through the action of dextransucrase enzyme [43], consisting of $a(1 \rightarrow 6)$ -linked D-glucose moieties with branching via $a(1 \rightarrow 3)$ linkages. The main features of dextran are its extensive solubility, from water to organic solvent and variable physicochemical properties depending on molecular weight and branching extent (0.5–60%), as a consequence of dextran source. As in the case of other polysaccharides, dextran can be chemically modified. It finds applications as porous hydrogels [44].

13.3.4.2 Gellan

Gellan gum is a high molecular weight bacterial anionic exopolysaccharide, composed of $(1 \rightarrow 4)$ -L-rhamnose- $\alpha(1 \rightarrow 3)$ -D-glucose- $\beta(1 \rightarrow 3)$ 4-D-glucuronic acid- $\beta(1 \rightarrow 4)$ -D-glucose tetrasaccharidic repeating units. Gellan gum can be obtained as native or in high acylated form in which D-acetate and D-glycerate are present on the same glucose residue of the repeating unit. This highly acylated derivative shows up as transparent, soft, elastic, and flexible gel, resistant to heat and acids; however the presence of cations, including Ca⁺², Mg⁺², Na⁺¹, K⁺¹, and H⁺¹ may form hard, nonelastic, and brittle gels. Native gellan gum is usually nonelastic, brittle gels. Due to the high versatility of gelling conditions, gellan gums find a wide range of applications in plastic surgery and TE, such as intervertebral disc TE [45] and in cartilage TE [46].

13.3.4.3 Pullulan

Pullulan is an extracellular microbial homopolysaccharide with repeating units of maltotriose ($\alpha(1 \rightarrow 4)$ -linked glucose trimer) joined by $\alpha(1 \rightarrow 6)$ linkages, produced by fermentation from starch. Some advantages of pullulan are its nontoxicity and lack of immunogenicity; it dissolves readily in water to form a stable viscous solution that does not gel; it has adhesive properties and can be used to form fibers, and ECM mimics for TE applications [47].

13.3.4.4 Xanthan

Xanthan gum is an anionic polysaccharide and is fermented from glucose by the bacterium Xanthomonas campestris [48]. The structure of xanthan has a cellulosic backbone of $\beta(1 \rightarrow 4)$ -linked glucose branched at C3 of every second glucose unit with the D-mannose- $\beta(1 \rightarrow 4)$ -D-glucuronic acid- $\beta(1 \rightarrow 2)$ -D-mannose. Some terminal mannose units can also contain a pyruvate group, while mannose residues are variably acetylated. It has unique rheological properties (high viscosity even at low concentrations) and forms hydrogels.

In addition to polysaccharidic materials outlined in this section, a number of other interesting carbohydrates remain unexploited, such as laminarin, gluco- and galactomannans, exudate and mucilage gums, levan and curdlan, among many others.

13.4 Carbohydrates as Biocues

In recent years both research and market of biomaterials for regenerative medicine applications are undergoing an unprecedented growth; in this framework, materials are considered not only as scaffolds with adequate mechanical properties to support cells growth but also as cell-instructive microenvironments specifically driving their behavior [49]. An efficient biomaterial for tissue engineering should firstly support cell adhesion and spreading, as implanted prostheses/scaffolds should promote colonization by primary cells. Cell adhesion may vary upon the nature of the material and the specific cell line under consideration, so it is fundamental to properly choose it. Secondly, the material should be bioactivated with accurately adopted biocues, rendering it cell-instructive for the desired application. Carbohydrate polymers have been considered for long time only as energy sources (i.e., glycogen and starch) or structural materials (i.e., cellulose); nowadays, carbohydrates are known to cover a huge variety of biological roles well behind energy or structural ones.

The sugar code (the Glycocode), given by complex carbohydrates or glycans, which are designed upon only ten monosaccharides [50, 51], reaches an unsurpassed number of possible combinations with specific structural features, coupled to different signaling events within and between cells, specifically bringing about a wealth of physiological and pathological cellular behaviors (i.e., adhesion, differentiation, migra-

tion, cell-cell, cell-matrix, and cell-pathogen recognition events, immune response, disease progression). Carbohydrates located on cell surface dispatch their biological signals by means of specific receptor proteins, such as lectins, widespread upon a variety of biological targets. In virtue of this, glycans represent unique candidates as biocues for bioactivating materials for regenerative medicine purposes. Despite carbohydrates might be included in biomaterials by non-covalent linkages, the most interesting approach is their covalent immobilization on the material of choice. A covalent linkage between carbohydrates and materials impedes diffusion and enhances stability towards enzymatic degradation [52]. The covalent approach may guarantee the control over the spatial orientation of the glycan on the material, ensuring more efficient recognition processes by cell receptors. Towards this end, several methodologies have been designed for the covalent and chemoselective bioconjugation of carbohydrate epitopes to biomaterials [53, 54]. In the next section, example on how carbohydrates can influence cell adhesion, differentiation, and homing are reported.

13.4.1 Carbohydrates Promote Cell Adhesion to Materials

While specific adhesive peptide sequences, such as the tripeptide RGD [55], have been widely used to promote cell adhesion, to date systematic studies on the adhesive properties of carbohydrates are still lacking. Keeping in mind that the bioactivation mechanism mediated by glycans is yet not completely clear and that great efforts are still needed for its elucidation, one should be aware that promising glycans for tissue regeneration must be experimentally validated for any specific cell lineage. Small carbohydrate epitopes (mono-, di-, and trisaccharides) have been bioconjugated to several materials as simple signaling cues [56]. Even carbohydrates which are not naturally involved in the adhesion phenomenon may be pressed into that service, as for instance galactose, used in material functionalization to promote hepato-


Fig. 13.2 Galactose (red) in different forms linked to different materials

cyte adhesion [57]. However, it should be noted that a variety of molecules can bind to cell surface components, either specifically or nonspecifically, allowing in many case a certain degree of adhesion; thus, care must be taken in interpreting results [58].

Galactose has been grafted to several natural or synthetic materials in different forms (Fig. 13.2) and detailed studies regarding exposed galactose residues orientation and density have been conducted [59, 60].

Studies on scaffolds 1 and 2 (Fig. 13.2) showed that galactose is able to support hepatocytes adhesion and spreading depending on the glycosidic stereochemistry: β -galactosides were found more effective than α -galactosides. In addition, it was demonstrated that galactose grafted to material surfaces shows preferential adhesion of hepatocytes when cocultured with fibroblasts, the attachment of which was essentially inhibited [61]. As glycosidic bond stereochemistry and epitope spatial presentation are the outcomes of a chemical reaction, biomaterial functionalization strategy is relevant in determining the final orientation of the carbohydrate epitope on the scaffold surface and, thus, its biological effectiveness. Another example of this is given by glucose-functionalized polystyrene for erythrocytes adhesion. Polystyrene was bioactivated with glucose moieties in different spatial orientations (scaffolds 8 and 9) (Fig. 13.3) and type-1 glucose transporter (GLUT-1), a mammalian cell transmembrane protein, was found to be implicated in mediating erythrocytes adhesion [62] only when glucose is exposed in the proper spatial configuration, enabling recognition. Only when glucose was grafted to polysty-



Fig. 13.3 Scaffolds based on different materials, exposing different carbohydrate epitopes (red)

rene through the 3-OH, thus being presented to the receptor in its reducing form (scaffold 8) (Fig. 13.3) [63], the interaction with GLUT-1 occurred. This observation evidences once more the extreme relevance of choosing the correct chemistry beyond biofunctionalization when dealing with carbohydrates or generally with any polyfunctional biocues.

Small carbohydrate epitopes may improve cell adhesion and spreading of human mesenchymal stem cells (hMSC) on synthetic polymers such as poly(ɛ-caprolactone) (PCL). PCL is a promising polymer for tissue regeneration, due to a unique combination of biodegradability and biocompatibility features. However, as any other synthetic polymer, it does not promote cell adhesion, due to its hydrophobicity conflicting with cell's outer membrane polar environment (the Glycocalyx above all) and to the lack of suitable molecular motifs. When PCL-based scaffolds were grafted with N-acetyl-α-Dglucosamine (scaffold 10) (Fig. 13.3) and nonreducing galactose moieties (scaffold 11, Fig. 13.3) adhesion, spreading and cell viability were increased in comparison to unfunctionalized scaffolds [64, 65].

Even inorganic materials like stainless steel or hydroxyapatite can be functionalized with small carbohydrates to improve their biological interaction potentials. Stainless steel can be used for medical implants, while bioceramics are useful biomimetic composite materials for bone tissue regeneration, but none of them possess bioactive/bioadhesive properties. Stainless steel has thus been functionalized with N-acetyl-α-D-glucosamine or D-galactose, via a suitable glycoalkyl trimethoxysilane, after activation of the metal surface by silanization (scaffolds 12 and 13) (Fig. 13.3) [66], while α-D-glucosides were conjugated to nanostructured carbonated hydroxyapatite, through a click azido-alkyne reaction (scaffold 14) (Fig. 13.3) [67]. In both cases, the reaction was effective; thus, these examples envisage new strategies for stainless steel and ceramic bioactivation by carbohydrates.

Coculture systems, in which multiple and distinct cell types are cultured within the same environment, are gaining much interest in tissue engineering methods [68]. Usually, in these strategies, there are target cells (which will compose the engineered tissue) and assisting cells (guiding target cells to obtain desired behaviors), interacting synergically to create the proper environment for tissue reconstitution. Another way of using coculture strategies resides in putting together different cell types, like, for example, healthy and cancerous cells, to study preferential adhesion on a given surface, in order to test biomaterials efficacy in complex environments better resembling in vivo conditions. In this context, a few studies highlighted how mono- or disaccharides may play a role.

A monosaccharide, mannose, and a disaccharide, lactose, once grafted to poly(L-glutamic) acid (PGA, scaffolds 15 and 16) (Fig. 13.3) were applied to multilayer film deposition in combination with poly(L-lysine). The adhesion of chondrocytes as primary cells versus a chondrosarcoma cell line in coculture was compared [69]. It turned out that lactose only slightly affected adhesion of both cell lines, while mannose sustained adhesion and proliferation of chondrocytes, whereas cocultured chondrosarcoma cell growth was very limited. In virtue of this, it is possible to speculate that mannose receptors might be present on chondrocytes [70].

D- and L-glucose grafted on glass surfaces were evaluated for chondrocyte adhesion as well; only D-glucose-functionalized glass surfaces were able to maintain the chondrocytic phenotype, in contrast to the unnatural L-enantiomer [63].

A series of phytoglycans (glycans not belonging to the human glycocode) such as N-acetylchitobiose, cellobiose, cellotriose, mannotriose, and maltotriose, once grafted to poly(methyl methacrylate) (PMMA) coatings, were characterized for their interactions with human fibroblasts [71]. Surprisingly, cellobiose and cellotriose improved fibroblast adhesion if compared to other saccharides or to pristine PMMA surfaces. On the contrary, when cellobiose and cellotriose were added in soluble form to the culture medium, fibroblasts adhesion to polystyrene plates was inhibited in a concentration-dependent manner.

It is noteworthy that these glycans from plant sources, not belonging to the human glycocode, are able to induce significant responses in human cells, highlighting how glycoengineering boundaries lie well beyond the sole natural mimicking.

13.4.2 Carbohydrates Can Promote Cells Differentiation

Biomaterials may boost regenerative medicine applications if suitably bioactivated through signaling molecules able to promote and drive cell differentiation towards the desired phenotype. In this respect, small carbohydrate epitopes have been shown to act as differentiating cues.

Once again, galactose was studied for its ability to drive mouse embryonic stem cell (mESC) to functional hepatocytes. Scaffold 1 (Fig. 13.2) exposing nonreducing galactose moieties on polystyrene surfaces together with E-cadherin was able to induce early expression of asialoglycoprotein receptor (ASGPR), sustaining differentiation of mESC and maintaining hepatocytes functionality [72]. Moreover, it was observed that hepatocytes cultured on galactose-containing layers expressed high levels of liver-specific genes compared to the cells grown on unfunctionalized polystyrene. From these results, it appears clear that galactose may be a key monosaccharide for the development of bioactive materials for liver tissue engineering.

Nonreducing glucosides and sialic acid containing disaccharides were studied for their adhesive and differentiating properties on different cell lines; when covalently bound to collagen films (scaffolds 17-19) (Fig. 13.4), 3'-sialyllactose (scaffold 17) and 6'-sialyllactose (scaffold 18) were characterized in vitro for their influence on mesenchymal stem cells' (MSCs) viability, proliferation, and induction of osteogenic and chondrogenic related genes [73]. Sialoside epitopes displayed on collagen surface promoted MSCs adhesion and proliferation; moreover, it was observed that the two different sialosides provide MSCs with different, specific, and saccharide-type dependent signals (despite their close structural similarity), in terms of expression of osteogenic or chondrogenic related genes. In particular, 3'-sialoside (scaffold 17) significantly upregulates the expression of osteogenic markers RUNX2 and ALP, while 6'-sialoside (scaffold 18) increases the expression of chondrocyte marker ACAN. This again underlines how structural details can be crucial to bring about different effects on cells. It should be also stressed that the increased gene expression is unambiguously attributed to the carbohydrate signals exposed on collagen surface, since no osteogenic or chondrogenic supplements were used in the culture media. Sialic acid-functionalized materials may open new perspectives towards osteochondral tissue regeneration.



Fig. 13.4 Collagen films functionalized with glucose, 3'-sialosides and 6'-sialosides moieties (red)

Glycans have been shown to have crucial roles in nervous system development, regeneration, and synaptic plasticity [74, 75], and biomaterials are experiencing an increasingly relevant role in nervous system repair and regeneration [76, 77]. Thus, glycoengineering of materials with functionally active glycans might add another dimension to neural tissue regeneration [78]. As proof of concept, collagen films functionalized with glucose residues (Scaffold 15) (Fig. 13.4) were investigated towards neuroblastoma F11 cell lines behavior, in the absence of any differentiating agent [79]. Morphological and functional analyses of cells grown upon glucose-functionalized collagen revealed neuritic-like processes, the expression of the late differentiation neuronal marker β -tubulin III, and neuronal electrical activity, demonstrating the ability of grafted glucosides to drive neuroblastoma cells towards differentiation into active neurons.

Considering again neuronal applications, several others saccharidic epitopes, such as L-fucose (usually found as terminal residue in N- and O-linked glycoproteins and glycolipids), Dgalactose, and N-acetylglucosamine, were tested towards neuronal tissue engineering. Fucose $\alpha(1 \rightarrow 2)$ galactose (Fuc $\alpha(1 \rightarrow 2)$ -Gal) and fucose $\alpha(1 \rightarrow 3)N$ acetylglucosamine (Fuc α $(1 \rightarrow 3)$ -GlcNAc) epitopes were covalently linked to polyacrylamide (PAA) scaffolds and evaluated for their ability to stimulate hippocam-[**80**]. pal neurons Neurons grown on Fuc $\alpha(1 \rightarrow 2)$ -Gal-PAA exhibited significant morphological changes, with a 50% increased neurite extension compared to the untreated control. PAA exposing N-acetylglucosamine, galactose, L-fucose, and Fuc $\alpha(1 \rightarrow 3)$ GlcNAc displayed no significant neuronal processes, highlighting how neuritogenic activity was specific for Fuc α -(1 \rightarrow 2)Gal and suggesting a key role in neuronal activation of its galactose unit.

13.5 Cell Glycoengineering

Cells functioning and fate are determined and controlled by the molecular interactions taking place between cells and their microenvironment. Detailed knowledge about (macro)molecules involved in these processes and mechanisms lying at the bases of their functioning, combined with the emerging possibility to remodel cell surfaces, promise to be golden tools for regenerative medicine developments. In this section, a different and up-to-date approach to tissue engineering is considered: while modification of substrate/biomaterials can be explored to accurately modulate cells adhesion and differentiation, as explained in the previous section, more recently many research groups have been focusing their work on the modification of cell surface in order to control cell behavior through biointerface interactions [81]. Thus, cell surface engineering has been explored for the enhancement of in vivo cell survival or and differentiation control function [82]. Nowadays, we can rely upon a promising cell surface bioengineering toolbox, built on key methodologies allowing surface modification of living mammalian cells [83]. Since diverse subtypes of glycans are present on cell surfaces, site-specific remodeling of the glycocalyx provides an attractive approach to understand glycans activities outside the outer membrane and to modulate them, promoting novel function and driving cells towards the desired responses. Remodeling of cell surface glycosylation is usually referred to as cell surface glycoengineering. Recent achievements in this field will be outlined in this last section of the chapter, highlighting most relevant examples for regenerative medicine.

Modifying glycoconjugates in cells and organisms can be achieved using monosaccharide analogs [84] via metabolic glycoengineering (MGE) approaches [85–87], pioneered by Wratil et al. [86] with the synthesis of sialylated glycans using N-acyl-modified mannosamines as precursors for unnatural sialic acids. After entering the cytosol, modified carbohydrate analogs are metabolized and subsequently expressed within newly synthesized glycoconjugates on cells.

Since then, the MGE strategy has been applied to several sugar analogs and exploited for different applications. For example, it is known that poly- α -2,8-sialic acid (PSA) is involved in synaptic plasticity, thus in memory and learning pro-



Fig. 13.5 Mannosamine analogs as precursor of sialic acid and polysialic acid biosynthesis

cesses, and is a marker of several tumors including neuroblastoma, small cell lung carcinomas, and Wilms tumor, implicated in their growth and metastatic development. In virtue of these roles, modulating PSA expression could be significant in contrasting neurological and cancerous diseases. Metabolic glycoengineering within this context was carried out by using N-butanoylmannosamine (ManBut) (Fig. 13.5) as a precursor of sialic acid, which acts as a biosynthetic blocker, resulting in the expression of truncated polysialic acid chains [88]. This metabolic glycoengineering approach granted transient disruption of PSA expression through reversible and temporally controlled ManBut administration, opening possibilities for the study of PSA roles in cell adhesion, synapses formation, tumor metastasis, and organ development, suggesting ample room for tissue engineering applications towards regenerative medicine and maybe tumoral confinement.

The possibility to modify glycans by metabolic glycoengineering can be exploited for the introduction of carbohydrate moieties that might influence cell differentiation. The sialic acid analog Ac₅ManNTGc (Fig. 13.5) allows the expression of thiol-modified sialic acids on cell surfaces. When expressed in human embryoid bodyderived (hEBD) stem cells, Ac₅ManNTGc induced β -catenin expression and a change in cell morphology, suggesting neuronal differentiation. These results once more indicate that small carbohydrate epitopes are effective cues for tissue engineering, able to direct stem cells fate [89].

One limitation of metabolic glycoengineering related to its putative in vivo applications is that delivery of saccharidic analogs is not specific, making it difficult to confine sugar modifications only to desired cells. In this context, an interesting upgrade of MGE was achieved by the delivery of monosaccharide synthetic analogs to target cells in a cell surface receptor-dependent manner, via ligand-targeted liposomes [90]. Liposomes including monosaccharide analogs are decorated with ligands which bind specifically to cell surface receptors, expressed or upregulated only in target cells. This allowed a cell-selective intracellular delivery of the analogs, which were then included in cell metabolism and displayed within glycans on specific cell surface. In addition to helping cell/tissue-specific imaging applications and detection of glycosylation in vivo, enhancing potentialities of important biomedical techniques such as magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and positron emission tomography (PET), this approach enriches the toolbox for tissue engineering applications by granting more selective ways to perform glycoengineering.

Chemically modified liposomes were also used in order to remodel cell surfaces with specific sulfated chondroitin sulfate (CS) glycosaminoglycans. Sulfation patterns in glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) are known to modulate recognition events in a sulfation-dependent manner, modulating cellular signaling cascades. In this example, embryonic (E18) rat cortical neuron cell membranes were glyco-engineered with polysaccharides built up with roughly 100 disaccharidic repeating units, with three different sulfation patterns, called CS-A, CS-C, and CS-E (Fig. 13.6), via a liposomal fusion strategy. Neurons displaying CS-E glycans exhibited increased activation of neurotrophin-mediated signaling pathways and increased axonal growth. On the contrary, neurons displaying CS-C glycans showed phospho-Akt levels similar to those of untreated neurons. These results highlight the relevance of CS-E polysaccharides in the activation of neuronal signaling pathway.



A different lipid-based strategy was proposed by Woods et al. [91]: a glyco-engineered lipid anchor based on cholesterylamine was synthesized, in order to display synthetic glycans on plasma membrane with improved residence times, emulating natural mucins, to shed light on the role of mucins overexpression within cancer. Glyco-engineered cholesterylamine was durably displayed on cell surface after internalization, exposing linked glycopolymers for up to 10 days. The presence of the engineered glycans on cell surface mimicked the effect of mucins in focal adhesion and cell survival, both in vitro and in vivo. More strikingly, the engineered glycolipid was expressed also in daughter cells derived from a labeled mother cell. The same group proposed an additional strategy to expose mucin mimetics on cell surfaces. Synthetically challenging mucin-like domains were chemically synthesized and conjugated through a site-specific bioorthogonal strategy to a genetically engineered membrane protein on live mammalian cells [92]. These strategies could be adapted to replace native glycodomains in mucin proteins with synthetic analogs, systematically varying their chem-

biological ical and properties potentially delivering great benefits to tissue engineering.

One of the greatest challenges in cell therapy for tissue engineering is the efficient delivery of viable cells to the tissue to be restored. Inefficient homing of systemically delivered mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) is probably the major limitation of existing MSC-based cell therapies, probably caused by poor expression of adhesion molecules on cell surfaces. In order to improve MSCs homing, their surface was modified with a nanopolymeric structure bearing the tetrasaccharide sialyl LeX (sLe^X). This trisaccharide is usually overexpressed on leukocytes and is responsible for cell rolling during inflammation processes. sLe^X glyco-engineered MSCs exhibited a robust rolling response on inflamed endothelium in vivo and homed to inflamed tissue with higher efficiency than native MSCs. This approach highlights an effective glycoengineering strategy for cell homing through circulation [93].

Following a similar line of research, homing of human mesenchymal stem cells (hMSCs) to bone was obtained by glycan engineering of

membrane with GAGs



CD44 [94]. The native CD44 glycans of MSCs bear α -2,3-sialylosides, but cellular recruitment to bone occurs via E-selectin, a lectin recognizing sialofucosylated determinants. As native CD44 lacks the key α -1,3-fucosyl hematopoietic cell E-selectin/L-selectin ligand, an enzymatic α -1,3-fucosylation of MSCs CD44 was performed under physiological conditions specifically designed for treating live cells. This modification conferred potent E-selectin binding and tropism to bone, without detrimental effects on cell viability or multipotency. This study unveiled a great potential to program cellular trafficking on through membrane glycoprotein engineering for directing cellular migration, a key issue for cell therapies.

An example of cell surface glyco-engineering is related to blood group antigenic determinants. The antigenicity of the ABO blood groups is defined by the structure of carbohydrates units (Fig. 13.7) expressed on red blood cells surfaces (RBCs). Conversion of type A, B, and AB RBCs

to universal 0 type by enzymatic removal of galactose or N-acetylgalactosamine antigenic carbohydrate residues by specific glycosidases has emerged as a useful strategy to convert all blood donations of different types into the 0 universal one. Although cell surface modification may be accomplished by suitable enzymes, in many practical applications, their poor association with cell surfaces due to the repulsion of two hydrophilic entities hamper this technology, because of the need of high concentrations of reagent that may be toxic for cells and making the process costly. Thus, the development of a general process improving enzymatic reactions on cell surfaces are particularly attractive. In this example, the enzymatic reaction on blood group determinants was performed with good efficiency by a strategy based on macromolecular crowding with biocompatible and cheap neutral polymers, such as dextran and ficoll [95], granting over 440-fold increase of enzymatic glycoengineering activity on cells surface. This research emphasized the relevance of discovering new and efficient methods for glycan-specific cell surface engineering that hold promise for clinical applications.

13.6 Conclusions

We showed several examples highlighting the involvement of carbohydrates in the modulation of cell adhesion, function, homing, and differentiation. The ability to exploit and mimic glycan roles in a tissue-specific manner will afford new opportunities in regenerative medicine, which in the next future will rely on the development of innovative and efficient glycoengineering technologies. However, research is still needed, requiring continued crossing of disciplines, heavily including chemistry, along with complementary contributions of medicine, biotechnology, biology, engineering, and material science. In addition, a better understanding of glycobiology of stem cells and signaling within complex extracellular matrix interactions is still needed in order to fully exploit the potentialities given by the glycocode.

References

- Daar AS, Greenwood HL. A proposed definition of regenerative medicine. J Tissue Eng Regen Med. 2007;1:179–84.
- Katari R, Peloso A, Orlando G. Tissue engineering and regenerative medicine: semantic considerations for an evolving paradigm. Front Bioeng Biotechnol. 2014;2:57.
- Khademhosseini A, Langer R. A decade of progress in tissue engineering. Nat Protoc. 2016;11:1775–81.
- D'Amico RA, Rubin JP. Regenerative medicine and the future of plastic surgery. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2014;133(6):1511–2.
- Pattison MA, Wurster S, Webster TJ, Haberstroh KM. Three-dimensional, nano-structured PLGA scaffolds for bladder tissue replacement applications. Biomaterials. 2005;26:2491–500.
- Langer R, Tirrell D. Designing materials for biology and medicine. Nature. 2004;428:487–92.
- Luo T, Mohan K, Iglesias PA, Robinson DN. Molecular mechanisms of cellular Mechanosensing. Nat Mater. 2013;12:1064–71.

- Thompson J, Itskovitz-Eldor J, Shapiro S, Waknitz M, Swiergiel J, Marshall V, Jones JM. Embryonic stem cell lines derived from human blastocysts. Science. 1998;282:1145–7.
- Okita K, Ichisaka T, Yamanaka S. Generation of germline-competent induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature. 2007;448:313–7.
- Murphy CM, Haugh MG, O'Brien FJ. The effect of mean pore size on cell attachment, proliferation and migration in collagen-glycosaminoglycan scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. Biomaterials. 2010;31:461–6.
- Murphy CM, O'Brien FJ. Understanding the effect of mean pore size on cell activity in collagenglycosaminoglycan scaffolds. Cell Adhes Migr. 2010;4:377–81.
- Partap S, Lyons F, O'Brien FJ. IV.1. Scaffolds & surfaces. Stud Health Technol Inform. 2010;152:187–201.
- Hollister SJ. Scaffold engineering: a bridge to where? Biofabrication. 2009;1(1):012001.
- Pashuck ET, Stevens MM. Designing regenerative biomaterial therapies. Sci Transl Med. 2012;4:160–4.
- O'Brien FJ. Biomaterials & scaffolds for tissue engineering. Mater Today. 2011;3:88–95.
- Lee KY, Ok Kang LJY, Lee SJ, Park WH. Electrospinning of polysaccharides for regenerative medicine. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2009;61:1020–32.
- 17. Mano JF, Silva GA, Azevedo HS, Malafaya PB, Sousa RA, Silva SS, Boesel LF, Oliveira JM, Santos TC, Marques AP, Neves NM, Reis RL. Natural origin biodegradable systems in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine: present status and some moving trends. J R Soc Interface. 2007;4:999–1030.
- Kim JJ, Evans GRD. Applications of biomaterials in plastic surgery. Clin Plast Surg. 2012;39:359–76.
- Necas J, Bartosikova L, Brauner P, Kolar J. Hyaluronic acid (hyaluronan): a review. Vet Med. 2008;53:397–411.
- Prasitslip M, Jenwithisuk R, Kongsuwan K, Damrongchai N, Watts P. Cellular responses to chitosan in vitro: the importance of deacetylation. J Mater Sci Mater Med. 2000;11:773–80.
- Azuma K, Izumi R, Osaki T, Ifuku S, Morimoto N, Saimoto H, Minami S, Okamoto Y. Chitin, chitosan, and its derivatives for wound healing: old and new materials. J Funct Biomater. 2015;6:104–42.
- Croisier F, Jérôme C. Chitosan-based biomaterials for tissue engineering. Eur Polym J. 2013;49:780–92.
- Anitha A, Sowmya S, Sudheesh Kumara PT, Deepthia S, Chennazhia KP, Ehrlich H, Tsurkan M, Jayakumar R. Chitin and chitosan in selected biomedical applications. Prog Polym Sci. 2014;39:1644–67.
- Mekhail M, Tabrizian M. Injectable chitosan-based scaffolds in regenerative medicine and their clinical translatability. Adv Healthc Mater. 2014;3:1529–45.
- 25. Rodríguez-Vázquez M, Vega-Ruiz B, Ramos-Zúñiga R, Saldaña-Koppel DA, Quiñones-Olvera LF. Chitosan and its potential use as a scaffold for tissue engineering in regenerative medicine. Biomed Res Int. 2015;2015:821279.

- Bao Ha TL, Minh Quan T, Nguyen Vu D, Minh Si D. Naturally derived biomaterials: preparation and application. Accessed 11/4/17. doi:https://doi. org/10.5772/55668.
- Klemm D, Philipp B, Heinze T, Heinze U, Wagenknecht W. Comprehensive cellulose chemistry: fundamentals and analytical methods, Volume 1. 2004. Accessed 11/4/17. doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/3527601929. ch1/summary.
- Klemm D, Philipp B, Heinze T, Heinze U, Wagenknecht W. Comprehensive cellulose chemistry: functionalization of cellulose, Volume 2. 2004 onlinelibrary.wiley.com/. Accessed 11/4/17. doi:https://doi. org/10.1002/3527601937.oth/summary
- Smas K. Bacterial cellulose production and its industrial applications. J Bioprocess Biotech. 2014;4:150.
- Tuzlakoglu K, Bolgen N, Salgado AJ, Gomes ME, Piskin E, Reis RL. Nano- and microfiber combined scaffolds: a new architecture for bone tissue engineering. J Mater Sci Mater Med. 2005;16:1099–104.
- Duarte ARC, Mano JF, Reis RL. Preparation of starch-based scaffolds for tissue engineering by supercritical immersion precipitation. J Supercrit Fluids. 2009;49:279–85.
- Sun J, Tan H. Alginate-based biomaterials for regenerative medicine applications. Materials. 2013;6:1285–309.
- Entcheva E, Bien H, Yin L, Chung CY, Farrell M, Kostov Y. Functional cardiac cell constructs on cellulose-based scaffolding. Biomaterials. 2004;25:5753–62.
- 34. Svensson A, Nicklasson E, Harrah T, Panilaitis B, Kaplan DL, Brittberg M, Gatenholm P. (2005). Bacterial cellulose as a potential scaffold for tissue engineering of cartilage. Biomaterials. 2005;26:419–31.
- Robert JM, Ashlie M, John N, John S, Je Y. Cellulose nanomaterials review: structure, properties and nanocomposites. Chem Soc Rev. 2011;40:3941–94.
- 36. Xie SX, Liu Q, Cui SW. Starch modification and applications. In: Cui SW, editor. Food carbohydrates: chemistry, physical properties, and applications. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press; Taylor & Francis Group; 2005. p. 357–405.
- Rodriguez-Gonzalez FJ, Ramsay BA, Favis BD. Rheological and thermal properties of thermoplastic starch with high glycerol content. Carbohydr Polym. 2004;58:139–47.
- Yong Lee K, Mooney DJ. Alginate: properties and biomedical applications. Prog Polym Sci. 2012;37:106–26.
- Liberski A, Latif N, Raynaud C, Bollensdorff C, Yacoub M. Alginate for cardiac regeneration: from seaweed to clinical trials. Glob Cardiol Sci Pract. 2016;M2016(1):e201604.
- 40. Roach BL, Nover AB, Ateshian GA, Hung CT. Agarose hydrogel characterization for regenerative medicine applications: focus on engineering cartilage. In: Neves NM, Reis RL, editors. Biomaterials from nature for advanced devices and

therapies. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.; 2016.

- 41. Silva TH, Alves A, Popa EG, Reys LL, Gomes ME, Sousa RA, Silva SS, Mano JF, Reis RL. Marine algae sulfated polysaccharides for tissue engineering and drug delivery approaches. Biomatter. 2012;2:278–89.
- 42. Mihaila SM, Popa EG, Reis RL, Marques AP, Gomes ME. Fabrication of endothelial cell-laden carrageenan microfibers for microvascularized bone tissue engineering applications. Biomacromolecules. 2014;15:2849–260.
- Naessens M, Cerdobbel A, Soetaert W, Vandamme EJ. Leuconostoc dextransucrase and dextran: production, properties and applications. J Chem Technol Biotechnol. 2005;80:845–60.
- Sun G, Mao JJ. Engineering dextran-based scaffolds for drug delivery and tissue repair. Nanomedicine UK. 2012;7:1771–84.
- Silva.Correia J, Oliveira JM, Caridade SG, Oliveira JT, Sousa RA, Mano JF, Reis RL. Gellan gum-based hydrogels for intervertebral disc tissue-engineering applications. Tissue Eng Regen Med. 2011;5:e97–e107.
- 46. Oliveira JT, Martins L, Picciochi R, Malafaya PB, Sousa RA, Neves NM, Mano JF, Reis RL. Gellan gum: a new biomaterial for cartilage tissue engineering applications. J Biomed Mater Res Part A. 2010;93(3):852–63.
- Rekha MR, Sharma CP. Pullulan as a promising biomaterial for biomedical applications: a perspective. Trends Biomater Artif Organs. 2007;20:116–21.
- Rosalam S, England R. Review of xanthan gum production from unmodified starches by Xanthomonas campestris sp. Enzym Microb Technol. 2006;39:197–207.
- Hickman GJ, Boocock DJ, Pockley AG, Perry CC. The importance and clinical relevance of surfaces in tissue culture. ACS Biomater Sci Eng. 2016;2:152–64.
- Gabius HJ, Roth J. An introduction to the sugar code. Histochem Cell Biol. 2017;147:111–7.
- 51. Gabius HJ. The sugar code: why glycans are so important. Biosystems. 2018;164:102–11.
- 52. Narain R, Sunasee R. Covalent and noncovalent bioconjugation strategies. In: Narain R, editor. Chemistry of bioconjugates: synthesis, characterization, and biomedical applications. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.; 2014.
- Azagarsamy MA, Anseth KS. Bioorthogonal click chemistry: an indispensable tool to create multifaceted cell culture scaffolds. ACS Macro Lett. 2013;2:5–9.
- Werz DB. Chemical synthesis of carbohydrates and their surface immobilization: a brief introduction. Methods Mol Biol. 2012;808:13–29.
- Hersel U, Dahmen C, Kessler H. RGD modified polymers: biomaterials for stimulated cell adhesion and beyond. Biomaterials. 2003;24:4385–415.
- Russo L, Cipolla L. Glycomics: new challenges and opportunities in regenerative medicine. Chem Eur J. 2016;22:13380–8.

- Oka JA, Weigel PH. Binding and spreading of hepatocytes on synthetic galatose culture surfaces occur as distinct and separable threshold responses. J Cell Biol. 1986;103:1055–60.
- Mager MD, LaPointe V, Stevens MM. Exploring and exploiting chemistry at the cell surface. Nat Chem. 2011;3(8):582–9.
- Cho CS, Seo SJ, Park IK, Kim SH, Kim TH, Hoshiba T, Harada I, Akaike T. Biomaterials. 2006;27:576–85.
- Griffith LG, Lopina S. Microdistribution of substratum-bound ligands affects cell function: hepatocyte spreading on PEO-tethered galactose. Biomaterials. 1998;19:979–86.
- Kang IK, Kim GJ, Kwon OH, Ito Y. Co-culture of hepatocytes and fibroblasts by micropatterned immobilization of beta-galactose derivatives. Biomaterials. 2004;25(18):4225–32.
- 62. Park KH, Takei R, Goto M, Maruyama A, Kobayashi A, Kobayashi K, Akaike T. Specific interaction between erythrocytes and a glucose-carrying polymer mediated by the type-1 glucose transporter (GLUT-1) on the cell membrane. J Biochem. 1997;121(6):997–1001.
- 63. Kino-oka M, Morinaga Y, Kim MH, Takezawa Y, Kawase M, Yagi K, Taya M. Morphological regulation of rabbit chondrocytes on glucose-displayed surface. Biomaterials. 2007;28(9):1680–8.
- 64. Russo L, Russo T, Battocchio C, Taraballi F, Gloria A, D'Amora U, De Santis R, Polzonetti G, Nicotra F, Ambrosio L, Cipolla L. Galactose grafting on poly(ε-caprolactone) substrates for tissue engineering: a pre-liminary study. Carbohydr Res. 2015;20(405):39–46.
- 65. Russo L, Gloria A, Russo T, D'Amora U, Taraballi F, De Santis R, Ambrosio L, Nicotra F, Cipolla L. Glucosamine grafting on poly(ε-caprolactone): a novel glycated polyester as a substrate for tissue engineering. RSC Adv. 2013;3:6286–9.
- 66. Slaney AM, Wright VA, Meloncelli PJ, Harris KD, West LJ, Lowary TL, Buriak JM. Biocompatible carbohydrate-functionalized stainless steel surfaces: a new method for passivating biomedical implants. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces. 2011;3(5):1601–12.
- Russo L, Landi E, Tampieri A, Natalello A, Doglia SM, Gabrielli L, Cipolla L, Nicotra F. Sugardecorated hydroxyapatite: an inorganic material bioactivated with carbohydrates. Carbohydr Res. 2011;346(12):1564–8.
- Paschos NK, Brown WE, Eswaramoorthy R, Hu JC, Athanasiou KA. Advances in tissue engineering through stem cell-based co-culture. J Tissue Eng Regen Med. 2015;9(5):488–503.
- 69. Schneider A, Bolcato-Bellemin AL, Francius G, Jedrzejwska J, Schaaf P, Voegel JC, Frisch B, Picart C. Glycated polyelectrolyte multilayer films: differential adhesion of primary versus tumor cells. Biomacromolecules. 2006;7(10):2882–9.
- Howard MJ, Chambers MG, Mason RM, Isacke CM. Distribution of Endo180 receptor and ligand in developing articular cartilage. Osteoarthr Cartil. 2004;12(1):74–82.

- Onodera T, Niikura K, Iwasaki N, Nagahori N, Shimaoka H, Kamitani R, Majima T, Minami A, Nishimura S. Specific cell behavior of human fibroblast onto carbohydrate surface detected by glycoblotting films. Biomacromolecules. 2006;7(11):2949–55.
- 72. Meng Q, Haque A, Hexig B, Akaike T. The differentiation and isolation of mouse embryonic stem cells toward hepatocytes using galactose-carrying substrata. Biomaterials. 2012;33(5):1414–27.
- 73. Sgambato A, Russo L, Montesi M, Panseri S, Marcacci M, Caravà E, Raspanti M, Cipolla L. Different sialoside epitopes on collagen film surfaces direct mesenchymal stem cell fate. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces. 2016;8(24):14952–7.
- Kleene R, Schachner M. Glycans and neural cell interactions. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2004;5(3):195–208.
- Freeze HH, Eklund EA, Ng BG, Patterson MC. Neurological aspects of human glycosylation disorders. Annu Rev Neurosci. 2015;38:105–25.
- Orive G, Anitua E, Pedraz JL, Emerich DF. Biomaterials for promoting brain protection, repair and regeneration. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2009;10(9):682–92.
- 77. Tam RY, Fuehrmann T, Mitrousis N, Shoichet MS. Regenerative therapies for central nervous system diseases: a biomaterials approach. Neuropsychopharmacology. 2014;39(1):169–88.
- Russo L, Sgambato A, Guizzardi R, Vesentini S, Cipolla L, Nicotra F. Glyco-functionalysed biomaterials in neuroregeneration. In: Shama HS, Muresanu D, Sharma A, editors. Drug and gene delivery to the central nervous system for neuroprotection: Springer; 2017. p. 179–98.
- Russo L, Sgambato A, Lecchi M, Pastori V, Raspanti M, Natalello A, Doglia SM, Nicotra F, Cipolla L. Neoglucosylated collagen matrices drive neuronal cells to differentiate. ACS Chem Neurosci. 2014;5(4):261–5.
- Kalovidouris SA, Gama CI, Lee LW, Hsieh-Wilson LC. A role for fucose alpha(1-2) galactose carbohydrates in neuronal growth. J Am Chem Soc. 2005;127(5):1340–1.
- Custódio CA, Mano JF. Cell surface engineering to control cellular interactions. Chem Nano Mat. 2016;2(5):376–84.
- 82. Cheng H, Byrska-Bishop M, Zhang CT, Kastrup CJ, Hwang NS, Tai AK, Lee WW, Xu X, Nahrendorf M, Langer R, Anderson DG. Stem cell membrane engineering for cell rolling using peptide conjugation and tuning of cell-selectin interaction kinetics. Biomaterials. Cham: Springer; 2012;33(20):5004–12.
- Stephan MT, Irvine DJ. Enhancing cell therapies from the outside in: cell surface engineering using synthetic nanomaterials. Nano Today. 2011;6(3):309–25.
- Saliba RC, Pohl NL. Designing sugar mimetics: nonnatural pyranosides as innovative chemical tools. Curr Opin Chem Biol. 2016;34:127–34.
- 85. Sminia TJ, Zuilhof H, Wennekes T. Getting a grip on glycans: a current overview of the metabolic oli-

gosaccharide engineering toolbox. Carbohydr Res. 2016;435:121-41.

- Wratil PR, Rîdiger Horstkorte R, Angew WR. Metabolic Glycoengineering with N-acyl side chain modified Mannosamines. Angew Chem IntEd. 2016;55:9482–512.
- Kiessling LL, Splain RA. Chemical approaches to glycobiology. Annu Rev Biochem. 2010;79:619–53.
- Mahal LK, Charter NW, Angata K, Fukuda M, Koshland DE, Bertozzi CR. A small-molecule modulator of poly-α2,8-sialic acid expression on cultured neurons and tumor cells. Science. 2001;294:380–2.
- Sampathkumar SG, Li AV, Jones MB, Sun Z, Yarema KJ. Metabolic installation of thiols into sialic acid modulates adhesion and stem cell biology. Nat Chem Biol. 2006;2(3):149–52.
- Xie R, Hong S, Feng L, Rong J, Chen X. Cellselective metabolic glycan labeling based on ligandtargeted liposomes. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl. 2015;54(52):15782–8.95.
- 91. Woods EC, Yee NA, Shen J, Bertozzi CR. Glycocalyx engineering with a recycling glycopolymer that

increases cell survival in vivo. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl. 2015;54:15782–8.

- 92. Kramer JR, Onoa B, Bustamante C, Bertozzi CR. Chemically tunable mucin chimeras assembled on living cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2015;112:12574–9.
- 93. Sarkar D, Spencer JA, Phillips JA, Zha W, Schafer S, Spelke DP, Mortensen LJ, Ruiz JP, Vemula PK, Sridharan R, Kumar S, Karnik R, Lin CP, Karp JM. Engineered cell homing. Blood. 2011;118:184–91.
- 94. Sackstein R, Merzaban JS, Cain DW, Dagia NM, Spencer JA, Lin CP, Wohlgemuth R. Ex vivo glycan engineering of CD44 programs human multipotent mesenchymal stromal cell trafficking to bone. Nat Med. 2008;14:181–7.
- 95. Chapanian R, Kwan DH, Constantinescu I, Shaikh FA, Rossi NA, Withers SG, Kizhakkedathu JN. Enhancement of biological reactions on cell surfaces via macromolecular crowding. Nat Commun. 2014;5:4683.



14

Biomimetics: A New Abstraction for Bone Implant Design

Elizabeth A. Brett, Matthias A. Sauter, and Dominik Duscher

14.1 Introduction

Biomimetics and biomimicry are thought processes applied to biomaterial design, where biological implants have properties which mirror closely those of natural material. Designing implants with this mindset may elegantly circumvent some of the roadblocks in synthetic biomaterial design and function [1]. Bone regeneration is a particularly attractive frame for this work, given the tissue heterogeneity and mechanical role of bone. However, in recent years, problems with physical shape, surface chemistry, and mechanical properties have been identified in implants. Implant failure through peri-implantitis, peri-mucositis, peri-implant disease, or infection can lead to pain, mechanical loosening, and eventual need for extraction [2]. Similarly, some literature has outlined concerns with implants, specifically showing unfavorable physical remodeling over time [3]. Eliminating the variability associated with implants would mean a

Division for Experimental Plastic Surgery, Department of Plastic and Hand Surgery, Klinikum rechts der Isar, Technical University of Munich, Munich, Germany e-mail: Eliza.Brett@tum.de; matthias.sauter@tum.de huge decrease in patient morbidity and cost burden. These concerns have ushered biomimetics and new material design techniques to the forefront.

14.2 The Recipient Site

Types of bony reconstruction range from structural nonload-bearing bone (e.g., calvarium) to larger compact load-bearing bone (e.g., femur). Host bone can be challenging, for instance if it is osteoporotic [4] or osteomyelotic [5, 6]. To ensure a fit of the implant in the host bone, underreaming is performed; a drilling process designed to facilitate the implant, sometimes known to fracture the host bone further [7]. It is especially problematic in the context of osteoporotic bone, which can exhibit low "pull out strength" of an implant once in situ [8]. Another quite common issue is poor nutrient diffusion, borne of compromised blood supply. Diffusion distance of oxygen in vivo is 150–200 µm [9]. As such, certain materials may stimulate vascular ingrowth into the host bone. Inactivators of prolyl hydroxylase (e.g., cobalt ions) have been shown to stabilize HIF-1 α , a potent proangiogenic factor, resulting in upregulated expression of genes such as GLUT1, erythropoietin, VEGF, and PDGF [10, 11]. Bone that has undergone irradiation falls in the same category of hostile recipient sites. Macroscopically, a threaded implant (akin to a

E. A. Brett · M. A. Sauter

D. Duscher (🖂)

Department for Plastic Surgery and Hand Surgery, Division of Experimental Plastic Surgery, Technical University of Munich, Munich, Germany

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

D. Duscher, M. A. Shiffman (eds.), *Regenerative Medicine and Plastic Surgery*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19958-6_14

screw) gives immediate stability and provides close, fixed contact between the graft and host bone.

14.3 Mechanical Stability of Implant

Issues with bone implants chiefly lie in materials destined for load-bearing bone healing. The Young's modulus of trabecular bone is 10.4-14.8 GPa, and cortical bone measures 18.4-20.7 GPa [12]. Naturally, stainless steel has a much higher modulus of 180 GPa, cobalt chromium (Co-Cr) at 210 GPa, and titanium at 110 GPa [13]. "Stress shielding" is the physiological response resulting from implanting a harder material into a softer host tissue. The result is fibrous encapsulation of implant, allowing for micro-movement of the implant unit. Mobility of an implant creates a specific wear, called fretting [14]. Fretting implants can gradually loosen and eventually fail within the host bone [15]. Moreover, fragments of the implant are frequently known to break off the body of the implant, causing local abrasion of the surrounding, softer bone tissue [16]. Debris of implants can sometimes be found in alternate locations in the body, such as the spleen, liver, and abdominal lymph nodes of arthroplasty patients [17].

It was Albrektsson et al. in 1981 [18] who first showed the complete "osseointegration" of titanium. During a fracture fixation experiment in a rabbit femur, Branemark discovered the removal of the titanium implant from bone was completely impossible. Further studies using transmission electron microscopy showed a new phenomenon of direct contact between bone and implant, without the surrounding fibrous capsule responsible for implant looseness and micromovement [19]. Filamentous collagen type 1 was found to form fibrils at the implant-bone interface (resembling the strong Sharpey's fibers of the scalp), giving the tight coupling of metal and bone [18]. The phenomenon of the absence of fibrous encapsulation around titanium implants has inspired implant design for more than just bone. Tissue expanders used for breast reconstruction can include a titanium-coated mesh to reduce the fibrotic content of the breast [20]. In the context of bone, titanium is now being tested in advanced models of craniofacial bone healing, using titanium granules to stimulate maxillary sinuses [21]. However, in terms of biomimetics, titanium presents some mechanical challenges, specifically in terms of difference in stiffness between it and the host tissue, for example, femur. This hurdle is called modular mismatch [22] and can be dodged by using material whose bulk mechanical properties more closely resemble bone.

14.4 Grafts Based on Bone Mineral Components

The unique nature of bone is that it is largely mineralized. In its dry mass, bone is 60–70% mineral, which is non-immunogenic and ubiquitously found (Fig. 14.1) [23]. As such, the use of natural material already in existence presents an option for creating biomimetic implant matter. Nacre, or mother-of-pearl, is pure calcium carbonate produced by mollusks. Mixing pulverized



Fig. 14.1 Bone composition

nacre with patient blood and implanting the mixture into a human mandibular defect site was largely effective in closing the defect and stimulating regenerative cellular activity in the location [24]. Many successful bone biomaterials incorporate calcium or hydroxyapatite to help facilitate bone formation and graft "take." A study comparing biologic bovine-derived bone grafts (BioOss® Bone Substitute; Ed. Geistlich Soehne, Wolhusen, Switzerland), with a highly porous synthetic hydroxyapatite scaffold (IngeniOsTM HA Synthetic Bone Particles; Zimmer Dental, Inc., Carlsbad, CA), showed highly similar chemistry, morphology, and structure [21]. FT-IR spectra revealed high crystallinity (thus low resorption) of the synthetic IngeniOs Hydroxyapatite Synthetic Bone Particles, owing to the purity of its manufacturing processes versus natural variation [25]. The difference in purity between synthetic and biologic material by proxy of uniform industrial manufacture is seen throughout most implant forms.

Beta tricalcium phosphate (β -TCP) is a calcium salt abundant in bone, and has been shown to be highly and quickly reactive as part of a bone graft. This is because in an aqueous environment, TCP reacts to form hydroxyapatite [26]. Effects of TCP can be exaggerated with strategic addition of growth factors in vivo, as was seen throughout a series of randomized control trials using platelet-derived growth factor and β -TCP as agents to heal periodontal intraosseous defects [27]. In fact, β -TCP has been shown to contribute to bone healing faster than hydroxyapatite alone, secondary to its rapid rate of resorption [28]. Meanwhile, HAPEX is an amalgamation of the biologic mineral hydroxyapatite and synthetic high-weight polyethylene. This mixture makes for a bioactive polymer, which has been used in the reconstruction of orbital floor and middle ear defects [29]. Cerasorb is pure β -TCP, designed to be mixed with the patient's own blood or platelet-rich plasma and added to the defect site, primarily for periodontic healing. As a different oceanic source of bone mineral, coral holds properties which mimic bone. Coral forms hydroxyapatite on its surface due to its calcium carbonate core and also retains its native trabecular structure, having inherent biomedical value as a spongy bone substitute [30, 31].

14.5 Grafts Based on Structural Protein

An important component of bone structure is both protein. structural and supportive. Hyaluronic acid (HA) is a high-molecular-weight nonsulfated glycosaminoglycan, which is formed in the plasma membrane of cells [32]. It is a highly negative molecule capable of attracting proteoglycans, which in turn harbor water. Logically, ECM scaffolds containing HA have reached the market for dermal applications, given that hyaluronate is an antifibrotic, hydrating agent in a healing wound [33]. However, in the context of bone grafts, rabbit tibias which received HA showed increased healing 20 days after injury, exhibiting fibrocartilage formation, which later ossified, in comparison to the non-HA-treated bones, which formed purely fibrous unions [34]. More sophisticated, combinatorial approaches have been designed around HA, e.g., use of HA in a hydrogel with calcium sulfate hemihydrate, a bioresorbable, osteoconductive compound [35].

Composite biomimetic grafts over simple hydrogel injection are required for healing of large load-bearing bones. For instance, addition of protein to a hydrogel or impregnated into an implant introduces necessary cellular osteogenic mechanisms. In a canine femoral defect model, bone morphogenetic protein (BMP) in tandem with collagen type-1/TCP showed increased healing of the femur in the presence of bone marrow aspirate [36]. These studies suggest collagen type 1 as a logical and functional agent to match the modulus of the femur. Similarly, there is utility of bone marrowderived cells stimulated by pro-osteogenic growth factors in bone healing.

A highly osteogenic component of bone is the periosteum, a stratified structure of an inner cell layer (cambium layer), and tough, fibrous outer layer [37]. Damaged bone which undergoes delayed reconstruction may show heterotopic ossification, disorganized bony formations at the injury site due to disrupted periosteum [38]. As such, strategically placed periosteal grafts present a highly biomimetic solution of autografting onto damaged bone [39]. Due to the sheet-like structure of the periosteum, periosteal grafts have found their primary utility in dental and alveolar grafting, as opposed to long, load-bearing bone reconstruction [40].

14.6 Grafts Based on Cellular Implants

Despite orthopedic management of fractures becoming better and better, some healed injuries will persist with fibrous nonunions [41]. To address this, "The Diamond Concept" has been developed, which encompasses four different aspects of in vivo bone regeneration: an osteoconductive scaffold, a suitable mechanical environment, osteoinductive signals, and a proosteogenic cell population [42].

The ability to direct stem cells to an osteogenic pathway represents a huge regenerative role. Addition of cells to bone grafts is a concept based on isolating cell types, which will either immediately and directly add bone (osteoblasts/ osteoclasts), or have the potential to differentiate, providing angiogenic and osteogenic factors (mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) and adiposederived stem cells (ASCs) [43].

Cell surface markers indicative of osteogenic behavior can vary from poorly defined CD markers to more well-known pro-osteogenic growth factor receptors. BMP receptor type-1b (BMPR-1b) binds BMP and has an important role in directing bone formation [44]. As such, using FACS to select for BMPR-1bpositive cells from ASCs results in a population with increased osteogenic gene expression and in vitro osteogenic potential [45]. Moreover, when coupled with a porous, osteoconductive scaffold coated in osteoinductive hydroxyapatite, rapid bone formation is observed in vivo [46]. Similarly, ASCs positive for CD90 (Thy-1) have been shown to significantly increase healing of bone defects when compared with their negative and unsorted control groups [47, 48]. Importantly, CD90 expression has been shown to vary dramatically between in vivo and in vitro settings, making use of this marker unpredictable [49]. Similarly, other markers also have difficult expression profiles to track and analyze, such as CD105 (endoglin), a bone marrow mesenchymal cell marker. However, it was discovered that isolating CD105-negative cells and waiting 36h in culture yielded a subpopulation with enhanced osteogenic potential in vivo [50]. CD105 is especially nuanced, although in that it acts as a co-receptor for TGF- β 1, which is a known antagonist of osteogenic differentiation [51], thus explaining a parallel decrease in bone formation with increased expression. These findings simultaneously highlight the promise and problems of using surface marker selection criteria in isolating heterogeneous stem cell populations for bone regenerative purposes.

There are multiple different bone diseases being researched under an autologous cell transfer lens. For instance, the efficacy of bone regeneration by autologous bone marrow harvested from the anterior iliac crest has been shown in atrophic diaphyseal nonunion. Here, a biomaterial was created by concentrating marrow via centrifugation, which could be loaded into a syringe and injected into the recipient site. Analysis of diseased tibias postmarrow transplant showed increased bone callus mineralization [52]. Similarly, osteogenesis imperfecta (OI) is a genetic disease of the mesenchymal cells, whereby a defective collagen type 1 is produced, giving rise to bone weakness and malformation. Unmanipulated bone marrow donations from healthy matched siblings or family members have been shown to increase trabecular bone formation in the recipient OI patient [53]. On the cellular level, the harvest, culture, and transplant of bone marrow-derived stromal cells have been found to be effective in repairing large bone defects in human [54]. However, these cells are most efficient when placed in situ seeded on a macroporous scaffold [55].

14.7 Conclusions

In order to medically complete bone regeneration, the current therapies must evolve in accordance with current research. Biomimetics drives creativity and innovation to emulate the healing mechanisms already in place. Due to the biological nature of much of the research mentioned in this chapter, product development still faces considerable regulatory hurdles. However, the baseline knowledge derived from experiments and research listed herein is a great platform upon which therapies can be built. The biomimetic boundaries to be pushed in bone regeneration are collagen or collagen analogs, soluble minerals, and active cell populations.

References

- Kumar P, Vinitha B, Fathima G. Bone grafts in dentistry. J Pharm Bioallied Sci. 2013;5(Suppl 1):S125–7.
- Esposito M, Hirsch JM, Lekholm U, Thomsen P. Biological factors contributing to failures of osseointegrated oral implants. (I). Success criteria and epidemiology. Eur J Oral Sci. 1998;106(1):527–51.
- Cavallaro A, Lo Menzo E, Di Vita M, Zanghi A, Cavallaro V, Veroux PF, Cappellani A. Use of biological meshes for abdominal wall reconstruction in highly contaminated fields. World J Gastroenterol. 2010;16(15):1928–33.
- Merheb J, Temmerman A, Rasmusson L, Kubler A, Thor A, Quirynen M. Influence of skeletal and local bone density on dental implant stability in patients with osteoporosis. Clin Implant Dent Relat Res. 2016;18(2):253–60.
- Funao H, Nagai S, Sasaki A, Hoshikawa T, Tsuji T, Okada Y, Koyasu S, Toyama Y, Nakamura M, Aizawa M, Matsumoto M, Ishii K. A novel hydroxyapatite film coated with ionic silver via inositol hexaphosphate chelation prevents implant-associated infection. Sci Rep. 2016;6:23238.
- von Eiff C, Peters G, Heilmann C. Pathogenesis of infections due to coagulase-negative staphylococci. Lancet Infect Dis. 2002;2(11):677–85.
- Winter W, Karl M. Basic considerations for determining the amount of press fit in acetabular cup endoprostheses as a function of the elastic bone behavior. Biomed Tech. 2014;59(5):413–20.
- Pesce V, Speciale D, Sammarco G, Patella S, Spinarelli A, Patella V. Surgical approach to bone healing in osteoporosis. Clin Cases Miner Bone Metab. 2009;6(2):131–5.
- 9. Laschke MW, Harder Y, Amon M, Martin I, Farhadi J, Ring A, Torio-Padron N, Schramm

R, Rücker M, Junker D, Häufel JM, Carvalho C, Heberer M, Germann G, Vollmar B, Menger MD. Angiogenesis in tissue engineering: breathing life into constructed tissue substitutes. Tissue Eng. 2006;12(8):2093–104.

- Wu Y, Chen L, Scott PG, Tredget EE. Mesenchymal stem cells enhance wound healing through differentiation and angiogenesis. Stem Cells. 2007;25(10):2648–59.
- Wu C, Zhou Y, Fan W, Han P, Chang J, Yuen J, Zhang M, Xiao Y. Hypoxia-mimicking mesoporous bioactive glass scaffolds with controllable cobalt ion release for bone tissue engineering. Biomaterials. 2012;33(7):2076–85.
- Rho JY, Ashman RB, Turner CH. Young's modulus of trabecular and cortical bone material: ultrasonic and microtensile measurements. J Biomech. 1993;26(2):111–9.
- Niinomi M, Nakai M. Titanium-based biomaterials for preventing stress shielding between implant devices and bone. Int J Biomater. 2011;2011:836587.
- Gao SS, Zhang YR, Zhu ZL, Yu HY. Micromotions and combined damages at the dental implant/bone interface. Int J Oral Sci. 2012;4(4):182–8.
- Müller M, Hennig FF, Hothorn T, Stangl R. Boneimplant interface shear modulus and ultimate stress in a transcortical rabbit model of open-pore Ti6Al4V implants. J Biomech. 2013;39(11):2123–32.
- Schmalzried TP, Jasty M, Harris WH. Periprosthetic bone loss in total hip arthroplasty. Polyethylene wear debris and the concept of the effective joint space. J Bone Joint Surg. 1992;74(6):849–63.
- Urban RM, Jacobs JJ, Tomlinson MJ, Gavrilovic J, Black J, Peoc'h M. Dissemination of wear particles to the liver, spleen, and abdominal lymph nodes of patients with hip or knee replacement. J Bone Joint Surg. 2000;82(4):457–76.
- Albrektsson T, Branemark PI, Hansson HA, Lindstrom J. Osseointegrated titanium implants. Requirements for ensuring a long-lasting, direct boneto-implant anchorage in man. Acta Orthop Scand. 1981;52(2):155–70.
- Duyck J, Vandamme K, Geris L, Van Oosterwyck H, De Cooman M, Vandersloten J, et al. The influence of micro-motion on the tissue differentiation around immediately loaded cylindrical turned titanium implants. Arch Oral Biol. 2006;51(1):1–9.
- Casella D, Calabrese C, Bianchi S, Meattini I, Bernini M. Subcutaneous tissue expander placement with synthetic titanium-coated mesh in breast reconstruction: long-term results. Plast Reconstr Surg Glob Open. 2015;3(12):e577.
- Dursun CK, Dursun E, Eratalay K, Orhan K, Tatar I, Baris E, Tözüm TF. Effect of porous titanium granules on bone regeneration and primary stability in maxillary sinus: a human clinical, histomorphometric, and microcomputed tomography analyses. J Craniofac Surg. 2016;27(2):391–7.
- 22. Gruen TA, McNeice GM, Amstutz HC. "Modes of failure" of cemented stem-type femoral components:

a radiographic analysis of loosening. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1979;141:17–27.

- Boskey AL. Bone composition: relationship to bone fragility and antiosteoporotic drug effects. Bonekey Rep. 2013;2:447.
- 24. Westbroek P, Marin F. A marriage of bone and nacre. Nature. 1998;392(6679):861–2.
- 25. Kattimani VS, Chakravarthi SP, Neelima Devi KN, Sridhar MS, Prasad LK. Comparative evaluation of bovine derived hydroxyapatite and synthetic hydroxyapatite graft in bone regeneration of human maxillary cystic defects: a clinico-radiological study. Indian J Dental Res. 2014;25(5):594–601.
- Cao H, Kuboyama N. A biodegradable porous composite scaffold of PGA/beta-TCP for bone tissue engineering. Bone. 2010;46(2):386–95.
- Calin C, Patrascu I. Growth factors and betatricalcium phosphate in the treatment of periodontal intraosseous defects: a systematic review and metaanalysis of randomised controlled trials. Arch Oral Biol. 2016;66:44–54.
- Walsh WR, Vizesi F, Michael D, Auld J, Langdown A, Oliver R, Yu Y, Irie H, Bruce W. Beta-TCP bone graft substitutes in a bilateral rabbit tibial defect model. Biomaterials. 2008;29(3):266–71.
- Tanner KE. Bioactive ceramic-reinforced composites for bone augmentation. J R Soc Interface. 2010;7(Suppl 5):S541–57.
- Damien E, Revell PA. Coralline hydroxyapatite bone graft substitute: a review of experimental studies and biomedical applications. J Appl Biomater Biomech. 2004;2(2):65–73.
- Vago R, Plotquin D, Bunin A, Sinelnikov I, Atar D, Itzhak D. Hard tissue remodeling using biofabricated coralline biomaterials. J Biochem Biophys Methods. 2002;50(2–3):253–9.
- Serban MA, Prestwich GD. Modular extracellular matrices: solutions for the puzzle. Methods. 2008;45(1):93–8.
- Davidson JM, Nanney LB, Broadley KN, Whitsett JS, Aquino AM, Beccaro M, Rastrelli A. Hyaluronate derivatives and their application to wound healing: preliminary observations. Clin Mater. 1991;8(1–2):171–7.
- Aslan M, Simsek G, Dayi E. The effect of hyaluronic acid-supplemented bone graft in bone healing: experimental study in rabbits. J Biomater Appl. 2006;20(3):209–20.
- 35. Subramaniam S, Fang YH, Sivasubramanian S, Lin FH, Lin CP. Hydroxyapatite-calcium sulfatehyaluronic acid composite encapsulated with collagenase as bone substitute for alveolar bone regeneration. Biomaterials. 2016;74:99–108.
- 36. Gohil SV, Adams DJ, Maye P, Rowe DW, Nair LS. Evaluation of rhBMP-2 and bone marrow derived stromal cell mediated bone regeneration using transgenic fluorescent protein reporter mice. J Biomed Mater Res A. 2014;102(12):4568–80.
- Finley JM, Acland RD, Wood MB. Revascularized periosteal grafts--a new method to produce functional

new bone without bone grafting. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1978;61(1):1–6.

- Ueno T, Kagawa T, Mizukawa N, Nakamura H, Sugahara T, Yamamoto T. Cellular origin of endochondral ossification from grafted periosteum. Anat Rec. 2001;264(4):348–57.
- Zhang X, Awad HA, O'Keefe RJ, Guldberg RE, Schwarz EM. A perspective: engineering periosteum for structural bone graft healing. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2008;466(8):1777–87.
- Mahajan A. Periosteum: a highly underrated tool in dentistry. Int J Dent. 2012;2012:717816.
- Gomez-Barrena E, Rosset P, Lozano D, Stanovici J, Ermthaller C, Gerbhard F. Bone fracture healing: cell therapy in delayed unions and nonunions. Bone. 2015;70:93–101.
- Giannoudis PV, Einhorn TA, Marsh D. Fracture healing: the diamond concept. Injury. 2007;38(Suppl 4):S3–6.
- Liao HT, Chen CT. Osteogenic potential: comparison between bone marrow and adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells. World J Stem Cells. 2014;6(3):288–95.
- 44. Wan DC, Shi YY, Nacamuli RP, Quarto N, Lyons KM, Longaker MT. Osteogenic differentiation of mouse adipose-derived adult stromal cells requires retinoic acid and bone morphogenetic protein receptor type IB signaling. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2006;103(33):12335–40.
- 45. Quarto N, Wan DC, Longaker MT. Molecular mechanisms of FGF-2 inhibitory activity in the osteogenic context of mouse adipose-derived stem cells (mASCs). Bone. 2008;42(6):1040–52.
- 46. McArdle A, Chung MT, Paik KJ, Duldulao C, Chan C, Rennert R, Walmsley GG, Senarath-Yapa K, Hu M, Seo E, Lee M, Wan DC, Longaker MT. Positive selection for bone morphogenetic protein receptor type-IB promotes differentiation and specification of human adipose-derived stromal cells toward an osteogenic lineage. Tissue Eng A. 2014;20(21–22):3031–40.
- 47. Chung MT, Liu C, Hyun JS, Lo DD, Montoro DT, Hasegawa M, Li S, Sorkin M, Rennert R, Keeney M, Yang F, Quarto N, Longaker MT, Wan DC. CD90 (Thy-1)-positive selection enhances osteogenic capacity of human adipose-derived stromal cells. Tissue Eng A. 2013;19(7–8):989–97.
- 48. Yamamoto M, Nakata H, Hao J, Chou J, Kasugai S, Kuroda S. Osteogenic potential of mouse adiposederived stem cells sorted for cd90 and cd105 in vitro. Stem Cells Int. 2014;2014:17.
- 49. Wiesmann A, Bühring HJ, Mentrup C, Wiesmann HP. Decreased CD90 expression in human mesenchymal stem cells by applying mechanical stimulation. Head Face Med. 2006;2:8.
- 50. Levi B, Wan DC, Glotzbach JP, Hyun J, Januszyk M, Montoro D, Sorkin M, James AW, Nelson ER, Li S, Quarto N, Lee M, Gurtner GC, Longaker MT. CD105 protein depletion enhances human adipose-derived stromal cell osteogenesis through reduction of transforming growth factor beta1 (TGF-beta1) signaling. J Biol Chem. 2011;286(45):39497–509.

- Zhang L, Magli A, Catanese J, Xu Z, Kyba M, Perlingeiro RC. Modulation of TGF-beta signaling by endoglin in murine hemangioblast development and primitive hematopoiesis. Blood. 2011;118(1):88–97.
- Hernigou P, Poignard A, Beaujean F, Rouard H. Percutaneous autologous bone-marrow grafting for nonunions. Influence of the number and concentration of progenitor cells. J Bone Joint Surg. 2005;87(7):1430–7.
- 53. Horwitz EM, Prockop DJ, Fitzpatrick LA, Koo WW, Gordon PL, Neel M, Sussman M, Orchard P, Marx JC, Pyeritz RE, Brenner MK. Transplantability and therapeutic effects of bone marrow-derived mesen-

chymal cells in children with osteogenesis imperfecta. Nat Med. 1999;5(3):309–13.

- 54. Quarto R, Mastrogiacomo M, Cancedda R, Kutepov SM, Mukhachev V, Lavroukov A, Kon E, Marcacci M. Repair of large bone defects with the use of autologous bone marrow stromal cells. N Engl J Med. 2001;344(5):385–6.
- 55. Martin I, Muraglia A, Campanile G, Cancedda R, Quarto R. Fibroblast growth factor-2 supports ex vivo expansion and maintenance of osteogenic precursors from human bone marrow. Endocrinology. 1997;138(10):4456–62.



15

The Role of Microbiota in Skin Regeneration

Angela Faga, Marco Mario Tresoldi, and Giovanni Nicoletti

15.1 Introduction

Regeneration can be defined as the regrowth of a damaged or missing organ part from the remaining tissue. It is a common feature in different animal species, as amphibians; on the contrary, in humans the wound healing process does not lead to regeneration but to a scar. Actually humans are not lizards; therefore, they pay their position at the endpoint of phylogeny with an almost total loss of the regenerative attitude, except for liver and, sometimes, for fingertips [1].

Everyday plastic surgeons face disfiguring or aesthetically impairing scars, huge loss of sub-

M. M. Tresoldi

Plastic Surgery Unit, Department of Clinical-Surgical, Diagnostic and Pediatric Sciences, University of Pavia, Pavia, Italy

I.C.S. Maugeri Research and Care Institute, Pavia, Italy e-mail: marcomario.tresoldi@unipv.it

Advanced Technologies for Regenerative Medicine and Inductive Surgery Research Center (T.A.Me.Ri.C.I.), University of Pavia, Pavia, Italy

Plastic Surgery Unit, Department of Clinical-Surgical, Diagnostic and Pediatric Sciences, University of Pavia, Pavia, Italy e-mail: giovanni.nicoletti@unipv.it stance or difficult to heal wounds. Despite the current high sophisticated technical skills, the problem of regeneration is impairing severely the treatment of all of these clinical problems. Therefore, current plastic surgery is increasingly turning to regenerative medicine, an emerging interdisciplinary field of research and clinical applications focused on the repair, replacement or regeneration of cells, tissues or organs [2].

The wound healing process consists of highly integrated and overlapping phases, whose steps are clot formation, inflammation, fibroblasts recruitment, epithelization and scar remodelling.

Many types of immune and non-immune cells, including macrophages, neutrophils, platelets, fibroblasts, vascular endothelial cells and keratinocytes, contribute to wound healing. The inflammatory response begins immediately upon injury and leads to the secretion of a variety of growth factors and cytokines, which regulate the cellular and tissue movements that are required for repair [3, 4]. It is proven that the proliferative phase of wound healing is inversely proportional to the quantity of inflammatory post-traumatic reaction [5].

Multiple local and systemic factors can interfere with one or more of these phases, thus causing improper or impaired tissue repair; the main local barriers are necrosis, bacteria and exudates.

Regarding the negative role of bacteria, surgeons have slowly learned from Semmelweis' time [6] to fear and fight microbes by scrubbing their hands before surgery, treating the operating

A. Faga (🖂)

Advanced Technologies for Regenerative Medicine and Inductive Surgery Research Center (T.A.Me.Ri.C.I.), University of Pavia, Pavia, Italy e-mail: angela.faga@unipv.it

G. Nicoletti

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

D. Duscher, M. A. Shiffman (eds.), *Regenerative Medicine and Plastic Surgery*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19958-6_15

field with antiseptics and administering antibiotics to the patients. Actually, the infection of a wound turns to dehisce and to a clinical disaster.

In the past, the role of microorganisms was investigated only during pathologic events; however, the availability of upgraded technologies is currently allowing a more sophisticated and thorough analysis of their association with the host.

Microorganisms are present in every type of environmental niche and interplay with all its components.

The term microbiota is used currently to define the microbial community, composed of bacteria, viruses, fungi and Archaea, hosted by the human body [7]. Actually the microbiota might be considered as a 'superorganism' [8], ruled by specific inter-microbial communications and cell signalling associations with the human organism. Host-microbe interactions are essential for various aspects of normal mammalian physiology, ranging from metabolic activity to immune homeostasis [8–11].

Every area of the human body hosts a unique microbial community.

Microbial cells living in the human body outnumber the totality of cells of our organism by a factor of ten, and the genes of those microbial cells outnumber the human genes by a factor of hundred [12]; the term microbiome is currently used to indicate the whole genome of the microbial community.

From 2008, starting with the U.S.A. Human Microbiome Project (HMP), different studies were performed to establish any possible associations between the human microbiota and health and disease conditions [13, 14].

The difficulty of recreating the same conditions in vitro as in vivo is a major humper for the microbiota characterization [15]. Thanks to current metagenomics techniques, it is possible to screen the whole genes of an environmental sample and to create a genetic library of the proteins expressed by the community [16]. Moving from conventional cultures to metagenomics, a perspective change is occurring, focusing on the activity and products of a whole community, rather than of a single community member [17].

15.2 Skin Microbiota

Skin is the first defensive line of the human body and houses different populations of microorganisms. Every squared centimetre of skin (including hair follicles and sebaceous glands) contains ~1 billion bacteria [18].

The acquisition of the microbiota begins at birth [19], with the transfer of maternal microbiota, and differs according to vaginal or caesarean delivery. The skin microbiota evolves over the years, becoming similar to that of adults by the age of 12–18 months [20]. Basically, the microbiota composition is related to the skin structure and physiology [21] and to the adnexa-regulated microenvironment. Furthermore, microbiota composition changes according to ethnicity, geography and lifestyle [12]. Individuals modify their own microbiota through contact with other individuals, visiting different places, and eating food. The microbiota composition is dependent on the anatomical area too. Microbiota α -diversity expresses the difference in community composition, comparing a specific area of the body to other areas of the same individual. Microbiota β -diversity expresses the difference in community composition comparing a specific area of the body between different individuals. Notably, antecubital fossae have the highest β -diversity, but the lowest α -diversity [22]. The differences among different individual microbiotas are due to the less represented bacteria.

Most skin microorganisms are commensal or temporary passing members. The following four bacterial phyla are present on human skin: Actinobacteria, Proteobacteria, Firmicutes and Bacteroidetes. *Staphylococcus, Propionibacterium* and *Corynebacterium* are the dominant genera, and their inter-individual distribution is constant. Furthermore, on normal human skin viruses (human papillomavirus, human polyomavirus, circovirus and bacteriophages) and eukaryotes microbes (fungi and protists) are present [23]. Considering the community composition in different individuals, it is possible to state that the microbiota of an individual is as unique as a fingerprint [24, 25].

Microorganisms do not inhabit just the epidermis. Metagenomic techniques demonstrate bacterial DNA deep in the dermis too, although such a technology may not assess the viability of the associated microorganisms [12, 23]. Phagocytic cells might translocate the superficial microbiota to a sub-epidermal level and epidermal physical barriers or antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) would serve as key regulators in the maintenance of dermal microbiome homeostasis [26]. The action of microorganisms below the basement membrane might be in correlation with the immunological properties of the skin. The skin is an active immune organ where the keratinocytes can no longer be considered as the sole barrier against the external environment, but as components of a complex immune-regulatory network [27]. The resident skin bacteria provide the first line of defence against potentially dangerous pathogens, and produce small molecules that influence the growth and behaviour of their microbial neighbours. The major innate mechanism of the antimicrobial defence of the skin consists of AMPs, such as defensins, cathelicidin LL-37 and dermicidin [28]. These peptides are emerging as important tools in the control of skin pathogenic bacteria. It is proven that skin commensal bacteria have a promoting effect on T cell response, controlling nuclear factor-kB signalling and the production of cytokines, such as (TNF)- α tumour necrosis factor and interleukin-1 β [29, 30] although they can act both in synergy and in opposition to the immune system [31].

Germ-free mice without commensal skin microbes have been demonstrated to produce abnormal cytokine and cutaneous T cell populations, as they were unable to mount an appropriate immune response against the intradermal *Leishmania major* infection; immunity could be rescued by allowing *Staphylococcus epidermidis* colonization on the mouse skin [30].

As skin microbiota is important in the development of a well-functioning immune system and in the modulation of the inflammatory processes, it may be significant in the wound healing process.

15.3 The Role of Microbiota in Wound Healing

Actually, although many animal species regenerate spontaneously in the wild life, this process does not take place in a germ-free environment.

While the role of microbiota in controlling the health-disease balance is being widely investigated as a source of novel therapeutic options, however the local application of bacterial products to enhance wound healing has been reported rarely.

Topical bacterial lipopolysaccharide is demonstrated to affect the wound healing process by accelerating the resolution of inflammation, increasing macrophage infiltration, enhancing collagen synthesis and altering the secretion of numerous mediators involved in skin regeneration [32]; moreover. inoculation with Pseudomonas aeruginosa is demonstrated to accelerate re-epithelialization and neovascularization in wound tissues through the production of TNF- α [33]. All of these effects might be related, although not exclusively, to some bacterial both anti-inflammatory and antibioticlike actions, due either to microorganisms metabolites, or to a virtuous balance among strains, or both.

It has long been known that the recovery of skin lesions and scar maturation can be boosted by the topical applications of spring waters where a rich presence of non-pathogenic microflora is established [34–38].

In recent years, researchers have developed programmes to investigate the molecular mechanism underlying beneficial effects of spring waters. Aquaphilus dolomiae is a non-sporeforming bacterium belonging to the Neisseriaceae family, which is isolated from Avène thermal water (France), historically used in the management of chronic inflammatory skin diseases. The keratinocytes incubation of human with I-modulia, a biological extract from cultures of Aquaphilus dolomiae, showed an upregulation of the innate immune response [39, 40]. Similarly, the lysate of Vitreoscilla filiformis has been shown to enhance skin defence mechanisms and to decrease UV-induced sunburn cells in human

skin, possibly by the activation of cutaneous regulatory T cells. *Vitreoscilla filiformis* is a filamentous Gram-negative aerobic bacterium belonging to the Neisseriaceae family found in LaRoche-Posay thermal water (France), historically applied to manage chronic inflammatory skin diseases [41, 42].

Our research group is originally assessing the peculiar regenerative properties of a thermal spring water (Comano, TN, Italy). In an experimental animal (rabbits) wound model, the areas treated with this water healed faster than the areas treated with conventional medical dressings and demonstrated a network of collagen and elastic fibres comparable with the normal skin [37]. In an in vitro trial on human skin fibroblasts cultures, we observed that the vitality of cells main-DMEM (Dulbecco tained in enriched conventional medium) 20% replaced with the Comano water, at 72 hours was 31% higher than the control cultures maintained in conventional DMEM [43]. Moreover, in an ex vivo human skin experimental wound model, used to simulate the physiological conditions in vivo, the adjunct of this spring water to the culture medium induced a faster repair of the wound, a more ordered reorganization of the newly formed collagen fibres and a higher number of actively DNA synthesizing epithelial cells [44].

In this spring water with conventional culture methods nine non-pathogenic different strains were isolated, whose common features are a very rare virulence, an antibiotic-like activity and the ability to control environmental pollution [38]. The whole bacterial flora genoma is being investigated by the research group of CIBIO laboratories (Trento University, Italy) too, integrating culturomics and shotgun metagenomics. Preliminary results demonstrate that while the isolates are phylogenetically distributed among traditional phyla (Proteobacteria, Actinobacteria and Firmicutes), most of the metagenome-assembled genomes belong to phyla that are typically recalcitrant to cultivation, and many new species have been isolated or detected [45, 46]. The researchers are also testing specific strains to detect any immune modulating, proteolytic and anti-bacterial activity, likely related to the proven role of this water in the wound healing process.

Thus, the role of microbiota in the skin health maintenance appears to be of paramount importance and, therefore, indicates towards a hypothesis of exerting a positive effect in the skin healing processes.

15.4 Conclusion

The mechanisms on which the microbial community structure and the association between host and symbiont are based must become incorporated into the current definition of human health. Medical intervention must aim to minimize or avoid damage to health-associated homeostasis between humans and their microbiota; therefore, the therapeutic strategies to maintain healthy skin may require the inhibition of the growth of pathogenic bacteria, as well as the promotion of a balanced microbiota. Ignoring the association between host and microbiota in therapeutic planning is a shortsighted conduct, as demonstrated by the spread of antibiotic-resistant microorganisms [47]. Thus, the role of microbiota is resulting in novel and fascinating scenarios in regenerative medicine and surgery, promoting unexpected progress in the development of novel clinical proposals, not only for tissue regeneration and wound healing but for anti-ageing purposes, too.

References

- Jafari P, Muller C, Grognuz A, Applegate LA, Raffoul W, di Summa PG, Durand S. First insights into human fingertip regeneration by Echo-Doppler imaging and wound microenvironment assessment. Int J Mol Sci. 2017;18(1054):1–10.
- Mason C, Dunnill P. A brief definition of regenerative medicine. Regen Med. 2008;3(1):1–5.
- Simpson DM, Ross R. The neutrophilic leukocyte in wound repair a study with antineutrophil serum. J Clin Invest. 1972;51(8):2009–23.
- Mast BA, Schultz GS. Interactions of cytokines, growth factors, and proteases in acute and chronic wounds. Wound Repair Regen. 1996;4(4):411–20.

- Werner S, Grose R. Regulation of wound healing by growth factors and cytokines. Physiol Rev. 2003;83(3):835–70.
- Best M, Neuhauser D. Ignaz Semmelweis and the birth of infection control. Qual Saf Health Care. 2004;13(3):233–4.
- Casadevall A, Pirofski LA. What is a host? Incorporating the microbiota into the damageresponse framework. Infect Immun. 2015;83(1):2–7.
- Foxman B, Goldberg D, Murdock C, Xi C, Gilsdorf JR. Conceptualizing human microbiota: from multicelled organ to ecological community. Interdiscip Perspect Infect Dis. 2008;2008:613979.
- Guarner F, Bourdet-Sicard R, Brandtzaeg P, Gill HS, McGuirk P, van Eden W, Versalovic J, Weinstock JV, Rook GA. Mechanisms of disease: the hygiene hypothesis revisited. Nat Clin Pract Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2006;3(5):275–84.
- Martin FP, Dumas ME, Wang Y, Legido-Quigley C, Yap IK, Tang H, Zirah S, Murphy GM, Cloarec O, Lindon JC, Sprenger N, Fay LB, Kochhar S, van Bladeren P, Holmes E, Nicholson JK. A top-down systems biology view of microbiome-mammalian metabolic interactions in a mouse model. Mol Syst Biol. 2007;3:112.
- Mazmanian SK, Liu CH, Tzianabos AO, Kasper DL. An immunomodulatory molecule of symbiotic bacteria directs maturation of the host immune system. Cell. 2005;122(1):107–18.
- Grice EA. The skin microbiome: potential for novel diagnostic and therapeutic approaches to cutaneous disease. Semin Cutan Med Surg. 2014;33(2):98–103.
- Turnbaugh PJ, Ley RE, Hamady M, Fraser-Liggett CM, Knight R, Gordon JI. The human microbiome project. Nature. 2007;449(7164):804–10.
- 14. NIH HMP Working Group, Peterson J, Garges S, Giovanni M, McInnes P, Wang L, Schloss JA, Bonazzi V, McEwen JE, Wetterstrand KA, Deal C, Baker CC, Di Francesco V, Howcroft TK, Karp RW, Lunsford RD, Wellington CR, Belachew T, Wright M, Giblin C, David H, Mills M, Salomon R, Mullins C, Akolkar B, Begg L, Davis C, Grandison L, Humble M, Khalsa J, Little AR, Peavy H, Pontzer C, Portnoy M, Sayre MH, Starke-Reed P, Zakhari S, Read J, Watson B, Guyer M. The NIH human microbiome roject. Genome Res. 2009;19(12):2317–23.
- Huss J. Methodology and ontology in microbiome research. Biol Theory. 2014;9(4):392–400.
- 16. National Research Council (US) Committee on Metagenomics. Challenges and functional applications. The new science of metagenomics: revealing the secrets of our microbial planet. Washington, DC: National Academies Press; 2007.
- Schloss PD. Microbiology: an integrated view of the skin microbiome. Nature. 2014;514(7520):44–5.
- Grice EA, Kong HH, Renaud G, Young AC, Bouffard GG, Blakesley RW, Wolfsberg TG, Turner ML, Segre JANISC. Comparative sequencing program: a diver-

sity profile of the human skin microbiota. Genome Res. 2008;18(7):1043–50.

- Dominguez-Bello MG, Costello EK, Contreras M, Magris M, Hidalgo G, Fierer N, Knight R. Delivery mode shapes the acquisition and structure of the initial microbiota across multiple body habitats in newborns. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010 Jun;107(26):11971–5.
- Capone KA, Dowd SE, Stamatas GN, Nikolovski J. Diversity of the human skin microbiome early in life. J Invest Dermatol. 2011;131(10):2026–32.
- Baviera G, Leoni MC, Capra L, Cipriani F, Longo G, Maiello N, Ricci G, Galli E. Microbiota in healthy skin and in atopic eczema. Biomed Res Int. 2014;2014:436921.
- Human Microbiome Project Consortium. Structure, function and diversity of the healthy human microbiome. Nature. 2012;86(7402):207–14.
- Findley K, Grice EA. The skin microbiome: a focus on pathogens and their association with skin disease. PLoS Pathog. 2014;10(10):e1004436.
- 24. Costello EK, Lauber CL, Hamady M, Fierer N, Gordon JI, Knight R, Gordon JI, Knight R. Bacterial community variation in human body habitats across space and time. Science. 2009;326:1694–7.
- 25. Grice EA, Kong HH, Conlan S, Deming CB, Davis J, Young AC, Comparative Sequencing Program NISC, Bouffard GG, Blakesley RW, Murray PR, Green ED, Turner ML, Segre JA. Topographical and temporal diversity of the human skin microbiome. Science. 2009;324(5931):1190–2.
- Nakatsuji T, Chiang HI, Jiang SB, Nagarajan H, Zengler K, Gallo RL. The microbiome extends to subepidermal compartments of normal skin. Nat Commun. 2013;4:1431.
- 27. Sanchez Rodriguez R, Pauli ML, Neuhaus IM, Yu SS, Arron ST, Harris HW, Yang SH, Anthony BA, Sverdrup FM, Krow-Lucal E, MacKenzie TC, Johnson DS, Meyer EH, Löhr A, Hsu A, Koo J, Liao W, Gupta R, Debbaneh MG, Butler D, Huynh M, Levin EC, Leon A, Hoffman WY, McGrath MH, Alvarado MD, Ludwig CH, Truong HA, Maurano MM, Gratz IK, Abbas AK, Rosenblum MD. Memory regulatory T cells reside in human skin. J Clin Invest. 2014;124(3):1027–36.
- Guaní-Guerra E, Santos-Mendoza T, Lugo-Reyes SO, Terán LM. Antimicrobial peptides: general overview and clinical implications in human health and disease. Clin Immunol. 2010;135(1):1–11.
- Hooper LV, Littman DR, Macpherson AJ. Interactions between the microbiota and the immune system. Science. 2012;336(6086):1268–73.
- 30. Naik S, Bouladoux N, Wilhelm C, Molloy MJ, Salcedo R, Kastenmuller W, Deming C, Quinones M, Koo L, Conlan S, Spencer S, Hall JA, Dzutsev A, Kong H, Campbell DJ, Trinchieri G, Segre JA, Belkaid Y. Compartmentalized control of skin immunity by resident commensals. Science. 2012;337(6098):1115–9.

- Gallo RL, Nakatsuji T. Microbial symbiosis with the innate immune defense system of the skin. J Invest Dermatol. 2011;131(10):1974–80.
- 32. Kostarnoy AV, Gancheva PG, Logunov DY, Verkhovskaya LV, Bobrov MA, Scheblyakov DV, Tukhvatulin AI, Filippova NE, Naroditsky BS, Gintsburg AL. Topical bacterial lipopolysaccharide application affects inflammatory response and promotes wound healing. J Interferon Cytokine Res. 2013;33(9):514–22.
- 33. Kanno E, Kawakami K, Ritsu M, Ishii K, Tanno H, Toriyabe S, Imai Y, Maruyama R, Tachi M. Wound healing in skin promoted by inoculation with Pseudomonas aeruginosa PA01: the critical role of tumor necrosis factor-α secreted from infiltrating neutrophils. Wound Repair Regen. 2011;19(5):608–21.
- Ferreira MO, Costa PC, Bahia MF. Effect of São Pedro do Sul thermal water on skin irritation. Int J Cosmet Sci. 2010;32(3):205–10.
- Goldman MP, Merial-Kieny C, Nocera T, Mery S. Comparative benefit of two thermal spring waters after photodynamic therapy procedure. J Cosmet Dermatol. 2007;6(1):31–5.
- 36. Barolet D, Lussier I, Mery S, Merial-Kieny C. Beneficial effects of spraying low mineral content thermal spring water after fractional photothermolysis in patients with dermal melasma. J Cosmet Dermatol. 2009;8(2):114–8.
- Faga A, Nicoletti G, Gregotti C, Finotti V, Nitto A, Gioglio L. Effects of thermal water on skin regeneration. Int J Mol Med. 2012;29(5):732–40.
- Nicoletti G, Corbella M, Jaber O, Marone P, Scevola D, Faga A. Non-pathogenic microflora of a spring water with regenerative properties. Biomed Rep. 2015;3(6):758–62.
- 39. Aries MF, Fabre P, Duplan H, Hernandez Pigeon H, Galliano MF, Castex Rizzi N, Bessou Touya S, Nguyen T. I-modulia, an Aquaphilus dolomiae extract, stimulates innate immune response through toll like receptor activation. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2014;70(Suppl 1):AB63.

- Castex-Rizzi N, Charveron M, Merial-Kieny C. Inhibition of TNF-alpha induced-adhesion molecules by Avène thermal spring water in human endothelial cells. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. 2011;25(Suppl 1):6–11.
- 41. Mahé YF, Martin R, Aubert L, Billoni N, Collin C, Pruche F, Bastien P, Drost SS, Lane AT, Meybeck A. Induction of the skin endogenous protective mitochondrial MnSOD by Vitreoscilla filiformis extract. Int J Cosmet Sci. 2006;28(4):277–87.
- 42. Mahé YF, Perez MJ, Tacheau C, Fanchon C, Martin R, Rousset F, Seite S. A new Vitreoscilla filiformis extract grown on spa water-enriched medium activates endogenous cutaneous antioxidant and antimicrobial defenses through a potential toll-like receptor 2/protein kinase C, zeta transduction pathway. Clin Cosmet Investig Dermatol. 2013;6:191–6.
- 43. Nicoletti G, Saler M, Pellegatta T, Malovini A, Faga A, Scalise A, Riva F. Effects of a spring water on human skin fibroblasts in vitro cultures: preliminary results. Acta Vulnologica. 2016;14(4):196–201.
- 44. Nicoletti G, Saler M, Pellegatta T, Tresoldi MM, Bonfanti V, Malovini A, Faga A, Riva F. *Ex-vivo* regenerative effects of a spring water. Biomed Rep. 2017;7:508–14.
- 45. Jousson O. Culture-independent versus culturedependent approaches for microbial community analysis of a thermal spring with therapeutic properties. EMBL Symposium Heidelberg, Germany, 27–30 Jun 2017 New Approaches and Concepts in Microbiology, Poster n152. https://www.embo-embl-symposia.org/ symposia/2017/EES17-05/.
- 46. Pedron R, Esposito A, Bianconi I, Pasolli E, Tett A, Asnicar F, Cristofolini M, Segata N, Jousson O. Genomic and metagenomic insights into the microbial community of a thermal spring. Microbiome. 2019 23;7(1):8. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s40168-019-0625-6.
- Lobanovska M, Pilla G. Penicillin's discovery and antibiotic resistance: lessons for the future? Yale J Biol Med. 2017;90(1):135–45.



16

Erythropoietin: An Innovative Therapeutic Approach in Thermal Trauma

Christina Irene Günter and Hans-Günther Machens

16.1 Introduction

Erythropoietin (EPO), whose existence had been postulated already more than a century ago [1], is an endogenous hormone that is produced by fibroblasts of the renal parenchyma depending on the partial pressure of oxygen in the peripheral blood. It controls the differentiation of erythrocytes in the bone marrow. The first isolation of the protein succeeded half a century ago (1953) [2]. However, it took more than a quarter of a century (1984) to develop genetically modified hamster cells, which produced recombinant human EPO. Only thereafter the pharmaceutical mass-production could start. In the meantime, EPO has become indispensable in clinical routine: in anemia of endstage renal failure, in tumor-induced anemia, and before donating autologous blood [3]. About 15 years ago, first papers were published on the non-erythropoietic effects of EPO [4].

16.2 EPO Effects After Trauma

Since then, numerous publications have demonstrated that EPO plays a key role in the response to both acute and chronic tissue damage. EPO inhibits the initial inflammatory response in a variety of tissues, thereby facilitating healing [5]. Also in the regenerative phases of wound healing, various EPO effects have already been published. These include, for example, the inhibition of apoptosis [6, 7], which has been described in particular for endothelial cells of the capillaries and other small blood vessels that run in the immediate vicinity of the trauma zone. These are often damaged by the reactions of the inflammatory phase and because of apoptosis. This in turn means that thromboses develop, and thus the trauma zone is ultimately enlarged.

The stem cell recruitment [8] is described, for example, for endothelial progenitor cells, which are recruited locally and from the bone marrow. Effects on mesenchymal stem cells have also been described. In vitro experiments confirmed the effect of EPO on human dermal mesenchymal stem cells cultured under hypoxia conditions. In addition, increased concentrations of IL-6 were added to the culture medium, which alone had a markedly antiproliferative effect. In addition, EPO added to the culture medium showed an increased proliferation rate [9].

The release of different growth factors [10] is also influenced by EPO. Angiogenesis is stimulated on the one hand by the release of relevant growth factors and on the other hand by the above-described effects of stem cell recruitment and inhibition of apoptosis. The increase in reepithelialization is also caused by the secreted growth factors [10]. Comprehensive reviews of the acute and longer-term anti-inflammatory

C. I. Günter (🖂) · H.-G. Machens

Department for Plastic Surgery and Hand Surgery, Klinikum rechts der Isar, Technical University of Munich, Germany

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

D. Duscher, M. A. Shiffman (eds.), *Regenerative Medicine and Plastic Surgery*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19958-6_16

and pro-regenerative effects of EPO have been published by Brines et al. [11] and by Arcasoy [9] in 2008.

16.3 EPO Receptors

The different effects of EPO within the different organ systems (erythropoiesis, versus antiinflammatory and pro-regenerative effects) can be explained by a different affinity for the individual receptor types and receptor subtypes [12]. The tissue-protective properties are mediated by the EPO hetero-receptor, whose affinity for EPO is lower than that of the EPOR2 receptor, which mediates the erythropoietic effect of EPO. The EPO hetero-receptor is usually not detectable in healthy tissue, but has been described posttraumatically [11]. Among other things, this could explain why EPO is only pro-regenerative and pro-proliferative after trauma [5]. As the proof of the EPO hetero-receptor has not yet been achieved beyond doubt, this approach is still controversial.

A major problem in the study of the nonhematopoietic effects of EPO is that the previous antibodies to the EPO hetero receptor are in all likelihood non-specific. It turned out that the antibodies used also bind to other cytokine receptors, which makes it difficult to interpret the results [13, 14]. It is therefore particularly important in the future to re-evaluate the present results with new, highly specific antibodies that are being intensively worked on. Ultimately, only with the help of a specific antibody it can be clarified whether a separate EPO hetero receptor exists and in which molecular signaling pathways it plays a role.

16.4 Adverse EPO Effects

In addition to the desired effects of EPO, undesirable effects are also described [3]. Three of these are known only for longer-term EPO therapy: increased risk of thrombosis [15, 16], antibody formation [17] against rhEPO, and an increase in blood pressure [18, 19]. Regarding the thrombophilia caused by EPO, however, the group around Corwin has shown that in patients with adequate weight-adapted thrombosis prophylaxis using low-molecular-weight heparin, the thrombosis tendency is not greater under EPO therapy than in the control group without EPO administration [20].

The blood pressure increase problem has so far only been described in patients who had previously exhibited blood pressure abnormalities. Here, an acceptable risk minimization should be feasible through careful evaluation and patient selection. An unprecedented problem is the treatment of tumor anemias with EPO. In principle, EPO is approved for the treatment of tumor anemia. In the meantime, however, numerous studies have shown that EPO therapy has a negative effect on patients' survival time [19-21]. The discussion of whether this is due solely to the optimized oxygenation rates after anemia correction or to the pro-angiogenic and antiapoptotic or the pro-thrombotic effects of EPO, has not yet been completed. However, a direct, active oncogenic effect of EPO has not yet been demonstrated [21, 22].

16.5 EPO in Severely Burned Patients

As early as 1972, the concentration of autologous EPO in patient blood was investigated in anemia after thermal trauma [23]. In particular, it was noticeable that patients with burns below 30% TBSA generally had normal EPO blood values on the one hand and were not subject to transfusion on the other hand. In contrast, patients with burns above 30% TBSA were usually found to have markedly low EPO levels in the blood. In addition, these patients were usually anemic. It is also striking that patients with pronounced bacterial wound infections had even lower EPO and pronounced anemia values, and therefore all patients in these two groups were subject to transfusion [23].

In the 80s and 90s followed a series of publications, the aim of which was the anemia correction in severely burned patients by EPO application. In none of the publications a significant reduction of the number of transfused blood products required could be detected; an effective increase in erythropoiesis, which had been intended, could also not be demonstrated. Effects on wound healing are not described, as they were not the subject of the investigations [24, 25].

It is now known that erythropoiesis is not likely to be increased by EPO administration in critically ill patients. In a mouse model, it could be shown that after an adequate thermal trauma a general depletion of the bone marrow occurs whereby the erythropoiesis and the lymphpectoris are more affected than the myelopoiesis. This depletion is refractory to EPO therapy [26]. However, this fundamentally undesirable effect could be a benefit for patients injured by serious burns, as this would make the feared complications of excessive erythropoiesis very unlikely, and the pro-regenerative effects of EPO could be exploited.

16.6 Pro-Regenerative EPO Effects in Burn Injury Animal Models

In 2006, Galleano [26] published the first work investigating the pro-regenerative effects of rhEPO after thermal trauma in the mouse model [27]. Three groups were formed: Verum group: rhEPO 400 IU/kgBW/d for 14 days, placebo group: distilled water, control group: they were previously passively immunized against rhEPO and given rhEPO 400 IU/kg/d for 14 days. Significantly faster wound closure was associated with faster re-epithelialization in the verum group compared to the other two groups. Wound healing in the immunized group (control) was again significantly delayed compared to the placebo group (distilled water). In the respective comparison, the verum group showed significantly better epithelial proliferation, a considerably more mature extracellular matrix and pronounced angiogenesis [27]. This was demonstrated in particular by the higher microvascular density in the histological sections, which also had a corresponding increased CD31 expression, as well as increased VEGF and NO values in the samples of these animals. The blood count changes were not statistically significant, but on day 14, there was a slight increase in erythrocyte and reticulocyte counts in the animals treated with EPO.

After standardized water vapor scalding, the effect of topically applied EPO was investigated in a mouse model. It showed that the deep dermal scalding in the treated with EPO hydrogel animals healed much faster, the re-epithelialization was completed earlier. Increased epithelial proliferation, faster formation, and maturation of the extracellular matrix, as well as marked angiogenesis induction and consequent higher capillary densities were also demonstrated with high CD31, VEGF, and eNOS levels [28]. In another work, the combined presence of EPOR and the EPO hetero receptor could be detected in both healthy and scalded mouse skin. In the healthy skin, a clear reduction of the EPOR expression after EPO application could be detected, in the thermally injured not, here the expression rate remains high. Likewise, a faster and higherquality wound healing (dermis /epidermis papillae, maturity of the extracellular matrix) could be demonstrated by EPO application [29].

16.7 Experiences in Low-Grade and Severely Burned Patients

A pilot study for topical use was performed on 11 low-grade burned patients. In this project, EPOhydrogel was applied locally to split skin donor sites or placebo hydrogel was used in the controls. A faster healing of the split skin donor sites in the verum group could be observed. For example, complete healing of the split skin donor sites treated with EPO hydrogel was observed after 7 days in 85% of patients [30]. Further healing attempts with topically applied EPO were carried out in pediatric scalding injuries. Complete healing of the affected areas within 10 days was observed in mixed 2a–2b scalding injuries.

To translationally review the promising results, hoping for a possible improvemend of wound healing in severely burned patients, a nationwide multi-center study funded by the Federal Ministry of Education and Research was being carried out with systemically administered low-dose EPO (EPO in Burns, EuraCT Number: 2006-002886-38, Protocol Number: 0506, ISRCT Number: ISRCTN95777824) [31]. The objective of the original trial "EPO in Burns" was to demonstrate faster wound healing through the pro-regenerative and cytoprotective effects of systemic applied, low-dose recombinant EPO in thermally injured adult patients. Unfortunately, the results of "EPO in Burns" regarding the reepithelialization of the study wound did not show a conclusive result. A potential advantage in reaching the 100% re-epithelialization could be seen in the EPO group within the first ten days. Thereafter this trend changed into the contrary. Regarding results of several secondary endpoints, such as ABSI Score results the EPO group showed much better values and therefore a more positive prognosis, than the control group. ICH-GCP conform clinical trials are needed to investigate this findings more thorrowly [1, 2].

16.8 EPO Treatment for Prevention of Secondary Burn Progression

Further interesting reports on EPO effects in thermal trauma relate to the possibility that a "lowdose" EPO application can prevent the secondary burn progression of wounds within the first few minutes to a maximum of hours after trauma. In the animal model (rat), intraperitoneal administration of low dose EPO significantly reduced secondary burn progression within 45 min of standardized trauma. In the following days, the wounds also healed significantly faster. This promising approach is worth pursuing and, given sufficient positive data, performing ICH-GCP-compliant clinical trials.

16.9 EPO in Secondary Reconstruction

EPO may also play a role in secondary, reconstructive operations in patients with severe burn injuries, especially in the free microvascular tissue transfer. Based on the assumption that EPO could be tissue-protective in ischemic damage. The investigation required experimental flaps, which are designed to develop a zone of persistent ischemia with subsequent necrosis.

As early as 2003, Rezaeian et al. [32] published the first paper dealing with the use of EPO to improve flap survival in randomly perfused flaps in the rat model. On the one hand, the flap survival was investigated, on the other hand possible EPOinduced undesired side effects, such as hematocrit and blood pressure increase, were evaluated. Short-term low-dose and high-dose EPO was associated with statistically significantly improved flap survival [32]. A statistically significant increase in hematocrit and blood pressure could only be detected in animals that had received highdose EPO for three weeks. This significant increase correlated with a statistically worse flap survival.

Harder et al. [33] developed a mouse model that integrates a randomly perfused, laterally pedunculated musculocutaneous flap into a dorsal skin chamber. Untreated, this flap developed partial necrosis of approximately 50% due to persistent ischemia. Using intravital fluorescence microscopy, it is possible to repeatedly examine both morphological and dynamic changes in the tissue and vasculature of the flap at the same localization in the chamber window [33, 34]. A first study examined the efficacy of recombinant human EPO first detected in two different dosages 24 h prior to flap elevation, before induction of ischemic stress and following, repeated over 4 days. The administration of rhEPO showed significant, dose-dependent anti-inflammatory (i.e., decreased leukocyte-endothelial interaction, impaired cell apoptosis), and pro-angiogenic effect (i.e., microvascular neovascularization). The lower dose resulted in significantly improved flap survival compared to the untreated animals, whereas the ten-fold higher dose only marginally improved flap survival. Administration of rhEPO maintained perfusion in the capillaries of critically perfused flap areas. The significant increase in hematocrit, which could only be detected in the high-dose EPO group starting on the fourth day after first administration, led to a significant worsening of the flow properties in the flap, and thus poorer survival despite rapid and strong abolition of the EPO-induced anti-flammatory effect characterized by a decrease in cell apoptosis and leukocyte-endothelial interaction [33].

Having demonstrated that EPO is dosedependently protective of critically perfused flap tissue, Contaldo et al. [35] investigated in the same mouse model the optimal time of EPO administration for flap elevation, the induction of persistent flap ischemia. For this purpose, lowdose EPO was administered over a period of 48 h either before (preconditioning) or after (post-conditioning) the flap elevation. In a third group, the mice received EPO overlapping both 30 min before and after flap elevation and 24 h (perioperative treatment) after flap elevation. Both preconditioning and perioperative treatment resulted in a significant improvement in flap survival as a result of maintaining capillary perfusion in the critically perfused portion of the flap. This, in turn, results from a very early EPO-mediated upregulation of inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) [34], which leads to dilatation of the afferent flap vessels. If EPO is administered only after ischemia induction (post-conditioning), this iNOS-mediated maintenance of flap perfusion cannot be induced in a timely manner. In addition, a VEGF-mediated angiogenic reaction associated with de novo formation of functional capillaries was demonstrated [34, 35].

In another work, Contaldo et al. [36] also demonstrated in a murine model that persistent vasodilations, and thus improved flap survival after perioperative EPO administration, are not only mediated by iNOS, but also due to more than five days of prolonged up-regulation of endothelial NOS (eNOS). In this work, it was also investigated whether EPO-induced and VEGF-mediated angiogenesis is indeed involved in improved flap survival. The co-administration of rhEPO and bevacizumab, i.a., VEGF receptor inhibitor acting as an angiogenesis inhibitor led to a failure of the EPO-induced angiogenic response. Interestingly, there was no change in flap survival after EPO alone. The authors concluded that EPO-mediated angiogenesis is not involved in flap survival under these modes of administration. This is probably because of the time delay, as the newly formed capillaries are functional only five days after flap elevation. This period is beyond the ischemia tolerance of the tissue or the demarcation of necrosis [36]. In analogy to microvascular flap scans, Contaldo and coworkers investigated the efficacy

of EPO on musculocutaneous tissue undergoing a 3-h ischemic phase, followed by reperfusion. High-dose EPO were systemically administered either 1 or 24 h before ischemia [37]. The animals treated with EPO showed an increased expression of both the EPO receptors in skin and muscle tissue, as well as the NOS. These flaps and the animals showed less reperfusion injury than untreated animals, resulting in maintenance of capillary perfusion, decreased hyperpermeability of the vessels, and less inflammatory response [37].

Lindenblatt et al. [38] investigated NO-mediated tissue protection after systemic EPO administration on a collateralized island flap on the hamster. For this purpose, rhEPO alone or rhEPO was administered together with a non-specific NO-blocker L-nitro-L-arginine methyl ester (L-NAME). The rhEPO application led to a significant improvement of the flap perfusion, as well as to a weakening of the inflammatory reaction and the apoptosis rate. As the co-administration of rhEPO and L-NAME led to a complete abolition of tissue protection, the authors concluded that the protective effect is primarily mediated via NO [39]. An implementation of the findings obtained in the clinic would be very desirable, in particular the use of non-hematocrit-effective EPO dosages or the short-term use of higher EPO dosages before they become hematocrit effective to a problematic extent. Here, the local EPO application, possibly also high-dose or alternatively the use of modified non-erythropoietic EPO molecules is of particular importance [40].

16.10 Summary and Conclusions

The results of the presented, animal experimental investigations on thermal injuries are promising. Unfortunately ICH-GCP compliant clinical trials for EPO as a therapeutic agent to optimize wound healing could not show positive results. This so called "EPO-Paradox" was discribed before by Steppich [3]. In the animal model, damage to the flap caused by acute persistent ischemia, as well as ischemia/reperfusion injury, can be reduced by EPO application. This shows both a time dependence with regard to flap elevation (ischemia induction), as well as a dose



Fig. 16.1 (a) Scalding injury, 4 days after injury (2a°to 3°) First Treatment with EPO Hydrogel. (b) Result after 4x EPO Hydrogel Treatements

dependency of EPO. A significant increase in hematocrit, as observed in these models following repeated dosing of high-dose EPO, may worsen the flow of the blood, leading to thromboembolic complications [41], thus abolishing EPO-mediated protective, anti-ischemic effects. On the other hand, an anti-thrombotic effect of EPO applications has already been demonstrated in the mouse model [42], so that the scientific discussion is far from complete [43]. The tissueprotective effect of EPO appears to exist in ischemic tissue, e.g., flap models to be primarily NO-associated, in which with persistent ischemia, perfusion can be maintained in the critically perfused flap (area). Angiogenesis does not seem to play the crucial role, as the newly formed vessels are functional only after about five days, a time when the necrosis of the flap has already been irreversibly demarked.

For a possible individual use of EPO in the context of healing attempts in burn-injured patients, a very careful patient evaluation in the individual case must be advised. In particular, with regard to problematic pre-existing conditions such as hypertension, thromboembolic events or known malignancies, a particularly careful history-taking and consideration of the risk-benefit ratio must be ensured [44] (Fig. 16.1). The use of EPO as a routine therapy in the proregenerative field is not possible jet, as so far no clinical trial

could demonstrate positive results. A possible alternative would be the further development and testing of non-hematopoietic EPO derivatives. Here, however, a longer time can be expected until they have overcome the hurdles of the necessary approval studies and other preconditions and are available for widespread clinical use [12, 45].

References

- Jourdanet D. De l'anemie des altitudes et de l'anemie en general dans ses rapports avec la pression del l'atmosphere. Balliere, Paris, 1863.
- Jelkmann W. EPO after a century of research: younger than ever. Eur J Haematol. 2007;78:183–205.
- Roche Pharma AG. NeoRecormon Multidose 50.000 IE. Germany Fachinformation: Grenzach-Wyhlen; 2011. https://translate.google.com/translate? hl=en&sl=de&u=https://www.roche.de/dok/ NeoRecormon-reg-Multidose-50000-gebrauchsinfo-0-na-attach.pdf&prev=search. Accessed 25 Jan 2018
- Bany-Mohammed FM, Slivka S, Hallman M. Recombinant human erythropoietin: possible role as an antioxidant in rabbits. Pediatr Res. 1996;40:381–7.
- Brines M, Cerami A. Erythropoietin -mediated tissue protection: reducing collateral damage from primary injury response. J Int Med. 2008;264:405–32.
- Um M, Lodish HF. Antiapoptotic effects of erythropoietin in differentiated neuroblastoma SH-SY5Y cells require activation of both the STAT5 and AKT signaling pathways. J Biol Chem. 2006;281:5648–56.
- Tramontano AF, Muniyappa R, Black AD, Blendea MC, Cohen I, Deng L, Sowers JR, Cutaia MV, El-Sherif N. Erythropoietin protects cardiacmyocytes from hypoxia-induced apoptosis through an Aktdependent pathway. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2003;308:990–4.
- Bahlmann FH, De Groot K, Spandau JM. EPO regulates endothelial progenitor cells. Blood. 2004;103:921–6.
- 9. Arcasoy MO. The non-haematopoietic biological effects of erythropoietin. Brit J Haematology. 2008;141:14–31.
- Brines M, Grasso G, Fiordaliso F, Sfacteria A, Ghezzi P, Fratelli M, Latini R, Xie QW, Smart J, Su-Rick CJ, Pobre E, Diaz D, Gomez D, Hand C, Coleman T, Cerami A. EPO mediated tissue protection through an EPO and common beta-subunit heteroreceptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004;101:14907–12.
- 11. Patel BM, NSA VP, Brines C, Mennini T, De Paola M, Erbayraktar Z, Erbayraktar S, Sepodes B, Thiemermann C, Ghezzi P, Yamin M, Hand CC, Xie QW, Coleman T, Cerami A. Nonerythropoietic, tissue-protective peptides derived from the tertiary

structure of erythropoietin. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105:10925–30.

- Elliott S, Busse L, Bass MB, Lu H, Sarosi I, Sinclair AM, Spahr C, Um M, Van G, Begley CG. Anti-Epo receptor antibodies do not predict Epo receptor expression. Blood. 2006;107:1892–5.
- Brown WM, Maxwell P, Graham AN, Yakkundi A, Dunlop EA, Shi Z, Johnston PG, Lappin TR. Erythropoietin receptor expression in non-small cell lung cancer: a question of antibody specificity. Stem Cells. 2007;25:718–22.
- Taylor JE, McLaren M, Henderson IS, et al. Prothrombotic effect of erythropoietin in dialysis patients. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 1992;7(3):235–9.
- Tobu M, Iqbal O, Fareed D, Chatha M, Hoppensteadt D, Bansal V, Fareed J. Erythropoietin-induced thrombosis as a result of increased inflammation and thrombin activatable fibrinolytic inhibitor. Clin Appl Thromb Hemost. 2004;10(3):225–32.
- Lim VS, Kirchner PT, Fangman J, Richmond J, DeGowin RL. The safety and the efficacy of maintenance therapy of recombinant human erythropoietin in patients with renal insufficiency. Am J Kidney Dis. 1989;14(6):496–506.
- Schiffl H, Lang SM. Hypertension induced by recombinant human erythropoietin (rHU-EPO) can be prevented by indomethacin. Pathogenetic role of cytosolic calcium. Eur J Med Res. 1997;2(3):97–100.
- Ortega LM, Contreras G. The clinical impact of the physiological effects of erythropoietin and erythropoietin-stimulating agents on the incidence of malignancy, and hypertension: beyond anaemia. Nefrologia. 2009;29(4):288–94.
- Corwin HL, Gettinger A, Fabian TC, May A, Pearl RG, Heard S, An R, Bowers PJ, Burton P, Klausner MA, Corwin MJ, EPO Critical Care Trials Group. Efficacy and Safety of EPO alfa in Critically Ill patients. New Engl J Med. 2007;357:965–76.
- 20. Aapro M, Osterwalder B, Scherhag A, Burger HU. Epoetin-beta treatment in patients with cancer chemotherapy-induced anaemia: the impact of initial haemoglobin and target haemoglobin levels on survival, tumour progression and thromboembolic events. Br J Cancer. 2009;101:1961–71.
- 21. Bohlius J, Schmidlin K, Brillant C, Schwarzer G, Trelle S, Seidenfeld J, Zwahlen M, Clarke MJ, Weingart O, Kluge S, Piper M, Napoli M, Rades D, Steensma D, Djulbegovic B, Fey MF, Ray-Coquard I, Moebus V, Thomas G, Untch M, Schumacher M, Egger M, Engert A. Erythropoietin or Darbepoetin for patients with cancer--meta-analysis based on individual patient data. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2009;(3):CD007303.
- Robinson H, Monafo WW, Saver SM, Gallagher NI. The role of erythropoietin in the anemia of thermal injury. Ann Surg. 1973;178:565–72.
- Deitch EA, Sittig KM. A serial study of the erythropoietic response to thermal injury. Ann Surg. 1993;217:293–9.

- Pajoumand M, Erstad EL, Camamo JM. Use of epoetin alfa in critically ill patients. Ann Pharmacother. 2004;38:1325–6.
- 25. Posluszny JA Jr, Muthumalaiappan K, Kini AR, Szilagyi A, He LK, Li Y, Gamelli RL, Shankar R. Burn injury dampens erythroid cell production through reprioritizing bone marrow hematopoietic response. J Trauma. 2011;71(5):1288–96.
- 26. Galeano M, Altavilla D, Bitto A, Minutoli L, Calò M, Lo Cascio P, Polito F, Giugliano G, Squadrito G, Mioni C, Giuliani D, Venuti FS, Squadrito F. Recombinant human erythropoietin improves angiogenesis and wound healing in experimental burn wounds. Crit Care Med. 2006;34:1139–46.
- Bader A, Machens HG. Recombinant human erythropoietin plays a pivotal role as a topical stem cell activator to reverse effects of damage to the skin in aging and trauma. Rejuvenation Res. 2010;13:499–500.
- 28. Bader A, Ebert S, Giri S, Kremer M, Liu S, Nerlich A, Günter CI, Smith DU, Machens HG. Skin regeneration with conical and hair follicle structure of deep second-degree scalding injuries via combined expression of the EPO receptor and beta common receptor by local subcutaneous injection of nanosized rhEPO. Int J Nanomedicine. 2012;7:1227–37.
- Dornseifer U, Machens HG, Bader A, et al. Potential der topischen Anwendung von EPO zur Wundbehandlung. Poster, 40. Jahrestagung, DGPRÄC, 2009, Hannover.
- 30. Günter GI, Bader A, Dornseifer U, Egert S, Dunda S, Grieb G, Pallua WT, von Wild T, Siemers F, et al. A multicenter study on regenerative effects of erythropoietin in burn and scald injuries -erythropoietin in burns-: study protocol for a randomised controlled trial. Trials. 2013;14:124.
- Tobalem M, Harder Y, Rezaeian F, Wettstein R. Secondary burn progression decreased by erythropoietin. Crit Care Med. 2013;41(4):963–71.
- Rezaeian F, Wettstein R, Amon M, Scheuer C, Schramm R, Menger MD, Pittet B, Harder Y. EPO protects critically perfused flap tissue. Ann Surg. 2008;248:919–29.
- 33. Harder Y, Amon M, Schramm R, Contaldo C, Metzkow E, Matzen A, Rücker M, Vollmar B, Menger MD. EPO reduces necrosis in critically ischemic myocutaneous tissue by protecting nutritive perfusion in a dose-dependent manner. Surgery. 2009;145:372–83.
- 34. Rezaeian F, Wettstein R, Egger JF, Sandmann F, Rücker M, Tobalem M, Vollmar B, Menger MD, Harder Y. Erythropoietin-induced upregulation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase but not vascular endothelial growth factor prevents musculocutaneus tissue from ischemic damage. Lab Investig. 2010;90:40–51.
- 35. Contaldo C, Meier C, Elsherbiny A, Harder Y, Trentz O, Menger MD, Wanner GA. Human recombinant erythropoietin protects the striated muscle microcirculation of the dorsal skinfold from postischemic injury in mice. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2007;293(1):H274–83.

- 36. Contaldo C, Elsherbiny A, Lindenblatt N, Plock JA, Trentz O, Giovanoli P, Menger MD, Wanner GA. Erythropoietin enhances oxygenation in critically perfused tissue through modulation of nitric oxide synthase. Shock. 2009;31:599–606.
- Erbayraktar Z, Erbayraktar S, Yilmatz O, Cerami A, Coleman T, Brines M. Nonerythropoietic tissue protective compounds are highly effective facilitators of wound healing. Mol Med. 2009;15:235–41.
- Wolf RF, Peng J, Friese P, Downs T, Burstein SA, Dale GL. Erythropoietin potentiates thrombus development in a canine arteriovenous shunt model. Thromb Haemost. 1997;77:1020–4.
- Lindenblatt N, Menger MD, Klar E, Vollmar B. Darbepoeitin-Alpha does not promote microvascular thrombus formation in mice. Role of eNOS-dependent protection through platelet and endothelial cell deactivation. Arterioscl Thromb Vasc Biol. 2007;27(5):1191–8.
- 40. Hasegawa Y, Takamatsu J, Iwase T, Iwasada S, Kitamura S, Iwata H. Effects of recombinant human erythropoietin on thrombosis and fibrinolysis in autologous transfusion for hip surgery. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg. 1999;119:384–7.
- Sorg H, Kuhbier JW, Menger B, Reimers K, Harder Y, Vogt PM. The role of erythropoietin in improvement of wound healing. Chirurg. 2010;81:993–8.
- Meistrell ME, Botchkina GI, Wang H, Di Santo E, Cockroft KM, Bloom O, Vishnubhakat JM, Ghezzi P, Tracey KJ. Tumor necrosis factor is a brain damaging cytocine in cerebral ischemia. Shock. 1997;8:34–8.
- 43. Yazihan N, Karakurt O, Ataoglu H. Erythropoietin reduces lopopolysaccharide-induced cell damage and

midkine secretion in U937 human histiocytic lymphoma cells. Adv Ther. 2008;25:502–14.

- 44. Cuzzocrea S, Mazzon E, di Paola R, Genovese T, Patel NS, Britti D, de Majo M, Caputi AP, Thiemermann C. Erythropoietin reduces the degree of arthritis caused by type II collagen in the mouse. Arthritis Rheum. 2005;52:949–50.
- 45. Wiese L, Hempel C, Penkowa M, Kirkby N, Kurtzhals JA. Recombinant human erythropoietin increases survival and reduces neuronal apoptosis in a murine model of malaria. Malar J. 2008;7:3.

Further Readings

- Gunter CI, Machens H-G, Ilg FP, Hapfelmeier A, Jelkmann W, Egert-Schwender S, et al. A randomized controlled trial: regenerative effects, efficacy and safety of erythropoietin in burn and scalding injuries. Front Pharmacol. 2018;9:951. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fphar.2018.00951.
- Günter CI, Ilg FP, Hapfelmeier A, Egert-Schwender S, Jelkmann W, Giri S, Bader A, Machens HG. Post hoc subgroup-analysis of the placebo-controlled, randomized clinical trial "EPO in burns" relation between gender, concomitant medication and comorbidity with erythropoietin-treatment on wound healing in burn patients. Front Pharmacol. 2019; under revision.
- Steppich B, Groha P, Ibrahim T, Schunkert H, Laugwitz KL, Hadamitzky M, et al. Effect of erythropoietin in patients with acute myocardial infarction: five-year results of the REVIVAL-3 trial. BMC Cardiovasc Disord. 2017;17(1):38. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12872-016-0464-3.

Targeting C-Reactive Protein in Inflammatory Disease

17

Johannes Zeller and Steffen U. Eisenhardt

17.1 C-Reactive Protein (CRP)

Despite extensive studies since CRP was first discovered and named by Tillett and Francis in 1930 [1], the exact role and mechanism of action of this prototypical acute phase reactant [2] has not yet been defined satisfactorily. Here, we try to give a brief overview of C-reactive protein as a major factor in physiological and pathological processes, and discuss its potential role as a rewarding therapeutic target.

C-reactive protein (CRP) is a member of the phylogenetically ancient and highly conserved pentraxin protein family. As such, it serves as a pattern recognition molecule in innate immunity. CRP production is evoked by the increase of circulating proinflammatory cytokines in plasma as a response to most forms of infection, inflammation, or tissue injury.

Interleukin-6 (IL-6) is the principal inducer of the CRP gene and regulates the expression through the activation of C/EBP transcription factors [3]. Additionally, interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β) and tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) potentiate the IL-6 effects, act synergistically and enhance the CRP expression at the transcriptional level [4,

Division of Reconstructive Microsurgery,

5]. The CRP gene is located on the long arm (q-arm) of human chromosome 1 among other host protective genes. With a size of 2263 nucleo-tides, it extends from 1q21 to 1q23 with one single intron [6].

Although the main regulation of CRP gene expression happens on a transcriptional level, further post-transcriptional mechanisms have been reported. CRP is constantly synthesized at low rates and retained in the endoplasmic reticulum under physiological conditions [7]. However, during the acute phase response, the rate of secretion becomes more efficient, resulting in an acceleration of the CRP secretion, thus presenting a post-transcriptional regulation [8, 9].

The concentrations of circulating CRP in serum may therefore rise dramatically in a cytokine-mediated response from undetectable levels in healthy individuals up to 1000-fold and more within one to three days [10].

The hepatic synthesis is the predominant origin of CRP, and hepatocytes start with secretion of the acute phase reactant 6–8 h after the onset of inflammation or infection, while the inducing IL-6 levels rise within 1 h in conditions of tissue damage (Fig. 17.1) [11, 12]. Although CRP expression has been reported in various other cell types as well, e.g., neuronal cells in Alzheimer's disease [13], renal cortical tubular epithelial cells after inflammatory stimuli [14], arterial tissue, respiratory epithelium [15], adipocytes, and leukocytes [16–20], extrahepatic

Check for updates

J. Zeller \cdot S. U. Eisenhardt (\boxtimes)

Department of Plastic and Hand Surgery, Medical Center—University of Freiburg Faculty of Medicine, University of Freiburg, Freiburg, Germany e-mail: steffen.eisenhardt@uniklinik-freiburg.de

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

D. Duscher, M. A. Shiffman (eds.), *Regenerative Medicine and Plastic Surgery*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19958-6_17



Fig. 17.1 Model of the genesis and the effects of CRP in ischemia/reperfusion injury

synthesis of CRP is not considered to affect plasma levels significantly.

The plasma half-life of CRP is about 19–24 h and it is cleared from circulation and catabolized by the hepatocytes. Plasma concentrations of circulating CRP remain unaffected by any physiological or pathological condition, and circulating CRP concentrations stable are solely dependent on synthesis rates [21, 22].

Therefore, CRP is an inflammation marker widely appreciated and extensively used in clinical practice. As the plasma levels are solely determined by the induction stimuli and synthesis rates, CRP conveniently serves in diagnosis and monitoring as a surrogate parameter for the intensity of tissue damage in trauma, inflammation, and infection [22]. To date, a plethora of studies have suggested that even slightly elevated CRP serum levels in apparently healthy humans, as measured with high sensitivity assays (hsCRP), are directly associated with an increased risk of coronary events [23-26]. Moreover, hsCRP may predict future clinical events among patients suffering various atherothrombotic syndromes [27-29]. In concentrations generally achieved during inflammation, CRP induces tissue-factor production in peripheral blood monocytes (PBM). The subsequent increased pro-coagulant activity may contribute to the development of thrombo-occlusive complications, as disseminated intravascular coagulation and thrombosis in inflammatory states [30, 31].

These studies suggested that CRP might have not only a predictive but also causal role in vascular disease. This sparked an interest of the role of CRP in perturbances of the microcirculation and in microsurgery. The wide distribution of CRP's main ligand phosphocholine (PC) as a constituent in pathogens (e.g., teichoic acid and lipopolysaccharides of bacteria) and apoptotic or necrotic cellular membrane [32–34], the conservation of its structure and the failure to detect any deficiency or mutation of this protein in human additionally suggests a pivotal physiological role of CRP in innate host defense [10]. While membranes of viable cells conceal the phosphocholine head groups, this major cell surface ligand of CRP comes accessible if cells undergo apoptosis and necrosis [32]. Therefore, CRP binds only to damaged or activated plasma membranes and promotes beneficial scavenging and host-defense functions [22, 35, 36]. Kaplan and Volanakis [28] were the first to describe the activation of the classical complement pathway by CRPopsonized microbial polysaccharides. CRP mediates clearance by opsonization. CRP-opsonized particles can then be directly bound by Fcy receptors [37, 38] and besides, CRP regulates the complement activation of the classical pathway commencing at complement C1q [39, 40], leading to phagocytosis by phagocytic cells [41, 42]. Further binding sites for other receptors on phagocytic cells have been suggested as well [43, 44]. The assumption of CRP enhancing the clearance of apoptotic cells appears even more likely as CRP also binds specifically to small nuclear ribonucleoprotein particles [45-47].

17.2 The Relevance of C-Reactive Protein in Plastic Surgery

17.2.1 Ischemia/Reperfusion Injury

In 1954, an innovative group around Plastic Surgeon Dr. Joseph Murray [48] performed the first successful kidney transplantation in history, a breakthrough in organ transplantation later honored with the 1990 Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine. Earlier attempts failed, inter alia, due to an ischemia-evoked inflammatory cascade [49]. Among the first to describe the common and relevant problem of ischemia/reperfusion injury (IRI) was Cerra et al. in 1975. IRI as a clinical phenomenon is of importance in a broad range of pathological conditions as myocardial infarction or stroke [50, 51] and describes an inflammatory reaction to reperfusion of previously ischemic tissue [52, 53]. In the pathogenesis, recovered blood flow subsequently to the ischemic period brings leukocytes into the area of impaired tissue and initiates pathologic leukocyte-endothelium interaction [54, 55]. In these conditions, the tissue damage is aggravated by the accumulation of activated white blood cells producing reactive
oxygen species (ROS) and the activation of the complement system [56–59].

In plastic surgery, reperfusion injury occurs primarily in the course of microsurgical free tissue transfer for reconstruction after tumor or injury, and after replantation of traumatic amputated limbs or their parts [53]. In a recent benchmark-study, we demonstrated that IRI in free human muscle tissue transplants launches molecular changes that lead to a significant upregulation of inflammatory parameters, transmigration of inflammatory cells, and angiogenesis [60]. In these pathological inflammatory conditions, CRP plays a causal role that leads to aggravation of inflammation and tissue injury [61]. We lately confirmed the significance of bioactive CRP deposits localized to myocardial tissue in a rat disease model of ischemia/reperfusion injury. The deposition of a tissue-bound conformer of CRP collocated with leukocytes was identified perivascular exclusively in the infarcted regions, but not in non-infarcted segments. Additional data demonstrated an agent-dependent stabilization of the circulating CRP and the prevention of an alteration to a conformer of CRP that exhibits strong pro-inflammatory properties. The blocking of the dissociation resulted in a distinct decrease of CRP deposition in ischemic perturbed muscle tissue and an inhibition of the CRP-mediated increase of leukocytic activity. This emphasizes the pivotal role of CRP alteration in the inflammatory exacerbation and concurrently the feasibility of this therapeutic approach [61]. Therefore, prolonged ischemia time during free flap reconstruction surgery may end in flap failure due to aggravating effects of the CRP deposits.

17.2.2 CRP in Severe Burns

Another clinical relevant occurrence of CRP in plastic surgery is in burn wounds/thermal injuries. In this form of critical tissue damage, numerous cells simultaneously undergo critical damage leading to apoptosis and necrosis [62]. Thereby exposed debris and apoptotic bodies function as danger-associated molecular pattern molecules (DAMP) and cause a rapid increase of acute phase reactants [63]. Serum levels of both the acute phase reactant CRP and complement have been shown to be elevated proportionally to the area and the depth of the skin involved in burn wounds [64-68]. If infection occurred in the burned area, the resulting acute phase response, and therefore the CRP production, was increased and prolonged [69]. Interestingly, however, a recent study conducted in our laboratories demonstrated that the deposition of C-reactive protein was restricted to burned areas, while healthy skin stayed unaffected. We found the deposited CRP co-localized with white blood cells and suggest a pivotal role of CRP in severe burns [62]. Regarding the clinical outcome, elevated levels of systemic complement have been linked to the progression of severe burn injuries and higher mortality [70, 71]. Furthermore, commonly encountered sequelae of major burn wounds as the intravascular hemolysis and thrombosis and deforming and disabling scar formation were reported to be related with increased complement levels [72–74]. Both the concordant rise of CRP and complement serum levels and the CRPmediated and complement-driven inflammation are hinting at a significant causal role of CRP in the progression of pathogenesis in thermal injured patients. Thus, therapies that intend to lower CRP serum levels appear expedient to reduce the inflammatory response and improve prognosis [75].

17.3 Ischemia/Reperfusion Injury (IRI) and Allogeneic Transplantation

The transplantation of a functional composition of multiple tissues such as bone, muscle, nerves, and skin, summarized in the term Vascularized Composite Allotransplant (VCA), provides potential treatment solutions for complex tissue defects. The technology and knowledge for this upcoming branch of transplant surgery derive from clinical experience and research efforts in solid organ transplantations (e.g., heart and kidney), and became clinical reality with the first successful human allogeneic hand transplantation in 1998 [76]. Unlike autologous transplantations, composite tissue grafts of allogeneic origin are subject to immune rejection by the recipient. Thus, clinicians face similar issues encountered in solid organ transplantation with the exception that VCA is usually not considered a life-saving treatment. The role of the innate immune system in recognition and eradication of microbial pathogens is relatively well understood [77, 78]. However, it remains elusive how sterile allografts trigger the maturation of antigen presenting cells (APC) in the absence of microbial-derived signals [79]. The so-called "danger hypothesis", a commonly accepted paradigm on the origin of APC maturation, holds particles of apoptotic and necrotic cells (damage-/danger-associated molecular patterns, DAMPs) in the transplanted tissue responsible for the activation of the innate immune response [80, 81]. Recently, it has been shown that innate recognition of allogeneic nonself by monocytes can initiate graft rejection in allogeneic transplantation that might represent another potential therapeutic target [79]. Furthermore, large retrospective studies on allogeneic organ transplantation demonstrated that an episode of acute graft rejection is a major risk factor for chronic rejection and a significant predictor of long-term allograft survival [82]. Consequently, solid organ transplantation and VCA are considered to be distinctively vulnerable to ischemia/reperfusion injury (IRI). Reflecting its novelty and therapeutic potential, the pathogenesis of vascularized composite allotransplants failure and the role of IRI- and CRPinduced activation of innate immunity are most in need of further investigation.

17.4 From Structure to Function

The pentraxin protein family is characterized by a cyclic pentameric assembly, sequence homology, and a calcium-dependent interaction with its ligands, respectively [83]. The interactions between the subunits in the CRP pentamer involve numerous electrostatic and hydrophobic bonding that arrange them symmetrically around a central pore forming a cyclic multimeric discoid wrath [84]. Each monomer of the pentameric protein is of identical molecular weight and structure [85]. Two antiparallel β -sheets of 206 amino acids in total length form one globular monomer of approximately 23 kDa molecular mass with a flattened Swiss roll typology [86, 87]. Electron microscopic and crystallographic data indicate that all CRP subunits show a specific orientation in the pentameric conformation. Therefore, the resulting two sides of the disc were suggested to have distinctive functions.

- On one face, the so-called B face (or binding face), a hydrophobic pocket is presumably formed for the ligand-recognition of phosphocholine (PC) exposed on damaged or apoptotic cell membranes and pathogens. Two coordinated Ca²⁺-ions adjected to the hydrophobic pocket mediate the major interaction between CRP and the phosphate head group of PC (Fig. 17.2) [84].
- 2. The opposite side is dominated by a single long α -helix and a deep and narrow cleft formation. Residues located or associated with this cleft enable the interaction with complement factor C1q and various Fc γ receptors, therefore, this face functions as the effector face (also "A" face) (Fig. 17.2).

The inaccessible location of these residues in the circulating pentameric configuration, however, suggests that the circulating pentamer is not the interacting form for host defense functions [32, 34, 84, 86, 88–91] and the pCRP is more a precursor form that does not significantly interact with the complement system [92].

17.5 Conformational Changes Alter the Function of CRP

A dissociation mechanism on activated platelets that causes a conformational change from the circulating native pentamer (pCRP) to the monomeric subunits of CRP (mCRP) has been identified [93]. Local environmental changes in pH (4.5-5.5) [94] and the accumulation of



Fig. 17.2 Model of pCRP and its interaction with 1,6-bis(phosphocholine)-hexane

oxygen radicals [95] during inflammation, as in atherosclerosis, appear to facilitate the dissociation of pCRP in the site of inflammation. We demonstrated the process of pCRP dissociating to mCRP after binding to activated endothelial cell membranes in areas of acute inflammation in an in vivo rat model [61]. The emerging knowledge indicates that CRP can occur in vivo in at least two distinct conformers with distinct bioactivities, respectively. The pro-inflammatory capacity formerly attributed to CRP most likely is because of mCRP deposits. Under this new proposal, mCRP exhibits a significantly stronger binding potential to complement C1q compared with pCRP [96]. Accompanied with the alteration in structure, the functional properties of CRP in cell-interaction vary. Along with the dissociation to mCRP, CRPs obtain increased ability to activate monocytes. Activated monocytes show adhesion and transmigration, further, increased ROS activity, overall factors contributing in aggravating tissue inflammation [93]. In line with



Fig. 17.3 Detection of mCRP and CD68+ cells in postischemic human striated muscle tissue. Immunohistochemical staining of muscle tissue with conformation specific antibodies. Antibody clone 8D8 was used to detect pCRP, and clone 9C9 was used for the detection of the monomeric conformation of CRP (mCRP). Right panel shows the co-localization of CD-68

that, we detected in both human striated muscle biopsies of ischemia/reperfusion injury and biopsies of infarcted myocardium, mCRP, but not pCRP in the ischemia-affected tissue, which colocalizes with CD-68 positive monocytes/macrophages (Figs. 17.3 and 17.4) [61]. Recently, Braig et al. [97] identified a novel proinflammatory mechanism of CRP (Fig. 17.1). The findings suggest a cascade in which circulating pCRP undergoes a structural change by binding to cell-derived microvesicles without disrupting the pentameric symmetry (pCRP*). In this in vivo and in vitro-observed process, circulating pCRP binds to perturbed plasma membrane of activated monocytes and is subsequently

positive monocytes/macrophages in the injured tissue. Reprinted with permission from "The Dissociation of Pentameric to Monomeric C-Reactive Protein Localizes and Aggravates Inflammation: In vivo Proof of a Powerful Pro-Inflammatory Mechanism and a New Anti-Inflammatory Strategy" by Thiele et al., Circulation, 2014 [61]

released on microvesicles. Microvesicles bud from cell membrane as lysophosphatidylcholineenriched spheres of 100–1000 nm in diameter [98]. The microvesicle-bound pCRP undergoes structural changes and produce pCRP*, a CRP isoform expressing the neoepitope of mCRP while maintaining an overall pentameric configuration. Thus, a CRP isoform, which, in contrast to circulating pCRP, exhibits a pro-inflammatory profile, is released into the surrounding tissue bound to plasma membrane-derived microvesicles [97]. In accordance with these findings, a prior study reported expression of neoepitopes on circulating microvesicles in patients following myocardial infarction [99].



Fig. 17.4 Accumulation of mCRP in infarcted myocardium. Immunohistochemical staining of human postmortem samples following myocardial infarction. The used conformational specific antibodies show significant deposition of monomeric CRP in the infarcted tissue, but only slightly (small amounts of peri-vascular staining) in the non-infarcted tissue. In both the pCRP staining and the

This novel understanding of the localized dissociating process of the inert circulating pentameric CRP to the distinctively pro-inflammatory monomeric derivative allows for a new view on CRP in inflammatory reactions. In addition, the

control, there is no significant staining detectable. Reprinted with permission from "The Dissociation of Pentameric to Monomeric C-Reactive Protein Localizes and Aggravates Inflammation: In vivo Proof of a Powerful Pro-Inflammatory Mechanism and a New Anti-Inflammatory Strategy" by Thiele et al., Circulation, 2014 [61]

findings emphasize the molecular structurefunction relationships, and therefore highlight the dissociation process and mCRP as a potential therapeutic target of practical, as well as theoretical importance.

17.6 Therapeutic Targeting of C-Reactive Protein

Calor, dolor, tumor, rubor -a nearly 2000 years old attempt to characterize inflammation in four cardinal signs. Two millennia after Aulus Cornelius Celsus first recorded these words in his work De Medicina (De Medicina, AD25), our accumulated knowledge for the complexity of the processes in inflammation make such a simplification unreasonable and still much remains elusive. Yet, we know inflammation is a physiological and inevitable response to tissue injury and contributes to life preservation of the host, as reflected by the increased risk of severe infections in patients with deficiencies in principal components of the inflammatory process [100–102]. Therefore, anti-inflammatory strategies represent a two-edged sword and a sufficient inhibition must be ultimately purchased by a variety of considerable side effects. Currently, available antiinflammatory drugs, e.g., non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAID), cytokineinhibiting biologicals, or glucocorticoids exhibit systemic adverse effects even after local administration [103, 104], impair beneficial processes of inflammation as wound repair and angiogenesis [105–107], and increase vulnerability for infections and pathogens [108–112].

17.7 Why Is CRP a Rewarding Target?

Based on x-ray crystallography data [84], Pepys et al. [113] designed a proof-of-concept compound, 1,6-bis (phosphocholine)-hexane (1,6-bisPC), that inhibits the CRP-induced actions. The reported agent represents a specific small-molecule inhibitor of CRP. The concept utilizes the phosphocholine (PC) binding-site on the recognition face of CRP. It is suggested that the palindromic phosphocholine dimer crosslinks two pentameric CRP molecules, and thus make the ligand binding-site inaccessible for PC, thereby impairing pCRP activity (Fig. 17.2) [113]. In a recent study, we approved the presumed anti-inflammatory potential of 1,6bisPC. The agent reduced the localized inflammatory response in a myocardial ischemia/reperfusion model by stabilization of pCRP and prevention of CRP dissociation. The localized deposition of mCRP to the site of primary tissue impairment was markedly reduced. 1,6-bisPC effectively inhibited generation of mCRP, and consequently its proinflammatory potential to exacerbate the local inflammation was abrogated [61]. Additionally, we demonstrated that 1,6-bisPC exhibits the capability to attenuate the CRP-driven exacerbation of inflammation by inhibiting the interaction between pCRP and cell-derived microvesicles. We were able to substantiate our hypothesis by intravital microscopic tracking of pCRP in inflamed muscle tissue. Preincubation of pCRP with the small-molecule inhibitor 1,6-bisPC resulted in an incapacity of pCRP to bind phosphocholine, thus no pCRP was detectable on transmigrated leukocytes [97]. The characteristics of the CRP dissociation as a local process and the following mCRP-driven exacerbation of inflammation emphasize their attractiveness as a rewarding therapeutic target (Fig. 17.5). After the application of 1,6-bisPC in animal models no significant adverse effects were notable, and 1,6bisPC alone showed neither pro- nor anti-inflammatory properties [61, 113]. It is fair to assume that an anti-inflammatory therapy based on 1,6bisPC has no major systemic side effects. It is more likely that anti-CRP therapy inhibits the exacerbation of pre-existing tissue-damage than the favorable inflammation in wound healing significantly [114, 115]. In the light of the reality that although CRP has been conserved throughout the evolution without any mutation, the potentially harmful effects of a therapeutic CRP inhibition cannot be excluded by now.

However, two already known shortcoming/ deficiencies of this compound should be addressed beforehand.

- 1. 1,6-bis(phosphocholine)-hexane exhibits a relatively low affinity for pCRP. Therefore, higher quantities of the substance must be applied in vivo to achieve a sufficient effect (113).
- 2. 1,6-bis(phosphocholine)-hexane has poor pharmacokinetics. Due to its polarity, the bioavailability of 1,6-bis(phosphocholine)hexane after oral administration remains unsatisfactory, and it is rapidly cleared from circulation [113].



Fig. 17.5 Model of the therapeutic targeting of CRP using 1,6-bis(phosphocholine)-hexane (1,6-bis PC). 1,6-bis PC (white-green pill) inhibits the interaction of circulating pentameric CRP with recruited leukocytes. Subsequent release of membrane-derived pro-

inflammatory microvesicles and leukocyte-endothelium interaction is inhibited. Therefore, 1,6-bisPC attenuates the inflammatory response to the ischemia/reperfusion injury and prevents an exacerbation of the local inflammation

17.8 Conclusions

Recent data identified and characterized the conformational change of CRP as the key event in a novel pro-inflammatory cascade. Proof-of-concept studies conducted demonstrated the implications and feasibility of therapeutic mCRP inhibition in various circumstances. In ischemia/reperfusion injury, mCRP exacerbates the local inflammation by activation of the classical complement pathway and massive leukocyte recruitment. In acute transplant rejection, mCPR mediates the innate immune response and considerably worsen the long-term allograft survival. The innovative small-molecule inhibitor 1,6-bis(phosphocholine)-hexane abrogates these pro-inflammatory capacities of mCRP. Yet, the therapeutic targeting of the CRP dissociation seems to exclusively affect the aggravation of local inflammatory processes, whilst

beneficial responses of the immune system proceed widely undisturbed. Our new understanding of the pathogenesis in CRP-driven exacerbation provides the impetus to change the concept of post-surgical treatment in both autogeneic and allogeneic transplantation.

References

- Tillett WS, Francis T. Serological reactions in pneumonia with a non-protein somatic fraction of pneumococcus. J Exp Med. 1930;52(4):561–71.
- Yeh ET, Palusinski RP. C-reactive protein: The pawn has been promoted to queen. Curr Atheroscler Rep. 2003;5:101.
- 3. Thiele JR, Zeller J, Bannasch H, Stark GB, Peter K, Eisenhardt SU. Targeting C-reactive protein in inflammatory disease by preventing conformational changes. Mediat Inflamm. 2015;2015:372432.
- 4. Zhang D, Sun M, Samols D, Kushner I. STAT3 participates in transcriptional activation of the

C-reactive protein gene by interleukin-6. J Biol Chem. 1996;271(16):9503–9.

- Ganter U, Arcone R, Toniatti C, Morrone G, Ciliberto G. Dual control of C-reactive protein gene expression by interleukin-1 and interleukin-6. EMBO J. 1989;8(12):3773–9.
- Woo P, Korenberg JR, Whitehead AS. Characterization of genomic and complementary DNA sequence of human C-reactive protein, and comparison with the complementary DNA sequence of serum amyloid P component. J Biol Chem. 1985;260(24):13384–8.
- Macintyre S, Samols D, Dailey P. Two carboxylesterases bind C-reactive protein within the endoplasmic reticulum and regulate its secretion during the acute phase response. J Biol Chem. 1994;269(39):24496–503.
- Macintyre SS, Kushner I, Samols D. Secretion of C-reactive protein becomes more efficient during the course of the acute phase response. J Biol Chem. 1985;260(7):4169–73.
- Yue CC, Muller-Greven J, Dailey P, Lozanski G, Anderson V, Macintyre S. Identification of a C-reactive protein binding site in two hepatic carboxylesterases capable of retaining C-reactive protein within the endoplasmic reticulum. J Biol Chem. 1996;271(36):22245–50.
- Volanakis JE. Human C-reactive protein: expression, structure, and function. Mol Immunol. 2001;38(2-3):189–97.
- 11. Moshage HJ, Roelofs HM, van Pelt JF, Hazenberg BP, van Leeuwen MA, Limburg PC, Aarden LA, Yap SH. The effect of interleukin-1, interleukin-6 and its interrelationship on the synthesis of serum amyloid A and C-reactive protein in primary cultures of adult human hepatocytes. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1988;155(1):112–7.
- Pfafflin A, Schleicher E. Inflammation markers in point-of-care testing (POCT). Anal Bioanal Chem. 2009;393(5):1473–80.
- Yasojima K, Schwab C, McGeer EG, McGeer PL. Human neurons generate C-reactive protein and amyloid P: upregulation in Alzheimer's disease. Brain Res. 2000;887(1):80–9.
- Jabs WJ, Logering BA, Gerke P, Kreft B, Wolber EM, Klinger MH, Fricke L, Steinhoff J. The kidney as a second site of human C-reactive protein formation in vivo. Eur J Immunol. 2003;33(1):152–61.
- Ramage L, Proudfoot L, Guy K. Expression of C-reactive protein in human lung epithelial cells and upregulation by cytokines and carbon particles. Inhal Toxicol. 2004;16(9):607–13.
- Jialal I, Devaraj S, Venugopal SK. C-reactive protein: risk marker or mediator in atherothrombosis? Hypertension. 2004;44(1):6–11.
- Kuta AE, Baum LL. C-reactive protein is produced by a small number of normal human peripheral blood lymphocytes. J Exp Med. 1986;164(1):321–6.
- Calabro P, Willerson JT, Yeh ET. Inflammatory cytokines stimulated C-reactive protein production

by human coronary artery smooth muscle cells. Circulation. 2003;108(16):1930–2.

- Yasojima K, Schwab C, McGeer EG, McGeer PL. Generation of C-reactive protein and complement components in atherosclerotic plaques. Am J Pathol. 2001;158(3):1039–51.
- Calabro P, Chang DW, Willerson JT, Yeh ET. Release of C-reactive protein in response to inflammatory cytokines by human adipocytes: linking obesity to vascular inflammation. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2005;46(6):1112–3.
- Hutchinson WL, Noble GE, Hawkins PN, Pepys MB. The pentraxins, C-reactive protein and serum amyloid P component, are cleared and catabolized by hepatocytes in vivo. J Clin Invest. 1994;94(4):1390–6.
- Vigushin DM, Pepys MB, Hawkins PN. Metabolic and scintigraphic studies of radioiodinated human C-reactive protein in health and disease. J Clin Invest. 1993;91(4):1351–7.
- Haverkate F, Thompson SG, Pyke SD, Gallimore JR, Pepys MB. Production of C-reactive protein and risk of coronary events in stable and unstable angina. European Concerted Action on Thrombosis and Disabilities Angina Pectoris Study Group. Lancet. 1997;349(9050):462–6.
- 24. Koenig W, Sund M, Frohlich M, Fischer HG, Lowel H, Doring A, Hutchinson WL, Pepys MB. C-Reactive protein, a sensitive marker of inflammation, predicts future risk of coronary heart disease in initially healthy middle-aged men: results from the MONICA (Monitoring Trends and Determinants in Cardiovascular Disease) Augsburg Cohort Study, 1984 to 1992. Circulation. 1999;99(2):237–42.
- Rohde LE, Hennekens CH, Ridker PM. Survey of C-reactive protein and cardiovascular risk factors in apparently healthy men. Am J Cardiol. 1999;84(9):1018–22.
- Ridker PM, Hennekens CH, Buring JE, Rifai N. C-reactive protein and other markers of inflammation in the prediction of cardiovascular disease in women. N Engl J Med. 2000;342(12):836–43.
- Liuzzo G, Biasucci LM, Gallimore JR, Grillo RL, Rebuzzi AG, Pepys MB, Maseri A. The prognostic value of C-reactive protein and serum amyloid a protein in severe unstable angina. N Engl J Med. 1994;331(7):417–24.
- Ridker PM, Glynn RJ, Hennekens CH. C-reactive protein adds to the predictive value of total and HDL cholesterol in determining risk of first myocardial infarction. Circulation. 1998;97(20):2007–11.
- Ridker PM, Buring JE, Shih J, Matias M, Hennekens CH. Prospective study of C-reactive protein and the risk of future cardiovascular events among apparently healthy women. Circulation. 1998;98(8):731–3.
- Cermak J, Key NS, Bach RR, Balla J, Jacob HS, Vercellotti GM. C-reactive protein induces human peripheral blood monocytes to synthesize tissue factor. Blood. 1993;82(2):513–20.
- Ramani M, Khechai F, Ollivier V, Ternisien C, Bridey F, Hakim J, de Prost D. Interleukin-10 and

pentoxifylline inhibit C-reactive protein-induced tissue factor gene expression in peripheral human blood monocytes. FEBS Lett. 1994;356(1):86–8.

- 32. Chang MK, Binder CJ, Torzewski M, Witztum JL. C-reactive protein binds to both oxidized LDL and apoptotic cells through recognition of a common ligand: Phosphorylcholine of oxidized phospholipids. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002;99(20):13043–8.
- Volanakis JE, Wirtz KW. Interaction of C-reactive protein with artificial phosphatidylcholine bilayers. Nature. 1979;281(5727):155–7.
- Volanakis JE, Narkates AJ. Interaction of C-reactive protein with artificial phosphatidylcholine bilayers and complement. J Immunol. 1981;126(5):1820–5.
- 35. Kushner I, Kaplan MH. Studies of acute phase protein. I. An immunohistochemical method for the localization of Cx-reactive protein in rabbits. Association with necrosis in local inflammatory lesions. J Exp Med. 1961;114:961–74.
- Kushner I, Rakita L, Kaplan MH. Studies of acutephase protein. II. Localization of Cx-reactive protein in heart in induced myocardial infarction in rabbits. J Clin Invest. 1963;42:286–92.
- Bharadwaj D, Stein MP, Volzer M, Mold C, Du Clos TW. The major receptor for C-reactive protein on leukocytes is fcgamma receptor II. J Exp Med. 1999;190(4):585–90.
- Mold C, Gresham HD, Du Clos TW. Serum amyloid P component and C-reactive protein mediate phagocytosis through murine Fc gamma Rs. J Immunol. 2001;166(2):1200–5.
- Claus DR, Siegel J, Petras K, Osmand AP, Gewurz H. Interactions of C-reactive protein with the first component of human complement. J Immunol. 1977;119(1):187–92.
- 40. Lagrand WK, Niessen HW, Wolbink GJ, Jaspars LH, Visser CA, Verheugt FW, Meijer CJ, Hack CE. C-reactive protein colocalizes with complement in human hearts during acute myocardial infarction. Circulation. 1997;95(1):97–103.
- Mold C, Gewurz H, Du Clos TW. Regulation of complement activation by C-reactive protein. Immunopharmacology. 1999;42(1-3):23–30.
- 42. Kaplan MH, Volanakis JE. Interaction of C-reactive protein complexes with the complement system. I. Consumption of human complement associated with the reaction of C-reactive protein with pneumococcal C-polysaccharide and with the choline phosphatides, lecithin and sphingomyelin. J Immunol. 1974;112(6):2135–47.
- Kilpatrick JM, Volanakis JE. Opsonic properties of C-reactive protein. Stimulation by phorbol myristate acetate enables human neutrophils to phagocytize C-reactive protein-coated cells. J Immunol. 1985;134(5):3364–70.
- 44. Tebo JM, Mortensen RF. Characterization and isolation of a C-reactive protein receptor from the human monocytic cell line U-937. J Immunol. 1990;144(1):231–8.

- Du Clos TW. C-reactive protein reacts with the U1 small nuclear ribonucleoprotein. J Immunol. 1989;143(8):2553–9.
- 46. Pepys MB, Booth SE, Tennent GA, Butler PJ, Williams DG. Binding of pentraxins to different nuclear structures: C-reactive protein binds to small nuclear ribonucleoprotein particles, serum amyloid P component binds to chromatin and nucleoli. Clin Exp Immunol. 1994;97(1):152–7.
- 47. Gershov D, Kim S, Brot N, Elkon KB. C-Reactive protein binds to apoptotic cells, protects the cells from assembly of the terminal complement components, and sustains an antiinflammatory innate immune response: implications for systemic autoimmunity. J Exp Med. 2000;192(9):1353–64.
- Merrill JP, Murray JE, Harrison JH, Guild WR. Successful homotransplantation of the human kidney between identical twins. J Am Med Assoc. 1956;160(4):277–82.
- 49. Matevossian E, Kern H, Huser N, Doll D, Snopok Y, Nahrig J, Altomonte J, Sinicina I, Friess H, Thorban S. Surgeon Yurii Voronoy (1895-1961) a pioneer in the history of clinical transplantation: in memoriam at the 75th anniversary of the first human kidney transplantation. Transpl Int. 2009;22(12):1132–9.
- Prasad A, Stone GW, Holmes DR, Gersh B. Reperfusion injury, microvascular dysfunction, and cardioprotection: the "dark side" of reperfusion. Circulation. 2009;120(21):2105–12.
- Harukuni I, Bhardwaj A. Mechanisms of brain injury after global cerebral ischemia. Neurol Clin. 2006;24(1):1–21.
- Cerra FB, Lajos TZ, Montes M, Siegel JH. Hemorrhagic infarction: A reperfusion injury following prolonged myocardial ischemic anoxia. Surgery. 1975;78(1):95–104.
- Khalil AA, Aziz FA, Hall JC. Reperfusion injury. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2006;117(3):1024–33.
- 54. Farhood A, McGuire GM, Manning AM, Miyasaka M, Smith CW, Jaeschke H. Intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1) expression and its role in neutrophil-induced ischemia-reperfusion injury in rat liver. J Leukoc Biol. 1995;57(3):368–74.
- Nolte D, Lehr HA, Messmer K. Adenosine inhibits postischemic leukocyte-endothelium interaction in postcapillary venules of the hamster. Am J Phys. 1991;261(3 Pt 2):H651–5.
- Rashid MA, William-Olsson G. Are leukocytosis and lipid peroxidation involved in ischemic or reperfusion injury in cardiac surgery? Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1991;39(4):193–5.
- Zimmerman BJ, Granger DN. Mechanisms of reperfusion injury. Am J Med Sci. 1994;307(4):284–92.
- Lazarus B, Messina A, Barker JE, Hurley JV, Romeo R, Morrison WA, Knight KR. The role of mast cells in ischaemia-reperfusion injury in murine skeletal muscle. J Pathol. 2000;191(4):443–8.
- 59. Cuzzocrea S, Riley DP, Caputi AP, Salvemini D. Antioxidant therapy: a new pharmaco-

logical approach in shock, inflammation, and ischemia/reperfusion injury. Pharmacol Rev. 2001;53(1):135–59.

- 60. Eisenhardt SU, Schmidt Y, Karaxha G, Iblher N, Penna V, Torio-Padron N, Stark GB, Bannasch H. Monitoring molecular changes induced by ischemia/reperfusion in human free muscle flap tissue samples. Ann Plast Surg. 2012;68(2):202–8.
- 61. Thiele JR, Habersberger J, Braig D, Schmidt Y, Goerendt K, Maurer V, Bannasch H, Scheichl A, Woollard KJ, von Dobschütz E, Kolodgie F, Virmani R, Stark GB, Peter K, Eisenhardt SU. Dissociation of pentameric to monomeric C-reactive protein localizes and aggravates inflammation: in vivo proof of a powerful proinflammatory mechanism and a new anti-inflammatory strategy. Circulation. 2014;130(1):35–50.
- 62. Braig D, Kaiser B, Thiele JR, Bannasch H, Peter K, Stark GB, Koch HG, Eisenhardt SU. A conformational change of C-reactive protein in burn wounds unmasks its proinflammatory properties. Int Immunol. 2014;26(8):467–78.
- Miyake Y, Yamasaki S. Sensing necrotic cells. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2012;738:144–52.
- 64. Kudlackova M, Andel M, Hajkova H, Novakova J. Acute phase proteins and prognostic inflammatory and nutritional index (PINI) in moderately burned children aged up to 3 years. Burns. 1990;16(1):53–6.
- Barrett M. The clinical value of acute phase reactant measurements in thermal injury. Scand J Plast Reconstr Surg Hand Surg. 1987;21(3):293–5.
- 66. Faymonville ME, Micheels J, Bodson L, Jacquemin D, Lamy M, Adam J, Duchateau J. Biochemical investigations after burning injury: complement system, protease-antiprotease balance and acute-phase reactants. Burns Incl Therm Inj. 1987;13(1):26–33.
- Friedl HP, Till GO, Trentz O, Ward PA. Roles of histamine, complement and xanthine oxidase in thermal injury of skin. Am J Pathol. 1989;135(1):203–17.
- Oldham KT, Guice KS, Till GO, Ward PA. Activation of complement by hydroxyl radical in thermal injury. Surgery. 1988;104(2):272–9.
- Pruchniewski D, Pawlowski T, Morkowski J, Mackiewicz S. C-reactive protein in management of children's burns. Ann Clin Res. 1987;19(5):334–8.
- Kang HJ, Kim JH, Lee EH, Lee YK, Hur M, Lee KM. Change of complement system predicts the outcome of patients with severe thermal injury. J Burn Care Rehabil. 2003;24(3):148–53.
- Gelfand JA, Donelan M, Hawiger A, Burke JF. Alternative complement pathway activation increases mortality in a model of burn injury in mice. J Clin Invest. 1982;70(6):1170–6.
- Ward PA, Till GO. Pathophysiologic events related to thermal injury of skin. J Trauma. 1990;30(12 Suppl):S75–9.
- Wan KC, Evans JH. Free radical involvement in hypertrophic scar formation. Free Radic Biol Med. 1999;26(5-6):603–8.

- 74. van de Goot F, Krijnen PA, Begieneman MP, Ulrich MM, Middelkoop E, Niessen HW. Acute inflammation is persistent locally in burn wounds: a pivotal role for complement and C-reactive protein. J Burn Care Res. 2009;30(2):274–80.
- 75. Feng X, Shen R, Tan J, Chen X, Pan Y, Ruan S, Zhang F, Lin Z, Zeng Y, Wang X, Lin Y, Wu Q. The study of inhibiting systematic inflammatory response syndrome by applying xenogenic (porcine) acellular dermal matrix on second-degree burns. Burns. 2007;33(4):477–9.
- 76. Francois CG, Breidenbach WC, Maldonado C, Kakoulidis TP, Hodges A, Dubernard JM, Owen E, Pei G, Ren X, Barker JH. Hand transplantation: comparisons and observations of the first four clinical cases. Microsurgery. 2000;20(8):360–71.
- 77. Janeway CA Jr. Approaching the asymptote? Evolution and revolution in immunology. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol. 1989;54(Pt 1):1–13.
- Iwasaki A, Medzhitov R. Regulation of adaptive immunity by the innate immune system. Science. 2010;327(5963):291–5.
- Oberbarnscheidt MH, Zeng Q, Li Q, Dai H, Williams AL, Shlomchik WD, Rothstein DM, Lakkis FG. Nonself recognition by monocytes initiates allograft rejection. J Clin Invest. 2014;124(8):3579–89.
- Gallucci S, Lolkema M, Matzinger P. Natural adjuvants: endogenous activators of dendritic cells. Nat Med. 1999;5(11):1249–55.
- Kono H, Rock KL. How dying cells alert the immune system to danger. Nat Rev Immunol. 2008;8(4):279–89.
- Matas AJ, Gillingham KJ, Payne WD, Najarian JS. The impact of an acute rejection episode on long-term renal allograft survival (t1/2). Transplantation. 1994;57(6):857–9.
- Gewurz H, Mold C, Siegel J, Fiedel B. C-reactive protein and the acute phase response. Adv Intern Med. 1982;27:345–72.
- Thompson D, Pepys MB, Wood SP. The physiological structure of human C-reactive protein and its complex with phosphocholine. Structure. 1999;7(2):169–77.
- 85. Ramadan MA, Shrive AK, Holden D, Myles DA, Volanakis JE, DeLucas LJ, et al. The threedimensional structure of calcium-depleted human C-reactive protein from perfectly twinned crystals. Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr. 2002;58(Pt 6 Pt 2):992–1001.
- 86. Shrive AK, Cheetham GM, Holden D, Myles DA, Turnell WG, Volanakis JE, Pepys MB, Bloomer AC, Greenhough TJ. Three dimensional structure of human C-reactive protein. Nat Struct Biol. 1996;3(4):346–54.
- Eisenhardt SU, Thiele JR, Bannasch H, Stark GB, Peter K. C-reactive protein: how conformational changes influence inflammatory properties. Cell Cycle. 2009;8(23):3885–92.
- Lu J, Marnell LL, Marjon KD, Mold C, Du Clos TW, Sun PD. Structural recognition and functional

activation of FcgammaR by innate pentraxins. Nature. 2008;456(7224):989–92.

- Singh SK, Thirumalai A, Hammond DJ Jr, Pangburn MK, Mishra VK, Johnson DA, Rusiñol AE, Agrawal A. Exposing a hidden functional site of C-reactive protein by site-directed mutagenesis. J Biol Chem. 2012;287(5):3550–8.
- Agrawal A, Shrive AK, Greenhough TJ, Volanakis JE. Topology and structure of the C1qbinding site on C-reactive protein. J Immunol. 2001;166(6):3998–4004.
- Roux KH, Kilpatrick JM, Volanakis JE, Kearney JF. Localization of the phosphocholine-binding sites on C-reactive protein by immunoelectron microscopy. J Immunol. 1983;131(5):2411–5.
- 92. Hakobyan S, Harris CL, van den Berg CW, Fernandez-Alonso MC, de Jorge EG, de Cordoba SR, Rivas G, Mangione P, Pepys MB, Morgan BP. Complement factor H binds to denatured rather than to native pentameric C-reactive protein. J Biol Chem. 2008;283(45):30451–60.
- Wang MS, Black JC, Knowles MK, Reed SM. C-reactive protein (CRP) aptamer binds to monomeric but not pentameric form of CRP. Anal Bioanal Chem. 2011;401(4):1309–18.
- Wu Y, Ji SR, Wang HW, Sui SF. Study of the spontaneous dissociation of rabbit C-reactive protein. Biochemistry (Mosc). 2002;67(12):1377–82.
- Miyazawa K, Kiyono S, Inoue K. Modulation of stimulus-dependent human platelet activation by C-reactive protein modified with active oxygen species. J Immunol. 1988;141(2):570–4.
- 96. Jiang HX, Siegel JN, Gewurz H. Binding and complement activation by C-reactive protein via the collagen-like region of C1q and inhibition of these reactions by monoclonal antibodies to C-reactive protein and C1q. J Immunol. 1991;146(7):2324–30.
- 97. Braig D, Nero TL, Koch HG, Kaiser B, Wang X, Thiele JR, Morton CJ, Zeller J, Kiefer J, Potempa LA, Mellett NA, Miles LA, Du XJ, Meikle PJ, Huber-Lang M, Stark GB, Parker MW, Peter K, Eisenhardt SU. Transitional changes in the CRP structure lead to the exposure of proinflammatory binding sites. Nat Commun. 2017;8:14188.
- Buzas EI, Gyorgy B, Nagy G, Falus A, Gay S. Emerging role of extracellular vesicles in inflammatory diseases. Nat Rev Rheumatol. 2014;10(6):356–64.
- 99. Habersberger J, Strang F, Scheichl A, Htun N, Bassler N, Merivirta RM, Diehl P, Krippner G, Meikle P, Eisenhardt SU, Meredith I, Peter K. Circulating microparticles generate and transport monomeric C-reactive protein in patients with myocardial infarction. Cardiovasc Res. 2012;96(1):64–72.
- Nathan C. Points of control in inflammation. Nature. 2002;420(6917):846–52.
- 101. Bunting M, Harris ES, McIntyre TM, Prescott SM, Zimmerman GA. Leukocyte adhesion deficiency syndromes: adhesion and tethering defects involving beta 2 integrins and selectin ligands. Curr Opin Hematol. 2002;9(1):30–5.

- 102. Biesma DH, Hannema AJ, van Velzen-Blad H, Mulder L, van Zwieten R, Kluijt I, Roos D. A family with complement factor D deficiency. J Clin Invest. 2001;108(2):233–40.
- Robertson DB, Maibach HI. Topical corticosteroids. Int J Dermatol. 1982;21(2):59–67.
- 104. Mygind N, Dahl R. The rationale for use of topical corticosteroids in allergic rhinitis. Clin Exp Allergy. 1996;26(Suppl 3):2–10.
- 105. Beer HD, Fassler R, Werner S. Glucocorticoidregulated gene expression during cutaneous wound repair. Vitam Horm. 2000;59:217–39.
- 106. Schacke H, Docke WD, Asadullah K. Mechanisms involved in the side effects of glucocorticoids. Pharmacol Ther. 2002;96(1):23–43.
- 107. Leibovich SJ, Polverini PJ, Shepard HM, Wiseman DM, Shively V, Nuseir N. Macrophage-induced angiogenesis is mediated by tumour necrosis factoralpha. Nature. 1987;329(6140):630–2.
- Pompili M, Biolato M, Miele L, Grieco A. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha inhibitors and chronic hepatitis C: a comprehensive literature review. World J Gastroenterol. 2013;19(44):7867–73.
- 109. Guidotti LG, Ishikawa T, Hobbs MV, Matzke B, Schreiber R, Chisari FV. Intracellular inactivation of the hepatitis B virus by cytotoxic T lymphocytes. Immunity. 1996;4(1):25–36.
- 110. Keane J, Gershon S, Wise RP, Mirabile-Levens E, Kasznica J, Schwieterman WD, Siegel JN, Braun MM. Tuberculosis associated with infliximab, a tumor necrosis factor alpha-neutralizing agent. N Engl J Med. 2001;345(15):1098–104.
- 111. Kasahara S, Ando K, Saito K, Sekikawa K, Ito H, Ishikawa T, Ohnishi H, Seishima M, Kakumu S, Moriwaki H. Lack of tumor necrosis factor alpha induces impaired proliferation of hepatitis B virus-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes. J Virol. 2003;77(4):2469–76.
- 112. Slifman NR, Gershon SK, Lee JH, Edwards ET, Braun MM. Listeria monocytogenes infection as a complication of treatment with tumor necrosis factor alpha-neutralizing agents. Arthritis Rheum. 2003;48(2):319–24.
- 113. Pepys MB, Hirschfield GM, Tennent GA, Gallimore JR, Kahan MC, Bellotti V, Hawkins PN, Myers RM, Smith MD, Polara A, Cobb AJ, Ley SV, Aquilina JA, Robinson CV, Sharif I, Gray GA, Sabin CA, Jenvey MC, Kolstoe SE, Thompson D, Wood SP. Targeting C-reactive protein for the treatment of cardiovascular disease. Nature. 2006;440(7088):1217–21.
- 114. Griselli M, Herbert J, Hutchinson WL, Taylor KM, Sohail M, Krausz T, Pepys MB. C-reactive protein and complement are important mediators of tissue damage in acute myocardial infarction. J Exp Med. 1999;190(12):1733–40.
- 115. Gill R, Kemp JA, Sabin C, Pepys MB. Human C-reactive protein increases cerebral infarct size after middle cerebral artery occlusion in adult rats. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2004;24(11):1214–8.



18

Stem Cell Therapies for Tissue Regeneration and Wound Healing: Strategies to Enhance Therapeutic Effectiveness

Silvia Mihalceanu, Matthias M. Aitzetmüller, Hans-Günther Machens, and Dominik Duscher

18.1 Introduction

Wound healing is a complex process involving different cellular constituents of the skin compartments and its extracellular matrix (ECM). Extensive communication between all these factors is essential for efficient and complete tissue regeneration. Defect, loss, or dominance of one factor of this convoluted interaction can cause breakdown of the whole system, resulting in chronic wounds and consequently to significant limitations in every day's life. Chronic wounds are defined as barrier defects that have not proceeded through orderly and timely reparation to regain structural and functional integrity [1]. Vascular insufficiency, diabetes mellitus, and local-pressure are the major causes of non-healing skin wounds, although systemic factors, including diabetes, advanced age, inadequate nutrition, hypoperfusion, chronic mechanical stress, infection, malignancy, and obesity can contribute to poor wound healing [2].

Chronic wounds represent a major health care issue, potentially going along with significant

D. Duscher (🖂)

social and economic challenges [3, 4], but research regarding this topic is limited by complexity of tissue regeneration, as well as many individual patient-related factors. The worldwide distribution towards an elderly population associated with multiple comorbidities markedly diminishing the healing capacity of all tissues, results in an increased prevalence of chronic wounds [5]. Current strategies to overcome impaired wound healing are based on [1] optimizing local wound management, consisting of debridement of the injury site, and providing an optimal environment through special dressings or negative-pressuretherapy [2], optimizing systemic factors such as blood sugar [3], administration of systemic antibiotic therapy in the setting of infection, and [4] reconstructive surgery of the defect [6].

Still, these efforts often remain unsuccessful and the clinical outcomes suboptimal [7]. Therefore, understanding the unique features of the wound environment is crucial in developing new therapeutic strategies. A variety of new treatment modalities such as bioengineered skin substitutes, growth factors, and stem cells are currently being assessed in both preclinical and clinical studies [8, 9]. Among these new therapeutic options, because of their strong cytokine profile, their immunomodulating properties, and their potential for multilineage differentiation, stem-cell based therapies hold particular promise in the setting of wound repair and tissue regeneration [10].

S. Mihalceanu · M. M. Aitzetmüller · H.-G. Machens Division for Experimental Plastic Surgery, Department of Plastic and Hand Surgery, Klinikum rechts der Isar, Technical University of Munich, Munich, Germany

Department for Plastic Surgery and Hand Surgery, Division of Experimental Plastic Surgery, Technical University of Munich, Munich, Germany

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

D. Duscher, M. A. Shiffman (eds.), *Regenerative Medicine and Plastic Surgery*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19958-6_18

18.2 Stem Cells in Wound Healing

Stem cells are a population defined by multipotency, self-renewal capacity, and long-term viability. They are able to differentiate into cells of multiple lineages by performing asymmetric divisions [11]. Hence, such properties could be useful for the development of regenerative therapies for skin tissue defects.

Essentially, these cells can be broadly classified in embryonic stem cells (ESCs) and adult stem cells, according to their evolutionary origins. Embryonic stem cells are derived from the blastocyst, a hollow structure in the early mammalian embryonic development. While the placenta will originate from the external layer, called throphoblast, the cells of the inner cell mass (ICM) are capable to form any fully differentiated cell of the organism [12]. Although theoretically appealing because of their pluripotency, the widespread use of the ESCs is still limited by ethical considerations and regulatory issues. Additionally, problems derived from their vast differentiation, such as the potential for immunogenicity and tumorigenicity, must be addressed before clinical application becomes feasible [13, 14].

Adult stem cells, however, are easier to harvest and their usage is hardly limited by ethical issues. Beginning of the adult stem cell research can be set in 1963, when Becker et al. [15] first described the hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) by reporting the presence of self-replicating cells within the bone marrow of mice. Since then, multiple progenitor cell reservoirs of the adult organism have been discovered and utilized for research and clinical applications. There is evidence that adult stem cells may be found in most tissues and organs, predominantly at sites with rapid cell turnover, such as bone marrow, skin, liver, and intestinal mucosa, but also in skeletal muscle tissue, pancreas, heart, and central nervous system [16–18]. The most prominent part of these cells turned out to be from mesenchymal origin [19]. Subsequent to their identification as fibroblasts precursors in bone marrow in the 1950s, mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) have been isolated from several sites, including adipose tissue, skin, peripheral blood, dental pulp, endometrium, postnatal tissues (i.e., umbilical cord blood, placenta) [20–25], and even tumorous tissue [26].

Generally, MSCs are defined by The International Society of Cellular Therapy (ISCT) by several abilities. Their ability to adhere to a plastic surface, their expression of certain surface markers CD73, CD90, and CD105, their lack of expression of hematopoietic markers CD14/ CD11b. CD34, CD45, CD79a/CD19 and HLA-DR class II, and their ability to differentiate along osteoblastic, adipocytic, and chondrocytic lineage when treated with established lineagespecific differentiation factors in vitro characterize MSCs as a unique cell population [27]. Initial studies have shown that the MSCs are beneficial for the treatment of Crohn's disease, graft-versushost disease, and diabetes mellitus, as well as for reducing cellular damage after heart, lung, liver, kidney, brain, and skin injuries [28]. These findings indicated that MSCs-based therapy could represent a major breakthrough in the healing of chronic wounds [2, 29].

Extensive research on the regenerative potential of mesenchymal stem cell showed that the treatment with MSCs interferes with different stages of the wound healing process. MSCs can contribute to the repopulation of the wound bed by differentiating into a variety of skin cell types, including keratinocytes and endothelial cells [30]. In the setting of chronic inflammation, which is considered as a hallmark of wound healing disorders [31], MSCs have also been shown to exert immunomodulatory effects on the immune cells of the host, such as B lymphocytes, T lymphocytes, and Natural Killer (NK) cells, decreasing the inflammation and preventing fibrosis by attenuating the scar formation [32].

Mesenchymal stem cells may serve as a powerful tool to promote tissue regeneration due to two main abilities: secretion of paracrine factors and differentiation [33]. Several studies suggest that the positive effect of stem cell transplanted to the wound site mainly relies on the secretion of pro-regenerative trophic factors, rather than via differentiation and direct replacement of damaged cells [34–37]. The secretome of the stem cells leads to activation of different signaling cascades and provides the microenvironment of the wound with growth factors, cytokines and chemokines. Consequently, wound healing is accelerated through enhanced proliferation and migration of fibroblasts, keratinocytes, and epithelial cells, [33, 38] as well as promoted angiogenesis [39]. MSCs have also been identified to have antimicrobial effects [40, 41]. Thus, their enormous therapeutic potential for applications in regenerative medicine and tissue engineering has put them in the focus of many researchers. Bone marrow-derived MSCs (BMSCs) and adipose-derived MSCs (AdSCs or ASCs) are the ones used the most in preclinical and clinical research in the setting of impaired wound healing.

18.2.1 Bone Marrow Derived Stem Cells

Derived from the mesodermal germ layer, the bone-marrow compartment consists of hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs), supported by a heterogeneous mesenchymal stroma. First isolated in 1966 by Friedenstein et al. [42] as part of the stroma, the bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells (BMSCs) have been originally identified as a source of osteoprogenitor stem cells [43-45]. Since then, extensive research has shown that BMSCs are capable to undergo differentiation towards osteogenic, chondrogenic, adipogenic, and myogenic lineages [46–50]. Therefore, bone marrow-derived stem cells (BMSCs) have been proposed to be a promising source of stem cells for mesodermal tissue engineering. Following harvesting and in vitro selection based on their ability to adhere to plastic culture dish and expression of surface markers, BMSCs can be expanded in culture and applied topically to wounds or injected to promote tissue repair.

The regenerative potential of BMSCs has extensively been researched in the setting of diabetic wounds and critical limb ischemia [51–53]. A study compared the therapeutic effects of intramuscular and intra-arterial delivery of BMSCs in patients with advanced critical limb ischemia and found that they both represent effective strategies [54]. Another clinical study used a topically delivered composite graft consisting of BMSCs and a collagen sponge scaffold to treat skin wounds. This approach was shown to be effective in 18 of 20 patients [55]. Therefore, BMSC-based therapies are a promising therapy for difficult-toheal wounds.

Nevertheless, bone marrow procurement has potential limitations. The harvesting procedure is invasive, may lead to significant donor site morbidity, and often requires general anesthesia and intensive patient care [56]. To achieve clinically significant concentrations, BMSCs require an ex vivo expansion [57]. This step is expensive, time consuming, and harbors the risk of possible cell contaminations. For this reason, such procedures should only be performed in special facilities. Because of these factors, many researchers have been utilizing MSCs of alternate sources to investigate their potential for tissue regeneration.

18.2.2 Adipose Tissue as a Valuable Source of Stem Cells

For a long time, the function of the adipose tissue was believed to be limited to the storage of excess energy, and the surplus of tissue was discarded by liposuction or rarely used as a soft-tissue filler. In addition to plastic and reconstructive surgical applications, adipose tissue has become essential to an increasing number of translational efforts involving the understanding of cellular, molecular, and immunological mechanisms. Adipose tissue is a heterogeneous entity derived from the mesodermal germ layer, consisting of various cell population [58, 59]. According to the International Federation for Adipose Therapeutics and Science (IFATS) and the International Society for Cellular Therapy (ISCT), the stromal vascular fraction (SVF) can be defined as a heterogeneous mesenchymal cell population separated from the mature adipocytes by processing the adipose tissue [60].

Usually, the SVF is obtained through enzymatic digestion with collagenase, followed by centrifugation and resuspension [56]. The SVF contains adipose stromal stem cells (ASCs), hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs), and progenitor cells, as well as endothelial cells, fibroblasts, erythrocytes, lymphocytes, monocyte/ macrophages, and pericytes, among others [60, 61]. The progenitor cells, which are responsible for the turnover of the adipose tissue, show resemblance to fibroblasts and have been referred to as preadipocytes [62]. In 2001, researchers from UCLA found that the adipose tissue cell population contains not only such progenitor cells, but also a population of mesenchymal stem cells capable of multilineage differentiation, termed adipose-derived stem cells (ASCs or AdSCs) [20].

As the first one, Zuk et al. [20] isolated the ASCs from human lipoaspirates, proposing that the stromo-vascular fraction contains a niche of multilineage stem cells. Their findings revealed that the ASCs present similar properties to the previously characterized BMSCs: they are capable of mesodermal differentiation towards the osteogenic, adipogenic, myogenic, and chondrogenic lineages, upon specific in vitro induction with established specific factors. Several studies that compared these two types of stem cells showed a morphological resemblance, and a similarity of majority of their expressed cell surface markers. Transcriptomic and proteomics analysis also showed that adipose-derived stem cells and bone marrow-derived stem cells pose a similar profile [63, 64]. In addition, it was found that regardless of the heterogeneity of the adipose tissue, the ASCs might be able to cross the germ layers and undergo differentiation towards ectodermal and endodermal lineages [56, 65–67]. Based on this, adipose tissue was proposed as an additional source of adult stem cells with a possible far-reaching regenerative potential.

The concept of using ASCs as cellular vehicles for mediating the therapeutic repair of chronic wounds became very appealing. Adipose tissue, like bone marrow, is a mesodermal derivative and the stroma containing the ASCs can be easily isolated by liposuction under local anesthesia and with minimal discomfort [56]. A large body of medical literature investigated possible

ACSs mechanisms of action in wound healing. Kim et al. [68] suggested that the ASCs promote the proliferation and migration of human dermal fibroblasts, not only by direct cell-cell-contact, but also indirectly via secretion of soluble factors. Another study found that the delivery of autologous ASCs in a murine model of hind limb ischemia stimulates angiogenesis. Conditioned media obtained from culturing the ASCs under hypoxic conditions significantly increased the endothelial cell growth and reduced their apoptosis. Enhanced rate of multiple pro-angiogenic growth factors secretion has been explored as underlying mechanism [69]. Independently, a preclinical study showed that the ASCs significantly accelerate wound closure in normal and diabetic rat model, increasing epithelialization and deposition of granulation tissue. Moreover, ASCs also can differentiate into epithelial or endothelial cells and secrete pro-angiogenic cytokines, promoting neovascularization of the wound bed [70]. All of this data suggests that ASCs promote the re-epithelialization of the wound bed largely through their paracrine effects.

An increasing amount of literature describes the trophic effects of ASCs on a variety of endogenous cells. It has been shown that ASCs' secretome contains molecules such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), platelet derived growth factor (PDGF), keratinocyte growth factor (KGF), transforming growth factor β (TGF- β), fibronectin, and collagen 1 [34]. In a different study, it was found that the ASCs also secrete granulocyte and macrophage colony stimulating factors, interleukins (IL- 6, IL-7, IL-8, and IL-11), tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), nerve growth factor (NGF), adipokines, and others. Moreover, some of these factors have also shown to possess an immunomodulatory character, and thereby might positively affect wound closure [71].

Therefore, it has been hypothesized that ASCs can initiate and enhance wound healing by two main mechanisms: (1) migration and differentiation into skin cells in response to injury and (2) paracrine-mediated activation of fibroblasts and keratinocytes and down-regulation of the



Fig. 18.1 Wound healing mechanisms of ASCs: ASCs can initiate and enhance wound healing by migration and differentiation into skin cells in response to injury,

inflammatory response (Fig. 18.1) [72]. The beneficial effects of ACSs were also confirmed in a phase I clinical trial: Bura et al. [73] evaluated the safety of the intramuscular injections of autologous ASCs in patients with non-revascularizable critical limb ischemia and reported an improvement of the wound healing, as well as the absence of complications.

These findings suggest that the ASCs could represent a promising alternative population of adult mesenchymal stem cells, possibly more feasible that the BMSCs for clinical translations.

The advantage of using the ASCs as an alternative stem-cell source resides in the availability of adipose tissue, as well as in the reduced donor site morbidity compared with bone marrow harvesting. The extraordinary high cell yield from lipoaspirates, as compared with bone marrow aspiration, can be used directly without culturing in vitro [74]. Thus, in vitro manipulation of the stem cells and regulatory issues such as the need for good manufacturing practice (GMP) facilities could be avoided. Nevertheless, more clinical

paracrine-mediated activation of fibroblasts, and keratinocytes and down-regulation of the inflammatory response

evidence is required to prove the safety and efficacy of ASC-based therapies for tissue repair applications.

18.3 Challenges and Potential Strategies to Enhance the Therapeutic Effectiveness of ASCs

In a physiological setting, acute injury of the cutaneous tissue is followed by the activation of multiple well-orchestrated cell and cytokine signaling pathways [75]. Wound healing in healthy individuals initiates several overlapping phases: inflammation, cellular migration, proliferation, extracellular matrix (ECM) deposition, and tissue remodeling [1, 76]. However, advanced age and underlying disease states such as diabetes and vascular insufficiency can significantly affect these physiological processes, leading to appearance of chronic wounds. There is a need for therapeutics that maintain efficacy in the clinical

setting, despite obstacles such as hypoxia, ischemia, oxidative stress, and bacterial infection [77]. To effectively modulate the complex mechanisms that are involved in wound healing and to overcome the harsh wound microenvironment, stem cells need to be delivered in a favorable route. Therefore, the whole process, beginning with the selection of the cell source to the administration to the patient, can be addressed with the aim of improving the yield and the effects exerted by the stem cells.

18.4 Effects of Pathology and Aging on ASCs

Although therapeutic approaches utilizing ASCs for wound healing have been quite promising in preclinical studies, clinical translation remains difficult. There is a continuously increasing need for stem-cell based therapies especially in the treatment of chronic wounds. Unfortunately, these wounds most likely occur in aged and multi-morbid patients. These systemic factors have shown to be responsible for a multitude of pathological modifications in the microenvironment of the wound site, as well as for impairment of the regenerative potential of stem cells of these patients [78].

Several studies have postulated that nonhealing wounds are characterized by lack of oxygen, chronic systemic inflammation, and increased matrix metalloproteinase (MMP) activity, resulting in degradation of ECM and growth factors [31, 79, 80]. These characteristics of chronic wounds have shown to have a negative impact on the functionality of ASCs. Koenen et al. [81] evaluated the influence of acute wound fluid (AWF) and chronic wound fluid (CWF) on the ASCs. He found out that the CWF significantly impairs the proliferation and migration of the ASCs, in contrast with the stimulating effect of the AWF.

The effect of diabetic disease state on the ASCs has also been studied extensively in both in vitro and animal model: by using single-cell analytical approach there was examined possible effects of diabetes on the intrinsic properties of ASCs and demonstrated that prolonged hyper-

glycemia alters some subpopulations of the ASC niche [78]. Another study analyzed ASCs from diabetic mice for their cytokine profile and concluded that the secretion of growth factors is diminished [82].

Advanced age plays a major role: it is not only associated with increased incidence of comorbidities, but also impairs by itself the regenerative abilities of the organism, including the progenitor cells. Aged stem cells have shown to decrease their functionality and differentiation capacity, as well as their ability to support the formation of new vessels in vitro and in vivo [83, 84]. Duscher et al. [85] investigated the effect of advanced age on the dynamic of the ASCs populations and identified an age-related depletion of certain pro-regenerative subpopulations. These data suggest that the translational potential of ASCs derived from patients with diabetes may be limited. Nonetheless, the age- and morbidityrelated differences regarding the characteristics of the ASCs and the consequences of their therapeutic use remain incompletely understood. Thus, interventions to improve the function, application, and survival of the ASCs used as therapeutics are needed (Fig. 18.2).



Fig. 18.2 Strategies for enhancing the efficacy of ASCs in the setting of impaired wound healing: to address challenges from advanced age and comorbidities such as diabetes, optimal harvesting and delivery of the ASC-based therapies are required

18.5 Harvesting

The harvesting method may have an impact on the functionality of the adipose-derived stem cells. Currently, various liposuction methods such as suction-assisted liposuction, powerassisted liposuction, ultrasound-assisted liposuction and laser-assisted liposuction are used in clinical routine [86, 87]. Although suctionassisted liposuction has been found to provide significantly fewer ASCs when compared to excised fat tissue, the yielded stem cells were viable and capable of multi-lineage differentiation [88]. Another study assessed the impact of ultrasound-assisted liposuction on ASCs yield, viability, and differentiation capacity and suggested that ultrasonic energy allows safe and efficient harvesting of the ASCs and does not pose negative effects on their regenerative capacity [89]. Still, a clinically feasible harvesting procedure where the adipose tissue can be collected, and the stem cells isolated and processed for immediate application in a single session is not available. Further research is required to establish a harvesting approach that is a safe, reliable, and cost effective.

18.6 Optimization

As the functionality of unselected autologous ASCs from elderly and highly morbid patients has shown to be likely reduced, selection of certain cell-populations with a higher regenerative potential may be a solution to improve their therapeutic potential. Researchers have been able to develop a method to identify and isolate distinct subpopulations via single-cell transcriptional analysis and screening of the cell surface markers [90, 91]. Although extensive investigations are required to implement this selection method in the clinical setting, the concept of using only the cell subsets with superior functionality is very attractive and opens the possibility of allowing therapies with autologous ASCs in a broad cohort of patients including aged and diabetic individuals.

Another approach that may be beneficial for adjusting the characteristics of the ASCs is cul-

turing the stem cells under certain conditions that resemble the in vivo wound environment. Several studies demonstrated that the exploration of hypoxic conditions to modulate the secretome of mesenchymal stem cells increase their therapeutic potential [92, 93]. Hypoxia or low oxygen level has shown to increase the proliferation of ASCs and enhance their regenerative properties by up-regulating the VEGF and basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) [93]. Another study utilized a Matrigel implant model and showed that hypoxia-preconditioned ASCs promote angiogenesis, as well as maturation of the newly formed blood vessels [94].

18.7 Delivery

An additional challenge for the use of stem cellbased therapies is to provide effective cell delivery to the site of injury. As the engraftment and survival of the stem cells at the wound site are limited by the harsh environment of the chronic tissue injuries, different ways of delivering MSCs have been developed: topical/spray, scaffoldloaded, subcutaneous injection, or intravenous delivery [2]. Given the less predictable delivery of the systemic administration, localized delivery has been widely accepted as the optimal approach for treatment of wounds [95]. The local application facilitates the effective tissue targeting and avoids systemic side effects. However, chronic wounds present a highly unfavorable environment for the delivered cells. The direct topical application has the disadvantage of delivering the cells unprotected and not uniformly dispersed in the wound bed. Moreover, the engrafted cells may differentiate to fast, which could be detrimental for the full development of their paracrine activity [84].

One possible alternative delivery system that may work synergistically with the stem cells, protecting them and prolonging their viability, is the scaffold-based delivery. A study locally administered ASCs to murine excisional wounds using a biological non-immunogenic extracellular matrix patch material. Increased viability and significant reduction of the wound area were observed (LAM). Altman et al. [96] also showed acellular dermal matrices as carriers for ASCs to be effective for targeting in vivo soft tissue regeneration. In another study, enhanced engraftment of MSCs and higher levels of pro-angiogenic growth factors were demonstrated in wounds treated with a MSC-seeded hydrogel [97]. A novel protocol for optimizing the hydrogel cell seeding has been investigated by Garg et al. [98] who developed a capillary-force based seeding approach able to rapidly engraft the ASCs into a collagen-pullulan hydrogel at the point of care, with promising results. All these represent important steps towards the clinical translation of progenitor cell therapy.

18.8 Outlook

Autologous cell-based approaches may be limited by the difficulties in obtaining sufficient autologous stem cells from aged patients suffering from multiple pathological conditions. Therefore, the research focus shifted toward investigating the possibility of isolating the ASCs from healthy individuals and delivering them in allogeneic fashion to the recipient [99–101]. Recent research has shown the MSCs may have a privileged immunological profile and do not induce significant immunological responses in the host [32]. This may represent a valuable strategy to overcome age-and disease-related impairments in stem cells. Allogeneic cells may be isolated from one or more donors, expanded, and cryopreserved for future use as an "off-the-shelf" therapy to meet emergency requirements such as burns and large wound areas. Nevertheless, the preclinical and clinical studies using allogeneic ASCs are still limited, and further research is required to prove the immunological safety of allogeneic stem cell-based therapies.

In 2006, researchers made another breakthrough, by discovering that somatic adult cells can be genetically reprogrammed to revert to the previous state of an embryonic stem cells, preceding their initial differentiation status. These so-called iPSCs (induced pluripotent stem cells) were firstly generated by Takahashi and

Yamanaka by reprogramming embryonic and adult fibroblasts to create an immature, pluripotent state in a mouse model [102]. Through retroviral transduction of the fibroblasts with transcription factors like OCT4, SOX2, Klf4, c-Myc, NANOG, and LIN28, Takahashi et al. [102] and Yu et al. [103] showed that some cells exhibit certain characteristics of embryonic stem cells. Human iPSCs were also reported to express stem cell markers and are capable of generating cells characteristic of all three germ layers [104, 105]. The use of iPSC technologies has the potential to combine advantages of both stromal cell types, MSCs, and ESCs. Ethical issues that go along with the use of human ESCs can be avoided and autologous iPSCs are highly available and pose a high chance of immunological compatibility. Recent studies have already proven the potential use of iPSCs for cutaneous repair: in vitro 3D skin equivalents composed of human iPSCderived keratinocytes or fibroblasts have been generated and used for dermal regeneration [106–108]. Moreover, epidermal appendages like the hair follicles could have been generated [109], suggesting that the iPSC-derived skin substitutes are promising for the generation of complete cutaneous equivalents. However, further research is needed to determine the ideal methods to completely and reproducibly commit the iPSCs to appropriate cell lineages. The transition of iPScs into the clinic is still hindered by the missing evidence regarding safety and reliability of used reprogramming technologies. Furthermore, issues like the risk for enhanced tumorigenesis and the need for an in vitro genetic manipulation and a possible iPSC-mediated immune response need to be addressed before widespread clinical adaption is possible.

18.9 Conclusions

Stem cells-based therapies remain at the forefront of tissue regeneration, since they represent a unique source of cells endowed with remarkable healing potential. The therapeutic use of progenitor cells for treating chronical wounds has showed promising results in basic science research and preclinical studies. Given their extraordinary characteristics to differentiate and to release cytokines and soluble growth factors, these cells are promising therapeutic sources.

Nevertheless, our current understanding regarding the mechanisms of stem cells-based therapies with regard to complex signaling cascades, environmental influences, or epigenetic modulation is still limited. Therefore, there are still major hurdles to be overcome to achieve clinical translation of these novel therapeutics.

References

- Eming SA, Martin P, Tomic-Canic M. Wound repair and regeneration: mechanisms, signaling, and translation. Sci Transl Med. 2014;6(265):265sr6.
- Ennis WJ, Sui A, Bartholomew A. Stem cells and healing: impact on inflammation. Adv Wound Care. 2013;2(7):369–78.
- Sen CK, Gordillo GM, Roy S, Kirsner R, Lambert L, Hunt TK, Gottrup F, Gurtner GC, Longaker MT. Human skin wounds: a major and snowballing threat to public health and the economy. Wound Repair Regen. 2009;17(6):763–71.
- Lindholm C, Searle R. Wound management for the 21st century: combining effectiveness and efficiency. Int Wound J. 2016;13(Suppl 2):5–15.
- Rando TA. Stem cells, ageing and the quest for immortality. Nature. 2006;441(7097):1080–6.
- Werdin F, Tenenhaus M, Rennekampff HO. Chronic wound care. Lancet. 2008;372(9653):1860–2.
- Reiber GE, Lipsky BA, Gibbons GW. The burden of diabetic foot ulcers. Am J Surg. 1998;176(2A Suppl):5s–10s.
- Jain P, Perakath B, Jesudason MR, Nayak S. The effect of autologous bone marrow-derived cells on healing chronic lower extremity wounds: results of a randomized controlled study. Ostomy Wound Manage. 2011;57(7):38–44.
- Ravari H, Hamidi-Almadari D, Salimifar M, Bonakdaran S, Parizadeh MR, Koliakos G. Treatment of non-healing wounds with autologous bone marrow cells, platelets, fibrin glue and collagen matrix. Cytotherapy. 2011;13(6):705–11.
- Otero-Vinas M, Falanga V. Mesenchymal stem cells in chronic wounds: the spectrum from basic to advanced therapy. Adv Wound Care. 2016;5(4):149–63.
- Hall PA, Watt FM. Stem cells: the generation and maintenance of cellular diversity. Development. 1989;106(4):619–33.
- Odorico JS, Kaufman DS, Thomson JA. Multilineage differentiation from human embryonic stem cell lines. Stem Cells. 2001;19(3):193–204.

- Blum B, Benvenisty N. The tumorigenicity of human embryonic stem cells. Adv Cancer Res. 2008;100:133–58.
- 14. Ben-David U, Benvenisty N. The tumorigenicity of human embryonic and induced pluripotent stem cells. Nat Rev Cancer. 2011;11(4):268–77.
- Becker AJ, Mc CE, Till JE. Cytological demonstration of the clonal nature of spleen colonies derived from transplanted mouse marrow cells. Nature. 1963;197:452–4.
- Temple S, Alvarez-Buylla A. Stem cells in the adult mammalian central nervous system. Curr Opin Neurobiol. 1999;9(1):135–41.
- 17. Wagers AJ, Weissman IL. Plasticity of adult stem cells. Cell. 2004;116(5):639–48.
- da Silva ML, Chagastelles PC, Nardi NB. Mesenchymal stem cells reside in virtually all post-natal organs and tissues. J Cell Sci. 2006;119(Pt 11):2204–13.
- Marfia G, Navone SE, Di Vito C, Ughi N, Tabano S, Miozzo M, Tremolada C, Bolla G, Crotti C, Ingegnoli F, Rampini P, Riboni L, Gualtierotti R, Campanella R. Mesenchymal stem cells: potential for therapy and treatment of chronic non-healing skin wounds. Organogenesis. 2015;11(4):183–206.
- 20. Zuk PA, Zhu M, Mizuno H, Huang J, Futrell JW, Katz AJ, Benhaim P, Lorenz HP, Hedrick MH. Multilineage cells from human adipose tissue: implications for cell-based therapies. Tissue Eng. 2001;7(2):211–28.
- Fuchs E. Skin stem cells: rising to the surface. J Cell Biol. 2008;180(2):273–84.
- 22. Bensinger WI, Clift RA, Anasetti C, Appelbaum FA, Demirer T, Rowley S, Appelbaum FR, Benyunes M, Clift R, Martin P, Demirer T, Storb R, Lee M, Schiller G. Transplantation of allogeneic peripheral blood stem cells mobilized by recombinant human granulocyte colony stimulating factor. Stem Cells. 1996;14(1):90–105.
- 23. Gronthos S, Mankani M, Brahim J, Robey PG, Shi S. Postnatal human dental pulp stem cells (DPSCs) in vitro and in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2000;97(25):13625–30.
- Gargett CE, Schwab KE, Zillwood RM, Nguyen HP, Wu D. Isolation and culture of epithelial progenitors and mesenchymal stem cells from human endometrium. Biol Reprod. 2009;80(6):1136–45.
- Wang HS, Hung SC, Peng ST, Huang CC, Wei HM, Guo YJ, Fu YS, Lai MC, Chen CC. Mesenchymal stem cells in the Wharton's jelly of the human umbilical cord. Stem Cells. 2004;22(7):1330–7.
- Jordan CT, Guzman ML, Noble M. Cancer stem cells. N Engl J Med. 2006;355(12):1253–61.
- 27. Dominici M, Le Blanc K, Mueller I, Slaper-Cortenbach I, Marini F, Krause D, Deans R, Keating A, Prockop DJ, Horwitz E. Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. Cytotherapy. 2006;8(4):315–7.

- Phinney DG, Prockop DJ. Concise review: mesenchymal stem/multipotent stromal cells: the state of transdifferentiation and modes of tissue repair--current views. Stem Cells. 2007;25(11): 2896–902.
- Hocking AM. Mesenchymal stem cell therapy for cutaneous wounds. Adv Wound Care. 2012;1(4):166–71.
- Sasaki M, Abe R, Fujita Y, Ando S, Inokuma D, Shimizu H. Mesenchymal stem cells are recruited into wounded skin and contribute to wound repair by transdifferentiation into multiple skin cell type. J Immunol. 2008;180(4):2581–7.
- Eming SA, Krieg T, Davidson JM. Inflammation in wound repair: molecular and cellular mechanisms. J Invest Dermatol. 2007;127(3):514–25.
- Nuschke A. Activity of mesenchymal stem cells in therapies for chronic skin wound healing. Organogenesis. 2014;10(1):29–37.
- Park SR, Kim JW, Jun HS, Roh JY, Lee HY, Hong IS. Stem cell secretome and its effect on cellular mechanisms relevant to wound healing. Mol Ther. 2018;26(2):606–17.
- 34. Park BS, Jang KA, Sung JH, Park JS, Kwon YH, Kim KJ, Kim WS. Adipose-derived stem cells and their secretory factors as a promising therapy for skin aging. Dermatol Surg. 2008;34(10):1323–6.
- Kapur SK, Katz AJ. Review of the adipose derived stem cell secretome. Biochimie. 2013;95(12):2222–8.
- 36. Kober J, Gugerell A, Schmid M, Zeyda M, Buchberger E, Nickl S, Hacker S, Ankersmit HJ, Keck M. Wound healing effect of conditioned media obtained from adipose tissue on human skin cells: a comparative in vitro study. Ann Plast Surg. 2016;77(2):156–63.
- Cerqueira MT, Pirraco RP, Marques AP. Stem cells in skin wound healing: are we there yet? Adv Wound Care. 2016;5(4):164–75.
- Jayaraman P, Nathan P, Vasanthan P, Musa S, Govindasamy V. Stem cells conditioned medium: a new approach to skin wound healing management. Cell Biol Int. 2013;37(10):1122–8.
- Na YK, Ban JJ, Lee M, Im W, Kim M. Wound healing potential of adipose tissue stem cell extract. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2017;485(1):30–4.
- 40. Krasnodembskaya A, Song Y, Fang X, Gupta N, Serikov V, Lee JW, Matthay MA. Antibacterial effect of human mesenchymal stem cells is mediated in part from secretion of the antimicrobial peptide LL-37. Stem Cells. 2010;28(12):2229–38.
- 41. Mei SH, Haitsma JJ, Dos Santos CC, Deng Y, Lai PF, Slutsky AS, Liles WC, Stewart DJ. I. Mesenchymal stem cells reduce inflammation while enhancing bacterial clearance and improving survival in sepsis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2010;182(8):1047–57.
- Friedenstein AJ, Piatetzky S II, Petrakova KV. Osteogenesis in transplants of bone marrow cells. J Embryol Exp Morphol. 1966;16(3):381–90.

- Friedenstein AJ, Piatetzky-Shapiro II, Petrakova KV. Osteogenesis in transplants of bone marrow cells. J Embryol Exp Morphol. 1966;16(3): 381–90.
- Friedenstein AJ. Stromal mechanisms of bone marrow: cloning in vitro and retransplantation in vivo. Haematol Blood Transfus. 1980;25:19–29.
- Owen M, Friedenstein AJ. Stromal stem cells: marrow-derived osteogenic precursors. Ciba Found Symp. 1988;136:42–60.
- 46. Grigoriadis AE, Heersche JN, Aubin JE. Differentiation of muscle, fat, cartilage, and bone from progenitor cells present in a bone-derived clonal cell population: effect of dexamethasone. J Cell Biol. 1988;106(6):2139–51.
- Wakitani S, Saito T, Caplan AI. Myogenic cells derived from rat bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells exposed to 5-azacytidine. Muscle Nerve. 1995;18(12):1417–26.
- Ferrari G, Cusella-De Angelis G, Coletta M, Paolucci E, Stornaiuolo A, Cossu G, Mavilio F. Muscle regeneration by bone marrow-derived myogenic progenitors. Science. 1998;279(5356):1528–30.
- Johnstone B, Hering TM, Caplan AI, Goldberg VM, Yoo JU. In vitro chondrogenesis of bone marrowderived mesenchymal progenitor cells. Exp Cell Res. 1998;238(1):265–72.
- Pittenger MF, Mackay AM, Beck SC, Jaiswal RK, Douglas R, Mosca JD, Moorman MA, Simonetti DW, Craig S, Marshak DR. Multilineage potential of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. Science. 1999;284(5411):143–7.
- 51. Arici V, Perotti C, Fabrizio C, Del Fante C, Ragni F, Alessandrino F, Viarengo G, Pagani M, Moia A, Tinelli C, Bozzani A. Autologous immuno magnetically selected CD133+ stem cells in the treatment of no-option critical limb ischemia: clinical and contrast enhanced ultrasound assessed results in eight patients. J Transl Med. 2015;13:342.
- 52. Kirana S, Stratmann B, Prante C, Prohaska W, Koerperich H, Lammers D, Gastens MH, Quast T, Negrean M, Stirban OA, Nandrean SG, Götting C, Minartz P, Kleesiek K, Tschoepe D. Autologous stem cell therapy in the treatment of limb ischaemia induced chronic tissue ulcers of diabetic foot patients. Int J Clin Pract. 2012;66(4):384–93.
- 53. Kirana S, Stratmann B, Lammers D, Negrean M, Stirban A, Minartz P, Koerperich H, Gastens MH, Götting C, Prohaska W, Kleesiek K, Tschoepe D. Wound therapy with autologous bone marrow stem cells in diabetic patients with ischaemiainduced tissue ulcers affecting the lower limbs. Int J Clin Pract. 2007;61(4):690–2.
- 54. Klepanec A, Mistrik M, Altaner C, Valachovicova M, Olejarova I, Slysko R, Balazs T, Urlandova T, Hladikova D, Liska B, Tomka J, Vulev I, Madaric J. No difference in intra-arterial and intramuscular delivery of autologous bone marrow cells in patients with advanced critical limb ischemia. Cell Transpl. 2012;21(9):1909–18.

- 55. Yoshikawa T, Mitsuno H, Nonaka I, Sen Y, Kawanishi K, Inada Y, Takakura Y, Okuchi K, Nonomura A. Wound therapy by marrow mesenchymal cell transplantation. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2008;121(3):860–77.
- 56. Zuk PA, Zhu M, Ashjian P, De Ugarte DA, Huang JI, Mizuno H, Alfonso ZC, Fraser JK, Benhaim P, Hedrick MH. Human adipose tissue is a source of multipotent stem cells. Mol Biol Cell. 2002;13(12):4279–95.
- 57. Sekiya I, Larson BL, Smith JR, Pochampally R, Cui JG, Prockop DJ. Expansion of human adult stem cells from bone marrow stroma: conditions that maximize the yields of early progenitors and evaluate their quality. Stem Cells. 2002;20(6):530–41.
- Hausman GJ. Techniques for studying adipocytes. Stain Technol. 1981;56(3):149–54.
- Pettersson P, Cigolini M, Sjostrom L, Smith U, Bjorntorp P. Cells in human adipose tissue developing into adipocytes. Acta Med Scand. 1984;215(5):447–51.
- 60. Bourin P, Bunnell BA, Casteilla L, Dominici M, Katz AJ, March KL, Redl H, Rubin JP, Yoshimura K, Gimble JM. Stromal cells from the adipose tissue-derived stromal vascular fraction and culture expanded adipose tissue-derived stromal/stem cells: a joint statement of the International Federation for Adipose Therapeutics and Science (IFATS) and the International Society for Cellular Therapy (ISCT). Cytotherapy. 2013;15(6):641–8.
- 61. Astori G, Vignati F, Bardelli S, Tubio M, Gola M, Albertini V, Bambi F, Scali G, Castelli D, Rasini V, Soldati G, Moccetti T. "In vitro" and multicolor phenotypic characterization of cell subpopulations identified in fresh human adipose tissue stromal vascular fraction and in the derived mesenchymal stem cells. J Transl Med. 2007;5:55.
- Strutt B, Khalil W, Killinger D. Growth and differentiation of human adipose stromal cells in culture. Meth Mol Med. 1996;2:41–51.
- Gronthos S, Franklin DM, Leddy HA, Robey PG, Storms RW, Gimble JM. Surface protein characterization of human adipose tissue-derived stromal cells. J Cell Physiol. 2001;189(1):54–63.
- 64. Musina RA, Bekchanova ES, Sukhikh GT. Comparison of mesenchymal stem cells obtained from different human tissues. Bull Exp Biol Med. 2005;139(4):504–9.
- 65. Ashjian PH, Elbarbary AS, Edmonds B, DeUgarte D, Zhu M, Zuk PA, Lorenz HP, Benhaim P, Hedrick MH. In vitro differentiation of human processed lipoaspirate cells into early neural progenitors. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2003;111(6):1922–31.
- 66. Trottier V, Marceau-Fortier G, Germain L, Vincent C, Fradette J. IFATS collection: using human adipose-derived stem/stromal cells for the production of new skin substitutes. Stem Cells. 2008;26(10):2713–23.
- 67. Seo MJ, Suh SY, Bae YC, Jung JS. Differentiation of human adipose stromal cells into hepatic lineage

in vitro and in vivo. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2005;328(1):258–64.

- 68. Kim WS, Park BS, Sung JH, Yang JM, Park SB, Kwak SJ, Park JS. Wound healing effect of adiposederived stem cells: a critical role of secretory factors on human dermal fibroblasts. J Derm Sci. 2007;48(1):15–24.
- 69. Rehman J, Traktuev D, Li J, Merfeld-Clauss S, Temm-Grove CJ, Bovenkerk JE, Pell CL, Johnstone BH, Considine RV, March KL. Secretion of angiogenic and antiapoptotic factors by human adipose stromal cells. Circulation. 2004;109(10):1292–8.
- Nie C, Yang D, Xu J, Si Z, Jin X, Zhang J. Locally administered adipose-derived stem cells accelerate wound healing through differentiation and vasculogenesis. Cell Transpl. 2011;20(2):205–16.
- Salgado AJ, Reis RL, Sousa NJ, Gimble JM. Adipose tissue derived stem cells secretome: soluble factors and their roles in regenerative medicine. Curr Stem Cell Res Ther. 2010;5(2):103–10.
- Hassan WU, Greiser U, Wang W. Role of adiposederived stem cells in wound healing. Wound Repair Regen. 2014;22(3):313–25.
- 73. Bura A, Planat-Benard V, Bourin P, Silvestre JS, Gross F, Grolleau JL, Saint-Lebese B, Peyrafitte JA, Fleury S, Gadelorge M, Taurand M, Dupuis-Coronas S, Leobon B, Casteilla L. Phase I trial: the use of autologous cultured adipose-derived stroma/stem cells to treat patients with non-revascularizable critical limb ischemia. Cytotherapy. 2014;16(2):245–57.
- Yoshimura K, Suga H, Eto H. Adipose-derived stem/ progenitor cells: roles in adipose tissue remodeling and potential use for soft tissue augmentation. Regen Med. 2009;4(2):265–73.
- Gurtner GC, Werner S, Barrandon Y, Longaker MT. Wound repair and regeneration. Nature. 2008;453(7193):314–21.
- 76. Hu MS, Leavitt T, Malhotra S, Duscher D, Pollhammer MS, Walmsley GG, Maan ZN, Cheung AT, Schmidt M, Huemer GM, Longaker MT, Lorenz HP. Stem cell-based therapeutics to improve wound healing. Plast Surg Int. 2015;2015:383581.
- Whittam AJ, Maan ZN, Duscher D, Wong VW, Barrera JA, Januszyk M, Gurtner GC. Challenges and opportunities in drug delivery for wound healing. Adv Wound Care. 2016;5(2):79–88.
- 78. Rennert RC, Sorkin M, Januszyk M, Duscher D, Kosaraju R, Chung MT, Lennon J, Radiya-Dixit A, Raghvendra S, Maan ZN, Hu MS, Rajadas J, Rodrigues M, Gurtner GC. Diabetes impairs the angiogenic potential of adipose-derived stem cells by selectively depleting cellular subpopulations. Stem Cell Res Ther. 2014;5(3):79.
- Falanga V. Wound healing and its impairment in the diabetic foot. Lancet. 2005;366(9498):1736–43.
- Trengove NJ, Stacey MC, Macauley S, Bennett N, Gibson J, Burslem F, Murphy G, Schultz G. Analysis of the acute and chronic wound environments: the role of proteases and their inhibitors. Wound Repair Regen. 1999;7(6):442–52.

- Koenen P, Spanholtz TA, Maegele M, Sturmer E, Brockamp T, Neugebauer E, Thamm OC. Acute and chronic wound fluids inversely influence adipose-derived stem cell function: molecular insights into impaired wound healing. Int Wound J. 2015;12(1):10–6.
- Cianfarani F, Toietta G, Di Rocco G, Cesareo E, Zambruno G, Odorisio T. Diabetes impairs adipose tissue-derived stem cell function and efficiency in promoting wound healing. Wound Rep Regen. 2013;21(4):545–53.
- Choudhery MS, Badowski M, Muise A, Pierce J, Harris DT. Donor age negatively impacts adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cell expansion and differentiation. J Transl Med. 2014;12:8.
- Duscher D, Barrera J, Wong VW, Maan ZN, Whittam AJ, Januszyk M, Gurtner GC. Stem cells in wound healing: the future of regenerative medicine? Mini-Rev Gerontol. 2016;62(2):216–25.
- 85. Duscher D, Rennert RC, Januszyk M, Anghel E, Maan ZN, Whittam AJ, Perez MG, Kosaraju R, Hu MS, Walmsley GG, Atashroo D, Khong S, Butte AJ, Gurtner GC. Aging disrupts cell subpopulation dynamics and diminishes the function of mesenchymal stem cells. Sci Rep. 2014;4:7144.
- Fisher C, Grahovac TL, Schafer ME, Shippert RD, Marra KG, Rubin JP. Comparison of harvest and processing techniques for fat grafting and adipose stem cell isolation. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2013;132(2):351–61.
- Shridharani SM, Broyles JM, Matarasso A. Liposuction devices: technology update. Med Dev. 2014;7:241–51.
- 88. Duscher D, Luan A, Rennert RC, Atashroo D, Maan ZN, Brett EA, Whittam AJ, Ho N, Lin M, Hu MS, Walmsley GG, Wenny R, Schmidt M, Schilling AF, Machens HG, Huemer GM, Wan DC, Longaker MT, Gurtner GC. Suction assisted liposuction does not impair the regenerative potential of adipose derived stem cells. J Transl Med. 2016;14(1):126.
- 89. Duscher D, Maan ZN, Luan A, Aitzetmuller MM, Brett EA, Atashroo D, Whittam AJ, Hu MS, Walmsley GG, Houschyar KS, Schilling AF, Machens HG, Gurtner GC, Longaker MT, Wan DC. Ultrasound-assisted liposuction provides a source for functional adipose-derived stromal cells. Cytotherapy. 2017;19(12):1491–500.
- Januszyk M, Gurtner GC. High-throughput singlecell analysis for wound healing applications. Adv Wound Care. 2013;2(9):457–69.
- 91. Rennert RC, Januszyk M, Sorkin M, Rodrigues M, Maan ZN, Duscher D, Whittam AJ, Kosaraju R, Chung MT, Paik K, Li AY, Findlay M, Glotzbach JP, Butte AJ, Gurtner GC. Microfluidic single-cell transcriptional analysis rationally identifies novel surface marker profiles to enhance cell-based therapies. Nat Commun. 2016;7:11945.
- 92. Grayson WL, Zhao F, Bunnell B, Ma T. Hypoxia enhances proliferation and tissue formation of

human mesenchymal stem cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2007;358(3):948–53.

- 93. Lee EY, Xia Y, Kim WS, Kim MH, Kim TH, Kim KJ, Park BS, Sung JH. Hypoxia-enhanced wound-healing function of adipose-derived stem cells: increase in stem cell proliferation and up-regulation of VEGF and bFGF. Wound Repair Regen. 2009;17(4):540–7.
- 94. Rubina K, Kalinina N, Efimenko A, Lopatina T, Melikhova V, Tsokolaeva Z, Sysoeva V, Tkachuk V, Parfyonova Y. Adipose stromal cells stimulate angiogenesis via promoting progenitor cell differentiation, secretion of angiogenic factors, and enhancing vessel maturation. Tissue Eng Part A. 2009;15(8):2039–50.
- 95. Richmond NA, Lamel SA, Davidson JM, Martins-Green M, Sen CK, Tomic-Canic M, Vivas AC, Braun LR, Kirsner RS. US-National Institutes of Healthfunded research for cutaneous wounds in 2012. Wound Repair Regen. 2013;21(6):789–92.
- 96. Altman AM, Matthias N, Yan Y, Song YH, Bai X, Chiu ES, Slakey DP, Alt EU. Dermal matrix as a carrier for in vivo delivery of human adipose-derived stem cells. Biomaterials. 2008;29(10):1431–42.
- Rustad KC, Wong VW, Sorkin M, Glotzbach JP, Major MR, Rajadas J, Longaker MT, Gurtner GC. Enhancement of mesenchymal stem cell angiogenic capacity and stemness by a biomimetic hydrogel scaffold. Biomaterials. 2012;33(1):80–90.
- 98. Garg RK, Rennert RC, Duscher D, Sorkin M, Kosaraju R, Auerbach LJ, Lennon J, Chung MT, Paik K, Nimpf J, Rajadas J, Longaker MT, Gurtner GC. Capillary force seeding of hydrogels for adipose-derived stem cell delivery in wounds. Stem Cells Transl Med. 2014;3(9):1079–89.
- 99. Alvarez Garcia J, Garcia Gomez-Heras S, Riera Del Moral L, Largo C, Garcia-Olmo D, Garcia-Arranz M. The effects of allogenic stem cells in a murine model of hind limb diabetic ischemic tissue. Peer J. 2017;5:e3664.
- 100. Puissant B, Barreau C, Bourin P, Clavel C, Corre J, Bousquet C, Taureau C, Cousin B, Abbal M, Laharrague P, Penicaud L, Casteilla L, Blancher A. Immunomodulatory effect of human adipose tissue-derived adult stem cells: comparison with bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells. Br J Haematol. 2005;129(1):118–29.
- 101. Lin CS, Lin G, Lue TF. Allogeneic and xenogeneic transplantation of adipose-derived stem cells in immunocompetent recipients without immunosuppressants. Stem Cells Dev. 2012;21(15):2770–8.
- Takahashi K, Yamanaka S. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell. 2006;126(4):663–76.
- 103. Yu J, Vodyanik MA, Smuga-Otto K, Antosiewicz-Bourget J, Frane JL, Tian S, Nie J, Jonsdottir GA, Ruotti V, Stewart R, Slukvin II, Thomson JA. Induced pluripotent stem cell lines derived from human somatic cells. Science. 2007;318(5858):1917–20.

- 104. Takahashi K, Tanabe K, Ohnuki M, Narita M, Ichisaka T, Tomoda K, Yamanaka S. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. Cell. 2007;131(5):861–72.
- Takahashi K, Okita K, Nakagawa M, Yamanaka S. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from fibroblast cultures. Nat Protoc. 2007;2(12):3081–9.
- 106. Itoh M, Umegaki-Arao N, Guo Z, Liu L, Higgins CA, Christiano AM. Generation of 3D skin equivalents fully reconstituted from human induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs). PLoS One. 2013;8(10):e77673.
- 107. Sebastiano V, Zhen HH, Haddad B, Bashkirova E, Melo SP, Wang P, Leung TL, Siprashvili Z, Tichy A, Li J, Ameen M, Hawkins J, Lee S, Li L, Schwertschkow A, Bauer G, Lisowski L,

Kay MA, Kim SK, Lane AT, Wernig M, Oro AE. Human COL7A1-corrected induced pluripotent stem cells for the treatment of recessive dystrophic epidermolysis bullosa. Sci Transl Med. 2014;6(264):264ra163.

- 108. Hewitt KJ, Shamis Y, Hayman RB, Margvelashvili M, Dong S, Carlson MW, Garlick JA. Epigenetic and phenotypic profile of fibroblasts derived from induced pluripotent stem cells. PLoS One. 2011;6(2):e17128.
- 109. Yang R, Zheng Y, Burrows M, Liu S, Wei Z, Nace A, Guo W, Kumar S, Cotsarelis G, Xu X. Generation of folliculogenic human epithelial stem cells from induced pluripotent stem cells. Nat Commun. 2014;5:3071.



Iron Chelators & HIF-1α: A New Frontier for Skin Rejuvenation

19

Andrea Pagani, Matthias M. Aitzetmüller, and Dominik Duscher

19.1 Mechanisms of Skin-Aging

The human skin belongs to the integumentary system and represents the largest organ in the human body, comprising about 15% of the body weight. The total skin surface of an adult ranges from 12 to 20 square feet, and the skin is composed of 70% water, 25% protein and 2% lipids. Different cell types like fibroblasts, keratinocytes, and melanocytes build the external (epidermal), the middle (dermal), and the inner (subdermal) layer. The skin derives from the ectodermal tissue, interfaces with the environment, and thereby acts as the first line of defense against microbiological invasions, physical

M. M. Aitzetmüller

aggressions, and chemical assaults. In addition, this particular composition plays an important role in insulation, temperature regulation, sensation, and is key to the production of vitamin D [1]. All of these functions are based on physiological tissue homeostasis and require an intact epidermis, dermis, and hypodermis [2]. The thickness of skin significantly depends on body location. In humans, the skin located around the eyes and eyelids is the thinnest in the body (0.5 mm thick) and is one of the first areas to show signs of aging, colloquially known as "crow's feet". In other parts of the body like palms and soles of the feet, the skin can be up to 4 mm thick. Skin is a multifunctional organ and, like any other organ system subject to different stress factors, leading to specific impairments in its composition and functionality over time [3, 4].

In the last decade, healthy-aging principles and longevity pathways were studied [5]. At a cellular and molecular level, aging is characterized by the accumulation of damage such as DNA oxidation and progressive loss of physiological integrity, leading to impaired function and increased vulnerability, and subsequently death. At present, progressive aging in humans cannot be successfully and satisfactorily stopped. Researchers are only just beginning to understand the biological basis of aging even in relatively simple and shortlived organisms such as yeast [6]. Derived from these studies, numerous hypotheses have been formulated with the aim to explain the aging phe-

A. Pagani

Department of Plastic and Hand Surgery, Klinikum rechts der Isar, Technical University of Munich, Munich, Germany e-mail: andrea.pagani@studenti.unipd.it

Department of Plastic and Hand Surgery, Klinikum rechts der Isar, Technical University of Munich, Munich, Germany

Section of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Department of Trauma, Hand and Reconstructive Surgery, Westfaelische Wilhelms, University of Muenster, Muenster, Germany e-mail: matthias.aitzetmueller@tum.de

D. Duscher (🖂)

Department for Plastic Surgery and Hand Surgery, Division of Experimental Plastic Surgery, Technical University of Munich, Munich, Germany

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

D. Duscher, M. A. Shiffman (eds.), *Regenerative Medicine and Plastic Surgery*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19958-6_19



Fig. 19.1 Differences between young and aged skin. (**a**) Youthful healthy skin presents thick epidermis, a strong dermo-epidermal junction, normal collagen content, and healthy vascularity. (**b**) Aged skin contains several signs

of degeneration, such as uneven epidermis, thinner dermo-epidermal junction, inadequate collagen content, and compromised vascularity [71]. Reprinted with permission

nomenon. Aging could be the natural result of entropy on the cells, tissues, and organs [7]. However, evidence is accumulating showing that aging is in part genetically regulated. In parallel, other approaches show that the regulation and the subsequent breakdown of cellular processes represent a programmatic decision by the cell to either continue or abandon maintenance procedures with age [8]. Regarding the skin, it is widely accepted that advanced age brings changes to all components of the integumentary system with consequent signs of deterioration on epidermis, dermis, and hypodermis. During the aging process, skin gets progressively thinner and the blood capillaries of the dermis become sparse and more fragile, resulting in wrinkles and a paler, translucent appearance [9] (Fig. 19.1).

Due to increasing understanding of genetic pathways and biochemical processes, research about the cutaneous aging process has experienced an unprecedented advance within the last years [10]. Generally, age-related skin changes are triggered by a combination of intrinsic factors and extrinsic ones (e.g. ultraviolet/infrared light exposure, smoking). Intrinsic or innate aging is a degenerative process, which affects the skin in the same way as it affects all other organs. Intrinsic skin aging represents the biological clock of the human body and reflects the reduction of function that is extensively described to affect internal organs [11]. This loss of function is

mainly characterized by the decreased ability of response to exogenous and endogenous stress [12]. Three main protagonists of innate/intrinsic cutaneous aging are: telomere-loss, oxidative stress, and DNA-damage [13–15]. Several studies indicate that telomere length is able to modulate the pace of aging and onset of age-associated diseases [16, 17]. However, there is emerging evidence showing that lifestyle factors (obesity, smoking, and alcohol) may influence health and lifespan of an individual by directly affecting telomere length [18] demonstrating the strong interplay between the triggers of aging. Recent studies from our group and others, involving free radicals (Reactive oxygen species -ROS), suggest that oxidative stress may damage not only the lipid bi-layer in cell membranes but also connective tissue components, particularly elastin fibers and collagen [19]. Additionally, ROS also interact directly with the DNA leading to base loss, DNA modification or breakage of strains, making DNA lesions an important factor involved in the aging process [20].

The second main variable of cutaneous aging, also known as "photoaging", is a result of the extrinsic capacity of the environment to damage the skin surface. This "extrinsic aging" is the result of skin exposure to external factors, most importantly ultraviolet (UV) radiation [12]. Age related changes are able to impair the two most important features of the skin: strength and elasticity [21, 22]. The so-called "elastosis" represents a progressive accumulation of elastic fibres in the upper and midlayers of the dermis and is heavily driven by sunexposure (therefore also named "solar elastosis") [23]. Altogether, the cutaneous aging phenomenon manifests as an observable change in the external appearance of the skin with a loss of function of cells [24]. Considering both innate and exogenous factors, aging leads to degradation and the breakage of collagen fibers, microtextural impairments, and loss of connective tissue structures.

The intracellular and the extracellular machinery is heavily impaired in aged skin [25, 26]. Aged and senescent cutaneous cells have the ability to modify their biosynthetic network by the expression of different genes such as ID3, SMAD7, and FAM83G [27]. It has been demonstrated that the rate of collagen biosynthesis is markedly lower in aged skin than in infant or foetal tissue [28]. In addition to wound healing disorders, this reduced collagen production leads to the atrophy of the dermis effecting wrinkle formation. Similarly, the rate of elastin gene expression is markedly reduced after the fourth decade of life [29]. Elastin is of paramount importance for the connective tissues by allowing the skin to return to its shape after stretching or contracting. Lack of elastin explains the impaired pliability of aged skin. An imbalance between biosynthesis and degradation of elastin fibres clinically manifests as atrophy and loss of recoil. Recent evidence further identified matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) as important mediators of this degeneration [30]. By destroying the endogenous collagen network, proteoglycans, fibronectin, and other components of the dermis, these enzymes are leading to a rapid, but not irreversible, cutaneous aging effect [31]. Altogether, the interplay of these mechanisms affects all three layers of the skin, with its biggest influence on the dermis result in significant impairments of the regenerative capacity of aging skin [32, 33].

19.2 The Role of HIF-1 in Skin Aging

Intensive study efforts are currently undertaken to develop agents capable of mitigating or reversing the signs of cutaneous aging. Nevertheless, no single approach has been identified to address all important factors, structural and physiological components, epidermal and dermal atrophy, and loss of connective tissue structure and vascularity. While most cosmetic products only provide adequate skin hydration, they lack the ability to actively support the biological processes, which are known to be diminished in aged population.

Similar to chronic wounds, skin-aging is characterized by the dysfunction of key cellular regulatory pathways. Recent evidence suggests that the same mechanisms, which hinder the physiologic healing response in chronic wounds, are the reason for impaired tissue homeostasis in aged skin [34–39]. The Hypoxia Inducible Factor 1 alpha (HIF-1 α) pathway represents one keymechanism in both conditions [34, 39, 40]. It is widely accepted that the physiological activation of the dimeric protein HIF-1 α), representing the main transcriptional factor of the HIF-1 pathway, is significantly involved in tissue homeostasis and neovascularization. Therefore, activation leads to production of new collagen strains, elastin, glycosaminoglycans, and nutritive blood vessels [41, 42]. Slight modulation of the functionality of this pathway has been clearly demonstrated to significantly enhance tissue regeneration [35, 36, 43-46]. Advanced age, similar to diabetes and other degenerative skin diseases, has been shown to correlate with attenuated HIF-1 α function [34–39].

In aging, HIF-1 α is destabilized by enhanced oxygen-sensitive activity of the prolylhydroxylases (PHD) [34, 39] resulting in impaired release of growth factors, reduced neovascularization, and inadequate tissue quality and regeneration. As mentioned above, the Hypoxia Inducible Factor (HIF-1) is a dimeric transcription factor, composed of two subunits, HIF-1a and HIF-1 β . These two proteins have different molecular characteristics. While HIF-1 α is an oxygen sensitive subunit, which is activated under hypoxic conditions, HIF-1 β is constitutively expressed. This special geometry is essential to allow heterodimer formation between the two proteins HIF-1 α and HIF-1 β , such as binding to DNA on the target hypoxia response elements (HRE). In addition, the HIF-1 α subunit has two different transactivation domains (TAD): NH₂-

terminal [N-TAD] and COOH-terminal [C-TAD]. These two domains are responsible for the transcriptional activity by interacting with coactivators of HRE such as p300 or the cyclic-AMP binding protein (CBP) and stabilizing HIF-1 α against degradation.

In normoxia, HIF-1 α protein levels are low due to constant ubiquitination-dependent degradation via the Von Hippel-Landau (VHL) E3 ligase protein [47], which recognizes proline hydroxylated (Pro-OH) HIF-1 α on both transactivation domains [48–50]. These hydroxylation reactions lead to degradation of HIF-1 α and are catalyzed by the oxygen-sensitive PHD. Another level of control lies within the oxygen-sensitive asparaginyl hydroxylase FIH, a factor inhibiting HIF. The oxygen-sensitive asparaginyl hydroxylase FIH hydroxylates the HIF-1 α protein and inhibits subsequently the recruitment of transcriptional co-activators p300 and CBP, thereby the HIF transcriptional activity progressively decreases [51–53]. However, in addition to the absences of oxygen, lack of local free iron is also able to inhibit of HIF-1 α degradation. The consequences are decreased HIF-1 α hydroxylation, decreased pVHL mediated ubiquitination, degradation and increased HIF-1 α protein stability [50] (Fig. 19.2).

HIF-1 alpha is essential for skin homeostasis and is mainly expressed in the basal layer of the epidermis [54–56]. Molecular pathways between fibroblasts and keratinocytes are crucial for the skin environment, especially in the basal layers of the epidermis. Therefore, slight modulation of HIF-1 activity could be strongly involved in novel approaches for skin rejuvenation. The possibilities of a therapeutical modulation of some of these networks are prom-



Fig. 19.2 Modulation of HIF pathway regulation. (a) HIF pathway activation in the presence of iron. Hydroxylation occurs by PHD, followed by ubiquitination by VHL, which facilitates enzymatic degradation of HIF1 α . (b) Truncated HIF-1 α breakdown pathway in the

presence of an iron chelator. PHD is inactivated, allowing HIF1 α to remain intact and free to dimerize for downstream HIF-1 pathway activation. (*DFO* Deferoxamine, *DFP* Deferiprone) [71]. Reprinted with permission ising. The further activation of over 100 downstream genes of the HIF-1 α pathway was proven to modulate angiogenesis, cell proliferation, migration, and glucose metabolism [57–59]. Regulation of HIF-1 has been demonstrated to be crucially involved in skin homeostasis [60] and wound healing [61, 62]. Therefore, localized control of tissue blood flow, or autoregulation, is a key factor in regulating tissue perfusion and oxygenation. Recently, it was demonstrated that the balance between the two transcription factor isoforms, HIF-1 alpha and HIF-2 alpha, is an essential mechanism regulating both local and systemic blood flow [63].

Recent studies using human epidermal cells showed that the controlled upregulation of HIF-1 substantially increases the growth potential of keratinocytes and fibroblasts improving the formation of viable and stratified epidermis [37, 38]. HIF-1 alpha overexpression expands dermal vasculature, suggesting a substantial influence on blood vessel formation by cutaneous cells through this pathway [64, 65]. HIF-1 has also been shown to drive the expression of Ln-332 [66], a high-molecular weight (400–900 kDa) protein of the extracellular matrix composed by an alpha-chain, a beta-chain, and a gamma-chain. Ln-332 is the major component of the basal lamina, a protein network foundation for most cells and organs, influencing cell differentiation, migration, and adhesion. The main role of Ln-332 is the maintenance of epithelial-mesenchymal cohesion in tissues that are exposed to external forces such as the skin [67]. An interaction with the heterodimeric cell surface receptors mediates adhesion of the extracellular matrix (ECM) to the cytoskeleton [68]. Notably, a diminution of keratinocyte growth potential following HIF-1 silencing was associated with a decreased expression of Ln-322 [38].

The concept of intrinsic and extrinsic damage can further be linked to age-related loss of epidermal HIF-1 expression [38]. Recent findings shown that cutaneous HIF-1 expression is modulated after UVB exposure, and that HIF-1 α has an important role in the regulation of cellular responses to this type of genotoxic stress. Lastly, UVB induces ROS, which in turn influences HIF-1 α expression affecting DNA repair and keratinocyte survival [69].

19.3 Iron Chelation for HIF-1 Modulation

Upregulation of HIF-1 reverses age-dependent functional impairments of the skin, and results in improved regeneration of aged tissues [70]. The biochemical reactions regulating HIF-1 signaling provide simple therapeutic strategies to promote HIF-1 α stabilization and transactivation. PHD and FIH, the hydroxylases responsible for HIF-1 degradation, both belong to a family of irondependent dioxygenases that require iron, oxygen, and 2-oxaloglutarate (2-OG) as cofactors for the hydroxylation process [71]. Therefore, these enzymes are diminished in the absence of oxygen. Hypoxic conditions can be mimicked by the presence of iron chelators, such as deferoxamine or deferiprone, or in the presence of a 2-OG competitive inhibitor such as dimethyloxalylglycine (DMOG) [72, 73]. Our group has recently demonstrated certain advantages for utilizing iron chelators to stimulate HIF-1 and tissue regeneration [36, 70]. In this approach, the removal of iron to deprive HIF-1 degradation of a necessary co-factor is further complemented by reducing ROS stress via the binding of iron molecules. While iron is essential for cellular metabolism. an excess of iron can be toxic and accelerate the aging process through catalyzing the formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS), thus stimulating oxidative damage [60]. Well known as treat-Beta-Thalassemia ment option for and Hemochromatosis [74, 75], iron chelating drugs have shown benefits in the field of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery. With their regenerative potential, they have the ability to increase the retention rate of fat grafts, the survival rate of free flaps, and the healing process of diabetic wounds [76, 77].

One of the first approaches to use iron chelation for regenerative medicine can be dated back to 1993. It was described that deferoxamine induces Erythropoietin gene expression and HIF-1 DNA-binding activity [78]. Deferoxamine (DFO) and Deferiprone (DFP) are FDA-approved molecules with different molar masses (DFO = 560.69 g/mol and DFP = 139.152 g/ mol). Because of its ability to chelate iron from ferritin and hemosiderin, hemoglobin and transferrin, Deferoxamine is already a first line therapy for Hemochromatosis. Deferiprone is an orally active agent firstly approved for use of treating thalassaemia. Due to the different molecular weight, scientists have successfully tried to exploit possible synergistic interactions to achieve a more relievable effect on iron chelation [79]. While DFO is hydrophilic, DFP belongs to the hydrophobic molecules. Despite these chemical differences, iron chelators typically contain oxygen, nitrogen, or sulfur-donor atoms that form bonds with iron. The donor atoms of the ligand affect the preference of the molecule to chelate either Fe(II) or Fe(III) oxidation states. Chelators that prefer Fe(II) contain 'soft' donor atoms, such as nitrogen and sulfur, and consequently retain a relatively high affinity for other divalent metals such as Cu²⁺ and Zn²⁺. Iron chelators like DFO have an hexadentate arrangement, allowing to bind iron in a 1:1 ratio, and therefore show the highest affinity.

All molecules of the iron chelator family have been in clinical use for decades and have favorable safety characteristics promising for therapeutic HIF-1 signaling modulation. Using an iron-chelation approach for skin rejuvenation with an appropriate monitoring of the progression of the effects on aged skin aims to become a new paradigm in anti-aging medicine. Although numerous studies are suggesting a powerful role for iron chelators in the emerging field of regenerative medicine, thorough basic science studies and a clinical proof of principle is mandatory to investigate a possible application of these molecules as cosmeceuticals.

19.4 Conclusion and Outlook

The possibilities of a therapeutic modulation of hypoxia inducible signaling pathways by repurposing iron chelators are promising. An upregulation of HIF-1 alpha mediated by iron-chelation leads to

the correction of age-dependent changes of HIF-1 expression. This directly results in improved cutaneous regeneration, as well as in resistance to exogenous stressors such as radiation and infection. These benefits are mediated through positive effects on all cutaneous cell types, the upregulation of pro-regenerative cytokines, growth factors and peptides, and the recruitment of circulating regenerative cells. However, the impact of such a modulation on skin homeostasis is not fully understood. A thorough investigation of the molecular effects of HIF-1a pathway alteration by iron chelators like DFO or DFP and their influence on human keratinocytes and fibroblasts is warranted. If supported by solid clinical trial data, this approach would have the potential to become a paradigm shift in aesthetic and regenerative medicine.

References

- 1. Montagna W. The evolution of human skin (?). J Hum Evol. 1985;14(1):3–22.
- Tissot FS, Boulter E, Estrach S, Feral CC. The body's tailored suit: skin as a mechanical interface. Eur J Cell Biol. 2016;95(11):475–82.
- Gniadecka M, Nielsen OF, Wessel S, Heidenheim M, Christensen DH, Wulf HC. Water and protein structure in photoaged and chronically aged skin. J Invest Dermatol. 1998;111(6):1129–33.
- Triassi M, Petrella M, Villari P, Pavia M. Trends and some characteristics of female genital neoplasm mortality in the Campania Region. Ann Ig. 1990;2(4):251–62.
- 5. Brooks-Wilson AR. Genetics of healthy aging and longevity. Hum Genet. 2013;132(12):1323–38.
- Sinclair DA, Guarente L. Extrachromosomal rDNA circles—a cause of aging in yeast. Cell. 1997;91(7):1033–42.
- Hershey D, Lee WE. Entropy, aging and death. Syst Res Behav Sci. 1987;4(4):269–81.
- DiLoreto R, Murphy CT. The cell biology of aging. Mol Biol Cell. 2015;26(25):4524–31.
- Fisher GJ, Varani J, Voorhees JJ. Looking older: fibroblast collapse and therapeutic implications. Arch Dermatol. 2008;144(5):666–72.
- Fries JF. Aging, natural death, and the compression of morbidity. Bull World Health Organ. 2002;80(3):245–50.
- Berneburg M, Plettenberg H, Krutmann J. Photoaging of human skin. Photodermatol Photoimmunol Photomed. 2000;16(6):239–44.

- Uitto J, Bernstein EF. Molecular mechanisms of cutaneous aging: connective tissue alterations in the dermis. J Invest Dermatol Symp Proc. 1998;3(1):41–4. Elsevier
- Kosmadaki M, Gilchrest B. The role of telomeres in skin aging/photoaging. Micron. 2004;35(3):155–9.
- Masaki H. Role of antioxidants in the skin: anti-aging effects. J Dermatol Sci. 2010;58(2):85–90.
- Bickers DR, Athar M. Oxidative stress in the pathogenesis of skin disease. J Investig Dermatol. 2006;126(12):2565–75.
- Benetos A, Okuda K, Lajemi M, Kimura M, Thomas F, Skurnick J, et al. Telomere length as an indicator of biological aging. Hypertension. 2001;37(2):381–5.
- Levy MZ, Allsopp RC, Futcher AB, Greider CW, Harley CB. Telomere end-replication problem and cell aging. J Mol Biol. 1992;225(4):951–60.
- Boccardi V, Paolisso G, Mecocci P. Nutrition and lifestyle in healthy aging: the telomerase challenge. Aging (Albany NY). 2016;8(1):12.
- Fisher GJ, Kang S, Varani J, Bata-Csorgo Z, Wan Y, Datta S, et al. Mechanisms of photoaging and chronological skin aging. Arch Dermatol. 2002;138(11):1462–70.
- Jackson SP, Bartek J. The DNA-damage response in human biology and disease. Nature. 2009;461(7267):1071–8.
- Quan T, Shao Y, He T, Voorhees JJ, Fisher GJ. Reduced expression of connective tissue growth factor (CTGF/CCN2) mediates collagen loss in chronologically aged human skin. J Invest Dermatol. 2010;130(2):415–24.
- Quan T, Fisher GJ. Role of age-associated alterations of the dermal extracellular matrix microenvironment in human skin aging: a mini-review. Gerontology. 2015;61(5):427–34.
- Heng JK, Aw DC, Tan KB. Solar elastosis in its papular form: uncommon, mistakable. Case Rep Dermatol. 2014;6(1):124–8.
- Rando TA. Stem cells, ageing and the quest for immortality. Nature. 2006;441(7097):1080–6.
- Fujiwara T, Dohi T, Maan ZN, Rustad KC, Kwon SH, Padmanabhan J, et al. Age-associated intracellular superoxide dismutase deficiency potentiates dermal fibroblast dysfunction during wound healing. Exp Dermatol. 2019;28(4):485–92.
- 26. Fujiwara T, Duscher D, Rustad KC, Kosaraju R, Rodrigues M, Whittam AJ, et al. Extracellular superoxide dismutase deficiency impairs wound healing in advanced age by reducing neovascularization and fibroblast function. Exp Dermatol. 2016;25(3):206–11.
- 27. Kaisers W, Boukamp P, Stark H-J, Schwender H, Tigges J, Krutmann J, et al. Age, gender and UV-exposition related effects on gene expression in in vivo aged short term cultivated human dermal fibroblasts. PLoS One. 2017;12(5):e0175657.
- Rinkevich Y, Walmsley GG, Hu MS, Maan ZN, Newman AM, Drukker M, et al. Skin fibrosis. Identification and isolation of a dermal lineage with

intrinsic fibrogenic potential. Science (New York, NY). 2015;348(6232):aaa2151.

- Huertas ACM, Schmelzer CE, Hoehenwarter W, Heyroth F, Heinz A. Molecular-level insights into aging processes of skin elastin. Biochimie. 2016;128:163–73.
- Qin Z, Balimunkwe R, Quan T. Age-related reduction of dermal fibroblast size up-regulates multiple matrix metalloproteinases as observed in aged human skin in vivo. Br J Dermatol. 2017;177(5):1337–48.
- Freitas-Rodríguez S, Folgueras AR, López-Otín C. The role of matrix metalloproteinases in aging: tissue remodeling and beyond. Amsterdam: Elsevier; 2017.
- 32. Rezvani HR, Ali N, Nissen LJ, Harfouche G, De Verneuil H, Taïeb A, et al. HIF-1α in epidermis: oxygen sensing, cutaneous angiogenesis, cancer, and non-cancer disorders. J Investig Dermatol. 2011;131(9):1793–805.
- Gosain A, DiPietro LA. Aging and wound healing. World J Surg. 2004;28(3):321–6.
- 34. Chang EI, Loh SA, Ceradini DJ, Chang EI, Lin SE, Bastidas N, et al. Age decreases endothelial progenitor cell recruitment through decreases in hypoxiainducible factor 1alpha stabilization during ischemia. Circulation. 2007;116(24):2818–29.
- 35. Duscher D, Januszyk M, Maan ZN, Whittam AJ, Hu MS, Walmsley GG, et al. Comparison of the iron chelator deferoxamine and the hydroxylase inhibitor DMOG in aged and diabetic wound healing. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2015;116:2818–29.
- 36. Duscher D, Neofytou E, Wong VW, Maan ZN, Rennert RC, Inayathullah M, et al. Transdermal deferoxamine prevents pressure-induced diabetic ulcers. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2015;112(1):94–9.
- Rezvani HR, Ali N, Nissen LJ, Harfouche G, de Verneuil H, Taieb A, et al. HIF-1alpha in epidermis: oxygen sensing, cutaneous angiogenesis, cancer, and non-cancer disorders. J Invest Dermatol. 2011;131(9):1793–805.
- Rezvani HR, Ali N, Serrano-Sanchez M, Dubus P, Varon C, Ged C, et al. Loss of epidermal hypoxiainducible factor-1alpha accelerates epidermal aging and affects re-epithelialization in human and mouse. J Cell Sci. 2011;124(Pt 24):4172–83.
- 39. Loh SA, Chang EI, Galvez MG, Thangarajah H, El-ftesi S, Vial IN, et al. SDF-1 alpha expression during wound healing in the aged is HIF dependent. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2009;123(2 Suppl):65S–75S.
- Gould L, Abadir P, Brem H, Carter M, Conner-Kerr T, Davidson J, et al. Chronic wound repair and healing in older adults: current status and future research. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2015;63(3):427–38.
- 41. Ceradini DJ, Kulkarni AR, Callaghan MJ, Tepper OM, Bastidas N, Kleinman ME, et al. Progenitor cell trafficking is regulated by hypoxic gradients through HIF-1 induction of SDF-1. Nat Med. 2004;10(8):858–64.
- Sarkar K, Fox-Talbot K, Steenbergen C, Bosch-Marce M, Semenza GL. Adenoviral transfer of HIF-1alpha

enhances vascular responses to critical limb ischemia in diabetic mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2009;106(44):18769–74.

- 43. Walmsley GG, Maan ZN, Wong VW, Duscher D, Hu MS, Zielins ER, et al. Scarless wound healing: chasing the holy grail. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2015;135(3):907–17.
- 44. Duscher D, Maan ZN, Whittam AJ, Sorkin M, Hu MS, Walmsley GG, et al. Fibroblast-specific deletion of hypoxia inducible factor-1 critically impairs murine cutaneous neovascularization and wound healing. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2015;136(5):1004–13.
- 45. Hong WX, Hu MS, Esquivel M, Liang GY, Rennert RC, McArdle A, et al. The role of hypoxiainducible factor in wound healing. Adv Wound Care. 2014;3(5):390–9.
- 46. Paik KJ, Maan ZN, Zielins ER, Duscher D, Whittam AJ, Morrison SD, et al. Short hairpin RNA silencing of PHD-2 improves neovascularization and functional outcomes in diabetic wounds and ischemic limbs. PLoS One. 2016;11(3):e0150927.
- 47. Maxwell PH, Wiesener MS, Chang G-W, Clifford SC, Vaux EC, Cockman ME, et al. The tumour suppressor protein VHL targets hypoxia-inducible factors for oxygen-dependent proteolysis. Nature. 1999;399(6733):271–5.
- 48. Yu F, White SB, Zhao Q, Lee FS. Dynamic, sitespecific interaction of hypoxia-inducible factor- 1α with the von Hippel-Lindau tumor suppressor protein. Cancer Res. 2001;61(10):4136–42.
- 49. Masson N, Willam C, Maxwell PH, Pugh CW, Ratcliffe PJ. Independent function of two destruction domains in hypoxia-inducible factor-α chains activated by prolyl hydroxylation. EMBO J. 2001;20(18):5197–206.
- Bruick RK, McKnight SL. A conserved family of prolyl-4-hydroxylases that modify HIF. Science. 2001;294(5545):1337–40.
- Ebert BL, Bunn HF. Regulation of transcription by hypoxia requires a multiprotein complex that includes hypoxia-inducible factor 1, an adjacent transcription factor, and p300/CREB binding protein. Mol Cell Biol. 1998;18(7):4089–96.
- Mahon PC, Hirota K, Semenza GL. FIH-1: a novel protein that interacts with HIF-1α and VHL to mediate repression of HIF-1 transcriptional activity. Genes Dev. 2001;15(20):2675–86.
- Lando D, Peet DJ, Whelan DA, Gorman JJ, Whitelaw ML. Asparagine hydroxylation of the HIF transactivation domain: a hypoxic switch. Science. 2002;295(5556):858–61.
- 54. Bedogni B, Welford SM, Cassarino DS, Nickoloff BJ, Giaccia AJ, Powell MB. The hypoxic microenvironment of the skin contributes to Aktmediated melanocyte transformation. Cancer Cell. 2005;8(6):443–54.
- Rosenberger C, Solovan C, Rosenberger AD, Jinping L, Treudler R, Frei U, et al. Upregulation of hypoxiainducible factors in normal and psoriatic skin. J Invest Dermatol. 2007;127(10):2445–52.

- 56. Distler O, Distler JH, Scheid A, Acker T, Hirth A, Rethage J, et al. Uncontrolled expression of vascular endothelial growth factor and its receptors leads to insufficient skin angiogenesis in patients with systemic sclerosis. Circ Res. 2004;95(1):109–16.
- 57. Liu L, Marti GP, Wei X, Zhang X, Zhang H, Liu YV, et al. Age-dependent impairment of HIF-1alpha expression in diabetic mice: Correction with electroporation-facilitated gene therapy increases wound healing, angiogenesis, and circulating angiogenic cells. J Cell Physiol. 2008;217(2):319–27.
- Cho YS, Bae JM, Chun YS, Chung JH, Jeon YK, Kim IS, et al. HIF-1alpha controls keratinocyte proliferation by up-regulating p21(WAF1/Cip1). Biochim Biophys Acta. 2008;1783(2):323–33.
- Michaylira CZ, Nakagawa H. Hypoxic microenvironment as a cradle for melanoma development and progression. Cancer Biol Ther. 2006;5(5):476–9.
- Semenza GL. Regulation of oxygen homeostasis by hypoxia-inducible factor 1. Physiology. 2009;24(2):97–106.
- 61. Biswas S, Roy S, Banerjee J, Hussain SR, Khanna S, Meenakshisundaram G, et al. Hypoxia inducible microRNA 210 attenuates keratinocyte proliferation and impairs closure in a murine model of ischemic wounds. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010;107(15):6976–81.
- 62. Elson DA, Ryan HE, Snow JW, Johnson R, Arbeit JM. Coordinate up-regulation of hypoxia inducible factor (HIF)-1alpha and HIF-1 target genes during multi-stage epidermal carcinogenesis and wound healing. Cancer Res. 2000;60(21):6189–95.
- Semenza GL. Hypoxia-inducible factors: mediators of cancer progression and targets for cancer therapy. Trends Pharmacol Sci. 2012;33(4):207–14.
- 64. Elson DA, Thurston G, Huang LE, Ginzinger DG, McDonald DM, Johnson RS, et al. Induction of hypervascularity without leakage or inflammation in transgenic mice overexpressing hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha. Genes Dev. 2001;15(19):2520–32.
- 65. Kim KS, Rajagopal V, Gonsalves C, Johnson C, Kalra VK. A novel role of hypoxia-inducible factor in cobalt chloride- and hypoxia-mediated expression of IL-8 chemokine in human endothelial cells. J Immunol. 2006;177(10):7211–24.
- 66. Fitsialos G, Bourget I, Augier S, Ginouves A, Rezzonico R, Odorisio T, et al. HIF1 transcription factor regulates laminin-332 expression and keratinocyte migration. J Cell Sci. 2008;121(Pt 18):2992–3001.
- Ryan MC, Christiano AM, Engvall E, Wewer UM, Miner JH, Sanes JR, et al. The functions of laminins: lessons from in vivo studies. Matrix Biol. 1996;15(6):369–81.
- Watt FM. Role of integrins in regulating epidermal adhesion, growth and differentiation. EMBO J. 2002;21(15):3919–26.
- 69. Rezvani HR, Dedieu S, North S, Belloc F, Rossignol R, Letellier T, et al. Hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha, a key factor in the keratinocyte response to UVB exposure. J Biol Chem. 2007;282(22):16413–22.

- 70. Duscher D, Januszyk M, Maan ZN, Whittam AJ, Hu MS, Walmsley GG, et al. Comparison of the hydroxylase inhibitor dimethyloxalylglycine and the iron chelator deferoxamine in diabetic and aged wound healing. Plastic Reconstr Surg. 2017;139(3):695e–706e.
- Pagani A, Aitzetmüller MM, Brett EA, König V, Wenny R, Thor D, et al. Skin Rejuvenation through HIF-1alpha modulation. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2018;141(4):600e–7e.
- Schofield CJ, Ratcliffe PJ. Oxygen sensing by HIF hydroxylases. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2004;5(5):343–54.
- Peet D, Linke S. Regulation of HIF: asparaginyl hydroxylation. Novartis Found Symp. 2006;272:37– 49. discussion -53, 131–40
- 74. Kuo KH, Mrkobrada M. A systematic review and meta-analysis of deferiprone monotherapy and in combination with deferoxamine for reduction of iron overload in chronically transfused patients with betathalassemia. Hemoglobin. 2014;38(6):409–21.

- Moayedi Esfahani BA, Reisi N, Mirmoghtadaei M. Evaluating the safety and efficacy of silymarin in beta-thalassemia patients: a review. Hemoglobin. 2015;39(2):75–80.
- Ram M, Singh V, Kumawat S, Kumar D, Lingaraju MC, Uttam Singh T, et al. Deferoxamine modulates cytokines and growth factors to accelerate cutaneous wound healing in diabetic rats. Eur J Pharmacol. 2015;764:9–21.
- Temiz G, Sirinoglu H, Yesiloglu N, Filinte D, Kacmaz C. Effects of deferoxamine on fat graft survival. Facial Plastic Surg. 2016;32(4):438–43.
- Wang GL, Semenza GL. Desferrioxamine induces erythropoietin gene expression and hypoxia-inducible factor 1 DNA-binding activity: implications for models of hypoxia signal transduction. Blood. 1993;82(12):3610–5.
- Origa R, Bina P, Agus A, Crobu G, Defraia E, Dessì C, et al. Combined therapy with deferiprone and desferrioxamine in thalassemia major. Haematologica. 2005;90(10):1309–14.

Part IV

Translational Aspects



How to Overcome the Valley of Death from Basic Science to Clinical Trials 20

Kelly Bridgham, Akash Chandawarkar, Halley Darrach, and Justin M. Sacks

20.1 Introduction

Biomedical research has led to an explosion of knowledge about the mechanisms underlying many diseases and physiological processes, yet fewer than 5% of all life science discoveries lead to change in clinical practice [1], and those that do may take up to 10-25 years before they are implemented in the clinical environment [2]. Similarly, scientific breakthroughs in the field of regenerative medicine are abundant, yet their clinical applications are scarce [3]. The inability of novel scientific discoveries and technologies to reach clinical application led to the birth of translational medicine, a discipline which bridges the gap between the basic scientist and clinician, facilitating innovation from the bedside-to benchand back [3, 4]. This bridge is not easy to navigate, as it requires the expertise of the scientist, clinician, university technology transfer office, and an interested entrepreneur.

In the United States, the National Institutes of Health (NIH) has led the translational science effort with the development of the National Center for Advancing Translational Sciences

K. Bridgham \cdot A. Chandawarkar \cdot H. Darrach

J. M. Sacks (🖂)

Department of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Johns Hopkins School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA e-mail: kbridgh1@ihmi.edu: akash@ihmi.edu:

e-mail: kbridgh1@jhmi.edu; akash@jhmi.edu; halley@jhmi.edu; jmsacks@jhmi.edu

(NCATs) [1]. NCATs provides support for translational research programs at academic medical institutions throughout the United States, and similar efforts have been made throughout Canada, the United Kingdom, and Europe [1, 3, 4]. Such programs are poised to streamline the translational process and bring an abundance of novel scientific discoveries to the forefront of clinical practice. However, each critical step of the translational process faces a unique set of barriers that hinders the transfer of academic knowledge to the clinic. This gap lies at the interface of academia and industry. This divide can figuratively and literally be separated by time and space. It requires at some point for these two unique entities, academia and industry, to interface into a mutually beneficial arrangement both regarding technology transfer, consisting of intellectual property and capital (money) infusions.

The first translational gap, coined the 'valley of death,' spans the period between preclinical studies and clinical trials. Innovations that fail in this phase of the process may be promising in in vitro and in vivo animal models but cannot obtain the resources to progress through Phase I and Phase II Food and Drug Administration (FDA) clinical trials. With adequate resources, technologies that successfully prove their safety and efficacy in early clinical trials may overcome the 'valley of death' and transfer to entrepreneurial opportunities with family and friend cash infusions during Seed rounds and Series A, B, C capital raises.

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

D. Duscher, M. A. Shiffman (eds.), *Regenerative Medicine and Plastic Surgery*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19958-6_20

However, inventions in this phase are plagued by yet another set of hurdles before commercialization into routine clinical practice [3].

Research universities worldwide have developed technology transfer offices to facilitate product commercialization [5]. These offices are created to protect the intellectual property created by employees of the university. Through common disclosure pathways and provisional patent applications, the university tech transfer office looks to place a fence around the idea, product, application, etc. that the individual or individuals comes or come up with. Without the protection of this intellectual property, maximal value creation cannot be realized if anyone else can duplicate a similar idea. Despite such efforts, however, many university inventions fail to commercialize and achieve their desired clinical impact. Additionally, academic researchers are encouraged to publish and present new findings without knowing that is a form of public disclosure, thereby precluding patentability. Increasing evidence shows that startup companies based on university inventions can act as the bridge between academia and industry, allowing the translation of scientific ideas into clinical applications [6]. While seemingly a daunting task, with appropriate planning, collaboration, resources, and institutional support, the translational scientist can successfully bring their ideas from their minds to the bench, and finally, to the bedside.

Every successful innovation begins with an idea. However, translating breakthroughs in scientific research into new clinical treatments and therapies is no easy task. There are known risks associated with every aspect of this process. Before embarking on this journey, it is important to assess such risks and decide whether the product is appropriate for the development of a biotechnology startup.

There are multiple key issues to address, beginning with the idea itself. Is the innovation truly novel, and would it significantly advance its respective field? The product must not only meet an unmet clinical need, but it must do so in a manner that is better than any existing products and competitors. If the product does in fact meet an unmet need, one must assess the market that the product would be entering. Industry is the barrier that stands between the bench and the bedside, and each market has its own inherent risks. Will the potential benefits of your product outweigh the risks of entering the market? A key factor to consider is the size of the market. The market must be large enough to provide a substantial financial return for potential investors, yet it must not be overflowing with alternative products or competitors. Furthermore, one must evaluate what it will take in terms of financial investment and development time to succeed in the target market. Can the product enter the market in a reasonable amount of time? How much will it cost to get there? Finally, it is necessary to consider the regulatory hurdles that your product will face before commercialization. What FDA pathway will the product take? For instance, the FDA will accept premarket submissions (510 K) to demonstrate that a device to be marketed is at least as safe and effective or equivalent to a legally marketed device. This would make the device not subject to premarket approval (PMA) by the FDA. If a device requires a PMA by the FDA, then clinical trials of Phase 1, 2, and 3 need to be organized and planned for. The PMA will require significantly different types of capital requirements and business and organizational structures than a 510 K device. What are the clinical trial requirements based on the FDA pathway? It is essential to assess each of these issues individually before entering the translational pathway to avoid wasted time and money. Once the decision is made to proceed forward with the translational process, the path from the bench to the bedside can begin [7].

20.2 The Unmet Clinical Need

A well-characterized need is the DNA of a good invention [8]. Identifying a clinical need that is a "pain point" for patients, providers, or the healthcare system facilitates the development of technologies to maximize success. These high-value needs spawn ideas that investors
will care to fund and health care systems will adopt. Even the best innovations that only address a weak clinical need will often lead to eventual failure. Objective assessment of needs that are worth pursuing solutions should be performed before generation of ideas. One must first understand disease mechanisms and fundamentals that underlie the need in question. An evaluation of the competitive landscape and current solutions that exist enable identification of gaps and trends and whether there is sufficient space for new treatments. Treatment pathways and workflows can show the innovator where additional opportunities exist, as well as value-based problems such as phases of care (home, outpatient, inpatient, operating room). A stakeholder analysis around the need can help identify champions and roadblocks to future solutions. Most importantly, an exhaustive market analysis, including size and growth of those affected by the need further helps validate the decision to invest effort in the area of interest. The market can be segmented into total available markets, serviceable available market, and target markets. Large growing markets are attractive to investors and solutions organically are able to gain traction.

20.3 Ideation

Once an unmet need has been selected, ideation can begin. This step often results in only incremental changes to existing solutions when constrained and influenced by traditional thought or clinician-driven ideas of what will or will not work. Truly disruptive ideas enjoy unconstrained brainstorming using design-thinking principles. Out-of-the-box ideas should be encouraged, and inspiration should be sought from other fields or even outside of medicine. After exhaustive ideation, idea selection should assess feasibility and the height of the hurdles of intellectual property, regulation, and reimbursement that may derail that particular concept. Early low-fidelity prototyping can be immensely useful during both concept generation and selection.

20.4 Intellectual Property

A crucial first step in the path to commercialization is to protect innovations via obtainment of intellectual property (IP). In an academic setting, this process begins with invention disclosure to the university technology transfer office (TTOs). Since the passing of the Bayh-Dole Act of 1980, the United States requires that all federally funded academic researchers disclose their inventions to their university. The university will then own and be responsible for protecting the product's intellectual property. Following disclosure, TTOs will subsequently work to protect IP through patents and university licensing to allow for future commercialization [5, 9].

Although often overlooked by academic scientists, it is crucial to work with the university's TTO to file a patent and protect your invention from competitors. Potential investors are hesitant to finance non-patented products. Consequently, many non-patented inventions fail to ever make it out of the laboratory. For an invention to be patentable, it must be useful, novel, and non-obvious. Early preclinical data must help show that the invention can function as described. Furthermore, the invention must not overlap prior art; that is, competitors must not previously describe it. Lastly, the invention cannot be an obvious variation or extension of a previously existing patented invention. If an invention is deemed patentable, the university TTO may file a provisional patent that is valid for one year; within one year, a standard patent application must be filed. While academics may face pressure to publish their data quickly, it is imperative not to publicly disclose any aspect of your invention in abstracts, presentations, or publications until a provisional patent has been filed [9]. Finally, it is essential that you have freedom to operate; that is, the commercialization of the company's product must not infringe on other existing patents. For example, if one was to have a patent on television and another on color-televisions, it would be to the inventor and the patent office on each individual's patent to have freedom to operate within the confines of each other's IP. Working with the university to develop a clear, cohesive patent strategy will ensure protection of intellectual property and allow for successful technology transfer from academia to industry.

20.5 Regulatory

Regulatory approval is a major milestone for a novel drug, device, or combination device towards commercialization and clinical impact. In the United States, the regulatory process is overseen by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA). Medical devices are classified as class I, II, or III, in order of increasing risk and therefore requirements. Most Class I (low/minimal risk) devices obtain exempt status and only have registration and labeling requirements. Most Class II devices require 510(k) clearance, which requires identification of a predicate device and proof that the proposed device is safe, effective, and has substantial equivalence to the predicate device. Class III devices usually require a Premarket Approval (PMA) pathway to FDA approval. PMA devices generally pose the greatest risk or do not have a predicate device, and therefore require the most data to prove safety and efficacy. A newer pathway, de novo 510(k), provides potentially less stringent requirements for novel devices with no predicate that are not deemed to be of significant risk to the patient [10]. Consultation with an experienced regulatory consultant in the specialty the device is intended is recommended to develop appropriate regulatory strategy. For example, although pursuing the PMA pathway requires more time and money for the required submission, approval via this route provides strong defensive strategy against competitor devices. Engaging the FDA through pre-submission meetings generally is useful to help a new company find out what type of studies would be required to prove safety and efficacy for the likely regulatory pathway for that device, and helps plan out time and funding requirements to meet this milestone.

K. Bridgham et al.

20.6 Reimbursement

An understanding of how the device will be reimbursed is important to assess early in technology development. The Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) generally sets reimbursement for treatment of patients and procedures via codes. Most insurance companies follow CMS reimbursement structures to provide reimbursements to providers and hospitals. An understanding of how the new technology will be reimbursed has significant impact on stakeholders and eventual adoption of the technology by individual providers or hospital value committees. The technology may fit into a current reimbursement code; payment in different settings of care (e.g., outpatient home, inpatient) may differ significantly and influence product design. If existing codes are not favorable, company strategy may dictate attempting to apply for a new code to be created by CMS. This is another milestone that takes time and money to reach over an existing code, but may be worth the effort if it provides strategic improvement in reimbursement for adopters of the technology. For certain markets (such as private pay or direct-toconsumer), this hurdle may not be applicable.

20.7 De-Risking Technology: From Basic Research to Clinical Trials

Innovations themselves have intrinsic risks. Fortunately, there are a number of steps that academic researchers can take to "de-risk" their technologies early in the translational process to help ensure an efficient and successful pathway from early-stage research to clinical application. In an academic environment, research resources are limited. Thus, it is important to perform vigorous yet efficient research to substantiate the concept of your invention, and gain the attention of potential investors. A common failure of basic science research is the use of test systems that cannot accurately predict the outcomes of preclinical studies, and later, human applications. It is essential to carefully select validated in vitro and in vivo models to avoid inefficient resource expenditure early in the translational process. High-quality, repeatable in vitro and in vivo studies must be performed before progressing to early clinical trials. In the health care industry, data is critical and must prove to both scientific experts and potential investors that the product will succeed beyond the laboratory. Innovations with inadequate basic science evidence are prone to failure later in the translational process after a significant amount of investment from researchers and investors alike [11].

After leaving the laboratory, technologies must be further 'de-risked' during clinical trials. Careful planning must be performed for each phase of a clinical trial to ensure there are enough resources to progress to each subsequent phase. Clinical trials are typically divided into three phases. Phase I clinical trials often involve a small cohort of healthy volunteers to prove a product's clinical potential. Phase II studies are used to determine a product's safety and efficacy in patients to establish 'proof of concept.' That is – does the product do what it is intended to do? Strong data collection in early clinical studies is paramount to support further product development and attract the attention of investors. Phase III clinical trials are typically large, randomized controlled trials. De-risking technology all the way through late stage clinical trials is required for regulatory approval and for future purchase by a large biotech/pharmaceutical/medical device company [9].

20.8 Management Team

One of the most important variables of a new company is the team. In fact, team has been shown to be the most important factor for startup investment selection across all stages, all industries, fund sizes, and locations [12]. Investors want to know that the money they invest will successfully take the company through the expected milestones. To successfully create a startup on their own, one must identify a clinical need, form an idea, develop a product that addresses the idea, test the product, and commercialize. This requires

great individual and collective effort. The most promising technology may fail to receive funding because of an inadequate management team. A successful team should be composed of experienced individuals with complementary knowledge and skill sets [6, 7]. While building a team with a strong scientific foundation is important, it is equally important to consider including individuals with previous industry experience with a good track record in execution. Finally, each individual on the team should be enthusiastic in working towards a common goal or vision of driving the innovation from the bench to the bedside where it can impact patient care.

20.9 Business Model/ Commercialization

An appropriate business model should be created early on to understand how and when the technology could generate revenues to self-sustain, rather than remaining reliant on external funding. Different business models exist for different industries and device types (e.g., capital equipment, subscription, disposable, razor and blades, etc), and each should be explored to find the appropriate fit. Designing device features around an understanding of the cost of goods (COGS) allows the company to forecast how to build product at various powers of scale to maximize profits. Lastly, milestones should be set towards strategic exits (acquisition, merger, initial public offering, etc.) where investors will be able to recoup initial investments and multiples over that. These dynamics are dictated by capitalization tables that provide an analysis of company percentages of ownership (shares) by shareholders. Sales and distribution should also be planned to facilitate sales once the device is ready to sell to consumers. Acquiring key opinion leaders (KOLs) within the target markets may help boost adoption of the new technology into common practice. In the end, usage and adoption by target consumers and hospital value committees will result in the technology reaching patients and the company generating revenue.

20.10 Funding

Money is an integral component of every successful biotech startup. Capital raise can be the most difficult part of forming a successful biotech company. Companies that fail to commercialize their products often do not have enough resources to progress from early clinical trials through the end of phase III clinical trials. A clear financial plan must be in place to obtain and maintain adequate financial resources throughout the translational process.

Non-dilutive funding is often a significant source of funding in the early stages of a biotech startup company. Non-dilutive funding refers to any sources of funds that are provided by an agency without sacrificing ownership to the company or intellectual property. Common sources of non-dilutive funds include university grants, governmental grants, or donations from charitable organizations. In the United States, for example, organizations such as the Small Business Innovation Research (SBIR) and Small Business Technology Transfer (STTR) Programs of the NIH have an allotted annual budget to support early innovative efforts. Obtaining grants is competitive and requires substantial time and effort. However, non-dilutive sources provide a critical source of early resources for research and development purposes. Early funding is essential to help 'riskier' technologies progress from preclinical studies to early clinical trials [7, 9].

Once a technology has been substantially derisked, it may become attractive to potential investors, including angel investors and venture capitalists. Angel investors are high-net-worth individuals (or a group of individuals) that are accredited to invest in private companies. Investments typically fall in the range of \$10,000-\$100,000 from individual angels (angel group pooling may result in larger investment sums). Venture capitalists, on the other hand, are individuals who invest a large amount of another individual's or institution's money in private companies. Venture capitalists tend to be knowledgeable and strategic investors that will ultimately plan to purchase (all or part of) the company, help take it public, and commercialize it into routine clinical practice.

Biotech investors are well aware of the risks associated with translational medicine and the 'valley of death.' As such, they are highly selective when choosing which companies they will invest in. Investors favor technologies with minimal risk and maximal financial reward. Key components that investors look for include large market size with minimal competition, technological proof of concept, intellectual property and freedom to operative, and a strong management team with a clear business model [9].

Individuals must also be highly selective when choosing a potential investor. It is essential to select reputable investors that are knowledgeable in the product's respective market. If chosen wisely, angel investors and/or venture capitalists can be valuable mentors that will help drive the company's product towards commercialization. In a university setting, the technology transfer office can help introduce individuals to the potential investors that are most likely to help their company succeed [9].

Funding cycles are the financing that keep pre-revenue companies running until exit, generally proceeding in the following order: friends and family, pre-seed, seed, Series A, Series B, Series C, etc. Each round of funding makes the "pie" bigger (increased valuation) but reduces the founder's ownership, known as dilution. Each subsequent round is less "risky" for the investor and generally require more funding. The amount of raise requested by the early stage company is a combination of burn rate (e.g., employee salaries, equipment, office rentals, etc.) and money needed to achieve the next particular milestone (e.g., cost of clinical trials for FDA approval). The shares offered for each round is a function of the amount of the raise and current valuation of the company. There are a variety of financial models to estimate a company's valuation, most commonly cash-on-cash multiples, internal rate of return, and net present value (Gompers). How many rounds a company raises depend on their particular exit strategy. Some early stage companies are acquired after seed funding. Others go through multiple Series rounds with increasingly higher investments (for example, SpaceX

is currently raising a Series F round, with a \$1 billion Series E round led by Google (Crunchbase)).

20.11 Commercialization Process

Technology represents devices and processes that can be made for financial gain. This concept of bench to bedside or the commercialization of biotechnology is the valley of death that one as inventor tries to hurdle (Fig. 20.1). To progress to market, the scientific entity must define customers and users. Most inventions will potentially fail in their rush to commercialization and most patents are not commercialized. This is the reality of the biomedical commercialization process.

Challenges to technological commercialization can take the form of recognition of the device potential, technology push, market pull, regulatory hurdles, access to capital, and overall entity management. The commercialization process is akin to the garden metaphor where one plants a seed, nurtures the product, and then pulls the weeds or harvests. Overlapped with this metaphor is discovering the technology (planting the seed), developing (nurturing), and market development (weed or harvest). Commercial entities develop options when to access these different time points. Identifying the product, testing and developing the product, and then marketing the product coincides in parallel with regulatory phases depending on what country the product is developed in.

Accessing this value-chain is critical for commercialization success. The value begins by defining the product and its clinical need. Otherwise known as discovery, this phase will use research funds granted by federal, state, and outside investors. Moving forward into product development, which will be tethered to phase 1, 2 and 3 trials, commercialization exits will need to be decided upon. Licensing the product or selling the company must be considered. A license will maximize the likelihood of short-term success. However, the entity will lose the ability to be involved with discussion for future innovation, as the larger corporate entity will control innovation direction of the technology. and Selfcommercialization can be a path taken but is not always feasible secondary to increased financial risk. Joint-commercialization can be a considered option. This enables the firm to acquire experience that can enable self-commercialization over the long term.



Fig. 20.1 Idea discovery, development, and market launch highlighting the role of capital infusions both pre and post regulatory approval

Taking factors into consideration such as amount of financing required to move through regulatory hurdles must be balanced along with the cost of capital raises. Dilution equity events for stakeholders must be considered. Risks that must also be factored when to commercialize are based upon scientific risk, operational risk, and whether there is a true market for the product. Financial return for the original inventors and developers must be considered versus incorporating and raising capital from outside sources such as venture capital, professional investors, and corporations.

Commercialization activities should be integrated into development plans. Market analysis, commercial planning, market cultivation, prelaunch, launch, and commercialization are all overlapped with phase 1, 2, and 3 development of regulatory development. These activities all begin the same time when conception of idea is formulated, and the path to customer is realized.

20.12 Conclusions

The success of any innovation is measured by whether it achieves its desired impact. In the case of a new biotechnology, pharmaceutical, or medical device company, the end goal is for the product to reach routine clinical implementation. Taking a basic science idea and turning it into a novel treatment or therapy for patients is a complicated process that requires a substantial amount of time, effort, and money. Not every idea or innovation can overcome the hurdles associated with the translational process. Those that are well suited to overcome these hurdles face a long journey ahead, however, the rewards of the journey could affect the lives of millions. Particularly high expectations surround the field of regenerative medicine. It is essential that the breakthroughs experienced in the laboratory reach our clinics. With the appropriate knowledge and planning, the potential clinical impacts of regenerative medicine are endless.

References

- 1. Gehr S, Garner CC. Rescuing the lost in translation. Cell. 2016;165(4):765–70.
- Milne CP, Kaitin KI. Translational medicine: an engine of change for bringing new technology to community health. Sci Translational Med. 2009;1(5):5cm5.
- Fernandez-Moure JS. Lost in translation: the gap in scientific advancements and clinical application. Front Bioeng Biotechnol. 2016;4:43.
- 4. Butler D. Translational research: crossing the valley of death. Nature. 2008;453(7197):840–2.
- Siegel DS, Veugelers R, Wright M. Technology transfer offices and commercialization of university intellectual property. Oxford Rev Econ Pol. 2007;23(4):640–60.
- Tajonar A. How to start a biotech company. Mol Biol Cell. 2014;25(21):3280–3.
- Mas JP, Hsueh AB. An investor perspective on forming and funding your medical device start-up. Tech Vasc Intervent Radiol. 2017;20(2):101–8.
- Yock PG, Zenios S, Makower J, Brinton TJ, Kumar UN, Watkins FTJ, Denend L, Krummel TM, Kurihara CQ. Biodesign: the process of innovating medical technologies. 2nd ed. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2015.
- Kolchinsky P. Entrepreneur's guide to a biotech startup. https://www.ldeming.com/s/Kolchinsky.pdf. Accessed 2 April 2018.
- Naghshineh N, Brown S, Cederna PS, Levi B, Lisiecki J, D'Amico RA, Hume KM, Seward W, Rubin JP. Demystifying the U.S. Food and Drug Administration: understanding regulatory pathways. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2014;13(3):559–69.
- Abou-El-Enein M, Duda GN, Gruskin EA, Grainger DW. Strategies for derisking translational processes for biomedical technologies. Trends Biotechnol. 2016;35(2):100–8.
- Gompers P, Gornall W, Kaplan SN, Strebulaev IA. How do venture capitalists make decisons? NBER Working Paper Series, No. 22587 2016. https:// medium.com/vcdium/venture-capital-decision-making-c3258bc1b09c. Accessed 2 April 2018.



21

Moving Your Results from Bench to Bedside: Protecting Scientific Findings

Dominik Thor

21.1 Introduction

Scientific research, especially in natural sciences, can be an exceptionally expensive and time-consuming process requiring the investment of millions of dollars before any potential profit and often before a technology's later aptitude for monetization can be guaranteed. This happens to be the case in most if not all medical research, where a plethora of different aspects influence the actual suitability of new scientific findings for clinical use. There are multiple challenges in the drug design process [1], such as selectivity and potency optimization for the intended target through changes in the physicochemical properties of the drug or the modification of functional groups, or drug formulation. This, together with the extensive pre-clinical and clinical testing required for the identification of the likelihood for metabolic interactions and significant side-effects in toxicology studies and thus a comprehensive benefit-to-risk evaluation of a new drug, result in huge financial efforts and therefore entrepreneurial risk. Additional efforts are linked to the obligatory review of new drugs by a regulatory agency, which is required before

a new substance can be marketed [2]. The European Medicines Agency (EMA), the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and the Japanese Pharmaceuticals and Medical Devices Agency (PMDA) are the biggest regulatory agencies, which are responsible for the regulation, approval, and oversight of drug products. The complexity of interacting with the regulatory agencies is significant and the challenges of fulfilling their specific requirements force pharmaceutical companies to dedicate funds and human resources entirely to dealing with regulatory affairs, thus increasing the costs and financial risks for them further.

For companies to accept such risks, the eventual monetization of their scientific research, most often in the successful launch of a new drug, has to offer an accordingly high potential income, and the prerequisite for that comes in the form of exclusive legal rights to sell the new drug for at least some years after it enters the market. This may be different for basic research, which requires less investment, and is often inspired by the scientist's wish to further the understanding of a certain aspect of a scientific field rather than monetary motivation or simply does not offer an obvious or feasible potential for monetization. As such basic research is often a domain of academic efforts [3], nonetheless, reaching the goals of both commercial and academic research requires the protection of scientific results or, in more general terms, intellectual

D. Thor (\boxtimes)

Vienna University of Economics and Business, Institute for Small Business Management and Entrepreneurship, Vienna, Austria e-mail: dominik@thor.at

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

D. Duscher, M. A. Shiffman (eds.), *Regenerative Medicine and Plastic Surgery*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19958-6_21

property. This unfortunately still happens to be an insufficiently understood and inconsequently applied principle by many scientists especially in the academic sector.

21.2 Patents for the Protection of Intellectual Property (IP)

Intellectual property (IP) is a term used to describe a plethora of creations of the mind, such as inventions of all kinds, artistic and literary works, as well as symbols, names, and images. While some kinds of intellectual property are automatically safeguarded by copyrights and thereby belong to their creator, other types of intellectual property require legal protection that must be applied for. This legal protection comes in the form of intellectual property rights such as patents, trademarks, and copyrights, which are essential for monetizing or protecting innovation. The importance of intellectual property was officially recognized in two treaties, namely the Paris Convention for the Protection of Industrial Property (1883) and the Berne Convention for the Protection of Literary and Artistic Works (1886). Today, they are administered by the World Intellectual Property Organization (WIPO). These conventions recognized several reasons why intellectual property rights are vital to progress, and in today's world of quickly evolving technologies they are of increasing importance. Further progress of humanity requires the capacity to create and invent new works in the areas of technology and culture. Only legal protection, through its options for recognition or financial benefit, can sufficiently encourage the pursuit of innovation – which in turn spurs economic growth, creates new jobs, industries, enriches our cultural lives, enables us to lead healthier lives with increased life expectancy, and enhances the general quality of life [4].

From the perspective of the innovator, intellectual property rights offer many advantages:

- 1. They give control over a creation's commercial production, use, distribution, or sale.
- 2. They ensure that a superior product or process cannot be copied by competitors.

- They can be sold or licensed, and thus generate revenue.
- 4. They are proof of a pioneering role in science.
- 5. They can be an essential part of marketing.
- 6. They are assets of economic value and can be used as collateral.

Intellectual property falls into two groups. First, types of IP that are under automatic protection and for which the author automatically has the copyright. This category consists of original literary and artistic works including photography, film and music, as well as design rights to threedimensional products. Then there is the second group of intellectual property, which does not come with automatic legal protection. This group consists of inventions, novel products, or innovative processes for which patent rights must first be obtained.

Obviously, the results of medical research fall into this latter category of intellectual property, which has to be protected by patents. Medical inventions, including incremental inventions, first require patenting for the scientist to acquire the intellectual property rights to his or her creation [5]. Patents are intellectual property rights enforceable in court, which give a patent owner the right to decide on the use of the patented invention. Filing patents is the logical choice for commercial drug developers, who need the exclusive rights to sell a new drug at least for some years after it enters the market to compensate for the costly development. Once their strictly confidential research on a potential new drug shows enough promise and for security reasons, this decision often happens in early stages such as lead structure development but can also be postponed until the results of pharmacological and toxicological tests. The strategy here is to file a patent on the drug structure and potentially also its synthesis route. Most countries follow the legal concept called first-to-file (FTF), which means that the right to the grant of a patent for a given invention lies with the first person to file a patent application for protection of that invention, regardless of the date of actual invention. Given that trends exist not only in corporate but also in the context of scientific research, not only is there competition between different scientists to come up with a suitable solution to the same problem, this race further extends to the subsequent filing of a patent, which is necessary to secure the rights of the inventor. This means that the ultimate financial benefit will be with that party who ultimately manages to file the patent first, not necessarily with the one who comes up with the solution first [6]. The downside of filing patents early on is a reduced time for the exclusive marketing rights of the fully-developed drug, which has to do with the fact of patents usually having a limited lifespan of 20 years. If a drug is patented during its early development and may require another 7–15 years to reach the market, then a pharmaceutical company would be left with only 5-13 years to make a profit on its new product, which often explains the high costs of new drugs [7].

21.3 Defensive Publications Offer Freedom to Operate

Medical research typically aims at finding solutions to complex medical problems in the form of innovative inventions or significant improvements to the status quo. Once the scientist has come up with a successful and unique solution, his or her decisions in the context of establishing proof of authorship and the publication of his or her invention will have severe implications in the future. Depending on the intentions and means of the inventor, he or she must decide between different options.

There are circumstances when patents are not practical for protecting intellectual property that results from scientific research. Filing a patent typically tends to be very expensive - primarily because of the complexity of inventions and the abundance of prior art in the respective field of science resulting in complex application documents, which usually must be prepared by an experienced lawyer to ensure that a patent has a greater chance of being successfully granted. Consequently, attorney fees can easily cost several tens of thousands of dollars in addition to the patent office filing fees. Considering that a patent will need to be filed for every single country in which the innovator wishes to posses IP rights, big companies have a major advantage over private innovators, who often lack the necessary funds to secure the global rights to potential high-revenue products with long-term marketability. The high costs of pursuing national or international patent rights may prevent private innovators from going this route altogether, while commercial inventors usually have the necessary experience and funds to do so. In some cases, however, the benefits afforded from patent monopoly rights are not sufficient to justify the cost of obtaining a patent. Either because the products lack long-term marketability or, and this happens frequently in the corporate environment, because the patent holder already has rights to another product that he or she only seeks to protect against the possibility of others patenting a technology that may make the product redundant. In other cases, the high costs of patenting may outweigh the benefits afforded by patent rights, irrelevant of the innovator's financial background.

Occasionally, e.g., in the case of academic research, when commercialization is not a priority or its potential not even recognized, obtaining intellectual property rights may not even be desired. However, the innovator might still be interested in retaining his or her freedom to operate by preventing others from filing a patent. This regularly happens in academic settings, where continued freedom to operate and to further refine a technology might be of more interest than financial benefits. Instead, the innovator may simply wish to secure the right to continue using and enhancing a product or technology to further research in his respective field. He or she might also pursue altruistic goals, as seen in open source projects, by wishing to put his or her invention into the public domain to make it freely available and prevent others from filing a patent.

Patents may be essential for incentivizing continuous scientific effort through their importance for eventual monetization but the costs associated with obtaining patent rights often prevent innovators from pursuing them, and some scenarios profit from a different course of action than patent application. This alternative comes in the form of defensive publication, which is the intentional and purposeful publication of an innovation. As a cost-effective intellectual property strategy, it consists of disclosing aspects of an invention in a way that ensures that the invention gets the status of prior art, thus precluding others from obtaining a patent on the innovator's idea. Since the novelty of an idea is an essential precondition for obtaining a patent, the publication of an idea can be strategically used as an IP strategy, if the previous publication date can be proven in court and a patent office can readily obtain knowledge of existing prior art [8].

Current venues for publishing defensive publications range from traditional peer-reviewed journals to online publications. Publication in peer-reviewed journals, as desirable as it may be from a scientific point of view due to the additional validation by the journal, cannot be easily or quickly obtained. Submitted articles frequently take months to get published and the editors' criteria for the selection of content are associated with the possibility of eventual rejection by the journal. While academics learned to live with these disadvantages, this option renders too time consuming and not suitable for most private innovators or corporate researchers, as journals also typically avoid any content that could be interpreted as marketing. Unfortunately, many other forms of publication such as web sites, social networks, fairs, public demonstrations, or tradeshows are however insufficient proof in the eyes of courts, and are therefore not suitable for defensive publication. Neither would such methods of publication offer a guarantee that the published invention would be successfully found, identified, and considered by patent examiners and patent offices, as they are not listed in readily searchable databases. Therefore, a scientist should carefully consider his or her chosen venue for defensive publication and also consider all possible implications of such an act.

In many countries, the inventor might lose the right to file a patent following publication, as it turns an invention into prior art. The European Patent Office for instance regards early disclosure an absolute bar to an EPO patent. However, other important markets such as the United States, Russian Federation, Japan, South Korea, Australia, Canada. Brazil. Argentina, Malaysia, Mexico, and several others use the so-called first-inventor-to-file system (FITF). Following this system, the United States Patent and Trademark Office (USPTO) and other patent offices afford early disclosers a 'grace' period until they need to file a patent. This grace period starts at the time of publication and typically lasts 6-12 months during which the inventor can still file a patent, but this does not prevent someone else to file a patent for the same idea during that time [9].

21.4 Trade Secrets as a Common Alternative

With patents being frequently too expensive for academic researchers and defensive publications prohibiting the later exclusive rights to a new drug or medical product, valuable information that can provide a competitive advantage is instead often kept strictly confidential, as a socalled trade secret. Unfortunately, holders of such intellectual property are often exposed to misappropriation (the intentional and illegal use) of their trade secrets. While large companies possess greater resources to protect their intellectual property, including costly patents and funds for legally enforcing their rights, smaller companies, in comparison, do not have such financial means. Consequently, smaller companies rely on trade secrets to an even greater extent than large companies. The problem of misappropriation has increased so much that political institutions are now seeking new ways to prevent misappropriation. The European Commission has urged the European Parliament to standardize the existing divergent national laws against the unlawful acquisition, disclosure, and use of trade secrets. Such harmonization will give victims of trade secret misappropriation more protection and the means

to stop unlawful use and further disclosure of misappropriated trade secrets, as well as the right to compensation for any damages caused [10]. Thus, the EU Directive on the Protection of Trade Secrets will provide a legal framework to discourage unfair competition, and facilitate collaborative innovation and the sharing of valuable know-how. EU countries must bring into force the laws and administrative provisions necessary to comply with the Directive by June 2018. New and improved legislation to better protect trade secrets is not, however, limited to the EU. In fact, the Defend Trade Secrets Act of 2016 (DTSA) is a United States federal law that allows an owner of a trade secret to sue in federal court when its trade secrets have been misappropriated [11]. International efforts by the World Trade Organization to address this problem led to the conclusion of the Agreement on Trade-related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights (the TRIPS Agreement) [12]. What all of these regulatory efforts have in common is the vital condition that companies must prove that a piece of information, the trade secret, has deliberately been kept secret, for them to be able claim protection under trade secret laws. Needless to say that academic researchers working in a university environment may find it much more difficult to keep such information confidential than scientists working in a strictly corporate environment.

21.5 The Right to Filing IP Rights

So far this analysis of ways to protect inventions in the academic (or corporate) environment highlighted different reasons for choosing a specific path, often linked to its economic and organizational aspects (Table 21.1). Complexity, costs,

and revenue potential all have an important impact on the practical suitability of each path or instrument for protecting new innovations and ultimately decide whether such actions should be taken. It should be noted that in many cases the decision however does not lie with the scientist or inventor. Both in academic and corporate research, the contractual agreement between the employer and the employee doing specific research typically stipulates that any rights to new developments belong to the employer - may that be a university, a research center, or a pharmaceutical company. This also extends to any research done in the spare time of the employee if the company can prove that any of its assets or intellectual property have been involved and/or used or if there is any resemblance or relation to the scientist's work or the company's other activities. Even completely unrelated scientific work has to be very carefully kept separate from any professional endeavors. Patent applications for inventions developed in his or her professional capacity may be filed in the scientist's name but will identify the employer of said researcher as the holder of the patent rights. The failure to make any such potentially useful information known to the company or university could lead to the termination of the employment agreement and likely be linked to risks such as claims for both compensatory damages and punitive damages.

In the context of academic research, the right of the institution to new intellectual property often even transcends contractual agreements between commercial sponsors and the individual research unit. To avoid any disputes regarding the ownership of IP rights deriving from research projects sponsored by or involving third parties, such as pharmaceutical companies, the contract has to consider all applicable rules and laws.

 Table 21.1
 Comparison of Forms of IP protection

	Monetization	Costs	Complexity	Duration
Patent	Yes	High	Very high	20 years
Defensive publication	No	Low	Medium	Unlimited
Trade-secret	Yes	None	Non	Potentially unlimited



Fig. 21.1 Timing of IP Protection in Pharmaceutical Research

21.6 The Right Time to Decide (Fig. 21.1)

Protecting the results of scientific research at an early stage has been proven to be the best paradigm, if said research has scientific or commercial potential. Even if monetization and monopolization are not desired, retaining freedom to operate is often the decisive prerequisite for complex scientific undertakings. To decide on the best course of action, the scientist will however have to familiarize himself or herself with the legal consequences of his actions, the available methods of protecting his or her interests, and has to be capable of making qualified assumptions as to costs of such legal steps and the commercial potential of his invention. Needless to say, these decisions place a lot of responsibility on the shoulders of someone with often very little practical experience in such matters. Having internal or external expert advisors involved in the ongoing research efforts should therefore be regarded as essential.

References

- Anderson AC. The process of structure-based drug design. Chem Biol. 2003;20(9):787–97.
- Hirako M, McAuslane N, Salek S. A comparison of the drug review process at five international regulatory agencies. Therapeut Innovation Reg Sci. 2007;41(3):291–308.
- Bently PJ, Gulbrandsen M, Kyvik S. The relationship between basic and applied research in universities. High Educ. 2015;70(4):689–709.
- Schwertner HA. Patenting medical inventions. Mil Med. 1994;159(12):729–32.
- Anderson MH, Cislo D, Saavedra J, Cameron K. Why international inventors might want to consider filing their first patent application at the United States Patent Office & the convergence of patent harmonization and e-commerce. Santa Clara High Technol Law J. 2013;30(4):555–77.
- Torjesen I. Drug development: the journey of a medicine from lab to shelf. Pharm J. 2015;. online URI: 20068196
- Barrett B. Defensive use of publications in an intellectual property strategy. Nat Biotechnol. 2002;20:191–3.
- Horton R. Helping or hindering the genius of America?: e conflict in congress surrounding the firstinventor-to-file and revised grace period and the resulting impact. Santa Clara Law Rev. 2015;55(3):730–67.

- Directive (EU) 2016/943 of the European Parliament and of the Council on the protection of undisclosed know-how and business information (trade secrets) against their unlawful acquisition, use and disclosure Trade Secrets. http://ec.europa.eu/growth/industry/ intellectual-property/trade-secrets_de. Accessed 28 Feb 2018.
- 10. Cohen BA, Renaud MT, Armington MW. Explaining the defend trade secrets act business law today.

2016. https://www.americanbar.org/publications/ blt/2016/09/03_cohen.html. Accessed 25 Feb 2018.

- World Intellectual Property Organization. WIPO Intellectual Property Handbook: Policy, law and use. Geneva: WIPO; 2004.
- World Trade Organization. Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights. 1994 https://www. wto.org/english/docs_e/legal_e/27-trips_01_e.htm. Accessed 15 Feb 2018.



22

The Regulatory Landscape of Celland Tissue-Based Regenerative Medicine: Current Challenges and Emerging Issues

Sarah Khalid Alageel, Martin Hildebrandt, and Ana Valéria Gouveia de Andrade

22.1 Introduction

Rather than managing sustained disease or damage, the field of Regenerative Medicine (RM) is aimed at restoring or establishing normal function by replacing or regenerating human cells, tissues, or organs [1]. As a subdivision of translational research in molecular and cell biology, biomaterial science, and

S. K. Alageel

TUM Cells Interdisciplinary Center for Cellular Therapies, TUM School of Medicine, Klinikum rechts der Isar, Technical University of Munich, Munich, Germany e-mail: Sarah.Alageel@mri.tum.de

M. Hildebrandt

TUM Cells Interdisciplinary Center for Cellular Therapies, TUM School of Medicine, Klinikum rechts der Isar, Technical University of Munich, Munich, Germany

Institute of Clinical Chemistry and Pathobiochemistry, Klinikum rechts der Isar, Technical University of Munich, Munich, Germany e-mail: Martin.Hildebrandt@mri.tum.de

A. V. G. de Andrade (🖂)

TUM Cells Interdisciplinary Center for Cellular Therapies, TUM School of Medicine, Klinikum rechts der Isar, Technical University of Munich, Munich, Germany e-mail: ana.andrade@mri.tum.de organ and tissue engineering [2], RM holds great promise in addressing the global lack of organ supply, aging-related diseases, and congenital or acquired defects by either actively reconstructing de novo organs [1] and/or tissues or functionally healing previously irreparable tissues or organs by stimulating the body's own repair mechanisms [1].

Under this umbrella, researchers have been working vigorously on the development and bench to bedside translation of a variety of innovative therapeutic products such as: human cell and tissue products, tissue engineered therapeutic products, gene therapy products, and combined products. However, despite the continuous advances in science and technology paving the way in the development of Regenerative Medicine Therapeutics (RMT), to date, only few products have been authorized for marketing in the United States (US) and the European Union (EU).

To better understand how the EU and the US manage the development and manufacture of RM products, details regarding the regulatory process from the first step of classification until market approval will be addressed here.

22.2 EU and US: Different Approaches When it Comes to Medicinal Products

In the EU, the evaluation and regulation of the translation and marketing of RMTs is overseen by the European Medicines Agency (EMA).

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019, corrected publication 2020 D. Duscher, M. A. Shiffman (eds.), *Regenerative Medicine and Plastic Surgery*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19958-6_22

The original version of this chapter was revised. The correction to this chapter can be found at https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19958-6_36

Department for Plastic and Hand Surgery, Klinikum rechts der Isar, Technical University of Munich, Munich, Germany

RMTs that are designated as Advanced Therapy Medicinal Products (ATMPs) are pharmaceuticals with a high level of complexity linked to their composition, development, manufacturing, characterization and administration, and represent the forefront of medical research, blurring the lines between medicinal products and medical devices. They are comprised of somatic cell therapy medicinal products, tissue engineered products, gene therapy medicinal products or combined ATMPs (Fig. 22.1). They are derived from living human tissue, which is then manipulated in such a way that it can then be used in a therapeutic setting [3–6].

Somatic cell therapy medicinal products (SCMPs) consist of cells or tissues that have been subject to substantial manipulation so that biological characteristics, physiological functions, or structural properties relevant for the intended clinical use have been altered, or of cells or tissues that are not intended to be used for the same essential function(s) in the recipient and the donor. SCMPs are presented as having properties for, or are used in or administered to human beings with a view to treating, preventing, or diagnosing a disease through the pharmacological, immunological, or metabolic action of its cells or tissues [7].

Tissue engineered products (TEPs) consist of engineered cells or tissues, and are presented as having properties for, or are used in or administered to human beings with a view to regenerating, repairing, or replacing a human tissue. TEPs may contain cells or tissues of human or animal origin, or both. The cells or tissues may be viable or non-viable. They may also contain additional substances, such as cellular products, bio-molecules, biomaterials, chemical substances, scaffolds, or matrices [3].

Gene therapy medicinal products (GTMPs) either contain an active substance that consists of a recombinant nucleic acid used in or administered to human beings with a view to regulating, repairing, replacing, adding, or deleting a genetic sequence. Its therapeutic, prophylactic, or diagnostic effects relate directly to the recombinant nucleic acid sequence it contains, or to the product of genetic expression of this sequence. GTMPs do not include vaccines against infectious diseases [7].

Combined ATMPs contain one or more medical devices as an integral part of the medicine, such as cells embedded in a biodegradable matrix



Fig. 22.1 Classification of ATMPs according to EMA. (Adapted from Paul-Ehrlich-Institut Booklet [8])

or scaffold [3]. The translation of different ATMPs into the market requires the obtainment of a marketing authorization (MA). When attempting to translate an ATMP into the market, it is important to note that it is essential to comply with ATMP regulations, as well as EMA's regulatory system.

In the United States, the body responsible for the evaluation and regulation of the translation and marketing of RMT products is the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA). The FDA regulates most RM products under the Food and Drug Safety Act, Title 42, Chapter 6A- Public Health service, Public Health Service Act Section 361 and 351 (PHS Act 361, Title 42 USC Section 264) and Code of Federal Regulations Title 21 Part 1271 (21 CFR 1271) in a risk-based tiered structure [9]. RM products are regulated as human cells, tissues, and cellular and tissuebased products (HCT/Ps) based on the criteria defined in 21 CFR 1271.10 (a) [10], and are defined as "Human cells or tissue intended for implantation, transplantation, infusion, or transfer into a human recipient" (21 CFR 1271.3(d) (1) and Section 361 of the PHS Act). If they meet all of the criteria, they are regulated by the Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research (CBER) solely as 361 products do not require additional regulatory oversight (not subject to pre-market requirements) and follow the 'tissue rules' [11]. Examples of products regulated solely as 361 products include: skin, Dura mater, bone (including demineralized bone), and cartilage [11, 12]. RM products that do not fulfill one or all of the criteria can be regulated as:

 Drugs and/or Biological Products, such as human somatic cell therapy and gene therapy products (which are also regulated by CBER under Section 351 of the PHS Act and/or the FD&C Act) and require additional regulatory oversight (pre-marketing requirements) [11, 12]. Examples of products falling under this designation include: lymphocyte immune therapy products, gene therapy products, and cultured cartilage cells.

- Medicinal Devices composed of human tissues (regulated by the Center for Devices and Radiological Health (CDRH), under the FD&C Act and device regulations) and also require additional regulatory oversight (such as preserved umbilical cord vein grafts and human collagen) [11, 12].
- 3. Combination Products, which combine more than one type of product, are regulated based on the mode of action of the product. Requests for Designations (RFDs) of combination products are handled by the Office of Combination Products (OCP) that determine the responsible office within the FDA [13]. Examples of Combination Products include: encapsulated pancreatic islet cells (regulated as biological products), bone-suture-tendon allografts (regulated as devices), and demineralized bone combined with handling agents (e.g., glycerol or sodium hyaluronate) (regulated as devices) [11, 12].

Most advanced therapy products are regulated as Drugs and/or Biological Products. Recognizing the importance of the regenerative medicine field, and to facilitate the development and approval of RM products, a new program has been established that allows applicants with RM products to file for approval with a Regenerative Medicine Advanced Therapy (RMAT) Designation [14]. Drugs are eligible for RMAT designation (Section 3033 of the Twenty-first Century Cures Act) if:

- the drug is a regenerative medicine therapy, which is defined as a cell therapy, therapeutic tissue engineering product, human cell and tissue product, or any combination product using such therapies or products, except for those regulated solely under Section 361 of the Public Health Service Act and part 1271 of Title 21, Code of Federal Regulations;
- the drug is intended to treat, modify, reverse, or cure a serious or life-threatening disease or condition;
- preliminary clinical evidence indicates that the drug has the potential to address unmet medical needs for such disease or condition [15].

Applicants filing for an RMAT designation must do so in addition to filing an Investigational New Drug application (IND) or as an adjustment to an already existing one [15].

Therefore, addressing regulatory issues concerning cell- and/or tissue-based regenerative medicine products to further develop them into the clinic, begins with the accurate definition and classification of the intended product. It is important to notice that to develop/manufacture a product, the product must be, first, accurately defined and subsequently regulated.

22.3 Classification of RM Products in the EU and the USA

Both EMA and FDA officially classify products when reviewing market or pre-market submissions. However, to select the accurate regulatory submission path and to fully comprehend the extent of regulatory control required to ensure the safety and effectiveness of the product, it is important for manufacturers or stakeholders to identify the classification beforehand [13].

Similarities exist between the EU and the US in the classification of RM or cell- and tissue-based products, mostly about the considerations of: major vs. minor manipulation [16], intended use for its original function, and risk assessment in the classification of the products. However, here is where the similarities end, and this is largely due to the approach in the designation of the products.

In the European Union (EU), cell/ tissuebased products are regulated as ATMP medicines for human use (Article 17 of Regulation (EC) No 1394/2007) (and classified accordingly) [17] when they have been substantially manipulated and/or are not intended to be used for the same essential functions in the recipient as in the donor (not for homologous use). Non-substantially manipulated cells or tissues used for the same essential function are not considered ATMPs.

Minimally manipulated cells and tissues that are not considered medicinal products are regulated under EUCTD (2004/23/EC): donation, testing, procurement, processing, storage, and distribution across the EU. Example: preparation of enriched populations based on immunophenotypic markers such as CD34 or CD133 for haematopoietic transplantation. Examples of procedures that are considered to be of minimal (non-substantial) manipulation include: cryopreservation, cutting, filtering, cell separation, concentration or purification, irradiation, and filtering (i.e., they do not alter the biological characteristics or structural properties relevant for the intended function) [17]. However, in Germany, the Transfusion Act (TFG) defines blood cells and cell preparations from peripheral blood as medicinal products.

Substantially manipulated cells/ not the same essential function(s) are covered by the Regulation 1394/2007/EC and are classified as Advanced Therapy Medicinal Products (ATMPs), which include three categories: (a) somatic cell therapy medicinal products as defined in Part IV of Annex I to Directive 2001/83/EC; (b) gene therapy products as defined in Part IV of Annex I to Directive 2001/83/EC; (c) tissue engineered products as defined in Article 2(1) (b) of Regulation (EC) No. 1394/2007; (d) combined ATMP products under Article (2) (1) (d) of Regulation (EC) No. 1394/2007 [18].

Products in the EU can also be classified according to risk. Cell-based products are considered to be of high risk if the product has been: (a) subjected to a substantial amount of manipulation; (b) used for a function(s) different from its original function); and (c) if the product is combined with another product. All xenogeneic cellbased products are classified as ATMPs by default.

In the US, however, classification, and thus designation of products, is much more complex. RM products can be:

 HCT/Ps and given the 361 designation are of low risk if they meet all of the criteria under 21 CFR 1271.10(a): (a) it is minimally manipulated; (b) it is intended for homologous use only; (c) it is not combined with another article; and (d) it does not have a systemic effect and is not dependent upon the metabolic activity of living cells for its primary function; or, it has a systemic effect or is dependent upon the metabolic activity of living cells for its primary function, and is for autologous use, for allogeneic use in a first or second degree blood relative, or for reproductive use [10]. These products are not subject to pre-marketing requirements [19].

- HCT/Ps that do not meet one or more of that criteria can be classified as either drugs, biologics, and/ or devices under Section 351 of the PHS Act and/or under the Food Drug and Cosmetics Act. These products are of high risk and are subject to pre-marketing requirements [19].
- 3. Products that contain one or more combination products (as defined in 21 CFR § 3.2(e): products comprised of any combination of a drug and a device; a biological product and a device; a drug and a biological product; or a drug, device, and a biological product) are classified as combination products and based in their classification on their primary mode of action for their primary designation.

On substantially (major) manipulated vs. nonsubstantially (minimally) manipulated products, generally, both the US and the EU have similar definitions as to what constitutes major/substantial manipulation and/or minor/or non-substantial manipulation. In the EU, substantially manipulated products encompass manipulation throughout the manufacturing process so that the physiological functions, biological characteristics, and/or structural properties of cells and/or tissue(s) have been relevantly modified for their intended function [17]. Some examples include: the enzymatic digestion of tissues and cells that have been artificially expanded in culture, treated with growth factors for differentiation/activation, and/or cells that have been genetically modified. In the US, the FDA substantially manipulated is classified under Title 21 of the Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 1271, specifically 21 CFR 1271.3 (f). Minimally manipulated products are defined as "products that if containing structural tissue, have been processed in a way that does not alter original relevant tissue characteristics related to the tissue's utility for reconstruction, repair, or replacement; and if containing cells or non-structural tissues, have been processed in a way that does not alter relevant biological characteristics of the cells or tissues" [20].

22.3.1 Intended Use or Essential Function (Homologous or Non-Homologous Use)

If no substantial manipulation takes place, products are classified according to the essential function of the cells/tissues. Products are considered of homologous use when the "repair, construction, replacement, or supplementation of a recipient's cells or tissues with an HCT/P that performs the same basic function or functions in the recipient as in the donor" [20] (under the US FDA's regulation Title 21 of the Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 1271, specifically 21 CFR 1271.3(a) (2)/1271.3 (c) criterion and definition of homologous use) [10]; or, "when removed from their original environment in the human body are used to maintain the original function(s) in the same anatomical or histological environment" [17]. An example of homologous use would be donated bone marrow for leukemic patients that have undergone total body irradiation (TBI) [17].

22.3.2 The Product's Claimed Mode of Action (MoA)

The product's claimed mode of action answers questions on whether the product is meant for diagnosis, prevention, or treatment of disease. Does it exert its activity via a pharmacological, immunological, or metabolic action? Alternatively, is the product intended for regeneration, repair, or replacement of cells/ tissues? [17].

22.3.3 Other Points Taken Into Consideration When Classifying a Product

- 1. Their status as living sources: the biologics of the medicinal products for human use [21].
- 2. The origin of the cells utilized (cell source): autologous or allogenic [16, 21].
- 3. The application of the anatomical/histological environment [9].

22.4 The EU Legal Framework for ATMPs

A consolidated regulatory framework for the development of ATMPs in Europe came into force in 2008 [22]. The overall framework on ATMPs is provided by Regulation (EC) No 1394/2007, which amended the Medicines Directive 2001/83/EC, and established the Committee for Advanced Therapies (CAT) at the European Medicines Agency (EMA). The EMA is a decentralized agency of the European Union (EU) responsible for the scientific evaluation, supervision, and safety monitoring of medicines in the EU, and the CAT is a multidisciplinary committee, whose primary responsibility is to assess the quality, safety, and efficacy of ATMPs, and to stay up-to-date on the developments in the field. When it comes to regenerative medicine products, the Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use (CHMP) under the EMA is in charge of evaluation and approval. All legislatures relating to medicinal products, including regenerative medicine products, are data based in the EudraLex. This regulatory framework is designed to ensure the free movement of these medicines within the EU, to facilitate their access to the EU market, and to foster the competitiveness of European pharmaceutical companies in the field, while guaranteeing the highest level of health protection for patients [23].

As this regulatory framework for ATMPs in the EU, because of constant advances in the field of regenerative medicine, is dynamic, complex, and advances rapidly, early interactions with regulatory agencies to ensure collaborative discussions between clinical product developers and regulatory experts are a 'must'. Hence, many regulatory agencies globally encourage and provide opportunities, such as a Scientific Advice Meeting with a national competent authority (e.g., Paul-Ehrlich-Institute, Germany) and/or EMA [6].

The CAT issues scientific recommendations on ATMPs under the ATMP Regulation (Article 17) [17]. Its recommendations are based on definitions laid down in the EU legislative texts:

- 1. Regulation (EC) No. 1394/2007 on ATMPs provides the definitions of "tissue-engineering product" and combined 'ATMP'.
- 2. Part IV of Annex I to Directive 2001/83/EC provides the definitions of "gene-therapy medicinal product" and "somatic cell-therapy medicinal product" [17].

At the inception of the development of a product, it is important to consider seeking CAT classification, which is an optional, no-fee procedure. However, achievement of such status holds significant merit in obtaining fee reductions for EMA scientific advice and potential benefits in successfully navigating the clinical trial application process through national authorities in Europe [24].

Developers of ATMPs should also consider if their product may be eligible for the newly introduced Priority Medicines (PRIME), which is a voluntary scheme launched by EMA in 2016 to enhance support for the development of medicines targeting an unmet medical need [6].

In addition to the existing complexity, in Europe certain ATMPs are also considered a Genetically Modified Organism (GMO), i.e., an organism, with the exception of human beings, in which the genetic material has been altered in a way that does not occur naturally by mating and/or natural recombination (Directive 2001/18/EC). In the EU, before a clinical trial can commence for ATMPs considered GMOs, besides the ethics committee and competent authority approval, a GMO approval must also be obtained. Nevertheless, the regulatory classification processes and requirements for GMO approval are not sufficiently harmonized between the EU Member States, despite the EU Deliberate Release (2001/18/EC) and the Contained Use (2009/41/EC) Directives, resulting in significant challenges and timeline considerations [6].

The process of ATMP market approval starts with the collection of tissues and cells from donors and their evaluation under the European Union Tissue and Cells Directives (EUTCD), the EU version of Good Tissue Practice (GTP). Preclinical testing for safety of the product will be performed under Good Laboratory Practice (GLP), similar to the USA [25].

On scientific and technical aspects of drug registration, the International Council for Harmonisation of Technical Requirements for Pharmaceuticals for Human Use (ICH), as a tripartite initiative between Europe, the US, and Japan, takes place bringing together the regulatory authorities and pharmaceutical industry [26]. To bring new medical product to market, clinical trials are required by regulatory authorities of the originating countries [26]. When the product is adequate for market approval, it will lastly be evaluated by the EMA as a final step to market application. ATMPs will be required to obtain continuous post-market evaluation on the traceability of the donors, products, and patients, as well as the development of risk management systems and pharmacovigilance, especially for follow-up on efficacy and safety. Similar to the situation in the USA, the whole process may take multiple years (Fig. 22.2) [25].

Although the ATMP regulation has been in place for more than 10 years, the number of marketing authorization applications and successful approvals in the EU remains in single figures. Of the 18 marketing authorization applications submitted to EMA since the ATMP regulation came into force in 2009, EMA said nine products have been approved [27]. However, of those nine approved, four have been withdrawn from the market or suspended. For instance, UniQure's Glybera, the first gene therapy authorized in Europe in 2012, was later withdrawn from the market. Similarly, Dendreon's Provenge and TiGenix's tissue-engineered product ChondroCelect, approved in 2009, were also withdrawn. Vericel Denmark's Maci in 2013 was suspended at the recommendation of the Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use (CHMP)[27].

Other ATMPs remain on the market and include German company CO.DON AG's Spherox, approved in 2017, MolMed S.p.A.'s Zalmoxis, approved in 2016, as well as Chiesi Farmaceutici's Holoclar, GlaxoSmithKline's Strimvelis, and Amgen's Imlygic [27].



Fig. 22.2 Regulatory pathways and development phases for ATMPs in Europe. (Adapted from Sakai et al., 2017 [23] and Maciulaitis et al., 2012 [25])

22.5 The US Legal Framework

In the ensuing successful pre-clinical investigations (laboratory and animal testing to answer basic questions about safety, devoid of human participants, and mainly conducted under Good Laboratory Practices (GLP) conditions) (21 CFR Part 58) [28–30], with the aim of translation of RM products into the market, sponsors/stakeholders must follow a series of steps under the governance of FDA regulatory requirements (Fig. 22.3) [23].

To select the accurate regulatory pathway and identify its requirements, sponsors/stakeholders must first accurately classify their products. The FDA officially classifies products during the review of the pre-market submission. However, it is the responsibility of the applicant to ensure the correct classification of the product that has been applied [13]. FDA regulation focuses on the:

- Prevention of inadvertent transmission of infectious diseases such as AIDS and Hepatitis through the use of contaminated tissues.
- 2. Prevention of contamination and/or damage through improper handling and/or processing.
- Ensuring that clinical safety and effectiveness is demonstrated, in a risk-based tiered approach [21, 31].

HCT/Ps that meet the requirements (criteria under 21 CFR Part 1271.10(a)):

- 1. are considered of low risk [19];
- 2. are regulated under the 361 route;
- do not need to apply for pre-market approval; and
- 4. only need to meet the "tissue rules" requirements (21 CFR Part 12714) [11].

HCT/Ps that are more than minimally manipulated, are of non-homologous use, are not combined with other articles (except for water, crystalloids, or sterilizing preserving, or storage agent), do not have a systemic effect and/or are not dependent on the metabolic activity of living cells for their primary function (if they have such an effect, they are intended for autologous use or allogeneic use in close relatives or for reproductive use) (criteria under 21 CFR Part 1271.10(a)), and/or do not qualify for exemptions under 21 CFR 1271.15 [32], are of high risk [19]:

- 1. are subjected to pre-market review requirements and approval; and
- are regulated as drugs, devices and/or biological products under 351 of the Public Health Service Act (PHS).



Fig. 22.3 Regulatory pathways and development phases for RM products in the USA. (Adapted from Sakai et al., 2017 [23] and FDA Regulations). CDER: Center for Drug Evaluation and Research, CBER: Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research, CDRH: Center for Devices and

Radiological Health, IND: Investigative New Drug, IDE: Investigational Device Exemption, NDA: New Drug Application, BLA: Biologics Licence Application, PMA: Premarket Authorization, OCTGT: Office of Cellular, Tissue and Gene Therapies classification Examples of products that are regulated as drugs and/or biological products include: gene therapy products, cultured cartilage cells, and unrelated allogeneic hematopoietic cells. Tissue engineered products, however, are more often than not considered to be combination products containing scaffolds, cells, and drugs. Thus, they are regulated according to their primary mode of action (or intended therapeutic effect to be either drugs, devices, and/or biologics) to be determined by the OCP (Office of Combination Products) and forwarded to the relevant centers to lead the review on the product [13].

Pre-market approval applications vary according to the classification of the product. Once the correct classification of a product has been identified, clinical trials can commence under exemption from FD&C Act for new drugs and devices, and PHS ACT for biologics laws, by submitting the applications. Examples of different pre-market approval applications include: Investigational New Drug (IND) (21 CFR 312) for drug or biologics introduction (very common with ATs) or an Investigational Device Exemption (IDE) (21 CFR 812) for device introduction [33]. Applications such as INDs comprise information on the product, data on toxicity and animal studies (possible detrimental side effects), information on the manufacturing process, the planned clinical protocols, data on any prior research on humans, and investigator's information [33, 34]. The FDA also provides pre-investigational new drug (pre-IND) consultation services for researchers and manufacturers and to optimize the IND submission process; after which, formal pre-IND meetings with the Office of Cellular, Tissue, and Gene Therapies (OCTGT) are conducted [35].

Before the commencement of clinical trials, however, the Institutional Review Board (IRB) (21 CFR56) that is responsible for governing the rights of human participants in research programs [33, 36, 37] must review all information related to the IND/IDE application such as: verification of the IND/IDE approval, qualifications of the clinical investigators, suitability of the research site, approval of the Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs), compliance with Good Clinical Practices (GCPs), risk assessment determination, and subsequently, grant approval [33, 36]. Risk assessment determination for the classification of medical devices is initially conducted by the sponsor/stakeholder, and is determined according to the degree of risk a medical device poses according to the following [13, 33]:

- Class I- Low risk products/devices that are subjected to general controls.
- Class II- Moderate Risk products/devices that are subjected general controls and special controls.
- Class III- High risk products/devices that are subjected to general controls and pre-market approval.

Class III- significant risk (SR) designations require an IDE submission and approval, and an IRB approval before clinical investigations [13, 33]. Non-significant risk (NSR) designations do not require IDE submissions [33]. After the submission and approval of the pre-marketing applications, clinical trials can commence.

IND pre-marketing applications for drugs and biologics require three phase clinical trials, and a fourth phase post market approval.

Before applying for final approval, FDA consultations can be held after Phases II and III [23]. With Medical Devices however, single confirmatory feasibility studies conducted under IDE applications that allow for early clinical evaluation of devices to provide proof of principle and initial clinical safety data (with a small number of subjects, first human (FIH) studies), can be sufficient for FDA approval [33].

Post successful Phase III clinical trials, premarketing submissions must be handed in to the FDA before marketing [19]. The pre-submissions program allows sponsors or stakeholders to consult the FDA during submission preparations for early feedback before the pre-market submissions in the form of 'Q submissions' or 'Q-subs' [33]. Examples of pre-market submissions include: PMA- Premarket Approval (Class III) submissions and De Novo- new device submissions for Class III medical devices, BLAbiologics license application for biologics [19], and NDA- New Drug Application for drugs [13, 33]. After receiving positive feedback from the FDA, formal applications are submitted. Following positive review and subsequent approval for marketing, the sponsor/stakeholder can then market the product and post marketing Phase IV data is collected. Recently, the FDA created a new expedited designation for the RM products termed the Regenerative Medicine Advanced Therapy (RMAT) Designation that can be filed with or post IND application [15].

Some of the cell therapy products that have gave gained licensing in the US as biologics include: autologous cultured chondrocytes (Carticel[®]), autologous cellular immunotherapy (Provenge[®]), autologous cultured fibroblasts (Laviv[®]), and hematopoietic progenitor cells, cord blood (HEMACORD[®]) [23].

22.6 Hurdles in the Development of RM Products

Despite many advances made in science and technology, and large progression in various aspects of the RM field development, many hurdles prohibiting the mainstreaming of such products within a single jurisdiction and on an international scale exist as regards to:

22.6.1 Regulation

A large barrier preventing the mainstreaming and standardization of RM products on a global scale is Regulation. Regulatory barriers can generally be summed up into two themes:

22.6.1.1 Regulatory Clarity

Different countries define RM or Human Cell and Tissue (HCT) products in different contexts [19]. Since accurate product definitions leads to accurate classification, and subsequent application of the correct regulatory requirements, variations in definitions between different jurisdictions create quite a challenge for sponsors/stakeholders aiming to manufacture and/or distribute products in multiple countries, and results in the disruption of a global harmonized development of RM products [16].

In addition, some products that are termed 'borderline products' and defined as "products

that might fall between two or more regulated product categories" (ATMPs or blood products and cell transplants) are very difficult to define, and highlight the vague line between what is considered an ATMP and what is not, with important consequence on the developmental pathway the product will take (e.g., lymphocyte immunotherapy) [9].

22.6.1.2 Regulatory Framework and Jurisdiction

The jurisdiction of different regional guidelines vary immensely on product type [16]. For manufacturer/developer to identify product specific requirements, unification and standardization of requirements of is of paramount importance. Thus, variations in guidelines pose a hurdle for global development [16].

22.6.2 Translation: Academia and Industry

Another barrier is the translation of innovative therapeutic science from its source. Academic institutions are vibrant sources for the generation of science leading to novel therapeutics. However, they often face hurdles in the form of lack of regulatory expertise. In academia, the development of RM products is usually science driven rather than product-driven [38]. This generally results in a lack of understanding for basic regulatory requirements of the translation of a product into the market, and a subsequent failure in that regard [16]. In addition, when it comes to funding, it has been observed that for many RM products, especially cell-based and patient-specific treatments, the pharmaceutical industry has limited interest in playing its 'usual' role of financing development and acting as a sponsor in clinical trials. The relative dearth of industrial investment in the RM products lies behind several aspects, including: distribution, economic, as well as cultural issues [39, 40].

22.6.2.1 Distribution Models

Depending on the type of product, decentralization of ATMP manufacturing might be needed, and to achieve that, it is imperative that the origin, composition, manufacturing process, quality control methods, as well as batch release specifications are aligned between both the regulatory agencies and the ATMP manufacturers. Products that might require a decentralized distribution model are cell-based therapies. When compared to other biologicals they have a shorter shelf life and, therefore, are particularly susceptible to damage during shipping, which influence the final quality of these products. One such example is Holoclar, where patient biopsies must be received by the manufacturer within 24 h following procurement and which has only a 36-h shelf life. Due to the temperamental nature of such products, one suggestion has been the establishment of regional sites or centers of excellence, which could offer a more suitable model for personalized autologous cell products or for rare diseases. Of course, consistency of approach and the necessary standards and guidelines would have to be conserved across these different regional sites and agreed on by the necessary regulatory authorities [40].

Nevertheless, in 2017, using a centralized model, big pharmaceutical companies managed to receive marketing approvals of three gene therapy products: Kymriah, Yescarta, and Luxturna [41, 42].

Economic

- Intellectual Property. Since ATMP are often not based on a 'simple' cause-effect model, the intellectual property landscape is often more complicated with these products, making it difficult to ring-fence intellectual property, establish freedom to operate, and anticipate the effects of competition [39].
- Orphan. Many current ATMPs, especially in gene therapy, are applicable for rare or orphan indications. While it is now established that orphan drug status in itself is no bar to profitability, the challenges with developing and finding politically acceptable reimbursement for such products remain [43].
- 3. Scalability. Even if ATMPs are potentially applicable to a large patient population, their cost and complexity often render it impossible

to conduct trials on a large patient population—which is traditionally the specialist expertise that industry brings to the table in translational research. The high cost effort per treatment also yields uncertainties about effective reimbursement [44].

4. Costs. Translational costs related to all aspects of GMP manufacturing, from GMP-grade stating materials to the personnel required to run such facilities, poses a huge burden on the sponsors/stakeholders aiming to market a product [4].

Cultural

- Complexity. Many ATMPs are manufactured differently from mainstream medicines, requiring investment into new expertise. Cell therapy products often do not have a clearly defined mechanism of action, gene therapy presents unique challenges of long-term systemic effects, and tissue engineering targets a complex interface of material science and biology. The selection, enrichment, or genetic modification of cells and tissues often enhances their sensitivity the effect of which cannot be replicated in vitro [39].
- Surgical. Many ATMPs are seen to be more closely related to transplantation, an area that does not interface much with established industrial R&D [39].
- Transferability. Many ATMPs require very specialized, tacit clinical expertise that cannot easily be transferred. Cell populations are necessarily heterogeneous and dynamic, and purification protocols, as they are applied in 'established' biotechnology may actually prove detrimental to the efficacy of the final product [39].

Ethics

A third hurdle that faces RM streamlining surrounds ethical considerations and difference in belief. Ethical hurdles exist on cell sources and ownership, such as: the utilization of embryonic stem cells and/or fetal tissue, which may be allowed in some countries and prohibited in others. In addition to this, controversies exist over whether human cells/tissues can be subjected to laws regarding property rights [33]. Ethical objections to the implementation of certain procedures such as: therapeutic cloning of cells, genetic engineering of cells, and the mixing of human and animal cells on the production of RM products have been raised [33]. Moreover, a 2008 study indicated that physicians have less confidence in industry-funded clinical trials as opposed to government-sponsored trials [33].

These issues and challenges are not meant to suggest that ATMPs are not attractive for industrial development. Other factors play a role [45] and in fact, the industry sector using ATMP is increasing markedly [46]. However, the above considerations suggest that there are a number of factors that may militate against ATMP development in the private sector and complicate technology transfer from the public sector [39].

22.7 Overcoming Hurdles: the Formation of Collaborative Parties

To overcome challenges resulting from diverse regulatory pathways associated with different countries, and to facilitate the acquisition of marketing approval under multiple jurisdictions, several international collaborations have been established. To that effect, information on science and regulatory convergence related to ATMPs or HCT/Ps manufacturing, and the marketing of products, in several countries can be gained from different alliances groups such as: the EMA-US FDA Parallel Scientific Advice (PSA) [47] (during which each regulatory agency (EMA and FDA) provides the sponsor/ stakeholder with independent advice regarding questions presented) and the Life Sciences Innovation Forum (LISF) (under Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation (APEC)) both provide meaningful dialogue with stakeholders regarding successful implementation of policies.

Other collaborative clusters that work towards the harmonization of ATMP production include: the US FDA-EMA-Health Canada Advanced Therapy Medicinal Products Cluster [47] and the Regulators Forum (RF): composed of the International Conference on Harmonization of Technical Requirements for Registration of Pharmaceuticals for Human Use (ICH) members, the ICH observers, regional harmonization initiatives, and different drug regulatory authorities from various countries (e.g., Brazil and Australia) [47].

On different industries (education, pharma, health care, and regulatory), academic initiatives such as the EuroTech Universities Alliance [48] have been established, and work towards facilitating translation of basic science and technology into the clinic. Groups such as the ATMP Interest Group, founded in 2017 by the European Compliance Academy (ECA), have representatives from the academia, industry, and the regulaauthorities, and aspire to tory facilitate information exchange between academia, pharma, and regulatory bodies on Good Manufacturing Practice (GMP) and pharmaceutical quality assurance. The ATMP Interest Group in collaboration with the ATMP GMP Open Access Research Alliance (AGORA) group work on the AGORA project [49], which has contributed to the much needed support and training framework for the facilitation of regenerative medicines implementation by establishing a technology transfer network, training programs, and interactive information sources [48].

Other structures, such as the European Society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation (EBMT) [50], have been developed beyond bone marrow transplantation towards modern cell therapies to allow scientists and physicians to share experience and develop cooperative studies. The EBMT together with the International Society for Cellular Therapy (ISCT) have formed the Joint Accreditation Committee ISCT-EBMT (JACIE) [51], which is aimed at promoting high quality patient care through the development of global standards and an internationally recognized system of accreditation. In the US, Foundation for the Accreditation of Cellular Therapy (FACT), together with the JACIE, have formed the JACIE-FACT that is now a unified, leading accreditation agency that insures high quality manufacture of therapeutics.

22.8 Aspects to Consider

Finally, a distinguishing feature of ATMPs deserves to be mentioned again: more than 90% of ATMP development resides in Academia and Small and Medium-sized Enterprises (SMEs). The academic environment has coined the field of ATMP development in many ways. Specific academic features include the close proximity to patients, limited resources in terms of funding, infrastructure and pharmaceutical development, a risk awareness and intentionality shaped sometimes more by disease and suffering than by quality considerations. Academic initiatives have engaged in networks and represent the non-canonical and decentralized developmental pathway of ATMPs [29, 34, 36]. The European Commission has recognized this development and, beyond project-related funding, reached out to and endorsed academic initiatives as a major stakeholder in the field.

22.9 Conclusions

As cell-based medicines often lose magic in the course of clinical development, so does the novelty assigned to ATMPs as the field matures. The development of ATMPs has shown immense success when large pharmaceutical companies have matched centralized models of manufacture and distribution with clinical efficacy (example: Kymriah et al.) [41]. Decentralized concepts, however, will continue to be paradigmatic for many cell-based medicines and to challenge the existing regulatory pathways. The regulatory bodies in the US as in the EU have responded to this demand, sometimes with similar concepts and harmonized incentives, sometimes with a regulatory framework that emerged on extensive stakeholder consultations to allow innovation to reach patients in need [52]. Yet the leading notion continues to be a picture of Europe lagging behind in the global thrive for advanced therapies, which have proven to have both a clinical and commercial potential. As the development of ATMPs cannot be regarded solely under market aspects and a cautious approach must also be

considered to ensure patient safety, the EU fortunately continues to establish structures and platforms on a pre-competitive level where stakeholders from all sides are addressed [53]. At the same time, the complexity of ATMPs and the risk inherent in these medicinal products mandate a structured approach in terms of manufacture, application, and risk awareness in terms both clinical and quality risks. The ideal format of specialized, pre-competitive clusters will predominantly be:

- associated with academic hospitals and centers;
- 2. defined by processes rather than products;
- 3. qualified and certified in a way that awaits definition; and
- 4. seek to find an interaction with industry in a way that respects both the transformative potential of ATMPs and the cautious position of industry that expects the risks inherent in ATMPs to become predictable to a certain extent.

References

- Baptista PM, Atala A. Regenerative medicine: the hurdles and hopes. Transl Res. 2014;163(4):255–8.
- European Commission. Regulation (EC) No 1394/2007 of the European Parliament and of the Council on advanced therapy medicinal products and amending Directive 2001/83/EC and Regulation (EC) No 726/2004. 2007. https://ec.europa.eu/health// sites/health/files/files/eudralex/vol-1/reg_2007_1394/ reg_2007_1394_en.pdf. Accessed 9 March 2018.
- 3. European Medicines Agency. Legal Framework. Regulation EC 1394/2007: Europa EU; 2018.
- Forgó N, Hildebrandt M. Joint conference on the impact of EU legislation on therapeutic advance. Cytotherapy. 2013;15(12):1444–8.
- Vestergaard HT, Apote LD, Schneider CK, Herberts C. The evolution of nonclinical regulatory science: advanced therapy medicinal products as a paradigm. Mol Ther. 2013;21(9):1294–6.
- Hurley P, Jurmeister S, Parsley K. Advanced therapy medicinal products — an evolving regulatory landscape. 2018. https://www.ppdi.com/-/media/ Files/PPDI-Files/.../Regulatory-Focus-201702.ashx. Accessed 8 March 2018.
- European Medicines Agency. Directive 2001/83/ EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 6 November 2001on the Community code relating

to medicinal products for human use. www.ema. europa.eu/docs/en_GB/document_library/...and.../ WC500004481.pdf. Accessed 10 March 2018.

- Paul-Ehrlich Institute Booklet. Arzneimittel für neuartige Therapien. ATMP—Advanced Therapy Medicinal Products" Regulatorische Anforderungen und praktische Hinweise: June 2012 [Internet]. Available from: https://www.pei.de/SharedDocs/Downloads/pu/innovationsbuero/broschuere-atmp-anforderungen-hinweise.pdf?__blob=publicationFile&v=1 https://www. pei.de/.../broschuere-atmp-anforderungen-hinweise. Accessed 10 March 2018.
- Izeta A, Herrera C, Mata R, Astori G, Giordano R, Hernández C, Leyva L, Arias S, Oyonarte S, Carmona G, Cuende N. Cell-based product classification procedure: what can be done differently to improve decisions on borderline products? Cytotherapy. 2016;18(7):809–15.
- 10. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Regulatory considerations for human cells, tissues and cellular products: minimal manipulation and homologous use: Guidance for Industry and Food and Drug Administration Staff. 2017. https:// www.fda.gov/downloads/BiologicsBloodVaccines/ GuidanceComplianceRegulatoryInformation/ Guidances/CellularandGeneTherapy/UCM585403. pdf
- 11. Lee MH, Au P, Hyde J, Gacchina Johnson C, Heidaran M, Karandish S, Boxer L, Mendicino M, Yoon D, Tull L, Arcidiacono J, McCright B, Kaplan DS, Fink D, Durfor CN, McFarland R, Witten C. Translation of regenerative medicine products into the clinic in the United States: FDA perspective. In: Atala A, Allickson J, editors. Translational regenerative medicine. Cambridge, MA: Academic Press; 2015.
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration. FDA Regulation of Human Cells, Tissues, and Cellular and Tissue-Based Products (HCT/P's) Product List. 2018 https://www.fda.gov/BiologicsBloodVaccines/ TissueTissueProducts/RegulationofTissues/ ucm150485.htm. Accessed 10 March 2018.
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration. FDA-How to study and market your device. 2018. https://www.fda. gov/medicaldevices/deviceregulationandguidance/ howtomarketyourdevice. Accessed 10 March 2018.
- 14. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Expedited programs for regenerative medicine therapies for serious conditions: draft guidance for industry. 2017. https://www.fda.gov/ucm/groups/fdagov-public/@fdagov-bio-gen/documents/document/ ucm585414.pdf. Accessed 16 Feb 2018.
- 15. U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Regenerative Medicine Advanced Therapy Designation. 2018. https://www.fda.gov/BiologicsBloodVaccines/ CellularGeneTherapyProducts/ucm537670.htm. Accessed 16 Feb 2018.
- Itoh K, Kano S. Comparison of international guidelines for regenerative medicine: Knee cartilage repair and replacement using human-derived cells and tissues. Biologicals. 2016;44(4):267–70.

- Committee for Advanced Therapies (CAT). MA/ CAT/285241/2010 rev.1-Reflection paper on classification of advanced therapy medicinal products. European Medicines Agency. 2015. http://www.ema. europa.eu/docs/en_GB/document_library/Scientific_ guideline/2015/06/WC50187744.pdf. Accessed 19 Feb 2018.
- Committee for Advanced Therapies (CAT). Reflection paper on classification of advanced therapy medicinal products [Internet]: European Medicines Agency. 2015. http://www.ema.europa.eu/docs/en_GB/ document_library/Scientific_guideline/2015/06/ WC500187744.pdf. Accessed 20 Feb 2018.
- Yano K, Watanabe N, Tsuyuki K, Ikawa T, Kasanuki H, Yamato M. Regulatory approval for autologous human cells and tissue products in the United States, the European Union, and Japan. Regen Therapy. 2015:145–56.
- 20. U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Regulatory considerations for human cells, tissues, and cellular and tissue- based products: minimal manipulation and homologous use. 2017. https://www. fda.gov/downloads/BiologicsBloodVaccines/ GuidanceComplianceRegulatoryInformation/ Guidances/CellularandGeneTherapy/UCM585403. pdf. Accessed 16 Feb 2018.
- Yano K, Tsuyuki K, Watanabe N, Kasanuki H, Yamato M. The regulation of allogeneic human cells and tissue products as biomaterials. Biomaterials. 2013;34(13):3165–73.
- 22. Regulation (EC) No 1394/2007 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 13 November 2007 on advanced therapy medicinal products and amending Directive 2001/83/EC and Regulation (EC) No 726/2004.
- Sakai D, Schol J, Foldager CB, Sato M, Watanabe M. Regenerative technologies to bed side: Evolving the regulatory framework. J Orthopaed Transl. 2017:91–7.
- 24. European Medicines Agency. Committee for Advanced Therapies (CAT) http://www.ema.europa.eu/ema/ index.jsp?curl=pages/about_us/general/general_content_000266.jsp&mid=WC0b01ac05800292a4. Accessed 2 Dec 2017.
- Maciulaitis R, D'Apote L, Buchanan A, Pioppo L, Schneider CK. Clinical development of advanced therapy medicinal products in Europe: evidence that regulators must be proactive. Mol Ther. 2012;20(3):479–82.
- 26. The International Council for Harmonisation of Technical Requirements for Pharmaceuticalsfor Human Use (ICH). ICH Harmonized Tripartite Guideline: Guideline for Good Clinical Practice E6(R1. 1996 https://www.ich.org/fileadmin/Public_ Web_Site/ICH_Products/Guidelines/Efficacy/E6/ E6_R1_Guideline.pdf. Accessed 1 March 2018.
- Brennan Z. EMA, European Commission Look to Foster Development of Advanced Therapies Regulatory Affairs Professionals Society (RAPS). 2017. Available from: https://www.raps.org/regulatory-focus%E2%84%A2/news-articles/2017/10/

ema,-european-commission-look-to-foster-development-of-advanced-therapies. Accessed 13 Feb 2018.

- U.S. Food and Drug Administration. The Drug Development Process. 2018 https://www.fda.gov/ ForPatients/Approvals/Drugs/default.htm. Accessed 20 Feb 2018.
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Step 2: Preclinical Research. 2018. https://www.fda.gov/ForPatients/ Approvals/Drugs/ucm405658.htm. Accessed 20 Feb 2018.
- Field MJ, Boat TF. Development of new therapeutic drugs and biologics for rare diseases: accelerating research and development. Washington, DC: National Academies Press; 2010.
- Kellathur SN, Lou H-X. Cell and tissue therapy regulation: worldwide status and harmonization. Biologicals. 2012;40(3):222–4.
- 32. U.S. Food and Drug Administration. CFR—Code of Federal Regulations Title 21-Regulations Under Certain Other Acts Administered by the Food and Drug Administration. 2017. https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/scripts/cdrh/cfdocs/cfcfr/CFRSearch. cfm?fr=1271.15 Accessed 15 Feb 2018.
- Lu L, Arbit HM, Herrick JL, Segovis SG, Maran A, Yaszemski MJ. Tissue engineered constructs: perspectives on clinical translation. Ann Biomed Eng. 2015;43(3):796–804.
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Step 3: Clinical Research. 2018 https://www.fda.gov/ForPatients/ Approvals/Drugs/ucm405622.htm. Accessed 20 Feb 2018.
- 35. van Schothorst M, Weeda J, Schiffers K, Oortwijn W, Hoekman J, Coppens D, L. De Bruin M. Study on the regulation of advanced therapies in selected jurisdictions. European Commission. 2016. https://ec.europa.eu/health//sites/health/files/human-use/docs/20147306_rfs_chafea_2014_health_24_060516.pdf. Accessed 20 Feb 2018.
- 36. U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Institutional Review Boards Frequently Asked Questions— Information Sheet. 2016. https://www.fda.gov/ RegulatoryInformation/Guidances/ucm126420.htm. Accessed 20 Feb 2018.
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration. CFR Code of Federal Regulations Title 21. 2017. https:// www.accessdata.fda.gov/scripts/cdrh/cfdocs/cfcfr/ CFRSearch.cfm?CFRPart=56. Accessed 20 Feb 2018.
- Sd W, Guchelaar H-J, Herberts C, Lowdell M, Hildebrandt M, Zandvliet M, Meij P. Development of cell therapy medicinal products by academic institutes. Drug Discov Today. 2016;21(8):1206–12.
- Hildebrandt M, Sethe S. Caught in the gap: ATMP manufacture in Academia. Telegraft. 2012;19:1.
- Morrow D, Ussi A, Migliaccio G. Addressing pressing needs in the development of advanced therapies. Front Bioeng Biotechnol. 2017;5:55.
- 41. U.S. Food and Drug Administration. DA approves CAR-T cell therapy to treat adults with certain types

of large B-cell lymphoma. 2017. https://www.fda. gov/NewsEvents/Newsroom/PressAnnouncements/ ucm581216.htm. Accessed 1 March 2018.

- 42. U.S. Food and Drug Administration. FDA approves novel gene therapy to treat patients with a rare form of inherited vision loss. 2017. https://www.fda. gov/NewsEvents/Newsroom/PressAnnouncements/ ucm589467.htm. Accessed 1 March 2018.
- Denis A, Mergaert L, Fostier C, Cleemput I, Simoens S. Issues surrounding orphan disease and orphan drug policies in Europe. Appl Health Econ Health Policy. 2010;8(5):343–50.
- 44. Ginty PJ, Rayment EA, Hourd P, Williams DJ. Regenerative medicine, resource and regulation: lessons learned from the remedi project. Regen Med. 2011;6(2):241–53.
- Plagnol AC, Rowley E, Martin P, Livesey F. Industry perceptions of barriers to commercialization of regenerative medicine products in the UK. Regen Med. 2009;4(4):549–59.
- 46. Lysaght MJ, Jaklenec A, Deweerd E. Great expectations: private sector activity in tissue engineering, regenerative medicine, and stem cell therapeutics. Tissue Eng Part A. 2008;14(2):305–15.
- Arcidiacono JA, Blair JW, Benton KA. US Food and Drug Administration international g collaborations for cellular therapy product regulation. Stem Cell Res Ther. 2012;3(5):38.
- 48. Hildebrandt M, Busch D. Innovative Medicines Initiative consultation: Facilitating the translation of advanced therapies to patients in Europe. EuroTech Universities Alliance https://www.imi. europa.eu/sites/default/files/archive/uploads/documents/ATMPconsultation2016/ATMPresponse_Org_ EuroTechUniversitiesAlliance.pdf. Accessed 28 Feb 2018.
- 49. European Compliance Academy ATMP Interest Group. ATMP GMP Open Access Research Alliance. European Compliance Academy. http://www.atmpgroup.org/agora.html. Accessed 28 Feb 2018.
- 50. European Society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation (EBMT). About EBMT https:// www.ebmt.org/Contents/About-EBMT/Pages/About-EBMT.aspx. Accessed 28 Feb 2018.
- 51. Joint Accreditation Committee-ISCT & EBMT (JACIE) Accreditation. About JACIE. 2004–2017. http://www.jacie.org/about. Accessed 1 March 2018.
- 52. European Commission. EudraLex The Rules Governing Medicinal Products in the European Union Volume 4 Good Manufacturing Practice -Guidelines on Good Manufacturing Practice specific to Advanced Therapy Medicinal Products. 2017. https:// ec.europa.eu/health/sites/health/files/files/eudralex/ vol-4/2017_11_22_guidelines_gmp_for_atmps.pdf. Accessed 3 Jan 2018.
- European Commission. Horizon 2020. 2018 http:// ec.europa.eu/programmes/horizon2020/en/what-horizon-2020. Accessed 1 March 2018.



23

Translational Challenges in Soft Tissue Regeneration

Juan Liu, Jennifer Ernst, Eric Klingelhoefer, Dominik Saul, Wolfgang Lehmann, Gunter Felmerer, and Arndt F. Schilling

23.1 Introduction

Soft tissue defects due to trauma, burns, tumor resection, or congenital deformities provide an ongoing reconstructive and regenerative challenge. To cover these defects and promote tissue regeneration, different strategies were developed within the last century and especially during the last few decades. Throughout recent history, there has been a great need to develop new methods and materials which provide soft tissue replacement and promote soft tissue regeneration, especially in plastic surgery.

In this chapter, we would like to first give a comprehensive overview of the epidemiology of each type of soft tissue defects and highlight current successful applications of regenerative medicine and methods of advancing the regeneration

J. Liu

of these tissues. Then we discuss current surgical and nonsurgical challenges like hindering scar formation and inducing regeneration, finding biomaterials that are tolerated by or even make use of the immune system, as well as financial, regulatory, and finally ethical boundaries. We conclude with an outlook on necessary future developments for successful translation of advanced current concepts in regenerative medicine to day-to-day routine in plastic surgery.

23.2 Epidemiology of Soft Tissue Defects

Tissue defects happen in all tissues at different rates and with varying consequences for survival and quality of life of the patient.

23.2.1 Skin and Subcutaneous Tissue Defects

Skin and subcutaneous tissue defects are defined as loss of tissues, including epidermis, dermis, and hypodermis [1]. This can arise from trauma, burns, excision of benign or malignant lesions, wounds after surgery, systemic diseases, or vascular problems [2–5]. It was estimated that approximately 11 million people received medical care for burns in 2004 [6]. Surgeons have to frequently deal with wound healing disturbances

Department of Hand Surgery, Wuhan Union Hospital, Tongji Medical College, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, Wuhan, China

J. Ernst \cdot E. Klingelhoefer \cdot D. Saul \cdot W. Lehmann G. Felmerer \cdot A. F. Schilling (\boxtimes)

Clinic for Trauma Surgery, Orthopedics and Plastic Surgery, University Medical Center Goettingen, Goettingen, Germany

e-mail: jennifer.ernst@med.uni-goettingen.de; eric.klingelhoefer@med.uni-goettingen.de; dominik.saul@med.uni-goettingen.de; Wolfgang.Lehmann@med.uni-goettingen.de; gunther.felmerer@med.uni-goettingen.de; arndt.schilling@med.uni-goettingen.de

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

D. Duscher, M. A. Shiffman (eds.), *Regenerative Medicine and Plastic Surgery*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19958-6_23

at the donor sites. For example, the incidence of impaired healing after radial forearm free flap (RFFF) harvesting has been reported to be up to 33% [7, 8]. In developed countries, 1–2% of the population will experience a chronic wound during their lifetime, and the incidence is increased to 15–25% in diabetic patients [9, 10]. Injury or illness that cause loss of skin and subcutaneous tissue can lead to substantial physiological imbalance, to significant disability, and ultimately sometimes even to fatality [11].

23.2.2 Muscle, Tendon, and Ligament Tissue Defects

Just below the skin, muscles move us. The loss of skeletal muscle with functional impairment that overextends mammalian regenerative capacity is defined as "volumetric muscle loss" [12–14]. Frequent reasons for the shortfall of muscle tissue are high-energy trauma, combatrelated injuries, or surgical treatments (e.g., after compartment syndrome or tumor resection) that lead to an acute tissue loss [15]. Progressive muscle loss can result from metabolic disorders or inherited genetic diseases [16-19]. Up to 10–20% loss of muscle mass can be compensated by the high adaptability and regenerative potential of skeletal muscle. Beyond this threshold functional impairment is inevitable and can lead to severe disability and cosmetic deformities [13, 14, 20, 21], which is why therapeutic options are in urgent demand for these patients.

23.2.3 Nerve Defects

Another reason for impaired muscle function is defects of peripheral nerves, which have a prevalence of about 2.8% [22]. They may occur as a result of trauma or tumor resection and mainly affect younger, male patients [23]. The mean age is 32–35 years old [22, 24, 25]. Nerve injuries are

comparatively rarer than other soft tissue defects, but cost more. A nerve injury may result in loss of sensory function, motor function, or both. For example, the nerve defect of the hand represents a serious impairment of the patients' quality of life with intensive and long-term rehabilitation, and impaired employability. This results in high follow-up costs for the health system [26, 27].

23.2.4 Fat Tissue Defects

Local loss of fat tissue can be due to traumatic deformities, burns, post-irradiation defects, and breast post-mastectomy, as well as congenital deformities such as Poland syndrome, Romberg syndromes, or pectus excavatum [28]. While most of these causes are fortunately rare, aging leads to changes in metabolism of preadipocytes, so in older age, relative loss of subcutaneous peripheral fat is a common problem [29]. In 2009, fat grafting represented 5.9% of all nonsurgical aesthetic procedures [30].

23.3 Successful Application of Regenerative Treatments

Already today regenerative therapy concepts are successfully used in several applications of plastic and aesthetic surgery.

23.3.1 Breast Reconstruction

Autologous fat transplantation is widely used in breast cosmetic surgery or reconstruction: treatment of micromastia, correction of postaugmentation deformity, treatment of tuberous breasts and Poland's syndrome, surgical repair of post-lumpectomy deformity and postmastectomy deformity, treatment of deficits or tissue damage caused by conservative or surgical reconstruction (Fig. 23.1) and nipple reconstruction [31–36].



Fig. 23.1 54-year-old female patient, status after rightand left-sided breast cancer, necessary mastectomy of both breasts followed by bilateral (both sides) reconstruction with pedicled transverse rectus abdominis myocuta-

23.3.2 Breast Augmentation and Asymmetry

Initially, fat grafting was considered to be a promising technique for breast augmentation and correction of breast asymmetry because of advantages such as easy availability of donor tissue, absence of a scar, and short recovery time. Moreover, because the procedure could be performed in an outpatient setting and avoid the complications of prostheses, it gained significant initial popularity [37]; however, the value of this technique in augmenting breasts and filling breast defects became controversial because the results are not always sustainable. Zocchi and

neous (TRAM) flap. Pictures above: preoperative planning of autologous fat transplantation. Pictures below: postoperative result after 3 months

Zuliani [38] and Khouri et al. [39] developed a new surgical technique to improve graft survival. They combined external skin expansion with BRAVA[®] and autologous fat grafting (AFG) and gained a volume persistence at 1 year of up to 70% in an early study (average 55%) and up to 82% in later work [38, 39].

23.3.3 Scars and Burns

Patients with retractile and painful scars compromising the normal daily activity and/or mobility of the joint involved can take advantage of lipofilling treatment. In fact, fat transplantation can be used not only to fill atrophic scars, but also to reduce scar contracture as a regenerative alternative to other surgical techniques [40].

A burn injury is a devastating trauma with systemic consequences. Autologous fat grafting with adipose-derived stem cells can be effectively used to correct postburn scars with minimal risk of hypertrophic scarring [41–43].

23.3.4 Rejuvenation

Autologous fat grafting has an important role in facial rejuvenation: filling of the nasolabial folds and the lips, facial contouring, and facial tissue augmentation [44–46]. Guyuron and Majzoub [47] also developed a core fat grafting technique for lip augmentation and correction of malar and buccal deficiency. Furthermore, autologous fat transplantation is often used to correct the profile of the nose [48].

The appearance of the hands is a telltale sign of a person's true age [49]. Because fat not only serves as a filler, but also has the regenerative potential to improve the quality of soft tissue and skin on the dorsal side of the hands, fat grafting is an attractive procedure for hand rejuvenation [50].

23.3.5 Gluteal Augmentation

Gluteal augmentation is often performed by means of intramuscular implants, but lipofilling has begun to gain popularity in recent times. Fat grafting will play an important role in gluteal augmentation and may replace implant-based gluteal augmentation if the patient has a great enough amount of fat as a donor material [51–53].

23.4 Challenges Associated with Regeneration

23.4.1 Scar Formation vs. Regeneration

Wound healing is a complex, interactive, cellular, and biochemical process involving inflammation, blood clotting, cellular proliferation, and migration of various cell types, resulting in closing of the wound [54]. The typical wound of mammals like us heals by scarring. Scarring is a natural way of quickly filling large voids in tissue, with a haphazard arrangement of connective tissue elements [55]. Scarring is much faster than regeneration and therefore probably favored by evolution, as in the jungle an open wound strongly increased the chances of fatal infection. On the negative side, scarring is characterized by lack of appendages such as hair follicles and sweat glands. Due to its distinct function and appearance of the original intact tissue, the formed scar can result in devastating functional, cosmetic, and psychological problems, including limited movement, restricted growth, difficulty in sweating, and temperature equilibrium. This can reduce the quality of life of the individuals [56, 57]. Furthermore, scar formation has been frequently cited as a physical and chemical barrier for tissue regeneration [58, 59], thus preventing final return of the defect site to its original state. Modern medicine now allows us to take longer time until wound closure has to be achieved, and therefore waiting for regeneration has become an option. Wounds in the early embryo can heal without scarring, raising the hope that the genetic program for regeneration may also be present in adults [60].

23.4.1.1 Skin and Subcutaneous Tissue Defects

A complete regeneration of functional skin and subcutaneous layers would have to include all the skin appendages (hair follicles, sweat glands, and sensory organs) and layers (epidermis, dermis, and hypodermis), and a preformed functional vascular and neuronal network [61]. It therefore requires the coordination of multiple cell types to regenerate epidermis, dermis, and hypodermis.

Substantial evidence shows that scar formation can indeed be cancelled and regeneration achieved by appropriate modification of the wound healing process. Specifically blocking of the normal wound contraction process seems promising and understanding how this regenerative mechanism of scar-free healing is activated has become a major quest [62].

23.4.1.2 Muscle, Tendon, and Ligament Tissue Defects

Scar formation can severely impede motion and thereby aggravate the consequences of muscle tissue loss, e.g., after burns. Different from tissue regeneration, neo-angiogenesis and fibroblast proliferation are deemed counterproductive and are antagonized, e.g., by injection of 5-fluorouracil and bleomycin to reduce scar formation (Fig. 23.2) [63, 64]. Scar improvement can also be achieved by (non-ablative and ablative fractional) laser therapy with release of contracture and functional improvements after 6–12 months treatment [65, 66].

Regeneration with regression of scar tissue and functional recovery can furthermore be optimized with fat grafting [67]. The proclaimed mechanism is that subdermal tissue is filled and thereby tension is reduced. Another option for consolidation of scar tissue is by treating the wound with Cx43 analogon [68]. Cx43 is important for gap junctional communication between cells and therefore for healing processes [68, 69]. Treatment of scars with the gel formulation of the Cx43 analogon aCT1 has been shown to improve scar scores by 47% and improve pigmentation, thickness, surface roughness, and mechanical suppleness [68].



Fig. 23.2 Current methods for muscle and tendon regeneration

Novel insights into the molecular mechanisms of tendon regeneration reveal that in neonates, tendons heal via a new-formed tendon, while in adults, they heal with a fibrovascular scar, leading to impaired function. Locally, the scleraxis (Scx)-lineage cells seem to be the key players in newborns, while they are lacking in adults [70]. Transcription factors like Scx and Mohawk (Mkx) are key regulators of collagen maturation, so the ECM seems to play an important role in the process (Fig. 23.2). Cells with a high alpha-SMA expression form a permanent scar leading to non-regenerative tendon healing. Healing with scaring can be reduced with an inhibitor of dipeptidyl peptidase-4, Diprotin A, since a subpopulation of fibroblasts, which expresses dipeptidyl peptidase-4, promotes fibrosis and stroma formation [71]. A different approach for scarless healing is the use of miRNAs (including miR-1 and miR-21), which partly led to promising results [72–74].

23.4.1.3 Nerve Defects

After nerve injury, different molecular processes run in the proximal and distal stump. The proximal stump begins to swell, but experiences only minimal damage via retrograde degradation [75, 76]. Migrating macrophages and monocytes remove resulting myelin and axon debris. Schwann cells proliferate to form bands of Bungner, and produce neurotrophic factors like interleukin-6 and extracellular matrix (ECM) to enhance axon growth. Regeneration begins at the proximal stump directed towards the distal stump. New axonal sprouts origin from the nodes of Ranvier. In this progress Schwann cells play a central role as they remyelinate the regenerating nerve. Functional reinnervation is possible when the axons reach their synaptic target [76, 77].

At the distal stump Wallerian degeneration begins as a result of protease activity and separation from the metabolic resources of the nerve cell bodies due to the injury. Myelomonocytic cells destroy myelin and initiate mitosis in Schwann cells [76]. The cytoskeleton begins to break down, followed by dissolution of the cell membrane. Wallerian degeneration remains one of the major biological hurdles faced in rapid and complete functional reinnervation and recovery [78]. Furthermore, the functional outcome of nerve repair is also affected by age-related proliferation potential of regenerating structures [76].

Thus, also in nerves, depression of scarring and promotion of regeneration seem to matter, and consequently proliferation of Schwann cells and delay of Wallerian degeneration are main focusses of research in nerve regeneration [79].

23.4.2 Replacement vs. Regeneration

The big advantage of replacement vs. regeneration is again that it can be performed much faster, thereby decreasing the probability of complications like infection. Also again, this comes at the cost of an imperfect outcome. Thus, if it would be possible to accelerate regeneration, it may be the better option for a variety of cases.

23.4.2.1 Skin and Subcutaneous Tissue Defects

Different therapeutic strategies are applied to close the wound as efficiently as possible (Table 23.1). This starts with gluing or stitching for smaller wounds, a huge number of dressing materials (including films, hydrogels, hydrocolloids, foams, alginates, etc.), and skin grafting with autografts and flap transfer for bigger wounds [80-83]. This tissue harvesting, however, can cause complications on donor sites such as scarring, infection, loss of motion, unhealed wounds, and even amputation of extremities [84, 85]. In patients with chronic wounds or extensive burns, this treatment option is further impeded because of expected poor healing of the donor site and/or limited donor sites [86, 87]. These problems have led to an increased focus on regenerative medicine in this area to develop replacement tissues and biologically compatible constructs to improve wound coverage and attempt to restore skin and subcutaneous tissues without causing novel defects.

Replacement by allografts or biomaterials have always been the temporary coverage of choice when donor autografts are limited. They have been shown to prevent evaporative water loss, reduce infection, and promote autologous epidermal growth within the defect area [88]. Cadaveric allograft and inner amnion have gained popularity on temporary wound coverage, from which commercial products were made available in the past few years [11, 89, 90]. However, disadvantages include the potential transmission of infectious pathogens and some cultural and religious considerations for allografts; difficulty in handling and fast degradation, in addition to lack of adherence in full-thickness defects for application of amnion [91]. Replacement made of biomaterials is another choice of temporary coverage due to good biocompatibility, less risk of infection transmission, and much lower cost [88]. Silver-impregnated temporary dressings (Anticoat, Aquacel Ag, Biobrane) have been shown to reduce the likelihood of infection and decrease wound healing time and pain [88]. However, the temporary replacement of the skin and subcutaneous tissue defects is not sufficient for tissue regeneration.

23.4.2.2 Muscle, Tendon, and Ligament Tissue Defects

Current therapeutic principles are based on physical therapy or muscle flaps [12]. Functional free muscle flaps can lead to at least decent functional results; they cause however substantial donor site morbidity [92]. Other nonsurgical solutions like bracing focus on the area below the knee. Modern approaches use xenogeneic extracellular matrix made from the small intestine submucosa and autologous tissue to restore functional muscle and simultaneously generate a biological niche for recovery [93]. Since a devitalized scaffold without myogenic cells is not able to promote muscle fiber regeneration, cellular matrices are necessary [74, 94].

Extracellular matrix of tendon consists of collagen type I with a complex interlaced structure [95], while ligaments consist of fibroblasts and collagen type I and III. Natural regeneration of tendon and ligaments is so far limited in adults [70]. Defects heal with a fibrovascular scar with harmed function due to the absence of tenogenic cells. Replacement of tendon and ligament tissues with allograft is quite popular in the clinic. Problems include immune response, the risk of infection, and delayed wound healing [96–98].

lable 23.1	Current methods of advancing skin tissue r	egeneration		
	Description of each soft tissue			
Strategies	Skin and subcutaneous tissue defect	Muscle, tendon, and ligament defect	Nerve defect	Fat defect
Surgical	Tissue transfer (FTSGs, STSGs, flaps)	Autologous muscle/tendon transfer	Autologous nerve graft transplantation	Fat tissue transplantation
technique	Tissue expansion (skin expansion, DermaClose RC)	Autologous muscle/tendon transplantation	Nerve transfer	
	Vacuum assisted closure system	Reconstruction of ligaments with tendons	Autologous conduits (veins, arteries, soft tissues, muscle-vein-combined conduits)	Fat tissue aspiration and reimplantation by injection
	Transverse tibial bone transport	Tendon or tissue allograft		
Scaffold- based therapy	Acellular dermal matrix (AlloDerm Regenerative Tissue Matrix)	Muscle-derived matrix	Decellularized nonneural tissues, decellularized allogenic/xenogenic neural/ nonneural tissues	Natural polymers (collagen, silk, fibrin, gelatin, hyaluronan, adipose-derived
	Cellular dermal matrix (Apligraf, Dermagraft)	Small intestine submucosa, porcine bladder acellular matrix		ECM, decellularized human placenta, and matrigel)
	Other tissue derived matrix (DHACM, PSIS)		Biodegradable synthetic polymers (aliphatic polyesters, polyurethanes, piezoelectric polymers and some electrically conducting polymers, PGA, PLC, etc.)	Synthetic polymers (PLA, PGA, PEG, PLGA)
	Biomaterials (Collagen-GAG sponge, Integra Dermal Regeneration Template, gelatin, PEG, fibrin)	Biomaterials (polyurethane-based porous scaffold, fibinogen/ Laminin- 111,PLLA,PCL,PLGA,CEB)	Naturally derived polymers (collagen, laminin, fibrin, chitosan, polysaccharides, silk fibroin, keratin, biodegradable synthetic polymers)	
Drug- based therapy	Growth factors (PDGF, EGF, IGF, VEGF, FGF, TGF), Deferoxamine	Growth factors (BMP, myostatin, TGF-b, HIF-PHDs, PDGF-BB)	Growth factors (NGF,BDNF,NT- 3,GDNF,CNTF,FGFs,VEGF)	Growth factors (VEGF,bFGF)
Cell-based therapy	Cultured cell therapy (fibroblasts, keratinocytes, bone marrow-derived MSCs, ADMSCs, cultured epidermal cell sheet)	Fibrin microthreads with adult human stem cells (MSCs)	Neural stem cells, embryonic stem cells, Schwann cells, bone marrow stromal cells, MSCs	ADMSCS, adipose-derived stromal cells
	No cultured cell therapy (ReCell system)	Autologous multipotent stromal cells in a vicryl mesh tube	Gliogenic secondary neurospheres derived from iPSc	
Others	Platelet-rich plasma, Emacure system, cold atmospheric plasma	Platelet-rich plasma	Electrical stimulation, genetic engineering of autologous cells	

23.4.2.3 Nerve Defects

Nerve defects are typically classified based on the classification by Seddon (1943) [99] and Sunderland (1951) [100]. This allows selection of the required treatment (Fig. 23.3) and allows an estimated prognosis for recovery [101]. Current strategies for nerve defects are mainly based on microsurgical connection of the two sides by autologous nerve graft or approaches of tubulization [102, 103]. Despite the advantages of existing approaches, complete recovery is inauspiciously infrequent, misdirection and development of debilitating neuropathic pain unfortunately common [101].

Currently, autologous nerve grafts or nerve allografts have been widely used for replacing the defects [104]. Nerve transfer is another way of replacing the proximal part of the involved nerve.

23.4.2.4 Fat Tissue Defects

Historically, the primary method was to cover subcutaneous defects of fat tissue according to the philosophy "replace like with like" via fat transfer. The first surgeons who used fat grafts were Neuber in 1893 [105] for unilateral facial atrophy, followed by Czerny [106], who performed one of the first breast enlargements with autologous fat, which he had isolated from a lipoma, and Lexer [107] for soft tissue filling after zygomatic bone fractures. In the following years, autologous fat grafts were used in several other fields [108].

The liposuction technique, introduced by Fisher in 1974 [109], accelerated the development of the lipofilling technique, which started in 1986 when Illouz and Pflug [110] and Chajchir and Benzaquen [111] published their works about reinjection of liposuctional fat tissue; however, in the following years the use of fat as an implant material was not favored, because the method of harvesting was standard liposuction [112–115]. Standard liposuction caused significant damage to the fat cells by rupturing cell membranes and subsequently causing cell death. Since then, autologous fat transfer has been improved. Coleman [116] described a new way to harvest fat with atraumatic low-vacuum technique to increase intact and viable lipocytes in transplanted fat for transfer. His technique remains the gold standard for liposuction and lipofilling, but it has undergone some technical modifications [117]. Nowadays, autologous fat transplantation is one of the most popular procedures performed by plastic surgeons.

Despite fat grafting being a well-established method, the long-term survival rate of autologous fat grafting remains unpredictable. Peer [118, 119] studied the long-term survival of autologous fat grafts and showed in 1950 that, of the autologous transplanted fat grafts, more than 50% of their weight and volume was reduced after 1 year; several other studies in the following years confirmed this [120]. Some authors described 30-70% reduction in graft volume within a year [120]. Additional, although rare, severe complications could be seen in the literature related to autologous fat grafting including vision loss, stroke, and even death [121]. That is why recent research up to this point has included attempts to further improve autologous fat transfer and numerous natural, synthetic, and hybrid materials have been used to act as adipose surrogates.

Every step in fat transplantation—harvesting, processing, and transplantation—is important, but the viability of the harvested fat cells is crucial [122]. The chances of survival are higher if the fat graft is manipulated less and reinjected quickly [123].

Typical donor site complications include swelling, hematoma formation, paresthesia, or donor site pain. In a few cases, infection, hypertrophic scarring, contour irregularities, and damage to the underlying structures occur, due to intraperitoneal or intramuscular penetration of the cannula [32, 124–128]. Multiple complications were reported in the literature concerning the recipient region, including edema, bruising, bleeding, dysesthesia, infection, fat necrosis, less than expected beneficial outcome, microcyst, microcalcifications, fat embolism, and severe complications including stroke, vision loss, systemic infection, sepsis, or death [121, 129, 130].


Fig. 23.3 Surgical algorithm of peripheral nerve repair (modified based on[150])

23.5 Advancing Surgery for Soft Tissue Regeneration

23.5.1 Surgical Techniques

23.5.1.1 Skin and Subcutaneous Tissue Defects

Vacuum-assisted closure (VAC) after debridement is a popular technique in wound care which speeds up wound healing by improving tissue perfusion, suctioning the exudates and thus increasing the granulation tissue regeneration [131]. Skin graft transplantation is needed thereafter to completely close the defect. The application of transosseous-osteosynthesis with the Ilizarov technique, which is expected to improve local microcirculation, showed great effect in promoting wound healing in diabetic foot ulcer [132]. Tissue expansion is commonly used for skin and subcutaneous tissue defects after excision of tumor lesions or severe scar [133, 134]. In addition, a continuous external tissue expansion system (DermaClose RC) has been reported to be an effective technique for achieving definitive large wound closure, potentially reducing the donor-site morbidities needed for larger reconstruction measures [135].

23.5.1.2 Muscle, Tendon, and Ligament Tissue Defects

Autologous muscle or tendon transfer is commonly performed in the clinical situation, when there is muscle loss following trauma, tumor resection, or nerve injury, which impairs the irreplaceable motor function [136, 1371. Latissimus dorsi muscle transfer showed safe and efficient restoration of elbow flexion after injuries [136]. Tendon transfer of the flexor carpi ulnaris is considered as a good option to restore the hand extension function following high radial nerve injuries [138]. When no adjacent muscle is available because of high-level nerve injuries, autologous muscle transplantation together with neurorrhaphy is typically applied [139, 140]. It can also be used for muscle weakness after facial palsy or for pelvic floor reconstruction [141, 142].

In addition to tendon transfer, autologous tendon grafting can facilitate restoring tendon length and strength when there is a tendon defect at the level of the hand or wrist [143]. Palmaris longus tendon is one of the most commonly used grafts in hand surgery [144, 145]. Tendon allografts (Achilles tendon) processed from cadavers is another good option, which avoids injuries in the donor area [146].Tendon allografts are commonly applied for both tendon reconstruction and ligament revision [146, 147].

After establishment in mouse models, restoration of vastus medialis muscle in patients could be performed with the use of a multilayered scaffold made of extracellular matrix derived from porcine submucosa [15, 20]. Abdominal musculoskeletal wall defects were restored with a porcine small intestinal submucosa-extracellular matrix that was sutured at the defect corners and subcuticularly closed with a Vicryl suture [93].

23.5.1.3 Nerve Defects

If a direct tension-free end-to-end or end-to-side neurorrhaphy is not possible, the interposition of a graft between the nerve stumps is required to bridge the gap and support axonal regrowth [78]. To ensure a tension-free repair it is advised to choose a graft that is 10% to 20% longer than the existing nerve gap [76, 148]. Implantation of an autologous nerve graft, which is a functionally less important nerve segment from another site of the body, remains the most reliable repair technique [76, 148]. Autografts are ideal nerve conduits for longer gaps (>3 cm), critical nerves and proximal injuries [78, 149]. They provide a permissive and stimulating scaffold, including Schwann cell basal laminae, adhesion molecules, and neurotrophic factors and they constitute a supportive structure for the ingrowing axons [78, 150, 151].

Only approximately 25% of the axon will, however, successfully regenerate through the graft's two coaptation sites with an estimated loss of 50% of axons at each of them [78]. Single grafts describe a segment of a donor nerve of similar diameter [78, 152]. Cable grafts join nerve gaps with large diameter by using multiple lengths of a smaller diameter (sensory) donor nerve. They are reversed in orientation [152]. Trunk grafts mix motor and sensory grafts and are integrated as a large donor nerve of an entire segment of a very proximal nerve injury. Trunk grafts showed no convincing results due to poor vascularity and internal fibrosis [78, 152]. Interfascicular grafts close the gap between groups of fascicles in the damaged nerve [78, 153].

Nerve transfer is another surgical technique. It involves isolating nerves with less important roles or branches of a nerve that perform redundant functions, and "transferring" them to restore the function of a more crucial nerve which has been severely damaged. Typically, the functioning nerve that is close to the target muscle or sensory area is transferred or "plugged in" to the injured nerve that no longer functions (Fig. 23.4).



Fig. 23.4 Illustration of selective nerve transfer of the ulnar nerve (UN) to the anterior interosseus nerve (AIN) for neuroma treatment of the distal forearm. The challenge of this nerve repair is the correction of the size mismatch resulting from the end-to-end adaptation performed nerve transfer to avoid following misdirecting of sprouting axons compromising the sensory and motor recovery.

23.5.1.4 Fat Tissue Defects

It is widely accepted that less traumatic methods of fat harvesting result in increased graft survival of the transplanted fat [154]. It has been shown that a number of possible harvesting options allow the collection of regenerative adipose tissuederived stem cells [155–157]. However, there is an ongoing discussion about which methods increase intact and viable adipocytes. The main techniques are vacuum aspiration, syringe aspiration, and surgical excision. Similarly to adipocytes, lipoaspirate contains collagen fibers, blood, and debris. Those elements can cause inflammation in the recipient site, and thus fat processing is advisable. Various processing techniques such as centrifugation, sedimentation, washing with physiologic solution, and gauze filtration have been proposed (Fig. 23.5) [50, 158-166]. The most common technique is centrifugation as described by Coleman [50].

Principles of fat reimplantation are based on optimal recipient site vascularity for increased fat survival [167]. Through a skin incision, which is sized corresponding to the diameter of the cannula, the fat graft is inserted into the area of the anatomical region affected. On the one hand, small-gauge cannulas reduce the risks of bleeding and hematoma formation, but on the other hand they cause poor graft oxygen diffusion [167]. It is thus suggested to use cannula with similar hole sizes for aspiration and utilize minimal amounts of suction force to avoid mechanical damage. Because revascularization starts at the periphery, ischemic time is longer in the center of the graft; therefore, fat reinjection in multiple small-volume sessions is preferred rather than one single injection [168]. Fat grafts are



Fig. 23.5 Common procedures of fat/ADMSCs harvesting and reimplantation

therefore distributed in small aliquots and fanned out in multiple tissue planes and to varying depths in the soft tissue to create a threedimensional network and to avoid excessive interstitial pressure at the recipient site [167].

23.6 Scaffold-Based Treatments

23.6.1 Skin and Subcutaneous Tissue Defects

Tissue-derived matrix has been widely applied for treating skin and subcutaneous defects (Table 23.1). It can be processed either from cadaveric allografts of skin tissue, placenta tissue (Dehydrated Human Amnion/Chorion Membrane, DHACM), or from porcine small intestinal submucosa (PSIS) [169]. Those scaffolds provide nearly perfect extracellular matrix architectures for three-dimensional cell growth and rebuilding of multilayer tissue structures within scaffolds after implantation, promoting tissue regeneration [170]. Biomaterials including natural and synthetic polymers have also been employed to fabricate skin substitutes (Table 23.1). Gelatin-sulfonated silk composite scaffolds have been produced based on 3D printing and showed favorable properties for skin regeneration by stimulating epidermal growth and dermal neovascularization [171]. Gold nanoparticles (GNPs) whose surface has been functionalized with PEG show accelerated cell migration, successful scaffold colonization, and regeneration [172]. Collagen-GAG scaffolds have been cocultured with autologous fibroblasts and keratinocytes or used directly with uncultured keratinocytes or stem cells obtained at the point of care in the operation room [173].

23.6.2 Muscle, Tendon, and Ligament Tissue Defects

ECM scaffolds can fill the defect and restore morphology temporarily [21]. The in vivo microenvironment needs to facilitate remodeling of the neo-tissue [174]. Functional muscular impairment can therefore be addressed by a muscle-derived matrix, which is filled with bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) after implantation and growth of the layer. This enriched matrix gains more blood vessels and regenerates more myofibers than "conventional" extracellular matrix [21, 175]. Comparable to muscle-derived matrix, small intestinal submucosa-extracellular matrix can lead to contractile sheets of skeletal muscle with comparable contractile force [93]. One obstacle in muscle regeneration is the musculotendinous junction. This can be partly restored in the absence of implanted cells by extracellular matrix-based platforms and has been shown to withstand half of the force of the contralateral site after complete resection in a mammalian model [174].

For in vitro muscle tissue engineering, rat myoblasts have been preconditioned on a porcine bladder acellular matrix in a bioreactor and then been implanted in nude mice at a muscledefect to restore muscular tissue [176]. The newly formed muscle cells show better adherence to 3D polyurethane-based porous scaffolds with low stiffness and larger roughness values [177]. Another hydrogel with the composition of fibrinogen and Laminin-111 (LM-111), combined with electromechanical stimulation, delivered a promising scaffold for myoblast cultures [178]. Laminin seems to play a crucial role for muscle injury since a novel synthesized laminin-mimetic bioactive peptide (LM/E-PA) was shown to stimulate activation of satellite cells and lead to myofibrillar regeneration in rat models reducing the time necessary for functional recovery [179].

Ligaments and tendons often heal with scar formation and low vascularization [180, 181]. For ACL-replacement, ligamentous regeneration has recently gained attention. PLLA (Poly Llactic acid) nanofibers with a shell of electrospun PCL nanofibers (with bFGF and platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF)) helped hMSCs to proliferate in vitro with subsequent upregulation of collagen I and III and multiple ligament markers, forming fibers similar to the natural ligamentous structure [182]. Tendon regeneration is similarly challenging because of the long time for rehabilitation and lack of regeneration to native composition and structure. It may therefore need additional cell/ molecular elements for treatment approaches [183, 184]. One promising report used PLGA (polylactic-co-glycolic acid) fibers for release of bFGF (Basic fibroblast growth factor) which increased collagen production in tendon regeneration. In the rat model, promising in vitro and in vivo results with a collagen-BDDGE-elastin (CBE)-based device for tendon tissue engineering were reported [95, 180, 185].

23.6.3 Nerve Defects

One major drawback for current nerve graft techniques is the requirement of a secondary donor site and subsequently injury, the limited supply of donor nerves, and a mismatch between the donor nerve and the recipient site [186–188]. The limits have encouraged collective development of alternatives to autologous nerve grafts mainly through tubulization. Tubulization means bridging the gap between the nerve stumps by using nonnervous tubes [189–192]. Good results of this method were reported for bridging nerve gaps less than 3 cm long (Fig. 23.6) [193]. Natural biomaterials for such neural scaffolds fall into two categories:(1) autologous nonneural tissues and allogeneic/ xenogeneic neural/nonneural tissues that have been decellularized [194]; (2) naturally derived polymers, including extracellular matrix (ECM) molecules (collagen, laminin, fibrin, fibronectin, and hyaluronan), polysaccharides(chitosan, alginate, agarose), and proteins (silk fibroin, keratin) [195]. Used tubes include hollow veins, arterial and soft tissues (muscle, tendon) grafts [78, 196]. Veins alone and in combination with intraluminal muscle inlays have a high tendency to collapse. Another strategy for avoiding collapse is filling the vein lumen with small pieces of nerve tissue [197]. Muscle-veincombined conduits have been used in the clinical practice filling gaps up to 6 cm with good results in to 85% of the cases [104, 189]. An effective nervous tissue construct seems to require a combination of a scaffold, cells, and signaling factors [78, 149]. Nerve conduits should be porous to provide sufficient diffusion of oxygen and metabolites for supporting Schwann cells proliferation, as well, be lowantigenic, biocompatible, biodegradable, conductive and resistant to infections and fibroblast infiltration [76, 78, 198, 199].

The idea of employing muscle fibers for axonal regeneration is based on the similarities between the muscle basal lamina and the endoneurial tube [200, 201]. Both fresh and denatured muscle conduits led to reported successful nerve repair. A comparison of nerve regeneration through nerve and muscle grafts has been reported for the rat sciatic nerve [202]. Results indicate the suitability of either acellular muscle or nerve grafts for nerve repair compared with conventional fresh nerve grafts [203-208]. The advantage of autologous conduits is that they are almost cost free (apart from the increased operation time) and prepared according to reconstructive needs after consideration of nerve size and length defect [209]. Despite all advances in microsurgery, satisfactory results of motor recovery from nerve injury are still reported in less than 40% of cases [210].

Current methods of advancing nerve regeneration in Tissue Engineered Nerve Grafts (TENGs) have emerged as a potential alternative to autologous nerve grafts. To overcome the limits of autografts, various artificial and biologically based nerve conduits have been developed varying in the levels of success. TENGs can be categorized into biological and artificial nerve grafts [188]. Biologically nondegradable inert silicone elastomer was the principal material used in the beginning. More recently, different classes of biodegradable synthetic polymers including aliphatic polyesters, poly(phosphoesters), polyurethanes, piezoelectric polymers, and some electrically conducting polymers have served as a scaffold in neural tissue engineering [188]. Today, commercially available products are made of polyglycolic acid (PGA) and poly(D,L-lactideco-e-caprolactone) (PLC) (Neurotube® and Neurolac[®]) (Fig. 23.7) [211, 212].



Fig. 23.6 Systematic overview for autografting techniques, natural and synthetic conduits if the nerve gap is <3 cm.

The majority of approved commercially available products are made of Type I collagen (Neurotube[®], NeuroGen[®], NeuroFlex[®], NeuroMax[®], NeuroWrap[®], NeuroMend[®]), or chitosan-based nerve grafts (Reaxon[®]) [211–213]. In addition to natural and synthetic polymers, ceramic, carbon, and metallic-based materials have been investigated (Fig. 23.7) [214–220].

The selection is decisively influenced by a high priority of avoiding unwanted inflammationinducing properties of the biomaterial, especially regarding long-term stability [221, 222]. To meet these requirements, biomaterials are usually modified or blended with each other [188].

Recently, nanoscale fabrication technologies have made it possible to synthesize neural scaffolds with submicron architecture closely resembling the architecture of natural ECM [223]. They provide a greater surface-area-to-volume ratio, which enhances cell attachment, differentiation, and growth when compared to microscale scaffolds [224]. Nanotechnological fabrication techniques as electrospinning, phase separation, self-assembly, and computer-aided design-based

natural conduits		synthetic conduits	
product name	biomaterial	product name	biomaterial
Avance® Nerve Graft	Decellularized ECM derived from donated cadaveric nerve	Salubridge™ Nerve Cuff Neurotube® Neurolac®	Polyvinyl alcohol (PVA) Polyglycolic acid (PGA) Poly(lactide-caprolactone) (PCL)
NeuraGen® NeuroFlex™ NeuroMax™ AxoGuard™ Nerve Connector	Collagen type I Collagen type I Collagen type I Porcine small intestinal submucosa (SIS)	SaluTunnel™ Nerve Connector	Polyvinyl alcohol (PVA)
NeuroWrap™ NeuroMend™ Reaxon®	Collagen type I Collagen type I Poly-D-glucosamine or Polyglucosamine (Chitosan)		

Examples for commercially-available biomaterials

Fig. 23.7 Examples of commercially available natural and synthetic conduits (modified based on [150]) which successfully bridge gaps <3 cm. Within the German Health System exists a code for reimbursement of

fabrication techniques improved regeneration regarding neurite length and linear orientation in vitro and in vivo [225–234].

23.6.4 Fat Tissue Defects

For the formation of large-volume threedimensional fat tissues, scaffolds are used. These scaffolds stabilize the growing tissue and should enable stronger proliferation of adipocytes and endothelial cells [235]. Therefore, various natural and synthetic scaffolds have been tested in vitro and in vivo. Natural polymers that have been explored include collagen, silk, fibrin, gelatin, hyaluronan, adipose-derived ECM, decellularized human placenta, and matrigel. Matrigel is both angiogenic and adipogenic and improves the adipose graft longevity and volume maintenance when mixed with adipocytes [236, 237]. Synthetic materials have also been widely tested in adipose tissue engineering [238]. Polymers such as polyactic acid (PLA), polyglycolic acid (PGA), polyethylene glycol (PEG), and the copolymer poly

CE-certified nerve conduits (Operations and Procedures Key (OPS), Codes: 5-085.40, 5-058.41, 5-058.42, 5-058.43, 5-058.4x).

lactic-co-glycolic acid (PLGA) have been extensively used for soft tissue applications. The chemical-physical properties of PLA and PGA showed potential in supporting tissue regeneration in in vitro and in vivo studies as 3D scaffolds or grafts for adipose tissue engineering [239– 241].The long-term availability of PGA meshes in vivo supported evident adipogenesis and vascularization [242].

23.7 Drug-Based Therapy

23.7.1 Skin and Subcutaneous Tissue Defects

Exogenous administration of growth factors, such as platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), epidermal growth factor (EGF), insulin-like growth factor (IGF), vascular endothelial growth factor(VEGF), fibroblast growth factor (FGF), and transforming growth factor (TGF), has potential benefits in wound healing and tissue regeneration [243]. They can affect chemotaxis and stimulate mitosis of quiescent cells, angiogenesis, and synthesis and degradation of the extracellular matrix (ECM) [244]. EGF stimulates epidermal and mesenchymal regeneration and cell motility through interaction with the EGF receptor on epidermal cells and fibroblasts [245]. IGF-1 plays an important role in stimulating collagen synthesis in fibroblasts, the proliferation of fibroblasts and keratinocytes, and angiogenesis [246]. PDGF can regulate the maturation of blood vessels and re-epithelialization and also stimulate proliferation of fibroblasts, thus increase ECM production [247]. Because each growth factor has specific functions and is present at different stages of wound healing and tissue regeneration, recently researchers suggested a cocktail of growth factors to be a more promising treatment [248]. The low-molecularweight protamine (LMWP) conjugated with EGF, IGF-1, and PDGF-A via genetic modification accelerated wound re-epithelialization significantly, accompanied by the formation of healthy granulation tissue within 9 days (Fig. 23.2) [243].

Deferoxamine (DFO), an FDA-approved ironchelating agent, currently corrects impaired HIFla-mediated transactivation in diabetes by preventing iron-catalyzed reactive oxygen stress. Duscher et al. reported that transdermal delivery of DFO was found to prevent diabetic ulcer formation and improve wound healing in preexisting ulcers by decreasing oxidative stress [249].

23.7.2 Muscle, Tendon, and Ligament Tissue Defects

Pathogenesis of sarcopenia as one of the most frequent muscular diseases involves different molecular pathways, out of which BMP and myostatin pathways seem to be most promising [250]. Medication with human recombinant BMP-2/7 and anti-myostatin can help to reduce sarcopenic symptoms [251]. Cachexia is addressed with anamorelin, a ghrelin agonist and selective androgen receptor modulator as well as anti-cytokines/myokines [252]. Another factor involved in muscle healing seems to be TGF-β. Increased TGF- β 1 levels, which could be detected after the use of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, helped to regenerate muscle tissue [253–255].

Ameliorating tendon repair is especially of interest in rotator cuff tear reparation. Here, HIF prolyl 4-hydroxylase (PHDs)-inhibitors have been shown to improve enthesis mechanics in a rat model [256]. For further tendon reparation, tendon multipotent stem cells (tendon-derived stem cells, TDSCs) may be the key to biological drug delivery therapies (BDDT). Blood-derived TDSCs can be applied intratendinous and intraligamentous with fibrin scaffolds to repair tendon tears [257, 258]. As another factor of tendon regeneration, platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF-BB) can increase flexor tendon fibroblast proliferation and matrix synthesis in vitro, yet without effecting improvements in biomechanical properties [259, 260].

23.7.3 Nerve Defects

Neural cells in the distal nerve stump secrete endogenous growth factors and support axon regeneration. This stimulus declines over time. To maintain the supportive action additional of exogenous growth factors, Gu et al. [188] classified the existing growth factor into two classes: (1) neurotrophins: NGF, brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) and neurotrophin-3 (NT-3); (2) growth factors with neurotrophic actions: glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF), ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF) and fibroblast growth factors (FGFs) [261, 262].

For continuous release of growth factors from TENGs, different delivery systems were compared [236]. Classical delivering strategies are adsorption of growth factors to the surface, the bulk of a scaffold, incorporation of growth factors into the scaffold materials during the scaffold fabrication, entrapment of growth factor-loaded microspheres into a scaffold, covalent immobilization of factors onto the scaffold, and installation of an osmotic minipump or injection device. Different microsphere designs allow effective technologies to encapsulate growth factors in the delayed nerve repair [263– 271]. The combination of cellular components and growth factors within TENGs seems to allow a prolonged release from their cell environment. Another approach for prolonged release of growth factors is immobilization or high-affinity binding of growth factors to cells or scaffold biomaterials [272, 273]. Diverse techniques immobilize neural growth factors onto neural scaffolds. Among various newly developed procedures, cross-linking is commonly used for immobilization. Used crosslinkers are glutaraldehyde, carbodiimide, and genipin [274–277]. Furthermore, photochemical reactions, coaxial electrospinning, and differential adsorption achieved immobilization of neural growth factors [278–280].

VEGF has neurotrophic activity to stimulate axonal outgrowth and to enhance survival and proliferation of Schwann cells. It also improves intraneural angiogenesis by promoting endothelial sprouting during peripheral nerve regeneration [281–284]. Long-term observation demonstrated that VEGF significantly increased vascular and axonal regeneration and enhanced target muscle reinnervation [285]. Bio-printing was used to incorporate VEGF-releasing fibrin gel and neural stem cells into a collagen hydrogel scaffold [286]. Manipulation of nitric oxide supply within TENGs could contribute to new capillaries and regenerating axons [287].

23.7.4 Fat Tissue Defects

Tissue engineering strategies are being investigated to develop methods for generating adipose tissue for regenerative and aesthetic medicine. A current concept is to harvest fat cells from a patient, amplify them in a laboratory, and then seed adipose tissue-derived stem cells (ADSC) or adipose progenitor cells onto a scaffold that supports cell proliferation. The cell-covered scaffold could be implanted into soft tissue defects of the patient for adipogenesis. After guiding tissue regeneration, the biodegradable polymer scaffolds will then decompose, leaving the newly formed tissue [288]. Hereby, the key factors in tissue engineering might be the seed cell, scaffold, and the microenvironment [289, 290]. To support and accelerate tissue growth, a synthetic or biological matrix is used in most tissue engineering procedures in combination with a pool of growth factors to enable or support angiogenic induction.

Meanwhile, a new strategy to improve the vascularization of implanted fat grafts and the survival of transplanted fat is incorporation of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) or basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) genetransfected adipose stem cells [291]. Circulating endothelial progenitor cells (EPC) are considered an important factor for stimulation of tissue vascularization [292]. Thus, mixing EPCs with fat grafts may also potentially enhance vascularization and increase long-term survival of autologous fat grafts.

23.8 Cell-Based Therapy

23.8.1 Skin and Subcutaneous Tissue Defects

Nearly every cell type that is present in the skin has been isolated and added to wounds to improve healing. Fibroblasts and keratinocytes have been used for augmenting healing of wounds [293]. Armenio et al. [294] have achieved very promising results with sealing diabetic foot ulcers and providing a moist environment for fibroblast growth and neoangiogenesis of the neo-dermis by combining autologous fibroblasts grafts and V.A.C. Transplantation of keratinocytes and dermal fibroblasts cultured on PLGA microspheres were presented as a potential alternative for the treatment of skin wounds [295]. For ulcers, bilayered cellular constructs containing both fibroblasts and keratinocytes have been shown to promote healing of chronic wounds [293]. Cutaneous wounds demonstrated successful closure after treatment with bone marrow-derived MSCs impregnated fibrin polymer spray [296]. Adipose-derived MSCs being cultured within human fibroblast(HS27)-derived conditioned medium(F-CM) facilitated type I collagen synthesis for wound healing and skin regeneration [297]. For burn wound treatment, autologous non-cultured cell therapy using the ReCell system has been proposed [298]. In this, the cells from the dermal-epidermal junction of the skin are harvested, typically producing a complete cell population, including keratinocytes, melanocytes, Langerhans cells, and fibroblasts, which can be directly applied intraoperatively.

23.8.2 Muscle, Tendon, and Ligament Tissue Defects

For regeneration of muscle tissues, implanted cells alone show only low survival in vivo and minor formed neo-muscle [299]. This can be improved by surrounding the cells with microthread bundles, e.g., fibrin microthreads with adult human stem cells [300]. Stem cells also drive regeneration in tendon defects; however, they may not be sufficient on their own [301]. For xenograft experiments in rats, human MSCs have been used in vivo for repair of patellar tendon [253, 302]. Typically, they are treated with growth factors like GDF5 and GDF7 for tenogenic differentiation [303–305]. For regeneration in a preformed shape, autologous multipotent stromal cells in a vicryl mesh tube have been shown to fill defects (e.g., in the Achilles tendon) with good results and completely regenerated tendon [306]. There seem to be differences in performance of MSCs from different sources for different fields of application [307].

23.8.3 Nerve Defects

For augmentation of nerve tissue regeneration, neural stem cells, embryonic stem cells, Schwann cells, and bone marrow stromal cells (BMSCs) have been the most studied types of cells [262]. Schwann cells within TENGs have shown positive effects in experimental studies [308–311]. Their clinical use is however limited as autologous Schwann cells are difficult to obtain in large number, and allogenic Schwann cells are involved in immunological rejections. Thus, stem cells

from different sources (e.g., bone, fat, amniotic fluid) have become a promising alternative as they can be easily harvested through the aspiration of bone marrow and expanded in a large scale in vitro culture [312–314]. Diverse animal models containing either undifferentiated or differentiated MSCs have bridged peripheral nerve gaps of different lengths [315–329].

Furthermore, gliogenic secondary neurospheres derived from induced pluripotent stem (iPS) cells showed promising results, when added to a PLC-based NGC and implantation across a sciatic nerve gap in mice [330].

23.8.4 Fat Tissue Defects

Adipose tissue-derived stem cells induce neovascularization, and release high levels of angiogenic growth factors like epidermal growth factor (EGF), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF), keratinocyte growth factor (KGF), platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β), and insulin-like growth factor (IGF) or brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) [331–337]. Consequently, the implantation of adult stem cells could induce angiogenesis and/or vascularization during the de novo adipogenic process, and may develop fully vascularized fat tissue. Kato et al. indicate that adipose tissue of nonvascularized grafts is completely remodeled within three months [338]. In a further study based on this, Kentaro et al. [339] showed that the majority of host-derived cells detected during remodeling of the grafted fat were macrophages and that at 12 weeks mature adipocytes were largely derived from adipose-derived stem/stromal cells of grafts. This underlines the importance of adipose stem/ stromal cells for adipogenesis.

A relatively recent development is the use of genetic engineering to instruct autologous cells to produce their own biological drugs. Current methods allow overexpression or downregulation of any known gene in any known cell type. For example, nucleofection of fibroblasts with plasmids containing VEGF and bFGF has been shown to improve vascularization and wound healing in vitro and in vivo [340–342]. Through RNA interference (RNAi) particular genes can be silenced using so-called short interfering RNAs (siRNAs) and microRNAs (miRNAs), which regulate gene expression at the posttranscriptional level in cells [343]. This methodology has been successfully used to modify the Ras/Raf/ERK pathway and induce an increase in neurite outgrowth in vitro and in vivo as well as increases of Schwann cell migration and peripheral nerve regeneration [344–347]. Another approach is the use of gene-modified stem cells for neural tissue engineering. Examples are genetically engineered BMSCs expressing nerve growth factor (NGF) via an adenoviral vector [348]. Nanocarrier systems, including liposomes, nanoparticles, dendrimers, and carbon nanotubes, could be future siRNA delivery vectors to overcome current problems with biodegradation, renal clearance, unselectivity, and immunology [349, 350].

23.9 Other Treatments

23.9.1 Blood-Based Treatments for Skin Tissue Regeneration and Tendon Healing

Blood cells are the first to enter a new wound and play an important role in the healing process. Consequently, blood-based therapeutic approaches like platelet-rich plasma (PRP) or the cell-free EmaCure technique use these autologous source of active growth factors, such as PDGF, platelet-derived angiogenesis factor (PDAF), platelet-derived epidermal growth factor (PDEGF), TGF-b, platelet factor-2 (PF-4), IGF1, FGF, and EGF, which are important in the regulation of the healing process [351-355]. Their subcutaneous infiltration at the wound boundaries were found to enhance wound reepithelization and contraction within 3 weeks, without chronic effects or formation of exuberant tissue granulation and with minimum scarring [356]. In addition, local injection of PRP could also improve tendon healing in acute tendon injury and tendon-bone interface regeneration for ligament restoration [357, 358]

23.9.2 Electrical Stimulation for Nerve Tissue Regeneration and Muscle Reinnervation

Electrical stimulation (ES) enhances neurite extension on the substrates that are based on electrically conducting polymers [359]. A Canadian group showed that brief direct nerve stimulation after nerve injury improved the amount and accuracy of motor and sensory reinnervation [360-364]. ES prevents degenerative changes like axotomy during the delays caused by slow axonal regrowth leading to an improved functional outcome [78]. The time course of electrical stimulation is important, and a rapid onset of electrical stimulation may accelerate axonal regrowth across the nerve gap [365]. Distal electrical stimulation addresses the muscles directly and is one method to maintain muscle architecture, function, and responsiveness [78]. Animal studies with an implantable electrical stimulator on limb and facial muscle improved morphology and functional capacity of the reinnervated stimulated muscles [78, 366, 367].

23.10 Unsolved Questions

23.10.1 Functional Tissue Regeneration

Lack of organogenesis is stated as one big shortcoming of the current models. Epidermal skin substitutes are effective in providing rapid and temporary external coverage of wounds, but lack the underlying connective tissues that provides the elasticity and mechanical stability of regenerated skin [368]. The 3D structure of the multilayers is difficult to achieve even with the use of dermal scaffolds. Bioprinting provides the capability of producing an organized structure in the biomimetic skin with fibroblasts and keratinocytes [368, 369]. Melanocytes and stem cells can also be incorporated within the printed cells [370]. However, recapitulating more complex skin functions is still challenging as the current bioprinting resolution is limited to few hundreds of micrometers [371]. It is not only the topography, but also the structure and function of the skin layers which would determine if the regenerated tissue can be considered as skin and used for regenerative purposes. Furthermore, the conformation of the sweat glands, hair follicles, nerve endings, and blood capillaries needs a stringent signaling cascade [372]. Disruption of the latter would lead to the loss of skin architecture, which is the case during scar formation [373].

Vital signal molecules (HGF) lack after demolition of the basal lamina, which makes fibrin microthreads loaded with HGF a plausible solution. Three-dimensional microscale assay systems with these HGF-loaded, cross-linked fibrin microthreads have been demonstrated as a platform for "axially aligned tissues" [374].

The long-term results of autologous fat grafts are often disappointing because of the unpredictable partial reduction in graft volume of up to 70%, and therefore unpredictable success rates. To the present day, there has not been agreement among physicians concerning the specific techniques of fat graft harvesting, fat processing, and injection [30, 120, 375]. The Coleman technique should be considered the standard method for harvesting and processing; however, one of the problems observed in this method is an increase of apoptotic death rate for mature adult adipocytes because of damage caused during the aspiration and centrifugation steps. Thus, the centrifugation phase, as recommended by Coleman, has been demonstrated to decrease the number of fat cells [50, 376–378].

Therefore, an important challenge is to optimize the individual steps of the autologous fat transplantation so that during the harvesting, fat processing, and injection of fat grafts as many intact and viable adipocytes could be preserved as possible.

23.10.2 Vascularization in the Process of Regeneration

The absence of immediate blood supply is one main reason for the failure of the integration of bioengineered soft tissue constructs [379]. For example, revascularization of skin substitutes occurs by ingrowth of bed vessels into the graft, which might take up to 3 weeks and significantly limits the capacity to obtain wound closure in a short period of time [380]. Their inability of fast vascularization results in cell death and ultimate sloughing away from the host [381]. For bioengineered scaffolds with biomaterial and cells, the only cells up to a distance of approximately 200 µm have access to sufficient nutrients by diffusion [382]. Insufficient vascularization can lead to nutrient deficiencies and hypoxia deeper in the scaffolds, which could result in non-uniform cell differentiation and integration, and thus decreased tissue functionality [383].

Development of a network for blood supply is one major issue during the integration of newly formed tissue. Encouraging, after an acellular biologic scaffold/ECM is implanted at the site of injury, neovascularization and perivascular stem cell mobilization could be detected in human muscle defects [384]. Different approaches for vascularization are conceivable: One way is through angiogenesis growth factors like Basic FGF, which seems to accelerate neoangiogenesis in an early stage of healing, but diminishes flexibility of the new tendon [385, 386]. Another possibility is the coculture with endothelial cells [387]. In addition, integration of vascular networks into bioengineered scaffolds by microfluidic systems or bioprinting is expected to provide solutions in the near future [388–391]. Maybe the combination of several of these approaches will lead to the vascularization of the designed tissues [386].

23.10.3 Immune System Problems

For matrix derived from tissues, both allografts and xenografts are often rejected because of host immune response arising from antigens present in the donor tissue [392]. For polymeric biomaterials, immunological compatibility remains a problem since limited biocompatibility causes site morbidity and chronic inflammation [253]. One reason could be that polymeric biomaterials seem more often to undergo disintegration because of multinucleated giant cellinduction. Therefore. decellularization techniques for the enrichment of native tissue seem to be more promising for soft tissue regeneration [393]. Embryonic and adult stem cells seem to have less immunogenicity [394]. Therefore, cells isolated from cord blood and autologous stem cells would be preferred for clinical application. The induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSCs) has the wide ability for differentiation, but there are still safety concerns for the use of iPSCs in patients requiring extensive studies in the future [395].

In addition, the response of the immune system to tissue injury is related not only to tissue repair but also to tissue regeneration. The process of inflammation may preclude the ability of a structure to regenerate [396]. Study of immunomodulation by scaffolds might provide new ideas for strategies to enhance skin tissue regeneration.

23.10.4 Problems with Biomaterials

The scaffolds created with natural polymers (e.g., collagen, fibrin, hyaluronic acid) are usually associated with poor mechanical stiffness and rapid degradability [397]. Synthetic polymers (e.g., poly-ethylene glycol (PEG), poly(lactic acid) (PLA), polyglycolide (PGA), poly(lacticco-glycolic acid) (PLGA), polycaprolactone (PCL)) provide an artificial alternative which have flexible mechanical properties [398, 399]. However, the use of synthetic scaffolds can be associated with side effects such as inhibition of cell migration and cell-to-cell communication, which can lead to loss of the cell phenotype [400]. For 3D bioprinted biomaterials, the main technical difficulties are associated with nozzle blockage and shearing stresses on the cells [372]. Therefore, reliably printing large areas of skin is not yet possible.

The mechanical and surface properties of the scaffold will also affect the cell behavior in terms of adhesion, proliferation, migration, and differentiation [401]. If stem cells are seeded onto scaf-

folds, they may differentiate into different types of cells based on the scaffold properties [402, 403]. Therefore, better understanding of cellscaffold interaction and development of a carrier scaffold that stimulates the niche environment for ongoing remodeling processes would be valuable.

As first steps in this direction, mechanical properties of hydrogels can be engineered with microfluidic techniques, generating gradients of tissue properties and with electrospinning it is possible to form tunable fiber arrays. Furthermore, mechanical stimulation can increase the proliferation rate of tendon stem cells, modulate collagen synthesis, and stimulate matrix turnover and remodeling [301, 404, 405]. Since the musculotendinous border is partially mineralized, calcified nanofibrous electrospun PLGA scaffolds could depict an opportunity for toughening the attachment between tendon and bone [406].

After establishing and integrating biomaterials, insufficient mechanical properties often tend to cause reinjuries. For ligament repair, lowintensity pulsed ultrasound has been proposed as intervention for the strengthening of the implanted biomaterials. This effect is thought to act through increasing interleukin 1 β and consequently angiogenesis and protein synthesis [306, 407, 408]. Fibrous matrices can also be augmented by mineral deposits in the tendon-bone connection which may serve as barrier against reinjury [406].

23.10.5 The Time Challenge

Especially in nerve reconstruction, the main challenge remains the race of axon regeneration at velocity of an 1 mm/day versus the fastprogressing muscle atrophy. Even if nerve reconstruction is successful, there is no satisfying reconstruction outcome if the muscle is conversed irreversible to fatty and fibrotic tissue or the neighboring joints are already stiffened [409]. Consensual recommendations are that nerve injuries should be repaired early and within 3 months if there is no sign of reinnervation [410]. If reinnervation occurs uncontrolledly, branching of growing axons at the lesion site and misdirection of axons and target organ reinnervation errors are common. These complications require sensory reeducation in the following rehabilitation process [76, 411, 412]. Obstacles are compatibility with the surrounding tissues and regenerative environment likewise the protection of regenerating nerve fibers from scar invasion.

23.11 Back from the Lab to the Real World

Despite the plethora of positive in vitro and in vivo results, still only a fraction of these promising approaches is successfully clinically translated. In part this may be due to differences between the scientific model and the real patient. In part it may be completely independent of science and due to financial and regulatory reasons and due to the structure of the respective health care system.

Getting marketing authorization for drugs or medical products is a highly regulated process in most countries, which needs expert knowledge in several fields and takes years to decades. The whole process and especially clinical testing is extremely expensive. Given the relatively high risk, private investors like pharmaceutical companies will usually only invest, if there is a chance of a high return of this investment. Fortunately, recently there has been a rise in federal funding, so hopefully more of these early stage projects will be able to jump the early financial "valley of death." Even the best drug or medical device has to be manufactured, distributed, and controlled which needs further investments. This is mainly interesting for manufacturers and distributors, if they have strong protection of their product like patent protection. Otherwise, once it becomes obvious, that the approach works, it can be copied at a fraction of the original cost, leaving the first manufacturer with non-competitive prizes. If the science is published, before strong IP-protection is secured, this can therefore stop promising approaches, even before they even can reach the clinical stage.

Another problem lies in the structure of reimbursement in the health care system. While regenerative therapies are usually beneficial for patients, as they provide a long-lasting solution for the problem, this is not necessarily beneficial for all stakeholders in the health care framework. Apart from this, a socially organized system may not be able to afford the optimal solution for each problem for each member, so negotiations for prioritization are necessary.

Taken together, the translation of regenerative approaches for clinical use is a field with huge opportunities and great challenges.

If we will be eventually able to beat all the scientific, technical, regulatory, and financial challenges of regenerative medicine, this may even result in a completely new realm of philosophical, psychological, and ethical challenges around the concepts of immortality and eternal youth.

References

- Chen M, Przyborowski M, Berthiaume F. Stem cells for skin tissue engineering and wound healing. Crit Rev Biomed Eng. 2009;37(4-5):399–421.
- Nascimento R, Costa J, Horta R, Silva Á. Trapezius perforator flap for reconstruction of a posterior cervical defect. J Clin Orthop Trauma. 2017;8(2):139–41.
- Grossova I, Zajicek R, Kubok R, Smula MC. The treatment of palmar contact burns in children: a five-year review. Ann Burns Fire Disasters. 2017;30(1):5–8.
- Reynolds M, Kelly DA, Walker NJ, Crantford C, Defranzo AJ. Use of Integra in the management of complex hand wounds from cancer resection and nonburn trauma. Hand (N Y). 2017;13(1):74–9.
- Acar E, Kacira BK. Predictors of lower extremity amputation and reamputation associated with the diabetic foot. J Foot Ankle Surg. 2017;56(6):1218–22.
- World Health Organization. The global burden of disease: 2004 Update.
- Loeffelbein DJ, Al-Benna S, Steinsträßer L, Satanovskij RM, Rohleder NH, Mücke T, Wolff KD, Kesting MR. Reduction of donor site morbidity of free radial forearm flaps: what level of evidence is available? Eplasty. 2012;12:e9.
- Knott PD, Seth R, Waters HH, Revenaugh PC, Alam D, Scharpf J, Meltzer NE, Fritz MA. Short-term donor site morbidity: A comparison of the anterolateral thigh and radial forearm fasciocutaneous free flaps. Head Neck. 2016;38(Suppl 1):E945–8.

- Gottrup F. A specialized wound-healing center concept: importance of a multidisciplinary department structure and surgical treatment facilities in the treatment of chronic wounds. Am J Surg. 2004;187(5A):38S–43S.
- Singh N, Armstrong DG, Lipsky BA. Preventing foot ulcers in patients with diabetes. J Am Med Assoc. 2005;293(2):217–28.
- Chua AW, Khoo YC, Tan BK, Tan KC, Foo CL, Chong SJ. Skin tissue engineering advances in severe burns: review and therapeutic applications. Burns Trauma. 2016;4:3.
- Wu X, Corona BT, Chen X, Walters TJ. A standardized rat model of volumetric muscle loss injury for the development of tissue engineering therapies. Biores Open Access. 2012;1(6):280–90.
- Grogan BF. Hsu JR; Skeletal Trauma Research Consortium. Volumetric muscle loss. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. 2011;19(Suppl 1):S35–7.
- Corona BT, Rivera JC, Owens JG, Wenke JC, Rathbone CR. Volumetric muscle loss leads to permanent disability following extremity trauma. J Rehab Res Dev. 2015;52(7):785–92.
- Pollot BE, Corona BT. Volumetric Muscle Loss. Methods Mol Biol. 2016;1460:19–31.
- 16. Saure C, Caminiti C, Weglinski J, de Castro Perez F, Monges S. Energy expenditure, body composition, and prevalence of metabolic disorders in patients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Diabetes Metab Syndr. 2017. In publication.
- Pansarasa O, Rossi D, Berardinelli A, Cereda C. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and skeletal muscle: an update. Mol Neurobiol. 2014;49(2):984–90.
- Jani-Acsadi A, Ounpuu S, Pierz K, Acsadi G. Pediatric Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease. Pediatr Clin North Am. 2015;62(3):767–86.
- Yiu EM, Kornberg AJ. Duchenne muscular dystrophy. J Paediatr Child Health. 2015;51(8):759–64.
- 20. Mase VJ Jr, Hsu JR, Wolf SE, Wenke JC, Baer DG, Owens J, Badylak SF, Walters TJ. Clinical application of an acellular biologic scaffold for surgical repair of a large, traumatic quadriceps femoris muscle defect. Orthopedics. 2010;33(7):511.
- 21. Merritt EK, Cannon MV, Hammers DW, Le LN, Gokhale R, Sarathy A, Song TJ, Tierney MT, Suggs LJ, Walters TJ, Farrar RP. Repair of traumatic skeletal muscle injury with bone-marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells seeded on extracellular matrix. Tissue Eng Part A. 2010;16(9):2871–81.
- Noble J, Munro CA, Prasad VS, Midha R. Analysis of upper and lower extremity peripheral nerve injuries in a population of patients with multiple injuries. J Trauma. 1998;45(1):116–22.
- Menorca RM, Fussell TS, Elfar JC. Nerve physiology. mechanisms of injury and recovery. Hand Clin. 2013;29(3):317–30.
- Eser F, Aktekin LA, Bodur H, Atan C. Etiological factors of traumatic peripheral nerve injuries. Neurol India. 2009;57(4):434–7.

- Kouyoumdjian JA. Peripheral nerve injuries: a retrospective survey of 456 cases. Muscle Nerve. 2006;34(6):785–8.
- Lad SP, Nathan JK, Schubert RD, Boakye M. Trends in median, ulnar, radial, and brachioplexus nerve injuries in the United States. Neurosurgery. 2010;66(5):953–60.
- Rosberg HE, Carlsson KS, Höjgård S, Lindgren B, Lundborg G, Dahlin LB. Injury to the human median and ulnar nerves in the forearm--analysis of costs for treatment and rehabilitation of 69 patients in southern Sweden. J Hand Surg Br. 2005;30(1):35–9.
- Baptista C, Bertrand B, Philandrianos C, Degardin N, Casanova D. Autologous fat grafting in children. Ann Chir Plast Esthet. 2016;61(5):732–9.
- Caso G, McNurlan MA, Mileva I, Zemlyak A, Mynarcik DC, Gelato MC. Peripheral fat loss and decline in adipogenesis in older humans. Metabolism. 2013;62(3):337–40.
- Gir P, Brown SA, Oni G, Kashefi N, Mojallal A, Rohrich RJ. Fat grafting: evidence-based review on autologous fat harvesting, processing, reinjection, and storage. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2012;130(1):249–58.
- Yoshimura K, Sato K, Aoi N, Kurita M, Hirohi T, Harii K. Cell-assisted lipotransfer for cosmetic breast augmentation: supportive use of adiposederived stem/stromal cells. Aesthetic Plast Surg. 2008;32(1):48–55.
- Coleman SR, Saboeiro AP. Fat grafting to the breast revisited: safety and efficacy. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2007;119(3):775–85.
- Victor JD. Asymptotic approach of generalized orthogonal functional expansions to Wiener kernels. Ann Biomed Eng. 1991;19(4):383–99.
- Missana MC, Laurent I, Barreau L, Balleyguier C. Autologous fat transfer in reconstructive breast surgery: indications, technique and results. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2007;33(6):685–90.
- Spear SL, Wilson HB, Lockwood MD. Fat injection to correct contour deformities in the reconstructed breast. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2005;116(5):1300–5.
- Hang-Fu L, Marmolya G, Feiglin DH. Liposuction fat-fillant implant for breast augmentation and reconstruction. Aesthetic Plast Surg. 1995;19(5):427–37.
- Bircoll M. Cosmetic breast augmentation utilizing autologous fat and liposuction techniques. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1987;79(2):267–71.
- Zocchi ML. Zuliani f. Bicompartmental breast lipostructuring. Aesthetic Plast Surg. 2008;32(2):313–28.
- 39. Khouri RK, Eisenmann-Klein M, Cardoso E, Cooley BC, Kacher D, Gombos E, Baker TJ. Brava and autologous fat transfer is a safe and effective breast augmentation alternative: results of a 6-year, 81-patient, prospective multicenter study. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2012;129(5):1173–87.
- Khouri RK, Smit JM, Cardoso E, Pallua N, Lantieri L, Mathijssen IM, Khouri RK Jr, Rigotti G. Percutaneous aponeurotomy and lipofilling: a

regenerative alternative to flap reconstruction? Plast Reconstr Surg. 2013;132(5):1280–90.

- Jones I. Currie I, Martin R. A guide to biological skin substitutes. Br J Plast Surg. 2002;55(3):185–93.
- 42. Zhang CP. Fu XB Therapeutic potential of stem cells in skin repair and regeneration. Chin J Traumatol. 2008;11(4):209–21.
- 43. Lataillade JJ, Doucet C, Bey E, Carsin H, Huet C, Clairand I, Bottollier-Depois JF, Chapel A, Ernou I, Gourven M, Boutin L, Hayden A, Carcamo C, Buglova E, Joussemet M, de Revel T, Gourmelon P. New approach to radiation burn treatment by dosimetry-guided surgery combined with autologous mesenchymal stem cell therapy. Regen Med. 2007;2(5):785–94.
- 44. Hu S, Zhang H, Feng Y, Yang Y, Han X, Han X, Zhong Y, Shi J. Introduction of an easy technique for purification and injection of autogenous free fat parcels in correcting of facial contour deformities. Ann Plast Surg. 2007;58(6):602–7.
- 45. Ellenbogen R, Motykie G, Youn A, Svehlak S, Yamini D. Facial reshaping using less invasive methods. Aesthet Surg J. 2005;25(2):144–52.
- Cortese A, Savastano G, Felicetta L. Free fat transplantation for facial tissue augmentation. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2000;58(2):164–9.
- Guyuron B, Majzoub RK. Facial augmentation with core fat graft: a preliminary report. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2007;120(1):295–302.
- 48. Kao WP, YN L, Lin TY, Huang YH, Chou CK, Takahashi H, Shieh TY, Chang KP, Lee SS, Lai CS, Lin SD, Lin TM. microautologous fat transplantation for primary augmentation rhinoplasty: longterm monitoring of 198 Asian patients. Aesthet Surg J. 2016;36(6):648–56.
- Hoang D, Orgel MI, Kulber DA. Hand rejuvenation: a comprehensive review of fat grafting. J Hand Surg Am. 2016;41(5):639–44.
- Coleman SR. Structural fat grafting: more than a permanent filler. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2006;118(3 Suppl):108S–20S.
- Pu LL, Yoshimura K. Coleman SR Future perspectives of fat grafting. Clin Plast Surg. 2015;42(3):389–94.
- Murillo WL. Buttock augmentation: case studies of fat injection monitored by magnetic resonance imaging. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2004;114(6):1606–14.
- Cardenas-Camarena L, Arenas-Quintana R, Robles-Cervantes JA. Buttocks fat grafting: 14 years of evolution and experience. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2011;128(2):545–55.
- 54. Richardson R, Slanchev K, Kraus C, Knyphausen P, Eming S, Hammerschmidt MC. Adult zebrafish as a model system for cutaneous wound-healing research. J Invest Dermatol. 2013;133(6):1655–65.
- 55. Krafts KP. Tissue repair: The hidden drama. Organogenesis. 2010;6(4):225–33.

- Goel A, Shrivastava P. Post-burn scars and scar contractures. Indian J Plast Surg. 2010;43(Suppl):S63–71.
- 57. Choi Y, Lee JH, Kim YH, Lee YS, Chang HS, Park CS, Roh MR. Impact of postthyroidectomy scar on the quality of life of thyroid cancer patients. Ann Dermatol. 2014;26(6):693–9.
- Seifert AW, Monaghan JR, Voss SR, Maden M. Skin regeneration in adult axolotls: a blueprint for scar-free healing in vertebrates. PLoS One. 2012;7(4):e32875.
- White RE, Jakeman LB. Don't fence me in: harnessing the beneficial roles of astrocytes for spinal cord repair. Restor Neurol Neurosci. 2008;26(2-3):197–214.
- Jackson CJ, Tonseth KA, Utheim TP. Cultured epidermal stem cells in regenerative medicine. Stem Cell Res Ther. 2017;8(1):155.
- Chuong CM, Randall VA, Widelitz RB, Wu P, Jiang TX. Physiological regeneration of skin appendages and implications for regenerative medicine. Physiology (Bethesda). 2012;27(2):61–72.
- 62. Yannas IV, Tzeranis DS, So PTC. Regeneration of injured skin and peripheral nerves requires control of wound contraction, not scar formation. Wound Repair Regen. 2017;25(2):177–91.
- 63. Wang XQ, Liu YK, Qing C, Lu SL. A review of the effectiveness of antimitotic drug injections for hypertrophic scars and keloids. Ann Plast Surg. 2009;63(6):688–92.
- Sorkin M, Cholok D, Levi B. Scar management of the burned hand. Hand Clin. 2017;33(2):305–15.
- 65. Taudorf EH, Danielsen PL, Paulsen IF, Togsverd-Bo K, Dierickx C, Paasch U, Haedersdal M. Nonablative fractional laser provides long-term improvement of mature burn scars--a randomized controlled trial with histological assessment. Lasers Surg Med. 2015;47(2):141–7.
- Krakowski AC, Goldenberg A, Eichenfield LF, Murray JP, Shumaker PR. Ablative fractional laser resurfacing helps treat restrictive pediatric scar contractures. Pediatrics. 2014;134(6):e1700–5.
- 67. Byrne M, O'Donnell M, Fitzgerald L, Shelley OP. Early experience with fat grafting as an adjunct for secondary burn reconstruction in the hand: Technique, hand function assessment and aesthetic outcomes. Burns. 2016;42(2):356–65.
- 68. Grek CL, Montgomery J, Sharma M, Ravi A, Rajkumar JS, Moyer KE, Gourdie RG, Ghatnekar GS. A Multicenter randomized controlled trial evaluating a Cx43-mimetic peptide in cutaneous scarring. J Invest Dermatol. 2017;137(3):620–30.
- 69. Zhang XF, Cui X. Connexin 43: Key roles in the skin. Biomed Rep. 2017;6(6):605–11.
- 70. Howell K, Chien C, Bell R, Laudier D, Tufa SF, Keene DR, Andarawis-Puri N, Huang AH. Novel model of tendon regeneration reveals distinct cell mechanisms underlying regenerative and fibrotic tendon healing. Sci Rep. 2017;7:45238.

- Hu MS, Longaker MT. Dipeptidyl peptidase-4, wound healing, scarring, and fibrosis. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2016;138(5):1026–31.
- Beavers KR, Nelson CE, Duvall CL. MiRNA inhibition in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2015;88:123–37.
- Cheng J, Yu H, Deng S, Shen G. MicroRNA profiling in mid- and late-gestational fetal skin: implication for scarless wound healing. Tohoku J Exp Med. 2010;221(3):203–9.
- Bowen T, Jenkins RH, Fraser DJ. MicroRNAs, transforming growth factor beta-1, and tissue fibrosis. J Pathol. 2013;229(2):274–85.
- Hall S. The response to injury in the peripheral nervous system. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 2005;87(10):1309–19.
- Houschyar KS, Momeni A, Pyles MN, Cha JY, Maan ZN, Duscher D, Jew OS, Siemers F, van Schoonhoven J. The role of current techniques and concepts in peripheral nerve repair. Plast Surg Int. 2016;2016:4175293.
- Dubovy P, Klusakova L, Hradilova Svizenska I. Inflammatory profiling of Schwann cells in contact with growing axons distal to nerve injury. Biomed Res Int. 2014;2014:691041.
- Grinsell D, Keating CP. Peripheral nerve reconstruction after injury: a review of clinical and experimental therapies. Biomed Res Int. 2014;2014:698256.
- 79. Waller A. Experiments on the section of the glossopharyngeal and hypoglossal nerves of the frog, and observations of the alterations produced thereby in the structure of their primitive fibres. Phil Trans Roy Soc London B. 1850;140:423–9.
- Gawaziuk JP, Peters B, Logsetty S. Early ambulation after-grafting of lower extremity burns. Burns. 2017; S0305-4179(17)30388-1
- Zheng H, Liu J, Dai X, Machens HG, Schilling AF. Free lateral great toe flap for the reconstruction of finger pulp defects. J Reconstr Microsurg. 2015;31(4):277–82.
- Zheng H, Liu J, Dai X, Schilling AF. The distally based sural flap for the reconstruction of ankle and foot defects in pediatric patients. Ann Plast Surg. 2016;77(1):97–101.
- Broussard KC, Powers JG. Wound dressings: selecting the most appropriate type. Am J Clin Dermatol. 2013;14(6):449–59.
- Koch H, Kielnhofer A, Hubmer M, Scharnagl E. Donor site morbidity in cross-finger flaps. Br J Plast Surg. 2005;58(8):1131–5.
- Otene CI, Olaitan PB, Ogbonnaya IS, Nnabuko RE. Donor site morbidity following harvest of splitthickness skin grafts in South Eastern Nigeria. J West Afr Coll Surg. 2011;1(2):86–96.
- Frykberg RG, Banks J. Challenges in the treatment of chronic wounds. Adv Wound Care (New Rochelle). 2015;4(9):560–82.
- Leon-Villapalos J, Eldardiri M, Dziewulski P. The use of human deceased donor skin allograft in burn care. Cell Tissue Bank. 2010;11(1):99–104.

- Haddad AG, Giatsidis G, Orgill DP, Halvorson EG. Skin substitutes and bioscaffolds. temporary and permanent coverage. Clin Plast Surg. 2017;44(3):627–34.
- Saffle JR. Closure of the excised burn wound: temporary skin substitutes. Clin Plast Surg. 2009;36(4):627–41.
- Calota DR, Nitescu C, Florescu IP, Lascar I. Surgical management of extensive burns treatment using allografts. J Med Life. 2012;5(4):486–90.
- Fairbairn NG, Randolph MA, Redmond RW. The clinical applications of human amnion in plastic surgery. J Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg. 2014;67(5):662–75.
- Lin CH, Lin YT, Yeh JT, Chen CT. Free functioning muscle transfer for lower extremity posttraumatic composite structure and functional defect. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2007;119(7):2118–26.
- Valentin JE, Turner NJ, Gilbert TW, Badylak SF. Functional skeletal muscle formation with a biologic scaffold. Biomaterials. 2010;31(29):7475–84.
- 94. Garg K, Ward CL, Rathbone CR, Corona BT. Transplantation of devitalized muscle scaffolds is insufficient for appreciable de novo muscle fiber regeneration after volumetric muscle loss injury. Cell Tissue Res. 2014;358(3):857–73.
- Stratton S, Shelke NB, Hoshino K, Rudraiah S, Kumbar SG. Bioactive polymeric scaffolds for tissue engineering. Bioact Mater. 2016;1(2):93–108.
- Pinkowski JL, Rodrigo JJ, Sharkey NA, Vasseur PB. Immune response to nonspecific and altered tissue antigens in soft tissue allografts. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1996;326:80–5.
- Stucken C, Garras DN, Shaner JL, Cohen SB. Infections in anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. Sports Health. 2013;5(6):553–7.
- Fourniols E, Lazennec JY, Rousseau MA. Salvage technique for postoperative infection and necrosis of the Achilles tendon. Orthop Traumatol Surg Res. 2012;98(8):915–20.
- Seddon HJ, Medawar PB, Smith H. Rate of regeneration of peripheral nerves in man. J Physiol. 1943;102(2):191–215.
- Sunderland S. A classification of peripheral nerve injuries producing loss of function. Brain. 1951;74(4):491–516.
- 101. Walsh S, Midha R. Practical considerations concerning the use of stem cells for peripheral nerve repair. Neurosurg Focus. 2009;26(2):E2.
- Nichols CM, Brenner MJ, Fox IK, Tung TH, Hunter DA, Rickman SR, Mackinnon SE. Effects of motor versus sensory nerve grafts on peripheral nerve regeneration. Exp Neurol. 2004;190(2):347–55.
- 103. Geuna S, Tos P, Titolo P, Ciclamini D, Beningo T, Battiston B. Update on nerve repair by biological tubulization. J Brachial Plex Peripher Nerve Inj. 2014;9(1):3.
- 104. Battiston B, Titolo P, Ciclamini D, Panero B. Peripheral nerve defects: overviews of practice in Europe. Hand Clin. 2017;33(3):545–50.

- 105. Neuber GA. Fett transplantation. Verh Dtsch Ges Chir. 1893;22:66E.
- Czerny V. Plastischer ersatz der brustdrüse durch ein lipom. Zentralbl. Chir. 1985;27:72.
- 107. Lexer E. Freie fetttransplantation. Dtsch Med Wochenschr. 1910;36:46.
- Billings E Jr, May JW Jr. Historical review and present status of free fat graft autotransplantation in plastic and reconstructive surgery. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1989;83(2):368–81.
- 109. Fischer G. Surgical treatment of cellulitis. Third International Congress of International Academy of Cosmetic Surgery, Rome, May 31, 1975.
- Illouz YG, Pfulg ME. Selective lipectomy and lipolysis after Illouz. Handchir Mikrochir Plast Chir. 1986;18(3):118–21.
- 111. Chajchir A, Benzaquen I. Liposuction fat grafts in face wrinkles and hemifacial atrophy. Aesthetic Plast Surg. 1986;10(2):115–7.
- 112. Bystrom J, Norberg KA. Free autogenous grafts into the penile cavernous tissue. An experimental study in dogs. Urol Res. 1975;3(3):145–8.
- Conley JJ. Clairmont AA. Dermal-fat-fascia grafts. Otolaryngology. 1978;86(4 Pt 1.):ORL-641-9.
- 114. Long DM. Free fat graft in laminectomy. J Neurosurg. 1981;54(5):711.
- 115. Schroeder S, Lackner K, Köster O, Anders G. CT image of a free fat graft (FFG) within hemilaminectomy space (author's transl). Z Orthop Ihre Grenzgeb. 1982;120(1):71–2.
- Coleman SR. Structural fat grafting. Aesthet Surg J. 1998;18(5):386, 388
- 117. Coleman SR. Long-term survival of fat transplants: controlled demonstrations. Aesthetic Plast Surg. 1995;19(5):421–5.
- Peer LA. The neglected free fat graft. Plast Reconstr Surg (1946). 1956;18(4):233–50.
- 119. Peer LA. Loss of weight and volume in human fat grafts. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1950;5:217.
- 120. Leong DT, Hutmacher DW, Chew FT, Lim TC. Viability and adipogenic potential of human adipose tissue processed cell population obtained from pump-assisted and syringe-assisted liposuction. J Dermatol Sci. 2005;37(3):169–76.
- 121. Yu NZ, Huang JZ, Zhang H, Wang Y, Wang XJ, Zhao R, Bai M, Long X. A systemic review of autologous fat grafting survival rate and related severe complications. Chin Med J (Engl). 2015;128(9):1245–51.
- 122. Peltoniemi HH, Salmi A, Miettinen S, Mannerström B, Saariniemi K, Mikkonen R, Kuokkanen H, Herold C. Stem cell enrichment does not warrant a higher graft survival in lipofilling of the breast: a prospective comparative study. J Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg. 2013;66(11):1494–503.
- 123. Smith P, Adams WP Jr, Lipschitz AH, Chau B, Sorokin E, Rohrich RJ, Brown SA. Autologous human fat grafting: effect of harvesting and preparation techniques on adipocyte graft survival. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2006;117(6):1836–44.

- 124. Hamza A, Lohsiriwat V, Rietjens M. Lipofilling in breast cancer surgery. Gland Surg. 2013;2(1):7–14.
- 125. Gutowski KA. ASPS Fat Graft Task Force. Current applications and safety of autologous fat grafts: a report of the ASPS fat graft task force. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2009;124(1):272–80.
- 126. Delay E, Garson S, Tousson G, Sinna R. Fat injection to the breast: technique, results, and indications based on 880 procedures over 10 years. Aesthet Surg J. 2009;29(5):360–76.
- 127. Illouz YG, Sterodimas A. Autologous fat transplantation to the breast: a personal technique with 25 years of experience. Aesthetic Plast Surg. 2009;33(5):706–15.
- 128. Chan CW, McCulley SJ, Macmillan RD. Autologous fat transfer--a review of the literature with a focus on breast cancer surgery. J Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg. 2008;61(12):1438–48.
- Dixit VV, Wagh MS. Unfavourable outcomes of liposuction and their management. Indian J Plast Surg. 2013;46(2):377–92.
- Parrish JN, Metzinger SE. Autogenous fat grafting and breast augmentation: a review of the literature. Aesthet Surg J. 2010;30(4):549–56.
- 131. Ravari H, Modaghegh MH, Kazemzadeh GH, Johari HG, Vatanchi AM, Sangaki A, Shahrodi MV. Comparision of vacuum-asisted closure and moist wound dressing in the treatment of diabetic foot ulcers. J Cutan Aesthet Surg. 2013;6(1):17–20.
- 132. Frashko M. Transosseous osteosynthesis in treatment of patients with diabetic Charcots arthropathy complicated with infection. At 18th European Diabetes Congress. July 17–18, 2017, Lisbon, Portugal.
- Bertozzi N, Pesce M, Santi P, Raposio E. Tissue expansion for breast reconstruction: methods and techniques. Ann Med Surg (Lond). 2017;21:34–44.
- Kalra GS, Bedi M, Barala VK. A comparative study of tissue expansion and free parascapular flaps in extensive facial burn scar reconstruction. Int J Burns Trauma. 2017;7(4):50–5.
- 135. Santiago GF, Bograd B, Basile PL, Howard RT, Fleming M, Valerio IL. Soft tissue injury management with a continuous external tissue expander. Ann Plast Surg. 2012;69(4):418–21.
- 136. Stevanovic MV, Cuéllar VG, Ghiassi A, Sharpe F. Single-stage reconstruction of elbow flexion associated with massive soft-tissue defect using the latissimus dorsi muscle bipolar rotational transfer. Plast Reconstr Surg Glob Open. 2016;4(9):e1066.
- Makarewich CA, Hutchinson DT. Tendon transfers for combined peripheral nerve injuries. Hand Clin. 2016;32(3):377–87.
- 138. Sankaran A, Thora A, Arora S, Dhal A. Single tendon transfer of the flexor carpi ulnaris for high radial nerve injury. J Orthop Surg (Hong Kong). 2015;23(3):345–8.
- 139. Estrella EP, Montales TD. Functioning free muscle transfer for the restoration of elbow flexion in brachial plexus injury patients. Injury. 2016;147(11):2525–33.

- 140. Bertelli JA, Ghizoni MF. Nerve and free gracilis muscle transfers for thumb and finger extension reconstruction in long-standing tetraplegia. J Hand Surg Am. 2016;41(11):e411–e6.
- 141. Rozen SM. Facial reanimation: basic surgical tools and creation of an effective toolbox for treating patients with facial paralysis. part a: functional muscle transfers in the long-term facial palsy patient. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2017;139(2):469–71.
- 142. Jones CS, Nowers J, Smart NJ, Coelho J, Watts A, Daniels IR. Pelvic floor reconstruction with bilateral gracilis flaps following extralevator abdominoperineal excision: a video vignette. Colorectal Dis. 2017;19(12):1120–1.
- 143. Pal JN, Bera AK, Roy AN, Bari W. Palmaris longus tendon grafting for extensor pollicis longus tendon rupture bscrew tip after 20 years. J Orthop Case Rep. 2016;6(3):25–7.
- 144. Peng HH, Wu JW, Yang GJ. Treatment of chronic mallet finger deformity with minor bone anchors and palmaris longus tendon graft. Zhongguo Gu Shang. 2015;28(11):1017–20.
- 145. de Panafieu E, Upex P, Doursounian L, Robert N. Free tendon grafts in elder patients, a case report of repair of flexor pollicis longus tendon with a free palmaris longus graft in an 89-year-old woman. Ann Chir Plast Esthet. 2016;61(1):76–9.
- 146. Sabzevari S, Chao T, Kalawadia J, Lin A. The use of Achilles tendon allograft for latissimus dorsi tendon reconstruction: a minimally invasive technique. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2016;26(1):63–6.
- 147. Zaffagnini S, Grassi A, Marcheggiani Muccioli GM, Roberti Di Sarsina T, Macchiarola L. Mosca M. Marcacci M. Anterior cruciate ligament revision with Achilles tendon allograft in young athletes. Orthop Traumatol Surg Res: Neri MP; 2017. In publication
- 148. Ray WZ, Mackinnon SE. Management of nerve gaps: autografts, allografts, nerve transfers, and end-to-side neurorrhaphy. Exp Neurol. 2010;223(1):77–85.
- 149. Pfister BJ, Gordon T, Loverde JR, Kochar AS, Mackinnon SE, Cullen DK. Biomedical engineering strategies for peripheral nerve repair: surgical applications, state of the art, and future challenges. Crit Rev Biomed Eng. 2011;39(2):81–124.
- 150. Millesi H. Progress in peripheral nerve reconstruction. World J Surg. 1990;14(6):733–47.
- Siemionow M, Brzezicki G. Chapter 8: Current techniques and concepts in peripheral nerve repair. Int Rev Neurobiol. 2009;87:141–72.
- Colen KL, Choi M, Chiu DT. Nerve grafts and conduits. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2009;124(6 Suppl):e386–94.
- 153. Millesi H, Meissl G, Berger A. The interfascicular nerve-grafting of the median and ulnar nerves. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1972;54(4):727–50.
- 154. Pu LL, et al. Autologous fat grafts harvested and refined by the Coleman technique: a comparative study. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2008;122(3):932–7.

- 155. Duscher D, Maan ZN, Luan A, Aitzetmüller MM, Brett EA, Atashroo D, Whittam AJ, Hu MS, Walmsley GG, Houschyar KS, Schilling AF, Machens HG, Gurtner GC, Longaker MT, Wan DC. Ultrasound-assisted liposuction provides a source for functional adipose-derived stromal cells. Cytotherapy. 2017;19(12):1491–500.
- 156. Duscher D, Luan A, Rennert RC, Atashroo D, Maan ZN, Brett EA, Whittam AJ, Ho N, Lin M, Hu MS, Walmsley GG, Wenny R, Schmidt M, et al. Suction assisted liposuction does not impair the regenerative potential of adipose derived stem cells. J Transl Med. 2016;14(1):126.
- 157. Duscher D, Atashroo D, Maan ZN, Luan A, Brett EA, Barrera J, Khong SM, Zielins ER, Whittam AJ, Hu MS, Walmsley GG, Pollhammer MS, Schmidt M, et al. Ultrasound-assisted liposuction does not compromise the regenerative potential of adipose-derived stem cells. Stem Cells Transl Med. 2016;5(2):248–57.
- 158. Kononas TC, Bucky LP, Hurley C, May JW Jr. The fate of suctioned and surgically removed fat after reimplantation for soft-tissue augmentation: a volumetric and histologic study in the rabbit. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1993;91(5):763–8.
- Pinski KS, Roenigk HH Jr. Autologous fat transplantation. Long-term follow-up. J Dermatol Surg Oncol. 1992;18(3):179–84.
- Asken S. Microliposuction and autologous fat transplantation for aesthetic enhancement of the aging face. J Dermatol Surg Oncol. 1990;16(10):965–72.
- 161. Carpaneda CA. Study of aspirated adipose tissue. Aesthetic Plast Surg. 1996;20(5):399–402.
- 162. Horl HW, Feller AM, Biemer E. Technique for liposuction fat reimplantation and long-term volume evaluation by magnetic resonance imaging. Ann Plast Surg. 1991;26(3):248–58.
- 163. Pereira LH, Radwanski HN. Fat grafting of the buttocks and lower limbs. Aesthetic Plast Surg. 1996;20(5):409–16.
- 164. Hambley RM, Carruthers JA. Microlipoinjection for the elevation of depressed full-thickness skin grafts on the nose. J Dermatol Surg Oncol. 1992;18(11):963–8.
- Carraway JH, Mellow CG. Syringe aspiration and fat concentration: a simple technique for autologous fat injection. Ann Plast Surg. 1990;24(3):293–6.
- 166. Ramon Y, Shoshani O, Peled IJ, Gilhar A, Carmi N, Fodor L, Risin Y, Ullmann Y. Enhancing the take of injected adipose tissue by a simple method for concentrating fat cells. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2005;115(1):197–201.
- 167. Kakagia D, Pallua N. Autologous fat grafting: in search of the optimal technique. Surg Innov. 2014;21(3):327–36.
- Mojallal A, Foyatier JL. The effect of different factors on the survival of transplanted adipocytes. Ann Chir Plast Esthet. 2004;49(5):426–36.
- 169. Hughes OB, Rakosi A, Macquhae F, Herskovitz I, Fox JD, Kirsner RS. A review of cellular and

acellular matrix products: indications, techniques, and outcomes. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2016;138(3 Suppl):138S–47S.

- 170. Liu J, Zheng H, Dai X, Sun S, Machens HG, Schilling AF. Biomaterials for promoting wound healing in diabetes. J Tissue Sci Eng. 2017;8:193.
- 171. Xiong S, Zhang X, Lu P, Wu Y, Wang Q, Sun H, Heng BC, Bunpetch V, Zhang S, Ouyang H. A gelatin-sulfonated silk composite scaffold based on 3d printing technology enhances skin regeneration by stimulating epidermal growth and dermal neovascularization. Sci Rep. 2017;7(1):4288.
- 172. Encabo-Berzosa MDM, Sancho-Albero M, Crespo A, Andreu V, Sebastian V, Irusta S, Arruebo M, Martín-Duque P, Santamaria J. The effect of PEGylated hollow gold nanoparticles on stem cell migration: potential application in tissue regeneration. Nanoscale. 2017;9(28):9848–58.
- 173. Rossi A, Gabbrielli E, Villano M, Messina M, Ferrara F, Weber E. Human microvascular lymphatic and blood endothelial cells produce fibrillin: deposition patterns and quantitative analysis. J Anat. 2010;217(6):705–14.
- 174. Turner NJ, Yates AJ Jr, Weber DJ, Qureshi IR, Stolz DB, Gilbert TW, Badylak SF. Xenogeneic extracellular matrix as an inductive scaffold for regeneration of a functioning musculotendinous junction. Tissue Eng Part A. 2010;16(11):3309–17.
- 175. Merritt EK, Hammers DW, Tierney M, Suggs LJ, Walters TJ, Farrar RP. Functional assessment of skeletal muscle regeneration utilizing homologous extracellular matrix as scaffolding. Tissue Eng Part A. 2010;16(4):1395–405.
- 176. Machingal MA, Corona BT, Walters TJ, Kesireddy V, Koval CN, Dannahower A, Zhao W, Yoo JJ, Christ GJ. A tissue-engineered muscle repair construct for functional restoration of an irrecoverable muscle injury in a murine model. Tissue Eng Part A. 2011;17(17-18):2291–303.
- 177. Vannozzi L, Ricotti L, Santaniello T, Terencio T, Oropesa-Nunez R, Canale C, Borghi F, Menciassi A, Lenardi C, Gerges I. 3D porous polyurethanes featured by different mechanical properties: Characterization and interaction with skeletal muscle cells. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater. 2017;75:147–59.
- 178. Marcinczyk M, Elmashhady H, Talovic M, Dunn A, Bugis F, Garg K. Laminin-111 enriched fibrin hydrogels for skeletal muscle regeneration. Biomaterials. 2017;141:233–42.
- 179. Eren Cimenci C, Uzunalli G, Uysal O, Yergoz F, Karaca Umay E, Guler MO, Tekinay AB. Laminin mimetic peptide nanofibers regenerate acute muscle defect. Acta Biomater. 2017;60:190–200.
- 180. Sandri M, Filardo G, Kon E, Panseri S, Montesi M, Iafisco M, Savini E, Sprio S, Cunha C, Giavaresi G, Veronesi F, Fini M, Salvatore L, Sannino A, Marcacci M, Tampieri A. Fabrication and pilot in vivo study of a collagen-bddge-elastin core-shell scaffold for tendon regeneration. Front Bioeng Biotechnol. 2016;4:52.

- 181. Longo UG, Lamberti A, Maffulli N, Denaro V. Tendon augmentation grafts: a systematic review. Br Med Bull. 2010;94:165–88.
- 182. Laurilliard EJ, Lee KL, Cooper JA. Characterization and evaluation of fabricated poly(L-lactic) acid core fibers for ligament fascicle development. At the 41st Annual Northeast Biomedical Engineering Conference (NEBEC). Troy, New York, April 17-19, 2015 pp. 1-2.
- 183. Leong DJ, Sun HB. Mesenchymal stem cells in tendon repair and regeneration: basic understanding and translational challenges. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2016;1383(1):88–96.
- 184. Lui PP. Stem cell technology for tendon regeneration: current status, challenges, and future research directions. Stem Cells Cloning. 2015;8:163–74.
- 185. Smietana MJ, Moncada-Larrotiz P, Arruda EM, Bedi A, Larkin LM. Tissue-engineered tendon for enthesis regeneration in a rat rotator cuff model. Biores Open Access. 2017;6(1):47–57.
- Ortiguela ME, Wood MB, Cahill DR. Anatomy of the sural nerve complex. J Hand Surg Am. 1987;12(6):1119–23.
- Mackinnon SE, Hudson AR. Clinical application of peripheral nerve transplantation. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1992;90(4):695–9.
- Gu X, Ding F, Williams DF. Neural tissue engineering options for peripheral nerve regeneration. Biomaterials. 2014;35(24):6143–56.
- 189. Battiston B, Geuna S, Ferrero M, Tos P. Nerve repair by means of tubulization: literature review and personal clinical experience comparing biological and synthetic conduits for sensory nerve repair. Microsurgery. 2005;25(4):258–67.
- Chiono V, Tonda-Turo C, Ciardelli G. Chapter 9: Artificial scaffolds for peripheral nerve reconstruction. Int Rev Neurobiol. 2009;87:173–98.
- 191. Geuna S, Nicolino S, Raimondo S, Gambarotta G, Battiston B, Tos P, Perroteau I. Nerve regeneration along bioengineered scaffolds. Microsurgery. 2007;27(5):429–38.
- Tang JB. Vein conduits with interposition of nerve tissue for peripheral nerve defects. J Reconstr Microsurg. 1995;11(1):21–6.
- 193. Chiu DT, Strauch B. A prospective clinical evaluation of autogenous vein grafts used as a nerve conduit for distal sensory nerve defects of 3 cm or less. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1990;86(5):928–34.
- 194. Schmidt CE, Leach LB. Neural tissue engineering: strategies for repair and regeneration. Annu Rev Biomed Eng. 2003;5:293–347.
- 195. Khaing ZZ, Schmidt CE. Advances in natural biomaterials for nerve tissue repair. Neurosci Lett. 2012;519(2):103–14.
- 196. Konofaos P, Ver Halen JP. Nerve repair by means of tubulization: past, present, future. J Reconstr Microsurg. 2013;29(3):149–64.
- 197. Terzis JK, Kostas I. Vein grafts used as nerve conduits for obstetrical brachial plexus palsy reconstruction. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2007;120(7):1930–41.

- 198. Hsu SH, Su CH, Chiu IM. A novel approach to align adult neural stem cells on micropatterned conduits for peripheral nerve regeneration: a feasibility study. Artif Organs. 2009;33(1):26–35.
- 199. Chang CJ, Hsu SH, Yen HJ, Chang H, Hsu SK. Effects of unidirectional permeability in asymmetric poly(DL-lactic acid-co-glycolic acid) conduits on peripheral nerve regeneration: an in vitro and in vivo study. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater. 2007;83(1):206–15.
- 200. Fawcett JW, Keynes RJ. Muscle basal lamina: a new graft material for peripheral nerve repair. J Neurosurg. 1986;65(3):354–63.
- 201. Glasby MA, Gschmeissner SG, Hitchcock RJ, Huang CL. The dependence of nerve regeneration through muscle grafts in the rat on the availability and orientation of basement membrane. J Neurocytol. 1986;15(4):497–510.
- 202. Kerns JM, Danielsen N, Zhao Q, Lundborg G, Kanje M. A comparison of peripheral nerve regeneration in acellular muscle and nerve autografts. Scand J Plast Reconstr Surg Hand Surg. 2003;37(4):193–200.
- 203. Meek MF, Coert JH. Clinical use of nerve conduits in peripheral-nerve repair: review of the literature. J Reconstr Microsurg. 2002;18(2):97–109.
- 204. Mligiliche N, Tabata Y, Endoh K, Ide C. Peripheral nerve regeneration through a long detergentdenatured muscle autografts in rabbits. Neuroreport. 2001;12(8):1719–22.
- 205. Norris RW, Glasby MA, Gattuso JM, Bowden RE. Peripheral nerve repair in humans using muscle autografts. A new technique. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 1988;70(4):530–3.
- 206. Pereira JH, Bowden RE, Gattuso JM, Norris RW. Comparison of results of repair of digital nerves by denatured muscle grafts and end-to-end sutures. J Hand Surg Br. 1991;16(5):519–23.
- 207. Pereira JH, Bowden RE, Narayanakumar TS, Gschmeissner SE. Peripheral nerve reconstruction using denatured muscle autografts for restoring protective sensation in hands and feet of leprosy patients. Indian J Lepr. 1996;68(1):83–91.
- Rath EM. Skeletal muscle autograft for repair of the human inferior alveolar nerve: a case report. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2002;60(3):330–4.
- 209. Battiston B, Raimondo S, Tos P, Gaidano V, Audisio C, Scevola A, Perroteau I, Geuna S. Chapter 11: Tissue engineering of peripheral nerves. Int Rev Neurobiol. 2009;87:227–49.
- 210. Moneim M, Omer G. Clinical outcome following acute nerve repair. In: Omer GE Jr, Spinner M, van Beeks AL (eds), Management of peripheral nerve problems. WB Saunders, Philadelphia 1998 pp. 414-419
- 211. Meek MF, Coert JH. US Food and Drug Administration /Conformit Europe- approved absorbable nerve conduits for clinical repair of peripheral and cranial nerves. Ann Plast Surg. 2008;60(4):466–72.

- 212. Kehoe S, Zhang XF, Boyd D. FDA approved guidance conduits and wraps for peripheral nerve injury: a review of materials and efficacy. Injury. 2012;43(5):553–72.
- Hvistendahl M. China's push in tissue engineering. Science. 2012;338(6109):900–2.
- 214. Jeans LA, Gilchrist T, Healy D. Peripheral nerve repair by means of a flexible biodegradable glass fibre wrap: a comparison with microsurgical epineurial repair. J Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg. 2007;60(12):1302–8.
- 215. Starritt NE, Kettle SE, Glasby MA. Sutureless repair of the facial nerve using biodegradable glass fabric. Laryngoscope. 2011;121(8):1614–9.
- 216. Seil JT, Webster TJ. Electrically active nanomaterials as improved neural tissue regeneration scaffolds. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Nanomed Nanobiotechnol. 2010;2(6):635–47.
- 217. Jin GZ, Kim M, Shin US, Kim HW. Neurite outgrowth of dorsal root ganglia neurons is enhanced on aligned nanofibrous biopolymer scaffold with carbon nanotube coating. Neurosci Lett. 2011;501(1):10–4.
- 218. Veith M, Shen H, Singh M. Biphasic Nano-materials and applications in life sciences: Nanostructures for improved neuron cell culturing. In: Veith M, Aktas OC, Lee J. Miro MM, Akhan CK (eds), Nanostructured Materials and Systems, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Hoboken, NJ 2010
- 219. Guan RG, Cipriano AF, Zhao ZY, Lock J, Tie D, Zhao T, Cui T, Liu H. Development and evaluation of a magnesium-zinc-strontium alloy for biomedical applications--alloy processing, microstructure, mechanical properties, and biodegradation. Mater Sci Eng C Mater Biol Appl. 2013;33(7):3661–9.
- 220. Iskandar ME, Aslani A, Liu H. The effects of nanostructured hydroxyapatite coating on the biodegradation and cytocompatibility of magnesium implants. J Biomed Mater Res A. 2013;101(8):2340–54.
- Benowitz LI, Popovich PG. Inflammation and axon regeneration. Curr Opin Neurol. 2011;24(6):577–83.
- 222. Meinel L, Hofmann S, Karageorgiou V, Kirker-Head C, McCool J, Gronowicz G, Zichner L, Langer R, Vunjak-Novakovic G, Kaplan DL. The inflammatory responses to silk films in vitro and in vivo. Biomaterials. 2005;26(2):147–55.
- 223. Cao H, Liu T, Chew SY. The application of nanofibrous scaffolds in neural tissue engineering. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2009;61(12):1055–64.
- 224. Yang F, Murugan R, Wang S, Ramakrishna S. Electrospinning of nano/micro scale poly(L-lactic acid) aligned fibers and their potential in neural tissue engineering. Biomaterials. 2005;26(15):2603–10.
- 225. Lee JY, Bashur CA, Goldstein AS, Schmidt CE. Polypyrrole-coated electrospun PLGA nanofibers for neural tissue applications. Biomaterials. 2009;30(26):4325–35.
- 226. Prabhakaran MP, Venugopal JR, Ramakrishna S. Mesenchymal stem cell differentiation to neuronal cells on electrospun nanofibrous sub-

strates for nerve tissue engineering. Biomaterials. 2009;30(28):4996–5003.

- 227. Stokols S, Tuszynski MH. The fabrication and characterization of linearly oriented nerve guidance scaffolds for spinal cord injury. Biomaterials. 2004;25(27):5839–46.
- 228. Li J, Rickett TA, Shi R. Biomimetic nerve scaffolds with aligned intraluminal microchannels: a "sweet" approach to tissue engineering. Langmuir. 2009;25(3):1813–7.
- 229. Tysseling-Mattiace VM, Sahni V, Niece KL, Birch D, Czeisler C, Fehlings MG, Stupp SI, Kessler JA. Self-assembling nanofibers inhibit glial scar formation and promote axon elongation after spinal cord injury. J Neurosci. 2008;28(14):3814–23.
- 230. Gelain F, Unsworth LD, Zhang S. Slow and sustained release of active cytokines from selfassembling peptide scaffolds. J Control Release. 2010;145(3):231–9.
- 231. Rajaram A, Chen XB, Schreyer DJ. Strategic design and recent fabrication techniques for bioengineered tissue scaffolds to improve peripheral nerve regeneration. Tissue Eng Part B Rev. 2012;18(6):454–67.
- 232. Yao L, O'Brien N, Windebank A, Pandit A. Orienting neurite growth in electrospun fibrous neural conduits. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater. 2009;90(2):483–91.
- 233. Quigley AF, Razal JM, Thompson BC, Moulton SE, Kita M, Kennedy EL, Clark GM, Wallace GG, Kapsa RM. A conducting-polymer platform with biodegradable fibers for stimulation and guidance of axonal growth. Adv Mater. 2009;21(43):4393–7.
- 234. Liu X, Chen J, Gilmore KJ, Higgins MJ, Liu Y, Wallace GG. Guidance of neurite outgrowth on aligned electrospun polypyrrole/poly(styrene-betaisobutylene-beta-styrene) fiber platforms. J Biomed Mater Res A. 2010;94(4):1004–11.
- 235. Chiu YC, Cheng MH, Uriel S, Brey EM. Materials for engineering vascularized adipose tissue. J Tissue Viability. 2011;20(2):37–48.
- 236. Kawaguchi N, Toriyama K, Nicodemou-Lena E, Inou K, Torii S, Kitagawa Y. De novo adipogenesis in mice at the site of injection of basement membrane and basic fibroblast growth factor. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 1998;95(3):1062–6.
- 237. Piasecki JH, Moreno K, Gutowski KA. Beyond the cells: scaffold matrix character affects the in vivo performance of purified adipocyte fat grafts. Aesthet Surg J. 2008;28(3):306–12.
- 238. Lavik E, Langer R. Tissue engineering: current state and perspectives. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol. 2004;65(1):1–8.
- 239. Lin SD, Wang KH, Kao AP. Engineered adipose tissue of predefined shape and dimensions from human adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells. Tissue Eng Part A. 2008;14(5):571–81.
- 240. Mauney JR, Nguyen T, Gillen K, Kirker-Head C, Gimble JM, Kaplan DL. Engineering adipose-like tissue in vitro and in vivo utilizing human bone

marrow and adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells with silk fibroin 3D scaffolds. Biomaterials. 2007;28(35):5280–90.

- 241. Shanti RM, Janjanin S, Li WJ, Nesti LJ, Mueller MB, Tzeng MB, Tuan RS. In vitro adipose tissue engineering using an electrospun nanofibrous scaffold. Ann Plast Surg. 2008;61(5):566–71.
- 242. Weiser B, Prantl L, Schubert TE, Zellner J, Fischbach-Teschl C, Spruss T, Seitz AK, Tessmar J, Goepferich A, Blunk T. In vivo development and long-term survival of engineered adipose tissue depend on in vitro precultivation strategy. Tissue Eng Part A. 2008;14(2):275–84.
- 243. Bae IH, Park JW, Kim DY. Enhanced regenerative healing efficacy of a highly skin-permeable growth factor nanocomplex in a full-thickness excisional mouse wound model. Int J Nanomedicine. 2014;9:4551–67.
- 244. Barrientos S, Stojadinovic O, Golinko MS, Brem H, Tomic-Canic M. Growth factors and cytokines in wound healing. Wound Repair Regen. 2008;16(5):585–601.
- 245. Choi JK, Jang JH, Jang WH, Kim J, Bae IH, Bae J, Park YH, Kim BJ, Lim KM, Park JW. The effect of epidermal growth factor (EGF) conjugated with low-molecular-weight protamine (LMWP) on wound healing of the skin. Biomaterials. 2012;33(33):8579–90.
- 246. Todorovic V, Pesko P, Micev M, Bjelović M, Budec M, Mićić M, Brasanac D, Ilić-Stojanović O. Insulinlike growth factor-I in wound healing of rat skin. Regul Pept. 2008;150(1-3):7–13.
- 247. Ross R. Platelet-derived growth factor. Annu Rev Med. 1987;38:71–9.
- 248. Xie Z, Paras CB, Weng H, Punnakitikashem P, Su LC, Vu K, Tang L, Yang J, Nguyen KT. Dual growth factor releasing multi-functional nanofibers for wound healing. Acta Biomater. 2013;9(12):9351–9.
- 249. Duscher D, Neofytou E, Wong VW, Maan ZN, Rennert RC, Inayathullah M, Januszyk M, Rodrigues M, Malkovskiy AV, Whitmore AJ, Walmsley GG, Galvez MG, et al. Transdermal deferoxamine prevents pressure-induced diabetic ulcers. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2015;112(1):94–9.
- 250. D S, AF S, RL K. Why age matters: inflammation, cancer and hormones in the development of sarcopenia. J Osteopor Phys Act. 2017;5:191.
- 251. Scimeca M, Piccirilli E, Mastrangeli F, Rao C, Feola M, Orlandi A, Gasbarra E, Bonanno E, Tarantino U. Bone morphogenetic proteins and myostatin pathways: key mediator of human sarcopenia. J Transl Med. 2017;15(1):34.
- 252. Molfino A, Amabile MI, Rossi Fanelli F, Muscaritoli M. Novel therapeutic options for cachexia and sarcopenia. Expert Opin Biol Ther. 2016;16(10):1239–44.
- 253. Berebichez-Fridman R, Gómez-García R, Granados-Montiel J, Berebichez-Fastlicht E, Olivos-Meza A, Granados J, Velasquillo C, Ibarra C. The holy grail

of orthopedic surgery: mesenchymal stem cells-their current uses and potential applications. Stem Cells Int. 2017;2017:2638305.

- 254. Tseng SS, Lee MA, Reddi AH. Nonunions and the potential of stem cells in fracture-healing. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2008;90(Suppl 1):92–8.
- 255. Qu-Petersen Z, Deasy B, Jankowski R, Ikezawa M, Cummins J, Pruchnic R, Mytinger J, Cao B, Gates C, Wernig A, Huard J. Identification of a novel population of muscle stem cells in mice: potential for muscle regeneration. J Cell Biol. 2002;157(5):851–64.
- 256. Gumucio JP, Flood MD, Bedi A, Kramer HF, Russell AJ, Mendias CL. Inhibition of prolyl 4-hydroxylase decreases muscle fibrosis following chronic rotator cuff tear. Bone Joint Res. 2017;6(1):57–65.
- 257. Padilla S, Sánchez M, Orive G, Anitua E. Humanbased biological and biomimetic autologous therapies for musculoskeletal tissue regeneration. Trends Biotechnol. 2017;35(3):192–202.
- Sanchez M, Anitua E, Azofra J, Andía I, Padilla S, Mujika I. Comparison of surgically repaired Achilles tendon tears using platelet-rich fibrin matrices. Am J Sports Med. 2007;35(2):245–51.
- 259. Thomopoulos S, Harwood FL, Silva MJ, Amiel D, Gelberman RH. Effect of several growth factors on canine flexor tendon fibroblast proliferation and collagen synthesis in vitro. J Hand Surg Am. 2005;30(3):441–7.
- 260. Gelberman RH, Thomopoulos S, Sakiyama-Elbert SE, Das R, Silva MJ. The early effects of sustained platelet-derived growth factor administration on the functional and structural properties of repaired intrasynovial flexor tendons: an in vivo biomechanic study at 3 weeks in canines. J Hand Surg Am. 2007;32(3):373–9.
- Jiang X, Lim SH, Mao HQ, Chew SY. Current applications and future perspectives of artificial nerve conduits. Exp Neurol. 2010;223(1):86–101.
- 262. Gu X, Ding F, Yang Y, Liu J. Construction of tissue engineered nerve grafts and their application in peripheral nerve regeneration. Prog Neurobiol. 2011;93(2):204–30.
- 263. Wood MD, Gordon T, Kemp SW, Liu EH, Kim H, Shoichet MS, Borschel GH. Functional motor recovery is improved due to local placement of GDNF microspheres after delayed nerve repair. Biotechnol Bioeng. 2013;110(5):1272–81.
- 264. Kokai LE, Ghaznavi AM, Marra KG. Incorporation of double-walled microspheres into polymer nerve guides for the sustained delivery of glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor. Biomaterials. 2010;31(8):2313–22.
- 265. Kokai LE, Bourbeau D, Weber D, McAtee J, Marra KG. Sustained growth factor delivery promotes axonal regeneration in long gap peripheral nerve repair. Tissue Eng Part A. 2011;17(9-10):1263–75.
- 266. de Boer R, Borntraeger A, Knight AM, Hébert-Blouin MN, Spinner RJ, Malessy MJ, Yaszemski MJ, Windebank AJ. Short- and long-term peripheral nerve regeneration using a poly-lactic-co-

glycolic-acid scaffold containing nerve growth factor and glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor releasing microspheres. J Biomed Mater Res A. 2012;100(8):2139–46.

- 267. Timmer M, Robben S, Müller-Ostermeyer F, Nikkhah G, Grothe C. Axonal regeneration across long gaps in silicone chambers filled with Schwann cells overexpressing high molecular weight FGF-2. Cell Transplant. 2003;12(3):265–77.
- 268. Haastert K, Lipokatic E, Fischer M, Timmer M, Grothe C. Differentially promoted peripheral nerve regeneration by grafted Schwann cells overexpressing different FGF-2 isoforms. Neurobiol Dis. 2006;21(1):138–53.
- 269. Haastert K, Ying Z, Grothe C, Gómez-Pinilla F. The effects of FGF-2 gene therapy combined with voluntary exercise on axonal regeneration across peripheral nerve gaps. Neurosci Lett. 2008;443(3):179–83.
- 270. May F, Matiasek K, Vroemen M, Caspers C, Mrva T, Arndt C, Schlenker B, Gais P, Brill T, Buchner A, Blesch A, Hartung R, Stief C, Gansbacher B, Weidner N. GDNF-transduced Schwann cell grafts enhance regeneration of erectile nerves. Eur Urol. 2008;54(5):1179–87.
- 271. May F, Buchner A, Schlenker B, Gratzke C, Arndt C, Stief C, Weidner N, Matiasek K. Schwann cell-mediated delivery of glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor restores erectile function after cavernous nerve injury. Int J Urol. 2013;20(3):344–8.
- 272. Sakiyama-Elbert SE, Panitch A, Hubbell JA. Development of growth factor fusion proteins for cell-triggered drug delivery. FASEB J. 2001;15(7):1300–2.
- 273. Sun W, Lin H, Chen B, Zhao W, Zhao Y, Dai J. Promotion of peripheral nerve growth by collagen scaffolds loaded with collagen-targeting human nerve growth factor-beta. J Biomed Mater Res A. 2007;83(4):1054–61.
- 274. Yang Y, Zhao W, He J, Zhao Y, Ding F, Gu X. Nerve conduits based on immobilization of nerve growth factor onto modified chitosan by using genipin as a crosslinking agent. Eur J Pharm Biopharm. 2011;79(3):519–25.
- 275. Wang H, Zhao Q, Zhao W, Liu Q, Gu X, Yang Y. Repairing rat sciatic nerve injury by a nerve-growth-factor-loaded, chitosan-based nerve conduit. Biotechnol Appl Biochem. 2012;59(5):388–94.
- 276. Chang CJ. The effect of pulse-released nerve growth factor from genipin-crosslinked gelatin in schwann cell-seeded polycaprolactone conduits on large-gap peripheral nerve regeneration. Tissue Eng Part A. 2009;15(3):547–57.
- 277. Hsieh SC, Tang CM, Huang WT, Hsieh LL, Lu CM, Chang CJ, Hsu SH. Comparison between two different methods of immobilizing NGF in poly(DLlactic acid-co-glycolic acid) conduit for peripheral nerve regeneration by EDC/NHS/MES and genipin. J Biomed Mater Res A. 2011;99(4):576–85.

- 278. Wang C, Liu JJ, Fan CY, Mo XM, Ruan HJ, Li FF. The effect of aligned core-shell nanofibres delivering NGF on the promotion of sciatic nerve regeneration. J Biomater Sci Polym Ed. 2012;23(1-4):167–84.
- 279. Liu JJ, Wang CY, Wang JG, Ruan HJ, Fan CY. Peripheral nerve regeneration using composite poly(lactic acid-caprolactone)/nerve growth factor conduits prepared by coaxial electrospinning. J Biomed Mater Res A. 2011;96(1):13–20.
- 280. Tang S, Zhu J, Xu Y, Xiang AP, Jiang MH, Quan D. The effects of gradients of nerve growth factor immobilized PCLA scaffolds on neurite outgrowth in vitro and peripheral nerve regeneration in rats. Biomaterials. 2013;34(29):7086–96.
- 281. Sondell M, Lundborg G, Kanje M. Vascular endothelial growth factor has neurotrophic activity and stimulates axonal outgrowth, enhancing cell survival and Schwann cell proliferation in the peripheral nervous system. J Neurosci. 1999;19(14):5731–40.
- Hobson MI, Green CJ, Terenghi G. VEGF enhances intraneural angiogenesis and improves nerve regeneration after axotomy. J Anat. 2000;197(Pt 4):591-605.
- Wongtrakul S, Bishop AT, Friedrich PF. Vascular endothelial growth factor promotion of neoangiogenesis in conventional nerve grafts. J Hand Surg Am. 2002;27(2):277–85.
- 284. Pola R, Aprahamian TR, Bosch-Marcé M, Curry C, Gaetani E, Flex A, Smith RC, Isner JM, Losordo DW. Age-dependent VEGF expression and intraneural neovascularization during regeneration of peripheral nerves. Neurobiol Aging. 2004;25(10):1361–8.
- 285. Hobson MI. Increased vascularisation enhances axonal regeneration within an acellular nerve conduit. Ann R Coll Surg Engl. 2002;84(1):47–53.
- 286. Lee YB, Polio S, Lee W, Dai G, Menon L, Carroll RS, Yoo SS. Bio-printing of collagen and VEGFreleasing fibrin gel scaffolds for neural stem cell culture. Exp Neurol. 2010;223(2):645–52.
- Harrison DG. Cellular and molecular mechanisms of endothelial cell dysfunction. J Clin Invest. 1997;100(9):2153–7.
- Fuchs JR, Nasseri BA, Vacanti JP. Tissue engineering: a 21st century solution to surgical reconstruction. Ann Thorac Surg. 2001;72(2):577–91.
- 289. von Heimburg D, Zachariah S, Heschel I, Kühling H, Schoof H, Hafemann B, Pallua N. Human preadipocytes seeded on freeze-dried collagen scaffolds investigated in vitro and in vivo. Biomaterials. 2001;22(5):429–38.
- 290. Patrick CW Jr, Zheng B, Johnston C, Reece GP. Long-term implantation of preadipocyte-seeded PLGA scaffolds. Tissue Eng. 2002;8(2):283–93.
- 291. Lu F, Li J, Gao J, Ogawa R, Ou C, Yang B, Fu B. Improvement of the survival of human autologous fat transplantation by using VEGF-transfected adipose-derived stem cells. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2009;124(5):1437–46.
- 292. Hunting CB, Noort WA, Zwaginga JJ. Circulating endothelial (progenitor) cells reflect the state of the

endothelium: vascular injury, repair and neovascularization. Vox Sang. 2005;88(1):1–9.

- 293. Wojtowicz AM, Oliveira S, Carlson MW, Zawadzka A, Rousseau CF, Baksh D. The importance of both fibroblasts and keratinocytes in a bilayered living cellular construct used in wound healing. Wound Repair Regen. 2014;22(2):246–55.
- 294. Armenio A, Cutrignelli DA, Nardulli ML, Maggio G, Memeo G, De Santis V, Giudice G, Ressa CM. Bio-Engineering tissue and V.A.C. therapy: A new method for the treatment of extensive necrotizing infection in the diabetic foot. Ann Ital Chir. 2017;88:268-274.
- 295. Kim SS, Gwak SJ, Choi CY, Kim BS. Skin regeneration using keratinocytes and dermal fibroblasts cultured on biodegradable microspherical polymer scaffolds. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater. 2005;75(2):369–77.
- 296. Falanga V, Iwamoto S, Chartier M, Yufit T, Butmarc J, Kouttab N, Shrayer D, Carson P. Autologous bone marrow-derived cultured mesenchymal stem cells delivered in a fibrin spray accelerate healing in murine and human cutaneous wounds. Tissue Eng. 2007;13(6): p99-312.
- 297. Hur W, Lee HY, Min HS, Wufuer M, Lee CW, Hur JA, Kim SH, Kim BK, Choi TH. Regeneration of full-thickness skin defects by differentiated adipose-derived stem cells into fibroblast-like cells by fibroblast-conditioned medium. Stem Cell Res Ther. 2017;8(1):92.
- 298. van Geel N, Goh BK, Wallaeys E, De Keyser S, Lambert J. A review of non-cultured epidermal cellular grafting in vitiligo. J Cutan Aesthet Surg. 2011;4(1):17–22.
- 299. Thorrez L, Shansky J, Wang L, Fast L, VandenDriessche T, Chuah M, Mooney D, Vandenburgh H. Growth, differentiation, transplantation and survival of human skeletal myofibers on biodegradable scaffolds. Biomaterials. 2008;29(1):75–84.
- 300. Page RL, Malcuit C, Vilner L, Vojtic I, Shaw S, Hedblom E, Hu J, Pins GD, Rolle MW, Dominko T. Restoration of skeletal muscle defects with adult human cells delivered on fibrin microthreads. Tissue Eng Part A. 2011;17(21-22):2629–40.
- 301. Paredes JJ, Andarawis-Puri N. Therapeutics for tendon regeneration: a multidisciplinary review of tendon research for improved healing. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2016;1383(1):125–38.
- 302. Hogan MV, Bagayoko N, James R, Starnes T, Katz A, Chhabra AB. Tissue engineering solutions for tendon repair. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. 2011;19(3):134–42.
- 303. Lee JY, Zhou Z, Taub PJ, Ramcharan M, Li Y, Akinbiyi T, Maharam ER, Leong DJ, Laudier DM, Ruike T, Torina PJ, Zaidi M, Majeska RJ, Schaffler MB, Flatow EL, Sun HB. BMP-12 treatment of adult mesenchymal stem cells in vitro augments tendonlike tissue formation and defect repair in vivo. PLoS One. 2011;6(3):e17531.

- 304. Wolfman NM, Hattersley G, Cox K, Celeste AJ, Nelson R, Yamaji N, Dube JL, DiBlasio-Smith E, Nove J, Song JJ, Wozney JM, Rosen V. Ectopic induction of tendon and ligament in rats by growth and differentiation factors 5, 6, and 7, members of the TGF-beta gene family. J Clin Invest. 1997;100(2):321–30.
- 305. Haddad-Weber M, Prager P, Kunz M, Seefried L, Jakob F, Murray MM, Evans CH, Nöth U, Steinert AF. BMP12 and BMP13 gene transfer induce ligamentogenic differentiation in mesenchymal progenitor and anterior cruciate ligament cells. Cytotherapy. 2010;12(4):505–13.
- 306. Chailakhyan RK, Shekhter AB, Ivannikov SV, Tel'pukhov VI, Suslin DS, Gerasimov YV, Tonenkov AM, Grosheva AG, Panyushkin PV, Moskvina IL, Vorob'eva NN, Bagratashvili VN. Reconstruction of ligament and tendon defects using cell technologies. Bull Exp Biol Med. 2017;162(4):563–8.
- 307. Nancarrow-Lei R, Mafi P, Mafi R, Khan W. A systemic review of the sources of adult mesenchymal stem cells and their suitability in musculoskeletal applications. Curr Stem Cell Res Ther. 2017;12(8):601–10.
- 308. Hu N, Wu H, Xue C, Gong Y, Wu J, Xiao Z, Yang Y, Ding F, Gu X. Long-term outcome of the repair of 50 mm long median nerve defects in rhesus monkeys with marrow mesenchymal stem cells-containing, chitosan-based tissue engineered nerve grafts. Biomaterials. 2013;34(1):100–11.
- 309. Ding F, Wu J, Yang Y, Hu W, Zhu Q, Tang X, Liu J, Gu X. Use of tissue-engineered nerve grafts consisting of a chitosan/poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid)-based scaffold included with bone marrow mesenchymal cells for bridging 50-mm dog sciatic nerve gaps. Tissue Eng Part A. 2010;16(12):3779–90.
- 310. Yang Y, Yuan X, Ding F, Yao D, Gu Y, Liu J, Gu X. Repair of rat sciatic nerve gap by a silk fibroin-based scaffold added with bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells. Tissue Eng Part A. 2011;17(17-18):2231–44.
- 311. Xue C, Hu N, Gu Y, Yang Y, Liu Y, Liu J, Ding F, Gu X. Joint use of a chitosan/PLGA scaffold and MSCs to bridge an extra large gap in dog sciatic nerve. Neurorehabil Neural Repair. 2012;26(1):96–106.
- 312. Rider DA, Dombrowski C, Sawyer AA, Ng GH, Leong D, Hutmacher DW, Nurcombe V, Cool SM. Autocrine fibroblast growth factor 2 increases the multipotentiality of human adiposederived mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells. 2008;26(6):1598–608.
- 313. Cheng FC, Tai MH, Sheu ML, Chen CJ, Yang DY, Su HL, Ho SP, Lai SZ, Pan HC. Enhancement of regeneration with glia cell line-derived neurotrophic factor-transduced human amniotic fluid mesenchymal stem cells after sciatic nerve crush injury. J Neurosurg. 2010;112(4):868–79.
- 314. Fu KY, Dai LG, Chiu IM, Chen JR, Hsu SH. Sciatic nerve regeneration by microporous nerve conduits seeded with glial cell line-derived neuro-

trophic factor or brain-derived neurotrophic factor gene transfected neural stem cells. Artif Organs. 2011;35(4):363–72.

- 315. Erba P, Mantovani C, Kalbermatten DF, Pierer G, Terenghi G, Kingham PJ. Regeneration potential and survival of transplanted undifferentiated adipose tissue-derived stem cells in peripheral nerve conduits. J Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg. 2010;63(12):e811–7.
- 316. Zhang Y, Luo H, Zhang Z, Lu Y, Huang X, Yang L, Xu J, Yang W, Fan X, Du B, Gao P, Hu G, Jin Y. A nerve graft constructed with xenogeneic acellular nerve matrix and autologous adiposederived mesenchymal stem cells. Biomaterials. 2010;31(20):5312–24.
- 317. di Summa PG, Kalbermatten DF, Pralong E, Raffoul W, Kingham PJ, Terenghi G. Long-term in vivo regeneration of peripheral nerves through bioengineered nerve grafts. Neuroscience. 2011;181:278–91.
- 318. Liu GB, Cheng YX, Feng YK, Pang CJ, Li Q, Wang Y, Jia H, Tong XJ. Adipose-derived stem cells promote peripheral nerve repair. Arch Med Sci. 2011;7(4):592–6.
- 319. Scholz T, Sumarto A, Krichevsky A, Evans GR. Neuronal differentiation of human adipose tissue-derived stem cells for peripheral nerve regeneration in vivo. Arch Surg. 2011;146(6):666–74.
- 320. Sun F, Zhou K, Mi WJ, Qiu JH. Combined use of decellularized allogeneic artery conduits with autologous transdifferentiated adipose-derived stem cells for facial nerve regeneration in rats. Biomaterials. 2011;32(32):8118–28.
- 321. Wei Y, Gong K, Zheng Z, Wang A, Ao Q, Gong Y, Zhang X. Chitosan/silk fibroin-based tissue-engineered graft seeded with adipose-derived stem cells enhances nerve regeneration in a rat model. J Mater Sci Mater Med. 2011;22(8):1947–64.
- 322. Gu JH, Ji YH, Dhong ES, Kim DH, Yoon ES. Transplantation of adipose derived stem cells for peripheral nerve regeneration in sciatic nerve defects of the rat. Curr Stem Cell Res Ther. 2012;7(5):347–55.
- 323. Orbay H, Uysal AC, Hyakusoku H, Mizuno H. Differentiated and undifferentiated adiposederived stem cells improve function in rats with peripheral nerve gaps. J Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg. 2012;65(5):657–64.
- 324. Shen CC, Yang YC, Liu BS. Peripheral nerve repair of transplanted undifferentiated adipose tissue-derived stem cells in a biodegradable reinforced nerve conduit. J Biomed Mater Res A. 2012;100(1):48–63.
- 325. Tomita K, Madura T, Mantovani C, Terenghi G. Differentiated adipose-derived stem cells promote myelination and enhance functional recovery in a rat model of chronic denervation. J Neurosci Res. 2012;90(7):1392–402.
- 326. Carriel V, Garrido-Gómez J, Hernández-Cortés P, Garzón I, García-García S, Sáez-Moreno JA. Del Carmen Sánchez-Quevedo M, Campos A, Alaminos M. Combination of fibrin-agarose hydro-

gels and adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells for peripheral nerve regeneration. J Neural Eng. 2013;10(2):026022.

- 327. Mohammadi R, Azizi S, Amini K. Effects of undifferentiated cultured omental adipose-derived stem cells on peripheral nerve regeneration. J Surg Res. 2013;180(2):e91–7.
- 328. Suganuma S, Tada K, Hayashi K, Takeuchi A, Sugimoto N, Ikeda K, Tsuchiya H. Uncultured adipose-derived regenerative cells promote peripheral nerve regeneration. J Orthop Sci. 2013;18(1):145–51.
- 329. Tomita K, Madura T, Sakai Y, Yano K, Terenghi G, Hosokawa K. Glial differentiation of human adipose-derived stem cells: implications for cell-based transplantation therapy. Neuroscience. 2013;236:55–65.
- 330. Uemura T, Takamatsu K, Ikeda M, Okada M, Kazuki K, Ikada Y, Nakamura H. Transplantation of induced pluripotent stem cell-derived neurospheres for peripheral nerve repair. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2012;419(1):130–5.
- 331. Perez-Tomas R, Mayol X, Culleré X, Díaz Ruiz C, Domingo J. Transforming growth factor-alpha expression in rat experimental hepatocarcinogenesis. Histol Histopathol. 1992;7(3):457–62.
- 332. Beahm EK, Walton RL, Patrick CW Jr. Progress in adipose tissue construct development. Clin Plast Surg. 2003;30(4):547–58.
- 333. Wei X, Du Z, Zhao L, Feng D, Wei G, He Y, Tan J, Lee WH, Hampel H, Dodel R, Johnstone BH, March KL, Farlow MR, Du Y. IFATS collection: The conditioned media of adipose stromal cells protect against hypoxia-ischemia-induced brain damage in neonatal rats. Stem Cells. 2009;27(2):478–88.
- 334. Kim WS, Park BS, Park SH, Kim HK, Sung JH. Antiwrinkle effect of adipose-derived stem cell: activation of dermal fibroblast by secretory factors. J Dermatol Sci. 2009;53(2):96–102.
- 335. Kilroy GE, Foster SJ, Wu X, Ruiz J, Sherwood S, Heifetz A, Ludlow JW, Stricker DM, Potiny S, Green P, Halvorsen YD, Cheatham B, Storms RW, Gimble JM. Cytokine profile of human adipose-derived stem cells: expression of angiogenic, hematopoietic, and pro-inflammatory factors. J Cell Physiol. 2007;212(3):702–9.
- 336. Ebrahimian TG, Pouzoulet F, Squiban C, Buard V, André M, Cousin B, Gourmelon P, Benderitter M, Casteilla L, Tamarat R. Cell therapy based on adipose tissue-derived stromal cells promotes physiological and pathological wound healing. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2009;29(4):503–10.
- 337. Cai L, Johnstone BH, Cook TG, Liang Z, Traktuev D, Cornetta K, Ingram DA, Rosen ED, March KL. Suppression of hepatocyte growth factor production impairs the ability of adipose-derived stem cells to promote ischemic tissue revascularization. Stem Cells. 2007;25(12):3234–43.
- 338. Kato H, Mineda K, Eto H, Doi K, Kuno S, Kinoshita K, Kanayama K, Yoshimura K. Degeneration, regen-

eration, and cicatrization after fat grafting: dynamic total tissue remodeling during the first 3 months. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2014;133(3):303e–13e.

- 339. Doi K, Ogata F, Eto H, Kato H, Kuno S, Kinoshita K, Kanayama K, Feng J, Manabe I, Yoshimura K. Differential contributions of graft-derived and host-derived cells in tissue regeneration/remodeling after fat grafting. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2015;135(6):1607–17.
- 340. Spanholtz TA, Theodorou P, Holzbach T, Wutzler S, Giunta RE, Machens HG. Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF165) plus basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) producing cells induce a mature and stable vascular network--a future therapy for is chemically challenged tissue. J Surg Res. 2011;171(1):329–38.
- 341. Lohmeyer JA, Liu F, Krüger S, Lindenmaier W, Siemers F, Machens HG. Use of gene-modified keratinocytes and fibroblasts to enhance regeneration in a full skin defect. Langenbecks Arch Surg. 2011;396(4):543–50.
- 342. Perisic T, Zhang Z, Foehr P, Hopfner U, Klutz K, Burgkart RH, Slobodianski A, Goeldner M, Machens HG, Schilling AF. Biodegradable poly (lactic acid-co-glycolic acid) scaffolds as carriers for genetically-modified fibroblasts. PLoS One. 2017;12(4):e0174860.
- 343. Fire A, Xu S, Montgomery MK, Kostas SA, Driver SE, Mello CC. Potent and specific genetic interference by double-stranded RNA in Caenorhabditis elegans. Nature. 1998;391(6669):806–11.
- 344. Hausott B, Vallant N, Auer M, Yang L, Dai F, Brand-Saberi B, Klimaschewski L. Sprouty2 down-regulation promotes axon growth by adult sensory neurons. Mol Cell Neurosci. 2009;42(4):328–40.
- 345. Christie KJ, Webber CA, Martinez JA, Singh B, Zochodne DW. PTEN inhibition to facilitate intrinsic regenerative outgrowth of adult peripheral axons. J Neurosci. 2010;30(27):9306–15.
- 346. Wang Y, Zheng Z, Hu D. Inhibition of EphA4 expression promotes Schwann cell migration and peripheral nerve regeneration. Neurosci Lett. 2013;548:201–5.
- 347. Maurel P, Einheber S, Galinska J, Thaker P, Lam I, Rubin MB, Scherer SS, Murakami Y, Gutmann DH, Salzer JL. Nectin-like proteins mediate axon Schwann cell interactions along the internode and are essential for myelination. J Cell Biol. 2007;178(5):861–74.
- 348. Rooney GE, Moran C, McMahon SS, Ritter T, Maenz M, Flügel A, Dockery P, O'Brien T, Howard L, Windebank AJ, Barry FP. Gene-modified mesenchymal stem cells express functionally active nerve growth factor on an engineered poly lactic glycolic acid (PLGA) substrate. Tissue Eng Part A. 2008;14(5):681–90.
- Whitehead KA, Langer R, Anderson DG. Knocking down barriers: advances in siRNA delivery. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2009;8(2):129–38.

- 350. Kesharwani P, Gajbhiye V, Jain NK. A review of nanocarriers for the delivery of small interfering RNA. Biomaterials. 2012;33(29):7138–50.
- 351. van den Dolder J, Mooren R, Vloon AP, Stoelinga PJ, Jansen JA. Platelet-rich plasma: quantification of growth factor levels and the effect on growth and differentiation of rat bone marrow cells. Tissue Eng. 2006;12(11):3067-3073.
- 352. Hadjipanayi E, Kuhn PH, Moog P, Bauer AT, Kuekrek H, Mirzoyan L, Hummel A, Kirchhoff K, Salgin B, Isenburg S, Dornseifer U, Ninkovic M, Machens HG, Schilling AF. The fibrin matrix regulates angiogenic responses within the hemostatic microenvironment through biochemical control. PLoS One. 2015;10(8):e0135618.
- 353. Hadjipanayi E, Schilling AF. Regeneration through autologous hypoxia preconditioned plasma. Organogenesis. 2014;10(2):164–9.
- 354. Hadjipanayi E, Schilling AF. Hypoxia-based strategies for angiogenic induction: the dawn of a new era for ischemia therapy and tissue regeneration. Organogenesis. 2013;9(4):261–72.
- 355. Hadjipanayi E, Bauer AT, Moog P, Salgin B, Kuekrek H, Fersch B, Hopfner U, Meissner T, Schlüter A, Ninkovic M, Machens HG, Schilling AF. Cell-free carrier system for localized delivery of peripheral blood cell-derived engineered factor signaling: towards development of a one-step device for autologous angiogenic therapy. J Control Release. 2013;169(1-2):91–102.
- 356. Farghali HA, AbdElKader NA, Khattab MS, AbuBakr HO. Evaluation of subcutaneous infiltration of autologous platelet-rich plasma on skin-wound healing in dogs. Biosci Rep. 2017;37(2):BSR20160503.
- 357. Takamura M, Yasuda T, Nakano A, Shima H, Neo M. The effect of platelet-rich plasma on Achilles tendon healing in a rabbit model. Acta Orthop Traumatol Turc. 2017;51(1):65–72.
- 358. Teng C, Zhou C, Xu D, Bi F. Combination of platelet-rich plasma and bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells enhances tendon-bone healing in a rabbit model of anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. J Orthop Surg Res. 2016;11(1):96.
- 359. Schmidt CE, Shastri VR, Vacanti JP, Langer R. Stimulation of neurite outgrowth using an electrically conducting polymer. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 1997;94(17):8948–53.
- 360. Al-Majed AA, Neumann CM, Brushart TM, Gordon T. Brief electrical stimulation promotes the speed and accuracy of motor axonal regeneration. J Neurosci. 2000;20(7):2602–8.
- 361. Brushart TM, Hoffman PN, Royall RM, Murinson BB, Witzel C, Gordon T. Electrical stimulation promotes motoneuron regeneration without increasing its speed or conditioning the neuron. J Neurosci. 2002;22(15):6631–8.
- 362. Brushart TM, Jari R, Verge V, Rohde C, Gordon T. Electrical stimulation restores the specificity of sensory axon regeneration. Exp Neurol. 2005;194(1):221–9.

- 363. Geremia NM, Gordon T, Brushart TM, Al-Majed AA, Verge VM. Electrical stimulation promotes sensory neuron regeneration and growth-associated gene expression. Exp Neurol. 2007;205(2):347–59.
- 364. Gordon T, Amirjani N, Edwards DC, Chan KM. Brief post-surgical electrical stimulation accelerates axon regeneration and muscle reinnervation without affecting the functional measures in carpal tunnel syndrome patients. Exp Neurol. 2010;223(1):192–202.
- 365. Yeh CC, Lin YC, Tsai FJ, Huang CY, Yao CH, Chen YS. Timing of applying electrical stimulation is an important factor deciding the success rate and maturity of regenerating rat sciatic nerves. Neurorehabil Neural Repair. 2010;24(8):730–5.
- 366. Williams HB. A clinical pilot study to assess functional return following continuous muscle stimulation after nerve injury and repair in the upper extremity using a completely implantable electrical system. Microsurgery. 1996;17(11):597–605.
- 367. Williams HB. The value of continuous electrical muscle stimulation using a completely implantable system in the preservation of muscle function following motor nerve injury and repair: an experimental study. Microsurgery. 1996;17(11):589–96.
- Golas AR, Hernandez KA, Spector JA. Tissue engineering for plastic surgeons: a primer. Aesthetic Plast Surg. 2014;38(1):207–21.
- 369. Pourchet LJ, Thepot A, Albouy M, Courtial EJ, Boher A, Blum LJ, Marquette CA. Human skin 3D bioprinting using scaffold-free approach. Adv Healthc Mater. 2017;6(4):1–8.
- 370. Min D, Lee W. Bae IH. Croce P, Yoo SS. Bioprinting of biomimetic skin containing melanocytes. Exp Dermatol: Lee TR; 2017. In publication
- 371. Lee W, Debasitis JC, Lee VK, Lee JH, Fischer K, Edminster K, Park JK, Yoo SS. Multi-layered culture of human skin fibroblasts and keratinocytes through three-dimensional freeform fabrication. Biomaterials. 2009;30(8):1587–95.
- 372. El-Serafi AT, El-Serafi IT, Elmasry M, Steinvall I, Sjöberg F. Skin regeneration in three dimensions, current status, challenges and opportunities. Differentiation. 2017;96:26–9.
- 373. Gibran NS, Boyce S, Greenhalgh DG. Cutaneous wound healing. J Burn Care Res. 2007;28(4):577–9.
- 374. Grasman JM, Page RL, Pins GD. Design of an in vitro model of cell recruitment for skeletal muscle regeneration using hepatocyte growth factorloaded fibrin microthreads. Tissue Eng Part A. 2017;23(15-16):773–83.
- 375. Tremolada C, Palmieri G, Ricordi C. Adipocyte transplantation and stem cells: plastic surgery meets regenerative medicine. Cell Transplant. 2010;19(10):1217–23.
- Coleman SR. Facial recontouring with lipostructure. Clin Plast Surg. 1997;24(2):347–67.
- 377. Rigotti G, Marchi A, Galiè M, Baroni G, Benati D, Krampera M, Pasini A, Sbarbati A. Clinical treatment of radiotherapy tissue damage by lipoaspirate

transplant: a healing process mediated by adiposederived adult stem cells. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2007;119(5):1409–22.

- 378. Ferraro GA, De Francesco F, Tirino V, Cataldo C, Rossano F, Nicoletti G, D'Andrea F. Effects of a new centrifugation method on adipose cell viability for autologous fat grafting. Aesthetic Plast Surg. 2011;35(3):341–8.
- 379. Bi H, Jin Y. Current progress of skin tissue engineering: Seed cells, bioscaffolds, and construction strategies. Burns Trauma. 2013;1(2):63–72.
- 380. Nyame TT, Chiang HA, Leavitt T, Ozambela M, Orgill DP. Tissue-engineered skin substitutes. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2015;136(6):1379–88.
- Varkey M, Ding J, Tredget EE. Advances in skin substitutes-potential of tissue engineered skin for facilitating anti-fibrotic healing. J Funct Biomater. 2015;6(3):547–63.
- 382. Lewis MC, Macarthur BD, Malda J, Pettet G, Please CP. Heterogeneous proliferation within engineered cartilaginous tissue: the role of oxygen tension. Biotechnol Bioeng. 2005;91(5):607–15.
- 383. Rouwkema J, Koopman B, Blitterswijk C, Dhert W, Malda J. Supply of nutrients to cells in engineered tissues. Biotechnol Genet Eng Rev. 2010;26:163–78.
- 384. Sicari BM, Rubin JP, Dearth CL, Wolf MT, Ambrosio F, Boninger M, Turner NJ, Weber DJ, Simpson TW, Wyse A, Brown EH, Dziki JL, Fisher LE, Brown S, Badylak SF. An acellular biologic scaffold promotes skeletal muscle formation in mice and humans with volumetric muscle loss. Sci Transl Med. 2014;6(234):234ra58.
- 385. Thomopoulos S, Kim HM, Das R, Silva MJ, Sakiyama-Elbert S, Amiel D, Gelberman RH. The effects of exogenous basic fibroblast growth factor on intrasynovial flexor tendon healing in a canine model. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2010;92(13):2285–93.
- 386. Kaully T, Kaufman-Francis K, Lesman A, Levenberg S. Vascularization--the conduit to viable engineered tissues. Tissue Eng Part B Rev. 2009;15(2):159–69.
- 387. Haro H, Kato T, Komori H, Osada M, Shinomiya K. Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)induced angiogenesis in herniated disc resorption. J Orthop Res. 2002;20(3):409–15.
- 388. Nashimoto Y, Hayashi T, Kunita I, Nakamasu A, Torisawa YS, Nakayama M, Takigawa-Imamura H, Kotera H, Nishiyama K, Miura T, Yokokawa R. Integrating perfusable vascular networks with a three-dimensional tissue in a microfluidic device. Integr Biol (Camb). 2017;9(6):506–18.
- 389. Liu J, Zheng H, Krempl F, Su L, Machens HG, Schilling AF. Open Source 3D-printing approach for economic and fast engineering of perfusable vessel-like channels within cell-laden hydrogels. 3D Printing Addit Manufact. 2016;3(1):22–31.
- 390. Gudapati H, Dey M, Ozbolat I. A comprehensive review on droplet-based bioprinting: Past, present and future. Biomaterials. 2016;102:20–42.

- 391. DiVito KA, Daniele MA, Roberts SA, Ligler FS, Adams AA. Microfabricated blood vessels undergo neoangiogenesis. Biomaterials. 2017;138:142–52.
- 392. Burd A, Chiu T. Allogenic skin in the treatment of burns. Clin Dermatol. 2005;23(4):376–87.
- 393. Bottagisio M, Pellegata AF, Boschetti F, Ferroni M, Moretti M, Lovati AB. A new strategy for the decellularisation of large equine tendons as biocompatible tendon substitutes. Eur Cell Mater. 2016;32:58–73.
- 394. Bifari F, Pacelli L, Krampera M. Immunological properties of embryonic and adult stem cells. World J Stem Cells. 2010;2(3):50–60.
- 395. Yang R, Zheng Y, Burrows M, Liu S, Wei Z, Nace A, Guo W, Kumar S, Cotsarelis G. Xu X. Generation of folliculogenic human epithelial stem cells from induced pluripotent stem cells. Nat Commun. 2014;5:3071.
- 396. Metcalfe AD, Ferguson MW. Tissue engineering of replacement skin: the crossroads of biomaterials, wound healing, embryonic development, stem cells and regeneration. J R Soc Interface. 2007;4(14):413–37.
- 397. Chaudhari AA, Vig K, Baganizi DR, Sahu R, Dixit S, Dennis V, Singh SR, Pillai SR. Future prospects for scaffolding methods and biomaterials in skin tissue engineering: a review. Int J Mol Sci. 2016;17(12):E1974.
- 398. Liu J, Zheng H, Poh PS, Machens HG, Schilling AF. Hydrogels for Engineering of Perfusable Vascular Networks. Int J Mol Sci. 2015;16(7):15997–6016.
- 399. BaoLin G, Ma PX. Synthetic biodegradable functional polymers for tissue engineering: a brief review. Sci China Chem. 2014;57(4):490–500.
- 400. Reing JE, Zhang L, Myers-Irvin J, Cordero KE, Freytes DO, Heber-Katz E, Bedelbaeva K, McIntosh D, Dewilde A, Braunhut SJ, Badylak SF. Degradation products of extracellular matrix affect cell migration and proliferation. Tissue Eng Part A. 2009;15(3):605–14.
- 401. Griffin M, Nayyer L, Butler PE, Palgrave RG, Seifalian AM, Kalaskar DM. Development of mechano-responsive polymeric scaffolds using functionalized silica nano-fillers for the control of cellular functions. Nanomedicine. 2016;12(6):1725–33.
- 402. Yim EK, Sheetz MP. Force-dependent cell signaling in stem cell differentiation. Stem Cell Res Ther. 2012;3(5):41.
- 403. Ghassemi S, Meacci G, Liu S, Gondarenko AA, Mathur A, Roca-Cusachs P, Sheetz MP, Hone J. Cells test substrate rigidity by local contractions on submicrometer pillars. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2012;109(14):5328–33.
- 404. Zhang J, Pan T, Liu Y, Wang JH. Mouse treadmill running enhances tendons by expanding the pool of tendon stem cells (TSCs) and TSC-related cellular production of collagen. J Orthop Res. 2010;28(9):1178–83.
- 405. Vedadghavami A, Minooei F, Mohammadi MH, Khetani S, Rezaei Kolahchi A, Mashayekhan S, Sanati-Nezhad A. Manufacturing of hydrogel bio-

materials with controlled mechanical properties for tissue engineering applications. Acta Biomater. 2017;62:42–63.

- 406. Lipner J, Boyle JJ, Xia Y, Birman V, Genin GM, Thomopoulos S. Toughening of fibrous scaffolds by mobile mineral deposits. Acta Biomater. 2017;58:492–501.
- 407. Takakura Y, Matsui N, Yoshiya S, Fujioka H, Muratsu H, Tsunoda M, Kurosaka M. Low-intensity pulsed ultrasound enhances early healing of medial collateral ligament injuries in rats. J Ultrasound Med. 2002;21(3):283–8.
- 408. Walsh WR, Stephens P, Vizesi F, Bruce W, Huckle J, Yu Y. Effects of low-intensity pulsed ultrasound on

tendon-bone healing in an intra-articular sheep knee model. Arthroscopy. 2007;23(2):197–204.

- 409. Burnett MG, Zager EL. Pathophysiology of peripheral nerve injury: a brief review. Neurosurg Focus. 2004;16(5):E1.
- Dvali L, Mackinnon S. Nerve repair, grafting, and nerve transfers. Clin Plast Surg. 2003;30(2):203–21.
- 411. Valls-Sole J, Castillo CD, Casanova-Molla J, Costa J. Clinical consequences of reinnervation disorders after focal peripheral nerve lesions. Clin Neurophysiol. 2011;122(2):219–28.
- 412. Dellon AL. Evaluation of Sensibility and Reeducation in the Hand. Philadelphia: Wolters Kluwer Health; 1981.



24

Bone Tissue Engineering Challenges in Craniofacial Reconstructive Surgeries

Seyed Mohammad Zargar and Nima Jamshidi

24.1 An Overview of Craniofacial Defects

The craniofacial region has always been one of the most noticeable regions of the human body for physicians, surgeons, and engineers. This region consists of a wide variety of soft tissues as well as diverse bones, including frontal, occipital, parietal, and temporal bones (which form the cranium); the two jaws that are named maxilla and mandible; and other kinds like zygomatic, nasal, sphenoid, and ethmoid bones. It contains six various cavities that are cranial, orbital, nasal, oral or buccal, and middle and inner ear ones. Hence, not only is it directly pertinent to some critical functions including breathing, speaking, eating, seeing, hearing, etc., but it also plays an essential role in social relationships thus it is indubitably important to scrutinize different types of the defects and deformities of this region and discover the reasons why these appear.

Craniofacial deformities can be categorized into congenital, traumatic, and cancerous ones. According to The International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems (ICD-10) [1], congenital malformations and deformations are divided into several groups. The first one is craniosynostosis, that is, when some of the cranial sutures ossify before the brain has matured suitably. It brings about some alterations in the pattern of skull growth. For instance, scaphocephaly and oxycephaly can be mentioned. The second division is craniofacial dysostosis, which is defined as a disorder of bone development, such as Crouzon and Treacher Collins syndromes, as well as hypertelorism. Other deformities are classified into the third division. Examples are macrocephaly, platybasia, plagiocephaly, and saddle nose syndrome.

Cancer may lead to the devastation of both soft and hard tissues in the craniofacial region. Yet, traumatic injuries result in a great number of diverse craniofacial defects, including lacerations, blunt traumas, and burns. Vehicle accidents, chemicals, heat, electricity, assaults, and falls are some examples of such injuries [2]. Regarding the importance of the roles which the craniofacial region plays as well as the prevalence of its deformities, pondering over finding appropriate therapies has always been an interest of technicians, such as physicians, surgeons, and engineers. Although there have been grandiose notions for repairing the deformities of the craniofacial region, some have become pragmatic after passing standard tests. Some main methods of treatment are discussed in the next section.

S. M. Zargar · N. Jamshidi (🖂)

Department of Biomedical Engineering, Faculty of Engineering, University of Isfahan, Isfahan, Iran e-mail: n.jamshidi@eng.ui.ac.ir

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

D. Duscher, M. A. Shiffman (eds.), *Regenerative Medicine and Plastic Surgery*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19958-6_24

24.1.1 Available Therapies

Repairing the defects and deformities of the craniofacial region has always been a concern for specialists due to destructive impact thereof. No record is found from early Greek physicians, such as Hippocrates and Galen, with regard to craniofacial reconstruction. However, dating back to the Incan Empire, there is some evidence in which some valuable metals and gourds are reported to be utilized in order to repair craniofacial defects. The application of grafts, harvested tissues, in reconstruction surgeries was first published by Meekeren in 1668. He utilized canine bone to reconstruct a defect in the cranium of a Russian man. Afterward, in the late nineteenth century, further experiments resulted in more progress in craniofacial reconstruction surgeries. Moreover, the special circumstances provided by warfare in the twentieth century brought about a leap in reconstruction surgeries. The specialists, at that time, sought applicable metals and plastics to use for larger defects [3]. The advancement in reconstruction surgery methods applying distinctive grafts experienced an incremental trend with the passage of time. In this section, the main purpose is to discuss these methods and various grafts.

Bone defects can be of different sizes. They can be either as small as periodontal defects (in millimeters) or large, which are mainly traumatic or caused by surgical incisions or cranioplasty. The vivid similarity among most of the defects is the complicated 3D structure thereof. The main expectation of reconstruction surgeries is the restoration of the functionality that has been restrained as well as the appearance that need to be aesthetically reconstructed due to the severe dependency of social relationships on it [4]. All of the process must be pursued in a way that controls the morbidity of both donor and recipient sites [5].

There are three significant criteria to amend the functionality of any graft, namely osteoconductivity, osteoinductivity, and osteogenesis. Osteoconductive grafts are those whose surfaces permit the formation of new bone cells along themselves. However, osteoinductivity causes the supply of the factors that are required for boneforming cells to be recruited to the graft site and differentiate. In addition, osteogenic grafts benefit from bone-forming cells that can be induced or inducible. Thus, they can commence with the bone formation as soon as they are transplanted [4]. An ideal graft is the one which meets all the aforementioned criteria. Provided that the graft lacks osteoconductivity, the incorporation process of it into the recipient site declines intensely. Besides, if the graft is not osteoconductive, it does not tend to recruit bone-forming cells, such as osteoblasts and osteoprogenitors, and the stem cells cannot be differentiated due to scarcity of the needed factors. The circumstances exacerbate when the graft does not contain induced and inducible cells or in other words when the graft is not osteogenic.

Degradability is one of the vital factors depending on the purpose for which the graft is implanted. The condition that the graft is to stimulate bone formation and has to degrade as fast as the new bone tissue forms. Otherwise, degradability is absolutely a demerit for the grafts intending to contour the normal appearance or have mechanical functions. In this case, calvarial and cortical bones can be applied [6].

The ideal graft is the one which is not only osteoconductive, osteoinductive, and osteogenic but also suitably porous with interconnected pores. Porosity provides larger contact surface between the graft and recipient site and the cells thereof. So the osteoblasts can penetrate into the graft and form new bone structure and, on the other hand, osteoclasts can have a wider connection with the graft's surface so that resorption is facilitated. These are key to the incorporation of the graft into the recipient site. Besides, blood vessels are also required for nutrition delivery to the cells and their recruitment.

In reconstruction surgeries, the applied grafts can be classified into groups based on their source. Autografts are those which are harvested from the patient's own body. Spongy and cortical bones, bone marrows, and vascularized bones are examples of tissues that can be autografted. Autografts benefit from osteogenic cells which do not activate the immune system. However, surgeons encounter a higher level of morbidity at the donor site as well as a restrained amount of harvestable tissues [7]. Grafts that are harvested from a person who is genetically identical to the patient are called isografts. The merits and demerits of isografts are roughly the same as autografts due to the similarities in genetics.

The next group of grafts, allografts, are those that are harvested from another individual with different genetics from the patient. Allografts are mostly harvested from a cadaver and used as augmentation for autografts. Before being applied, these grafts are generally decellularized since there is a huge risk of transplant rejection by the immune system. Allografts are also treated in preoperational procedures for decreasing the chance of disease transfer from the cadaver to the patient [5, 6]. The last category of grafts is pertinent to xenografts that are defined as those harvested from animals. They can be bovine or porcine, or only collagen from such animals [8].

Grafts can be applied for various purposes such as filling a defect, mechanical functions, or triggering bone formation. There might be no need for its incorporation into the recipient site in some cases whereas large defects' reconstruction requires an incorporated graft. In other words, the graft has to be remodeled. The graft should allow bone cells to proliferate on its surface, that is, in contact with the recipient site. Afterward, the graft ought to begin its degradation process in order to permit the new bone cells to form the former normal tissue gradually. Deficiency of blood vessels restrains the remodeling process enormously [4, 9-11]. Thus, provided that the surgeon faces a huge loss of both soft and hard tissue, it is recommended to apply vascularized grafts since they can supply sufficient blood for the remodeling process. In the case of only hard tissue defects, nonvascularized grafts might also be applicable due to the ability of the recipient site to supply blood.

The incorporation quality depends mainly on the applied graft, recipient tissue, and the interface between graft-tissue and physiological capacities. One of the most influential factors of the applied graft is its degree of porosity. A more porous graft has wider contact with the recipient tissue. In osteoconductive grafts, the large surface allows much more bone cells to migrate and proliferate on it as well as facilitates the degradation process by permitting more osteoclasts to be in contact with the graft. In addition, being porous results in more blood vessels' invasion into the graft so the matrix will be demineralized and its proteins will be released, such as bone morphogenic protein (BMP), which provides osteoinductivity [4, 5].

Cortical bones are not porous in comparison with trabecular bones. Blood vessels and recruited cells can merely attach to the outer surface of such bones. Therefore, the integration process is prolonged and often incomplete. The application of vascularized grafts, even when they contain cortical bones, will accelerate integration [6, 9].

Another main challenge is for the graft to remain fixed in its place, as any strain may result in the failure of the remodeling process. There is a broad range of fixators and alloplastic materials, such as titanium reconstruction plate, that not only keep the graft strongly in its place but also assist the contouring procedure. For instance, according to Kim and Donoff (1992), titanium reconstruction plates that were applied in a lateral mandible reconstructive surgery showed acceptably low failure rate [4, 5, 12].

Vascularity and viability are the most important criteria for an appropriate graft bed or recipient site. The applied graft is needs access to the viable bleeding bed. Redundant reaming or high temperature throughout surgery might cause necrosis in recipient site's cells. On the other hand, other factors such as prior radiotherapy might jeopardize the success rate of reconstructive surgery due to its impact on vascularity and fibrosis of the recipient tissue. Thus, vascularized grafts are highly preferred in the cases that have experienced radiotherapy before reconstructive surgery. In these cases, anastomosis of the blood vessels should also be done in order to increase the success rate. In addition, prior surgeries and chemotherapy may become hazardous, in particular, in cases where tissue has been radiated simultaneously [4, 5].

A broad range of diverse grafts has been applied in reconstruction surgeries. In some cases, the hard tissue has been harvested whereas others have tried both hard and soft tissue that was concurrently harvested as vascularized pedicles. For instance, in an experimental study, calvarium bone grafts were used for 222 patients with mainly posttraumatic or congenital deformities [13]. Other grafts that have been used were harvested from various parts of the body such as acromion and spine of scapula [14], rib [15], radius [16], iliac crest [17, 18], tibial plateau [19, 20], fibula [21, 22]. Some studies reported the usage of myocutaneous free flaps that supply muscle mass, epithelial tissue, and blood such as trapezius and pectoralis major myocutaneous flaps [14, 23]. In some cases, even the resected tissue was applied as a graft [24].

24.1.2 Tissue Engineering Approach

Reconstructive surgeries with the application of grafts, including autografts, allografts, etc., are the best existing treatments for deformities in the maxillofacial region. However, there are some inevitable complications in these surgeries such as the probability of donor site morbidity, restraints in harvesting suitable tissue regarding the quality and the quantity thereof, and the vivid drawbacks of alloplastic materials. To address these complications, biochemical and biomaterial engineering are tried to be combined with cell transplantation studies in order to achieve a fabricated tissue or organ that not only reconstructs the defect but also does not trigger immune response when transplanted. This field of research is named Tissue Engineering and defined as "a new approach applying the principles of biology and engineering to the development of functional substitutes for damaged tissue" by Langer and Vacanti in 1993 [25-27].

Tissue engineering consists of three main strategies that are based on the materials utilized for treatment. Isolated cells or substitutes thereof can be used for improving the functionality of the tissue. There are some substances that can result in tissue formation induction. This strategy relied on the application of these materials. Engineered constructs, called scaffolds, can be utilized and implanted into a defect and lead to the reconstruction of the lost or deformed tissue [28].

24.1.3 Scaffolds

Three-dimensional structures, scaffolds are the main part of tissue-engineered constructs. Tissue engineering scaffold should benefit from some criteria such as biocompatibility in order to have an appropriate function when implanted. For preventing immune rejection, scaffolds must be biocompatible. In some cases, scaffolds are designed for a temporary function. So, they should degrade when their mission is completed. These scaffolds are supposed to be biocompatible in both implantation and degradation time. In other words, the products of their degradation must be nontoxic and safe, as well as themselves. Also, the degradation rate is important and has to be measured and well adjusted.

Since scaffolds are implanted to function as the extracellular matrix of the tissue, they should have suitable mechanical properties. In fact, the preferred scaffolds are those which mimic the native tissue properties. Similar to grafts, scaffolds should be adequately porous and penetrable. The size of pores and their interconnectivity are really important for cell and blood vessel invasion. The cells' diameter is the determinant of pore size. Suitable surface properties are vital as well in order to achieve cell attachment [29].

When a scaffold is to be designed, the first and foremost step is the selection of suitable materials. The materials should be biocompatible and biodegradable and have suitable mechanical and surface properties. A broad range of materials have been introduced with the potential of being used as scaffolds. They can be classified into four groups, namely, polymers, ceramics, metals, and composites [29–31].

24.1.3.1 Polymers

Polymers can be a golden choice for tissue engineering scaffolds due to their high ability to be designed in a way to address the needs. For this, their composition and structure can be altered [1, 32]. Polymers are divided into two groups of natural and synthetic ones, and each has its pros and cons. Natural polymers are derived from either plants or animal sources similar to the nature of human body, so they are less likely to be rejected by the immune system. Due to their origin, they have variations that may cause an inaccuracy in their engineering and functionality. Their major demerit to some extent are their weak mechanical properties [29, 33].

Collagen can be named as one of the major natural polymers that have been used as tissue engineering scaffolds. Although 28 different types of collagen are known, the collagen type 1 is found the most in human body tissues like bones, tendons and ligaments [34, 35]. Collagen is used because it is not only profuse but biocompatible. In addition, it has the ability to be highly porous and easily processed. Also, it is a hydrophilic and absorbable material having low antigenicity [36, 37]. In addition, some other natural polymers have been used as scaffolds and have shown good performance such as chitosan and hyaluronic acid [38, 39].

Synthetic polymers are aimed to meet the deficiencies in natural ones. They do not have variations and their degradation is always the same, on any patient. This similarity is due to chemical hydrolysis of synthetic polymers rather than an enzymatic one [29]. Some synthetic polymers that have been used for tissue engineering scaffolds are poly lactic acid, polyglycolic acid, and polycaprolactone [40–44].

In a study, the scaffolds made of poly-DLlactic-co-glycolic acid (PLGA) by solventcasting particulate-leaching technique were used for repairing defects in porcine mandible. The scaffolds were accompanied by porcine mesenchymal stem cells derived from ilium. The results were satisfactory and PLGA scaffolds could cause bone regeneration at the implantation site [40]. PLGA scaffolds were used in a rabbit mandible with pore sizes of 100–250 μ m and resulted in adequate bone formation [41].

Polycaprolactone was used in a dog's mandible in order to reconstruct the mandibular defect [42]. It was also implanted into the anterior mandible of a 71-year-old woman and the results illustrated new bone formation and higher bone volume in comparison with controls [43]. In another study, polylactic acid was used as a scaffold for a defect of critical size. The results were satisfactory, and the PLA scaffold could play a role in bone formation due to its proper mechanical properties and suitably low degradation rate [44].

24.1.3.2 Ceramics

Ceramics can be used widely as bone tissue engineering scaffolds due to their great biocompatibility and bioactivity [29]. Ceramics are highly osteoconductive [45] and osteoinductive [46–48]. Unlike the polymers that are mostly ductile, ceramics are stiff and brittle materials. They are usually used in combination with polymers [29] in order to obtain better characteristics.

There are a broad range of ceramics that have been used as tissue engineering scaffolds, such as hydroxyapatite [49, 50], bioglass [51], titanium oxide [52], and zirconia [53]. For instance, among ceramics, bioactive glasses are not only osteoconductive and bioactive [49, 54–57] but are also able to deliver cells [58]. Furthermore, their degradation can be controlled [59–61]. Bioactive glasses or bioglasses can be fabricated porously with suitable shape and pore size by replication technique [62–64]. In a study, a new sintering method was tested and bioglasses could achieve appropriate mechanical strength as well [51].

Hydroxyapatite (HAp) can be another example of widely used ceramics. Hydroxyapatite is used not only for tissue engineering scaffolds but also as a coating for implants and fillers. All of these applications are due to its high biocompatibility, even with soft tissues, low degradation rate, and proper osteoinductivity and osteoconductivity [28]. HAp is chemically kind of similar to the inorganic component of the bone matrix, so it can form strong chemical bonds with the recipient tissue [65]. HAp does not benefit from suitable mechanical strength. In a study, it has been shown that if HAp is used in nanoscale, the mechanical strength thereof rises [28].

Generally, the materials have to be selected properly in order to achieve suitable characteristics. However, there are some methods of fabrication that confer specific features to the scaffold such as porosity. These methods consist of firing powder and firing slurry [66]. Replication technique is an example [51]. The scaffolds that are fabricated via replication technique are suitably porous. For having a scaffold with desired characteristics, not only is it vital to choose a proper material but also by the use of some techniques, the characteristics of the chosen material can be manipulated as desired.

24.1.4 Cells

Embryonic stem cells (ESCs) are pluripotent stem cells which can be found in the inner cell mass inside the blastocyst. These stem cells have the potential to recreate every organ of the human body. For this, ESCs have to be divided into the groups of cells with the potential to work more specifically, called multipotent stem cells. Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) are derivatives of ESCs and play an important role in forming the craniofacial structure by differentiating to various forming cells, such as chondroblasts, osteoblasts, etc. [67]. Mesenchymal stem cells can be easily harvested, isolated, and proliferated. In addition, in freezing, they do not lose their osteogenic potential [5]. MSCs might be the best choice for tissue engineering approach.

Generally, stem cells' division is slightly different from other mature cells. Stem cells need to be constantly available inside the human body. Whenever they differentiate, they produce a cell with characteristics identical to their own. These identical stem cells remain inside various tissues and will be recruited and used whenever required [67]. So, although there are some available sources of MSCs inside the human body, the presence of these cells in a scaffold seems to be beneficial. For instance, for stem cell recruitment, there is a need for blood supply in the defect site while in some cases, in particular in large defects, blood supply shortage is clear. MSCs have been embedded in various kinds of scaffolds, such as adipose [68–73]. In a study, MSCs that were derived from adipose tissue were embedded in apatite-coated PLGA scaffolds and implanted into a large defect in calvarium. The results were satisfactory and MSCs could induce bone formation [73]. In some studies, MSCs were seeded in an injectable hydrogel, such as the composite of oligo (poly(ethylene glycol) fumarate) (OPF) and gelatin microparticles [74] or sodium alginate hydrogels [75]. Radiation therapy affects reconstruction adversely. It not only endangers vascularization but also makes an incremental change in apoptosis of the embedded cells [76, 77].

In order to induce chondro- or osteogenesis by stem cells that are embedded in a biocompatible and biodegradable scaffold, growth factors need to be added [67].

24.1.5 Growth Factors

There are various growth factors used concomitantly with scaffolds and cells in order to induce tissue formation. Some of them are discussed here, including platelet-derived, insulin-like transforming growth factors, as well as bone morphogenic protein and platelet-rich plasma.

Platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) is known to affect bone formation by amending the proliferation of both osteoblasts and osteoclasts [78, 79]. It improved bone formation when an absorbable scaffold containing it was implanted into a rat calvarial defect [80], and new attachment and bone defect filling were observed when implanted in monkeys [81].

Insulin-like growth factor (IGF) is one of the growth factors that seem to be effective on general growth of body skeleton [82]. Its systemic application for a critical-size defect in rats that were under radiation prior to reconstruction improved bone formation [83]. IGF has been mostly applied in combination with PDGF [84–86], and in a study, it was illustrated that these growth factors can lead to a dose-dependent improvement in bone formation when applied concomitantly [87].

Transforming growth factor beta (TGF β) is one of the most prevalent and multipurpose cytokines that generally have an influence on various tissue formations [88]. There are 30 proteins included in the TGF β superfamily, such as activin, bone morphogenic proteins, and TGF β s themselves [82]. These growth factors have been applied in various studies, albeit with somewhat vague results. Yet, it has been shown that the effectiveness of TGF β s is largely dependent on their carrier and its degradation pace [89]. For instance, TGF β_1 could not affect bone formation in the rabbit calvarial defects when it was administered freely; however, it vividly resulted in bone regeneration when embedded in a gelatin capsule [90].

Bone morphogenic protein (BMP), as is clear from its name, plays a role in the morphogenesis of bones, specifically three types: BMP2, BMP4, and BMP7. These three types have been shown to induce dose-dependent ectopic and orthotopic bone formation [91, 92]. Recombinant human bone morphogenic type 2 has been used for an elderly female patient in a polycaprolactone carrier and shown to induce de novo bone formation [43]. Some other studies, in particular animal studies, have tested the BMP [93–97].

Platelet-rich plasma (PRP) is a source of platelets produced by blood centrifuging. It benefits from a high amount of thrombocytes containing several prepacked growth factors, such as PDGF, TGF β , IGF, and VEGF (vascular endothelial growth factor) [82, 97, 98]. In some studies, the application of PRP has led to more bone volume and bone regeneration [42, 43].

24.2 Conclusions

The craniofacial region of the human body plays many vital roles in our lives; therefore, the defects in this site have to be considered as those of critical nature to be reconstructed. Implanting autologous grafts was a gold standard due to not triggering immune rejection, etc., yet, nowadays, the tissue engineering approach seems to be much better since it does not result in donor site morbidity nor does it have the problem of lack of suitable source in terms of quality and quantity. Tissue engineering approach is to implant or inject a biomaterial called scaffold that benefits from some criteria such as biocompatibility, biodegradability, porosity, etc., in combination with cells and some inducing factors in order to enhance the capability of the body to reconstruct the defect. Although a lot of work and experimental studies have been carried out in this regard, there is a broad range of studies that remain and hoped to be done for finding the best cure for these kinds of problems.

References

- 1. International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems 10th Revision (ICD-10)-WHO Version for 2016 http://apps.who. int/classifications/icd10/browse/2016/en#/Q75 Accessed 3/15/18.
- Wolford LM. Craniofacial deformities. 2017 http:// www.drlarrywolford.com/craniofacial-deformities. Accessed 3/16/18.
- Sanan A, Haines S. Repairing holes in the head: a history of cranioplasty. Neurosurgery. 1997;40(3):588–603.
- Elsalanty M, Genecov D. Bone grafts in craniofacial surgery. Craniomaxillofac Trauma Reconstr. 2009;2(03):125–34.
- Smith BT, Shum J, Wong M, Mikos AG, Young S. Bone tissue engineering challenges in oral & maxillofacial surgery. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2015;881:57–78.
- Bauer T, Muschler G. Bone graft materials. Clin Orthopaed Relat Res. 2000;371:10–27.
- Khan S, Cammisa F, Sandhu H, Diwan A, Girardi F, Lane J. The biology of bone grafting. J Am Acad Orthopaed Surg. 2005;13(1):77–86.
- Laurencin CT, El-Amin SF. Xenotransplantation in orthopedic surgery. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. 2008;16:4–8.
- Dell P, Burchardt H, Glowczewskie F. A roentgenographic, biomechanical, and histological evaluation of vascularized and non-vascularized segmental fibular canine autografts. J Bone Joint Surg. 1985;67(1):105–12.
- Goldberg V, Stevenson S. Natural history of autografts and allografts. Clin Orthopaed Relat Res. 1987;(225):7–16.
- Stevenson S, Li X, Davy D, Klein L, Goldberg V. Critical biological determinants of incorporation of non-vascularized cortical bone grafts. Quantification of a complex process and structure. J Bone Joint Surg. 1997;79(1):1–16.
- Kim MR, Donoff RB. Critical analysis of mandibular reconstruction using AO reconstruction plates. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1992;50:1152–7.
- Ilankovan V, Jackson I. Experience in the use of calvarial bone grafts in orbital reconstruction. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1992;30(2):92–6.
- Demergasso F, Piazza M. Trapezius myocutaneous flap in reconstructive surgery for head and neck cancer: An original technique. Am J Surg. 1979;138(4):533–6.
- Taggard D, Menezes A. Successful use of rib grafts for cranioplasty in children. Pediatr Neurosurg. 2001;34(3):149–55.
- Schwartz M, Cohen J, Meltzer T, Wheatley M, McMenomey S, Horgan M, Kellogg J, Delashaw J. Use of the radial forearm microvascular free-flap graft for cranial base reconstruction. J Neurosurg. 1999;90(4):651–5.
- McClintock HG, Dingman RO. The repair of cranial defects with iliac bone. Surgery. 1951;30(6):955–63.
- David D, Tan E, Katsaros J, Sheen R. Mandibular reconstruction with vascularized iliac crest. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1988;82(5):792–801.
- Hughes C, Revington P. The proximal tibia donor site in cleft alveolar bone grafting: experience of 75 consecutive cases. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2002;30(1):12–6.
- Tessier P, Kawamoto H, Matthews D, Posnick J, Raulo Y, Tulasne J, Wolfe S. Taking tibial grafts in the diaphysis and upper epiphysis--tools and techniques: IV. A 650-case experience in maxillofacial and craniofacial surgery. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2005;116(5 Suppl):47S–53S.
- Tideman H. Fibula free flap: A new method of mandible reconstruction. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1990;19(1):61.
- Schusterman M, Reece G, Miller M, Harris S, Urken M. The osteocutaneous free fibula flap. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1992;90(5):794–6.
- Ariyan S. The pectoralis major myocutaneous flap a versatile flap for reconstruction in the head and neck. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1979;63(1):73–81.
- Rossi G, Arrigoni G. Reimplantation of the mandibular condyle in cases of intraoral resection and reconstruction of the mandible. J Maxillofac Surg. 1979;7:1–5.
- Schimming RM, Schmelzeisen R. Tissue-engineered bone for maxillary sinus augmentation. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2004;62(6):724–9.
- 26. Payne K, Balasundaram I, Deb S, Di Silvio L, Fan K. Tissue engineering technology and its possible applications in oral and maxillofacial surgery. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2014;52(1):7–15.
- 27. Langer R, Vacanti JP. Tissue engineering. Science. 1993;260(80):920–6.
- Zhou H, Lee J. Nanoscale hydroxyapatite particles for bone tissue engineering. Acta Biomater. 2011;7(7):2769–81.
- Yang S, Leong K, Du Z, Chua C. The design of scaffolds for use in tissue engineering. Part I. traditional factors. Tissue Eng. 2001;7(6):679–89.
- Cohen S, Baño M, Cima L, Allcock H, Vacanti J, Vacanti C, Langer R. Design of synthetic polymeric

structures for cell transplantation and tissue engineering. Clin Mater. 1993;13(1–4):3–10.

- 31. Whang K, Healy K, Elenz D, Nam E, Tsai D, Thomas C, Nuber G, Glorieux F, Travers R, Sprague S. Engineering bone regeneration with bioabsorbable scaffolds with novel microarchitecture. Tissue Eng. 1999;5(1):35–51.
- Liu X, Ma P. Polymeric scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. Ann Biomed Eng. 2004;32(3):477–86.
- Ferreira AM, Gentile P, Chiono V, Ciardelli G. Collagen for bone tissue engineering. Acta Biomater. 2012;7(6):3191–200.
- Gelse K. Collagens—structure, function, and biosynthesis. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2003;55(12):1531–46.
- Brodsky B, Eikenberry EF. Characterization of fibrous forms of collagen. In: Leon W, Cunningham DWF, editors. Methods in enzymology. NewYork: Academic Press; 1982. p. 127–74.
- Glowacki J, Mizuno S. Collagen scaffolds for tissue engineering. Biopolymers. 2008;89(5):338–44.
- Miyata T, Taira T, Noishiki Y. Collagen engineering for biomaterial use. Clin Mater. 1992;9(3–4):139–48.
- Solchaga L, Yoo J, Lundberg M, Dennis J, Huibregtse B, Goldberg V, Caplan A. Hyaluronan-based polymers in the treatment of osteochondral defects. J Orthopaed Res. 2000;18(5):773–80.
- Di Martino A, Sittinger M, Risbud M. Chitosan: a versatile biopolymer for orthopaedic tissue-engineering. Biomaterials. 2005;26(30):5983–90.
- Abukawa H, Shin M, Williams W, Vacanti J, Kaban L, Troulis M. Reconstruction of mandibular defects with autologous tissue-engineered bone. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2004;62(5):601–6.
- Ren T, Ren J, Jia X, Pan K. The bone formation in vitro and mandibular defect repair using PLGA porous scaffolds. J Biomed Mater Res Part A. 2005;74A(4):562–9.
- 42. Rai B, Ho K, Lei Y, Si-Hoe K, Jeremy Teo C, Yacob K, Chen F, Ng F, Teoh S. Polycaprolactone-20% tricalcium phosphate scaffolds in combination with platelet-rich plasma for the treatment of criticalsized defects of the mandible: A Pilot Study. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2007;65(11):2195–205.
- 43. Schuckert K, Jopp S, Teoh S. Mandibular defect reconstruction using three-dimensional polycaprolactone scaffold in combination with platelet-rich plasma and recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein-2: de novosynthesis of bone in a single case. Tissue Eng Part A. 2009;15(3):493–9.
- 44. Schliephake H, Weich H, Dullin C, Gruber R, Frahse S. Mandibular bone repair by implantation of rhBMP-2 in a slow release carrier of polylactic acid—an experimental study in rats. Biomaterials. 2008;29(1):103–10.
- 45. Holmes RE. Osteoconduction in hydroxyapatite-based materials. In: Brighton CT, Friedlaender G, Lane JM, editors. Bone formation and repair. Rosemont: American Academy of Orthopedic Surgeons; 1994. p. 355–65.

- 46. Heughebaert M, LeGeros R, Gineste M, Guilhem A, Bonel G. Physicochemical characterization of deposits associated with HA ceramics implanted in nonosseous sites. J Biomed Mater Res. 1988;22(S14):257–68.
- 47. Zhang X, Zhou P, Zhang J, Chen W, Wu C. A study of HA ceramics and its osteogenesis. In: Ravaglioli A, Krahewsky A, editors. Bioceramics and the human body. London: Elsevier Applied Science; 1991. p. 408–16.
- Yuan HP, Kurashina K, de Bruijn JD, Li Y, de Groot K, Zhang X. A preliminary study on osteoinduction of two kinds of calcium phosphate ceramics. Biomaterials. 1999;20:1799–806.
- 49. Oonishi H, Kutrshitani S, Yasukawa E, Iwaki H, Hench LL, Wilson J, Tsuji E, Sugihara T. Particulate bioglass compared with hydroxyapatite as a bone graft substitute. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1997;334:316–25.
- Li S, De Wijn J, Layrolle P, De Groot K. Synthesis of macroporous hydroxyapatite scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. J Biomed Mater Res. 2002;61(1):109–20.
- Chen Q, Thompson I, Boccaccini A. 45S5 Bioglass®derived glass-ceramic scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. Biomaterials. 2006;27(11):2414–25.
- 52. Gerhardt L, Jell G, Boccaccini A. Titanium dioxide (TiO₂) nanoparticles filled poly(d, 1 lactid acid) (PDLLA) matrix composites for bone tissue engineering. J Mater Sci Mater Med. 2007;18(7):1287–98.
- Chen Q, Boccaccini A, Zhang H, Wang D, Edirisinghe M. Improved mechanical reliability of bone tissue engineering (zirconia) scaffolds by electrospraying. J Am Ceramic Soc. 2006;89(5):1534–9.
- Wilson J, Pigot GH, Schoen FJ, Hench LL. Toxicology and biocompatibility of bioglass. J Biomed Mater Res. 1981;15:805–11.
- Hench LL, Splinter RJ, Allen WC. Bonding mechanisms at the interface of ceramic prosthetic materials. J Biomed Mater Res Symp. 1971;2(part 1):117–41.
- Hench LL, Paschall HA. Direct chemical bond of bioactive glass–ceramic materials to bone and muscle. J Biomed Mater Res Symp. 1973;4:25–42.
- Hench LL, Paschall HA. Histochemical response at a biomaterial's interface. J Biomed Mater Res Symp. 1974;5(Part 1):49–64.
- Gatti AM, Valdre G, Andersson OH. Analysis of the in vivo reactions of a bioactive glass in soft and hard tissue. Biomaterials. 1994;15:208–12.
- Clark AE, Hench LL. Calcium phosphate formation on sol–gel derived bioactive glasses. J Biomed Mater Res. 1994;28:693–8.
- Hench LL. Sol–gel materials for bioceramic applications. Curr Opin Solid State Mater Sci. 1997;2:604–10.
- 61. Hench LL, Wilson J. Surface-active biomaterials. Science. 1984;226:630–6.
- Schwartzalder K, Somers AV. Method of making a porous shape of sintered refractory ceramic articles. United States Patent no. 3090094, 1963.
- Cowin SC. Bone mechanics. Boca Raton, FL: CTC Press; 1989. p. 1–4.

- Gibson LJ, Ashby MF. Cellular solids: structure and properties. 2nd ed. Oxford: Pergamon; 1999. p. 429–52.
- Tonino A, Thèrin M, Doyle C. Hydroxyapatite-coated femoral stems. J Bone Joint Surg. 1999;81(1):148–54.
- 66. Gauthier O, Bouler J, Aguado E, Pilet P, Daculsi G. Macroporous biphasic calcium phosphate ceramics: influence of macropore diameter and macroporosity percentage on bone ingrowth. Biomaterials. 1998;19(1-3):133–9.
- Mao J, Giannobile W, Helms J, Hollister S, Krebsbach P, Longaker M, Shi S. Craniofacial tissue engineering by stem cells. J Dent Res. 2006;85(11):966–79.
- Zuk PA, Zhu M, Mizuno H, Huang J, Futrell JW, Katz AJ, Benhaim P, Lorenz HP, Hedrick MH. Multilineage cells from human adipose tissue: implications for cell based therapies. Tissue Eng. 2001;7:211–28.
- 69. Zuk PA, Zhu M, Ashjian P, De Ugarte DA, Huang JI, Mizuno H, Alfonso ZC, Fraser JK, Benhaim P, Hedrick MH. Human adipose tissue is a source of multipotent stem cells. Mol Biol Cell. 2002;13:4279–95.
- 70. De Ugarte DA, Morizono K, Elbarbary A, Alfonso Z, Zuk PA, Zhu M, Dragoo JL, Ashjian P, Thomas B, Benhaim P, Chen I, Fraser J, Hedrick MH. Comparison of multi-lineage cells from human adipose tissue and bone marrow. Cells Tissues Organs. 2003;174:101–9.
- Gimble JM, Guilak F. Differentiation potential of adipose derived adult stem (ADAS) cells. Curr Top Dev Biol. 2003;58:137–60.
- Hicok KC, Du Laney TV, Zhou YS, Halvorsen YD, Hitt DC, Cooper LF, Gimble JM. Human adiposederived adult stem cells produce osteoid in vivo. Tissue Eng. 2004;10:371–80.
- Cowan CM, Shi YY, Aalami OO, Chou YF, Mari C, Thomas R, Quarto N, Contag CH, Wu B, Longaker MT. Adipose-derived adult stromal cells heal critical-size mouse calvarial defects. Nat Biotechnol. 2004;22:560–7.
- 74. Park H, Temenoff JS, Tabata Y, Caplan AI, Mikos AG. Injectable biodegradable hydrogel composites for rabbit marrow mesenchymal stem cell and growth factor delivery for cartilage tissue engineering. Biomaterials. 2007;28:3217–27.
- Shang Q, Wang Z, Liu W, Shi Y, Cui L, Cao Y. Tissueengineered bone repair of sheep cranial defects with autologous bone marrow stromal cells. J Craniofac Surg. 2001;12:586–93.
- Okunieff P, Mester M, Wang J, Maddox T, Gong X, Tang D, Coffee M, Ding I. In vivo radioprotective effects of angiogenic growth factors on the small bowel of C3H mice. Radiat Res. 1998;150:204–11.
- Okunieff P, Wang X, Rubin P, Finkelstein JN, Constine LS, Ding I. Radiation-induced changes in bone perfusion and angiogenesis. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1998;42:885–9.
- Hock JM, Cannalis E. Platelet-derived growth factor enhances bone cell replication but not differentiated function of osteoblasts. Endocrinology. 1994;134:1423–8.

- 79. Schliephake H, Bertram H, Lindenmaier W, Rohde M, Mayer H, Planck H. In-vitro engineering of human bone marrow derived mesenchymal stem cells (MSC) for tissue engineered growth of bone. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1999;28(Suppl 1):107–8.
- Chung CP, Kim DK, Park YJ, Nam KH, Lee SJ. Biological effects of drug loaded biodegradable membranes for guided bone regeneration. J Periodontal Res. 1997;32:172–5.
- Rutherford RB, Ryan ME, Kennedy JE, Tucker MM, Charette MF. Platelet-derived growth factor and dexamethasone combined with a collagen matrix induce regeneration of the periodontium in monkeys. J Clin Periodontol. 1993;20:537–44.
- Schliephake H. Bone growth factors in maxillofacial skeletal reconstruction. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2002;31(5):469–84.
- Thaller SR, Salzhauer MA, Rubinstein AJ, Thion A, Tesluk H. Effect of insulin-like growth factor type I on critical size calvarial bone defects in irradiated rats. J Craniofac Surg. 1998;9:138–41.
- 84. Stefani CM, Machado MA, Sallum EA, Toledo S, Nocti HJR. Platelet derived growth factor/insulin-like growth factor-1 combination and bone regeneration around implants placed into extraction sockets: a histometric study in dogs. Implant Dent. 2000;9:126–31.
- 85. Nacti FHJ, Stefani CM, Machado MA, Sallum EA, Toledo S, Sallum AW. Histometric evaluation of bone regeneration around immediate implants partially in contact with bone: a pilot study in dogs. Implant Dent. 2000;9:321–8.
- 86. Lynch SE, Buser D, Hernandez RA, Weber HP, Stich H, Fox CH, Williams RC. Effects of the plateletderived growth factor/insulin-like growth factor-I combination on bone regeneration around dental implants. Results of a pilot study in beagle dogs. J Periodontol. 1991;62:710–6.
- 87. Howell TH, Fiorellini JP, Paquette DW, Ofenbacher S, Giannobile WV, Lynch SE. A phase I/II trial to evaluate a combination of recombinant human plateletderived growth factor-BB and recombinant human insulin-like growth factor-I in patients with periodontal disease. J Periodontal Res. 1997;68:1168–93.
- Gao J, Symons AL, Bartold PM. Expression of transforming growth factor-beta 1 (TGF-beta 1) in

the developing periodontium of rats. J Dent Res. 1998;77:1708–16.

- 89. Yamamoto M, Tabata Y, Hing L, Miyamoto S, Hashimoto N, Ikada Y. Bone regeneration by transforming growth factor-beta 1 released from a biodegradable hydrogel. J Control Release. 2000;64:133–42.
- 90. Hong L, Tabata Y, Niyamoto S, Yamada K, Aoyoma I, Tamura M, Hashimoto N, Ikada Y. Promoted bone healing at a rabbit skull gap between autologous bone fragment and the surrounding intact bone with biodegradable microspheres containing transforming growth factor-beta 1. Tissue Eng. 2000;6:331–40.
- 91. Sandhu HS, Kanim LE, Kabo JM, Toth JM, Zeegen EN, Liu D, Delemarter RB, Dawson EG. Effective doses of recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein-2 in experimental spinal fusion. Spine. 1996;21:2115–22.
- Riley EH, Lane JM, Urist MR, Lyons KM, Lieberman JR. Bone morphogenetic protein-2: biology and applications. Clin Orthop. 1996;324:39–46.
- Higuchi T, Kinoshita A, Takahashi K, Oda S, Ishikawa I. Bone regeneration by recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein-2 in rat mandibular defects. an experimental model of defect filling. J Periodontol. 1999;70:1026–31.
- 94. Gerhart TN, Kirker-Head CA, Kriz MJ, Holtrop ME, Hennig GE, Hipp J, Schelling SH. Healing of segmental femoral defects in sheep using recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein. Clin Orthop. 1993;293:317–23.
- Cook SD, Baffes GC, Wolfe MW, Sampath TK, Rueger DC. Recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein-7 induces healing in a canine long-bone segmental defect model. Clin Orthop. 1994;301:302–11.
- 96. Bostrom M, Lane JM, Tomin E, Browne M, Berberian W, Turek T, Smith J, Woszeny J, Schildhauer T. Use of bone morphogenetic protein-2 in the rabbit ulnar nonunion model. Clin Orthop. 1996;327:272–82.
- Tozum TF, Demiralp B. Platelet-rich plasma: a promising innovation in dentistry. J Can Dent Assoc. 2003;69:664.
- Ramay H, Zhang M. Biphasic calcium phosphate nanocomposite porous scaffolds for load-bearing bone tissue engineering. Biomaterials. 2004;25(21):5171–80.



Translational Challenges: Lymph Node Tissue Engineering 25

Philipp Neßbach and Matthias M. Aitzetmüller

25.1 Introduction

Chronic lymphedema results from a progressive pathological condition of the lymphatic system. It is a combination of an accumulation of proteinrich fluid, inflammation, fibrosis, and hypertrophy of adipose tissue. This often leads to a clinical picture of disfigurement and decreased mobility and function. The dysfunction of lymphatic transport can be described as a lack of removal of net fluid efflux from the capillaries. An accumulation in the interstitium and following pressure on the skin is the result. This interstitial fluid is up to 90% reabsorbed by venous capillaries. In healthy patients, the remaining 10% are removed by lymphatic vessels to blood as lymph [1]. Macromolecules like proteins are first degraded by macrophages and normally afterwards also

P. Neßbach (🖂)

Department for Plastic and Hand Surgery, Klinkum rechts der Isar, Technical University of Munich, Munich, Germany e-mail: philipp.nessbach@tum.de

M. M. Aitzetmüller Department of Plastic and Hand Surgery, Klinikum rechts der Isar, Technical University of Munich, Munich, Germany

Section of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Department of Trauma, Hand and Reconstructive Surgery, Westfaelische Wilhelms, University of Muenster, Muenster, Germany e-mail: aitzetmueller@tum.de removed by lymphatic vessels from the interstitium [2]. Chronic lymphedema results from an imbalance in lymph transport.

Lymphedema is classified into primary and secondary causes. Among primary, all congenital causes are summarized. Furthermore, secondary lymphedema comprises all causes which are acquired by disruption of lymph transport. Congenital hereditary lymphedema as well as Milroy disease occur in the first 2 years of life. Milroy disease is an autosomal-dominant pattern which mostly affects lower extremities and causes intestinal lymphangiectasia and cholestasis [3]. It is known to be connected genetically to a mutation in the VEGFR-3 tyrosine kinase signaling pathway [4, 5]. Familial lymphedema praecox, also known as Meige disease, occurs during puberty. Another autosomal-dominant pattern which is associated with the loss of hearing, cerebrovascular malformations, vertebral defects, and distichiasis [6]. Lymphedema tarda is the primary form which occurs latest in life, that is, after the age of 35 [1].

The most prominent etiology of secondary lymphedema is filariasis secondary which is caused by a nematode *Wuchereria bancrofti* and affects more than 90 million people worldwide [7]. In industrial countries, female breast cancer and its treatment play an important role in the development of chronic lymphedema. According to the American Cancer Society, there are two million breast cancer survivors of which 20% suffer from chronic lymphedema [8]. In Germany there are

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

D. Duscher, M. A. Shiffman (eds.), *Regenerative Medicine and Plastic Surgery*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19958-6_25

approximately 1.2 million patients suffering from lymphedema [9]. Mostly upper extremities are affected by lymphedema with rates from 24% to 49% after mastectomy [10–14] and 4–28% after lumpectomy [15, 16]. Both main treatments for breast cancer patients, radiation and dissection of lymph nodes in the axillary region, increase the risk of chronic lymphedema [15, 17–20]. After introducing sentinel lymph node biopsy to detect breast cancer spread, a significant decrease in lymphedema cases had been shown in comparison to the traditional dissection of lymph nodes [21–25]. Various known factors such as obesity, infection, and trauma increase the risk of lymphedema for women after breast cancer therapy [11, 16, 26, 27].

25.2 Clinical Presentation and Diagnosis

Lymphedema is characterized by an accumulation of subcutaneous interstitial fluid and adipose tissue. Inflammation occurs simultaneously with the accumulation of fluid and the decreased removal of lymph fluid. This also leads to more fat deposition and lipogenesis which results in an increased activation of fibrosis and proliferation of connective tissue [28-30]. Subcutaneous tissue in patients becomes harder and fibrosis develops. Furthermore, hypertrophy of adipose tissue occurs. This first results in a swelling of the diseased site and is often characterized as fibrotic and soft, and turns into a hardened state over time. The International Society of Lymphology defined the clinical classification for lymphedema using the following terminology [31]:

- Stage I: Represents an early accumulation of fluid relatively high in protein content (e.g., in comparison with "venous" edema) and subsides with limb elevation.
- Stage II: Signifies that limb elevation no longer reduces tissue swelling, and pitting is manifest. Later in Stage II, pitting is less evident as tissue fibrosis supervenes.
- Stage III: Encompasses lymphostatic elephantiasis where pitting is absent and trophic skin changes such as acanthosis, fat deposits, and warty overgrowths occur.

Even though a swelling by itself does not induce serious symptoms, cellulitis may occur due to proliferation of microbes in the accumulated interstitial fluid. A common effect is the progression of lymphedema by lymphangitis, which results lymphatic vessels destruction. in Papillomatosis, hyperkeratosis, and skin breakdown are additional changes in skin quality that regularly occur [32]. Lymphangiosarcoma, Kaposi sarcoma, and lymphoma represent cutaneous malignant tumors which are rare complications of chronic lymphedema [33]. A subsection of women who developed a significant lymphedema following radical mastectomy and who were diagnosed with ensuing lymphangiosarcoma are suffering from Stewart Treves syndrome. Around 200 patients are reported up to now with a mean survival time of 19 months [34–38].

Patient history and clinical presentation are the basis for diagnosis of lymphedema in later stages (Table 25.1).

Common causes of limb edema are challenging to differentiate from early stages of lymphedema. Cardiac failure, protein-losing conditions, local etiologies including lipedema, vein thrombosis, myxedema, chronic venous insufficiency, and idiopathic edema are systemic causes for differential diagno-

 Table 25.1
 Symptoms and factors for lymphedema diagnosis

Associated symptoms
Chronic skin breakdown
Recurrent cellulitis
Clinical signs
Soft, pitting edema (early stage)
Cellulitis
Fibrosis and induration (late stage)
Hyperkeratosis
Papillomatosis
Peau d'orange skin changes
Positive Stemmer sign (lower extremity lymphedema)
Reported risk factors
Familial history of congenital lymphedema
History of infection
History of malignancy
History of radiation therapy
History of trauma
Obesity
Prior surgical procedures, particularly nodal dissection
Travel to geographical region with endemic filariasis

sis of lymphedema [1]. Positive Stemmer sign as well as peau d'orange changes in the skin and cutaneous and subcutaneous fibrosis are indicators for lymphedema during physical examination [39, 40]. Circumferential and volumetric measurements are commonly used for lymphedema documentation as well as comparison between a patient's healthy and diseased limbs. Tonometry, perometry, and bioelectric impedance analysis are noninvasive, advanced methods for clinical examination [41– 44]. Analysis in body composition typically make use of bioimpedance. This technology allows a direct measurement and is able to differentiate between edema and limb volume [45, 46]. Bioelectric impedance is a reliable and reproducible technique which has shown the capacity to indicate lymphedema in women following breast cancer treatment [47-49].

Magnetic resonance imaging, computed tomography, and lymphoscintigraphy are used if clinical examination is not capable of a secure diagnosis. Lymphoscintigraphy makes use of a radiolabeled marker which is intradermally injected and stains lymphatic vessels [50, 51]. Delayed transport of the radiolabeled marker, backflow, dermal diffusion, and meager visualization of lymph nodes and vessels are common anomalies for lymphedema [52]. Furthermore, computed tomography is a 100% specific and 97% sensitive technique to confirm lymphedema diagnosis [53]. Magnetic resonance imaging is more cost intensive but able to show a more detailed lymphatic structure. In addition it was shown to have similar sensitivity and specificity for lymphedema diagnosis, without exposure to radiation [54].

Radiologic examination techniques for lymphedema diagnosis are only necessary in cases in which patient history and physical examination are insufficient. For most patients, there is no need for lymphoscintigraphy, magnetic resonance imaging, or computed tomography, and clinical diagnosis guides the treatment algorithm.

25.3 Traditional Treatment

The most prevalent conservative treatment is complete decongestive therapy (CDT), which has become internationally recognized. More than 90% of lymphedema patients are treated with CDT. This therapy is supported by its four mainstays: manual lymphatic drainage, compression treatment, exercise, and skin care. It needs to be provided by specialized physiotherapists. In addition, CDT is a symptomatic treatment, which makes it necessary to perform CDT lifelong. The biggest disadvantages are the lack of disease elimination and the high expenditure of time. The use of special compression devices that mimic manual lymphatic drainage is rare. Due to the danger of centralized edema, this procedure is effective only in a small proportion of patients and must be supervised by physicians [55].

Since several decades various surgical procedures have existed; however, none has been established as a gold standard for lymphedema treatment. For a small group of patients, who are suffering from a special combination of lymphedema and lipedema, liposuction offers a longterm symptomatic improvement. However, tissue removal is a very stressful procedure, which is rarely performed today [56].

The goal of reconstructive surgery is to correct the cause of the disease by restoring lymphatic drainage. Reconstructive procedures are only offered in a very few specialized hospitals. Established operating procedures are bypasses between lymphatic vessels (lymphatic grafting) and connections between lymphatic vessels and veins (lymphovenous anastomosis). Both procedures use elaborate microsurgery with relatively high treatment risks and long surgical times [57-59]. Alternatively, an autologous transplantation of lymph nodes (microvascular lymph node transplantation), lymph node bundle with surrounding fatty tissue, in the sense of a free flap, is taken from a healthy site and microsurgically transplanted into the diseased site. Thereby blood vessels are connected to each other by complex microsurgery, resulting in higher risks for the patient and frequent problems at the donor site, such as secondary lymphedema. Among the existing surgical procedures, microvascular lymph node transplantation is the most promising [60–63]. A graphical overview of treatment options is provided in Fig. 25.1.



Fig. 25.1 Traditional and regenerative treatments for chronic lymphedema

25.4 Regenerative Treatment: Lymph Node Tissue Engineering

Tissue engineering and its area of clinical application, regenerative medicine, aim to regenerate the body's own tissue and organs by introducing the use of three-dimensional scaffolds, different cell types, and growth factors. The scaffold serves as temporary three-dimensional support structure for mechanical stabilization, organization, proliferation, and differentiation of the involved cells. Scaffolds take over the function of the extracellular matrix and are subject to correspondingly high demands. An ideal scaffold should have an interconnecting pore structure that allows the migration of cells and their supply of nutrients and oxygen [64, 65]. These properties were previously difficult to implement by using conventional fabrication methods for scaffolds. In traditional techniques (textile technologies, plastic processing), the results are not reproducible (pore size, mechanical properties, filament thickness), or cytotoxic or carcinogenic solvents are used. These residues have a negative influence on the biocompatibility of the scaffold. Through the introduction of additive manufacturing techniques in tissue engineering, many obstacles were overcome. The mechanical properties of the scaffolds could thus be controlled down to small levels and play an important role in the field of tissue engineering and especially in lymph node regeneration [66, 67]. A suitable scaffold should have the same biomechanical properties as the surrounding tissue at the time point of implantation. The degradation of the biodegradable polymer must fulfill requirements such as maintaining rigidity and the three-dimensional structure as well as allowing surrounding cells to migrate and proliferate [64, 66].

The high potential for regeneration of lymphatic tissue is characterized by numerous studies by Jaffe et al. and known since the 1920s [68]. In a rat model, they were able to show, that autologous transplanted lymph nodes regenerate within 6 days. These lymph nodes were previously transplanted avascular into muscular abdominal wall. Several years later, in the 1980s and 1990s the group Papst et al. introduced the concept of transplanting autologous lymph node fragments [69–71]. Lymph node fragments were transplanted in different anatomical regions (inguinal, mesentery of ileum, and omentum majus) of minipigs. Inguinal transplanted fragments showed good regeneration, whereas the omentum majus fragments did not show regenerative characteristics. The group Papst et al. [69] assumed that subcutaneously transplanted lymph node fragments are more capable of connecting to afferent lymphatic vessels than the fragments of omentum majus.

After several decades and with increasing progress in regenerative medicine, approaches of artificial lymph nodes were introduced [72]. The complex three-dimensional structure with cortex and the composition of various cell types is a big challenge for researchers [73]. First artificial lymph nodes were made using collagen sponges and stroma and dendritic cells [74]. These artificial lymph nodes were transplanted subcapsular into kidneys of immunodeficient mice. A secondary immune response was shown, starting from the artificial lymph node after antigen exposure. B and T cells migrated from the artificial lymph nodes to the spleen and bone marrow and became antibody-secreting plasma cells [74, 75]. Another approach is using polyurethane scaffold which is seeded with murine T zone fibroblastic reticular cells. A connection was discovered between interstitial flow velocity and the secretion of CCL21. At low flow rates, gene expression of CCL21 was downregulated [76]. CCL21/CCL19 and its receptor CCR7 have an influence on the migration of antigen-presenting cells and T lymphocytes from the periphery to the lymph nodes [77–79]. The mentioned artificial approaches combine the time-consuming cell isolation and culturing steps for the production of artificial lymphatic tissue.

A further development of the already referred methods is the introduction of the idea to combine autologous lymph node fragments and biodegradable scaffolds. There are two promising ideas combining lymph node fragments and scaffolds. On the one hand, Hadamitzky et al. [80], who used aligned nanofibrillar collagen scaffolds and, on the other hand, Kwak et al. [81, 82] who used polycaprolactone (PCL) tubes.

Hadamitzky et al. [80] performed a porcine model of secondary lymphedema in minipigs. Here, 10 aligned nanofibrillar collagen scaffolds (10–12 cm each) were implanted into the groin of a previously operated and irradiated minipig. Three months after implantation the scaffolds were analyzed histologically, the lymphatic function was determined by bioimpedance ratio, and the lymphatic regeneration was quantified by computed tomography. It was found that aligned nanofibrillar collagen scaffolds provide mechanical support for directed lymphangiogenesis. The density of lymphatic vessels increased as well as the lymphatic function improved.

The whole concept of Kwak et al. [81] is provided in Fig. 25.2. A lymphedema patient provides a lymph node from a healthy donor site. This removed lymph node is then fragmented and fixed inside the PCL scaffolds by using fibrin glue (bioartificial lymph node). Several of these bioartificial lymph nodes are then implanted close to an artery into the diseased region. In the following months, the bioartificial lymph nodes induce growth factor release and regeneration of the lymphatic system.

In previous studies, Kwak et al. used tubular, porous PCL scaffold in immunodeficient mice in combination with human lymph node fragments. After 8 and 16 weeks, samples were taken and histological and immunohistochemical staining were performed. It was shown that the combination of lymph node fragments and PCL scaffold result in higher vascularization as well as presence of lymphatic endothelial cells [82]. These cells are responsible and essential for building lymphatic vessels and regenerate lymphatic function.



Fig. 25.2 Method for bioartificial lymph nodes according to Kwak et al. [81]

25.5 Conclusions

Lymphedema patients often go through a long ordeal. They consult a number of physicians according to their cancer disease and following lymphedema symptoms. A well-documented clinical history and physical examination typically are sufficient to provide clear diagnosis of chronic lymphedema. In obscure cases, additional lymphoscintigraphy and/or magnetic resonance imaging lead to a diagnosis.

Even after diagnosis, the suffering of patients with chronic lymphedema is high. The existing options for treatment often do not contribute to a significant improvement in the quality of life. Complete decongestive therapy is effective, but is only symptomatic and needs to be continued lifelong [55, 83]. Microvascular lymph node transplantation is the most promising traditional treatment [60, 84]. The removal of a lymph node bundle with surrounding fatty tissue from a healthy region contains higher risks for inducing another lymphedema in the donor site [60, 84]. In order to avoid these risks, in the future, novel translational treatment approaches harnessing the possibilities of regenerative medicine are warranted.

The most innovative regenerative medicine paradigms are related to cell processing and culturing, which typically leads to a harsh regulatory situation which is time- and resources consuming. The approaches that combine autologous lymph node fragments and biodegradable scaffolds therefore are particularly promising. They do not require problematic regulatory processes because they are considered medical devices (no cell processing). Additionally, they promote true regeneration of the lymphatic system instead of treating the disease only symptomatically.

References

- Warren AG, Brorson H, Borud LJ, Slavin SA. Lymphedema: a comprehensive review. Ann Plast Surg. 2007;59:464–72.
- 2. Clodius L. Lymphatics, lymphodynamics, lymphedema: an update. Plast Surg Outlook. 1990;4(1):2–3.

- Smeltzer DM, Stickler GB, Schirger A. Primary lymphedema in children and adolescents—a followup-study and review. Pediatrics. 1985;76(2):206–18.
- Karkkainen MJ, Ferrell RE, Lawrence EC, Kimak MA, Levinson KL, McTigue MA, Alitalo K, Finegold DN. Missense mutations interfere with VEGFR-3 signalling in primary lymphoedema. Nat Genet. 2000;25(2):153–9.
- Irrthum A, Karkkainen MJ, Devriendt K, Alitalo K, Vikkula M. Congenital hereditary lymphedema caused by a mutation that inactivates VEGFR3 tyrosine kinase. Am J Hum Genet. 2000;67(2):295–301.
- Wheeler ES, Chan V, Wassman R, Rimoin DL, Lesavoy MA. Familial lymphedema praecox—Meiges disease. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1981;67(3):362–4.
- Szuba A, Shin WS, Strauss HW, Rockson S. The third circulation: radionuclide lymphoscintigraphy in the evaluation of lymphedema. J Nucl Med. 2003;44(1):43–57.
- Soran A, D'Angelo G, Begovic M, Ardic F, Harlak A, Wieand HS, Vogel VG, Johnson RR. Breast cancerrelated lymphedema—what are the significant predictors and how they affect the severity of lymphedema? Breast J. 2006;12(6):536–43.
- 9. Lulay G. Lymphödem. Chirurg. 2013;84(7):607–18.
- Schünemann H, carcinoma WNL a b. A study of 5868 cases. Deutsche Med Wochensch (1946). 1997;122(17):536–41.
- Petrek JA, Senie RT, Peters M, Rosen PP. Lymphedema in a cohort of breast carcinoma survivors 20 years after diagnosis. Cancer. 2001;92(6):1368–77.
- della Rovere GQ, Ahmad I, Singh P, Ashley S, Daniels IR, Mortimer P. An audit of the incidence of arm lymphoedema after prophylactic level I/II axillary dissection without division of the pectoralis minor muscle. Ann Roy Coll Surg. 2003;85(3):158–61.
- Ozaslan C, Kuru B. Lymphedema after treatment of breast cancer. Am J Surg. 2004;187(1):69–72.
- Hinrichs CS, Watroba NL, Rezaishiraz H, Giese W, Hurd T, Fassl KA, Edge SB. Lymphedema secondary to postmastectomy radiation: incidence and risk factors. Ann Surg Oncol. 2004;11(6):573–80.
- Coen JJ, Taghin AG, Kachnic LA, Assaad SI, Powell SN. Risk of lymphedema after regional nodal irradiation with breast conservation therapy. Int J Radiat Oncol. 2003;55(5):1209–15.
- Werner RS, Mccormick B, Petrek J, Cox L, Cirrincione C, Gray JR, Yahalom J. Arm edema in conservatively managed breast-cancer - obesity is a major predictive factor. Radiology. 1991;180(1):177–84.
- Schijven MP, Vingerhoets AJJM, Rutten HJT, Nieuwenhuijzen GAP, Roumen RMH, van Bussel ME, Voogd AC. Comparison of morbidity between axillary lymph node dissection and sentinel node biopsy. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2003;29(4):341–50.
- Erickson VS, Pearson ML, Ganz PA, Adams J, Kahn KL. Arm edema in breast cancer patients. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2001;93(2):96–111.
- Christensen SB, Lundgren E. Sequelae of axillary dissection vs axillary sampling with or without irradia-

tion for breast-cancer—a randomized trial. Acta Chir Scand. 1989;155(10):515–9.

- Kissin M, Della Rovere GQ, Easton D, Westbury G. Risk of lymphoedema following the treatment of breast cancer. Brit J Surg. 1986;73(7):580–4.
- Langer S, Guenther JM, Haigh PI, DiFronzo LA. Lymphatic mapping improves staging and reduces morbidity in women undergoing total mastectomy for breast carcinoma. Am Surg. 2004;70(10):881–5.
- Armer J, Fu M, Wainstock J, Zagar E, Jacobs L. Lymphedema following breast cancer treatment, including sentinel lymph node biopsy. Lymphology. 2004;37(2):73–91.
- Leidenius M, Leivonen M, Vironen J, Von Smitten K. The consequences of long-time arm morbidity in node-negative breast cancer patients with sentinel node biopsy or axillary clearance. J Surg Oncol. 2005;92(1):23–31.
- Purushotham AD, Upponi S, Klevesath MB, Bobrow L, Millar K, Myles JP, Duffy SW. Morbidity after sentinel lymph node biopsy in primary breast cancer: results from a randomized controlled trial. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23(19):4312–21.
- Soran A, Aydin C, Harlak A, Vogel VG, Johnson R. Impact of sentinel lymph node biopsy on lymphedema following breast cancer treatment. Breast J. 2005;11(5):370–1.
- 26. Box RC, Reul-Hirche HM, Bullock-Saxton JE, Furnival CM. Physiotherapy after breast cancer surgery: results of a randomised controlled study to minimise lymphoedema. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2002;75(1):51–64.
- 27. Kocak Z, Overgaard J. Risk factors of arm lymphedema in breast cancer patients. Acta Oncol. 2000;39(3):389–92.
- Smahel J. Adipose-tissue in plastic-surgery. Ann Plas Surg. 1986;16(5):444–53.
- 29. Ryan TJ. Lymphatics and adipose tissue. Clin Dermatol. 1995;13(5):493–8.
- Gaffney RM, Casleysmith JR. Excess plasmaproteins as a cause of chronic inflammation and lymphoedema - biochemical estimations. J Pathol. 1981;133(3):229–42.
- International Society of Lymphology. The diagnosis and treatment of peripheral lymphedema—consensus document of the lymphology. Lymphology. 2003;36(2):84–91.
- Mortimer PS. ABC of arterial and venous disease swollen lower limb-2: lymphoedema. Brit Med J. 2000;320(7248):1527–9.
- Ruocco V, Schwartz RA, Ruocco E. Lymphedema: an immunologically vulnerable site for development of neoplasms. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2002;47(1):124–7.
- 34. Offori T, Platt C, Stephens M, Hopkinson G. Angiosarcoma in congenital hereditary lymphoedema (Milroy's disease)—diagnostic beacons and a review of the literature. Clin Exp Dermatol. 1993;18(2):174–7.
- 35. Kirchmann TTT, Smoller BR, McGuire J. Cutaneous angiosarcoma as a second malignancy in a

lymphedematous leg in a Hodgkin's disease survivor. J Am Acad Dermatol. 1994;31(5):861–6.

- Sinclair SA, Sviland L, Natarajan S. Angiosarcoma arising in a chronically lymphoedematous leg. Brit J Dermatol. 1998;138(4):692–4.
- Azurdia RM, Guerin DM, Verbov JL. Chronic lymphoedema and angiosarcoma. Clin Exp Dermatol. 1999;24(4):270–2.
- Woodward AH, Soule EH, Ivins JC. Lymphangiosarcoma arising in chronic lymphedematous extremities. Cancer. 1972;30(2):562.
- Rockson SG. Lymphedema. Am J Med. 2001;110(4):288–95.
- Stemmer R. A clinical symptom for the early and differential diagnosis of lymphedema. Vasa. 1976;5(3):261–2.
- Bagheri S, Ohlin K, Olsson G, Brorson H. Tissue tonometry before and after liposuction of arm lymphedema following breast cancer. Lymphat Res Biol. 2005;3(2):66–80.
- 42. Moseley A, Piller N, Carati C. Combined optoelectronic perometry and bioimpedance to measure objectively the effectiveness of a new treatment intervention for chronic secondary leg lymphedema. Lymphology. 2002;35(4):136–43.
- Ward LC. Bioelectrical impedance analysis: proven utility in lymphedema risk assessment and therapeutic monitoring. Lymphat Res Biol. 2006;4(1):51–6.
- Cornish B. Bioimpedance analysis: scientific background. Lymphat Res Biol. 2006;4(1):47–50.
- 45. Watanabe R, Miura A, Inoue K, Haeno M, Sakamoto K, Kanai H. Evaluation of leg edema using a multifrequency impedance meter in patients with lymphatic obstruction. Lymphology. 1989;22(2):85–92.
- Mikes DM, Cha BA, Dym CL, Baumgaertner J, Hartzog AG, Tacey AD, Calabria MR. Bioelectrical impedance analysis revisited. Lymphology. 1999;32(4):157–65.
- Hayes S, Cornish B, Newman B. Comparison of methods to diagnose lymphoedema among breast cancer survivors: 6-month follow-up. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2005;89(3):221–6.
- Ward L, Bunce I, Cornish B, Mirolo B, Thomas B, Jones L. Multi-frequency bioelectrical impedance augments the diagnosis and management of lymphoedema in post-mastectomy patients. Eur J Clin Inv. 1992;22(11):751–4.
- Cornish BH, Chapman M, Thomas BJ, Ward LC, Bunce IH, Hirst C. Early diagnosis of lymphedema in postsurgery breast cancer patients. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2000;904:571–5.
- Weissleder H, Weissleder R. Lymphedema—evaluation of qualitative and quantitative lymphoscintigraphy in 238 patients. Radiology. 1988;167(3):729–35.
- Mcneill GC, Witte MH, Witte CL, Williams WH, Hall JN, Patton DD, Pond GD, Woolfenden JM. Wholebody lymphangioscintigraphy—preferred method for initial assessment of the peripheral lymphatic-system. Radiology. 1989;172(2):495–502.

- Witte CL, Witte MH, Unger EC, Williams WH, Bernas MJ, McNeill GC, Stazzone AM. Advances in imaging of lymph flow disorders. Radiographics. 2000;20(6):1697–719.
- Monnin-Delhom ED, Gallix BP, Achard C, Bruel JM, Janbon C. High resolution unenhanced computed tomography in patients with swollen legs. Lymphology. 2002;35(3):121–8.
- Case TC, Witte CL, Witte MH, Unger EC, Williams WH. Magnetic-resonance-imaging in human lymphedema - comparison with lymphangioscintigraphy. Magn Reson Imaging. 1992;10(4):549–58.
- Földi E. Therapie des LymphödemsTherapy of lymphedema. Hautarzt. 2012;63(8):627–33.
- Brorson H, Ohlin K, Olsson G, Svensson B, Svensson H. Controlled compression and liposuction treatment for lower extremity lymphedema. Lymphology. 2008;41(2):52–63.
- Baumeister RGH, Mayo W, Notohamiprodjo M, Wallmichrath J, Springer S, Frick A. Microsurgical lymphatic vessel transplantation. J Reconstr Microsurg. 2016;32(1):34–41.
- Koshima I, Nanba Y, Tsutsui T, Takahashi Y, Itoh S. Long-term follow-up after lymphaticovenular anastomosis for lymphedema in the leg. J Reconstr Microsurg. 2003;19(4):209–15.
- Chang DW, Suami H, Skoracki R. A prospective analysis of 100 consecutive lymphovenous bypass cases for treatment of extremity lymphedema. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2013;132(5):1305–14.
- Becker C, Assouad J, Riquet M, Hidden G. Postmastectomy lymphedema—long-term results following microsurgical lymph node transplantation. Ann Surg. 2006;243(3):313–5.
- 61. Schindewolffs L. Die Transplantation autologer Lymphknotenfragmente als Therapiemöglichkeit des sekundären Lymphödems: Einfluss der VEGF-C-Applikationsparameter auf die Regeneration und den Wiederanschluss der Transplantate. Bibliothek der Tierärztlichen Hochschule, Hannover 2012.
- 62. Honkonen KM, Visuri MT, Tervala TV, Halonen PJ, Koivisto M, Lahteenvuo MT, Alitalo KK, Ylä-Herttuala S, Saaristo AM. Lymph node transfer and perinodal lymphatic growth factor treatment for lymphedema. Ann Surg. 2013;257(5):961–7.
- Yan A, Avraham T, Zampell JC, Aschen SZ, Mehrara BJ. Mechanisms of lymphatic regeneration after tissue transfer. PLoS One. 2011;6(2):e17201.
- Hutmacher DW, Goh JCH, Teoh SH. An introduction to biodegradable materials for tissue engineering applications. Ann Acad Med Singap. 2001;30(2):183–91.
- Atala A. Engineering organs. Curr Opin Biotechnol. 2009;20(5):575–92.
- 66. Hutmacher DW, Schantz T, Zein I, Ng KW, Teoh SH, Tan KC. Mechanical properties and cell cultural response of polycaprolactone scaffolds designed and fabricated via fused deposition modeling. J Biomed Mater Res. 2001;55(2):203–16.

- Weitman E, Cuzzone D, Mehrara BJ. Tissue engineering and regeneration of lymphatic structures. Future Oncol. 2013;9(9):1365–74.
- Jaffe HL, Richter MN. The regeneration of autoplastic lymph node transplants. J Exp Med. 1928;47(6):977–U154.
- Pabst R, Rothkotter HJ. Regeneration of autotransplanted lymph-node fragments. Cell Tissue Res. 1988;251(3):597–601.
- Pabst R, Westermann J, Rothkotter HJ. Immunoarchitecture of regenerated splenic and lymph-node transplants. Int Rev Cytol. 1991;128:215–60.
- Rothkotter HJ, Pabst R. Autotransplantation of lymphnode fragments-structure and function of regenerated tissue. Scand J Plast Recons. 1990;24(2):101–5.
- Cupedo T, Stroock A, Coles M. Application of tissue engineering to the immune system: development of artificial lymph nodes. Front Immunol. 2012;3:343.
- Herbert L. Lehrbuch Anatomie. Fischer, Auflage-München-Jena; 2000.
- Suematsu S, Watanabe T. Generation of a synthetic lymphoid tissue-like organoid in mice. Nat Biotechnol. 2004;22(12):1539–45.
- 75. Okamoto N, Chihara R, Shimizu C, Nishimoto S, Watanabe T. Artificial lymph nodes induce potent secondary immune responses in naive and immunodeficient mice. J Clin Invest. 2007;117(4):997–1007.
- Tomei AA, Siegert S, Britschgi MR, Luther SA, Swartz MA. Fluid flow regulates stromal cell organization and ccl21 expression in a tissue-engineered lymph node microenvironment. J Immunol. 2009;183(7):4273–83.

- Forster R, Davalos-Misslitz AC, Rot A. CCR7 and its ligands: balancing immunity and tolerance. Nat Rev Immunol. 2008;8(5):362–71.
- Cyster JG. Chemokines, sphingosine-1-phosphate, and cell migration in secondary lymphoid organs. Annu Rev Immunol. 2005;23:127–59.
- von Andrian UH, Mempel TR. Homing and cellular traffic in lymph nodes. Nat Rev Immunol. 2003;3(11):867–78.
- 80. Hadamitzky C, Zaitseva TS, Bazalova-Carter M, Paukshto MV, Hou L, Strassberg Z, Ferguson J, Matsuura Y, Dash R, Yang PC, Kretchetov S, Vogt PM, Rockson SG, Cooke JP, Huang NF. Aligned nanofibrillar collagen scaffolds e Guiding lymphangiogenesis for treatment of acquired lymphedema. Biomaterials. 2016;102:259–67.
- 81. Kwak MS, Balmayor ER, Chhaya M, Hutmacher DW, Schulz T, Müller D, et al. Bioartificial lymph nodes—a new innovative concept for the treatment of chronic lymphedema patients. Lymphe Gesundheit. 2016:1.
- 82. Kwak MS, Balmayor ER, Schantz JT, Chhaya M, Hutmacher DW, Poh PSP, Machens HG, Muller DF. Implantation of tissue-engineered lymph nodes using polycaprolactone scaffolds in immunodeficient nude mice. Lymphol Forsch Prax. 2017;21(2):68–73.
- Szolnoky G, Dobozy A, Kemeny L. Towards an effective management of chronic lymphedema. Clin Dermatol. 2014;32(5):685–91.
- Becker C. Autologous lymph node transfers. J Reconstr Microsurg. 2016;32(1):28–33.



26

Implementing Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine Solutions in Silicone Implants

Jae Chul Lee and Chan Yeong Heo

26.1 Introduction

This chapter introduces the concepts of tissue engineering and regenerative medicine, presenting some of the previous work in this area. However, because biointegration, as applied to the interface between a silicone implant and a biological tissue, is a concept that is still in development, this chapter is in fact a mix of review articles and white papers to help disseminate ideas in the field of biointegration of tissues and silicone implants. It is important to note that this chapter does not describe the use of scaffolds, biomaterials, biomolecules, cells, and tissueengineered constructs, which are single-use, soft, biodegradable materials, and these will not be considered as "silicone implants" for the purpose of this discussion. This chapter presents the following: (1) a discussion on the need to improve the long-term integration of biological tissue and silicone implants; (2) an introduction to the problems of interfacing biological tissue and silicone implants; (3) a description of methods currently available to modify implants; and (4) a description of novel ideas drawn from tissue engineering, regenerative medicine, and biomedical engineering that may be applicable and useful to the implementation of interfacing biological tissue and silicone implants. These methods should be applicable to implants that are intended to be in place for an extended period of time, and, in most cases, indefinitely. There is a need to improve surgical silicone implants integration with surrounding tissues.

Nowadays, an incredible variety of devices using disparate materials (from plastics to metals) have been developed by researchers, constructed by the medical device industry, and implanted by surgeons. However, it is important to evaluate whether current medical implants and technology require substantial improvements, and, if so, how by understanding the shortcomings of these current devices. Existing literature about the failure rates and economic impact of all currently available medical implants is difficult to find. Nonetheless, it is possible to find specialized reviews by implant type, and the economic costs of implant failure have been evaluated for certain types of implants [1]. Moreover, some patients require multiple device replacements, and it is expected that the number

J. C. Lee

Department of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Seoul National University Bundang Hospital, Seongnam-si, Gyeonggi-do, Republic of Korea e-mail: beas100@snu.ac.kr

C. Y. Heo (🖂)

Department of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Seoul National University Bundang Hospital, Seongnam-si, Gyeonggi-do, Republic of Korea

Department of Plastic Surgery, College of Medicine, Interdisciplinary Program in Bioengineering, College of Engineering, Seoul National University, Seoul, Republic of Korea

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

D. Duscher, M. A. Shiffman (eds.), *Regenerative Medicine and Plastic Surgery*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19958-6_26

of medical procedures with more sophisticated implants and longer periods of implantation will increase in the near future due to an plastic surgery patients and the general population with several medical complications [2]. By any measure, the above figures are staggering, indicating a clear necessity for the improvement of the process of long-term integration of tissue and silicone implants.

26.2 Problems Associated with Medical Implants

Medical devices and surgical implants have seen a drastic technological improvement in the past few decades, widely extending their applicability and usability. In the field of cosmetic and reconstructive surgery, silicone implants are widely used [3, 4]. As such, there has been an increased interest recently to find solutions that better provide long-term integration with surrounding tissues and organs. A possible way to better biointegrate silicone implants and biological tissue may be to implement methods drawn from the field of tissue engineering and regenerative medicine to the areas in contact with medical implants, in addition to the normal approach of functionalizing or modifying surgical implants. Although silicone implants are approved for clinical use, local complications, such as capsular contracture, implant rupture, and gel bleeding, have not yet been fully resolved [5, 6]. One of the most serious complications is capsular contracture, which has been reported to occur in up to 30% of patients after the insertion of silicone implants [7, 8]. When a silicone implant resides in the body for a prolonged period, excessive fibrous connective tissue, which is mainly composed of collagen and fibroblasts, accumulates around it, isolating the implant from the local tissue environment [9, 10]. Subsequently, a contractile force originating from the collagen and myofibroblasts, which are differentiated from fibroblasts, causes capsular contracture around the silicone implant. In serious cases, this can require secondary surgery, posing a great deal of inconvenience to patients [7, 11].

26.3 Suppression of Cysteinyl Leukotriene to Reduce Capsular Contracture Around Silicone Implants

This pathological phenomenon usually occurs due to prolonged inflammation, resulting in chronic inflammation from acute inflammation [12]. In such a scenario, the period of acute inflammatory response can also be prolonged from days to weeks [13]. Once the silicone implant is inserted, acute inflammation initiates with infiltration of polymorphonuclear leukocytes (PMNs) from the blood vessels to the implant site [13]. Then, these PMNs secrete cysteinyl leukotrienes (CysLTs), which are potent inflammatory lipid mediators [14] and also involved in the recruitment and survival of PMNs via autocrine and paracrine signaling [15, 16]. The persistent presence of the silicone implant leads to chronic inflammation, in which CysLTs stimulate the migration and proliferation of fibroblasts [17, 18]. During this stage, fibroblasts differentiate into myofibroblasts and synthesize collagen, which is mediated by transforming the growth factor (TGF)-b secreted by the fibroblasts themselves [19–21], leading to the formation of capsules by fibrosis. Eventually, both the smooth muscle actin (i.e., a-SMA), which is expressed on the myofibroblasts, and tension, which is caused by collagen fibrils, cause capsular contracture, i.e., a contractile force around the silicone implant [9, 22, 23]. Therefore, inhibiting CysLT production may prevent the formation of capsular contractures. Furthermore, decreasing the number of CysLTs would reduce the recruitment and proliferation of fibroblasts, thereby decreasing the amount of myofibroblasts and collagen during the chronic inflammation stage. Montelukast is a potential therapeutic agent for the inhibition of CysLT production [24, 25]. Montelukast, a specific leukotriene receptor antagonist, selectively blocks the production of leukotriene D4 (LTD4) by binding to the type 1 CysLT receptor (CysLT1) located on the outer plasma membrane of PMNs [22-24]. This drug has been reported to inhibit the accumulation of fibroblasts/myofibroblasts as well as to inhibit

the deposition of collagen [26, 27]. It is already being used clinically to treat asthma or other allergic diseases caused by the overproduction of CysLT [28–31]. Therefore, to minimize or prevent capsular contracture, we recommend using a local, sustained release of montelukast around the silicone implant. We hypothesize that the formation of fibrous capsule, which occurs during the chronic inflammation stage, can be reduced by inhibiting the production of CysLT even during the acute stage of inflammation. Periodically, early suppression of CysLT should decrease the amount of PMNs, thereby reducing the amount of CysLTs, which are secreted by the PMNs themselves. Decreasing the amount of CysLTs would result in minimized recruitment and proliferation of fibroblasts during the chronic stage of inflammation [17, 32], leading to a reduction in TGF-b secretion, a decrease in myofibroblast differentiation, and a reduction in collagen synthesis, ultimately resulting in diminished capsular contracture.

26.4 Problems Associated with Silicone Implants and Biointegration

The main reason for the failure of implants is the lack of integration between the silicone implant and the tissue around it. Here, we define "biointegration" as the recurrent, long-term mechanical, biological, and physical adjustment of the interface between the surgical implant (silicone) and the surrounding biological tissue. An alternative, but not equal, term is "bio-functionalization"; however, this expression is better used to describe some of the methodologies for improving implant performance. The term bio-functionalization is also encountered in biomaterial technology to refer to the development of coatings of implant materials or the characterization and evaluation of silicone implants [33-37]. This idea behind biological integration has been proposed by tissue engineers or biomedical engineers to describe the short-term "integration" of biodegradable, soft scaffolds of varied sorts with tissues [38, 39]. This generally implies some type of cell and tissue penetration of the implant surface, requiring direct functional and structural connection between the tissue and the silicone implant.

26.5 Overview of Solid Implant Types

Solid implant materials commonly used in facial reconstruction include silicone (polydimethylsiloxane), Silastic (solid silicone elastomer; Michigan Medical Corporation, Santa Barbara, CA), GoreTex (expanded polytetrafluorethylene; W. L. Gore & Associates Inc., Flagstaff, AZ), MedPor (high-density porous polyethylene; Porex Industries, Fairburn, GA), and Mersilene (nonresorbable polyester fiber; Ethicon, Somerville, NJ). Other less common implant options include Supramid (polyamide nylon mesh; Ethicon), PMMA (polymethylmethacrylate), and Permacol (porcine dermal collagen; Tissue Science Laboratories PLC, Aldershot, United Kingdom) (Table 26.1).

Midface augmentation is generally used to address volumetric deficiencies of the soft tissue and skeletal framework, such as malar hypoplasia, submalar soft-tissue insufficiency, or a combination of the two [40]. Nasal implants are commonly used for dorsal augmentation, as well as for the correction of structural deficiencies and contour irregularities in primary and secondary rhinoplasties. Mandibular augmentation is most frequently used for defects caused by microgenia or a poorly defined mandibular angle border [40]. Poor projection of the pogonion and soft-tissue inadequacy of prejowl sulcus can be corrected with the use of chin, extended chin, chin jowl, or prejowl implants. The mandibular angle region can also be augmented to more sharply define its borders or provide lateral enhancement using posterior mandibular angle implants [41].

26.6 Solid Implant Complications

Several studies over the years have investigated the postoperative outcomes following facial reconstruction using different types of solid

Material	Description	Advantages	Disadvantages	Common uses
Silicone	Polydimethylsiloxane;	Greater degree of	Chronic inflammatory process	Forehead,
[41, 45, 50]	smooth, nonporous	augmentation, lower early risk of infection, easily carved, easily removed, low cost	leading to capsule formation, mobility of implant (leading to seroma, chronic peri- implantitis, extrusion), bone resorption, increased risk of late infection	malar, chin, premaxillary, nasal augmentation
GoreTex (ePTFE) [41, 45, 46, 51]	Fibrillated polymer with small pores (10–30 µm); sheets or premolded into desired shapes	Simplicity of operation, lack of capsule formation, minimal displacement/extrusion (fibrous tissue ingrowth), easily carved, good biocompatibility, easier to remove than larger pored materials	Limited amount of augmentation, slightly higher chance of infection (smaller pores decrease access of immunomodulators; hydrophobic so does not absorb antibiotic solution), higher cost, hardens in contact with blood	Forehead, mandible, orbital floor, zygoma, chin, malar region, nasal dorsum, nasolabial fold, lip implants
MedPor (HDPE) [41, 45, 46, 50, 51]	Similar to PTFE but larger pores (100–300 µm)	Lower infection risk long term (larger pores allow macrophage entry), minimal displacement/ extrusion (fibrous tissue ingrowth), less bone resorption, easier		
		subperiosteal plane), stability under subsequent trauma		

 Table 26.1
 Solid implant materials commonly used in facial reconstruction

ePTFE expanded polytetrafluorethylene, *HDPE* high-density porous polyethylene. Notes: An overview of the three most common solid implant materials—silicone, GoreTex (W. L. Gore & Associates Inc., Flagstaff, AZ), and MedPor (Porex Industries, Fairburn, GA). A general description of the material is provided along with the advantages and disadvantages seen with use of each material as well as the most common uses for each implant type

implants. Each type has advantages and disadvantages. Reported complications include infection, extrusion of the implant, malpositioning, irregular contouring of the overlying skin/ tissue, pain or patient discomfort, and hypoesthesia. The risks and complications of implants can be categorized according to the material and/or the location of the implant. Tables 26.2 and 26.3 highlight the most common complications.

Infection in the setting of alloplastic implantation has always been an issue, as these materials lack the vascular ingrowth seen with autologous grafts (and thus have a decreased ability to fight infection, if present), and additionally serve as a surface for bacterial colonization and biofilm formation. When it comes to implantation in the head and neck, it remains controversial as to whether porous materials (including MedPor, GoreTex, and Mersilene) have a greater risk of infection compared with their smooth counterparts (silicone). Several studies have evaluated the infection rates of GoreTex, MedPor, and silicone, with inconsistent results. Bacterial biofilm formation, which has been a well-known and well-studied problem in orthopedic surgery and ophthalmology, has recently gained much interest in the field of facial plastic surgery. Biofilms are relevant because they contribute to confounding scenarios, such as chronic or subacute infection, chronic pain, and delayed infection. In contrast to procedures performed in orthopedic surgery, however, facial plastic procedures are generally clean-contaminated, rather than sterile, and there is a question of whether these implants might be seeded with bacteria at the time of implantation, increasing the risk of infection and biofilm formation. In 2013, Desai et al. [42] published a case report documenting the presence

Material	Common complications	
Silicone [41, 44,	Late onset infection	
45]	Extrusion	
	Migration	
	Seroma formation	
	Chronic peri-implantitis	
MedPor [44, 46,	Early-onset infection	
48, 50, 51]	Extrusion	
	Fistula formation	
	Hypoesthesia	
	Palpable or visible implant	
	Difficult removal	
GoreTex [45, 46,	Infection	
51, 54]	Extrusion	
	Hardening of edges on contact with blood	
	Palpable or visible implant	
	Over augmentation	
	Seroma	
Mersilene mesh	Increased operative time	
[41, 51]	(secondary to formation of	
	implant in OR)	
	Decreased solidity	
	Smaller augmentation	
	Migration	
	Difficult removal	

Table 26.2 Complications seen with different implant materials

Table 26.3	Complications	seen	with	different	areas	of
reconstructio	n					

Location	Most common complications
Midface [40, 44, 47]	Inadequate correction or
	overcorrection
	Malpositioning
	Migration
	Infection
	Extrusion
	Hypesthesia/hypoesthesia
	Facial nerve injury
Orbit [47]	Diplopia
	Enophthalmos
	Infection
	Extrusion
	Migration
	Lacrimal duct obstruction
	Hematoma formation
	Erosion into maxillary
	sinus
	Lower eyelid deformity
Nose [43, 51, 55, 57,	Aesthetic failure
59, 60]	Migration
	Extrusion
Mandible/chin [40, 41,	Inadequate correction or
44, 48, 60, 62]	overcorrection
	Asymmetry
	Malpositioning
	Bone resorption
	Infection
	Extrusion
	Hypesthesia/hypoesthesia

OR operating room

Notes: Most common complications seen with use of different implant materials. Infection and extrusion are often seen with use of silicone, MedPor (Porex Industries, Fairburn, GA), and GoreTex (W. L. Gore & Associates Inc., Flagstaff, AZ), but less common with Mersilene mesh (Ethicon, Somerville, NJ). The porous materials (MedPor, GoreTex, and Mersilene) are more difficult to remove secondary to ingrowth of fibrous tissue. Silicone is easier to remove because of its smooth surface, but this also predisposes it to migration

of biofilm on a nasal GoreTex implant that was removed secondary to chronic infection. This was the first documented account of biofilm formation on nasal implants. This year, a study published by Walker and Toriumi [43] looked more closely at the presence of biofilms on explanted alloplastic facial implants. Four of the seven implants in the study were silicone, and the remaining three were MedPor. Six of the seven were nasal dorsal implants, and the seventh was a midface silicone implant. Only two of the seven implants were free of biofilm formation. For the Notes: The most common complications seen in different areas of reconstruction within the head and neck. Infection, extrusion, and migration can be seen with all implants, regardless of location. Patients with midface and mandibular/chin implants are more often predisposed to hypesthesia/hypoesthesia given the close proximity of the infraorbital nerve, the inferior alveolar nerve to the implant pocket. Chin implants are at highest risk for bone resorption given the pressure exerted on the implant by the overlying mentalis muscle. Aesthetic failure is commonly seen in areas with thin, taut overlying soft tissue, such as the nose

other two silicone implants, one was found to have focal areas of moderate-to-severe biofilm formation and the others had focal areas with diffuse moderate-to-severe formation. Evaluation of the MedPor implants revealed one with severe biofilm formation on the entire implant and the other two with areas with mild and severe biofilm formation. The authors concluded that both silicone and MedPor can promote and harbor biofilm formation, but biofilms appear to grow more readily and more densely on implants with rougher surfaces, such as MedPor [43]. However, this does not directly imply that MedPor is more susceptible to infection.

26.6.1 Silicone

Smooth implants, such as silicone, illicit a mild inflammatory reaction at the time of implantation and gradually develop a fibrous capsule around them, causing some authors to be concerned for possible infection and rejection in the near future. The rate of infection with silicone implants hovers around 3.9% with an extrusion rate of 2.9% [44]. Serna et al. [41] hypothesized that infection from silicone implants may be secondary to limited delivery of immunocompetent cells to the implant pocket due to the thick capsule. These implants also experience frequent shifts in position, given the smooth surface and lack of softtissue ingrowth, as well as higher rates of bone resorption compared with their softer, porous counterparts. If the implant pocket is too large, the mobile implant can induce persistent seroma or cause chronic peri-implantitis, both of which increase the tendency for extrusion [41, 45]. However, these implants are easily removed (because of the fibrous capsule), have lower costs, and are easy to use [41].

26.6.2 MedPor

MedPor is a high-density porous polyethylene material with a fairly large pore size (100–300 μ m) that allows for significant fibrous tissue ingrowth over time [46]. In a literature review by Ferreira et al. published in 2016, a broad spectrum of complications was noted for MedPor implants in facial reconstruction. These complications included diplopia, hypoesthesia, enophthalmos, limited eye movement, hematoma, infection, swelling, pain, displacement of implant, fistula formation, palpability of the implant, scar formation, seroma, and

dystopia. It is important to note that their review included the use of solid implants for orbital floor repair following blowout fractures [47]. Ridwan-Pramana et al. [48] looked at the outcomes from 69 MedPor facial implants and found an overall complication rate of 31.8%. This was significantly higher than the rates documented in other studies (which ranged from 10.3 to 26.3%). This is in part because the author included "patient dissatisfaction with appearance" as a complication, thus increasing the overall complication rate by 10%. This was the highest reported complication (10.1%), followed by infection (7.2%), enophthalmos (4.3%), limitation ocular movement (2.9%), diplopia, fistula, dizziness, and pain. The infection rate of MedPor varies from 0.9 to 12.5%, and much of this variation is attributable to the implant location [44, 48, 49]. Given the ingrowth of soft tissue seen with these implants, authors additionally report a more intense fibrotic reaction, and implant removal tends to be very difficult [50, 51]. In augmentation procedures using MedPor, overcorrection must be avoided as this can promote extrusion of material, especially when the skin is under tension and the soft-tissue mantle is damaged. However, if extrusion occurs, the surgeon can remove a part of the implant while leaving the remainder of the implant in situ [51]. Serna et al. also noted that MedPor has scant flexibility, requiring a submergence in warm saline to be able to bend the implant, as well as a larger incision to place it in the soft-tissue pouch without buckling or folding. They recommended fixation of the implant in place with osteosynthetic material, but this increases surgery time, cost of the procedure, and surgical complexity [41].

26.6.3 GoreTex

GoreTex is an expanded polytetrafluoroethylene material with medium-sized pores (10–30 μ m), permitting limited fibrous tissue ingrowth [46]. A meta-analysis by Peled et al. showed that the overall complication rate was lower when using GoreTex compared with MedPor or silicone

[52]. However, this does not mean that it is without its own complications, which include infection, extrusion, migration, shrinkage, and scarring [46]. Berghaus [51] revealed that polytetrafluorethylene (a nonexpanded form of GoreTex) failed to show the same biocompatibility and stability in both experimental and clinical models compared with MedPor, and was more susceptible to infection. The average rate of infection noted for mixed facial GoreTex implants is around 2.2% [44]. The expanded form of the material (GoreTex) seems to have better biocompatibility, but when used by Bracaglia et al. [53] to fill smaller defects in secondary rhinoplasty, they found high rates of infection and rejection (10.6%). Yang et al. also reported that the edges of the implant can harden when they come in contact with blood, leading to a palpable implant within the subcutaneous tissue. As a result, gaps form between the bone and the implant, resulting in increased augmentation and a possible formation of hematoma and seroma [54]. In addition, GoreTex tends to be more expensive compared with MedPor, silicone, and Mersilene.

26.6.4 Mersilene Mesh

Mersilene mesh is a woven polyester fiber net material with a pore size of approximately 120 µm, and is used mainly for volumetric correction in the region of the nose and chin. Ingrown connective tissues hold the mesh in place, but can make its removal difficult. The material generally has good outcomes with low complication rates [51]. Serna et al. [41] looked at the postoperative outcomes with several different implant materials used in chin implantation and found that Mersilene mesh has reasonably low infection and resorption rates (2.3%). However, there is increased operating time secondary to production of prosthesis on the spot. Additionally, they showed that the material lacks solidity of other materials, achieves a smaller degree of augmentation, and has slightly higher rates of displacement when compared with GoreTex and MedPor.

26.7 Complications Seen in Particular Implant Locations

26.7.1 Midface

Complications of midface implantation include inadequate correction or overcorrection, malposition, implant migration, infection, extrusion, nerve hypesthesia/anesthesia, and facial nerve injury [40]. For malar implants, the average infection rate is 2.4% and displacement rate is 2.3%. [44] In terms of orbital and periorbital implants, Rubin and Yaremchuk [44] noted high rates of extrusion with smooth implants, such as silicone (3.1%), as well as high overall rates of infection and extrusion, averaging 2.1% and 1.6%, respectively. de Moraes Ferreira et al. [47] found that the most common complication in orbital implantation was diplopia (3.85%), followed by enophthalmos (1.44%) and infection (0.41%). There were many accounts of late complications with orbital implants (especially silicone and GoreTex), as late as 21 years postoperatively. These included infections, extrusion, migration with hematoma formation, migration with lacrimal duct obstruction, erosion into the maxillary sinus, and lower eyelid deformity [44].

26.7.2 Nasal

The anatomy of the nose puts it at high risk of postoperative complications following implant placement. Its prominent position on the face makes it receptive to microtrauma and major blows. The lower two-fifths of the nose is also highly mobile, the soft-tissue coverage is very thin, and there is continuous strain by the host tissue on the implant [55]. When it comes to nasal reconstruction, several different alloplastic materials have been used [56]. GoreTex gained popularity in the 1990s, but before this, silicone, Supramid, Proplast (Vitek, Inc., Houston, TX), Silastic, and Mersilene mesh have been popular options. However, these materials were associated with high rates of complications, including infection, migration, resorption, extrusion, and difficulty with removal. Today, GoreTex, MedPor, and Silicone are most widely used. The main complications of these materials include aesthetic failure, dislocation/movement of the implant, infection (most commonly with Escherichia coli, Proteus, and Staphylococcus aureus), and extrusion (given the thin nasal skin, mucosal coverage of the implant, its dual-surface exposure and increased risk of subsequent nasal trauma) [43, 44, 57, 58]. Several studies have shown increased complication rates with secondary (revision) rhinoplasty and alloplastic graft use. Jin et al. [59] found a complication rate of 4.6% in revision cases, but only 1.9% in the primary rhinoplasty. Similarly, Godin et al. [60] looked at 309 rhinoplasties augmented with GoreTex implants and found an overall infection rate of 3.2%. However, there was a significant difference between infectious complications in the primary surgical procedures (1.2%) and revision surgical procedures (5.4%).

26.7.3 Mandibular

According to Vuyk [61], the ideal material for chin implantation should be natural in consistency with the ability to be molded well to the mandible that can easily be shaped and secured, but resistant to possible future trauma, and have minimal morbidity. Mandibular implant complications are fairly analogous to those of midface implants, and include inadequate correction or overcorrection, asymmetry, malpositioning, bone resorption, infection, extrusion, and nerve hypesthesia/anesthesia [40]. Several studies have focused on the complications of solid chin implants in particular, and were in agreement that one of the most common complications was dysesthesia secondary to manipulation of the mental nerves. This is seen in 20-30% of patients, more often with anatomical implants and larger implants; most patients resolve their symptoms over a period of several months [41]. Another complication is malpositioning due to incorrect design of the implanted pouch. This is seen more often with an intraoral approach, since a larger tunnel must be dissected to insert the prosthesis. In a study by Zide et al. [62] analyzing 100 cases of complications following chin implantation, they found that almost all problems occurred in implants placed transorally. They asserted that a disruption of the origin of the mentalis muscle from the mandibular symphysis with this approach led to problems with implant positioning and ultimate location as well as the appearance of the labiomental sulcus. However, Gross et al. [63] conducted a similar study looking solely at Mersilene chin implants and found no difference with respect to the complication rates between the transoral and submenapproaches. Regarding infection, the tal average rate with chin implantation was 1.4% [44], with the highest percentage of infections occurring in mandibular angle implants (27%) [48]. One of the most concerning complications of chin implantation is bone resorption. Morera Serna et al. [5] noted that this occurs to some degree with almost every implant, and seems to be secondary to the continuous pressure exerted by the mentalis muscle on the prosthesis, and in turn, by the prosthesis on the external bony cortex. Theoretically, the greater the degree of retrogenia and larger the prosthesis, the greater the activity of the muscle and the greater the bone resorption. Luckily, this bone resorption results in very limited aesthetic impact, and little impact on dental stability. Controversy still remains, however, on whether resorption continues/increases over time or is only seen during the first few months following implantation. A study by Godin et al. in 2003 [64] looked at GoreTex implants and found no signs of resorption with any implant. They found that 2 of the 324 implants became infected and were ultimately removed after failing multiple courses of antibiotics (one was placed transorally, the other submentally). Other complications included patient dissatisfaction with appearance (4/324) secondary to implant location.

26.8 Principles and Techniques for Avoidance of Postoperative Complications

26.8.1 Patient Selection

Appropriate patient selection is a very important part of any preoperative workup and evaluation before facial reconstruction with solid implants. Identifying ideal candidates for allogenic implantation is necessary, and recognizing those with high risk of postoperative complications (e.g., diabetics, immunosuppressed, smokers, patients with a history of facial radiation, those with preexisting septal perforation in the case of rhinoplasty) [56] is important to be able to determine whether the benefits outweigh the risks.

26.8.2 Choosing the Proper Procedure

With respect to midface reconstruction, preoperative examination is crucial in each patient to determine the ideal position of their malar prominence. This will help surgeons delineate whether repositioning of the soft tissue or implant augmentation is required. The soft tissues are then evaluated to determine the type of implant needed: malar, submalar, or combined malarsubmalar [40]. In chin augmentation, it is important to recognize that micrognathia, retrognathia, and vertical lower facial height inadequacy are not corrected using implants, but rather masked with these reconstructive techniques. Patient's maxillomandibular occlusion and facial proportions must be evaluated, and surgeons must then present all reconstructive options to patients, including implantation as well as more invasive (but comprehensively corrective) orthognathic and orthodontic procedures. Implantation can also be used as an adjunct to orthognathic procedures [40]. Additionally, genioplasty must also be within the surgeon's armamentarium when orthognathic surgery is not warranted and implants are not ideal for the selected patient.

26.9 Infection

There is no consensus among surgeons regarding the use of antibiotics or intraoperative techniques for the prevention of infection in facial implantation. There are only a few studies that focus on this issue, and most of them are retrospective reviews with inconsistent results. There are no formal controlled trials to confirm the efficacy of these techniques, thus it is difficult to develop evidence-based guidelines. However, there are several common practices employed by surgeons to help reduce postoperative infection:

- 1. Preoperative and/or intraoperative systemic antibiotics
- 2. Preoperative soak or impregnation of implant with antibiotics
- 3. Meticulous aseptic technique
- 4. Irrigation of the implant pocket with antibiotic solution
- 5. Watertight intraoral mucosal closure
- 6. Postoperative oral antibiotics

Brandt and Moore [40], in their review of facial implants, suggest a protocol for reducing infection and implant extrusion, based on existing literature. They advocate meticulous attention to implant sterilization preoperatively, as well as maintenance of wound sterility as best as possible (given that many of these procedures are clean contaminated). Their patients receive perioperative antibiotics, and the implants are submerged in an antibiotic bath (50,000 U/I bacitracin saline solution) before placement. Intraoperatively, the implant pocket is irrigated with an antibiotic solution, and patients with intraoral incisions perform postoperative 0.12% chlorhexidine gluconate mouth rinses to reduce risk of postoperative infection. Moreover, Morera Serna et al. [41], in their review of chin implants, advocate the use of careful aseptic technique during implant handling and intraoperative steps, the soaking of implants in antibiotic solution before use, and the airtight closure of intraoral mucosal incisions to prevent saliva entry into the implant pocket. Similarly, Niamtu [64] published a

technical note on cheek and midface implantation based on his operative experience. He suggests an intraoperative irrigation of the implant pocket (using 300 mg clindamycin in 30 mL sterile water) as well as postoperative antibiotics and a steroid taper. His overall infection rate was 1.5%. In the realm of augmentation rhinoplasty, Dong et al. [65] emphasized the importance of sterile technique, limited air exposure of implant and contact with other materials, soaking of implant in dexamethasone/gentamicin solution before placement, and the use of postoperative oral antibiotics. Their overall infection rate was 1%.

26.10 Intraoperative Antibiotics

Intraoperative antibiotics are almost unanimously given in head and neck surgical procedures, including facial reconstruction with implants. This is a known important component of infection prevention and a part of routine evidence-based practice. In the study by Ridwan-Pramana et al. [48] looking at the complication rates of MedPor implants, all patients received pre- and/or intraoperative antibiotics; however, the implants were not soaked in antibiotics before implantation, and they did not disclose whether patients received a course of postoperative oral antibiotics. The overall infection rate was 7.2%, which is on the higher end of the range documented in the literature. Some authors also suggest a short course of intraoperative and postoperative intravenous (IV) and oral corticosteroids to minimize the body's inflammatory response to the implant occurring in the immediate postoperative period.

26.11 Preoperative Antibiotic Soak or Impregnation

The use of alloplastic material preimplanted with antibiotics has been described in orthopedic surgery for years. Several different tech-

niques have been noted in the literature attempting to infiltrate selected antibiotics into porous alloplastic implants during head and neck reconstruction, including just dipping the implant into the antibiotic, completely immersing the implant in the antibiotic, and, finally, applying negative pressure to create suction and infiltrate the implant with the antibiotic. In 2009, Keefe and Keefe [66] published an in vitro study looking at the efficacy of the above techniques in preventing Staphylococcus growth on GoreTex and MedPor implants. They found that the negative pressure technique was most effective, with a statistically significant advantage over the other two techniques. This information is beneficial, but there is still a paucity of objective evidence in the literature suggesting that these intraoperative techniques are effective for preventing postoperative infection in vivo. In a prospective study by Niechajev [57] looking at complications following MedPor implantation, all implants were impregnated with cloxacillin using a suction infiltration technique before implantation. The author also reports the use of densely placed sutures to create a watertight seal, preventing contamination of the implant pocket with microorganisms, as well as a 7-day postoperative course of flucloxacillin. Their overall infection rate was 2.8%; all cases were nasal reconstructions. Several other authors are proponents of preoperative antibiotic soak or impregnation, especially during rhinoplasty [61, 65–71]. Although the rates of infection are relatively low in these studies, none of them are formally controlled trials, and there is little objective evidence that the above techniques are effective. Furthermore, in 2003, Godin et al. [72] investigated the complications following GoreTex chin implantation and found no difference in the infection rate between preoperative antibiotic soaking (gentamicin or bacitracin) and no preoperative antibiotic soaking. They did not discuss the use of perioperative systemic antipostoperative oral biotics or antibiotic prophylaxis.

Regarding postoperative treatment with antibiotics, some authors are strong proponents of a short (5–7 days) prophylactic course, while others express it is unnecessary when it comes to changing the postoperative infection rate. A study by Villarreal et al. in 2002 [71] looking at the complications following orbital floor reconstruction with MedPor implants found no difference in the infection rates among patients who received amoxicillin-clavulanate, those who received clindamycin, and those who received no antibiotics (p = 0.958) postoperatively. All of their patients received a pre- or intraoperative dose of IV antibiotics. Their overall infection rate was 12.5%. Another study by Shadfar et al. [56] evaluating the complications following MedPor implants for nasal reconstruction highlighted the use of perioperative and postoperative antibiotics (7-day course). They did not use preoperative antibiotic soaking for their implants, and their overall infection rate was 2.9%.

26.13 Implant Shaping

Pre- or intraoperative shaping of the implant is also an important step in the prevention of complications. Yang et al. described a modified carving technique for GoreTex to produce better curvature and a flush fit in the implant pocket. This technique involves the creation of multiple V-grooves on the posterior side of the implant. The center V-groove functions as an anchor for immobilization and positioning adjustment, and the margins of the implant taper imperceptibly into the bone [16]. Another modified shaping technique was described by Wong [73] for forehead implantation using a silicone. The author created corrugated edges and central perforations to permit smoother contour and fixation of the implant with minimal capsule contraction.

26.14 Surgical Approach

In terms of surgical approach for implant placement, both external and intraoral techniques have shown to be efficacious [40]. Several studies have looked at the risk of postoperative complications between these two approaches, and the results are inconsistent. Zide et al. [62] found that most of their complications following chin implantation occurred in cases of intraoral approach. They postulated that the increased complication rate was due to the release of attachments of the mentalis muscle as well as increased risk of wound contamination because of breach of the intraoral mucosal barrier. However, Gross et al. [64] and Godin et al. [72] looked at similar outcomes following chin implant placement and found that the risk of postoperative complication was equivocal between these two approaches. Regardless, it is accepted that intraoral incisions must be closed meticulously to ensure a watertight seal, preventing the leak of saliva into the implant pocket. Aynehchi et al. [74] published a study in 2012 advocating a vertical intraoral approach for chin augmentation. The authors argued that this approach preserved the attachment of mentalis muscle (reducing the risk of implant movement and malpositioning) while achieving augmentation results and complication rates equivalent to other approaches. However, Vuyk [61] favored a submental approach over an intraoral approach for silicone chin implant placement, as he endorsed lower infection rates with this approach and avoided suture line irritation. The submental approach does have a risk of small scar formation which is avoided with intraoral approach.

26.15 Intraoperative Techniques and Implant Placement

26.15.1 Chin Implantation

Irrespective of the surgical approach, a tightly dissected tissue pocket is critical for implant fixation. It is still debated whether this pocket should be subperiosteal or supraperiosteal [74]. Additionally, some authors (e.g., Godin et al. [72]) will leave the midline mandibular periosteum down, but elevate the subperiosteal tunnels to accommodate for the implant arms. A study by Vuyk [61] looking at silicone chin implants supported a subperiosteal insertion. The author emphasized caution when making the implant pocket, the right size, to prevent shifting (if too big) and buckling (if too small). He noted that the pocket should be kept below the labial mental sulcus, and effort should be taken to maintain fibrous attachments of soft tissue to the lower border of the mandible through the majority of the pocket to prevent inferior displacement of the implant toward the neck. Yang et al. [54] also supported subperiosteal insertion for the same reasons. In submalar implantation, an even more limited subperiosteal dissection is performed to avoid upward displacement of the implant during wound contracture. Fixation of the implant with suture or screws also helps prevent migration [40].

26.15.2 Mandibular Implantation

Brandt and Moore [40] detailed their intraoperative technique for placing mandibular implants, and endorsed the use of a tight subperiosteal pocket with rigid fixation of the implant using screws (or suture). However, one must ensure that the implant is not buckled within the tight pocket before fixation. In the prevention of mental nerve hypesthesia, knowledge of the anatomy is crucial, with the placement of the fixation screws above the mandibular foramen or along the posterior aspect of the ramus to avoid damage to the inferior alveolar nerve. Looking at lateral mandibular angle implants, the fixation is highly important, as these implants have a tendency for rotational, vertical, and horizontal displacements. Yaremchuk [50], on the other hand, favored a wide subperiosteal exposure of the area to be augmented, as this would enable accurate positioning of the implant and a tension-free closure. They felt that screw fixation was adequate in preventing movement of the implant. Additionally, it obliterates any gaps between the implant and the recipient bed. Elimination of movement is thought to hasten fibrous incorporation, minimize capsule formation, and decrease the risk of bone resorption. The combination of wide exposure and screw fixation also allows for in-place contouring of implant at the recipient site, eliminating the perceptible border between implant and recipient bed.

26.15.3 Midfacial Implantation

In terms of midfacial implantation, Brandt and Moore highlighted their intraoperative technique, noting the creation of a subperiosteal pocket over the region for implantation, which typically extends to the inferior orbital rim superiorly and masseteric tendon laterally. The authors noted that a dissection over the zygomatic arch and malar eminence should remain in the subperiosteal plane, with particular stress on proceeding with caution to avoid injury to buccal and frontal branches of the facial nerve. Additionally, knowledge of the anatomy is crucial as care must be taken to avoid infraorbital nerve injury [40].

26.15.4 Nasal Implantation

With the endonasal technique, success depends on a precise size of the implant pocket [57]. Dong et al. [65] highlighted the importance of decreasing the surface tension on the prosthesis and stabilizing the position of the prosthesis in GoreTex rhinoplasty. They provided the following guideline for prosthesis placement: After creating the prosthesis, there should be no sharp angles, especially in the tip region. If the cross-sectional area of the tip of the prosthesis is smaller than 4×4 mm², increased pressure on the skin may induce ischemia and ulceration; therefore, in such cases, they recommend the placement of autogenous cartilage to cover the tip of the prosthesis. The width of the columellar portion of the prosthesis must be trimmed to less than half the width of the columella to be free of tension in its desired location and prevent distortion of the implant in the dorsal tunnel. In terms of preventing migration, which can cause pressure on the local tissue, the authors support using an external rhinoplasty approach with a v-shaped incision, allowing broad exposure for implant placement. A silicone sizer is used to determine the appropriate size for augmentation, which prevents frequent placement of the implant into the pocket and subsequent distortion. The pocket must be dissected 1 cm wider than the prosthesis, as too small a pocket size may lead to bending or distortion, increasing surface pressure on the adjacent tissue (Table 26.4).

Table 26.4 Principles for avoidance of postoperative complications with solid facial implants

Patient selection	Identification of poor implant
I attent selection	candidates [56]
	Diabetes
	Immunosuppression
	Smokers
	Preexisting septal perforations
	Thorough preoperative
	examination [40]
	Repositioning versus augmentation
	Corrective versus masking
	procedures
	Type of implant needed
Infection [40,	Pre- and/or intraoperative systemic
41, 64, 72]	antibiotics [48]
	Preoperative soak or impregnation
	of implant with antibiotics [57, 61,
	64–70]
	Meticulous aseptic technique with
	implant handling, patient
	preparation, field sterility
	Irrigation of implant pocket with
	antibiotic solution
	Watertight intraoral mucosal
	closure
	Postoperative oral antibiotics
	[56, 71]
Implant shaping	GoreTex: Multiple V-grooves for
	anchoring, tapering of margins
	[54]
	Silicone: Corrugated edges and
	central perforations to permit
	smoother contour and better
	fixation [73]
Surgical	Intraoral versus extraoral
approach [40,	
60–63, 74]	

Table 26.4 (continued)

Intraoperative technique	Chin implantation [40, 59, 61, 62, 74]	
	Subperiosteal dissection	
	Appropriate tissue pocket size	
	Location of pocket	
	Fixation of implant	
	Mandibular implantation [40, 50]	
	Tight subperiosteal pocket versus	
	wide exposure	
	Fixation of implant	
	Location of screw placement	
	Midface implantation [40]	
	Subperiosteal pocket	
	Location (extend to infraorbital	
	rim and masseteric tendon)	
	Subperiosteal dissection over	
	zygomatic arch and malar	
	eminence	
	Nasal implantation [57, 64]	
	Precise implant pocket size	
	Open V-approach	
	Use of silicone sizer	
	Use of cartilage graft over tip of prosthesis	

Notes: Common principles and techniques for the avoidance of complications associated with solid facial implants. Careful patient selection and proper choice of operative procedure are both important preoperative considerations to ensure implant success. Additionally, techniques for infection control, including preoperative or intraoperative systemic antibiotics, sterile technique, soaking, or impregnation of the implant with antibiotic, irrigation of implant pocket with antibiotic, meticulous closure, and postoperative oral antibiotics are used by many surgeons to reduce complication risk. Preoperative implant carving, proper selection of surgical approach, and use of certain intraoperative techniques (specific to implant location) can also help reduce complications seen with solid implants

26.16 Conclusions

Approaches from regenerative medicine with respect to medical implants are somewhat novel concepts. Such approaches and methods are a new area in regenerative medicine as well. The objective of this chapter was to inform readers about the possibilities of learning from and adopting from concepts that are still in their nascent stages of development in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine to achieve total and permanent integration between silicone implants and surrounding biological tissues. Allogenic implants have become an increasingly popular alternative to autologous grafts in facial reconstruction. These materials have shown to be advantageous with respect to availability, donorsite morbidity, operation time, and cost. However, there are risks and complications associated with the use of these implants, many of which depend on the type of material used and the location of implantation. These include the use of meticulous aseptic technique, pre-/intra-/postoperative antibiotic administration, soaking or impregnating the implant in antibiotics, careful patient selection, and procedure selection, as well as certain surgical approaches and intraoperative techniques based on implant type and location. Larger, controlled trials are still needed to determine the efficacy of these techniques in reducing complication rates with the use of solid facial implants. It is possible that in the future, implants will be designed as a single unit with proactive delivery systems that simultaneously provide long-term access to the tissues. Artificial implants will continue to increase in complexity and number, while their failure rates will remain basically unchanged unless existing and novel methods are developed to better integrate them with the human body.

References

- Frasca D, Dahyot-Fizelier C, Mimoz O. Prevention of central venous catheter related infection in the intensivecare unit. Crit Care. 2010;14:212.
- Nath SS, Roy D, Ansari F, Pawar ST. Anaesthetic complications in plastic surgery. Indian J Plast Surg. 2013;46:445–52.
- Spear SL, Parikh PM, Goldstein JA. History of breast implants and the Food and Drug Administration. Clin Plast Surg. 2009;36:15–21.
- Champaneria MC, Wong WW, Hil IME, Gupta SC. The evolution of breast reconstruction: a historical perspective. World J. 2012;36:730–42.
- Bondurant S, Ernster V, Herdman R, Institute of Medicine (U.S.). Committee on the safety of silicone breast implants, safety of silicone breast implants. Washington, DC: National Academy Press; 2000.
- Takayanagi S. Complication of breast implant. J Jpn Soc Aesthet Plast Surg. 2006;28:180–5.
- Gabriel SE, Woods JE, O'Fallon WM, Beard CM, Kurland LT, Melton LJ. Complications leading to

surgery after breast implantation. N Engl J Med. 1997;336:677-82.

- Momoh AO, Ahmed R, Kelley BP, Aliu O, Kidwell KM, Kozlow JH, Chung KC. A systematic review of complications of implant-based breast reconstruction with prereconstruction and postreconstruction radiotherapy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21:118–24.
- Roche W. Fibroblasts and fibrosis. Clin Exp Allergy. 1991;21:635–6.
- Wynn TA, Ramalingam TR. Mechanisms of fibrosis: therapeutic translation for fibrotic disease. Nat Med. 2012;18:1028–40.
- Handel N, Jensen JA, Black Q, Waisman JR, Silverstein MJ. The fate of breast implants: a critical analysis of complications and outcomes. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1995;97:1521–33.
- Jones KS. Effects of biomaterial-induced inflammation on fibrosis and rejection. Semin Immunol. 2008;20:130–6.
- Anderson JM. Mechanisms of inflammation and infection with implanted devices. Cardiovasc Pathol. 1993;2:33–41.
- Peters-Golden M, Henderson WR Jr. Leukotrienes. N Engl J Med. 2007;357:1841–54.
- Busse W, Kraft M. Cysteinyl leukotrienes in allergic inflammation strategic target for therapy. Chest. 2005;127:1312–26.
- 16. Figueroa DJ, Breyer RM, Defoe SK, Kargman S, Daugherty BL, Waldburger K, Liu Q, Clements M, Zeng Z, O'Neill GP, Jones TR, Lynch KR, Austin CP, Evans JF. Expression of the cysteinyl leukotriene 1 receptor innormal human lung and peripheral blood leukocytes. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2001;163:226–33.
- Baud L, Perez J, Denis M, Ardaillou R. Modulation of fibroblast proliferation by sulfidopeptide leukotrienes: effect of indomethacin. J Immunol. 1987;138:1190–5.
- Darby IA, Hewitson TD. Fibroblast differentiation in wound healing and fibrosis. Int Rev Cytol. 2007;257:143–79.
- AshcroftGS. Bidirectional regulation of macrophage function by TGF-b. Microbes Infect. 1999;1:1275–82.
- Wahl SM. Transforming growth factor beta (TGF-b) in inflammation: a cause and a cure. J Clin Immunol. 1992;12:61–74.
- Danielpour D, Dart LL, Flanders KC, Roberts AB, Sporn MB. Immunodetection and quantitation of the two forms of transforming growth factor-beta (TGFb1 and TGF-b2) secreted by cells in culture. J Cell Physiol. 1989;138:79–86.
- Hinz B. Formation and function of the myofibroblast during tissue repair. J Invest Dermatol. 2007;127:526–37.
- Gasset AR, Dohlman CH. The tensile strength of corneal wounds. Arch Ophthalmol. 1968;79:595–602.
- Tintinger GR, Feldman C, Theron AJ, Anderson R. Montelukast: more than acysteinyl leukotriene receptor antagonist? Sci World J. 2010;10:2403–13.
- 25. Jones T, Labelle M, Belley M, Champion E, Charette L, Evans J, Ford-Hutchinson A, Gauthier JY, Lord

A, Masson P. Pharmacology of montelukast sodium (SingulairTM), a potent and selective leukotriene D4 receptor antagonist. Can J Physiol Pharm. 1995;73:191–201.

- 26. Eap R, Jacques E, Semlali A, Plante S, Chakir J. Cysteinyl leukotrienes regulate TGF-b 1 and collagen production by bronchial fibroblasts obtained from asthmatic subjects. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids. 2012;86:127–33.
- Asakura T, Ishii Y, Chibana K, Fukuda T. Leukotriene D4 stimulates collagen production from myofibroblasts transformed by TGF-b. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2004;114:310–5.
- Gizycki MJ, Adelroth E, Rogers AV, O'Byrne PM, Jeffery PK. Myofibroblast involvement in the allergen-induced late response in mild atopic asthma. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 1997;16:664–73.
- Vignola AM, Mirabella F, Costanzo G, Di Giorgi R, Gjomarkaj M, Bellia V, Bonsignore G. Airway remodeling in asthma. Chest. 2003;123(3 Suppl):S417–S22.
- Smith TL, Sautter NB. Is montelukast indicated for treatment of chronic rhinosinusitis with polyposis? Laryngoscope. 2014;124:1735–6.
- Steinke JW, Kennedy JL. Leukotriene inhibitors in sinusitis. Curr Infect Dis Rep. 2012;14:147–54.
- 32. Kato J, Kohyama T, Okazaki H, Desaki M, Nagase T, Rennard SI, Takizawa H. Leukotriene D4 potentiates fibronectin-induced migration of human lung fibroblasts. Clin Immunol. 2005;117:177–81.
- 33. Silva EN, Ribas-Filho JM, Czeczko NG, Pachnicki JP, Netto MR, Lipinski LC, Noronha L, Colman J, Zeni JO, Carvalho CA. Histological evaluation of capsules formed by silicon implants coated with polyurethane foam and with a textured surface in rats. Acta Cir Bras. 2016;31:774–82.
- 34. Boudot C, Kühn M, Kühn-Kauffeldt M, Schein J. Vacuum arc plasma deposition of thin titanium dioxide films on silicone elastomer as a functional coating for medical applications. Mater Sci Eng C Mater Biol Appl. 2017;74:508–14.
- 35. Zhi Z, Su Y, Xi Y, Tian L, Xu M, Wang Q, Padidan S, Li P, Huang W. Dual-functional polyethylene glycolb-polyhexanide surface coating with in vitro and in vivo antimicrobial and antifouling activities. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces. 2017;9:10383–97.
- Song HS, Park TH. Integration of biomolecules and nanomaterials: towards highly selective and sensitive biosensors. Biotechnol J. 2011;6(11):1310–6.
- Stynes G, Kiroff GK, Morrison WA, Kirkland MA. Tissue compatibility of biomaterials: benefits and problems of skin biointegration. ANZ J Surg. 2008;78:654–9.
- 38. Siegel RA, Gu Y, Lei M, Baldi A, Nuxoll EE, Ziaie B. Hard and soft micro- and nanofabrication: an integrated approach to hydrogel based biosensing and drug delivery. J Control Release. 2009;141:303–13.
- Moroni L, Elisseeff JH. Biomaterials engineered for integration. Mater Today. 2008;11:44–51.

- Brandt MG, Moore CC. Implants in facial skeletal augmentation. Curr Opin Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2013;21:396–9.
- Morera Serna E, Scola Pliego E, Mir Ulldemolins N, Martínez Morán A. Treatment of chin deformities. Acta Otorrinolaringol Esp. 2008;59:349–58.
- Desai SC, Moradzadeh A, Branham G. Anatomical evidence of microbial biofilms in an alloplastic nasal implant. Aesthet Plast Surg. 2013;37:468–71.
- Walker TJ, Toriumi DM. Analysis of facial implants for bacterial biofilm formation using scanning electron microscopy. JAMA Facial Plast Surg. 2016;18:299–304.
- 44. Rubin JP, Yaremchuk MJ. Complications and toxicities of implantable biomaterials used in facial reconstructive and aesthetic surgery: a comprehensive review of the literature. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1997;100:1336–53.
- Whitaker LA. Aesthetic augmentation of the malar-midface structures. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1987;80:337–46.
- Tantawi D, Eberlin S, Calvert J. Midface implants: surgical and nonsurgical alternatives. Clin Plast Surg. 2015;42:123–7.
- 47. de Moraes Ferreira AC, Muñoz XM, Okamoto R, Pellizer EP, Garcia IR Jr. Postoperative complications in craniomaxillofacial reconstruction with Medpor. J Craniofac Surg. 2016;27:425–8.
- Ridwan-Pramana A, Wolff J, Raziei A, Ashton-James CE, Forouzanfar T. Porous polyethylene implants in facial reconstruction: outcome and complications. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2015;43:1330–4.
- Villarreal PM, Monje F, Morillo AJ, Junquera LM, González C, Barbón JJ. Porous polyethylene implants in orbital floor reconstruction. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2002;109:877–85.
- Yaremchuk MJ. Facial skeletal reconstruction using porous polyethylene implants. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2003;111:1818–27.
- Berghaus A, Stelter K. Alloplastic materials in rhinoplasty. Curr Opin Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2006;14:270–7.
- Peled ZM, Warren AG, Johnston P, Yaremchuk MJ. The use of alloplastic materials in rhinoplasty surgery: a meta-analysis. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2008;121:85e–92e.
- Bracaglia R, Fortunato R, Gentileschi S. Secondary rhinoplasty. Aesthet Plast Surg. 2005;29:230–9.
- 54. Yang P, Yang Q, Liu T, Zeng J, Bi B, Zhou Y, Guo Y, Chen L. A modified technique for expanded polytetrafluoroethylene shaping in chin augmentation: parallel groove carving technique. J Craniofac Surg. 2015;26:e146–e8.
- Gubisch W, Kotzur A. Our experience with silicone in rhinomentoplasty. Aesthet Plast Surg. 1998;22:237–44.
- 56. Shadfar S, Farag A, Jarchow AM, Shockley WW. Safety and efficacy of expanded polytetrafluoroethylene implants in the surgical management of

traumatic nasal deformity. JAMA Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2015;141:710–5.

- Niechajev I. Facial reconstruction using porous highdensity polyethylene (Medpor): long-term results. Aesthet Plast Surg. 2012;36:917–27.
- Romo T III, Pearson JM. Nasal implants. Facial Plast Surg Clin North Am. 2008;16:123–32.
- 59. Jin HR, Lee JY, Yeon JY, Rhee CS. A multicenter evaluation of the safety of Gore-Tex as an implant in Asian rhinoplasty. Am J Rhinol. 2006;20:615–9.
- Godin MS, Waldman SR, Johnson CM Jr. Nasal augmentation using Gore-Tex. A 10-year experience. Arch Facial Plast Surg. 1999;1:118–21.
- Vuyk HD. Augmentation mentoplasty with solid silicone. Clin Otolaryngol Allied Sci. 1996;21:106–18.
- Zide BM, Pfeifer TM, Longaker MT. Chin surgery: I. Augmentation—the allures and the alerts. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1999;104:1843–53.
- Gross EJ, Hamilton MM, Ackermann K, Perkins SW. Mersilene mesh chin augmentation. A 14-year experience. Arch Facial Plast Surg. 1999;1:183–9.
- Niamtu J III. Essentials of cheek and midface implants. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2010;68:1420–9.
- 65. Dong L, Hongyu X, Gao Z. Augmentation rhinoplasty with expanded polytetrafluoroethylene and prevention of complications. Arch Facial Plast Surg. 2010;12:246–51.
- 66. Keefe MS, Keefe MA. An evaluation of the effectiveness of different techniques for intraoperative

infiltration of antibiotics into alloplastic implants for use in facial reconstruction. Arch Facial Plast Surg. 2009;11:246–51.

- Rai A, Datarkar A, Arora A, Adwani DG. Utility of high density porous polyethylene implants in maxillofacial surgery. J Maxillofac Oral Surg. 2014;13:42–6.
- Frodel JL, Lee S. The use of high-density polyethylene implants in facial deformities. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 1998;124:1219–23.
- Conrad K, Torgerson CS, Gillman GS. Applications of Gore-Tex implants in rhinoplasty reexamined after 17 years. Arch Facial Plast Surg. 2008;10:224–31.
- 70. Yap EC, Abubakar SS, Olveda MB. Expanded polytetrafluoroethylene as dorsal augmentation material in rhinoplasty on Southeast Asian noses: three-year experience. Arch Facial Plast Surg. 2011;13:234–8.
- Hubbard TJ. Alloplast as an alternative for dorsal augmentation. Semin Plast Surg. 2008;22:104–9.
- Godin M, Costa L, Romo T, Truswell W, Wang T, Williams E. Gore-Tex chin implants: a review of 324 cases. Arch Facial Plast Surg. 2003;5:224–7.
- Wong JK. Forehead augmentation with alloplastic implants. Facial Plast Surg Clin North Am. 2010;18:71–7.
- Aynehchi BB, Burstein DH, Parhiscar A, Erlich MA. Vertical incision intraoral silicone chin augmentation. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2012;146:553–9.

Part V

Regenerative Plastic Surgery



27

Microdeformational Wound Therapy

Douglas Helm and Dennis P. Orgill

27.1 Introduction

Chronic and complex wounds are increasing healthcare burdens both domestically and internationally. Simple wounds heal without significant intervention; these are a commonly planned surgical incisions or linear lacerations from minor trauma. The cascade of wound healing from the inflammatory phase, proliferative phase, and maturation phase all occurs in sequence to reconstitute the skin and soft tissue barrier.

The elegant natural mechanisms of wound healing can be interrupted or delayed by a variety of intrinsic and extrinsic factors. Insufficient blood flow to the wound, which frequently occurs because of peripheral arterial disease, interrupts transport of inflammatory cells, oxygen, and nutrients and finally new progenitor cells. Venous insufficiency, where blood outflow is blocked, also reduces blood flow to the wound and also causes extravasation of red blood cells. Poor glycemic control from diabetes has several proposed mechanisms that inhibit wound proliferation further delaying wound healing. In addition, uncontrolled diabetes leads to peripheral vascular disease, stroke, kidney failure, and visual distur-

D. Helm \cdot D. P. Orgill (\boxtimes)

Brigham and Women's Hospital Wound Care Center, Division of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Boston, MA, USA e-mail: dhelm@bwh.harvard.edu; Dorgill@bwh.harvard.edu bances. Lymphatic disruption leads to chronic edema, blocking transport because of increased diffusion distances, and also inhibits wound healing. Significant trauma or pressure injury of soft tissues causes necrosis of the skin, underling fat, and other deeper structures such as the fascia, muscle, and bone. The presence of this necrotic tissue burden delays the start of tissue proliferation.

Complex wounds are often delayed in their healing because of an acute or chronic infection, poor blood supply from peripheral arterial or venous disease, malnutrition, lymphatic injury, or extensive necrotic tissue in the wound. With an aging population, there is increasing prevalence of diabetics and peripheral vascular disease. In addition, obesity has dramatically increased in developed nations and in certain areas of the world, and penetrating trauma continues to increase. The challenge of treating these wounds is mounting both from a financial burden and provider burden to treat these patients.

Conventionally, approaching a complex wound requires a multitask approach. Clinicians identify and treat ongoing nicotine use, malnutrition, glycemic control, and peripheral edema, debride the necrotic tissue, and treat the wound infections. Reducing a person's body mass index and treating peripheral vascular disease can improve wound healing over time. Nonmodifiable factors such as age, the mechanism of injury, and the previous exposure to other

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

D. Duscher, M. A. Shiffman (eds.), *Regenerative Medicine and Plastic Surgery*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19958-6_27

treatments such as radiation therapy are factors that continue to pose significant challenges. For patients where risks are not able to be modified or changed, advanced wound healing methodologies can be an enormous help to patients in healing the many complex wounds seen today. New methods in reconstructive surgery can also be extremely helpful.

The surgical management of the necrotic tissue is the mainstay of the initial treatments of wound care. Excision of devitalized skin, fat, muscle, and bone to healthy bleeding is needed to allow granulation tissue to form and reduce the wound bio-burden, thereby reducing the risk of infection. In clinical situations that primary wound closure is not possible, providers have turned to microdeformational wound therapy (MDWT) which is becoming the standard of care.

MDWT was first described in the early 1990s by Dr. Argenta and Dr. Morykwas and was originally referred to as negative-pressure wound therapy (NPWT), Vacuum-Assisted Closure (VAC), and subatmospheric pressure treatment. Currently, there are many commercial products using these principles. We use the term MDWT to refer to a suction device that distributes reduced pressure to a wound through an interface material that causes microdeformations of the wound surface such as a polyurethane openpore reticulated foam. This interface material that contacts the wound is covered with a semiocclusive dressing and connected to a suction source. The first animal studies of this device showed dramatic wound healing with respect to granulation tissue or proliferation of new cells in the wound bed [1]. This concept was first commercialized under the trademark of Vacuum-Assisted Closure (VAC) by the KCI, San Antonio, TX, USA (Fig. 27.1).

The concept of applying controlled stable suction to wounds is not a new concept. For generations, surgeons have known about the importance of closed suction drainage of anatomical spaces. Chest tubes draining the pleural cavity keep the lung approximated to the parietal pleura and reduce the possibility of an empyema to form. Using suction drainage, catheters effectively treat mastectomy defects and have become a standard treatment. These catheters apply subatmospheric pressure, reduce the space, and collapse the surgical cavity [2]. MDWT is a related concept



whereby a closed space can be drawn together by a collapsible foam where the surface of the foam acts as thousands of small suction cups applied to the wound surface.

Several other advances have improved the clinical application of this technology including portable devices that are both mechanically and electrically powered. The comparative effectiveness of a mechanically powered MDWT and an electrically driven systems is similar. The most widely used mechanical device is the Smart Negative Pressure (SNaP) Wound Care System (SNaP, Spiracur, Inc., Sunnyvale, CA, USA) which translates the mechanical force of a spring into continuous suction, thereby eliminating a costly electromechanical system [3].

Another recent advance has been the instillation of fluid into the wound bed through the foam followed by active suction. Fluid such as saline or diluted hypochlorous acid (Dakin's solution) has been used in these devices and may be effective at treating infected wounds.

Table 27.1 lists the indications and contraindications of the use of this mechanical wound treatment. Although widely applied to a variety of wounds, careful consideration of its use is needed to minimize complications.

Although the evidence for MDWT is not robust, numerous studies have reported the clinical effectiveness of this wound healing modality as compared to other conventional therapy and are discussed later in this chapter. There is widely

Table 27.1 Indications and contraindications of use for microdeformational wound therapy (MDWT)

Indications	Contraindications
Chronic wounds	Directly on exposed
	vascular structures
Acute wounds	Untreated
	osteomyelitis
Traumatic wounds	Non-enteric fistulas
Subacute wounds	Necrotic wounds
Dehisced wounds	Malignancy in the
	wound
Partial thickness burns	
Ulcers including diabetic,	
pressure, or venous	
insufficiency	
Flaps and grafts	

appreciated evidence that MDWT improves granulation tissue formation, increases the rate of healing, and reduces cost of treatment [4–7].

27.2 Basic Principles of MDWT

The principle behind MDWT is the application of closed suction to a wound bed via an interface material. There are several mechanisms of actions that work in concert to promote and sustain wound healing. The first principal action is macrodeformation of the wound or contracting the wound together. With application of 125 mmHg of suction applied to an open-foam material, the foam contracts up to 80% of its initial volume. The wound edges are mechanically drawn together, assisting with wound closure. The physical stretch of the soft tissue causes a slight reduction in blood flow to the wound peripheral edges and causes a reaction stimulation of cell proliferation and angiogenesis through the HIF-1 alpha/VEGF pathway [8, 9].

The second principle is microdeformation that occurs at the interface of the porous foam material and the wound bed. With suction applied to the porous wound interface material, the wound bed is drawn into the material causing oscillating deforming patterns to the wound. This micromechanical oscillations cause a proliferating cellular response. This effect has been similarly seen in the peso-electric effect involved in bone regeneration. A correlation has been demonstrated between the degree of microdeformation and proliferative wound growth [10-12].

The third critical principle is the exudative management. As the suction is applied throughout the wound bed, excess fluid which has been often shown to be high in catabolites and inflammatory mediators including matrix metalloproteinases decreases in the wound bed with MDWT. An important distinction with MDWT is that bacterial load does not decrease with this therapy [13, 14].

The fourth impact is creating a sealed, thermoregulated, and moist environment preventing the regenerating wound bed from damaging desiccation [15].

Additional secondary effects are seen with the interface material between the wound bed and the suction which has been shown to be a critical component for successful wound healing. This material is often made of polyurethane foam, an inert but stable material that causes minimal reaction. This prevents external contaminants and desiccation of the wound. When wounds are exposed to air, the body forms a defensive eschar which protects the wound but also slows the reepithelization process and provides a protective barrier for proliferating bacteria. The reticulated open-pore foam has been examined as a factor that impacts granulation tissue formation. The larger the foam size, the greater granulating tissue response has been seen in the wound bed. This is likely related to the increased deformation or strain on the wound bed [16].

27.3 Management of Chest Wounds with MDWT

Wounds of the thorax arise from many different types of injuries and diseases. The most common is cardiac surgery where the sternum is split along the midline to gain access to the heart and great vessels. Although infrequent, chest wounds are a serious complication with a reported mortality ranging from 11 to 35%. In 2011, in the USA, 213,700 patients had a cardiac surgical procedure leading to an estimated 5000 chest wound infections [17]. Cardiac surgery is becoming a less common surgery in the healthy and middle-aged patients and becoming more common in the elderly and patients with comorbid conditions such as ongoing tobacco use, poorly controlled diabetes, and end-stage coronary artery disease that is refractory to percutaneous stenting. Consequently, patients who present with sternal infections following cardiac or chest surgery are older and often more infirmed [18]. Treating this quantity and morbid complication is a challenge.

Other causes of thoracic wounds include penetrating trauma from blast injuries or stabbings. Infections such as tuberculosis or aspergillosis are chronic health problems of developing nations and may lead to draining open pleural wounds [19].

MDWT is an adjunct to complex chest wounds. The principles of treatment are similar to all complex wounds and include stabilization of the wound by debriding the devitalized and infected tissue including the skin, fat, and underlining sternal cartilage and bone. Foreign material including sternal wires and suture material should all be removed as they become a nidus for chronic infection. MDWT can stabilize the sternum, provide a protective and thermal barrier, contract the wound, and manage wound exudate. In clinical situations where there is an uncorrected coagulopathy, MDWT should be delayed until bleeding is stopped as the foam is very efficient at evacuating blood and can result in significant blood loss. Exposed critical structures such as the heart muscle, the great vessels, and the bypass grafts need to be covered by a nonadherent dressing such as Adaptic (Johnson and Johnson, Somerville, NJ, USA) or Xeroform (Medtronic, Minneapolis, MN, USA). These devices should be used in a setting that allows efficient access to operating facilities should excessive bleeding occur.

Conventional reconstruction of the sternum includes pectoralis muscle flaps, vertical rectus abdominal flaps, and omental flaps to fill in the soft tissue defects from the infections. MDWT is an alternative with many benefits including ease of use and elimination for additional complex reconstructive surgery especially in patients already severally debilitated from an infection following cardiac surgery. In addition, MDWT can be used over a longer time period and often can close these wounds over a period of weeks in patients that are not operative candidates [20].

Chest infections may be treated in several traditional manners, but MDWT provides a useful adjunct or primary method of treatment following the principles of wound care.

27.4 Open Abdominal Wounds

Open abdominal wounds have become more common with a better understanding of abdominal compartment syndrome. The abdomen is a cavity containing all the enteric components and works as a compartment surrounded by a complex layer of fascial layer which is surrounded by abdominal wall and lumbar musculature with an overlying layer of fat and skin. The contents of the abdomen are fragile and kept isolated from the external environment. Exposed for a prolonged time to air, intestinal components may desiccate and breakdown forming fistulas and infections.

Abdominal wounds can communicate through the musculature and fascia to the visceral organs. The causes of open abdominal wounds vary but often occur after emergency life-saving surgery or complications of a planned surgery. In penetrating trauma with injury to one or more visceral structures, the abdomen may be left open to allow easy access to the abdomen for monitoring or for reexamination of the abdomen days after the initial surgical management. Commonly performed in battlefield medicine, damage control surgery repairs the open injuries for stabilization by packing the wounds to control blood loss or sealing any open intestinal injuries. A small percentage of all trauma patients who undergo an exploratory laparotomy are left with exposed visceral components with a plan for staged closure. The delay in closing the abdomen may be due to prolonged septic shock, bowel edema, or ongoing infection. In situations of a necrotizing soft tissue infection, debridement of the soft tissue, muscles, and fascia may be required to control these lifethreatening infections. Serial debridements with progressive closure are a strategy commonly used for large open abdominal wounds.

Although life-saving in many situations, leaving the abdomen open leads to retraction of the abdominal wall fascia and skin edges. The lateral pull of the oblique muscles pulls the abdominal wall fascia and the rectus abdominis muscles laterally and is commonly referred to as "loss of domain." With time, moving these muscles to the midline may be challenging and require releases of the muscles in order to restore fascial and musculature coverage over the visceral organs.

A temporary abdominal closure is needed to prevent evisceration and desiccation, protect the visceral organs from damage or adhesions, provide thermoregulation, combat the contracture of the fascia and skin, manage exudates and minimize dressing changes and needs to be easily changed, and provide quick access to the open wound for inspection. Several types of temporary wound moist dressings, Bogota bags, originally described by surgeons in Bogota, Columbia, involve placing a nonadherent inert covering over the open visceral compartment. Originally described as suturing a sterilized 3 L urology saline bag to the skin edges, variations of this temporary abdominal closure are described such as applying a sterile X-ray drape, silastic drape, or any sterile nonadherent material to cover the abdominal contents. In contrast, a vacuum pack is a variation of a Bogota bag but with applied suction. The dressing includes a first layer of fenestrated nonadherent polyethylene sheet that is in contact with the bowels, layered with surgical towels with continuous suction applied from closed suction drains which is sealed with a final layer of iodoform adhesive dressing. A Vacuum Pack controls the abdominal fluid exudate and provides a thermoregulation and barrier protection. A further variation of the Vacuum Pack utilizes the open-pore foam to apply subatmospheric pressure and holds the tissue skin edges and underlining fascia in a contracted position. Marketed as VAC Granufoam (KCI, San Antonio, TX, USA), this dressing applies the open-pore foam to a nonadherent dressing that is in contact with the bowels. Numerous studies have shown the safety and clinical effectiveness of applying MDWT to this clinical problem. In addition, several studies have shown faster abdominal closure, lower complication rates, decreased length of ICU stay, and decreased cost of treatment with open abdomens treated with MDWT compared to other temporary abdominal closures [21-23].

27.5 Diabetic and Pressure Ulcer Wounds

Lower extremity wounds including diabetic ulcers of the foot and toes present an enormous medical challenge to treat. Often these patients have modifying factors of diabetes and peripheral vascular disease and wounds that need to be



Fig. 27.2 A 52-year-old woman with severe peripheral vascular disease presented with septic shock, perforated sigmoid colon tracking to the pelvis, and gas gangrene of the left leg ultimately requiring left hip disarticulation.

The open hip wound was treated with sharp debridements and negative-pressure wound therapy for 6 weeks to prepare the area for successful skin grafting

debrided of necrotic or infected tissue. Traditional healing methods often lead to prolonged healing times, costly for both the patient and providers. Treating diabetic wounds with MDWT closes wound nearly twice the rate compared to traditional therapies. The rate of mean reduction in wound size is greatly increased with MDWT as opposed to moist dressing changes with the most significant change in depth. In a similar evaluation of diabetic wound, MDWT prepared wounds faster for delayed surgical closure as compared to traditional topical wound therapy [24]. Similarly, open acute traumatic wounds or chronic pressure ulcers can also be a challenge to heal for a variety of medical reasons. MDWT accelerates the closure of these wounds as well with the greatest rate of wound volume [25]. MDWT has revolutionized the treatment of diabetic, acute complex, and chronic ulcers but does not eliminate the need to address patient's underlining diseases and the need for sharp excisional debridement (Fig. 27.2).

27.6 Safety Concerns with MDWT

Additional precautions are needed with MDWT that are similar to other wound care products. This wound device does not debride wounds and should only be applied when the wound bed is free of infection, devitalized, or necrotic tissue. Removal of all the foam material during a dressing change is critical; retained foam will prevent a wound from healing. Careful documentation and wound inspection is needed to prevent this error. Uncontrolled hemorrhage has been reported as a complication when NPWT is applied directly to blood vessels. The open-foam material may erode into vital structures leading to death or permanent disability.

27.7 Future Directions of MDWT

MDWT should be viewed as a catalyst to wound healing that requires the essential care components of controlling other morbidities, infection, and necrotic wound burden and optimizing nutrition and other factors. MDWT should be applied as an adjunct to wound healing in a coordinated plan. Although MDWT has revolutionized how clinicians approach complex problems, this technology will continue to evolve as clinicians adapt this to other problems. The limitation of this technology is that it relies on the generating new tissue from the wound itself, and the future may include using this concept to populate the wound bed initially with artificially generated progenitor cells. In addition, the role of imbedded growth factors into the foam substrate or creating a bioactive foam creates exciting possibilities for the future.

References

- Argenta LC, Morykwa MJ. Vacuum-assisted closure, A new method of wound control and treatment: clinical experience. Ann Plast Surg. 1997;18:563–77.
- Sheepar MD. Sealed drainage of wounds. Lancet. 1952;259:1174–6.
- Armstrong DG, Marston WA, Reyzelman AM, Kirsner RS. Comparative effectiveness of mechanically and electrically powered negative pressure wound therapy devices: A multicenter randomized controlled trial. Wound Rep Reg. 2012;20:332–41.
- Amstrong DG, Lavery LA, Diabetic Foot Study Consortium. Negative pressure wound therapy after partial diabetic foot amputation: a multicentre, randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2005;366:1704–10.
- Vuerstaek JD, Vainas T, Wuite J, Nelemans P, Neumann MH, Veraart JC. State-of-the-art treatment of chronic leg ulcers: a randomized controlled trial comparing vacuum-assisted closure (V.A.C.) with modern wound dressing. J Vasc Surg. 2006;44:1029–37.
- Blume PA, Walters J, Payne W, Ayala J, Lantis J. Comparison of negative pressure wound therapy using vacuum-assisted closure with advanced moist wound therapy in the treatment of diabetic foot ulcers: a multicenter randomized controlled trial. Diabetes Care. 2008;31:631–6.
- Amstrong AJ, DG LLA, Boulton AJ. Resource utilization and economic costs of care based on a randomized trial of a vacuum-assisted closured therapy in the treatment of diabetic foot wounds. Am J Surg. 2008;195:182–8.

- Kairinos N, Solomons M, et al. The paradox of negative pressure wound therapy – in vitro studies. J Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg. 2010;63:174–9.
- Erba P, Ogawa R, Ackermann M, Adini A, Miele LF, Dastouri P, Helm D, Mentzer SJ, D'Amato RJ, Murphy GF, Konerding MA, Orgill DP. Angiogenesis in wounds treated with microdeformational wound therapy. Ann Surg. 2011;253:402–9.
- Ingber DE. Mechanochemical basis of cell and tissue regulation. Mech Chem Biosyst. 2004;1:53–68.
- Scherer SS, Pietramaggiori G, Mathews JC, Prsa MJ, Huang S, Orgill DP. The mechanism of action of the vacuum assisted closure device. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2008;122:768–97.
- Lu F, Ogawa R. Microdeformational of three dimensional cultured fibroblasts induces gene expression and morphological changes. Annals of Plast Surg. 2011;66:296–300.
- 13. Green AK, Puder M, Roy R, Arsenault D, Kwei S, Moses MA, Orgill DP. Microdeformational wound therapy: effects on angiogenesis and matrix metalloproteinases in chronic wounds of 3 debilitated patients. Ann Plast Surg. 2006;56:418–22.
- Morykwas MJ, Simpson J. Vacuum-assisted closure: state of basic research and physiological foundation. Plast Recon Surg. 2006;117:121s–6s.
- Kloth LC, Berman JE, Nett M, Papanek PE, Dumit-Minkel S. A randomized control clinical trial to evaluate the effects of noncontact normothermic wound therapy on chronic full-thickness pressure ulcers. Adv Skin Wound Care. 2002;15:270–6.
- Heit YI, Dastori P, Helm DL, Pietramaggiori G, Younan G, Erba P, Münster S, Orgill DP, Scherer SS. Foam pore size is a critical interface parameter of suction-based wound healing devices. Plast Reconst Surg. 2012;(3):589–97.
- Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ), Center for Delivery, Organization, and Markets, Healthcare Cost and Utilization Project (HCUP), Nationwide Inpatient Sample (NIS), 2001–2011.
- Finarelli HJ. Could your financial health be heading for heart break? Costly drug eluting stents could dramatically alter projected demands for cardiac surgery. Healthc Financ Manage. 200357;(8):68–72.
- Orgill DP, Austen WG, Butler CE, Fine NA, Horvath KA, Mihaljevic T, Sone DH, Wolfe WG. Guidelines for treatment of complex chest wounds with negative pressure wound therapy. Wounds. 2004.;(Suppl B:):1–23.
- Orgill DP. Utilizing negative pressure wound therapy on open chest/sternotomy wounds Ostomy Wound Manage. 2004;50.(11A Suppl):15S–17S.
- Miller PR, Meredith JW, Johnson JC, Chang MC. Prospective evaluation of vacuum-assisted fascial closure open abdomen: planned ventral hernia rate is substantially reduced. Ann Surg. 2004;239:608–16.
- Kaplan M. Managing the open abdomen: acknowledging the risks, utilizing the technology. Ostomy Wound Manage. 2004;50:s20–5.
- Miller PR, Thompson JT, Faler BJ, Meredith JW, Chang MC. Late fascial closure in lieu of ventral hernia: the next step in open abdomen management. J Trauma. 2002;53:843–9.
- 24. Eginton MT, Brown KR, Seabrook GR, Towne JB, Cambria RA. A prospective randomized evaluation

of negative- pressure wound dressing for diabetic foot wounds. Ann Vasc Surg. 2003;17:645–9.

 Etoz A, Ozgenel Y, Özcan M. The use of negative pressure wound therapy on diabetic foot ulcers: A preliminary controlled trial. Wounds. 2004;16:264–9.



28

Clinical Treatment of Hypertrophic Scars

Rei Ogawa

28.1 Introduction

Hypertrophic scars are caused by abnormal healing of injured skin. Common causes of injury are trauma, burn, and surgery. The scars are red and elevated and have an unappealing appearance. Moreover, they associate with intermittent pain, persistent itching, and a sensation of contraction. The inflammation in the scars is continuous and local, being mainly found in the reticular layer of the dermis of the skin [1]. In this reticular layer, there are also accelerated angiogenesis and collagen accumulation. These features suggest that the cause of hypertrophic scars is aberrant wound healing in the damaged reticular layer of the dermis. This implies that more superficial damage would not elicit hypertrophic scars. Indeed, a clinical study on human volunteers [2] showed that cutaneous injury must reach the reticular layer before it results in inflammatory scar formation.

In general, scars that eventually become hypertrophic exhibit continued inflammation after injury, and the scar starts adopting a red and elevated appearance after 2–3 months. These redness and elevation continue for more than 1 year. These features generally decrease within 3–5

R. Ogawa (🖂)

years (Fig. 28.1). However, if the injury is on high-skin-tension sites such as joints, the inflammation persists for much longer, and scar contractures develop. In this case, surgery is needed to release the contractures. These observations suggest that local mechanical forces play a particularly important role in the development of hypertrophic scars. Indeed, several lines of evidence support this notion.

28.2 Preventing Hypertrophic Scar Development

A burn wound that heals in less than 10 days has a 4% risk of developing into a hypertrophic scar, whereas a burn wound that takes 21 days or more to heal has a 70% or greater risk of developing into a hypertrophic scar [3]. This means that a deep skin injury that extends to the reticular layer of the dermis needs time to heal; however, if inflammation continues for a long period, then the risk of developing a pathological scar increases. Histopathological examination of pathological scars shows that while their epidermis and the papillary layer of the dermis are almost normal apart from minor inflammation, the reticular layer shows strong inflammation with multiple blood vessels and greater collagen accumulation. Thus, to prevent the formation of pathological scars, it is essential to ensure speedy wound healing.

Department of Plastic, Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgery, Nippon Medical School, Tokyo, Japan e-mail: r.ogawa@nms.ac.jp

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

D. Duscher, M. A. Shiffman (eds.), *Regenerative Medicine and Plastic Surgery*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19958-6_28



Fig. 28.1 Naturally healing hypertrophic scars. (a) Granulation tissues immediately after the burn wounds were sustained. (b) Hypertrophic scars 2 years after the burn wounds were sustained. (c) Mature scars 5 years after the burn wounds were sustained. Hypertrophic scars

without scar contractures improve gradually during the process of scar maturation, despite minimal noninvasive treatment being applied. However, textural improvements take longer to manifest. Reprinted with permission [7]

Since stretching wounds can provoke inflammation of the dermis, wounds should be stabilized as soon as the exudate from the wound surface has stopped. The epidermis and dermis differ markedly in terms of their wound-healing rates. In the case of sutured wounds, the epidermis can regenerate within 7-10 days, leading both the patient and the physician to believe that the wound has healed completely. In fact, it may take 3 months before the dermis recovers more than 90% of its normal strength. Thus, prolonged external mechanical support using tapes, sheets, and/or garments is recommended for scar prevention. This is supported by our study, which showed that silicone gel sheets reduce the tension on the wound site [4].

Silicone tape is better than paper tape as it avoids the epidermal injuries caused by repeated taping [5]. Moreover, silicone tape keeps the scar surface moist. These tapes can be kept in place until they detach naturally. The patient does not need to change the tape after taking a bath/ shower. In our experience, patients generally keep silicone tape in place for about 1–2 weeks. The exception is in summer: perspiration can reduce tape adherence.

If a patient has a clear history of pathological scars, then stabilization tapes should be exchanged for steroid plaster/tape about 1 month after epithelization has occurred. Steroid tape has been used to decrease inflammation of hypertrophic scars; this practice is particularly common in Japan and several other countries [6]. Flurandrenolide tape (Cordran® tape), fludroxycortide tape (Drenison[®] tape and Haelan[®] tape), betamethasone valerate topical patch (Betaflam[®]), and deprodone propionate tape (Eclar[®] plaster) are available worldwide. These steroid tapes/ plasters should be changed every 24-48 h and should be cut so that they just cover the wound, with minimal attachment (if any) to healthy skin (unpublished data). Since these tapes differ in terms of the strength of the steroid, the most appropriate tape/plaster should be selected on a case-by-case basis.

Compression therapy of skin wounds also appears to prevent hypertrophic scar development. We speculate that it acts by occluding the blood vessels in the scar, thereby inhibiting the inflammatory signals coming from the blood vessels. An additional mechanism may be that it stabilizes the wound, thereby decreasing inflammation.

28.3 Treatment of Hypertrophic Scars

28.3.1 Surgery

Surgical treatment itself can result in the recurrence of hypertrophic scars, which are then often much bigger than the original lesions. Thus, unless the scar is a minor hypertrophic scar, the decision to surgically remove a pathological scar should be made very carefully. To reduce the risk of recurrence, it is also advisable to use particular surgical techniques, namely, Z-plasties, fullthickness skin grafting, and local/regional flap transfer [7–9].

Zigzag sutures, including Z-plasties, are good for releasing linear scar contractures and tensions [10]. A major benefit of Z-plasties is that segmented scars mature faster than long linear scars. In particular, if a scar crosses a joint, zigzag incision and suturing significantly reduce the risk of pathological scar development (Fig. 28.2).

Various local/regional flaps are also useful for releasing scar contractures [11]. Moreover, because local/regional flaps expand naturally after surgery, they are not prone to postsurgical contractures. By contrast, skin grafts do not expand, which means that skin grafting tends to generate secondary contractures that result in circular pathological scars around the grafted skin, although full-thickness grafts inhibit contraction more than split-thickness grafts (Fig. 28.3). In general, flap surgery is better for hypertrophic scars with severe contracture (Fig. 28.4).

28.3.2 Corticosteroid Administration

Corticosteroid injections rapidly reduce the volume of a scar. However, the downsides of corticosteroid injections include pain (caused by the injection itself) and difficulties associated with contraindications such as pregnancy, glaucoma, or Cushing's disease. In our experience, to prevent menstrual irregularities, the maximum dose of triamcinolone should be 5–10 mg per session. This is actually a very small dose compared to the doses used in other reports. This dose also does not cause hypopigmentation or skin atrophy and effectively reduces the thickness of pathological scars if the area to be treated at each intervention is small. Lidocaine (1%) can be used to dilute the triamcinolone if it will be used over a wide area. A narrow needle (30 gauge) and warming the solution can help to reduce the pain associated with the injection. Moreover, the injection should be placed into the edge between the scar and normal skin; if the injection is in the scar, the thick tissue will hamper the infiltration of the steroid solution. This in turn increases the pressure in the wound during the injection, which causes severe pain. When these tips are followed, the



Fig. 28.2 Z-plasty releases tension and decreases inflammation. A typical case of hypertrophic scar was excised and reconstructed by using Z-plasty method. (a) Pretreatment. (b) Design of Z-plasty method. (c) Two weeks postoperative. (d) Three months postoperative. (e) Six

months postoperative. (f) Twelve months postoperative. According to the releasing tension, inflammation decreases gradually, and maturation of scars accelerated. Used with permission [10]



Fig. 28.3 Treatment of hypertrophic scars by skin grafting. (a) Pre-treatment. (b) Intraoperative. (c) A year after skin grafting. The hypertrophic scars in this case had not improved in the 2 years since the burns were sustained.

Mild scar contractures developed, especially on the first web. Consequently, all scars were removed and reconstructed by full-thickness skin grafts harvested from the inguinal region. Used with permission [7]



Fig. 28.4 Treatment of hypertrophic scars with scar contractures by super-thin flap. (a) Pre-treatment. (b) Design of supercharged super-thin flap. (c) Intraoperative. (d) Immediately after surgery. (e) Four years postoperative.

patients generally tolerate monthly steroid injections for a few months, even a year. However, this is generally not long enough to achieve a complete cure. Thus, steroid injections alone may be less promising than other methods in terms of curative ability.

This problem can be overcome by using steroid tapes/plasters. Adults between the ages of 18 and 64 years can be treated with a combination of steroid injections and treatment with these tapes/plasters; once the thickness of an entire pathological scar has been reduced by several steroid injections, this effect can be

Neck contracture was released by using perforator supercharged super-thin flap. Flaps expand naturally after surgery; thus, they are not prone to postsurgical contractures Used with permission [11]

maintained and augmented by using steroid tapes/plasters that the patients can apply themselves [6]. In fact, most pediatric patients can be treated by steroid tapes/plaster alone because they have much thinner skin, which means that the steroids are more easily absorbed (Fig. 28.5). Interestingly, in our experience, contact dermatitis (which is common among adult patients who use tapes) does not tend to occur in children. This may also reflect the fact that children have thinner skin through which the steroid is easily absorbed; it may also reflect the lower sebum secretion in children.



Fig. 28.5 Treatment of acne hypertrophic scarring that was treated by steroid tape. (a) Pre-treatment. (b) Six months of treatment. (c) Twelve months of treatment. This patient had mild scapular hypertrophic scars and was

28.3.3 Laser Therapies

Pulsed dye laser (PDL) has long been the therapy of choice for cutaneous vascular diseases, including telangiectasia, hemangioma, and vascular malformations. It has also been used to treat hypertrophic scars because they also have more blood vessels than normal skin. However, although PDL is effective for vascular diseases that affect the superficial skin layers (i.e., the epidermis and the papillary layer of the dermis), it does not penetrate deep enough to reach the deep dermal regions (i.e., the reticular layer of the dermis). Thus, PDL is not particularly effective for hypertrophic scars. By contrast, the 1064 nm Nd: YAG laser reaches more deeply than PDL. As a result, it is increasingly being used to treat keloids and hypertrophic scars. It has been suggested that it acts by suppressing neovascularization and the dilatation of blood vessels.

Long-pulsed (not Q-switched) 1064 nm Nd:YAG laser plays an important role in our treatment algorithms for hypertrophic scars (Figs. 28.6 and 28.7) [12]. The laser should generally be applied to the skin surface with the following standard treatment settings: a spot diameter of 5 mm, an energy density of 75 J/cm², an exposure time per pulse of 25 ms, and a repetition rate of 2 Hz. However, in the case of the hypertrophic scars on the face of pediatric

treated with fludroxycortide tape (Drenison[®] tape). The tape was placed on the hypertrophic scars 24 h a day and was changed daily. The inflammation resolved completely



Fig. 28.6 Abdomen hypertrophic scarring that was treated by the 1064 nm Nd:YAG laser. (a) Pre-treatment. (b) One year after treatment. The 1064 nm Nd:YAG laser was used at 5 mm spot, 75 J/cm², 25 ms, and 2 Hz. After 1 year of treatment, the scar had almost disappeared. Used with permission [12]

patients, the treatment should start with a lower energy density (60–70 J/cm²) to reduce the possibility of a burn injury. The best way to prevent such burn injuries is to cool the tip or air-cool the targeted skin before and immediately after irradiation. Each session should consist of three passes unless the patient feels strong pain at the first pass; in this case, the session should be stopped. Even if the patient feels no pain after the third pass, the session should be stopped. Local anesthesia is not necessary. However, if the



Fig. 28.7 Upper-lip hypertrophic scarring that was treated by the 1064 nm Nd:YAG laser. (a) Pre-treatment. (b) One year after treatment. The 1064 nm Nd:YAG laser was used at 5 mm spot, 65–70 J/cm², 25 ms, and 2 Hz.

patient expresses concern, anesthetic cream or tape can be used. The intervals between the sessions should generally be 2–4 weeks depending on the patient's schedule.

28.3.4 Compression and Stabilization Therapies

Compression therapy and the wound stabilization treatments described above in the section on hypertrophic scar prevention can also help treat these scars after they arise. Thus, prolonged external mechanical support using (steroid) tapes, sheets, and/or garments is recommended after surgical treatment, corticosteroid injections, and laser therapy.

28.4 Follow-up of Hypertrophic Scars

It is important that sequentially treated hypertrophic scar patients are followed up over the long term. It is also important that they are appropri-

After 1 year of this treatment, the textural difference remained, but there was improvement in the redness and elevation of the scar. Used with permission [12]

ately educated about scar management because if patients develop pathological scars in the first place, it suggests that they may be particularly prone to recurrence or the development of new pathological scars in response to minor stimulation or injuries. Thus, these patients should be educated in the self-management of subsequent wounds. In particular, they should be encouraged to apply steroid tape/plasters during the early stages of scar development. This will rapidly reduce the inflammation in the scar and improve its appearance. Moreover, during follow-up, laser therapy, anti-allergy agents including tranilast, anti-inflammatory agents, bleaching creams, and make-up therapies may be useful on a case-bycase basis.

28.5 Conclusions

Surgery and steroid tape/plaster therapy can manage hypertrophic scars successfully and are increasingly being used, especially in Japanese populations. Thus, there is now sufficient evidence on which to base a standard international algorithm for treating pathological scars. Treatments are likely to improve significantly as our knowledge of scar biology increases, higherquality clinical trials are performed, and new agents are developed.

References

- Ogawa R. Keloid and hypertrophic scars are the result of chronic inflammation in the reticular dermis. Int J Mol Sci. 2017;18(3) https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijms18030606.
- Dunkin CS, Pleat JM, Gillespie PH, Tyler MP, Roberts AH, McGrouther DA. Scarring occurs at a critical depth of skin injury: precise measurement in a graduated dermal scratch in human volunteers. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2007;119(6):1722–32.
- Deitch EA, Wheelahan TM, Rose MP, Clothier J, Cotter J. Hypertrophic burn scars: analysis of variables. J Trauma. 1983;23(10):895–8.
- Akaishi S, Akimoto M, Hyakusoku H, Ogawa R. The tensile reduction effects of silicone gel sheeting. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2010;126(2):109e–11e.
- Grove GL, Zerweck CR, Houser TP, Smith GE, Koski NI. A randomized and controlled comparison

of gentleness of 2 medical adhesive tapes in healthy human subjects. J Wound Ostomy Continence Nurs. 2013;40(1):51–9.

- Goutos I, Ogawa R. Steroid tape: a promising adjunct to scar management. Burns Scars Healing. 2017;3:1–9.
- Ogawa R. The most current algorithms for the treatment and prevention of hypertrophic scars and keloids. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2010;125(2):557–68.
- Orgill DP, Ogawa R. Current methods of burn reconstruction. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2013;131(5):827e–36e.
- Ogawa R, Akaishi S, Kuribayashi S, Miyashita T. Keloids and hypertrophic scars can now be cured completely: recent progress in our understanding of the pathogenesis of keloids and hypertrophic scars and the most promising current therapeutic strategy. J Nippon Med Sch. 2016;83(2):46–53.
- Harn HI, Ogawa R, Hsu CK, Hughes MW, Tang MJ, Chuong CM. The tension biology of wound healing. Exp Dermatol. 2019;28(4):464–71.
- Ogawa R, Hyakusoku H, Murakami M. Color Doppler ultrasonography in the planning of microvascular augmented "super-thin" flaps. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2003;112(3):822–8.
- Koike S, Akaishi S, Nagashima Y, Dohi T, Hyakusoku H, Ogawa R. Nd:YAG laser treatment for keloids and hypertrophic scars: an analysis of 102 cases. Plast Reconstr Surg Glob Open. 2015;2(12):e272.



29

Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine in Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery: The Most Important Clinical Applications of Mesenchymal Stem Cells

Marco Tatullo, Massimo Marrelli, Francesco Paduano, Francesca Palmieri, Sandro Rengo, Carlo Rengo, Gianrico Spagnuolo, and Bruna Codispoti

29.1 Introduction

29.1.1 Regenerative Medicine

Regenerative medicine is a newly developed branch of medicine, able to collect many different scientific fields including tissue engineering, physiology, surgery, cell and developmental biology, molecular biology, biochemistry, chemistry, biomaterials science, nanotechnology, physics, and bioengineering. All these technologies are aimed together to repairing or regenerating tissues and organs affected by chronic and degenerative disease or damaged by severe traumatic injuries.

bruna.codispoti@tecnologicasrl.com

Stem cell-based therapies represent the most recent tissue engineering techniques, often tested on the most innovative biomaterials, playing a central role in the entire regenerative medicine. Stem cell transplantation, with the use of scaffolds as support, is today a routine treatment. But, the history of the transplants began in 1954, with the first successful organ transplantation performed by Joseph Murray, who replaced a kidney from a twin into his brother [1].

The advent of synthetic materials, such as Teflon and Silicone, led to the production of new devices capable to provide structural replacement of specific tissues in the human body.

Afterward, studies on extracellular matrix and its interaction with the surrounding cells gave way to an improved understanding of cell and tissue growth and differentiation; such new knowledge allowed the starting of the modern era of tissue engineering that links together materials science with cell biology.

Stem cells are undoubtedly the main characters on the regenerative medicine scenario, not only for their wide potential to proliferate and to differentiate into specialized mature cell types but also for their paracrine effects in modulating inflammatory responses.

M. Tatullo (⊠) · F. Palmieri · B. Codispoti Tecnologica Research Institute, Biomedical Section, Crotone, Italy e-mail: marco.tatullo@tecnologicasrl.com; francesca.palmieri@tecnologicasrl.com;

M. Marrelli · F. Paduano Marrelli Health, Clinical Research Unit, Crotone, Italy e-mail: research@tecnologicasrl.com; francesco.paduano@tecnologicasrl.com

S. Rengo · C. Rengo · G. Spagnuolo University of Naples "Federico II", Naples, Italy e-mail: sanrengo@unina.it

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

D. Duscher, M. A. Shiffman (eds.), *Regenerative Medicine and Plastic Surgery*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19958-6_29

In the last few years, scientists are focusing their attention on the interaction that stem cells establish within the site of transplantation, with the attempt to reproduce their physiological microenvironment, known as "stem cell niche." The ex vivo reproduction of the niche conditions has primary importance for a successful engraftment of the new implanted tissue/organ.

29.1.2 Oral-Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells

Stem cells are commonly defined by their clonogenic and self-renewing capabilities and by the potential to differentiate into multiple cell lineages. Whereas embryonic stem cells (ESCs) are derived from the blastocyst stage of the embryo and they have the ability to generate any terminally differentiated cell in the body, adult stem cells reside in the postnatal organism and retain tissue-specific potential (multipotency). In 2006, researchers created the induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) from mature differentiated cells using a mix of four transcription factors (Oct4, Sox2, c-Myc, and KLF4) [2]; despite pluripotency of iPSCs (similar to ESCs), further investigations showed that the conversion of cells to iPSCs poses a substantial risk of tumorigenesis [3]. The use of adult stem cells in regenerative medicine avoids ethical implications, mainly linked to the embryonic stem cell manipulation, and reduces the possibilities to promote neoplastic processes.

Hematopoietic stem cells were the first adult stem cells isolated from bone marrow (BM) [4]; a few years later, a second population called "mesenchymal stem cells" was isolated from the same tissue [5]. Currently, it is known that adult stem cells are present in many organs and tissues, including the peripheral blood, blood vessels, skeletal muscle, skin, teeth, heart, gut, liver, brain, ovarian epithelium, and testis. The possibility of in vitro manipulation of stem cells paved the way for cell-transplantation-based therapies.

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) retain the widest range of differentiating fates, such as bone, cartilage, adipose tissue, muscle, tendon, marrow stroma, and neural tissues. Thus, their great plasticity, the extensive proliferative potential, and the ability to differentiate into various cell types give to these cells a prominent role in regenerative medicine.

MSCs can be identified by expression of specific surface markers, CD73, CD90, and CD105, and lack of hematopoietic specific markers including CD34, CD45, and HLA-DR. These cells could virtually reside in all postnatal tissues. Human bone marrow (hBM) has been originally identified as the major source of MSCs; however, the harvesting of BM-derived MSCs requires an invasive surgical procedure; moreover, the collected cells from this source are typically not abundant. Recent studies aim to achieve tissue regeneration by using MSCs taken from easily accessible sites: oral and dental tissues represent highly rich and accessible sources of mesenchymal stem cells. The access to dental-derived stem cells is quite simple, and the isolation from oral tissues is highly efficient, in comparison with other stem cell niches of the adult human body [6].

A variety of cell populations with stem cell properties have been isolated from the oral cavity (Table 29.1).

The first study demonstrating the presence of MSCs in dental tissues, with bone marrowderived stem cell (BMSC)-like phenotype, was conducted by Gronthos in 2000; in this work, the authors identified an odontogenic progenitor population, from enzymatically disaggregated adult human dental pulp. Dental pulp stem cells (DPSCs) are able to show high proliferation, clonogenicity, and multipotency in vitro and the capability to regenerate a dentin- and pulp-like structures, after xenogeneic transplantation [7]. This pilot study led to a series of researches about the huge commitment of DPSCs toward the regenerative medicine. For example, such cells have been shown to retain the ability to differentiate into hair follicle cells [8], adipocytes, chondrocytes, neurons [9], hepatocytes [10], and myocytes [11].

In 2003, MSCs have been isolated from dental pulp of stem cells from human exfoliated deciduous teeth (SHEDs): SHEDs represent a

	Location	Institution	Multipotency	First authors
DPSC	Dental pulp	Gronthos et al.	Osteoblast	Gronthos et al. (2000)
		National Institute on Dental Research, National Institutes of Health	Neurocyte	Gronthos et al. (2002)
		Bethesda, Maryland, the USA, 2000	Odontoblast	Batouli et al. (2003)
			Adipocyte	Pierdomenico et al. (2005)
			Chondrocyte	Kerkis et al. (2006)
SHED	Human exfoliated deciduous teeth	Miura et al.	Odontoblast	Miura et al. (2003)
		National Institute on Dental Research, National Institutes of Health	Neurocyte	Miura et al. (2003)
		Bethesda, Maryland, the USA, 2003	Adipocyte	Miura et al. (2003)
			Osteoblast	Seo et al. (2008)
			Endothelocyte	Cordeiro et al. (2008)
PDLSC	Periodontal ligament	Seo et al.	Cementoblast	Seo et al. (2004)
		National Institute on Dental Research, National Institutes of Health	Adipocyte	Seo et al. (2004)
		Bethesda, Maryland, the USA, 2003	Odontoblast	Trubiani et al. (2007)
			Osteoblast	Gay et al. (2007)
			Chondrocyte	Gay et al. (2007)
DFSC	Dental follicle	Morsczeck et al.	Osteoblast	Morsczeck et al. (2005)
		Stiftung Caesar, Center of Advanced European Studies and Research	Cementoblast	Morsczeck et al. (2005)
		Bonn, Germany, 2005	Neurocyte	Vollner et al. (2009)
SCAP	Apical papilla	Sonoyama et al.	Odontoblast	Kikuchi et al. (2004)
		University of South California, Los Angeles, California, the USA Okayama University, Okayama, Japan, 2006	Osteoblast	Ikeda et al. (2006)
hPCy- MSC	Human periapical cyst	Marrelli et al.	Osteoblast	Marrelli et al. (2013)
		Calabrodental, Unit of Maxillofacial Surg; Tecnologica Research Institute Crotone, Italy, 2013	Neurocyte	Marrelli et al. (2015)

 Table 29.1
 Mesenchymal stem cells from oral tissues

population of postnatal stem cells capable of extensive proliferation and multipotency. These cells basally expressed neuronal and glial cell markers; thus, SHEDs were proposed as therapeutic cells, used to treat neural tissue injury, to repair damaged tooth structures, and to induce bone regeneration [12].

Periodontal ligament maintains teeth in situ, by connecting dental cementum and alveolar bone; Seo et al. isolated from this specific connective tissue a cell population expressing mesenchymal stem cell-like markers, called periodontal ligament stem cells (PDLSCs). These cells were able to differentiate into cementoblast-like cells, adipocytes, and collagen-forming cells in vitro and to contribute to periodontal tissue repairing, by generating a cementum-PDL-like structure, when transplanted into mouse model [13]. Dental follicle is a thin connective sac that surrounds the developing tooth; MSCs isolated from these ectomesenchymal tissues (dental follicle progenitor cells, DFPCs) have the potential to differentiate into neural cells and to regenerate bone and periodontal tissues [14].

Stem cells isolated from the root apical papilla of the human teeth (stem cells from apical papilla, SCAP) [15] have been shown to be able to differentiate through the odontogenic-osteogenic lineages and into adipose and neural cells [16].

Oral-derived MSCs show high self-renewal ability, clonogenicity, and multipotent differentiation capacity, similar to BMSCs [17].

The head and neck district is rich of very interesting reservoirs of stem cells: Cells from the human parotid glands exhibit both epithelial and mesenchymal stem cell-like features, including commitment potential and marker expression [18]; the periosteum surrounding the jaws also contains cells with high potential to differentiate into osteoblasts and chondrocytes [19].

Therefore, as point of strength, dental-derived stem cells can be easily obtained from teeth extracted for orthodontic reasons, as well as from impacted teeth, or following severe periodontitis and other similar reasons.

In the recent years, Marrelli et al. demonstrated for the first time that a population of cells, showing mesenchymal behavior, could be isolated from human periapical cyst-mesenchymal stem cells (hPCy-MSCs). These cells were reported to have high ability to differentiate mainly into osteogenic lineages, contributing to achieve significant progresses toward clinical application of oral and maxillofacial bone reconstruction [20, 21].

hPCy-MSCs were also demonstrated to express high levels of transcripts for neuronal markers, when exposed to specific differentiating conditions. These studies demonstrated that inflammatory cysts may serve as a new reservoir of MSCs for cell therapy, to treat human neurological disorders [22].

In conclusion, because of their peculiar characteristics related to their proliferation, differentiation, and plasticity, dental tissues are nowadays an attractive source of mesenchymal stem cells, to be used in regenerative dentistry, and also for wide application in extraoral tissue and solid organ regenerative medicine.

29.1.3 Clinical Applications of MSCs on Tissue Defects Affecting the Aesthetic Zone

The wide interest for mesenchymal stem cells in tissue engineering has promoted a number of research activities, showing very promising results.

Some case reports are particularly interesting, as they describe the clinical use of adult mesenchymal stem cell (ASCs) to successfully treat defects affecting the mandible, maxilla, and cranial bones.

Mandibular reconstruction has been investigated by means of bone marrow-derived MSCs: Cells were seeded on titanium mesh, loaded with hydroxyapatite (HA) and bone morphogenetic protein-2 (BMP-2); these scaffolds were then implanted to treat a critical-sized mandibular defect [23].

Mesimaki described how the seeding of ASCs in a microvascular flap, in combination with beta-tricalcium phosphate and bone morphogenetic protein-2 (BMP-2), showed promising outcomes up to 8 months after the implantology, in the treatment of a large defect of the maxilla [24].

Autogenous adipose stem cells, seeded on bone grafts, have been applied for the treatment of a seven-year-old patient with severe cranial trauma, by using fibrin glue, showing notable results [25].

Clinical use of mesenchymal stem cells in aesthetic procedures is slightly growing: the main limitations of stem cell use in cosmetic surgery seem to be related to the high costs of acquiring and culturing MSCs and to ethical issues.

Studies focused on cosmetic procedures with adipose-derived stem cells tried to investigate the adipose-grafting retention in the breast surgical site, especially after the oncological surgery: this grafting showed to improve the skin quality of irradiated breasts.

Yoshimura demonstrated impressive outcomes, by employing the "cell-assisted lipotransfer" procedure, where a fat graft is transferred along with freshly isolated mesenchymal cells: this approach may be useful in cosmetic breast augmentation or after the removal of breast implants to improve the tissue healing [26].

Enrichment of adipose grafting with stem cells was reported, in order to enhance soft tissue augmentation at the face; the liposculpture could be applied for the treatment of patients with lipodystrophy and also for facial volumetric rejuvenation [27].

Clinical researches are ongoing also with the attempt to apply stem cells in the treatment of chronic wounds and burns. A recent experimental study involved 20 patients suffering from chronic burns, extensive lesions, skin ulcers, and diabetic wounds; the therapeutic effect on wound closure was demonstrated in all the patients treated with bone marrow-derived stem cells, added to collagen sponges [28].

In 2011, the US FDA approved the first personalized cell therapy, named "laViv," for the correction of thin wrinkles or nasolabial folds around the mouth and nose. Such treatment is performed by the collection of autogenous fibroblasts, cultured for 90 days and then injected into the dermis [29].

The ability of MSCs to produce an array of cytokines that promote the collagen synthesis and turnover (TGF- β , EGF, VEGF, and PDGF) makes them a good candidate for antiaging therapies; however, current evidences of MSC application on this topic are still poor.

The clinical use of MSCs in aesthetic surgery is, thus, still in the very early stage; further safety data are required to protect patient's health; moreover, the improvement of procedures for cell manipulation is highly necessary to make stem cell-based cosmetic treatments less expensive to be usable on a commercial scale.

29.1.4 Application of Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Regenerative Medicine

Mesenchymal stem cells represent an attractive candidate for clinical applications, due to their ability to self-renew and to differentiate into both mesenchymal and non-mesenchymal lineages;

MSCs secrete several immunomodulatory molecules, which provide a regenerative microenvironment that promotes self-regulated restoration of a variety of damaged tissues and organs; current data suggest that MSCs exert also trophic and anti-inflammatory effects [30].

The specific cellular and molecular mechanisms involved in the immunoregulatory activity of MSCs remain still under investigation; some evidences demonstrate that the capability to modulate immune responses depends on both paracrine effects through the release of soluble factors and also on cell contact-dependent mechanisms [31]. The fact that mesenchymal stem cells have immunomodulating properties and inhibit function of immune cells has been exploited for the treatment of autoimmune conditions including graft versus host disease, Crohn's disease, multiple sclerosis, refractory systemic lupus erythematosus, and systemic sclerosis. The therapeutic effect of MSCs in the treatment of type I and type II diabetes is suggested because of their ability to generate functional insulinproducing cells, and because of their effective role in counteracting the complications of diabetes mellitus (cardiomyopathy, diabetic nephropathy, diabetic polyneuropathy, diabetic retinopathy, and diabetic wounds), this effect is basically due to the regulatory paracrine activity of MSCs [32]. In the ischemic cardiomyopathy, MSCs seem to prefer to secrete soluble paracrine factors, with the aim to induce endogenous cardiomyogenesis and angiogenesis; however, this mechanism is yet to be explored [33].

Whole organ transplant is the most preferred solution in case of liver and kidney diseases, but donors are often missing. Under specific growth conditions, MSCs have been shown to adopt functional features of differentiated hepatocytes able to successfully engraft the mouse liver; therefore, generation of hepatocyte-like cells from MSCs could become a real alternative to liver transplantation [34]. Experimental in vivo studies reported that the exogenous administration of MSCs to mice with acute renal injury could promote both structural and functional kidney repair, while about 2.5% of the injected

MSCs showed substantial engraftment; probably, the protective and regenerative effects of MSCs to the kidney are due to the ability of MSCs to inhibit the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines and to secrete a number of trophic growth factors that promote angiogenesis and cell proliferation, reducing apoptosis [35].

There is a great interest in the use of MSCs to treat neurodegenerative diseases, through providing of secreted neurotropic factors which encourage the repairing and, potentially, the new growth of neuron-like cells.

MSCs isolated from human periapical cysts and dental pulp spontaneously expressed neuronand astrocyte-specific proteins in their basal state, showing a predisposition toward the neural phenotype. Probably the different phenotypes of DPSCs with respect to BMSCs are related with the different developmental origins; in fact, tooth development occurs from neural crest cells rising from ectodermal embryonic layer instead of mesodermal derivation of bone marrow [6, 22].

Despite the recent widespread clinical application, the original interest on MSCs was exerted by their intrinsic ability to be easily induced to differentiate into the three main mesenchymal lineages: adipogenic, chondrogenic, and osteogenic.

Compared to the clinical applications of stem cells in other diseases, the different uses of MSCs for bone and cartilage regeneration are being developed at a higher rate. In some countries (the USA, Korea), there exist some prepared and approved mesenchymal stem cell-based products that significantly contribute to the employment of stem cells in bone and cartilage regeneration; these products are routinely used for treatment of connective tissue disorders and traumatic injuries in orthopedics.

The capability of MSCs to regenerate connective tissues found their greater and ample application in oral and maxillofacial surgery.

The area of regenerative medicine that has received the most attention for the maxillofacial region is bone regeneration; autogenous grafting has been considered, over the years, the goal standard for bone replacement in congenital deformities, acute trauma, chronic nonunion, or resection of pathology. Several studies reported that a combination of isolated MSCs, with scaffolds and growth factors, successfully repairs cranial defects in different animal models; these results shifted the focus of surgical specialists on the use of cellular techniques, biomaterial replacement, or signaling molecule for bone substitutes in the attempt to avoid donor site morbidity and provide a more convenient way to regenerate defects.

MSCs residing in the oral cavity tissues retrieve clinical interest in oral and maxillofacial surgery as a cell source for regeneration of bone and dental tissues such as cementum, dentin, and periodontal ligament.

The development and evolution of techniques with increasing efficiency and innovation for oral and maxillofacial application are described below.

29.2 Techniques

Treatment of degenerative and traumatic injuries is the main purpose of oral and maxillofacial surgeons; in order to achieve these targets, a number of techniques have been improved over time; as mentioned above, these techniques consist in the usage of the three main pillars of regenerative medicine: biomaterials, growth factors, and stem cells (Fig. 29.1).

The first surgical additives to be used were human plasma derivatives that mimic the final stages of blood coagulation, forming a fibrin clot. Fibrin sealants, fibrin glues, or fibrin tissue adhesives were commercially available in Europe since the late 1970s [36].

Platelet-rich plasma (PRP) and platelet gels were the first generation of platelet concentrates developed to combine the sealant properties of fibrin with the well-known effects of platelet growth factor as a source of healing cytokines. Growth factors regulate several cellular functions including chemotaxis, proliferation, tissue healing, and regeneration; the use of autologous platelet concentrates provides an ideal growth factor delivery system at the site of injury [37]. The evolution of PRP was platelet-rich fibrin



(PRF), developed for the first time in France by Choukroun in 2001. This second generation of platelet concentrate eliminates the risks associated with the use of bovine thrombin (exerted for gelling of PRP before application). PRF is composed of an intimate assembly of structural glycoproteins, glycanic chains, and growth factors embedded within a fibrin network slightly polymerized; these biochemical components appear to accelerate physiological healing process [38]. Numerous techniques for autologous platelet concentrate application have been investigated and applied in oral and maxillofacial surgery. In a follow-up study plan of 127 patients, requiring maxillary sinus lift, the use of platelet-rich plasma was tested as a grafting material for bone regeneration before dental implant; as a result, patients treated with PRP reached a statistically significant improvement in implant-prosthetic rehabilitation at six months after surgery, compared to control patients [39].

Platelet-rich fibrin membranes have been shown to increase long-term maintenance of crestal bone and to induce rapid healing of soft tissue around post-extractive dental implants [40]. Promising results were also obtained using PRP to support bioactivation of dental implants placed in maxillary and mandibular region [41].

Fabrication of membranes has become the standard in dental surgeries requiring space provision and in guided bone regeneration procedures. Originally, non-resorbable membranes included expanded high-density polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE), titanium-reinforced PTFE, and titanium mesh were largely diffused; successive membranes with controlled degradation periods were generated. Resorbable membranes could be composed of organic materials originating from natural precursors such as chitosan, silk, or collagen. Collagen membranes are made of collagen types I and III, mainly derived from bovine sources. The action of collagenases allows reabsorption; interestingly the time of membrane loss can be modified by cross-linking treatment that prevents or delays degradation, so these membranes are useful when the synthesis of new bone depends on the prolonged presence of a mechanical barrier.

Synthetic membranes are formed by polylactic and polyglycolic acid (PLA, PGA); the time of reabsorption of these membranes is slower compared to collagen membranes. Different bio-resorbable polymers and copolymers are currently used in synthetic membranes: Poly(DTE carbonate) has shown low immunological reaction and high ability to induce bone regeneration; polylactic acid-polyglycolic acid (PLLA-PGA) copolymer provides a rigid scaffolding to protect the graft materials. New membranes made by a combination of polylactic acid, aminopropyltriethoxysilane, and carbonate of calcium show greater ability to induce proliferation of bone cells compared to non-hybrid membranes.

Concerning constituents used for implants, since 1978, autologous material has been used for bone regeneration; the absence of immunological response placed these techniques as preponderant in bone grafts. But the increased surgical time and patient morbidity of autologous graft led to investigation for homologous, heterologous, and synthetic sources for graft materials.

Vital bone tissue obtained from donors is stocked in bone banks; before use, homologous tissues are tested and treated to prevent any risk of antigenicity or disease transmission. Heterologous material is obtained from bones of different animal species; the most common source is bovine bone.

A recent study demonstrates that dental pulp stem cells seeded on hydrogel scaffolds derived from decellularized and demineralized bovine bone extracellular matrix (bECM) promote mineral deposition and upregulation of osteogenic genes in basal and even more in inductive conditions in comparison with those seeded on collagen ones [42]. Furthermore, the same cells cultured on bECM hydrogels with osteogenic medium displayed a higher upregulation of the osteo-specific markers compared to collagen hydrogels [43].

Collectively, these results demonstrate that bECM hydrogel could be proposed for odontogenic or osteogenic differentiation of DPSCs for dental and bone regeneration.

Inorganic materials commonly consist of metals, alloys, or mineral compositions. Alloplastic grafts are synthetic bone substitutes presented in different forms, sizes, and textures showing great similarity with mineral bone tissue. Bioactive ceramics directly bond with living tissues when implanted; the first produced synthetic bioactive materials were specific compositions of glasses, glass ceramics, and sintered hydroxyapatite. Hydroxyapatite is a natural component of hard tissues (98% in enamel, 65% in bone tissue). Synthetic hydroxyapatite is bioinert and biocompatible and could be produced in porous and ceramic forms. Natural hydroxyapatite could be derived from corals, animal bones, eggshells, wood, and algae.

Tricalcic phosphate grafts release calcium and magnesium ions during reabsorption, creating an ideal ionic environment for bone synthesis. Synthetic glass ceramics made of silicon dioxide, sodium oxide, and phosphorus pentoxide ensure osteoconductivity and are mainly used in maxillary sinus lifts.

The identification and production of recombinant morphogens, growth factors, and cytokines are a clinical focus in tissue engineering with special regard to bone regeneration. Growth factors are critical signaling molecules that instruct cells during development and achieve tissue regeneration in the adult organism. Growth factors used in oral and maxillofacial reconstruction are clearly addressed toward the repair of mesenchymal tissues. Among the multitude of employed molecules, platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF), insulin-like growth factor (IGF), transforming growth factor beta (TGFb), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), and bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs) have been used in maxillofacial reconstruction in a large number of animal models.

In surgery, the possibility to implant stem cells, which bring the regenerative potential, in a tridimensional conformation that resemble the anatomic structures is undoubtedly advantageous.

The combination of cells, biomaterials, and growth factors into scaffolds, manufactured in a laboratory, reproduces the tridimensional architecture and the physiological composition of the desired tissue to be replaced.

A scaffold acts as a matrix and allows the attachment, migration, and differentiation of

progenitor cells. Scaffolds have been composed with a variety of natural or synthetic biomaterials (see above); their functions are to provide a structural support to the cells, to be a reservoir of growth factors, and to offer a flexible spatial environment for tissue remodeling. The properties of the ideal scaffold include biocompatibility, appropriate mechanical strength, and suitable degradation. Furthermore, porosity, permeability, and interconnectivity are also important features for an effective and efficient diffusion of gases and nutrients; these characteristics influence cell adhesion, migration, and proliferation within the scaffold. In a pilot study, focused on the biological compatibility of innovative dental biomaterials, the behavior of DPSCs grown was evaluated on silicon nanoporous and mesoporous matrices; as a result, among the 28 matrices examined, silicon scaffold functionalized with (3-aminopropyl) trimethoxysilane/toluene was found to better support the proliferation of DPSCs [44].

Depending on the clinical target, different potential tissue engineering methods could be performed. A general inductive technique consists in the delivery of soluble signaling molecules to the adjacent tissues; in this approach, growth factors are carried by a bioactive scaffold and are exploited to attract cell movement and to organize cellular behavior.

The guided tissue regeneration approach is extensively used for the treatment of periodontal diseases; in this conductive approach, the scaffold acts as a submissive tridimensional mechanical support to which cells can connect and propagate.

For the treatment of huge tissue defects, cell transplantation is more suitable. This procedure typically includes cell harvesting from a donor source and in vitro handling of the donor cells that are directly seeded onto polymers typically made up with the physical forms of fiber-based mesh, sponge, or hydrogel. The cells residing into the scaffold proliferate, forming a regenerated tissue that is subsequently established into tissue-deficient areas.

Summarizing, the bioengineered tissue constructs recapitulate the physiology, natural architecture, dynamic conditions, intercellular matrix, and cell-extracellular matrix interactions; such ex vivo constructs found extremely large application, for example, is employed for pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic analyses of drugs, as preclinical models for high-throughput drug screening and device testing. The advantages offered by these man-made tissues include high reproducibility and accurate control over culture conditions; these techniques represent a powerful tool in regenerative medicine; therefore, they are particularly important in medical research.

29.3 Discussion

Regenerative medicine has been defined as the application of scientific principles to the design, production, modification, and growth of living tissues using cells, growth factors, and biomaterials, either alone or in combination [45]. These three central elements, stem and progenitor cells, growth factors, and appropriate biological scaffold, have been thoroughly discussed. Tissue engineering involves the use of matrices or scaffolds that guide the implanted cells and also the host's surrounding cells during tissue regeneration or restoration.

The use of more undifferentiated cell types such as stem cells or early mesenchymal progenitors that retains self-renewal and multi-lineage potential is preferable to that of terminally differentiated cells. Differentiation of stem and progenitor cells can be obtained in vitro by changing the culture conditions after their expansion or by providing a new physiological microenvironment in the transplanted area in vivo.

Adult stem cells harvested from donor tissues could be further expanded in culture and then associated with biomaterials to form a scaffold. A biomaterial should easily integrate with the adjacent tissues and favor new tissue ingrowth (e.g., osteoconduction in bone regeneration). It should allow colonization by the host blood vessels and should be biocompatible and resorbable. Polymers include collagen that can be prepared in solution or shaped into membrane films, fibers, sponges, and hydrogels. Synthetic polymers allow a better control of physicochemical properties and delivery kinetics. They also reduce the risk of potential biohazardous complications. Biodegradable scaffolds supply the initial structure and stability for new tissue formation but degrade as tissue forms, providing three-dimensional space for matrix deposition and tissue growth, in the aim to mimic the extracellular matrix in a regenerating environment. Thus, scaffolds have to be instructive to the cells as well as provide mechanical support. Biomaterial can be used alone or in combination with growth factors.

Growth factors are cytokines that are secreted by many cell types and function as signaling molecules; as an example, the members of the TGF- β family, particularly bone morphogenetic

proteins, are mostly relevant to bone tissue engineering; in fact, BMPs promote the proliferation of mesenchymal stem cells and induce their chondrogenic and osteogenic differentiation. For this significant role in bone development, BMPs have been quite often incorporated into tissue engineering scaffolds and delivery systems.

The choice of the cell sources depends on accessibility and frequency of cells. Oral tissues are a very accessible and abundant source of highly immature mesenchymal stem cells, with great proliferation rate and different broad range of specialized tissue, with special regard to their innate propensity to neural differentiation. Dental-derived stem cells could be easily initiated to osteo- and odonto-differentiation; therefore, these cells represent an interesting powerful tool for oral and maxillofacial regeneration.

29.4 Conclusions

Oral and maxillofacial surgery is focused on treatment of traumatic or degenerative diseases.

Scientist efforts initially were based on guided tissue regeneration and on the use of several biomaterials as graft substitutes and in the employment of a variety of growth factors; subsequently, stem cell-based transplantation and new techniques based on recruitment of host cells (cell homing) improved previous technology. The discovery of even more accessible sources of mesenchymal stem cells, such as oral tissues, allows to reduce patient's morbidity in the view of cooperating in the collective purpose to recapitulate the microenvironmental niche, for understanding cellular behavior, and moving to an integrated approach to better create innovative and effective regenerative medicine products.

References

- Murray JE, Merrill JP, Harrison JH. Renal homotransplantation in identical twins. 1955. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2001;12(1):201–4.
- Takahashi K, Yamanaka S. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell. 2006;126(4):663–76.
- Zomer HD, Vidane AS, Goncalves NN, Ambrosio CE. Mesenchymal and induced pluripotent stem cells: general insights and clinical perspectives. Stem Cells Cloning. 2015;8:125–34.
- Till JE, Mc CE. A direct measurement of the radiation sensitivity of normal mouse bone marrow cells. Radiat Res. 1961;14:213–22.
- Friedenstein AJ, Petrakova KV, Kurolesova AI, Frolova GP. Heterotopic of bone marrow. Analysis of precursor cells for osteogenic and hematopoietic tissues. Transplantation. 1968;6(2):230–47.
- Tatullo M, Marrelli M, Shakesheff KM, White LJ. Dental pulp stem cells: function, isolation and applications in regenerative medicine. J Tissue Eng Regen Med. 2015;9(11):1205–16.
- Gronthos S, Mankani M, Brahim J, Robey PG, Shi S. Postnatal human dental pulp stem cells (DPSCs) in vitro and in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2000;97(25):13625–30.
- Reynolds AJ, Jahoda CA. Cultured human and rat tooth papilla cells induce hair follicle regeneration and fiber growth. Differentiation: Res Biol Div. 2004;72(9–10):566–75.
- Iohara K, Zheng L, Ito M, Tomokiyo A, Matsushita K, Nakashima M. Side population cells isolated from porcine dental pulp tissue with self-renewal and multipotency for dentinogenesis, chondrogenesis, adipogenesis, and neurogenesis. Stem Cells. 2006;24(11):2493–503.
- Ishkitiev N, Yaegaki K, Calenic B, Nakahara T, Ishikawa H, Mitiev V, et al. Deciduous and permanent dental pulp mesenchymal cells acquire hepatic morphologic and functional features in vitro. J Endod. 2010;36(3):469–74.
- Yang R, Chen M, Lee CH, Yoon R, Lal S, Mao JJ. Clones of ectopic stem cells in the regeneration of muscle defects in vivo. PLoS One. 2010;5(10):e13547.
- 12. Miura M, Gronthos S, Zhao M, Lu B, Fisher LW, Robey PG, et al. SHED: stem cells from human

exfoliated deciduous teeth. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2003;100(10):5807–12.

- Seo BM, Miura M, Gronthos S, Bartold PM, Batouli S, Brahim J, et al. Investigation of multipotent postnatal stem cells from human periodontal ligament. Lancet. 2004;364(9429):149–55.
- Morsczeck C, Gotz W, Schierholz J, Zeilhofer F, Kuhn U, Mohl C, et al. Isolation of precursor cells (PCs) from human dental follicle of wisdom teeth. Matrix Biol. 2005;24(2):155–65.
- Sonoyama W, Liu Y, Fang D, Yamaza T, Seo BM, Zhang C, et al. Mesenchymal stem cell-mediated functional tooth regeneration in swine. PLoS One. 2006;1:e79.
- Yang B, Qiu Y, Zhou N, Ouyang H, Ding J, Cheng B, et al. Application of stem cells in oral disease therapy: progresses and perspectives. Front Physiol. 2017;8:197.
- Tomar GB, Srivastava RK, Gupta N, Barhanpurkar AP, Pote ST, Jhaveri HM, et al. Human gingivaderived mesenchymal stem cells are superior to bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells for cell therapy in regenerative medicine. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2010;393(3):377–83.
- Yi T, Lee S, Choi N, Shin HS, Kim J, Lim JY. Single cell clones purified from human parotid glands display features of multipotent epitheliomesenchymal stem cells. Sci Rep. 2016;6:36303.
- Hutmacher DW, Sittinger M. Periosteal cells in bone tissue engineering. Tissue Eng. 2003;9(Suppl 1):S45–64.
- Marrelli M, Paduano F, Tatullo M. Cells isolated from human periapical cysts express mesenchymal stem cell-like properties. Int J Biol Sci. 2013;9(10):1070–8.
- 21. Tatullo M, Falisi G, Amantea M, Rastelli C, Paduano F, Marrelli M. Dental pulp stem cells and human periapical cyst mesenchymal stem cells in bone tissue regeneration: comparison of basal and osteogenic differentiated gene expression of a newly discovered mesenchymal stem cell lineage. J Biol Regul Homeost Agents. 2015;29(3):713–8.
- Marrelli M, Paduano F, Tatullo M. Human periapical cyst-mesenchymal stem cells differentiate into neuronal cells. J Dent Res. 2015;94(6):843–52.
- 23. Warnke PH, Wiltfang J, Springer I, Acil Y, Bolte H, Kosmahl M, et al. Man as living bioreactor: fate of an exogenously prepared customized tissue-engineered mandible. Biomaterials. 2006;27(17):3163–7.
- Mesimaki K, Lindroos B, Tornwall J, Mauno J, Lindqvist C, Kontio R, et al. Novel maxillary reconstruction with ectopic bone formation by GMP adipose stem cells. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2009;38(3):201–9.
- Lendeckel S, Jodicke A, Christophis P, Heidinger K, Wolff J, Fraser JK, et al. Autologous stem cells (adipose) and fibrin glue used to treat widespread traumatic calvarial defects: case report. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2004;32(6):370–3.
- Yoshimura K, Asano Y, Aoi N, Kurita M, Oshima Y, Sato K, et al. Progenitor-enriched adipose tissue

transplantation as rescue for breast implant complications. Breast J. 2010;16(2):169–75.

- Yoshimura K, Sato K, Aoi N, Kurita M, Inoue K, Suga H, et al. Cell-assisted lipotransfer for facial lipoatrophy: efficacy of clinical use of adipose-derived stem cells. Dermatol Surg. 2008;34(9):1178–85.
- Yoshikawa T, Mitsuno H, Nonaka I, Sen Y, Kawanishi K, Inada Y, et al. Wound therapy by marrow mesenchymal cell transplantation. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2008;121(3):860–77.
- 29. Schmidt C. FDA approves first cell therapy for wrinklefree visage. Nat Biotechnol. 2011;29(8):674–5.
- Figueroa FE, Carrion F, Villanueva S, Khoury M. Mesenchymal stem cell treatment for autoimmune diseases: a critical review. Biol Res. 2012;45(3):269–77.
- 31. Liotta F, Angeli R, Cosmi L, Fili L, Manuelli C, Frosali F, et al. Toll-like receptors 3 and 4 are expressed by human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells and can inhibit their T-cell modulatory activity by impairing Notch signaling. Stem Cells. 2008;26(1):279–89.
- Volarevic V, Arsenijevic N, Lukic ML, Stojkovic M. Concise review: mesenchymal stem cell treatment of the complications of diabetes mellitus. Stem Cells. 2011;29(1):5–10.
- Williams AR, Trachtenberg B, Velazquez DL, McNiece I, Altman P, Rouy D, et al. Intramyocardial stem cell injection in patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy: functional recovery and reverse remodeling. Circ Res. 2011;108(7):792–6.
- 34. Stock P, Bruckner S, Ebensing S, Hempel M, Dollinger MM, Christ B. The generation of hepatocytes from mesenchymal stem cells and engraftment into murine liver. Nat Protoc. 2010;5(4):617–27.
- 35. Morigi M, Imberti B, Zoja C, Corna D, Tomasoni S, Abbate M, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells are renotropic, helping to repair the kidney and improve function in acute renal failure. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2004;15(7):1794–804.
- Moller JF, Petersen JK. Efficacy of a fibrin sealant on healing of extraction wounds. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1988;17(2):142–4.
- Whitman DH, Berry RL, Green DM. Platelet gel: an autologous alternative to fibrin glue with applications in oral and maxillofacial surgery. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1997;55(11):1294–9.
- 38. Dohan DM, Choukroun J, Diss A, Dohan SL, Dohan AJ, Mouhyi J, et al. Platelet-rich fibrin (PRF): a second-generation platelet concentrate. Part III: Leucocyte activation: a new feature for platelet concentrates? Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2006;101(3):e51–5.
- 39. Inchingolo F, Tatullo M, Marrelli M, Inchingolo AM, Inchingolo AD, Dipalma G, et al. Regenerative surgery performed with platelet-rich plasma used in sinus lift elevation before dental implant surgery: an useful aid in healing and regeneration of bone tissue. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci. 2012;16(9):1222–6.

- Marrelli M, Tatullo M. Influence of PRF in the healing of bone and gingival tissues. Clinical and histological evaluations. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci. 2013;17(14):1958–62.
- 41. Inchingolo F, Ballini A, Cagiano R, Inchingolo AD, Serafini M, De Benedittis M, et al. Immediately loaded dental implants bioactivated with platelet-rich plasma (PRP) placed in maxillary and mandibular region. Clin Ter. 2015;166(3):e146–52.
- 42. Paduano F, Marrelli M, White LJ, Shakesheff KM, Tatullo M. Odontogenic differentiation of human dental pulp stem cells on hydrogel scaffolds derived from decellularized bone extracellular matrix and Collagen Type I. PLoS One. 2016;11(2):e0148225.
- 43. Paduano F, Marrelli M, Alom N, Amer M, White LJ, Shakesheff KM, et al. Decellularized bone extracellular matrix and human dental pulp stem cells as a construct for bone regeneration. J Biomater Sci Polym Ed. 2017;28(8):730–48.
- 44. Marrelli M, Falisi G, Apicella A, Apicella D, Amantea M, Cielo A, et al. Behaviour of dental pulp stem cells on different types of innovative mesoporous and nanoporous silicon scaffolds with different functionalizations of the surfaces. J Biol Regul Homeost Agents. 2015;29(4):991–7.
- 45. Langer R, Vacanti JP. Tissue engineering. Science. 1993;260(5110):920–6.



30

Reconstruction of Post-Traumatic Maxillary Ridges Using a Radial Forearm Free Flap and Allogeneic Tissue-Engineered Bone Grafts

James C. Melville, Huy Q. Tran, Jonathan W. Shum, Ramzey Tursun, and Robert E. Marx

30.1 Introduction

Many options are available to the surgeon when considering maxillofacial reconstruction. Since it was first introduced in the literature, the reconstructive ladder has upheld a solid foundation for the novice and veteran surgeons (Fig. 30.1). At the very top of the ladder, free tissue transfer is often the preferred choice for large maxillofacial defects due to the ability to reconstruct both soft and bony

Department of Oral and Head and Neck Oncology and Microvascular Surgery, School of Dentistry, University of Texas Health Sciences Center at Houston, Houston, TX, USA e-mail: James.C.Melville@uth.tmc.edu; Huy.Q.Tran@uth.tmc.edu; Jonathan.Shum@uth.tmc.edu

Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, University of Texas Health Sciences Center at Houston, Houston, TX, USA

Department of Oral and Head and Neck Oncology and Microvascular Surgery, School of Dentistry, University of Texas Health Sciences Center at Houston, Houston, TX, USA

University of Miami, Jackson Memorial Hospital, Miami, FL, USA

R. E. Marx University of Miami, Jackson Memorial Hospital, Miami, FL, USA e-mail: rmarx@med.miami.edu



Fig. 30.1 Traditional reconstructive ladder

tissues simultaneously. In 1989, the fibula free flap was first received as a novel way of reconstructing mandibles [1]. Since then, it has remained the workhorse for reconstruction of tumor-resected maxillomandibular defects [2]. In one systematic review, the author found a 99% survival rate and 95% dental implant success rate for vascularized fibular free flap [3]. Despite its success, an osteocutaneous free flap is an invasive technique associated with serious morbidities [4]. As such, it may be inappropriate to harvest a fibula free flap to reconstruct smaller segments of defects when other alternatives can be explored.

In consideration of reconstructing posttraumatic maxillary alveolar ridge defect, a traditional block bone graft or an onlay graft is usually

J. C. Melville $(\boxtimes) \cdot H$. Q. Tran \cdot J. W. Shum Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, University of Texas Health Sciences Center at Houston, Houston, TX, USA

R. Tursun

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019 D. Duscher, M. A. Shiffman (eds.), *Regenerative Medicine and Plastic Surgery*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19958-6_30

the first treatment choice [5]. It requires adequate soft tissue for coverage, a requirement that patients of maxillofacial trauma often lack. Any communication to the intraoral environment almost certainly means a death sentence to the graft. At the other end of the spectrum, one can quickly advance the reconstructive ladder by turning to osteocutaneous microvascular flaps such as fibula free flap as an alternative. As mentioned before, they are by far the most invasive options, are too bulky, and have incorrect geometric shape for the defect [6]. Additionally, a history of surgery or trauma to the donor site is a contraindication to flap harvest.

In 1982, Song et al. [7] published the first reported case of cutaneous radial forearm free flap. The flap has long since remained one of the most reliable options for reconstruction of maxillofacial soft tissue defect. It brings the advantages of shape versatility, being thin and pliable with large- and long-caliber vessels, low donor morbidity, and relatively simple flap harvest [8]. With such tool in the bag, we can further our reconstructive approach by incorporating the concept of tissue engineering. Bone marrow aspirate has long been studied in orthopedic literature but is a relatively new concept in maxilsurgery [9, 10]. In immediate lofacial reconstruction of benign tumor extirpations, study showed excellent success rate in using a combination of cadaver bone, bone marrow aspirate concentrate (BMAC), and recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein 2 (rhBMP-2) [11, 12]. Unlike an open approach such as iliac crest harvest, bone marrow aspiration is far less invasive and is associated with less morbidity. In this study, all patients present with excellent regenerated bone volume and were good candidates for dental implants during their 6-month follow-up.

30.2 Indications

- 1. Maxillofacial defects lacking considerable soft tissue and bony structures.
- Patient is not a candidate for onlay block graft due to significant soft tissue deficiency.
- 3. When fibula free flap is too excessive and results in inadequate esthetic and functional results.

4. Patient is not a candidate for vascularized fibula free flap due to peripheral vascular disease, other comorbidities, and previous trauma/surgery to the lower extremities.

30.3 Contraindications

30.3.1 To Radial Forearm Harvest

- 1. History of trauma/surgery to both arms
- 2. Negative modified Allen's test and/or abnormal duplex ultrasound

30.3.2 To BMAC Harvest

- 1. Bone diseases: congenital (osteogenesis imperfecta), metabolic (osteopetrosis), and malignant (multiple myeloma)
- 2. History of trauma or radiation to harvest site

30.4 Preparation of Bone Marrow Aspirate Concentrate

The concept of tissue engineering revolves around three familiar principles: osteoconduction, osteoinduction, and osteogenesis [13, 14]. First, the allogenic bone chips provide a conductive scaffold for the process of bone regeneration. Second, the rhBMP-2 provides the activation signal for bone regeneration and recruiting signal for migrating osteogenic cells. Last, the BMAC can provide significant amount of mesenchymal stem cells that are capable of differentiating into osteocytes and osteoblasts [15].

The bone marrow can be aspirated from the anterior ilium, the posterior ilium, or the tibia. In this chapter, we will explore the anterior iliac approach.

The patient is first positioned in the supine position. Adequate padding at pressure points is needed to avoid nerve compression and postoperative pain and numbness. The anterior spinal iliac crest (ASIC) is marked and the iliac crest is outlined. The surgical site is then surgically prepped and draped.

A Nick incision using a #11 blade is made at least 2 cm posterior to ASIC. Care must be taken to avoid dissecting anteriorly to the ASIC to prevent damage to the lateral femoral cutaneous nerve, which may lead to debilitating complications such as meralgia paresthetica. Using a hemostat, blunt dissection is done to create a pathway through several layers of the abdominal wall until contact with the bone. A BMAC trocar system, wetted with a heparin concentrate of 1000 U/ mL, is then inserted into this pathway and directed to engage the ilium. A drill can then be used to engage the trocar tip into the medullary cavity. At this point, the bone marrow is ready to be collected. The inner trocar is removed, and the outer aspirating sleeve is left in the cavity. One milliliter of the heparin solution is first loaded onto each syringe to prevent coagulation during collection and processing. The heparin solution is injected into the bone marrow cavity prior to aspiration. At least 60 mL of the bone marrow should be aspirated for sufficient quantity of mesenchymal stem cells and osteoprogenitor cells [16]. This can be done with two distant harvest sites to maximize the amount of cell concentrate. The harvest sites can be approximated with a deep dermal suture and closed with the surgeon's preference of subcuticular or simple running suture.

The bone marrow aspirate is then processed immediately after collection. The aspirate must pass through a filter into conical tubes to remove microscopic clots and debris. Subsequently, the tubes containing the aspirate are then centrifuged twice. The first centrifugation at 2400 rpm for 10 min serves to separate the acellular plasma layer from the cellular concentrate, with the latter transferred into another conical tube. Another centrifugation of 3400 rpm for 6 min serves to isolate the pellet of BMA/white cell concentrate. The pellet is then resuspended, and a final hemanalysis and complete blood count with differential are performed [10].

Once the radial forearm is harvested and anastomosed, the BMAC is then mixed with rhBMP-2 protein and crushed corticocancellous bone. The mixture is packed into the alveolar ridge defect with a resorbable mesh for stability.

30.5 The Radial Forearm Free Flap

The radial forearm free flap relies on the radial artery for its blood supply and a dual venous system for drainage through the cephalic vein or venae comitantes [17]. The flap usually includes the volar forearm skin, the antebrachial fascia, and the intermuscular fascia.

Preoperatively, it is important to assess any history of trauma or surgery to the donor arm. Modified Allen's test (MAT) is performed to determine the vascularity of the donor site. A positive MAT indicates adequate dual arterial supply of the hand by the radial artery and the ulnar artery, such that harvesting the former would not result in ischemia of the hand. A negative result, however, is an absolute contraindication to manipulation of radial artery. A secondary test such as duplex ultrasound can be used for confirmation in those with abnormal result. Fifteen percent of the population can be expected to have a positive MAT result, and approximately 11.6% of those will show abnormal duplex ultrasound examination [18]. It is important to avoid using the donor arm for IV access.

Utilizing the Doppler ultrasound, the flap design is drawn on the volar forearm with careful outlining of the vessels. The distal margin of the flap is 3 cm proximal to the wrist crease, and the proximal margin is dependent on the size needed for reconstruction. A tourniquet of 250 mmHg can be used for exsanguination of the arm. The uptime is recorded at this point. The incision is made using the flap outline. The dissection begins at the distal margin through the skin and subcutaneous tissue. Blunt dissection technique is carried down until recognition of the flexor tendons. The dissection is then advanced proximally with attention to identify the vascular pedicle commonly found in the septum between the brachioradialis and the flexor carpi radialis muscles. The deep branches of the radial artery can be ligated and divided to release the deep margin of the vascular pedicle. The proximal margin of the flap can then be incised, and at this point, the dissection can advance distally and subdermally. After locating the intersection of the brachioradialis and flexor carpi radialis, the two muscles are retracted. The intermuscular septum can then be further isolated up to the antecubital fossa. Any attached fascia or perforators should be ligated and divided. After achieving adequate vessel length for the recipient site, the tourniquet is released and downtime is recorded. The flap is then reperfused for 15 min, and the surgeon can

use this time to verify the patency of the vessels and its skin perforators using the Doppler ultrasound. Once the recipient site is ready, the vessels can be ligated and divided.

At this time, the radial artery can be anastomosed to an artery of the recipient site (usually the facial artery) and the vena comitans to a vein (usually the facial vein). Once the graft is placed with a resorbable mesh, the radial forearm can be sutured around and over the graft.

Prior to closure of the donor site, a drain is placed in the subdermal area. The donor site is then closed with dermal sutures or staples. Splitthickness skin graft is used to cover the cutaneous defect with overlying wound-VAC therapy for optimization of wound healing.

30.6 Case Presentation

A 45-year-old female presents for reconstruction of left maxillary alveolar ridge defect after a motor vehicle accident 4 months prior. The injury left her with severe vertical and horizontal alveolar bone deficiency, as well as missing teeth from the left maxillary central incisor to the second premolar. After presenting several treatment options, the patient opted for reconstruction of maxillary alveolar ridge defect using radial forearm free flap combined with a tissue-engineered bone graft, which consists of allogeneic bone, rhBMP-2, and BMAC. Careful consideration was taken into account the swelling and edema caused by BMP on the overlaying radial forearm flap. Due to the pliability and flexibility of the radial forearm skin and fascia, no venous congestion nor diminished arterial flow was encountered. We do however recommend taking a generous amount of the skin and fascia to compensate for the swelling.

A series of surgeries were planned for the complete reconstruction of her facial cosmesis, but the first planned surgery was to reconstruct her alveolar bone height and restore her dentition with endosteal implants. Due to her avulsive injury to her anterior left maxillary alveolus, she was missing teeth #9 thru #13 (Fig. 30.2). She also lacked the soft tissue for a tradition block bone graft or an only graft.

A thorough discussion of treatment options includes All-on-4 restoration option versus full



Fig. 30.2 (a) Loss of the left maxillary alveolar ridge with teeth #9 thru #13. (b) Post-traumatic defect with fibrous scar tissue

mouth extraction and complete dentures versus bone grafting and placement of implants. The patient opted to go with the bone graft since she deferred to have her remaining teeth extracted. Various osteocutaneous microvascular flaps were considered such as the free fibula flap and osteocutaneous radial forearm flap, but all were too bulky and/or have incorrect geometric shape for the defect. After careful consideration and a thorough discussion with the patient, we decided on a novel reconstruction using a radial forearm free flap combined with a tissue-engineered bone graft consisting of allogeneic bone, rhBMP-2, and BMAC. A modified Allen's test was performed to see if the ulnar artery had adequate perfusion for the entire hand, which was positive (normal).

The surgery consisted of two teams, the first team exposing and preparing the alveolar defect as well as harvesting the BMAC from the iliac crest and the second team harvesting the radial forearm which is under tourniquet pressure to minimize blood loss and maximize visualization. The radial forearm skin paddle and pedicle (radial artery and vena comitans) were raised in-between the brachioradialis muscle and flexor carpi radialis to the antecubital fossa to gain adequate pedicle length. Once the radial forearm was harvested, the radial artery was anastomosed to the left facial artery and vena comitans anastomosed to the facial vein. The area of the left maxillary ridge was denuded of its scar tissue and the remaining bone was exposed (Fig. 30.3). Thirty milliliter of crushed corticocancellous bone (University of Miami Tissue Bank, Miami, FL) and a small rhBMP-2 (Infuse) kit (Medtronic Sofamor Danek, Memphis, TN) were mixed with 60 BMAC. The tissue-engineered graft was placed and packed onto the defect with SonicWeld Resorb-X®, a 100% amorphous, noncrystalline poly-DL-lactic acid (PDLLA) mesh (KLS Martin, Jacksonville, FL) (Figs. 30.4 and 30.5). The radial forearm was then sutured around and over the graft (Fig. 30.6). With an uneventful postoperative course, the patient was discharged in 6 days. After 6 months, the bone graft demonstrated ossification and consolidation on CBCT for placement of dental implants. The flap was viable with good perfusion and Doppler signal throughout the 6 months. Clinically the recon-



Fig. 30.3 Orthopantomogram on initial visit demonstrating deficient alveolar bone for dental rehabilitation





Fig. 30.5 Poly-DL-lactic acid mesh carrier



Fig. 30.6 BMP + B MAC + allogeneic bone



Fig. 30.4 Exposure of alveolar defect



Fig. 30.7 Radial forearm flap positioned over the tissueengineered bone graft



Fig. 30.8 CBCT 5 months post-op imaging demonstrating consolidation and maturation of avascular bone graft underneath radial forearm flap



Fig. 30.9 Six months s/p RFFF+ bone graft+BMP+BMAC



Fig. 30.11 Placement of three endosteal implants into the reconstructed alveolar ridge



Fig. 30.10 Debulking of skin paddle showing excellent ridge formation



Fig. 30.12 CBCT of endosteal implants in reconstructed maxillary ridge, week postoperative

References

- Hidalgo DA. Fibula free flap: a new method of mandible reconstruction. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1989;84(1):71–9.
- Hayden RE, Mullin DP, Patel AK. Reconstruction of the segmental mandibular defect: current state of the art. Curr Opin Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2012;20(4):231–6.
- Wijbenga JG, Schepers RH, Werker PM, Witjes MJ, Dijkstra PU. A systematic review of functional outcome and quality of life following reconstruction of maxillofacial defects using vascularized free fibula flaps and dental rehabilitation reveals poor data quality. J Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg. 2016;69(8):1024–36.
- Bodde EW, De Visser E, Duysens JE, Hartman EH. Donor-site morbidity after free vascularized autogenous fibular transfer: subjective and quantitative analyses. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2003;111(7):2237–42.
- Jensen SS, Terheyden H. Bone augmentation procedures in localized defects in the alveolar ridge: clinical results with different bone grafts and bonesubstitute materials. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants. 2009;24(Suppl):218–36.
- Matros E, Santamaria E, Cordeiro PG. Standardized templates for shaping the fibula free flap in mandible reconstruction. J Reconstr Microsurg. 2013;29(09):619–22.
- 7. Song R, Song Y, Yu Y, Song Y. The upper arm free flap. Clin Plast Surg. 1982;9(1):27–35.
- Moscoso JF, Urken ML. Radial forearm flaps. Otolaryngol Clin N Am. 1994;27(6):1119–40.
- Jäger M, Herten M, Fochtmann U, Fischer J, Hernigou P, Zilkens C, Hendrich C, Krauspe R. Bridging the gap: bone marrow aspiration concentrate reduces

autologous bone grafting in osseous defects. J Orthop Res. 2011;29(2):173-80.

- Chahla J, Mannava S, Cinque ME, Geeslin AG, Codina D, LaPrade RF. Bone marrow aspirate concentrate harvesting and processing technique. Arthrosc Tech. 2017;6(2):e441–e5.
- 11. Melville JC, Tursun R, Green JM, Marx RE. Reconstruction of a post-traumatic maxillary ridge using a radial forearm free flap and immediate tissue engineering (bone morphogenetic protein, bone marrow aspirate concentrate, and corticalcancellous bone): case report. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2017;75(2):438.e1–6.
- Melville JC, Nassari NN, Hanna IA, Shum JW, Wong ME, Young S. Immediate transoral allogeneic bone grafting for large mandibular defects. Less morbidity, more bone. A paradigm in benign tumor mandibular reconstruction? J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2017;75(4):828–38.
- Hutmacher DW. Scaffolds in tissue engineering bone and cartilage. Biomaterials. 2000;21(24):2529–43.
- Marx RE, Stevens MR. Atlas of oral and extraoral bone harvesting. Hanover Park, IL: Quintessence Pub Co; 2010.
- Fillingham Y, Jacobs J. Bone grafts and their substitutes. Bone Joint J. 2016;98(1 Suppl A):6–9.
- Marx RE, Harrell DB. Translational research: the CD34+ cell is crucial for large-volume bone regeneration from the milieu of bone marrow progenitor cells in craniomandibular reconstruction. Oral Craniofac Tissue Eng. 2012;2(4):263–71.
- Timmons MJ. The vascular basis of the radial forearm flap. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1986;77(1):80–92.
- Abu-Omar Y, Mussa S, Anastasiadis K, Steel S, Hands L, Taggart DP. Duplex ultrasonography predicts safety of radial artery harvest in the presence of an abnormal Allen test. Ann Thorac Surg. 2004;77(1):116–9.



31

Postoperative Complications of Mandibular Fracture Management

Giuseppe Spinelli, Francesco Arcuri, Domenico Valente, and Tommaso Agostini

31.1 Introduction

Mandible fractures account for 35–80% of all maxillofacial fractures. Etiologic factors of facial fracture are variable and depend on regional and social characteristics. In a review of more than ten thousand patients, mandibular fracture is most common in patients aged between 18 and 24 years and seen four times as frequent in male patients compared with female patients. Mechanism of injury is commonly assault, followed by motor vehicle accidents and falls [1].

When considering between open and closed reduction of mandibular fractures, the advantages should be weighed against the disadvantages. Considerations include the site and characteristics of the fracture and the morbidities of the treatment. Unwanted results including bony ankylosis or decreased mouth opening can be prevented by early mobilization of the mandible. Advantages of closed reduction include simplicity, decreased operative time, and avoidance of damage to adjacent structures [2]. Disadvantages of maxillomandibular fixation include inability to directly visualize the reduced fracture, need to keep the patient on a liquid diet, and difficulties with speech and respiration [3].

Closed reduction of mandibular fractures can adversely affect bone, muscles, synovial joints, and periarticular connective tissues. The effects of immobilization on bone have been recognized in the orthopedic literature for many years as "disuse osteoporosis." Rigid fixation of the mandible refers to a form of treatment that consists of applying fixation to adequately reduce the fracture and also permit active use of the mandible during the healing process [4]. The four basic principles are (1) anatomical reduction, (2) stable fixation, (3) atraumatic surgical technique, and (4) postoperative active function.

31.2 Principles of Surgical Treatment

The timing of surgery is still controversial in the literature. Some studies have suggested immediate surgery; other reports have supported to wait the decrease of the edema of the soft tissues before operating. The diagnosis is performed by plain film imaging sometimes supplemented by CT. An orthopantomogram radiograph is available in most hospital emergency departments and is the initial radiograph of choice for any patient with suspected mandibular fracture [5].

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

G. Spinelli · F. Arcuri · D. Valente · T. Agostini (⊠) Department of Maxillo Facial Surgery, Azienda Ospedaliero-Universitaria Careggi, Florence, Italy e-mail: info@giuseppespinelli.it

D. Duscher, M. A. Shiffman (eds.), *Regenerative Medicine and Plastic Surgery*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19958-6_31

31.2.1 Surgical Technique

Intermaxillary fixation is placed prior to reducing a fracture. This allows for use of the occlusion to aid in anatomical reduction of the fracture. Use of intermaxillary screws or full-arch bars combined with maxillomandibular fixation are the preferred methods. They maintain the occlusion postoperatively with elastic bands as needed during physiotherapy. They are usually removed after 4 weeks postoperatively.

The surgical approach depends on the site of the fracture. Either a transoral, vestibular, or transfacial approach may be performed. A facial approach provides excellent access but also produces a facial scar and adds the risk of damage to the facial nerve. Most fractures, excluding those of the condyle, can easily be approached through a transoral incision [6].

A subperiosteal dissection with a periosteal elevator provides adequate access for reduction of the fracture and placement of fixation. Attention should be given to avoid damage to the mental nerve, which exists the mental foramen near the apices of the premolar teeth. If additional exposure is needed, the nerve can be released by gently scoring the periosteum surrounding the nerve. Bone-reducing forceps are often helpful in reducing the fracture while adapting the bone plate. This also provides interfragmentary compression, making primary bone healing more likely.

The smallest bone plate that will provide adequate stability under functional loads during the healing period is chosen. The intermaxillary fixation that aided reduction of the fractures during plating is removed after the fixation is applied. A soft diet is recommended for at least 4 weeks after miniplate fixation. It is important during the postoperative period to regain preinjury function, including maximal mouth opening, with active physiotherapy [7]. An overview of the different procedures is as follows.

31.2.2 Compression Plates

Compression plates cause compression at the fracture site making primary bone healing more likely. These plates can be bent in only two dimensions because of their design, and if they are not contoured properly, they are unable to produce compression. It is important to avoid compressing oblique fractures. They also require bicortical screw engagement to produce even compression along the fracture line [6].

31.2.3 Reconstruction Plates

Reconstruction plates are recommended for comminuted fractures and also for bridging continuity gaps. These plates are rigid and have corresponding screws with a diameter of 2.3– 3.0 mm. Reconstruction plates can be adapted to the underlying bone and contoured in three dimensions. A problem that may be associated with conventional reconstruction plates is loosening of the screws during the healing process leading to instability of the fracture [7].

31.2.4 Locking Reconstruction Plates

In 1987, Raveh et al. [8] introduced the titanium hollow-screw osteointegrated reconstruction plate (THORP). This system achieves stability between the screw and plate by insertion of an expansion screw into the head of the bone screw. Locking plate/screw systems offer advantages over conventional reconstruction plates.

These plates function as internal fixators by achieving stability by locking the screw to the plate and allow greater stability as compared to conventional plates. Fewer screws are required to maintain stability. The most significant advantage of this type of system is that it becomes unnecessary for the plate to intimately contact the underlying bone in all areas. As the screws are tightened, they will not draw the plate and underlying bone toward each other [9].

31.2.5 Lag Screw Fixation

Lag screws can provide osteosynthesis of mandibular fractures. They work well in oblique fractures and require a minimum of two screws. The lag screw engages the opposite cortex while fitting passively in the cortex of the outer bone segment. This can be accomplished by using a true lag screw or by overdrilling the proximal cortex. This causes compression of the osseous segments and provides the greatest rigidity of all fixation techniques. The lag screws can be placed through the opposing cortices between the mental foramen and inferior to the teeth [10].

31.2.6 Miniplates

Miniplates typically refer to small plates with a screw diameter of 2.0 mm. These plates have been shown to be effective in treating mandibular fractures [11]. Typically a superior and inferior plate is required for adequate fixation. An advantage of these plates is that they are stable enough to obviate the need for maxillomandibular fixation.

They are less likely to be palpable, which reduces the need for subsequent plate removal. Typically screws are placed monocortically but may be placed bicortically when positioned along the inferior border of the mandible. A minimum of two screws should be placed in each osseous segment [12].

31.2.7 Bioresorbable Plates

Bioresorbable plates are manufactured from varying amounts of materials including polydioxanone (PDS), polyglycolic acid, and polylactic acid. Complications associated with these plates include inflammation and foreign body-type reactions. The common complication which we encountered during their use was screw head fracture during tightening. Consideration may be given for use in pediatric patients with the understanding of the possible complications [13].

31.2.8 Three-Dimensional Miniplates

These miniplates are based on the principle that when a geometrically closed quadrangular plate is secured with bone screws, it creates stability in three dimensions. The smallest structural component of a 3D plate is an open cube or a square stone. Clinical results and biomechanical investigations in a study have shown a good stability of the 3D plates in the osteosynthesis of mandibular fractures without major complications. The thin 1.0 mm connecting arms of the plate allow easy adaptation to the bone without distortion. The free areas between the arms permit good blood supply to the bone [14, 15].

31.3 Complications

Several factors can influence the incidence of surgical complications including inappropriate surgical technique, patient's medical status, substance abuse, concomitant injuries, and fracture location and type. Complications include postoperative malocclusion, infection and wound dehiscence, nonunion/malunion, nerve injury, scars, teeth damage, and TMJ disorder [16, 17].

Complication rates vary between studies. Paza et al. [18] reported a total complication rate of 20% with a low reoperation rate (3%). Siddiqui et al. [19] reported a higher rate of postoperative complications (58.1%), and Bormann et al. [20] described a 15% complication rate.

Complications following mandible fracture repair may be the result of the severity of the original injury, the surgical treatment, or patient non-compliance with the postoperative restriction. Complications related to mandibular fractures present challenges to even the most experienced trauma surgeon.

The consequences of complications may include problems in anatomic form (aesthetic deformity) or residual functional discomfort. Complication rates have improved since the early days of wire fixation, but even open reduction and internal fixation can produce undesirable results [19, 20].

31.3.1 Infections

It is the most common complication after mandibular fractures. A significant delay in treatment has also been associated with an increase in infection rates. Other factors include mobility of the bony segments across the fracture site or loosening of screws after osteosynthesis. Poor plate adaptation, inadequate cooling during drilling, or placing the screw in the fracture line itself can lead to postoperative infection.

Leaving a damaged tooth in the line of fracture can also lead to an increased incidence of complications. Clinical signs are cellulitis, abscess formation, fistula, osteomyelitis, and rarely necrotizing fasciitis.

Clinical examination and plain radiography assess the status of the hardware. CT is appropriate when there is concern that the infection involves the neck. Specimens for bacterial culture and sensitivity studies should be done for antibiotic therapy.

Complication rates vary between studies: Ellis and Walker [21] reported a high infection rate (25%). Iizuka and Lindqvist [12] described an infection rate of 6.6%. Fox and Kellman [15] reported a lower rate of local wound infection and dehiscence (2.9%), whereas Seemann et al. [22] described an incidence of 5.9%.

The treatment of infected fractures involves (1) incision and drainage, (2) irrigations of the wounds, (3) systemic antibiotics, (4) removal of devitalized teeth/bone/hardware, and (5) new fixation of the fracture.

31.3.2 Nonunion

Nonunion is the failure of a fracture to unite and requiring additional treatment to achieve fracture union. Mobility is the major cause of nonunion. Infection, mobility, systemic disease, advanced age, and mandibular atrophy are contributing factors. The reoperation rate for nonunion varies between studies. Maloney et al. [23] described a rate of 6.31%, whereas Bochlogyros [24] described an incidence of 3.9%. Haug and Schwimmer [25] described a rate of 3.2%, while Mathog et al. [26] reported a rate of 9%.

Debridement of the fracture fragments; bone grafting, usually from the iliac crest; and rigid fixation with internal or external fixation are the treatments of choice [23–26].

31.3.3 Malocclusion

Improper alignment of the fracture fragments results in malocclusion and facial asymmetry. Malunions occur for at least one of several reasons: (1) inadequate occlusal and osseous reduction during surgery, (2) inadequate application of internal hardware, and (3) inadequate stability. Other contributors to fracture nonunion include impaired healing capacity secondary to comorbidities, tobacco use, and infection.

Significant malunion of the mandible will produce asymmetry and/or functional disturbances and can only be resolved through planned osteotomies [20, 22].

Treatment strategies vary from patient to patient and with each surgeon's experience in using different techniques. Comprehensive management of malocclusion and malunion requires a full orthognathic workup. Standard osteotomies are performed at a different site from the malunion for restoration of preinjury occlusion [27].

31.3.4 Nerve Injury

Sensory nerve injury (inferior alveolar and mental nerves) commonly occurs with mandibular fractures. In 11–59% of displaced mandibular fractures, there is sensory nerve injury at diagnosis. Causes of inferior alveolar or mental nerve injury are displaced fractures, delay in treatment, and improper use of drill or screws.

According to the literature, the overall prevalence of sensory disturbance after treatment of mandibular fractures is variable (53.8–76.1%) [28, 29].

Facial nerve dysfunction can result from mandibular trauma. Damage of the facial nerve after temporal bone fractures can lead to paralysis. Condylar dislocations can cause facial nerve injury distal to the stylomastoid foramen. Injury to the facial nerve branches usually takes place iatrogenically during surgical treatment, though lateral displacement of the condyle can cause facial nerve injury. The marginal mandibular branch is the one usually injured. The surgical anatomy of this branch has been well described by Dingman, and meticulous dissection under the platysma in the region of the facial artery with identification of the branches of the marginal mandibular nerve can prevent injury to this nerve which varies between 0 and 48% [30].

31.3.5 Scars

Transfacial approaches to open reduction and internal fixation can lead to external scarring. Massages of the area with silicone topical gel are advocated to improve the appearance of the scar. Wounds contaminated by road debris like tar often produce pigmented scars that may improve with surgical treatment.

31.3.6 Teeth Damage

The immediate posttraumatic dentition status requires reliable evaluation for therapeutic management as well as the preinjury dental status of the upper and lower jaws recording the missing teeth. Osteosynthesis with screws can cause damage to the roots of the teeth with subsequent risk of tooth infection in addition to loss of vitality. A possible injury should be immediately referred to the dentist. Other dental injuries (coronal fracture, root canal, subluxation) can result from direct trauma [22, 27, 31].

31.3.7 Temporomandibular Joint (TMJ) Disorders

Mandibular fracture can cause delayed TMJ derangement (limitation of mouth opening, pain during the movement, swelling) both on the non-fractured side and on the fractured side of the mandible. The physiokinesis therapy is mandatory especially after treatment of fractures of the mandibular condyle.

In some cases arthrocentesis with intraarticular infiltration of hyaluronic acid and arthroscopy can help solve the disorders. Rarely, posttraumatic ankylosis requires surgical intervention and removal of the ankylotic block [32].

31.4 Discussion

Our data include 389 patients (258 males [66.3%] and 131 females [33.7%]) treated surgically for mandibular fracture between January 2000 and December 2011 in our Department. The mean age of patients was 28.7 years with a range of 17 to 54 years.

Daily abuse of alcohol was detected in 98 cases (25.2%); 82 patients reported drug abuse (21%). The average time between the accident and the surgery was 2.5 days. Fifty-three patients developed postoperative complications (overall complication rate: 13.6%) which were divided into major complications requiring return to the operating room (7.4%) and minor complications managed in the outpatient clinic (6.2%).

Twenty-one patients (5.4%) reported malocclusion and five patients developed nonunion (1.3%). The reoperation rate to manage malocclusion and nonunion was 1.9%. The rest of the group was managed conservatively in the outpatient clinic by prolonged guiding elastic therapy and orthodontic treatment.

Thirty-two patients reported postoperative infection (8.2%). Seventeen patients (4.3%) presented a dehiscence of the surgical wound which required a prolonged antibiotic therapy and the subsequent removal of the miniplates at least 45 days postoperatively with the resolution of the complication.

The rest of the group experienced minor complications; they were managed in the outpatient clinic by incision and drainage, irrigation of the wound, and prolonged antimicrobial therapy which solved the condition.

The complications reported in our experience included postoperative malocclusion, infection, wound dehiscence, nonunion, and reoperative surgery [33]. Regarding postoperative infection, our rate was lower (8.2%) compared with other investigations. Ellis and Walker [21] reported a higher infection rate (25%) and an overall complication rate of 28%. Iizuka and Lindqvist [12] described an infection rate of 6.6%.We had a 4.3% rate of wound dehiscence that was similar to previously published studies.

Fox and Kellman [15] reported a lower rate of local wound infection and dehiscence (2.9%), whereas Seemann et al. [22] described an incidence of 5.9%. The reoperation rate for malocclusion and nonunion was 1.9% which is in line with our studies.

31.5 Conclusions

The global incidence of screw loosening, wound dehiscence, plate exposure, infection, reoperation, and plate removal vary among studies; however an increased rate of complications is demonstrated in patients with substance abuse or medical diseases.

Proper surgical technique (aseptic procedure, frequent intraoperative irrigation, realignment of the fracture, immobilization of the bone) associated with a strict follow-up (antibiotic, diet restriction) and early recognition of postoperative complication are mandatory for a good prognosis.

Acknowledgment *Financial Disclosure and Products*: None of the authors has a financial interest in any of the products, devices, or drugs mentioned in this manuscript.

References

- Lamphier J, Ziccardi V, Ruvo A, Janel M. Complications of mandibular fractures in an urban teaching center. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2003;61(7):745–9.
- Natu SS, Pradhan H, Gupta H, Alam S, Gupta S, Pradhan R, Mohammad S, Kohli M, Sinha VP, Shankar R, Agarwal A. An epidemiological study on pattern and incidence of mandibular fractures. Plast Surg Int. 2012;2012:834364.
- Juniper RP, Awty MD. The immobilization period for fractures of the mandibular body. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1973;36:157–63.

- Geiser M, Trueta J. Muscle action, bone rarefaction and bone formation. an experimental study J Bone Joint Surg Br. 1958;40-B(2):282–311.
- Webb LS, Makhijani S, Khanna M, Burstein MJ, Falk AN, Koumanis DJ, Chao JD. A comparison of outcomes between immediate and delayed repair of mandibular fractures. Can J Plast Surg. 2009;17(4):124–6.
- Passeri LA, Ellis E 3rd, Sinn DP. Complications of non-rigid fixation of mandibular angle fractures. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1993;51:382–4.
- Gutta R, Tracy K, Johnson C, James LE, Krishnan DG, Marciani RD. Outcomes of mandible fracture treatment at an academic tertiary hospital: A 5-year analysis. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2014;72:550–8.
- Raveh J, Vuillemin T, Ladrach K, Roux M, Sutter F. Plate osteosynthesis of 367 mandibular fractures. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 1987;15:244–53.
- Soderholm AL, Lindqvist C, Skutnabb K, Rahn B. Bridging of mandibular defects with two different reconstruction systems: an experimental study. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1991;49:1098–105.
- Niederdellman H, Shetty V. Solitary lag screw osteosynthesis in the treatment of fractures of the angle of the mandible: a retrospective study. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1987;80(1):68–74.
- Forrest CR. Application of minimal-access techniques in lag screw fixation of fractures of the anterior mandible. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1999;104:2127–34.
- Iizuka T, Lindqvist C. Rigid internal fixation of fractures in the angular region of the mandible: an analysis of factors contributing to different complications. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1993;91(2):265–71.
- Laughlin RM, Block MS, Wilk R, Malloy RB, Kent JN. Resorbable plates for the fixation of mandibular fractures: a prospective study. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2007;65(1):89–96.
- Farmand M. Experiences with the 3-D miniplate osteosynthesis in mandibular fractures. Fortschr Kiefer Gesichtschir. 1996;41:85–7.
- Fox AJ, Kellman RM. Mandibular angle fractures: two-mini plate fixation and complications. Arch Facial Plast Surg. 2003;5(6):464–9.
- Odom EB, Snyder-Warwick AK. Mandible Fracture Complications and Infection: The Influence of Demographics and Modifiable. Factors Plast Reconstr Surg. 2016;138(2):282e–9e.
- Koury M. Complications of mandibular fractures. In: Kaban LB, Pogrell AH, Perrot D, editors. Complications in oral and maxillofacial surgery. Philadelphia: WB Saunders; 1997. p. 121–46.
- Paza AO, Abuabara A, Passeri LA. Analysis of 115 mandibular angle fractures. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2008;66(1):73–6.
- Siddiqui A, Markose G, Moos KF, McMahon J, Ayoub AF. One miniplate versus two in the management of mandibular angle fractures: a prospective randomised study. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2007;45(3):223–5.
- Bormann KH, Wild S, Gellrich NC, Kokemüller H, Stühmer C, Schmelzeisen R, Schön R. Five-year retrospective study of mandibular fractures in Freiburg,

Germany: incidence, etiology, treatment, and complications. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2009;67(6):1251–5.

- Ellis E 3rd, Walker L. Treatment of mandibular angle fractures using two non compression miniplates. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1994;52(10):1032–6.
- Seemann R, Schicho K, Wutzl A, Poeschl WP, Köhnke R, Kinast B, Brunner J, Krennmair G, Ewers R, Klug C. Complication rates in the operative treatment of mandibular angle fractures: a 10-yearretrospective. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2010;68(3):647–50.
- Maloney PL, Lincoln RE, Coyne CP. A protocol for the management of compound mandibular fractures based on the time from injury to treatment. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2001;59(8):879–84.
- Bochlogyros P. Non-union of fractures of the mandible. J Maxillofac Surg. 1985;13:189–93.
- Haug R, Schwimmer A. Fibrous union of the mandible. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1994;52:832–9.
- Mathog R, Toma V, Clayman L, Wolf S. Nonunion of the mandible: An analysis of contributing factors. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2000;58:746–52.
- 27. Toma VS, Mathog RH, Toma RS, Meleca RJ. Transoral versus extra-oral reduction of mandible fractures: A comparison of complication rates and other factors. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2003;128(2):215–9.

- Iizuka T, Lindquist C. Sensory disturbances associated with rigid internal fixation of mandibular fractures. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1991;49:1264–8.
- Marchena JM, Padwa BL, Kaban LB. Sensory abnormalities associated with mandibular fractures: incidence and natural history. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1998;56:822–5.
- Dingman RO, Grabb WC. Surgical anatomy of the mandibular ramus of the facial nerve based on the dissection of 100 facial halves. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1962;29:266–72.
- 31. Ramakrishnan J, Shingleton A, Reeves D, Key JM, Vural E. The effects of molar tooth involvement in mandibular angle fractures treated with rigid fixation. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2009;140(6):845–8.
- 32. Nabil Y. Evaluation of the effect of different mandibular fractures on the temporomandibular joint using magnetic resonance imaging: five years of follow-up. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2016;45(11):1495–9.
- 33. Spinelli G, Lazzeri D, Arcuri F, Valente D. Management of mandibular angle fractures by two conventional 2.0-mm miniplates: a retrospective study of 389 patients. Agostini T Craniomaxillofac Trauma Reconstr. 2016;9(3):206–10.



Use of Porcine Urinary Bladder Matrix (UBM-ECM) in the Head and Neck Region 32

Bruce A. Kraemer and Amanda Gryniewicz Rowe

32.1 Introduction

The ultimate goal for head and neck wound reconstruction is restoration of a scarless, durable, symmetrical, and cosmetically normal appearance which has good color match, tissue mobility, and function. The use of extracellular matrix (ECM) wound devices has provided topical wound treatment options and enhanced healing for wounds that previously were considered amenable to only more complex surgical reconstructive procedures [1, 2]. These ECM wound devices promote healing via a process of constructive remodeling wherein the body replaces the wound device with healed tissue(s) much like what was previously present. Because this healing process requires time for the new tissue formation, specific wounds such as intra- and extra-oral or alimentary wounds are still best left to standard one-stage flap reconstruction. While some practitioners have used these devices as a primary reconstructive modality [3], in our experience we have found UBM-ECM wound devices have optimal utility in an adjunctive role in extramucosal head and neck reconstructions in medically challenging patients who are poor surgical

Division of Plastic Surgery, Department of Surgery,

St. Louis, MO, USA

e-mail: bruce.kraemer@health.slu.edu; amanda.rowe@health.slu.edu candidates. This chapter reviews our clinical experience with these devices over the last 6 years of wound device use (NB—excluded from this review is UBM-ECM use in burn wound management).

32.2 Clinical Series

In this retrospective review of our initial 373 wounds treated with UBM-ECM, 35 patients with 40 wounds had the device applied to the head and neck region with 2 patients having multiple sites treated. There were 14 males and 21 females with ages ranging from 23 to 82 years. The treatment of 19 open forehead and scalp region wounds was the most common device use with nasal reconstruction; both traumatic (4 cases) and post Mohs surgery reconstruction (6 cases) comprising the next largest group. Treatment of facial scarring was done in eight wounds: severe acne scarring, scarring after a windshield injury or animal attack, old posttraumatic facial scarring, self-inflicted cheek scars, and a non-healing radiated cheek wound. One ear large keloid excision wound, one intraoral antral fistula wound in a smoker, and a final post-radiation intraoral scarring patient completed the series.

B. A. Kraemer $(\boxtimes) \cdot A$. G. Rowe

St. Louis University School of Medicine,

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

D. Duscher, M. A. Shiffman (eds.), *Regenerative Medicine and Plastic Surgery*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19958-6_32

32.2.1 Results

This is a review of use of a new wound treatment modality over a 6-year period. As the amount and formulation of the UBM-ECM device used was based on our accumulated clinical experience, there was not consistent application of the formulations used or the amounts placed, and new device formulations were used as they became clinically available. As such, comparisons of healing rates and time to closure among these patients has little foundation, but an appreciation of the lessons learned in an attempt to establish best practice seemed warranted. Forehead and scalp wound patients as a group often needed several device applications with initial patients having alternate day powder placed and later patient have larger volumes of several formulations placed less frequently. A secondary skin graft was done in nine of these wounds. One patient in particular with a large radiated full-thickness skull wound and metastatic angiosarcoma healed poorly and died from his underlying disease with his open wound. Nasal wounds had good healing, and the forehead flap patients liked the result with a standard two-stage transfer that did not need later secondary thinning or revision. The ear keloid patient had some thickening of the healed ear scar return at 2 years, but the adjacent involved neck scar region appeared normal. Facial scarring wound patients showed improvements with open wounds, but the one patient with contracted old closed wounds showed little improvement in tissue formation or softening of the contracted skin. The two intraoral uses where the antral closure patient picked the device out of her wound and the radiated patient removed the bolster stent at postoperative day 2.5 had no long-term improvement.

32.3 Discussion

The robust blood supply of the head and neck region makes possible many local tissue reconstructive options not possible in other body regions. However, the frequency of skin cancers of this region in an ever-aging population with numerous medical comorbidities can result in patients who have exhausted standard local treatment options leaving them with few suitable local treatment options. While these patients may accept a suggested complex surgical procedure, they often do so reluctantly after being told there are no other possible treatment options. We have found that UBM-ECM wound devices have allowed us to do less complex procedures in some patients who are mindful of the increased total time of healing and pleased that they are given new options for treatment in contrast to extensive surgery. Others have found these devices useful in the head and neck region treating flap donor sites [4].

Proper wound bed preparation is an essential prerequisite for optimal healing with the use of ECM wound devices. Obtaining a wound bed void of necrotic tissue and devitalized bone must be achieved prior to placement of the UBM-ECM wound device. The wound device must also be apposed to and retained undisturbed in the wound bed so that the device can be replaced by the host's neo-tissue formation. These prerequisites are similar to Integra® Bilayer Matrix Wound Dressing use which has been available for use in the head and neck region since the mid-1980s [5-24]. However, the UBM-ECM wound devices have enhanced utility in that they been found to perform well in the face of bacterial contamination [1, 2, 25, 26]. Wounds that have a wound bed primarily comprised of bone are the most challenging tissue as one must get to a bony layer that has punctate bleeding without damaging the underlying structures such as the brain. It is important to not induce further bone injury with debridement so for larger debridements, while electric burrs may be used for the majority of the debridement, the final debridement layer is removed with rongeurs or curettes. It is also important for the outer margin of the bone debridement to extend under the soft tissue margin of the wound by several millimeters so there is adequate peripheral soft tissue at the margin to interact with the newly placed ECM wound device. Neurosurgical scalp wound patients, especially those with older meningioma procedures, can be problematic in that the variety of materials that have been historically used for treating the cranial
defect must be removed from the exposed wound regions before stable healing occurs.

ECM wound device therapy usually needs a secondary dressing that can be as simple as a head wrap or cap, silicone sheets, or sutured dressings. We have found shaving a 3–4 cm rim of hair around scalp wound helps with both keeping the wound clean and allowing for placement of a polyurethane sheet dressing which allows for retention of sufficient moisture to facilitate the constructive remodeling healing response. Alternatively, one can keep the device hydrated with a hydrogel with a secondary Telfa-type overlying dressing. One needs to be sure that the device has adequate hydration and should it appear too dry or healing is slowed, a trial of placing increased moisture should be tried before a further treatment.

Over the last 6 years, we have been using the UBM-ECM device; we have evolved in our thinking and utilization of the wound device. Initially we began using it much like other topical wound therapies only to appreciate that larger amounts of the device could be successfully applied at one setting, so we moved to placing multiple device formulations at the time of the initial operative wound bed preparation. The subsequent care was simplified as it only required placement of small amounts of hydrogel on top of a secondary dressing which caused little patient pain and discomfort. Suturing the device into the wound either directly or with a secondary dressing sutured at the margins has also facilitated postoperative care. The wound is then observed until it is healed or until the wound has filled in to a point a simple skin graft is possible.

UBM-ECM wound device healing occurs via a process referred to as constructive remodeling which occurs when the wound device is broken down at the wound bed surface and replaced with the host's native tissue(s). This newly formed tissue is typically a very close replica of the missing tissue, but as it is not identical to the missing tissue, it is improper to refer to this healing process as regeneration. Newly generated peptide fragments referred to as matricryptins, matrikinins, or matricryptic peptides which form as the host cells degrade the ECM device exert potent bioactivity with their newly exposed adhesions sites [27, 28]. These shorter fragments often have biologic responses that are distinct from, and often more potent than, those of the native parent molecule. It is the combination of all of these newly formed peptides which regulate the wide variety of injury and healing processes observed including angiogenesis, anti-angiogenesis, migration, differentiation, adhesion, as well as the associated antimicrobial activity that yields the less constructive remodeling scarred healing observed. A recent publication [29] is the most complete characterization of the composition of the EBM-ECM wound device and highlights the enhanced M-2 macrophage healing response noted in previous studies [30-32]. Over 500 proteins were identified via mass spectrometry, with 78% identified as MatriSome and MatriSomeassociated proteins (Fig. 32.1). Sadtler et al. [29] found that within the MatriSome category of proteins (77% of total), 98% were collagens (especially Types 1, 3-6, and 14), 1% ECM glycoproteins, and 1% proteoglycans. Within the MatriSome-associated fraction (1% of total), 55% were ECM regulators, 44% were ECM affiliated proteins, and 2% were secreted factors. The most abundant non-MatriSome proteins included actin, desmin, and hemoglobin. Additionally, adaptive immune T and B cells were also detected suggesting a role for antigen specificity to the remodeling response. What is clear is that a deeper understanding of all of the ECM components and their interactions with the body's immune system is needed to develop best practice UBM-ECM device use.

Clinically we have noted the normal inflammatory healing response is also greatly reduced as patients experience less swelling, scarring, and pain in the treated regions both early on and in the long term. We have not observed the restoration of skin appendages; however the UBM-ECM wound device provides a healthy healed wound which is amenable to later hair follicle grafting procedures.

Mohs surgical management of skin cancers of the head and neck has become more common-



Fig. 32.1 UBM-ECM Formulations. (a) The freezedried formulation of the UBM-ECM is available as a duallayer lyophilized sheet wound device (Cytal[®] Burn Matrix) or ground into a powder (MicroMatrix[®], overlying powder). (b) Scanning electron micrograph of the lyophilized (freeze-dried) sheet shows the natural ECM matrix structure after complete decellularization. Note both the overlying intact smooth surface of the intact basement membrane layer and the honeycombed ECM

place, and with micrographic margin control, the use of the ECM wound devices can have great utility. The use of an ECM wound device at the time that clear margins are obtained can help limit the scarring. Many Mohs surgeons now also perform their own wound closures and refer only the larger more complex patients for treatment. Forehead flaps are a mainstay of treatment of large nasal defects. Patient acceptance of the procedure can be an obstacle for the medically ill, the anticoagulated patient, and the younger patient who doesn't want to have a two-stage, let

matrix structure which optimally presents the ECM constituents for host tissue interaction. (c) The thicker fenestrated vacuum-pressed sheet formulation marketed as a 3- or 6-layer Cytal[®] Wound Matrix. (d) Scanning electron micrograph of the vacuum-pressed 6-layer sheet demonstrating the denser, compressed ECM matrix. These formulations persist in the wound bed the longest with the 6-layer device lasting the longest

alone a three-stage, flap reconstructive procedure. We have also used the UBM-ECM device to manage a large nasal sidewall defect down to a smaller-sized alar rim defect which was amenable to a free ear cartilage-skin graft. A close working relationship with dermatologists is additionally useful for co-managing unusual inflammatory and healing issues of the scalp. We have treated two cases of pustular dermatosis with UBM-ECM which optimally responded to thalidomide treatment in one case and the second one which responded to FK-506. Acute trauma degloving-type wounds can lead to large surface wound. These wounds typically heal well, but at the time of acute injury, patients want to be sure that all measures are taken to minimize scarring. For crush nasal or nasoorbitalethmoidal injuries, we have used the device in a single or multi-layer formulation depending upon the degree of injury for internal nasal lining and preservation of the nasal cavity. The high collagen content of the device also acts as a hemostatic agent to control the inevitable bleeding.

UBM-ECM wound devices are clinically available in three formulations, and an understanding of the performance characteristics of each formulation allows for the enhanced healing possible:

- The MicroMatrix[®] powder (Fig. 32.1) produces a more rapid, robust healing response as the small particle size allows for rapid breakdown. It can be applied as a direct powder or mixed with saline to create a thick slurry for injection. It can be used serially with alternate day treatments or in large volumes in a single placement. We have found it useful to improved healing ("take") of skin grafts in wounds beds that are less than ideal or in patients who are poor surgical candidates.
- 2. The lyophilized sheet formulation (Fig. 32.1) is the device formulation prior to it being ground into powder and has a more sustained response over the period of 1 week or more as a single sheet or longer if it is "packed" into a wound.
- 3. The vacuum-pressed sheets (Fig. 32.1) are available in 3-layer and 6-layer sheet formulations as Cytal[®] Surgical Sheets. There is also an 8-layer sheet available as Gentrix[®] Surgical Thick sheets which is indicated for tissue reinforcement such as in hernia repair. We have found the suture-holding capacity of the vacuum-pressed sheets useful to secure the skin margins of an open wound, reduce skin closure tension as well as help to hold and retain

other formulations of the UBM-ECM device placed deeper in the wound.

One of the greatest present limitations to UBM-ECM use comes from insurance companies classifying these devices as experimental and denying coverage. Also, there is limited reimbursement for outpatient use, so all of the cases in this series had the device placed in the operating room. Both of these limitations should be solved in the near future which will allow for more timely and rapid healing with use of these devices. More recently we have had success appealing the denial decisions after discussing the case with a medical director who has knowledge of surgery and wound care.

We found most patient had healed wounds with good outcomes with the following notes:

- Scalp and forehead wounds tend to heal slower and often required several applications of the device to yield a wound able to be skin grafted or go on to complete closure.
- 2. Patients that initially had more aggressive bone debridement (as discussed) showed improved healing with fewer treatments.
- 3. The slowest healing occurred with therapeutic prior scalp radiation for cancer treatment and with pustular dermatosis of the scalp (until treated with tacrolimus Case 10).
- 4. The wound device use in improving scar revisions holds great promise.
- 5. Contracted facial scars did not dramatically improve with placement of the device under the intact skin.
- 6. More research is needed to determine optimal use of the UBM-ECM wound device.

32.4 Clinical Cases

These clinical cases represent an evolution of our clinical experience trying to obtain optimal healing with the various formulations of the UBM- ECM wound device. We found that placing larger amounts of the device at the operative setting proved to be both effective and saved patients' time and discomfort at subsequent follow-up visits. Powder was used more often in treating chronic wounds to stimulate a robust healing response in a chronic wound bed. Common to the management of all of these wounds is securing the device into the wound bed and the need for the wound devices to be kept moist with serial application of hydrogels and/or the use of moisture retentive dressings such as a polyurethane sheet dressing. Of particular note is the appearance of the lighter pink salmon-colored UBM-ECM-stimulated granulation tissue which forms (Figs. 32.2d, 32.3g, 32.8e, 32.9g, and 32.9h) and the formation of visible blood vessels in the newly formed tissue (Fig. 32.2j).



Fig. 32.2 A 65-year-old male having had a wide resection of stage 2 nodular melanoma of his left temple closed with a full-thickness skin graft, subsequent radiation therapy followed by a methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* infection leading to this exposed bone open wound for 2 years. (a) Initial appearance of the left temple wound. (b) Wound after debridement of the outer necrotic bone. (c) Wound after placement of MicroMatrix[®] powder and Cytal[®] Burn Matrix and Prolene sutures placed to partially close wound and retain the wound device in the wound bed. (d) Wound 3 weeks postoperative. (e) Wound

7 weeks postoperative at time of repeat full-thickness skin graft. (f) Wound 2 weeks post-grafting. (g) Wound 6 weeks post-grafting. (h) Twelve weeks post-grafting, additional MicroMatrix[®] powder applied. (i) Fourteen weeks post-grafting nearly healed. (j) Five months later, debrided and additional MicroMatrix[®] powder applied. (k) Two months later, and after additional MicroMatrix[®] powder application the wound then heals—note the appearance of new blood vessels in the wound bed. (l) One year later. (m) Two years later



Fig. 32.2 (continued)



Fig. 32.2 (continued)

32.4.1 Forehead and Scalp

Initial management of this patient required removal of the obviously necrotic exposed bone prior to the placement of both MicroMatrix[®] powder and Cytal[®] Burn Matrix (Fig. 32.2). The device was retained in the wound with Prolene sutures used to partially close the circular as well as retain the wound device in the wound bed like a mesh. The healing was slow with several small foci of bone which failed to promote healing and needed removal. Of particular interest was the formation of visible new blood vessels which formed during the healing process. Integra[®] was not employed in this case due to the risk of infection in this chronic wound.

This patient who sustained a nearly fatal stroke had a poorly treated, infected, full-thickness skull defect with exposed, injured dura (Fig. 32.3). The dura repair device, while classi-



Fig. 32.3 A 42-year-old female with a scalp wound following a decompressive craniotomy for a major right middle cerebral artery stroke. (\mathbf{a} , \mathbf{b}) Initial wound appearance showing exposed central cranial bone edge and poor wound care. (\mathbf{c} , \mathbf{d}) CT scan showing the calvarial bone defect and the Durepair[®] dura regeneration matrix (bright wavy line in \mathbf{d}) used for dural closure/reinforcement. (\mathbf{e}) Debrided wound with bone debrided back to bleeding and the dural edge present just above the hooks—no CSF leak

was noted. (f) After placement of MicroMatrix[®] powder and Cytal[®] 6-layer vacuum pressed sheet placement. (g) Four weeks postoperative showing residual ECM device still present in the wound. (h) Ten weeks postoperative with a region of bone still exposed. (i) One month after bone debridement and placement of additional MicroMatrix[®] powder. (j) Seven months later (11 months after initial procedure). (k) After neurosurgery replaced bone flap 7 months later



Fig. 32.3 (continued)

fied as an ECM device, is processed for strength and durability which enhances the tensile dural repair but alters the native device molecules, so it lacks the enhanced ECM wound healing response found with the UBM-ECM. Both the MicroMatrix® powder and Cytal[®] 6-layer Surgical Matrix was placed and closed into the wound with a small open gap treated with daily hydrogel. The initial debridement of the outer calvarial bone was inadequate and required additional debridement and placement of the UBM-ECM for final closure.

This chronic exposed skull wound which responded to debridement, ECM treatment, and subsequent skin grafting failed to completely heal until being treated with topical tacrolimus (Fig. 32.4). A large volume of MicroMatrix[®] powder is placed on top of several layers of the Cytal[®] Burn Matrix which was then secured at the periphery with staples. Once the granulation bed developed to a point it was felt the wound bed would support a skin graft, a graft was placed. Medically complex patients such as this elderly patient with rheumatoid arthritis require maximal medical management of all problems and possible dermatology consultation for unexpected complications with normal expected healing.

32.4.2 Nasal Reconstruction

The Cytal® Burn Matrix treatment of a degloving nasal tissue laceration and externally, was done in an attempt to limit the potential scarring of the nose (Fig. 32.5). Powder was not used due to the acute nature of the injury and the desired UBM-ECM healing response was desired for the first 2 weeks. The UBM-ECM device was employed due to the severity of the wounds and to avoid potential secondary internal nasal scarring which is most difficult to treat once it develops. This patient reported normal breathing and near normal sensation of the degloved nasal skin. Of particular interest is the healing of the non-treated brow region sites which developed some contracted healing (which might best have been treated with a wound sheet underlay these flaps also).

The UBM-ECM device was used in an attempt to minimize forehead flap pedicle inflammation

and distal flap swelling, thus allowing for a twostage instead of a standard three-stage forehead flap nasal reconstruction (Fig. 32.6). We have also successfully used this in one additional patient. A single device formulation was used due to the acute nature of the surgery and desire for 2–3 weeks of desired activity. Figure 32.6c, d demonstrates the reduction of inflammation of a



Fig. 32.4 An 82-year-old female with an open vertex scalp wound and exposed bone following Mohs surgical resection of a squamous cell cancer. This wound has been present for over 4 years, and she has had severe rheumatoid arthritis treated for over 30 years. (**a**, **b**) Initial wound appearance. (**c**) After necrotic bone debridement and placement of 200 mg MicroMatrix[®] powder. (**d**) Placement of a 7 × 10 cm Cytal[®] Burn Matrix sheet. (**e**)

Four weeks later at time of full-thickness skin graft to the 4.5×5 cm wound. (f) Skin graft 1 week later. (g) Four weeks post-grafting. Note the peri-graft inflammation treated with silver nitrate. (h) Eight weeks post-grafting. (i) After continued poor healing she was diagnosed with pustular dermatosis that responded to topical tacrolimus treatment. (j) Wound remains healed 4 months later



Fig. 32.4 (continued)



Fig. 32.5 A 71-year-old female with a degloving nose wound after slipping on the ice and falling on a sharp edge. (a) Nose after the initial injury. (b) Postoperative appearance of the transected nares. (c) Cytal[®] Burn Matrix wrapped around the nares repair and place covering the dorsal nasal cartilage and bone. (d) Nasal stents wrapped

with Cytal[®] Burn Matrix to treat the internal nasal scarring. (e) Two weeks postoperative. (f) Two months later. Note the raised contracted scar healing of medial left brow which did not have underlying Burn Matrix applied. (g) The open nares



Fig. 32.5 (continued)



Fig. 32.6 A 75-year-old male needing closure of Mohs surgical defect of his nasal tip after resection of a basal cell skin cancer. (a) Initial patient appearance with forehead flap design outlined. (b) Use of the Cytal[®] Burn Matrix as a lining of the undersurface of the forehead flap pedicle. (c) Thin pliable forehead flap pedicle prior to flap

inset. (d) The transected pedicle demonstrating the healed raw surface and minimal swelling and inflammation of the pedicle. (e) Appearance of patient at the time of inset. (f, g) Twelve months later it healed without secondary thinning or flap revision was required



Fig. 32.6 (continued)



Fig. 32.7 An 81-year-old male with left nasal sidewall defect after Mohs surgical resection of a basal cell skin cancer. Patient is on Coumadin and refuses flap reconstruction due to a prior stroke. (a) Initial appearance of left nasal defect. (b) After placement of MicroMatrix[®]

forehead flap pedicle with the UBM-ECM use. This minimized distal flap swelling, so the patient avoided a second-stage thinning procedure. In addition, the device is primarily collagen, so the device minimizes the exudate from the "raw surface" of the flap and makes the post-flap care easier for these often-elderly patients.

powder on the wound. (c) Ten days later after alternate day placement of the powder. At this point care changed to alternate day placement of Cytal[®] Wound Sheet. (d) Four weeks later. (e) After a composite ear skin-cartilage graft performed under local anesthesia 6 months later

Serial placement of the MicroMatrix[®] powder and then a single-layer wound sheet was used to manage this large nasal sidewall defect to a smaller size which was then amenable to a much less complicated surgical procedure (Fig. 32.7). This was one of the earlier-treated patients, and we were using smaller amounts of the device



Fig. 32.7 (continued)

placed in the wound on alternate days. This patient would not stop his Coumadin and was pleased that he avoided a large procedure. He was content to live with the cleft of his lateral nose (Fig. 32.8) but agreed to a final repair as it could be done in the office under local anesthesia. The UBM-ECM lateral nasal wound healing readily supported the free composite graft from the left ear.

32.4.3 Facial Soft Tissues

This is a case of a forehead abrasion/tissue loss injury treated with a Cytal[®] Burn Matrix sheet applied to provide sufficient UBM-ECM wound device for the estimated several weeks it would take for the wound to heal (Fig. 32.8). While not done in this case as it was used to treat acute trauma, MicroMatrix[®] powder could possibly be used under the sheet as there was a severe deep tissue injury. The device was retained in the wound with a Vaseline gauze sheet secured at the margins of the wound bed. The typical pink salmon-colored granulation tissue response is noted. The healing which occurred in the most heavily injured eyebrow region was sufficient for subsequent micro-hair grafts which was critical for the final appearance. This patient returned wanting treatment of his widened temple scar with the wound device which was done resulting in a minimally noticeable smooth scar.

This patient has subacute self-inflicted bilateral cheek wounds compounded by infection (Fig. 32.9). Both the MicroMatrix[®] powder and Cytal® Burn Matrix were used in these semi-acute wounds left undisturbed for several weeks under a sutured Vaseline gauze dressing left undisturbed for several weeks. This dressing also limited the patient's ability to further harm herself and permitted her to focus on the treatment of her psychiatric issues and not wound care. The right chin wound at the time of operative treatment seemed a more minor injury, so it wasn't treated with the wound device. In retrospect, using the UBM-ECM treatment on the chin wound might have yielded a more favorable scar more like the much deeper and larger upper cheek scars.

This case of an elderly man with a chronic radiated skin cancer resection wound shows that an unfavorable wound bed, given enough time and a UBM-ECM device, can heal (Fig. 32.10). This was an earlier-treated patient, so only a singlelayer wound sheet which was folded over several times was used. This was also one of our earlier uses of more device placed for a prolonged time. The simplified placement of a polyurethane sheet dressing weekly was easily accomplished by the patient.



Fig. 32.8 A 23-year-old male with forehead and eyebrow wounds sustained after a windshield injury in a motor vehicle accident. (**a**, **b**) Forehead, eyebrow, upper eyelid lacerations, and tissue loss. (**c**) Cytal[®] Burn Matrix ECM applied to forehead and eyebrow wounds. (**d**) One week. The brown-colored ECM needs more hydration for maximal activity. (**e**) Three weeks. Note the characteristic of ECM-stimulated salmon-colored granulation tissue. (**f**) Three months post-injury. (**g**) 13 months later after microhair grafting of eyebrow. (**h**) Forehead and eyebrow

appearance 27 months later. (i) Initial right temple wound prior to debridement of necrotic flap. (j) Widened healed right temple scar 27 months later. Patient desires improvement. (k) Excision of temple scar. (l) Mobility of skin edge closure. (m) Placement of Cytal[®] Burn Matrix into wound bed with deep dermal sutures imbricating the wound device up into the dermal closure. (n) Subcuticular Prolene suture closure with outer skin glue placement. (o) Healed wound appearance 6 weeks later after sutures removed



Fig. 32.8 (continued)



Fig. 32.8 (continued)



Fig. 32.8 (continued)



Fig. 32.8 (continued)



Fig. 32.8 (continued)



Fig. 32.9 A 42-year-old female with an anxiety disorder who self-injured her face with her fingernails. (a, b) Initial appearance of the bilateral cheeks being topically treated for necrotizing cellulitis. (c, d) Cheek wounds after wound bed preparation. (e, f) UBM-ECM being placed into

cheek wounds—100 mg. MicroMatrix[®] powder and 5×5 cm. Cytal[®] Burn Matrix split between the two wounds. (g, h) One month later. Note the moist salmon-colored granulation tissue typical of UBM-ECM healing. (i, j) Cheek at 14 months post UBM-ECM treatment



Fig. 32.9 (continued)



```
Fig. 32.9 (continued)
```



Fig. 32.10 A 91-year-old male with a non-healing left cheek wound which extends down to the zygomatic arch—after resection of a squamous cell cancer and radiation therapy. (a) Initial wound. (b) After debridement at the time of placement of several pieces of a Cytal[®] single

layer wound sheet used to fill the wound cavity. (c) One week later with small overlying clot. (d) Seven weeks post-treatment. (e) Final wound 3 months post-treatment. A polyurethane sheet covering was the only secondary dressing utilized during the healing process

Acknowledgments *Disclosure*: Dr. Kraemer has been a consultant for ACell[®] Inc. (Columbia, MD) since 2014 and has received monies for presenting his clinical experience on the use of the UBM-ECM wound device. He began using the UBM-ECM wound devices in 2010.

References

- Geiger SE, Deigni OA, Watson JT, Kraemer BA. Management of open distal lower extremity wounds with exposed tendons using porcine urinary bladder matrix. Wounds. 2016;28(9):308–16.
- Kraemer BA, Geiger SE, Deigni OA, Watson JT. Management of open distal lower extremity wounds with concomitant fracture using porcine urinary bladder matrix. Wounds. 2016;28(11):387–94.
- Personal communication with multiple other practitioners using the UBM-ECM wound device
- Melville JC, Bennetts NA, Tijerina L, Shum JW. The use of acellular urinary bladder matrix as coverage for fasciocutaneous free flap donor sites: An alternative to traditional grafting procedures. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2017;75(10):2254–60.
- Chalmers RL, Smock E, Geh JLC. Experience of Integra in cancer reconstructive surgery. J Plast Reconst Aesth Surg. 2010;63:2081–90.
- Cordaro ER, Calabrese S, Faibni GP, Zanotti B, Verlicchi A, Parodi PC. Method to Thicken the Scalp in Calvarian Reconstruction. J Craniofac Surg. 2011;22:598–601.
- Corradino B, Lorenzo D, Barone AAL, Maresi E, Moschella F. Reconstruction of full thickness scalp defects after tumour excision in elderly patients: Our experience with Integra dermal regeneration template. J Plast Reconst Aesth Surg. 2010;63:e245–e7.
- Cunningham T, Marks M. Vacuum-assisted closure device and skin substitutes for complex mohs defects. Dermatol Surg. 2014;40:S120–S6.
- Friedstst JS, Klein MB. Acute management of facial burns. Clin Plast Surg. 2009;36:653–60.
- Gonyon DL, Zenn MR. Simple approach to the radiated scalp wound using INTEGRA skin substitute. Ann Plast Surg. 2003;50:315–20.
- Hunt JA, Moisidis E, Haertsch P. Initial experience of Integra in the treatment of post-burn anterior cervical neck contracture. Br J Plast Surg. 2000;53:652–8.
- 12. Khan MAA, Chipp E, Hardwicke J, Srinivasan K, Rayatt S. The use of Dermal Regeneration Template (Integra) for reconstruction of a large full-thickness scalp and calvarial defect with exposed dura. J Plast Reconst AesthSurg. 2010;63:2168–71.
- Khan MAA, Ali SN, Farid M, Pancholi M, Rayatt S, Yap LH. Use of Dermal Regeneration Template (Integra) for reconstruction of full-thickness complex oncologic scalp defects. J Craniofac Surg. 2010;21:905–9.
- Koenen W, Goerdt S, Faulhaber J. Removal of the outer table of the skull for reconstruction of fullthickness scalp defects with a Dermal Regeneration Template. Dermatol Surg. 2008;34:357–63.
- Komorowska-Timek E, Gabriel A, Bennett DC, Miles D, Garberoglio C, Cheng C, Gupta S. Artificial der-

mis as an alternative for coverage of complex scalp defects following excision of malignant tumors. J Plast Reconstr Surg. 2005;115:1010–7.

- Kosutic D, Beasung E, Dempsey M, Ryan L, Fauzi Z, O'Sullyvan B, Orr D. Single-layer Integra for onestage reconstruction of scalp defects with exposed bone following full thickness burn injury: A novel technique. Burns. 2012;38:143–4.
- Noah EM, Unglaub F, Hartmann T, Pallua N. A case of successful delayed reconstruction using a collagen based dermal substitute of a chemical burn injury to the face caused by sulphuric acid. Burns. 2004;30:280–2.
- Orseck MJ, Trujillo MG, Ritter EF. Screw fixation of Dermal Regeneration Template for scalp reconstruction. Ann Plast Surg. 2012;68:457–60.
- Pannucci CJ, Collar RM, Johnson TM, Bradford CR, Rees RS. The role of full-thickness scalp resection for management of primary scalp melanoma. Ann Surg. 2012;69:165–8.
- Singh M, Bui CJ, St-Hilaire H. Reconstruction of complex aplasia cutis congenita. J Craniofac Surg. 2012;23:e88–90.
- Spector JA, Glat PM. Hair-bearing scalp reconstruction using a Dermal Regeneration Template and micrograft hair transplantation. Ann Plast Surg. 2007;59:63–6.
- 22. Wain RAJ, Shah SHA, Senarath-Yapa K, Laitung JKG. Dermal substitutes do well on dura: Comparison of split skin grafting +/– artificial dermis for reconstruction of full-thickness calvarial defects. J Plast Reconst Aesth Surg. 2010;63:e826–e8.
- 23. Wilensky JS, Rosenthal AH, Bradford CR, Rees RS. The Use of a bovine collagen construct for reconstruction of full-thickness scalp defects in the elderly patient with cutaneous malignancy. Ann Plast Surg. 2005;54:297–301.
- Yeong EK, Huang HF, Tang Chen YB, Chen MT. The use of artificial dermis for reconstruction of full thickness scalp burn involving the calvaria. Burns. 2006;32:375–9.
- Brennan EP, Reing J, Chew D, Myers-Irvin JM, Young EJ, Badylak SF. Antibacterial activity within degradation products of biological scaffolds composed of extracellular matrix. Tissue Eng. 2006;(10):2949–55.
- Medberry CJ, Tottey S, Jiang H, Johnson SA, Badylak SF. Resistance to infection of five different materials in a rat body wall model. J Surg Res. 2012;173(1):38–44.
- Davis GE, Bayless KJ, Davis MJ, Meininger GA. Regulation of tissue injury responses by the exposure of matricryptic sites within extracellular matrix molecules. Am J Pathol. 2000;156:1489–98.
- Davis GE. Matricryptic sites control tissue injury responses in the cardiovascular system: relationships to pattern recognition receptor regulated events. J Mol Cell Cardiol. 2010;48:454–60.
- 29. Sadtler K, Sommerfeld SD, Wolf MT, Wang X, Majumdar A, Chung L, Kelkar DS, Pandey A, Elisseeff JH. Proteomic composition and immunomodulatory properties of urinary bladder matrix scaffolds in homeostasis and injury. Semin Immunol. 2017;29:14–23.



33

Advances in Facial Nerve Paralysis: Surgical Innovation, Tissue Engineering, and Emerging Technology

Julia R. Brennan, Matthew E. Spector, Jennifer C. Kim, and Michael J. Brenner

33.1 Introduction

The facial nerve is of critical importance to an individual's identity and ability to connect and communicate with others [1]. It takes part both in day-to-day functions of eating, drinking, and blinking and also in minute-to-minute expressions of emotion and social interaction [2]. The involvement of the facial nerve in eye closure makes it crucial in the prevention of corneal exposure and keratopathy and ultimately protection of vision [3]. As such, the multifaceted nature means that injury to the facial nerve can be very damaging to patients. Facial palsy has a profound impact on activities of daily living, psychosocial well-being, and quality of life measures and is thus an important focus of a vast array of both surgical and nonsurgical interventions [4].

In order to select the appropriate approach to treatment, various considerations must be taken into account. These include the cause, duration, and severity of the facial palsy, the integrity of the underlying neuromusculature, and the general goals of the patient [5]. Due to the nature of the anatomy, it is challenging to completely

Department of Otolaryngology—Head and Neck Surgery, University of Michigan,

Ann Arbor, MI, USA

restore the intricacy and cooperation of the facial mimetic musculature. Current techniques aim to establish symmetry and movement. Static slings and nonsurgical approaches can offer improved resting symmetry to these patients, but they do not restore muscle tone or allow for voluntary reanimation [1]. For the purposes of this chapter, we will be focusing on the dynamic surgical techniques in reanimation and reinnervation which are currently employed to treat facial paralysis. Also included is an overview of some areas of ongoing research in facial nerve repair in which future techniques are discussed.

Facial nerve repair research has proven to be an exciting frontier for the fields of tissue engineering, nanotechnology, and bioelectrical interface design. The emerging technologies take advantage of the ongoing work in basic, clinical, and translational research that promise to advance the field even further in the coming years.

33.2 Diagnosis and Clinical Decision-Making

In order to reinstate symmetric facial movement, there must be a functional nerve that can provide input to a functional bed of muscle with intact neuromuscular junctions (Fig. 33.1). Options for neural input include the ipsilateral facial nerve, the contralateral facial nerve, or coaptation between an alternative cranial nerve and the

J. R. Brennan · M. E. Spector · J. C. Kim

M. J. Brenner (🖂)

e-mail: jbren@umich.edu; mespector@umich.edu; jennkim@umich.edu; mbren@umich.edu

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

D. Duscher, M. A. Shiffman (eds.), *Regenerative Medicine and Plastic Surgery*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19958-6_33



Fig. 33.1 Confocal imaging illustrating terminal axons and motor end plates, adapted from Magill CK, Tong A, Kawamura D, Hayashi A, Hunter DA, Parsadanian A, Mackinnon SE, Myckatyn TM. Reinnervation of the tibialis anterior following sciatic nerve crush injury: A confocal microscopic study in transgenic mice. Experimental Neurology. 2007;207(1)

distal facial nerve segment. The muscle bed can be that of existing facial muscles or that of a transfer, either regional or distant [5].

The choice of repair is contingent upon the duration of denervation and site of the injury. The time since injury can often indicate the viability of the underlying facial mimetic musculature. Although the exact cutoff is debated, studies demonstrate functional reinnervation can be achieved for approximately 12-18 months after injury before there is irreversible muscle atrophy and degeneration of the neuromuscular junction [6]. An electromyographic study can help evaluate the viability of the neuromuscular unit. Together with a comprehensive preoperative evaluation, these studies can assist in diagnosis and informed clinical decision-making [7]. Figure 33.2 illustrates an algorithm that can assist in evaluating a patient with facial palsy.

33.3 Approaches

33.3.1 Reinnervation

There are three available surgical techniques by which facial nerve reinnervation is achieved. For nerve transections there are primary suture repair and tissue adhesives. For any larger nerve defects, there are nerve grafts and conduits to avoid tension and bridge the gap. For any injury involving an unavailable proximal or distal nerve segment, there are nerve transfers [8].

33.3.2 Primary Suture Repair

Primary end-to-end neurorrhaphy of fresh nerve endings remains the best option for nerve transection injuries in the event that tensionfree approximation is possible. A study in a primate model suggested that, for defects up to 3–4 cm, primary repair under modest tension results in better axon regeneration than grafting [9]. In the setting of larger nerve gaps, however, the higher tension on the nerve endings can result in impairments in nerve vascularity, scar tissue formation, and even nerve rupture [10, 11].

There has historically been a dispute as to the best technique for microsurgical neural repair. The advantage of fascicular repair is that it facilitates the best axonal alignment, but this requires increased operational complexity and has the potential for disruption of the nerve and the vasa nervorum. Alternatively, epineural repair is faster and less disruptive and is often the favored technique for primary neurorrhaphy [5, 12]. The epineural sleeve technique has been demonstrated to have better functional nerve recovery and is thus favored over standard end-to-end repair. In this technique, the epineural sheath of the distal nerve ending is rolled back 2 mm so as to create a sleeve over the proximal stump at the area of coaptation (Fig. 33.3). This is thought to create a chamber within which the repair site is separated from the surrounding tissues to collect axoplasmic fluid and promotes regeneration [13]. Alternatively, another technique involves end-to-end epineural repair with the use of a vein graft cuff placed over the repair to facilitate a similar isolation of the neurorrhaphy site. Of note, this graft is placed on the proximal stump before the repair and is later transposed over the repair site.



Fig. 33.2 Algorithm for approaches to repair in a patient with facial nerve palsy. It is the authors' opinion that combined nerve supply—particularly use of masseteric-to-buccal branch of facial nerve in conjunction with hypoglossal-to-facial—provides the best tone and sym-

metry for patients with an absent proximal stump. Adapted from Gerd FV, Pantel M, Guntinas-Lichius O. Modern Concepts in facial nerve reconstruction. Head Face Med 2010;6

33.3.3 Tissue Adhesive

Fibrin glue and other adhesives also play an increasing role in nerve repair. Studies in rodents demonstrated no difference in recovery outcomes between primary suture and fibrin adhesive coaptation, yet there was a significantly reduced operative time for the latter [14, 15]. Additionally, because the epineural sutures used in neurorrhaphy are permanent, there is the concern for a chronic foreign body reaction and increased inflammation which may inhibit axonal regeneration [16].

Historically, a potential disadvantage about fibrin glue concerns about its ability to hold the nerve endings together and maintain an adequate tensile strength at the site of repair. Multiple studies in animal models have indicated that these adhesives actually have biomechanical performances that are equivalent to that of primary suture repair, suggesting that these concerns are unfounded [17, 18]. As such, fibrin glue presents as a quicker and easier modality that may indeed be functionally comparable to primary suture repair.



Fig. 33.3 Diagram of epineural sleeve repair, reproduced with permission from Siemionow M, Brzezicki G. Current techniques and concepts in peripheral nerve repair. Int Rev. Neurobiol 2009;87:148

33.3.4 Nerve Grafts

33.3.4.1 Autografts

For the repair of larger nerve gaps across which tension-free or minimal tension neurorrhaphy is unavailable, grafts are indicated. Nerve grafts in particular contain components, namely, Schwann cells and their extracellular matrix and growth factors, that make them the ideal scaffold for regeneration of injured nerve axons. Taken together, these constitute a microenvironment that effectively promotes the advancement of regenerating axons [19].

As compared to primary suture repair, nerve grafting results in both an increased incidence of synkinesis and a longer rehabilitation time as nerve function returns [20]. In synkinesis, aberrant neural regeneration across the graft can cause multiple muscle groups to contract when just one is activated. This can be minimized by the use of multiple neural inputs such that the upper facial musculature and lower facial musculature are innervated separately. Using a masseteric-to-buccal coaptation as an adjunct to the cable nerve graft has been shown to reduce the incidence of synkinesis and result in a faster recovery of oral commissure movement [21] (Fig. 33.4).

There has also been consideration as to the importance of nerve polarity in orienting these nerve grafts. Historically, the philosophy has been to orient the nerve graft in its physiologic orientation such that the proximal end of the graft is coapted with the proximal end of the defect. Conversely, many surgeons recommend the opposite so as to minimize the potential for arborized axons to get lost to misrouting [22]. A systematic review revealed no significant differences in functional outcomes or nerve generation between normal and reversed polarity nerve autografts [23].



Fig. 33.4 Diagram of concurrent masseteric nerve transfer and cable graft. MAB represents the medial antebrachial nerve used as the nerve graft

33.3.5 Nerve Reconstruction and Nerve Transfers

In some instances of facial nerve injury, neither primary suture repair nor graft techniques are applicable. When the proximal facial nerve stump is resected or damaged but the distal NMJ and facial muscles are intact, a nerve substitution may be indicated. The best outcomes for these procedures have been reported when they are performed within 12–18 months, although some studies report success after up to 4 years [24, 25]. After chronic denervation, the neuromuscular junction undergoes significant atrophy at the motor end plate, and the outcomes of nerve transfers are much less successful [5].

33.3.5.1 Hypoglossal-Facial (XII-VII)

The hypoglossal nerve is a valuable option for nerve substitution of the facial nerve as it is proximal to the extratemporal portion and has a high population of myelinated motor axons. In addition, hemi-tongue weakness is more tolerable among patients than weakness of other facial musculature [26, 27].

Historically, the classic procedure entailed transection of the entire hypoglossal nerve and reattachment distally to the facial nerve stump. Since its advent, there have been several modifications in order to minimize tongue dysfunction and subsequent issues with articulation and mastication. Animal studies have sought to quantify the percentage of hypoglossal axons required to preserve acceptable tongue function. A rodent model demonstrated that at 40% preservation of the hypoglossal nerve, tongue atrophy is minimized and the facial musculature can be effectively reinnervated [28]. This has led to an early modification in which there is partial nerve sacrifice. Other modifications include the jump graft which utilizes a donor cable graft - either from the greater auricular or sural nerve – to bridge the hypoglossal nerve and the distal facial nerve trunk. Studies demonstrate that the end-to-side neurorrhaphy used in the jump graft repair is best facilitated by deliberate transection of some of the donor nerve axons to facilitate regeneration [29]. This modification serves to preserve some tongue function and decrease mass activation of the hemiface [30].

Finally, the infratemporal facial nerve can be reflected out of the mastoid bone and used for direct communication between the hypoglossal nerve and the distal facial trunk. This obviates the need for an interpositional graft and decreases axonal loss through an additional coaptation site [31]. After proximal nerve injuries such as acoustic neuroma with facial nerve sacrifice or, indeed, whenever there is adequate facial nerve available, this is a very attractive option as it necessitates just one coaptation between two intact nerves.

As of yet, the outcomes of these various modifications have not yet been studied among one another, and there is some debate as to which one balances the least morbidity with the best functional results. However, there is a consensus as to the inferiority of the classic nerve transfer relative to the three alternative procedures as the former results in hemiglossal paresis and mass activation and synkinesis [5]. The complete sacrifice of the hypoglossal nerve is no longer considered a treatment standard due to the existence of these newer techniques with significantly less morbidity.

33.3.5.2 Masseteric-Facial (V-VII)

The masseteric branch of the trigeminal nerve has more recently been popularized as an option for nerve transfer in the setting of facial nerve injury [32]. The masseteric nerve presents as a valuable option as it has reliable surgical anatomy, which provides for ease of dissection. There is minimal-to-no donor site morbidity from sacrifice. In addition, the nerve to the masseter is located in close proximity to the facial nerve, obviating the need for a cable graft, and has a high axonal count allowing for quick recovery and robust input [4, 33] (Fig. 33.5).

The success of the masseteric-facial coaptation may lie in the physiologic connectedness of cranial nerves V and VII. Some studies have indicated that patients who undergo this procedure may achieve spontaneous movement without the conscious thought required of hypoglossal nerve transfers [34]. In a study comparing hemihypoglossal nerve and masseteric nerve transpositions for rehabilitation of facial paralysis, the latter was demonstrated to result in better symmetry and faster onset of movement [35]. Other studies further suggest that masseteric nerve transfer minimizes the synkinesis, dysphagia, and dysarthria associated with hypoglossal nerve transfer and provides a robust axonal volume that allows for a speedy recovery to function [36].

A major disadvantage of the masseteric nerve transfer is the poor resting tone that results. Outcomes after this operation demonstrate a limited effect on symmetry of the oral commissure at rest, and this is particularly evident during dynamic stages such as speech during which the patient isn't clenching down [37]. In order to mitigate this, it is the authors' preference to combine the masseteric-to-buccal with a hypoglossalto-facial coaptation, either through an end-to-side or a jump graft. In doing so, the repair is provided better resting tone from the hypoglossal while also benefiting from the fast, powerful masseteric input (Fig. 33.6).

33.3.5.3 Cross-Facial Nerve Grafting

Cross-facial nerve grafting has been described as another means of facial nerve repair in which the source of axons is the contralateral healthy facial nerve. It is the only donor nerve option that provides mimetic potential. It also allows for recov-



Fig. 33.5 Diagram of masseter-to-facial nerve transfer anatomy, reproduced with permission from Klebuc MJ. Facial reanimation using the masseter-to-facial nerve transfer. Plast Reconstr Surg 2011;127(5):1911



Fig. 33.6 Diagram of concurrent masseteric nerve transfer and hypoglossal nerve transfer

ery of emotion-based expression in which a patient is able to produce a smile as a natural response [38]. Due to the use of contralateral facial nerve fibers, there is no need for neuromuscular retraining or physical therapy to relearn how to activate these muscles [35].

The disadvantage to the cross-facial nerve graft procedure is that it requires a long nerve graft to reach the facial mimetic muscles and thus consists of a prolonged recovery time and requires two stages. The ensuing muscle atrophy and the limited number of axons in the repair are such that the reinnervation generates less motor power than hypoglossal nerve transfers [39].

33.3.5.4 Babysitter Procedure

The babysitter procedure is an adaptation that seeks to address some of the disadvantages of the cross-facial nerve graft technique. It capitalizes on optimal spontaneous outcomes of the procedure while mitigating the effects of longer deinnervation time. In it, a portion of the ipsilateral hypoglossal nerve is utilized first in a nerve transfer with the facial nerve trunk. Simultaneously, a nerve graft – often the sural nerve - is coapted to a healthy facial nerve branch to create the cross-facial nerve graft, which is delivered, but not connected, to the paretic side. At a later operation, once the activity of the facial nerve grows across the graft, the distal end(s) of the cross-facial nerve graft(s) is coapted to distal branches of the facial nerve [40, 41] (Fig. 33.7). The premise is that the hypoglossal nerve is a temporizing measure to prevent atrophy of the facial musculature while awaiting reinnervation [42]. By combining these two techniques, studies demonstrate that the babysitter procedure can preserve the facial musculature with an immediate, powerful nerve transfer and thus allows for optimal reanimation and synchronized facial expression in long term once the facial nerve grafts are attached [5, 43].



Fig. 33.7 Diagram of the babysitter procedure, stage 1 (left) and stage 2 (right), reproduced with permission from Terzis JK,Tzafetta K. The "babysitter" procedure:

minihypoglossal. To facial nerve transfer and cross-facial nerve grafting. Plast Reconstr Surg 2009;123(3):872

33.4.1 Free Muscle Transfers

In patients who have long-standing facial paralysis, muscle transfers may be pursued. In these patients, the facial muscles are subject to irreversible atrophy and loss of function at the motor end plates and thus cannot be simply reinnervated by any of the nerve transfer procedures described above. Similarly, patients with Möbius syndrome or developmental palsy in whom the facial muscles are paralyzed from birth can be candidates for free muscle transfers as well [4].

Free muscle transfers have emerged as the premier option for these patients. The most commonly used gracilis free muscle transfer has been demonstrated to achieve quantifiable improvements in several measures including static symmetry, dynamic symmetry, and oral commissure excursion [44]. In addition, there is the potential for these patients to undergo movement-associated cortical reorganization which may allow for the development of spontaneous smiles [5, 45].

The choice of the gracilis is due to its predictable anatomy, appropriate length and contractility, and ease of harvest [43]. The procedure involves a portion of the gracilis muscle being exposed and demarcated around a neurovascular pedicle after which it is split longitudinally for transplantation. It is inset via a face-lift incision and secured to the oral commissure. For vascular supply, the facial artery and vein are used [46]. For nerve supply, there are several options. The obturator nerve has traditionally been driven by a cross-facial nerve graft which allows for a coordinated and spontaneous smile (Fig. 33.8). Alternatively, the masseteric nerve provides a significantly more powerful smile with higher axonal counts [32]. More recently, a combined approach has coupled the benefits of the two neural inputs with a double-powered transfer [47].

Due to the prolonged regeneration time of the cross-facial nerve graft, the traditional operation occurs in two parts: in the first, the cross-facial nerve graft is placed using a sural nerve donor. Axonal regeneration is followed clinically using

Fig. 33.8 Diagram of gracilis muscle free flap and innervation by the ipsilateral masseteric nerve and the contralateral facial nerve through an interpositional sural nerve graft, reproduced with permission from Biglioli F, Colombo V, Tarabbia F, et al. Double innervation in freeflap surgery for long-standing facial paralysis. J Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg 2012;65:1345

Tinel's sign to determine the timing of the second stage of surgery. It may take up to a year for the regenerating axons to reach across the face. In the second operation, the gracilis muscle is transplanted as a neurovascular muscle free flap [3]. The flap is inset medial to the nasolabial crease and around the modiolus with an extension into the lower lip. Then, the vascular anastomosis is performed followed by the nerve coaptations. The flap is then affixed to the deep temporalis fascia or zygomatic periosteum along the vector of excursion [42]. The combination of this crossfacial nerve graft with input from the ipsilateral masseteric permits for spontaneous, mimetic smiles that are much more highly powered [45].

There are disadvantages associated with the gracilis muscle specifically. There is the potential for contour abnormalities and muscle bulk asymmetry that may lead to aesthetic deformities [5]. In addition, poor muscle contraction may lend to a less powerful repair if the ideal muscle tension



is not set. Studies have proposed the use of the sternohyoid muscle as an alternative as a muscle more comparable in nerve fiber makeup and bulk to the zygomaticus major. Other benefits include its nonessential function and longer recipient nerve that may provide advantages over gracilis transposition [48]. Despite this, the gracilis remains the widely accepted standard for free muscle transfer in facial reanimation.

33.4.2 Regional Muscle Transfers

As an alternative to the free muscle transfer, the donor muscle can be transferred regionally such as the temporalis, the masseter, or the anterior digastric. The temporalis muscle transfer is the most frequently used, and the favored, orthodromic approach involves removing the muscle at its insertion on the coronoid process and reattaching it to the oral commissure [43]. The advantage of regional muscle transfers is that the operation is far less complex than the free muscle transfers as there is no need for microvascular surgery; the neurovascular supply is pedicled with the regional muscle transfers [42]. In addition, the functional benefit is immediate after surgery without the long rehabilitation time associated with free flaps. Disadvantages of this operation include the potential for smile vector asymmetries, diminished excursion relative to a free flap, and lack of spontaneous smile [49].

33.5 Emerging Research

33.5.1 Advances in Nerve Regeneration

33.5.1.1 Nerve Allografts

There is a great deal of interest in finding alternatives to the use of autografts in the repair of nerve gap injuries due to secondary sensory or motor deficits incurred [50]. Allografts have been studied as an alternative, in particular acellular nerve allografts which avoid the need for long-term immunosuppression [51]. The RANGER Study has allowed for investigation into the long-term outcomes of patients who have utilized human nerve allograft in the reconstruction of the nerve. The data suggest that these allograft repairs result in high functional recovery and are a promising alternative to the traditional autograft repairs [52].

33.5.1.2 Nonneural Biological Grafts

Nonneural biological grafts have also been studied as an alternative to nerve autografts. These typically consist of artery segments, vein segments, or skeletal muscle autografts. Vein segments have been studied the most in the literature, and animal studies have reported outcomes comparable to those of nerve autografts [53, 54]. In addition, there has been some interest in the use of multiple-component conduits such as musclevein-combined techniques. Experimental studies have shown that combined muscle-vein conduits are rapidly colonized by Schwann cells which assist in promoting nerve regeneration [55, 56]. These, too, have demonstrated nerve repair outcomes that are nearly equivalent to autograft reconstruction [49].

33.5.1.3 Artificial Nerve Guidance Conduits

Artificial nerve guidance conduits are advantageous as they can circumvent the issues of donor site morbidity and immunogenicity that are associated with other graft techniques. Research in nerve conduits has sought to design a support structure to facilitate the direction and growth of the injured nerve and provide a barrier through which the intervening connective tissue could not cross. There are currently FDA-approved options for conduits, many of which are constructed out of type I collagen. There are a number of studies looking into techniques to control the inner conduit bioactivity in an effort to improve the efficiency and outcomes of nerve regeneration [57]. Schwann cells have been used to seed these conduits in order to mimic the native neural environment and promote nerve repair [58]. In addition, chemical influences have been studied to reduce the surrounding inflammation that can otherwise impair tissue healing in the area of the repair. Researchers have looked at using lentiviral gene
therapy to elicit a sustained IL-10 expression to modulate leukocytes in the area of spinal cord injury [59]. These and other modulators will likely play important roles in the generation of artificial nerve conduits which effectively promote guided neural regeneration.

33.5.1.4 Motor Nerve Donor Grafts

Typically, autologous nerve grafts are derived from sensory nerves, despite their role in reconstructing injuries in motor nerves. Research into Schwann cell gene expression has demonstrated that cells may express different genes and phenotypes depending on whether they are from sensory or motor nerves. Studies demonstrate that there is a phenomenon called preferential motor reinnervation in which a motor axon tends to regenerate down a motor pathway when given the option between motor and sensory pathways [60]. This is thought to be driven by the motor or sensory phenotype Schwann cells present within the nerve pathways which assist in influencing the regenerating nerves [61]. Similarly, studies in rats demonstrated preferential nerve regeneration with the use of motor nerve grafts vs sensory nerve grafts [62, 63]. There is still an absence of clinical studies in this area, but the findings thus far suggest that motor nerve defects may see optimal regeneration results with the use of dispensable motor nerve grafts.

The motor nerve to the vastus lateralis muscle is a readily accessible motor nerve during the harvest of an anterolateral thigh free flap in cases where advanced parotid malignancies require nerve grafting and soft tissue coverage. Its branching pattern is made up of 4–5 branches that arborize, and it is particularly well-suited for facial nerve repair or cable grafting [5].

33.5.2 Functional Electrical Stimulation

Studies into microelectrical system-based devices use functional electrical stimulation as a means to apply an electrical current to deinnervated muscles to stimulate muscle contraction. This technology is currently in use in several clinical applications including patients with paralyzed limbs, impaired respiratory function, and bowel and bladder dysfunction [64]. Animal studies in hemiparalysis have utilized this concept to pace intact neural signals from a healthy orbicularis oculi muscle with the contralateral, paralyzed muscle to restore eyeblink [65–67] (Fig. 33.9). There is also research to suggest that this technology may be translated into applications for other facial muscle palsies [8, 68].

33.5.3 Bioelectrical Interfaces

A major focus of research efforts targeting facial nerve injury is the study of neural interfaces that allow for the recording of a signal from a donor nerve and the stimulation of a recipient nerve.



Fig. 33.9 Stimulation of paralyzed mimetic musculature using signals captured from the non-paralyzed side to generate symmetric activation, reproduced with permission from McDonnall D and Ward PD [63]

This could be applied in the setting of unilateral facial nerve injury in which the contralateral, functional facial nerve is recorded and the input is used to stimulate the side of the face ipsilateral to the injury [5]. There are a significant number of bioelectrical interfaces currently undergoing evaluation (Table 33.1).

Cuff electrodes function through the placement of an electrode placed atop the nerve that is capable of either recording neural inputs from or translating activity to the nerve. The technology is limited by the fact that the signal in question may not reflect individual nerve fascicles but rather the net activity of the entire nerve.

Table 33.1 Comparison of peripheral nerve interfaces currently being studied, reproduced with permission from Langhals et al. [5]

		Flat-interface nerve electrodes	Penetrating nerve	Regenerative	Regenerative peripheral nerve
	Cuff electrodes	(FINE)	arrays of electrodes	electrodes	interface (RPNI)
Electrode structure	Cuff electrodes Exposed metal wires in silicon with monopolar, bipolar, or tripolar configuration Records or induces gross nerve activity from the surface of the nerve	(FINE) Advanced cuff electrode – multiple electrodes individually stimulate or record nerve activity Reshapes nerve into flatter footprint to bring individual nerve fascicles to the	Either individual wires or microfabricated silicon-based electrodes that are implanted into the nerve May need pneumatic insertion tools to insert electrode intrafascicularly into the nerve	Silicon or polymer with holes in structure, device affixed to ends of divided nerve to allow nerve regrowth through structure If electrodes are affixed inside the channel so that nerve regrows through, it allows interface with electrodes already	Interface (RPNI) Modification of regenerative electrodes – utilized a mechanical intermediary (muscle) to maximize interface stability Muscle tissue creates a mechanical intermediary between nerve and electrode
Advantages	 Limited neural trauma, favorable biocompatibility Long safety track record 	epineurium surface Greater selectivity and neural discrimination than standard cuff electrodes	Allows interfacing of multiple nerve fascicles and potentially individual axons	 Flexibility in size of sieves, tubes, and channels allows regeneration of nerves and 	 Avoids the neural trauma seen with other interfaces Muscle tissue amplifies
	 Extensive prior use in humans 			fascicles – Used when the facial nerve has been divided or it is surgically acceptable to divide	neural signals 10–100x – Potentially protects the nerve from direct electrical stimulation damage
Limitations	 Poor resolution of individual nerve fascicles Biased toward axons near the epineurium/ close to cuff 	 Poor resolution of individual nerve fascicles Biased toward axons near the epineurium/ close to cuff 	 6-month life due to neural- electrical interface instability Significant trauma and bleeding reported with cortical implantation 	 Mechanical mismatch between electronics and soft neural tissue Nerve transection required and scaffold may impede fiber growth 	 Potential for interference between nearby interfaces Optimal application- specific integrated circuit in progress

As a result, this technology cannot accurately capture the neural input to each of the individual facial muscle groups. An alternative to this is the use of the flat-interface nerve electrode to reshape the geometry of the nerve such that the individual fascicles are more superficial and thus accessible for selective stimulation [69]. The penetrating nerve array of electrodes is another option which works via intrafascicular implantation of the electrode into the nerve which allows for maximal surface area between the electrode and the neural tissue. It is a major feature in research in amputated limbs and prostheses [70]. Issues with this technology surround the incompatibility between the rigid electronic interface and the soft nerve tissue that results in rapid performance loss over the course of months [71].

Another technology on the horizon in the field of peripheral nerve repair includes the use of a regenerative peripheral nerve interface that seeks to mitigate these performance issues. Muscle tissue is used as a physiologic target into which the peripheral nerve grows, thus providing a nerve-electrode interface that prevents neuroma formation. Additionally, it facilitates a major multifold increase in signal clarity [72]. Figure 33.10 illustrates an example in which the muscle and tissue from the small intestine are used as the interface.



Fig. 33.10 Diagram depicting regenerative peripheral nerve interface in which the peripheral nerve has grown into the muscle and small intestine submucosa (SIS). The unlabeled arrow indicates neural input. Reproduced with permission from Langhals et al. [5]

33.6 Conclusion

Facial nerve palsy can have a significantly detrimental impact on a patient's life insofar as quality, activities of daily living, and self-image. Efficacious correction of this deficit can return a patient's ability to eat, blink, and share emotion and thus has far-reaching clinical implications. The location of the injury and the time to repair are critical factors in guiding therapeutic decision-making. From a wide variety of approaches in reinnervation and reanimation, a surgeon can effectively target the underlying neural and/or muscular deficit and return symmetry and motion to a once-paralyzed face. Important among all these techniques is the need for postoperative neuromuscular training that allows for return to function in these patients [73, 74]. Together with rehabilitation, these procedures make up a therapeutic arsenal through which critical facial nerve function can be returned to those who have suffered a very damaging paralysis.

References

- Kim L, Byrne PJ. Controversies in contemporary facial reanimation. Facial Plast Surg Clin North Am. 2016;24(3):275–97.
- Ishii LE, Godoy A, Encarnacion CO, Byrne PJ, Boahene K, Masaru I. What faces reveal: impaired affect display in facial paralysis. Laryngoscope. 2011;121:1138–43.
- Zuker RM. Facial paralysis and the role of free muscle transplantation. Annales de Chirurgie Plastique Esthétique. 2015;60(5):420–9.
- Sinno H, Thibaudeau S, Izadpanah A, et al. Utility outcome scores for unilateral facial paralysis. Ann Plast Surg. 2012;69:435–8.
- Langhals NB, Urbanchek MG, Ray A, Brenner MJ. Update in Facial Nerve Paralysis: Tissue engineering and new technologies. Curr Opin Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2014;22(4):291–9.
- Garcia RM, Hadlock TA, Klebuc MJ, Simpson RL, Zenn MR, Marcus JR. Contemporary solutions for the treatment of facial nerve paralysis. Plastic Reconstr Surg. 2015;135(6):1025-1046e.
- Gerd FV, Pantel M, Guntinas-Lichius O. Modern Concepts in facial nerve reconstruction. Head Face Med. 2010;6

- Kim J. Neural Reanimation Advances and New Technologies. Facial Plast Surg Clin North Am. 2016;24(1):71–84.
- Hentz VR, Rosen JM, XIAO SJ, McGill KC, Abraham G. The nerve gap dilemma: a comparison of nerves repaired end to end under tension with nerve grafts in a primate model. J Hand Surg Am. 1999;18(3):417–25.
- Moradzadeh A, Borschel GH, Luciano JP, Whitlock EL, Hayashi A, Hunter DA, Mackinnon SE. The impact of motor and sensory nerve architecture on nerve regeneration. Exp Neurol. 2008;212:370–6.
- Matsuyama T, Mackay M, Midha R. Peripheral nerve repair and grafting techniques: a review. Neurol Med Chir. 2000;40:187–99.
- Dvali L, Mackinnon S. Nerve repair, grafting, and nerve transfers. Clin Plast Surg. 2003;30:203–21.
- Lubiatowski P, Unsal FM, Nair D, et al. The epineural sleeve technique for nerve graft reconstruction enhances nerve recovery. Microsurgery. 2008;28:160–7.
- Knox CJ, Hohman MH, Kleiss IJ, et al. Facial nerve repair: fibrin adhesive coaptation versus epineurial suture repair in a rodent model. Laryngoscope. 2013;123:1618–21.
- Starritt NE, Kettle SA, Glasby MA. Sutureless repair of the facial nerve using biodegradable glass fabric. Laryngoscope. 2011;121(8):1614–9.
- Sameem M, Wood TJ, Bain JR. A systematic review on the use of fibrin glue for peripheral nerve repair. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2011;127:2381–90.
- Isaacs JE, McDaniel CO, Owen JR, Wayne JS. Comparative analysis of biomechanical performance of available "nerve glues." J Hand Surg Am 2008;33:893–899.
- Nishimura MT, Mazzer N, Barbieri CH, Moro CA. Mechanical resistance of peripheral nerve repair with biological glue and with conventional suture at different postoperative times. J Reconstr Microsurg. 2008;24:327–32.
- Lundborg G. Alternatives to autologous nerve grafts. Handchir Mikrochir Plast Chir. 2004;36:1–7.
- Ozmen OA, Falcioni M, Lauda L, Sanna M. Outcomes of facial nerve grafting in 155 cases: predictive value of history and preoperative function. Otol Neurotol. 2011;32(8):1341–6.
- Owusu JA, Truong L, Kim JC. Facial nerve reconstruction with concurrent masseteric nerve transfer and cable grafting. JAMA Facial Plast Surg. 2016;18(5):335–9.
- 22. O'Brien BM, Morrison WA. Nerve grafts. Reconstructive microsurgery. 1987;
- 23. Roberts SE, Thibaudeau S, Burrell JC, Zager EL, Cullen DK, Leven LS. To reverse or not to reverse? A systematic review of autograft polarity on functional outcomes following peripheral nerve repair surgery. Microsurgery. 2017;37(2):169–74.
- Bascom DA, Schaitkin BM, May M, et al. Facial nerve repair: a retrospective review. Facial Plast Surg. 2000;16:309–13.

- Conley J. The treatment of long-standing facial paralysis: a new concept. Trans Am Acad Ophthalmol Otolaryngol. 1975;78:386–92.
- 26. Slattery WH. The Facial Nerve. New York: Thieme; 2014.
- Gavron JP, Clemis JD. Hypoglossal-facial nerve anastomosis: a review of forty cases caused by facial nerve injuries in the posterior fossa. Laryngoscope. 1984;94(11):1447–50.
- Kalantarian B, Rice DC, Tiangco DA, Terzis JK. Gains and losses of the XII-VII component of the "baby-sitter" procedure: a morphometric analysis. J Reconstr Microsurgery. 1998;14(7):459-471).
- Brenner MJ, Dvali L, Hunter DA, Myckatyn TM, Mackinnon SE. Motor neuron regeneration through end-to-end repair is a function of donor nerve axotomy. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2007;120(1):215–23.
- May M, Sobol SM, Mester SJ. Hypoglossal-facial nerve interpositional-jump graft for facial reanimation without tongue atrophy. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 1991;104
- Slattery WH, Cassis AM, Wilkinson EP, et al. Side-toend hypoglossal to facial anastomosis with transposition of the intratemporal facial nerve. Otol Neurotol. 2014;35:509–13.
- Spira M. Anastomosis of masseteric nerve to lower division of facial nerve for correction of lower facial paralysis. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1978;61:330–4.
- Bianchi B, Ferri A, Ferrari S, et al. The masseteric nerve: a versatile power source in facial animation techniques. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2014;52:264–9.
- 34. Coombs CJ, EK EW, Wu T, Cleland H, Leung MK. Masseteric-facial nerve coaptation – an alternative technique for facial nerve reinnervation. J Plast Reconstru Aesthet Surg. 2009;62(12:1580-1688.
- 35. Hontanilla B and Marre D. Comparison of hemihypoglossal nerve versus masseteric nerve transpositions in the rehabilitation of short-term facial paralysis using the Facial Clima evaluating system. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2012;130:662e–672e.
- Bayrak SB, Kriet JD, Humphrey CD. Masseteric to buccal nerve transfer. Current Opinion in Oto & Head and Neck Surg. 2017;25(4):280–5.
- 37. Chen G, Wang W, Wang W, Ding W, Yang X. Symmetry restoration at rest after masseter-to-facial nerve transfer: is it as efficient as smile reanimation? Plast Reconstr Surg. 2017;140(4):793–801.
- Peng GL, Azizzadeh B. Cross-facial nerve grafting for facial reanimation. Facial Plast Surg. 2015;31(2):128.
- 39. Yoweri L, Songur E, Maviloglu H, Yoweri O. Crossfacial nerve grafting as an adjunct to hypoglossalfacial nerve crossover in reanimation of early facial paralysis: clinical and electrophysiological evaluation. Ann Plast Surg. 2001;46(3):301–7.
- 40. Terzis JK. 'Babysitters': an exciting new concept in facial reanimation. The facial nerve. In: Castro D, editor. Proceedings of the Sixth International Symposium on the Facial Nerve. Rio de Janeiro (Brazil): 1988.

- Bain JR, Hason Y, Veltri KL, Fahnestock M, Quartly C. Clinical application of sensory protection of denervated muscle: case report. J Neurosurg. 2008:109955–61.
- Terzis JK, Tzafetta K. The 'babysitter' procedure: minihypoglossal to facial nerve transfer and cross-facial nerve grafting. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2009;123:865–76.
- 43. Sahovaler DY, Yoo J. Primary facial reanimation in head and neck cancer. Oral Oncol. 2017;
- 44. Bhama PK, Weinberg JS, Lindsay RW, et al. Objective outcomes analysis following microvascular gracilis transfer for facial reanimation: a review of 10 years' experience. JAMA Facial Plast Surg. 2014;16(2):85–92.
- 45. Manktelow RT, Tomat LR, Zuker RM, Chang M. Smile reconstruction in adults with free muscle transfer innervated by the masseter motor nerve: effectiveness and cerebral adaptation. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2006;118:885–99.
- 46. Birgfeld C, Neligan P. Surgical Approaches to Facial Nerve Deficits. Skull Base. 2011;21(3):177–84.
- 47. Sforza C, Frigerio A, Mapelli A, Tarabbia F, Annoni I, Colombo V, Latiff M, Pimenta Ferreira CL, Rabbiosi D, Sidequersky F, Zago M, Biglioli F. Doublepowered free gracilis muscle transfer for smile reanimation: A longitudinal optoelectronic study. Plastic, Reconstr & Aesthetic Surg. 2015;68:930–9.
- Alam DS, Haffey T, Vakharia K, et al. Sternohyoid flap for facial reanimation: a comprehensive preclinical evaluation of a novel technique. JAMA Facial Plast Surg. 2013;15:305–13.
- Bianchi B, Ferri A, Sesenna E. Facial reanimation after nerve sacrifice in treatment of head and neck cancer. Curr Opin Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2012;20:114–9.
- Ehretsman RL, Novak CB, Mackinnon SE. Subjective recovery of nerve graft donor site. Ann Plast Surg. 1999;43:606–12.
- 51. Boriani F, Fazio N, Fotia C, Savarino L, Nicoli Aldini N, Martini L, Zini N, Bernardini M, Baldini N. A novel technique for decellularization of allogenic nerves and in vivo study of their use for peripheral nerve reconstruction. J Biomedical Materials Research. 2017;105(8):2228–40.
- 52. Rinker B, Zoldos J, Weber RV, Ko J, Thayer W, Greenberg J, Leversedge FJ, Safa B, Buncke G. Use of Processed Nerve Allografts to Repair Nerve Injuries Greater than 25 mm in the Hand. Ann Plast Surg. 2017;78(6S Suppl 5):S292-S295.
- Chiu DT, Janecka I, Krizek TJ. Autogenous vein graft as a conduit for nerve regeneration. Surgery. 1982;91:226–33.
- 54. Battiston B, Geuna S, Ferrero M, Tos P. Nerve repair by means of tubulization: literature review and personal clinical experience comparing biological and synthetic conduits for sensory nerve repair. Microsurgery. 2005;25:258–67.
- 55. Fornaro M, Tos P, Geuna S, Giacobini-Robecchi MG, Battiston B. Confocal imaging of Schwann

cell migration along muscle-vein-combined grafts used to bridge nerve defects in the rat. Microsurgery. 2001;21:143–55.

- Geuna S, Raimondo S, Nicolino S, Boux E, Fornaro M, Tos P, Battiston B, Perroteau I. Schwann-cell proliferation in muscle-vein combined conduits for bridging rat sciatic nerve defects. J Reconstr Microsurg. 2003;19:119–23.
- 57. Gaudin R, Knifper C, Henningsen A, Smeets R, Heiland M, Hadlock T. Approaches to Peripheral Nerve Repair: Generations of Biomaterial Conduits Yielding to Replacing Autologous Nerve Grafts in Craniomaxillofacial Surgery Biomed Res Int. 2016.
- Hadlock T, Sundback C, Hunter D, Cheney M, Vacanti JP. A polymer foam conduit seeded with Schwann cells promotes guided peripheral nerve regeneration. Tissue Eng. 2006;6(2):119–27.
- 59. Margul DJ, Park J, Boehler RM, Smith DR, Johnson MA, McCreedy DA, He T, Ataliwala A, Kukushliev TV, Liang J, Sohrabi A, Goodman AG, Walthers CM, Shea LD, Seidlits SK. Reducing neuroinflammation by delivery of IL-10 encoding lentivirus from multiple-channel bridges. Bioeng Transl Med. 2016;1(2):136–48.
- Hoke A, Redett R, Hameed H, Jari R, Zhou C, Li ZB, Griffin JW, Brushart TM. Schwann cells express motor and sensory phenotypes that regulate axon regeneration. J Neurosci. 2006;26:9646–55.
- 61. Jesuraj NJ, Nguyen PK, Wood MD, Moore AM, Borschel GH, Mackinnon SE, Sakiyama-Elbert SE. Differential gene expression in motor and sensory Schwann cells in the rat femoral nerve. J Neurosci Res. 2012;90:96–104.
- 62. Brenner MJ, Hess JR, Myckatyn TM, Hayashi A, Hunter DA, Mackinnon SE. Repair of motor nerve gaps with sensory nerve inhibits regeneration in rats. Laryngoscope. 2006;116(9):1685–92.
- Nichols CM, Brenner MJ, Fox IK, Tung TH, Hunter DA, Rickman SR, Mackinnon SE. Effects of motor versus sensory nerve grafts on peripheral nerve regeneration. Exp Neurol. 2004;190(2):347–55.
- Peckham PH, Knutson JS. Functional electrical stimulation for neuromuscular applications. Annu Rev Biomed Eng. 2005;7:327–60.
- McDonnall D, Guillory KS. Gossman MD. Restoration of blink in facial paralysis patients using FES. In: NER '09. 4th International IEEE/EMBS Conference on Neural Engineering 2009:76–79.
- 66. Jei T, Zhigiang G, Guodong F, Yubin X, Xiuyong D, Tingting C, Yang Z. The effective stimulating pulse for restoration of blink function in unilateral facial nerve paralysis rabbits, verified by a simple FES system. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol. 2016;273(10):2959–64.
- 67. McDonnall D, Ward P. An Implantable neuroprosthesis for facial reanimation. Boston: International Facial Nerve Symposium.
- McDonnall D, Askin R, Smith C, et al. Verification and validation of an electrode array for a blink prosthesis for facial paralysis patients. In: 6th International

IEEE/EMBS Conference on Neural Engineering (NER) 2013:1167–70.

- Leventhal DK, Cohen M, Durand DM. Chronic histological effects of the flat interface nerve electrode. J Neural Eng. 2006;3(2):102–13.
- Musallam S, Bak MJ, Troyk PR, Andersen RA. A floating metal microelectrode array for chronic implantation. J Neurosci Methods. 2007;160(1):122–7.
- 71. Branner A, Stein RB, Fernandez E, Aoyagi Y, Normann RA. Long-term stimulation and recording with a penetrating microelectrode array in cat sciatic nerve. IEEE Trans Biomed Eng. 2004;51(1):146–57.
- 72. Urbanchek MG, Kung TA, Frost CM. Martin DC. Wollstein A, Cederna PS. Development of a Regenerative Peripheral Nerve Interface for Control of a Neuroprosthetic Limb. Biomed Res Int: Larkin LM; 2016.
- 73. Lindsay RW, Robinson M, Hadlock TA. Comprehensive facial rehabilitation improves function in people with facial paralysis: a 5-year experience at the Massachusetts Eye and Ear Infirmary. Phys Ther. 2010;90:391–7.
- Vanswearingen J. Facial rehabilitation: a neuromuscular reeducation, patient-centered approach. Facial Plast Surg. 2008;24:250–9.



Management of Capsular Contracture: Non-surgical and Surgical Options

Jacob Haiavy and Whitney Florin

34.1 Introduction

Breast augmentation is one of the most popular cosmetic surgeries performed worldwide. In fact, breast augmentation was among the top two most commonly performed cosmetic surgical procedures in the United States in 2016 [1, 2]. The number of breast augmentations has grown 4% from 2015, with over 300,000 procedures performed in 2016 [1]. In addition, cosmetic breast augmentation has one of the highest satisfaction rates of any surgical procedure performed with reports ranging from 95% to 98%. Notably, removal of breast implants saw a 13% increase compared to 2015, with over 43,000 cases performed in 2016 [2]. In 2016, Americans spent more than 15 billion dollars on surgical and nonsurgical cosmetic procedures, with a 1.5 billion dollar increase in expenditures over the past year. Surgical procedures account for 56% of the total expenditures [2].

Capsular contracture is a troublesome complication of breast implants which may require revision surgery. Capsular contracture is also one of the most common reasons for dissatisfaction with breast augmentation. Capsular contracture initially presents with firmness of the breast and can progress to pain and distortion of the breast shape and volume. When an implant is placed, a fibrous capsule forms around it. In a normal breast, the capsule is thin and soft, with no effect on the appearance of the breast. In a contracted breast, the capsule becomes thick and hard and shrinks in a way which alters the contour of the breast and the position of the implant [3, 4]. Contracture is thought to be due to a chronic inflammatory process in the implant pocket, which converts a normal foreign body response to a pathologic response. The process is not completely understood but seems to be affected by bacterial contamination or biofilm, blood, silicone gel leakage, and tissue trauma [4–6].

The Baker classification describes four grades of capsular contracture (Table 34.1), with grade I being a normal, soft breast; grade II being a minimally firm breast; grade III being a moderately firm breast with some visible deformity; and grade IV being a painful, hard, and obviously distorted breast [4, 7] (Fig. 34.1). Typically grade III and grade IV capsular contractures require surgical management [3, 4, 8, 9].

Reported rates of capsular contracture vary widely from 1% to 30% of patients who receive implants [3, 4, 9, 10]. The strongest data comes

 Table 34.1
 Baker classification of capsular contracture

Grade	Description
Ι	Normal breast
II	Minimally firm breast
III	Moderately firm breast with some visible deformity
IV	Painful, hard, and obviously distorted breast

J. Haiavy $(\boxtimes) \cdot W$. Florin

Inland Cosmetic Surgery,

Rancho Cucamonga, CA, USA

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019 D. Duscher, M. A. Shiffman (eds.), *Regenerative Medicine and Plastic Surgery*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19958-6_34



Fig. 34.1 Bilateral grade IV capsular contracture with obviously distorted breasts, which were hard and painful

from premarket approval studies. The rates of capsular contracture in these studies range from 2% to 15% after primary breast augmentation and from 5% to 22% after revision breast augmentation with a 3- to 7-year follow-up [11, 12]. Capsular contracture is often cited as one of the most common reasons for reoperation after breast augmentation [4].

Araco et al. [3] found that approximately 92% of contractures occur within the first 12 months of surgery. Others report that contracture typically develops within the first few months after implantation; however, signs of contracture may present over 5 years after breast augmentation [13].

34.2 Current Approach to Capsular Contracture

Treatment of capsular contracture is divided into non-surgical and surgical techniques. The best policy as with any complication is prevention. Measures to try to prevent capsular contracture are well described in the literature. Most surgeons agree that as with any surgical procedure, a dose of IV antibiotics administered prior to surgery is key to preventing infection. Other factors include careful hemostasis, sterile and atraumatic techniques, and local antimicrobial agents [4, 14].

It has been shown that use of the Keller funnel for insertion of the implant reduces skin contact and thus potential contamination by 27-fold (P = 0.00059) in a cadaver model [15]. In addition, Flugstad et al. [16] demonstrated that with the use of the funnel for insertion, the patients experienced a statistically significant reduction in the incidence of reoperations performed due to capsular contracture within 12 months of primary breast augmentation.

We all learn in surgical training that "dilution is the solution to pollution." Various irrigation solutions have been advocated over the years. In our practice we follow the triple antibiotic irrigation of the pocket advocated by Adams et al. [17]. Adams et al. demonstrated that the triple antibiotic irrigation solution decreased the incidence of capsular contracture and infection. Their solution consisted of 50,000 units of bacitracin, 1 g of cefazolin, and 80 mg of gentamycin in 500 cc of normal saline.

Textured implants [4, 18–20] and a submuscular pocket [4, 21, 22] had classically been associated with decreased incidence of capsular contracture following primary breast augmentation. We do not use textured implants for primary breast augmentation due to higher rate of reported rippling, but we do consider it as an option for secondary surgery.

Once capsular contracture has occurred, literature on non-surgical and surgical management is much less clear. Conservative or non-surgical options consist of breast exercises, high doses of vitamin E, use of prescription medication such as zafirlukast (Accolate) or montelukast (Singulair), use of herbal medication such as silymarin (milk thistle), Low-level laser (light) therapy (LLLT), and external ultrasound.

34.3 Non-surgical Options

34.3.1 Breast Exercises

To prevent and help treat early capsular contracture, many surgeons advocate postoperative compression breast exercises. The exercises are designed to keep the implant pocket and capsule larger than the size of the implant to prevent contracture. Although the authors believe that the displacement exercises do help with prevention and treatment of capsular contracture, we did not find a well-designed study to demonstrate that.

34.3.2 Vitamin E

Baker [23] was the first to publish the effectiveness of vitamin E in reducing the incidence of capsular contracture. Vitamin E also known as alpha-tocopherol is an anti-inflammatory and a lysosomal stabilizer. It is also a biological antioxidant that protects cells from the effects of free radicals and helps stabilize their membranes. In regard to wound healing, vitamin E has been shown to decrease fibroblast and collagen formation.

In his study, Baker [23] advocated 1000 I.U. of vitamin E to be taken twice daily starting 1 week prior to surgery. If capsular contracture developed, the dose was increased to 1000 I.U. four times daily. He demonstrated a decreased rate of capsular contracture in the group that took the vitamin E. However, the incidence of severe capsular contracture (Baker IV) was the same in both groups. He advocated taking this high dose for 2 years and then reducing it to 1000 I.U. daily.

High-dose vitamin E although still used by some practitioners never gained widespread use due to different reports on effectiveness, patient compliance, and possible side effects such as dermatitis.

34.3.3 Zafirlukast (Accolate)

Having recognized that capsular contracture is a result of an accelerated or prolonged inflammatory response, the idea of modulating the immune response has been at the forefront for many investigators. One such drug is zafirlukast, which is a leukotriene receptor antagonist (LTRA). Zafirlukast was FDA approved in 1996 as a preventative and long-term treatment of asthma. Studies have shown that zafirlukast inhibits the eosinophilic influx and contractile activity of smooth muscle in all three leukotrienes (LTC₄, LTD₄, and LTE₄) in both humans and laboratory animals. This, in turn, results in decreased bron-

chial hyper-responsiveness to prevent an asthma attack rather than treat an attack after it has occurred.

It seems that in the case of capsular contracture, early intervention and prevention appear to be the best means of decreasing the incidence of significant capsular contracture. Schlesinger et al. [24] noted incidental improvement in their patients' capsules that were taking zafirlukast. They and a few other plastic surgeons reported their experience with a series of cases where they treated augmentation or reconstructive patients with zafirlukast 20 mg by mouth twice daily for 3 months.

Niessen et al. [25] suggest that the macrophage is a pivotal intermediary between the inflammatory phase and scar formation. The macrophage release of fibroblast-activating cytokines, transforming growth factor beta, platelet-derived growth factor, and interleukins is important in collagen production, organization, and extracellular matrix degradation. Niessen also notes that mast cell response is characterized by histamine-like activity, which is capable of stimulating more collagen formation. This results in an increase in collagen matrix in scars. Schlesinger et al. noted that zafirlukast and montelukast directly inhibit this response and therefore can reduce the rate of capsular contracture.

Schlesinger et al. [24] postulated that both myofibroblast smooth muscle contractility and prolonged collagen deposition might be involved in the development of capsular contracture. LTRAs reduce the initial inflammatory process led by macrophages and mast cells, which contribute to cellular mechanism of capsular contracture. Schlesinger noted a significant decrease in the rates of capsular contracture in his practice from 4% to 1% when using zafirlukast. He recommended the use of zafirlukast in early capsular contracture of less than 6 months or in high-risk patients such as previous history of encapsulation, periprosthetic infection, or hematoma. Ried et al. [26] in a study of 37 patients followed for an average of 16 months found a 75.7% positive response rate.

The senior author (JH) used zafirlukast as primary treatment for capsular contracture in his practice as recommended by Schlesinger et al. [24]. The response rate noted in our practice was 50% resolution of significant capsular contracture (Baker III-IV) with prevention of surgery. Of note, zafirlukast does have a reported liver toxicity side effect [27], and therefore, whenever we prescribe this medication, we first draw a liver function test panel to have a baseline level of liver enzymes. We discuss this with our patients prior to starting the medication. Over the years we have reduced the use of this medication as other medications and more natural substances that have similar anti-inflammatory effects with less adverse effects have come to light.

34.3.4 Montelukast (Singulair)

Montelukast is another leukotriene receptor antagonist that was approved for treatment of asthma. Montelukast inhibits leukotriene D₄ and is prescribed as a single 10 mg dose usually taken at night. Schlesinger et al. [24] reported an improvement in symptoms in patients with severe capsular contracture but felt that zafirlukast had a better response rate. With the concerns of liverrelated adverse effects reported with zafirlukast, practitioners turned to montelukast. The adverse event profile of montelukast is comparable to a placebo, with the most common side effects being headache, influenza-like symptoms, abdominal pain, cough, and dyspepsia.

Huang and Handle [28] did a retrospective study of patients that were treated in their practice with montelukast for capsular contracture. Although a small series of 19 patients were treated, they reported 37% of their patients having completely improved, 26% having improved, 16% having no change, and 11% becoming worse or progressing with their capsular contracture. They observed that breasts with mild capsular contracture (Baker score less than III) had a greater likelihood of improvement with montelukast than those with more severe capsular contracture (Baker III–IV).

34.3.5 Milk Thistle (Silymarin)

Milk thistle, a natural herb that has antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties, is commonly used to detoxify the body, especially the liver. Silvbum marianum or milk thistle is the most well-researched plant in the treatment of liver disease. The active complex of milk thistle is a lipophilic extract from the seeds of the plant and is composed of three isomer flavonolignans (silybin, silydianin, and silychristin) collectively known as silymarin. Silybin is a component with the greatest degree of biological activity and makes up 50-70% of silymarin. Silymarin is found in the entire plant, but it is concentrated in the fruit and seeds. Silymarin acts as an antioxidant by reducing free radical production and lipid peroxidation, has anti-fibrotic activity, and may act as a toxin blockade agent by inhibiting binding of toxins to the hepatocyte cell membrane receptors [29].

Studies also suggest that they protect against genomic injury, increase hepatocyte protein synthesis, decrease the activity of tumor promoters, stabilize mast cells, chelate iron, and slow calcium metabolism [30].

The antioxidant properties of milk thistle are similar to vitamin E, vitamin C, and bioflavonoids in that they reduce and slow down oxidative damage. Senior author first learned about the effects of milk thistle in a live breast surgery course where another surgeon was using it for early capsular contracture instead of prescription medication due to low incidence of side effects, tolerability, and liver-protective profile. The most common side effects of milk thistle are gastrointestinal in nature with GI upset and loose bowels. The incidence is low and similar to placebo effect in studies.

Milk thistle comes in variable doses anywhere from 70 to 2000 mg. We initially treated our patients with 200 mg dose twice a day for 3 months. The response rate at this dose was low. As with any supplement, the response is dose dependent. We started recommending higher doses to our patients and found out that the optimal dose for treatment of capsular contracture is 750–1000 mg taken twice a day. The earlier the therapy was started, the more successful were the results. Patients were educated about capsular contracture and possible therapies from our first meeting at the consultation. The importance of starting therapy as soon as tightening is perceived for higher success rate was stressed.

34.3.6 External Ultrasound

External ultrasound has been suggested as a possible treatment for capsular contracture since the late 1970s. Initially there were case reports of encapsulated breasts softening after ultrasound treatment alone. Then there were individual reports of better results combining ultrasound and closed capsulotomy [31].

In 1997 Planas et al. [32] reported a series of 24 patients with 34 encapsulations treated with external ultrasound after closed capsulotomy. The ultrasonic device used was based on a 2-MHz generator with timing adjustable power emission connected to eight transducers designed for breast anatomy. They reported 82% with significant improvement of closed capsulotomy and persistent stability achieved up to 12 months.

In 2002 Planas [33] reported his findings and recommendations for prophylactic use of external ultrasound for treatment of capsular contracture. He theorized that early application of ultrasound facilitates healing, diminishes edema, and regulates inflammation, thereby diminishing the possibility of a future capsular contracture. The mechanical effects ultrasound produces micro-massages that improve lymphatic drainage and help to resolve the edema. The biochemical effects help vascular proliferation and increase tissue oxygenation, the release of cellular mediators of inflammation, and fibrolytic processes. His modified protocol of application of ultrasound is as follows: session 1, 7 days after surgery when removing the stitches; session 2, 15 days after surgery; and session 3, 21 days after surgery. His preliminary results 18 months after starting this regimen demonstrated faster reduction of edema and inflammation, faster absorption of small bruises and ecchymoses, and a decrease of postsurgical discomfort. Most important is that from the first patients receiving this treatment to the current patients, none had experienced the formation of capsular contracture at that point.

We have not used ultrasound therapy prophylactically in our practice, but we do use for treatment of capsular contracture once patient has reported tightening of their capsule. All patients do report immediate softening of their breast after the treatments, but they seem to have rebound tightening, and we have not seen complete resolution of severe encapsulation with external ultrasound alone.

34.3.7 Low-Level Laser (Light) Therapy

The use of low-level laser (light) therapy (LLLT) for reducing pain, inflammation, and edema; promoting healing of wounds, deeper tissue, and nerves; and preventing tissue damage has been known for almost 40 years since the invention of lasers. Many animal studies and randomized clinical trials have shown the photobiomodulation and biostimulation effects of non-coherent light. Despite the evidence, LLLT has yet to receive wide acceptance in the scientific community.

Low-level laser (light) therapy is also known as "cold laser" and "soft laser" and is practiced as part of physical therapy in many parts of the world. The question is no longer whether light has biological effects, but rather how energy from therapeutic lasers and light-emitting diodes (LED) work at the cellular level and what are the optimal parameters for different uses of these light sources.

The energy of a dose of light depends only on the number of photons and their wavelength or color. Photons absorbed into living tissue can be either absorbed or scattered. The photons that are absorbed interact with an organic molecule or chromophore located within the tissue [34].

Mitochondria are thought to be a likely site for the initial effects of light [35–38], leading to increased ATP production, modulation of reactive oxygen species, and induction of transcription factors. These effects in turn lead to increased cell proliferation and migration, modulation of levels of cytokines, growth factors and inflammatory mediators, and increased tissue oxygenation. The results of these cellular changes in animals and humans include such benefits as increased healing of chronic wounds, improvement in sports injuries, and pain reduction in arthritis and neuropathies.

There are multiple critical parameters that promote the biological responses described; however, the most critical are the wavelength, energy density, and duration of treatment. The wavelength needs to match the absorbance of the desired photo-accepting molecule and also determines the depth of penetration. The energy density will need to be high enough to elicit the desired effect, but low enough not to induce toxic or adverse effects. Generally, the clinical literature demonstrated that treatments delivered multiple times a week over several weeks result in greater efficacy. In addition, pulsing of light is known to increase penetration depth [39].

Some known parameters are that wavelengths in the 600–700 nm range are chosen for treating superficial tissues and wavelengths between 780 and 950 nm are chosen for deeper tissues, due to longer optical penetration distances through tissue.

Johnson et al. [40] conducted a study that was published in 2015. They used a handheld device called the LTU-904 laser (RianCorp Pty Ltd., Richmond, South Australia), a class 1 laser that delivers a controlled series of bursts (200 ns) of near-infrared (904 nm) laser beam pulses. The US Food and Drug Administration first approved Low-level laser (light) therapy for the treatment of lymphedema in 2006.

In their study, 33 patients with grade III and IV capsular contracture completed the 6 full treatments of LLLT. The treated area was subdivided into a 2×2 cm square grid pattern. Each square received 1 min of treatment for a total of 10 min (300 mJ/1 min treatment = 4.5 J/cm²). Surgical intervention was avoided in 93.9% of treated patients (31 of 33 patients). They also administered patient surveys. Of the 31 patients who avoided surgery, the laser improved patient perceived breast stiffness by 10–95% (average, 43.6%), with the overall improvement in comfort ranging from 10 to 95% (average, 48.2%). Of the

ten previously irradiated patients, only one patient stated there was no improvement.

All patients self-reported that their result was improved enough to avoid corrective surgery and stated that they would undergo further LLLT treatments again if deemed necessary.

Jackson et al. [41] performed a randomized, double-blinded study to determine the effectiveness of LLLT in decreasing postoperative pain following breast augmentation. Using LLLT both preoperatively and postoperatively, they found a significant decrease in postoperative pain and the amount of pain medication needed following breast augmentation at 1 day and 1 week.

A systematic review of eight studies was conducted by Omar et al. [42] to review the effectiveness of LLLT in the management of breast cancer-related lymphedema. They concluded that there is moderate to strong evidence for the effectiveness of LLLT at a dose of 1–2 J/cm² per point applied to several points covering the fibrotic area to reduce lymphedema and improve shoulder mobility.

Furthermore, Jackson et al. [41] performed a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled study comparing LLLT 635 nm to sham therapy for body contouring of the waist, hips, and thighs. Following six treatments over a 2-week period, the patients treated with a non-invasive laser demonstrated reduced overall circumference measurements of the specific treated regions [43, 44].

Freitas et al. [45] tested the efficacy of LLLT over a 5-week period on scar tissue in nine volunteers and found a positive effect on the macroscopic appearance of the treated scars and a decrease in the scar thickness.

Having learned all of these effects of low-level laser, we set out to find a device that would be practical for the treatment of capsular contracture. I wanted the device to be easy to use, economical, and practical for our practice and patients. One such device was the Celluma from BioPhotas (BioPhotas, Inc., Anaheim, CA) (Fig. 34.2). Celluma is a safe, affordable, and easy to use flexible LED array. The Celluma has been FDA approved for multiple indications such as arthritis, muscle spasm, muscle and joint pain,



Acne

- Diminishes acne bacteria
- Clears existing breakouts
- Restores skin's healthy appearance

Wrinkles

- Increases collagen and elastin production
- Reduces the look of fine lines and wrinkles
- Improves skin's firmness and resilience

Aches and Pains

- Reduces inflammation and increases circulation
- Relieves arthritic, muscle and joint pain
- Reduces stiffness and muscle spasms



Fig. 34.2 (a) The Celluma console interface showing different modes. (b) Patient during a Celluma treatment for capsular contracture showing the flexibility of the device in conforming to the patient's body

muscle tissue tension, joint and muscle stiffness, diminished local circulation, and inflammatory acne vulgaris. The Celluma has 345 lightemitting diodes that emit energy at blue (465 nm), red (640 nm), and near-infrared (880 nm) wavelengths with frequencies of 80 Hz, 680 Hz, and 800 Hz, respectively, for duration of 30 minutes per treatment. The device comes programmed with multiple operating modes for each clinical application. Two key clinical advantages to this device are the flexibility and ease of adaptation for optimal fitting to the contours of the body and the fact that it offers longer duration of treatment. Properly fitting the contours of the body is key to optimal energy absorption. A longer treatment duration time allows the body more time to respond to the therapeutic effects of LLLT.

Currently in our practice at the earliest sign of capsular contracture, we start our conservative treatment protocol. Our patients are educated about the risk of developing capsular contracture at the initial consultation and the importance of starting conservative therapy as soon as possible. We further explain that the earlier the treatments are started, the higher the rate of success in softening the breast and preventing the need for surgery.

Since the etiology of capsular contracture may be multifactorial and related to inflammatory changes, our conservative protocol combines multiple modalities as well. Our protocol includes:

- 1. Milk thistle 1000 mg twice a day for 3–6 months
- 2. Low-level laser light treatment with the Celluma once or twice a week for 6–12 weeks
- Ultrasound treatments once or twice a week for 6–12 weeks

In addition, all of our breast augmentation patients are also given breast displacement exercises from postoperative day one. With the above protocol, we have been able to treat capsular contracture and prevent the need for surgical intervention in 80% of our patients. We further postulate that if milk thistle and LED treatments are started immediately after surgery and combined with ultrasound treatments, we could reduce the rate of capsular contracture even more. Ideally, to validate this hypothesis there should be a prospective randomized double-blind study that measures the rates of capsular contracture as well as the success in treatment on this protocol versus doing nothing.

34.4 Surgical Options of Treatment

Once capsular contracture has occurred, literature on surgical management is much less clear. Management has evolved from closed and open capsulotomies in the 1970s–1980s [46, 47] to capsulectomy, site change, and implant exchange in the 1990s [48–51].

Today, capsulectomy, site change, and implant exchange are considered the gold standard treatments of clinically significant capsular contracture [5, 52, 53]. This is based on high recurrence rates after capsulotomy alone, the theory of biofilm calling for complete removal of the prosthesis and all bacteria-harboring capsule [14, 54], and limiting periprosthetic scar and inflammation by changing the pocket [4]. However, the actual clinical evidence behind this treatment plan is not entirely clear.

Moreover, the indications for partial versus complete capsulectomy are elusive. The surgeon is therefore left with the decision of whether to perform a partial or complete capsulectomy and open capsulotomy or to leave the capsule in place. Despite the impressive number of breast surgeries performed in the United States, there have not been clear guidelines from implant manufacturers or professional societies regarding capsulectomies.

A statement released by the American Society of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgeons in 1995 outlines the risks and benefits of capsulectomy, but for many surgeons, this was not comprehensive enough [50]. Up until an article by Young in 1998 [55], there were only a few articles discussing capsulectomy [52, 56, 57] and case reports discussing the problems associated with retained implant capsules [57, 58]. Since then, there have been several systematic reviews of management of capsular contracture [3, 4].

A systematic review of 24 observational articles published by Wan and Rohrich [4] in 2016 found that there is no definitive evidence that capsulectomy is more effective than capsulotomy in preventing recurrence of capsular contracture. However, the data is limited in that many studies

did not specify the extent of capsulectomy performed. Therefore it remains unclear if the extent of capsulectomy affects recurrence rate of capsular contracture. Data by Collis and Sharpe [49] shows lower recurrence rate of capsular contracture for total versus anterior capsulectomy in subglandular contracture. However, after controlling for implant type, the significance of this finding is unclear [4]. Costagliola et al. [59] found no difference in recurrence of capsular contracture whether total or anterior capsulectomy was performed. However, total capsulectomy was performed for all subglandular contractures, and anterior capsulectomy was performed for all submuscular contractures. Therefore the significance of this data is unclear as well [4].

34.4.1 General Indications for Capsulectomy

Given that there is inadequate evidence to suggest that total capsulectomy is superior to anterior capsulectomy in the treatment of contracture, we allow the clinical scenario to guide our management of the capsule. Above all, the benefit of capsulectomy must outweigh the risk to the patient. The factors that affect the decision to remove a capsule extend beyond the type of implant: implant pocket and quality of the capsule (Table 34.2).

Table 34.2 Indications for partial or total capsulectomy in conjunction with implant removal

•	No replacement of an explanted implant or
	tissue expander
•	Exchange of an existing implant in one tissue
	plane for a new implant in a different tissue
	plane
•	Capsular contracture (Baker grades III and IV)
•	Calcified or thick, fibrous capsule
•	Removal of a ruptured implant, especially one
	filled with silicone gel
•	Removal of silicone granulomas
•	Exchange of an implant for one with a larger
	volume
•	Replacement of a smooth implant with a
	textured implant (regardless of filler material in
	existing or new implant)

34.4.2 Position of Existing and Replacement Implants

A capsulectomy should be performed when no implant will be replacing the explanted implant or when the replacement implant will be placed in a different tissue plane (i.e., changing from subglandular to submuscular position or submuscular to subglandular pocket). Retained capsules in a subglandular position are more likely to present as palpable masses or artifacts on mammography, which may lead to an unnecessary biopsy to rule out malignancy. Therefore capsules in the subglandular position should be removed assuming this can be done with minimal risk to the patient. However, implants which have been placed after subcutaneous mastectomy or breast reconstruction often lead to capsules, which are quite close to the skin. Injury to the skin or devascularization can occur when attempting to remove these capsules. Therefore, capsules which are adherent to the skin should be left in place to minimize risk of skin injury. In these cases, partial capsulectomy to the posterior portion of the capsule can be performed [4, 50].

Capsulectomy in the submuscular space provides its own set of concerns. It can be difficult to remove the capsule from the deep surface of the pectoralis major muscle due to contraction of the muscle. There can be injury to the muscle leading to excessive bleeding which can be difficult to control. Moreover, the capsule is often adherent to the chest wall. When the capsule is normal (thin and flimsy), it can be particularly difficult to remove from the chest wall. Aggressive attempts at a total capsulectomy can lead to pneumothorax. Therefore, capsules in the submuscular plane, which are not thickened or calcified, do not necessarily need to be removed. Thin capsules will likely be resorbed spontaneously and will likely not cause palpable masses or interfere with mammography [4, 50].

Another difficult scenario is when the capsule extends into the axilla. This tends to occur with older silicone implants in a submuscular position with extracapsular rupture. When attempting capsulectomy, pulling inferiorly on the capsule with instruments can bring the axillary contents into the operative field, putting them at risk of injury. Attempt to remove the capsule, which is in the axilla risks injury to the brachial plexus or axillary vessels. Controlling bleeding or repairing damaged nerves would likely require an additional axillary incision, as well as increased operative time. In most situations, it is not advisable to aggressively remove capsule, which extends into the axilla. If it is considered necessary to remove this portion of the capsule (i.e., due to patient's insistence or a palpable mass), it is prudent to create a separate axillary incision to gain exposure to the site and minimize injury to surrounding structures [50].

34.4.3 Position of Existing and Replacement Implants

There are no indications for capsulectomy, which are specific to saline implants, whereas capsulectomy is considered more important for silicone implants. Research has found silicone in the capsules of silicone implants [13, 55, 60, 61]. Capsulectomy is thought to remove potential for residual, radiopaque silicone to interfere with mammography [50].

Most cosmetic surgeons will agree that ruptured silicone implants can lead to difficulty in the operating room. Ruptured implants in the subglandular space tend to be more confined than ruptured implants in the submuscular space, which can extend into the axilla, especially if the rupture is extracapsular. Total capsulectomy can facilitate removal of silicone material when the implant is ruptured. Capsulectomy, however, does not guarantee removal of all silicone material. Some gel may be present in tissue beyond the capsule and may not be visible or palpable. Moreover, silicone cannot be dissolved so it is not possible to completely remove all gel even with copious irrigation. It is also difficult to completely wipe away silicone in an extracapsular rupture. The surgeon can only remove as much as gel as possible, without causing unnecessary harm to the patient. In cases of ruptured silicone implants, capsulectomy is warranted unless other factors outweigh the benefits of capsulectomy [4, 50].

34.4.3.1 Silicone Granulomas

Silicone can induce the formation of foreign body granulomas [50, 62]. When silicone granulomas are present, capsulectomy is usually indicated. While there is no clear evidence that granulomas cause a systemic response, excision of granulomas will lead to more complete removal of silicone. Granulomas can also present as a palpable mass or a radiopacity on mammography. Therefore, when granulomas are accessible to the surgeon, they should be removed. A capsulectomy facilitates removal of granulomas, as they are typically adjacent to the capsule in an extracapsular rupture. Removing the capsule also permits greater exposure to identify granulomas. Large granulomas are typically easy to find with inspection and palpation. Small granulomas (<5 mm) can be missed in surgery but later become evident on mammography or MRI. Careful examination and palpation of breast tissue, pectoralis major muscle, chest wall, and axilla can lead to identification of small granulomas, which are typically harder than the surrounding tissue. An intact implant does not rule out silicone granulomas, as they may have been missed when a previous ruptured implant was removed [50].

34.4.4 Capsule Thickness and Presence of Capsular Contracture

It is not entirely clear which capsules will resorb on their own. However, it seems that thin capsules in the submuscular plane tend to resorb. Therefore, thin, flimsy capsules can be left in place since they are difficult to remove and most likely will be resorbed. Thick, fibrous capsules, on the other hand, are unlikely to be resorbed and may lead to palpable masses and/or abnormalities noted on mammography. Therefore, thick capsules should be removed at the time of explantation of the implant. If complete capsulectomy is considered too risky, then partial capsulectomy should be performed [4, 50].

Some authors have suggested that any capsule with a Baker grade III or IV capsular contracture should be removed, regardless of whether the implant will be replaced [13, 50]. A severely contracted capsule, which is left in place, can produce a breast deformity and palpable mass. There are concerns that this residual capsule can also interfere with mammography. Bacteria may also colonize grade III or IV capsules. Removal of the capsules can decrease the bacterial load and lower the risk of developing a subsequent capsular contracture if the implants are replaced [13, 50]. However, it is important to always consider the risks of total capsulectomy, including damage to surrounding structures. The surgeon must use clinical judgment to decide the extent of capsulectomy to be performed, even in the setting of capsular contracture.

34.4.5 Calcification of the Implant Capsule

Calcification of the implant capsule can occur as well [50, 62–67]. Destouet et al. [62] reported calcification in up to 30% of women who had breast implants for 10 years or longer. The cause of calcification of the capsule is unknown. Siggelkow et al. [65] reported on 53 capsules around silicone breast implants from 43 patients (23 smooth and 30 textured devices). A higher Baker score was found with increasing patient age, implant duration, and thickness of capsule. Calcification was associated with duration of implant and age of patient. Focal calcification was noted mostly on the inner side of the breast capsule. In this study, calcification was only found around smooth implants in the subglandular site following cosmetic augmentation.

Calcified capsules make the breast very hard and abnormally round and cause discomfort. Mammographers typically do not have difficulty distinguishing between calcifications in a capsule and microcalcifications associated with carcinoma. However, a calcified capsule can obscure areas of breast tissue. Therefore, every attempt should be made to completely remove calcified capsules. Typically these capsules are easy to remove, even when they are in the submuscular plane, because there is a distinct tissue plane [50].

34.4.6 Smooth Shell Versus Textured Shell of Explanted Implant

Considerations for capsulectomy depend on whether the implant being explanted has a smooth or textured shell and the type of implant being used to replace it. Implants with a smooth elastomer shell tend to cause a relatively uniform and smooth capsule. The decision to remove this capsule depends on the factors discussed previously, i.e., positioning of the existing and replacement implant, filler material, capsule thickness, and severity of capsular contracture. Also, if an implant with a smooth surface is to be replaced with an implant with a textured surface, a capsulectomy should be performed to allow the textured shell to interact with a fresh tissue surface. This may decrease the risk of capsular contracture in the future [50].

When removing textured implants, the capsule can be left intact if a replacement implant is placed in the same position. However if a textured silicone implant is removed, it is reasonable to perform a capsulectomy in order to remove any gel, which may be present in the capsule [50].

Both saline and silicone gel-textured implants can lead to synovial-like metaplasia [13, 50, 65]. Synovial-like metaplasia is benign, but it can lead to dense hyaline collagenous fibrosis after implant duration of more than 2 years. Synovial-like metaplasia is more prominent in pockets surrounding textured implants which have been in place for a longer amount of time [65]. This may also lead to fluid formation in the intracapsular space which can result in seroma formation. Therefore it may be wise to perform a capsulectomy when removing textured implants in order to decrease the risk of synovial metaplasia and seroma [50].

34.4.7 Change in Volume of the Implant

When an existing implant is being replaced with a larger implant, a capsulotomy or capsulectomy should be performed. If the capsule is a grade I or grade II and normal in appearance, open capsulotomy can be performed. It is obvious that using a larger implant will require some change to enlarge the implant pocket. Some surgeons do prefer to do a complete capsulectomy in order to have a fresh tissue surface against the new implant. When an existing implant is being replaced with a smaller implant, a capsulectomy may not be necessary, but can be performed, depending on the factors discussed in this article [50].

34.4.8 Considerations for Implant Replacement

Implant exchange is associated with lower recurrence rates of capsular contracture (0-26%) versus with no implant exchange (0-54%) [4]. This is particularly notable when the replacement implant is placed in the same plane. Replacing old implants in the same pocket is misguided as it is associated with the highest risk of recurrence of contracture.

There were no obvious trends in recurrence rate of contracture with textured, saline, or silicone replacement implants. However, smooth implants were associated with overall lower recurrence rates of capsular contracture. This is in contrast with the established clinical association of higher rates of capsular contracture with smooth implants versus textured implants. However, that association was based exclusively on primary breast augmentation data and may not apply to revision surgery [4]. Selection of the replacement implant should ultimately be based on the patient's tissue characteristics. Textured implants have a higher risk of rippling and palpability compared to smooth implants, especially in the subglandular plane. Saline implants also have a higher risk of rippling compared to silicone implants. Therefore, it is reasonable to use smooth gel implants to minimize rippling and palpability in the patient with thin overlying breast tissue [4].

Acellular dermal matrix is associated with a lower recurrence rate of capsular contracture (0-7%) compared to recurrence rate with reaugmentation without acellular dermal matrix (5-19%). However these studies are limited by their short follow-up periods (average, 1.4–3.6 years) [4].

34.4.9 Operative Time and Technique

Capsulectomy adds approximately an hour to the operative time, which means increased cost to the patient. Moreover, adequate exposure for capsulectomy may require a larger incision than if implantation alone was being performed. Some surgeons prefer to remove the implant and capsule together, without entering the implant capsule. The thought is that this technique results in a more complete removal of silicone gel, especially in the case of a ruptured silicone implant. Some surgeons also find this method to be easier. However, this technique requires a larger incision, and there is no clear evidence that the benefits of this method outweigh the morbidity [50].

Moreover, the capsule may still be entered despite the best efforts of the surgeon. Thus, ruptured silicone material enters the extracapsular space and must be manually removed. The authors of this article begin the dissection around the capsule and implant, especially in the case of a known ruptured silicone implant. As much dissection as can safely be performed is carried out. Sometimes the entire implant and capsule can be removed without entering the implant capsule. Other times the capsule is entered and ruptured silicone material extravasates. At this point the capsule is removed in pieces along with the implant and implant material (Fig. 34.3). In the



Fig. 34.3 Ruptured silicone implants and fragments of the capsules, which were removed bilaterally



Fig. 34.4 Thin, normal-appearing capsule, which was adherent to the chest wall and left in place in order to prevent damage to surrounding structures

case of submuscular pockets, entering the implant capsule can lead to greater exposure to remove the capsule which is adherent to the chest wall (Fig. 34.4).

34.4.10 Preoperative Discussion and Informed Consent

Typically an inframammary or periareolar incision is best for implant explantation and capsulectomy. For small areola (<4 to 5 cm in diameter), an inframammary incision is advised. For extension into the axilla, an additional axillary incision may be needed for better accessibility. Preoperatively, the surgeon should have an open discussion with the patient regarding the need for new, larger, or multiple incisions. The benefits of capsulectomy versus the risks and additional expense must be discussed with the patient. Patients undergoing removal of implants for severe capsular contraction should be explained that capsulectomy is recommended to eliminate a possible palpable and visible mass, mammographic artifact, possible bacterial colonization, and risk of a poor aesthetic result [50]. This discussion must include an explanation that if the capsule is adherent to the chest wall (in a submuscular plane) or to the skin (in a subglandular plane), a partial capsulectomy will be performed to minimize risk to the patient.

Most patients request a capsulectomy once they understand the risks and benefits. This is particularly true with women who are having silicone implants removed because of the perceived risk of silicone material. Patients should be informed that the current scientific evidence does not support a risk of retained silicone gel material in the implant pocket. It is also important to clarify that removal of silicone material or the implant capsule may not improve systemic symptoms that some patients attribute to the presence of breast implants. When a patient does request a capsulectomy, it should be performed assuming it does not pose significant risk to the patient [50].

34.4.11 Open Capsulotomy

Open capsulotomy is reasonable in certain situations, such as modification of the capsule for a larger implant, correction of a malpositioned implant, modification of the shape of the breast, and conversion of a tissue expander to a permanent implant [4, 50]. This is assuming the breast is soft and the capsule is thin and normal in appearance. In the case of a malpositioned implant in which the implant is intact, the same implant can be reinserted after capsulotomy and pocket modification. However, the implant manufacturers state that implants are for single use only, which precludes implant reuse after capsulectomy or capsulotomy. The surgeon should be aware of these recommendations and be prepared to defend the decision to reuse an implant [50].

34.4.12 Delayed Capsulectomy

Delayed capsulectomy may be required for retained capsules that produce an unaesthetic result, palpable mass, mammographic abnormality, source of fluid accumulation, or infection. A surgeon will ideally avoid the need for a delayed capsulectomy by performing a capsulectomy at the time of implant removal or replacement. However, the patient may have had the implant removed by another surgeon and then presents later with the need for capsulectomy. This most commonly occurs in the patient with capsular contracture who did not have capsulectomy at the time of the initial surgery. In this case, delayed capsulectomy should be performed [50].

34.4.13 Contraindications to Capsulectomy

Below is a summary of situations in which total capsulectomy should be avoided in order to prevent unnecessary harm to the patient.

- 1. A thin and flimsy capsule can be difficult to remove, and capsulectomy can cause damage to surrounding tissue.
- In a submuscular implant, when the posterior capsule is tightly adherent to the ribs and intercostal muscles causing a risk of chest wall perforation and pneumothorax, a partial capsulectomy should be performed.
- The risk of capsulectomy of subglandular implants in a thin patient usually outweighs the benefit. Removing a subglandular capsule can injure the skin by compromising blood supply or cause a perforation through the skin. A partial capsulectomy of the posterior portion of the capsule can be performed.
- Patients with very thin overlying breast tissue who are replacing a saline-filled implant may benefit from the tissue padding of the capsule.

In situations in which the breast is soft and the capsule is normal-appearing, the capsule can be left in place to decrease risk of rippling of the implant.

5. In the case of a malpositioned implant, such as one that is laterally or inferiorly displaced without capsular contracture, a normalappearing capsule can be used for capsulorrhaphy.

34.5 Special Considerations

34.5.1 Contraindications to Capsulectomy

There has been a long history of speculation about the safety of breast augmentation, specifically regarding increased risk of carcinoma and/ or autoimmune disorders with silicone. The National Institutes of Health found no associations between breast implants and cancer, autoimmune disorder, neurologic disorder, or other systemic diseases [68]. Moreover, the risk of breast cancer is not higher for silicone implants compared to saline-filled implants [69, 70].

However, there have been a few reports of carcinoma which seemed to arise from the breast implant capsule [71–73]. Paletta et al. [71] reported a squamous cell carcinoma which apparently arose from the implant capsule 15 years after breast augmentation. Kitchen et al. [72] reported an implant capsule lined by benign squamous epithelium and another case of squamous cell carcinoma in the implant capsule. It is reasonable to assume that squamous cell carcinoma is preceded by benign squamous epithelium. However prior to this report, there were no cases of epithelialization of breast implant capsules. The origin of the epithelial cells in the breast implant capsule is unclear. The usual histological findings in the breast implant capsule have been well documented. Host tissue reactions around the implant include formation of a fibrous capsule, foreign body giant cell reaction, and infiltration of chronic inflammatory cells [3, 4, 63, 64, 72]. In addition, calcification of the fibrous capsule has been reported [50, 63, 64].

There are several possibilities as to the origin of the epithelial cells in the capsule. One is that microscopic skin fragments could be implanted in the incision at the time of implant placement. These epithelial fragments could subsequently form an epithelial lining. Another theory is that dermal adnexal structures could proliferate into an epithelial lining. However, the most plausible theory is that ductal epithelium undergoes squamous metaplasia. Ducts are invariably transected during placement of an implant. It is recognized that endoderm-derived epithelium in the bronchus, thyroid, urethra, and prostate can undergo squamous metaplasia in the setting of chronic irritation. Therefore, it is possible that epithelium from transected ducts proliferated within the implant capsule and became metaplastic in response to chronic irritation from the breast implant [71, 72].

When carcinoma is present in or adjacent to the implant capsule, it is recommended to remove the implant, the capsule in its entirety, and any abnormal surrounding tissue to submit as a pathology specimen [50, 73].

34.5.2 Anaplastic Large Cell Lymphoma

There has also been concern over the association of breast implants and anaplastic large cell lymphoma (ALCL) [74, 75]. In 1995, a case series of three women with breast implants and cutaneous T-cell lymphoma was reported [76]. Since then, there are 63 documented cases of primary breast implant-associated ALCL [74]. While breast cancer is the most frequent cancer affecting women, primary lymphoma of the breast is exceedingly rare, accounting for only 0.04 to 0.5 percent of malignant breast tumors, 1-2% of extranodal lymphomas, and less than 1 percent of all non-Hodgkin lymphomas [77]. In 2011 the US Food and Drug Administration released an alert that women with breast implants have an increased, although very low, risk of developing breast implant-associated ALCL [78]. This form of ALCL appears to have a more benign course than systemic ALCL. Treatment of ALCL is removal of the implant and complete capsulectomy, along with oncologic consultation to investigate other sites of disease [75]. Most patients with breast-confined disease achieve complete remission after surgical management. Women with more extensive disease benefit may also benefit from chemotherapy [74, 75]. While ALCL is extremely rare, clinicians must be vigilant. Patients with late-onset seroma, sudden breast swelling, and/or pain should be suspected of having ALCL and be worked up appropriately [74].

34.5.3 Infection

Many capsules are culture positive for microorganisms, such as Staphylococcus epidermidis, which is associated with capsular contracture [13, 24, 68, 79–81]. Colonization of bacteria is usually an incidental finding, found during removal of implants [50]. However Pajkos et al. [14] reported a S. epidermidis biofilm in a patient with recurrent capsular contracture. The thought is that once a biofilm forms on the outer surface of the implant surface, it can be a source of chronic inflammation and irritation, which can lead to capsular contracture. The theory of subclinical infection may contribute to why implants placed above the muscle have higher contraction rates than submuscular implant. Implants above the muscle are in close proximity to the breast ducts which carry bacteria more than 90% of the time [13, 82].

An acute suppurative infection, on the other hand, is an uncommon complication of breast implants. An acute infection is manifested by pain, swelling, erythema, and fever. Once an infection is diagnosed, explantation with complete removal of the capsule is always indicated. This will speed the resolution of the infection and allow the normal healing process to proceed. It is advised to place a drain when a capsulectomy is performed in the setting of an infection. Failure to remove the capsule when an infection is present will lead to a dead space colonized by bacteria which antibiotics may not be able to sufficiently penetrate. This will lead to delayed healing and increased time before the implant can be replaced [50, 54, 80, 81].

There are simple preventive measures that have been found to decrease bacterial load, such as a preoperative dose of intravenous antibiotics, irrigation of the implant pocket with antimicrobials before placement of the implant, and minimizing contact between the implant and the surrounding skin and breast tissue [14–16].

34.6 Conclusions

The treatment of capsular contracture is most certainly multifactorial. The ultimate goal is to prevent recurrence of capsular contracture, minimize risk to the patient, and obtain esthetic results. The non-surgical options of treatment discussed are certainly successful in managing early capsular contracture and avoiding the need for surgery. Capsulectomy is indicated in the majority of cases when breast implants are being removed or replaced in the setting of severe capsular contracture. However, the surgeon must always weigh risks and benefits of capsulectomy. The removal of a capsule should not warrant significant risk to the patient, such as pneumothorax, devascularized skin, or injury to nerves or vessels. It is unclear if a total capsulectomy is advantageous over a partial capsulectomy in preventing recurrence of contracture. Therefore, it is up to the surgeon to use clinical judgment to guide management of the implant capsule.

References

- American Society of Plastics Surgeons (ASPS). 2016 Plastic Surgery Statistics Report. https://www.plasticsurgery.org/news/plastic-surgery-statistics. Accessed 13 Sept 2017.
- American Society for Aesthetic Plastic Surgery (ASAPS). 2016 Cosmetic Surgery National Data Bank Statistics. https://www.surgery.org/sites/default/ files/ASAPS-Stats2016.pdf Accessed 12 Sept 2017.
- Araco A, Caruso R, Araco F, Overton J, Gravante G. Capsular contractures: a systematic review. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2009;124(6):1808–19.
- Wan D, Rohrich RJ. Revisiting the management of capsular contracture in breast augmentation: a systemic review. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2016;137(3):826–41.

- 5. Adams WP Jr. Capsular contracture: What is it? What causes is? How can it be prevented and managed? Clin Plast Surg. 2009;36:119–26.
- Berry MG, Cucchiara V, Davies DM. Breast augmentation: Part II. Adverse capsular contracture. J Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg. 2010;63(12):2098–107.
- Spear SL, Baker JL Jr. Classification of capsular contracture after prosthetic breast reconstruction. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1995;96(5):119–23.
- Lee HK, Jin US, Lee YH. Subpectoral and precapsular implant repositioning technique: correction of capsular contracture an implant malposition. Aesthet Plast Surg. 2011;35:1126–32.
- Handel N, Cordray T, Gutierrez J, Jensen JA. A longterm study of outcomes, complications, and patient satisfaction with breast implants. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2006;117(3):757–67.
- Araco A, Gravante G, Araco F, Delogu D, Cervelli V, Walgenbach K. A retrospective analysis of 3,000 primary aesthetic breast augmentations: postoperative complications and associated factors. Aesthet Plast Surg. 2007;31(5):532–9.
- Cunningham B, McCue J. Safety and effectiveness of Mentor's MemoryGel implants at 6 years. Aesthet Plast Surg. 2009;33(3):440–4.
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Summary of safety and effectiveness data: mentor saline-filled and Spectrum breast implants. https://www.accessdata. fda/gov/cdrh_docs/pdf/P990075b.pdf Accessed 13 Sept 2017.
- Prantl L, Schreml S, Fichtner-Feigl S, Pöpple N, Eisenmann-Klein M, Schwarze H, Füchtmeier B. Clinical and morphological conditions in capsular contracture formed around silicone breast implants. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2007;120(1):275–84.
- Pajkos A, Deva AK, Vickery K, Cope C, Chang L, Cossart YE. Detection of subclinical infection in significant breast implant capsules. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2003;111(5):1605–11.
- Moyer HR, Ghazi B, Saunders N, Losken A. Contamination in smooth gel breast implant placement: testing a funnel versus digital insertion technique in a cadaver model. Aesthet Surg J. 2012;322:194–9.
- Flugstad NA, Pozner JN, Baxter RA, Creasman C, Egrari S, Martin S, Messa CA III, Oliva A, Schlesinger LS, Kortesis BG. Does implant insertion with a funnel decrease capsular contracture? a preliminary report. Aesthet Surg J. 2016;36(5):550–6.
- Adams WP Jr, Rios JL, Smith SJ. Enhancing patient outcomes in aesthetic and reconstructive breast surgery using triple antibiotic breast irrigation: sixyear prospective clinical study. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2006;117(1):30–6.
- Barnsley GP, Sigurdson LJ, Barnsley SE. Textured surface breast implants in the prevention of capsular contracture among breast augmentation patients: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Plast Reconst Surg. 2006;117(7):2182–90.

- Wong CH, Samuel M, Tan BK, Song C. Capsular contracture in subglandular breast augmentation with textured versus smooth breast implants: a systematic review. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2006;118(5):1224–36.
- Asplund O, Gylbert L, Jurell G, Ward C. Textured or smooth implants for submuscular breast augmentation: a controlled study. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1996;97(6):1200–6.
- Blout AL, Martin MD, Lineberry KD, Kettaneh N, Alfonso DR. Capsular contracture rate in a low-risk population after primary augmentation mammaplasty. Aesthet Surg J. 2013;33(4):516–21.
- Vazquez B, Given KS, Houston GC. Breast augmentation: a review of subglandular and submuscular implantation. Aesthet Plast Surg. 1987;11(2):101–5.
- Baker JL Jr. The effectiveness of Alpha-Tocopherol (Vitamin E) in reducing the incidence of spherical contracture around breast implants. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1981;68(5):696–8.
- Schlesinger LS, Ellenbogen R, Desvigne MN, Svehlak S, Heck R. Zafirlukast (Accolate): a new treatment for capsular contracture. Aesthet Surg J. 2002;22(4):329–36.
- Niessen FB, Spauwen PH, Schalkwijk J, Kon M. On the nature of hypotrophic scars and keloids: a review. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1999;104:1435–58.
- 26. Reid RR, Greve SD, Casas LA. The effect of Zafirlukast (Accolate) on early capsular contracture in the primary augmentation patients: a pilot study. Aesthet Surg J. 2005;25(1):26–30.
- Gryskiowicz JM. Investigation of Accolate and Singulair for capsular contracture yields safety concerns. Aesthet Surg J. 2003;23:98–102.
- Huang CK, Handel N. Effects of Singulair (Montelukast) treatment for capsular contracture. Aesthet Surg J. 2010;30(3):404–10.
- Abenavoli L, Capasso R, Milic N, Capasso F. Milk thistle in liver diseases: past, present, future. Phytother Res. 2010;24(10):1423–32.
- Flora K, Hahn M, Rosen H, Benner K. Milk thistle (Silybum marianum) for the therapy of liver disease. Am J Gastroenterol. 1998;93(2:139–43.
- 31. Herhahn FT. Ultrasound and capsular contracture. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1984;74(4):574.
- Planas J, Migliano E, Wagenfuhr J Jr, Castillo S. External ultrasonic treatment of capsular contractures in breast implants. Aesthet Plast Surg. 1997;21(6):395–7.
- Planas J. Prophylactic use of external ultrasound for breast implant capsular contracture. Aesthet Surg J. 2002;22:205–7.
- Pereira AN, Eduardo P, Matson E, Marques MM. Effect of low-power laser irradiation on cell growth and procollagen synthesis of cultured fibroblasts. Laser Surg Med. 2002;31:263–7.
- 35. Yu W, Naim JO, McGowan M, Ippolito K, Lanzafame RJ. Photomodulation of oxidative metabolism and electron chain enzymes in rat liver mitochondria. Photochem Photobiol. 1997;66(6):866–71.

- Silviera PC, Silva LA, Fraga DB, Freitas TP, Streck EL, Pinho R. Evaluation of mitochondrial respiratory chain activity in muscle healing by low-level laser therapy. J Photochem Photobiol. 2009;95(2):89–92.
- 37. Pastore D, Greco M, petragallo VA, Passarella S. Increase in ←H+/e- ratio of the cytochrome c oxidase reaction in mitochondria irradiated with helium-neon laser. Biochem Mol Biol Int. 1994;34(4):817–26.
- Karu TI, Kolyakov SF. Exact action spectra for cellular responses relevant to phototherapy. Photomed Laser Surg. 2005;23(4):355–61.
- Hashmi JT, Huang YY, Sharma SK, Kurup DB, De Taboada L, Carroll JD, Hamblin MR. Effects of pulsing in low-level light therapy. Lasers Surg Med. 2010;42(6):450–66.
- Johnson JD, Glat PM, Scarlett WL. Low-level laser therapy: an alternative treatment for capsular contraction. Am J Cosm Surg. 2015;32(1):1–6.
- Jackson RF, Roche G, Mangione T. Low-level laser therapy effectiveness for reducing pain after breast augmentation. Am J Cosmet Surg. 2009;26:144–8.
- 42. Omar MT, Shaheen AA, Zafar H. A systematic review of the effect of low-level laser therapy in the management of breast cancer-related lymphedema. Support Care Cancer. 2012;20:2977–84.
- Jackson RF, Dedo DD, Roche GC, Turok DI, Maloney RJ. Low-level laser therapy as a non-invasive approach for body contouring: a randomized, controlled study. Lasers Surg Med. 2009;41:799–809.
- 44. Jackson RF, Stern FA, Neira R, Ortiz-Neira CL, Maloney J. Application of low-level laser therapy for noninvasive body contouring. Lasers Surg Med. 2012;44:211–7.
- 45. Freitas CP, Melo C, Alexandrino AM, Noites A. Efficacy of low-level laser therapy on scar tissue. J Cosmet Laser Ther. 2013;15:171–6.
- Freeman BS. Successful treatment of some fibrous envelope contractures around breast implants. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1972;50(2):107–13.
- Sugimoto T. Open capsulotomy for capsular contracture: a new procedure for prevention of recurrence. Aesthet Plast Surg. 1982;6(4):225–30.
- Miller TA. Capsulectomy. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1998;102(3):882–3.
- Collis N, Sharpe DT. Recurrence of subglandular breast implant capsular contracture: anterior versus total capsulectomy. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2000;106(4):792–7.
- Young VL. Guidelines and indications for breast implant capsulectomy. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1998;102(3):884–91.
- Spear SL. Capsulotomy, capsulectomy, and implantectomy (Editorial). Plast Reconstr Surg. 1993;92(2):323–4.
- Spear SL, Carter ME, Ganz JC. The correction of capsular contracture by conversion to "dual-plane" positioning: technique and outcomes. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2003;112(2):456–66.

- Rohrich RJ, Parker TH 3rd. Aesthetic management of the breast after explantation: evaluation and mastopexy options. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2007;120(1):312–5.
- Virden CP, Dobke MK, Stein P, Parsons CL, Frank DH. Subclinical infection of the silicone breast implant surface as a possible cause of capsular contracture. Aesthet Plast Surg. 1992;16:173–9.
- 55. Thomsen JL, Christensen L, Nielsen M, Brandt B, Breiting VB, Felby S, Nielsen E. Histologic changes and silicone concentrations in human breast tissue surrounding silicone breast prostheses. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1990;85(1):38–41.
- Slavin SA, Goldwyn RM. Silicone gel implant explantation: reasons, results and admonitions. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1995;95(1):63–9.
- Hardt NS, Yu L, LaTorre G, Steinbach B. Complications related to retained breast implants capsules. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1995;95(2):364–71.
- Copeland M, Kressel A, Spiera H, Hermann G, Bleiweiss IJ. Systemic inflammatory disorder related to fibrous breast capsules after silicone implant removal. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1993;92(6):1179–81.
- Costagliola M, Atiyeh BS, Rampillon F. An innovative procedure for the treatment of primary and recurrent capsular contracture (CC) following breast augmentation. Aesthet Surg J. 2013;33:1008–17.
- Baker JL Jr., LeVier RR, Spielvogel DE. Positive identification of silicone in human mammary capsular tissue. Plast Reconstr Surg 1982;69(1):56-60.
- 61. Wolfram D, Rainer C, Niederegeer H, Piza H, Wick G. Cellular and molecular composition of fibrous capsules formed around silicone breast implants with a special focus on local immune reactions. J Autoimmun. 2004;23(1):81–91.
- Destouet JM, Monsees BS, Oser RF, Nemecek JR, Young VL, Pilgram TK. Screening mammography in 350 women with breast implants: prevalence and findings of implants complications. Am J Roentgenol. 1992;159(5):973–8.
- deCamara DL, Sheridan JM, Kammer BA. Rupture and aging of silicone gel breast implants. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1993;91(5):828–36.
- Young VL, Bartell T, Destouet JM, Monsees B, Logan SE. Calcification of breast implant capsule. South Med J. 1989;82(9):1171–3.
- 65. Siggelkow W, Faridi A, Spiritus K, Klinge U, Rath W, Klosterhalfen B. Histological analysis of silicone breast implant capsules and correlation with capsular contracture. Biomaterials. 2003;24:1101–9.
- 66. Peters W, Smith D. Calcification of breast implant capsules: incidence, diagnosis, and contributing factors. Ann Plast Surg. 1995;34(1):8–11.
- Walter P, Pritzker K, Smith D, Fornasier V, Holymyard D, Lugowski S, Kamel M, Visram F. Capsular calcification associated with silicone breast implants: incidence, determinants, and characterization. Ann Plast Surg. 1998;41(4):348–60.

- Reid G, Bailey RR. Biofilm infections: implications for diagnosis and treatment. N Z Med J. 1996;109(1016):41–2.
- Tanaka Y, Morishima I, Kikuchi K. Invasive micropapillary carcinomas arising 42 years after augmentation mammoplasty: a case report and literature review. World J Surg Oncol. 2008;6(33):1–5.
- Nelson NJ. Silicone breast implants not linked to breast cancer risk. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2000;92(21):1714–5.
- Paletta C, Paletta FX Jr, Paletta FX Sr. Squamous cell carcinoma following breast augmentation. Ann Plast Surg. 1992;29(5):425–32.
- 72. Kitchen SB, Paletta CE, Shehadi SI, Bauer WC. Epithelialization of the lining of a breast implant capsule: possible origin of squamous cell carcinoma associated with a breast implant capsule. Cancer. 1994;73(5):1449–52.
- Roth FS, Felder JM, Friedman JD. Breast capsulectomy specimens and their clinical implications. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2010;126(6):1848–12.
- 74. Santanelli di Pompeo F, Laporta R, Sorotos M, Di Napoli A, Giovagnoli MR, Cox MC. et. al. Breast implant-associated anaplastic large cell lymphoma: proposal for a monitoring protocol. Plast Reconst Surg. 2015;136(2):144e–51e.
- Gidengil CA, Predmore Z, attke S, van Busum K, Kim B. Breast implant-associated anaplastic large cell lymphoma: a systematic review. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2015;135(3):713–20.
- Duvic M, Moore D, Menter A, Vonderheid EC. Cutaneous T-cell lymphoma in association with silicone breast implants. J Am Acad Dermatol. 1995;32:939–42.
- Cohen PL, Brooks JJ. Lymphomas of the breast: a clinicopathologic and immunohistochemical study of primary and secondary cases. Cancer. 1991;67:1359–69.
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration. FDA medical device safety communication: reports of anaplastic large cell lymphoma (ALCL) in women with breast implants. http://www.fda.gov/medicaldevices/safety/ alertsandnotices/ucm240000.htm. Accessed 13 Sept 2017.
- Freedman AM, Jackson IT. Infections in breast implants. Infect Dis Clin N Am. 1989;3(2):275–87.
- Burkhardt BR, Dempsey PD, Schnur PL, Tofield JJ. Capsular contracture: a prospective study of the effect of local antibacterial agents. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1986;77(6):919–32.
- Dobke MK, Svahn JK, Vastine VL, Landon BN, Stein PC, Parsons CL. Characterization of microbial presence at the surface of silicone mammary implants. Ann Plast Surg. 1995;34(6):563–9.
- Takayanagi S, Nakagawa C, Sugimoto Y. Augmentation mammaplasty: where should the implant be placed? Aesthet Plast Surg. 2004;28(2):83–8.



Soft Tissue Reconstruction of the Lower Limb

35

Mahmoud Kazem Nassar, Daniel J. Jordan, and Sandip Hindocha

35.1 Introduction

This chapter aims to review current and past thoughts on reconstruction of the lower limb, discussing in particular the options in terms of soft tissue coverage. This chapter does not aim to review the emergency management of open fractures, or the therapy alternatives to chronic wounds or malignancies of the lower limb, but purely assesses the requirements that should be reviewed on reconstructing a defect of the lower limb. However, this end point needs to be taken into account at the initial evaluation or presentation of the individual as it may spare the patient, and surgeon, multiple procedures and considerable frustration.

A summary of flap options is considered, with literature support, in regard to donor and recipient region, particularly as flap coverage is regarded as the cornerstone of soft tissue coverage of the lower limb.

Plastic Surgery and Reconstruction Department, Ninewells Hospital and Medical School, Tayside NHS Trust, Dundee, UK e-mail: mnassar@nhs.net; D.jordan1@nhs.net

S. Hindocha (⊠) Plastic Surgery & Laser Centre, Bedford Hospital NHS Trust, Bedford, UK

35.2 The Lower Limb

The lower extremities of the human body are more commonly known as the human legs, incorporating the foot, the lower or anatomical leg, the thigh, and the hip or gluteal region.

The human lower limb plays a simpler role than that of the upper limb. Whereas the arm allows interaction with the immediate surroundings, the legs' primary goals are support and to allow upright ambulation. Essentially, this means that reconstruction of the leg is less complex than that required in restoring functionality of the upper limb. In terms of reconstruction, the primary goals are based on the preservation of life and limb and the restoration of form and function.

The leg consists of four main regions before attaching to the pelvis. Working proximally, these are the following: the foot, the lower or anatomical leg (from the ankle to knee), the thigh (knee to hip), and the hip or gluteal region. Primarily, the four areas work together to aid balance and support, which, in turn, allow a human to stand and walk.

Evolution has forced the lower limb to gain this distinct feature, and although bipedal gait is not unique to humans, an efficient upright locomotion for long durations is. This adaptation has forced the human leg to become longer and more powerful in comparison with our primate relations, as well as change the way in which the muscles and joints of the leg interact and function [1].

M. K. Nassar · D. J. Jordan

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

D. Duscher, M. A. Shiffman (eds.), *Regenerative Medicine and Plastic Surgery*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19958-6_35

The ability of the legs to offer support and allow upright ambulation has permitted the adaptation of the upper limb, the arm, to allow precise interaction with the surrounding environment.

35.3 Reconstruction of the Lower Limb: Why Is It Needed?

The lower limb may need to be restored for multiple reasons. Originally, lower limb reconstruction was required as an alternative to amputation, which was the principal treatment for war injuries. Amputation allows for the removal of necrotic tissue and infection, with the aim of saving the victim's life, but can sacrifice potential function and rehabilitation. Since World War I, major developments in applied anatomy, fracture management, wound care, and sterile techniques, as well as the introduction of antibiotics and anesthesia, have allowed surgeons to consider the role of limb salvage, a field which has greatly expanded since its introduction.

The field of reconstruction gained a vast number of options following the improvement of vascular techniques in the 1960s, opening the door to the microvascular reconstruction era.

Nowadays, war injuries still make up a proportion of the number of people who require access to advanced techniques in the field of lower limb salvage and reconstruction. However, the scope of injury mechanisms has been added to with an increasing number of blunt trauma, thanks to urbanization and industry, as well as increased diagnosis of lower limb malignancies and chronic medical conditions, including diabetes and peripheral vascular disease.

Today's goal in lower limb reconstruction has not changed much from those originally cited in the early war victims, with restoration or maintenance of function becoming the essential goal as these injuries became less life-threatening. Function involves the need for a stable skeleton, allowing weight-bearing status, with adequate soft tissue coverage to nourish and protect the underlying bone. "Normal" function of the limb is then more reliant on their rehabilitation of the limb muscles and joints, with proprioception and plantar sensitivity key.

End points of reconstruction are also measured by a return of function to a level required by that individual. Options become dependent on a balance of anatomical, social, and psychological factors. This functionality can be reduced by chronic pain and infection, as well as complications with chronic swelling or wound healing. The aesthetic outcome is also important, but this should never take priority over the limb's ability to function.

35.4 Reconstruction: Easy Options but a Difficult Choice?

The reconstructive ladder should always be addressed when considering closure of wounds. This progresses from secondary healing to primary closure, through the options of grafting to the more complex local, then distant, free tissue flaps (Fig. 35.1), although the "stepwise" assessment to lower limb wounds may not always be the best approach in lower limb reconstruction.

Today, there are options to supplement the reconstructive ladder, with the use of negativepressure wound therapy, as well as tissue expansion or prefabrication of tissue, before a definitive surgery. In the future, it is hoped that adjuncts in the form of pharmacological therapies and the use of engineered materials for wound coverage will become more significant. Wound coverage requires many aspects of the patient's background and present state to be assessed before making a decision on the most suitable option.

The bed bound patient in their later years with an infected diabetic foot and chronic leg ulcer offers a different challenge to that of the 28-yearold with an open fracture, massive skin loss, and vascular damage following a road traffic incident. Potentially, the latter has a lifetime of earning and dependents as opposed to the former, who may require purely symptomatic relief. The difficult choice then becomes whether you offer both salvage and amputation or either. It may seem obvious that amputation in the younger



patient is not preferable, but who says that a simple amputation and prosthesis, allowing a quicker return to work and normality, is worse than the potential long-term rehabilitation required with a complex bone and skin coverage procedure?

This highlights the need for lower limb reconstruction to be made on an individual basis and involve a multidisciplinary team. The key aspects being what is missing and what vital structures are exposed as well in consideration of the following points:

35.4.1 Physical Examination of the Wound

This will involve inspecting the wound size and noting the amount of damage and loss to both the skeletal and soft tissue envelope. All devitalized tissue should be removed, and this may have an impact on options for reconstruction particularly if there is degloved tissue. In addition, the vascular supply to both the area and distal regions needs to be assessed. This assessment of the wound is likely to require the input of orthopedic, reconstructive, and vascular professions to varying degrees. The location of the wound also plays a large role in the feasibility of reconstruction options. The surrounding tissue also becomes important in terms of concurrent injuries, such as those in crush injuries, radiation changes following radiotherapy fields in malignancy, chronic infection, or edema-related changes. Once the decision of surgical closure of a wound has been made, appropriate debridement must be undertaken before a final coverage option is chosen.

35.4.2 Patient Assessment [2]

This incorporates the morbidity and mortality risk of undertaking the procedure in the elective patient. Patient age, body mass index, their smoking status, and previous injuries to the limb involved should be noted. Scars crossing regions involving local and distant flap options may rule out these choices. Comorbidities involving cardiac and respiratory disease may discourage a long general anesthetic and potential intensive care stay, as well as having an impact on rehabilitation. Diabetes and peripheral vascular disease, particularly stenosis and atherosclerotic vasculature, will again rule out both donor and wound coverage options. Angiography is often required, particularly in the chronic wound as opposed to the blunt trauma scenario, as a chronic lower limb wound will often heal adequately as long as the area is reasonably perfused, and a nonhealing area due to poor perfusion is unlikely to be successfully grafted. Likewise, nutritional state is strongly influential on both chronic wounds and the healing of the wound coverage options. This will involve dietician support. Pre-injury dementia and ambulation should also be reviewed to determine rehabilitation and compliance with reconstruction. For the emergency patient, lifethreatening injuries take precedence over everything, and the patient will require assessment in a structured way, as defined by the Advanced Trauma Life Support (ATLS) principles [3]. Soft tissue coverage is needed to aid an infection-free fracture union. This should ultimately be completed at the same time as bony fixation if simple or local flap closure is achievable. Free flap reconstruction should be performed on a scheduled trauma list by an experienced, dedicated senior surgical team in a specialist center, preferably within a week of injury [4].

35.4.3 Rehabilitation and Functional End Point

The rehabilitation of the bed bound, chronic wound against the active, acute trauma patient will have a strong influence on what options are used for reconstruction. Is the procedure for symptom relief, functional restoration, or functional improvement? Social status pre-injury and potential rehabilitation options must be assessed. Occupational therapist and physiotherapist inputs emphasize the need for a multidisciplinary team approach to determine the most suitable reconstruction option. Good progress during early rehabilitation can also determine the successful return of normality for the patient.

35.4.4 Patient Expectation: Their Desires and Needs

Exploring the patient's psychological state is equally important. A complication free flap that saves a patient's foot is almost wasted if the patient automatically rejects the rehabilitation phase. The patient's motivation and compliance is critical in the functional end point. The appearance of the reconstruction alongside postoperative pain and swelling is interpreted differently by each individual and will need individual assessment. Likewise, it is important to ensure the patient has a close support system. Offering counseling to those closely involved may aid the patient's recovery. It has been reported that, when offered, a high percentage of patients (93%) would prefer a limb salvage procedure in the traumatic scenario to avoid undergoing amputation [5], and as an option in the chronic wound, reconstruction provides a chance for the patient to remain socially independent and maintain or improve their ambulatory status [6]. This supports patient choice in the reconstructive options, and all options should be discussed in detail by a trained expert to the patient to aid end compliance and balance expectations.

Other factors to be aware of in lower limb reconstruction include, but are not limited by:

- 1. Cost of care
- 2. Surgeon's experience
- 3. Donor site disability
- 4. Potential complications

Once these areas have been appropriately assessed and individually tailored to the patient, a list of potential surgical options will be made and offered to them.

35.5 Reconstruction Options: The Reconstruction

The reconstructive ladder (Fig. 35.1) offers a list of options in terms of surgical closure of the wound. However, the simplest option is not always the best option. On top of the above preoperative assessment requirements, a failed technique in lower limb reconstruction can have a devastating effect on the patient resulting in further tissue and bone loss, deterioration of comorbidities, and functional deficit with an end point involving amputation. For this reason, the best reconstructive option is often not the easiest choice but the choice that has the highest chance of success. For this reason, free flap tissue transfer is often regarded as the cornerstone of lower limb reconstruction. There has been much debate on the benefits of fasciocutaneous versus muscle based flaps, based on the former being thinner, often less donor comorbidity whereas muscle

flaps may improve the bone healing and reduce the infectious load of the wound. The authors feeling is that the right flap for the right wound should be the route taken with the wound (size/ location/deficit), the patient (comorbidity/outcome need/rehabilitation) and the surgeon (capability/instrument availability) being the key aspects of this choice.

35.5.1 Direct Closure and Local Alternatives

Primary and delayed closure, as well as grafting of a wound are well-documented options and should be attempted in both the simple wound, those where expedited recovery is required, or where more complex reconstructive failure would be disastrous.

These options require an adequate blood supply to the wound area and relatively reliable surrounding tissue. Where the blood supply is poor, involves periosteum stripped bone or where there is a requirement of soft tissue depth, the use of reconstructive flaps is generally required. Another option using the nearby soft tissue envelope includes tissue expansion, a choice which negates variance in tissue thickness, texture, and color and offers provision of specialist skin to a region (e.g., hair-bearing). This technique is limited by the reliability of the surrounding tissue but may offer a potential donor site for both direct closure and local flap coverage. Tissue expansion requires time to expand the tissue, so may not be an acute option, and is also known to have a high percent of complications in the lower limb in particular (over 70%).

35.5.2 Flap Reconstruction

Flap reconstruction options can be broken down to local and free flap descriptions. In general flaps can be described based on the blood supply to the flap, the location of the donor site, and the type of tissue being transferred.

The first uses of flap reconstruction initially involved movement of skin around pivot points, with these "local flaps" designed using tissue local to the wound. They will require their blood supply to be intact from the injury, whereas free flaps are based along a distant donor site. Flaps utilize composite tissue blocks and may include the skin, muscle, bone, fascia, and combinations of these.

Local cutaneous flaps can be based along random pattern or axial vascular circulations using the subdermal blood supply. Random pattern cutaneous flaps are limited by the arc of rotation and decreased bacterial resistance, as well as a general rule of a 2:1 ratio between the length and base of the flap used in the lower limb. The discovery of axial pattern flaps, where the flap is perfused by a defined vessel or angiosome, has permitted the use of longer flaps.

Other options for local flaps to aid take have included delayed transfer. An example of this is "the arm carrier" technique, involving abdominal flaps being transferred to a donor site on the arm before final transfer to the leg. This technique is still dependent on the final location wound environment for the take to be successful.

The discovery of random pattern skin flaps led to an investigation into vascular anatomy, and consequently it was found that local flaps could involve muscle, with transposition of either the muscle or a musculocutaneous block supplied by the muscle's dominant vascular pedicle. This finding was further supplemented by the discovery regarding fascial vascular supply and that the deep fascia, with or without skin, also allowed reliable flap creation. In 1981, Ponten [7] noted skin survival in a patient correlated with a single perfused vessel shown on angiography. This led him to raise a calf-based flap including the fascia and sural vessels, prompting a variety of new discoveries in flap options [8].

The use of cutaneous, musculocutaneous, and fasciocutaneous flaps based along specific dominant vascular pedicles has allowed the direct transfer of tissue which is less dependent on the wound bed blood supply. They also introduce new circulation to the area and offer a more reliable and larger wound coverage option. As our understanding continues to develop, it has been noted that both true and "choke" anastomoses exist between the perforator angiosomes allowing longer flaps to be more successful [9]. The pedicled flaps are restricted by their arc of rotation, something which was greatly increased compared to random pattern skin flaps. The advancement of microscopy, micro-instruments, and sutures has allowed the development of free flap surgery, which essentially involves detaching a known pedicle-based tissue composite unit and transplanting it to the wound area and anastomosing it to a suitable receptor artery and vein in proximity to the wound. Microsurgery has allowed the direct transfer of large tissue units from distant donor sites, allowing wounds to be covered and reconstructed based on flap suitability rather than wound proximity.

Free flap coverage has helped reduce the often bulky pedicled flap seen, particularly in muscle flaps. It also allows direct closure in the majority of the donor regions. A skin graft to this site should only be used if the donor flap is of special significance (superiority in function/shape etc.).

Igari et al. [10] reported end-to-side and endto-end anastomosis of latissimus dorsi free flaps to the vascular graft on these wounds with 85% flap survival and 100% limb salvage rate. This technique helps with the problem of exposed functional tissues when the wound is debrided.

Free flap reconstruction offers wound coverage but does not improve the distal circulation. However, there are reports of revascularization of critical limb ischemic wounds with free flap coverage being offered as a single procedure with reasonable results [11, 12].

In the traumatic scenario, all open fractures require avascularized soft tissue envelope free of infection to allow appropriate bone healing.

The use of negative-pressure wound therapy (NWPT) can temporarily be used as a substitute for definitive flap coverage [4].

35.5.3 Flap Vascular Anatomy

The blood supply of the raised flap is key to its survival. The classification of flaps can be described by the vascular source. As noted, random pattern flaps have no specific named vessels supplying them, while a recognized artery or

 Table 35.1
 Muscle/musculocutaneous flap classification

Туре	Pedicle	Example
Ι	One vascular pedicle	Tensor fascia lata Gastrocnemius
II	One dominant pedicle and minor pedicles	Gracilis Soleus
III	Two dominant pedicles	Gluteus maximus Serratus anterior
IV	Segmental pedicles	Sartorius Extensor halluces longus
V	One dominant and secondary segmental pedicles	Latissimus dorsi Pectoralis major

 Table 35.2
 Fascia/fasciocutaneous flap classification [14]

Туре	А	В	С
	Direct cutaneous pedicle	Septocutaneous pedicle	Musculocutaneous pedicle

group of arteries forms an axial-based flap. The variation in axial blood flow into different muscles is complex, and Mathes and Nahai [13] attempted to subclassify this form of flap vasculature. This classification is well described in reconstructive literature and summarized in Table 35.1. The blood supply to fascial-based flaps has also been classified in Table 35.2.

35.5.4 Flap Failure and Complications

Flap complications can be wound specific, vary from reconstructive unit to unit, and are dependent on the flap used. They include failure of the flap, involving partial or total necrosis; hematoma and seroma collections (for which the use of postoperative drains is not uncommon); and wound dehiscence and infection. Donor site morbidity should be negligible but could involve a reduction in function, particularly in flaps involving muscle components. In using free flaps, it should be noted that vein grafts are frequently required, and in particular the deeper venous network is targeted for anastomosis due to a predisposition of the superficial system to spasm. The arterial anastomosis if often performed in an end-to-side technique due to vessel mismatch and the very high chance of a single-vessel perfused limb. A single vessel leg is not a contraindication to free flap limb salvage. Angiography may be useful in planning reconstruction but does not correlate with vessel flow and can miss segmental vessel injury.

Pressure ulcer coverage is particularly complicated, usually due to issues regarding the continuation of pressure at the reconstructed site. One paper quotes flap complications involving ischial, sacral, and trochanteric wounds of 87 complications in 421 (21%), with suture line dehiscence (31%), infection (22%), hematoma (19.5%), partial necrosis (13.7%), and total necrosis (10.3%) noted [15]. This complication needs to be noted in patients where lower limb trauma may predispose to pressure to reconstructed regions either in the rehabilitation period or long-term.

35.5.5 Choice of Reconstruction: The Flap Options [16]

Traditionally the use of local muscle flaps proximally and free flaps distally in the lower limb has been used, although improvement in local flap reliability has allowed their use throughout the limb [17].

35.5.5.1 Local Flap Reconstruction

Random pattern cutaneous flaps can be limited by their vascular input. There are suggestions that the detection of perforators can be made by using thermal imaging to improve the sensitivity of current Doppler and anatomical landmark techniques [18]. In particular, thermal imaging may help locate the "choke" anastomoses which help aid flapper fusion and drainage [19].

"Propeller" flaps are well documented as an option for the majority of coverage in the lower limb, particularly below the knee [20, 21]. The propeller flap is an insular flap mobilized through an axial rotation to cover a defect (like a propeller), with perforator propeller flaps pivoting on a perforating vessel. Most perforator-based flaps can be utilized in a propeller flap idea including the ALT, TFL, and groin flaps, and for the distal limb the peroneal and posterior tibial arteries are commonly used for lateral and medial defects, respectively (Fig. 35.2).



Fig. 35.2 Propeller flap based on posterior tibial artery. (a, b) Defect and initial design. (c) Final position with donor defect grafted. Note movement of tattoo when propeller flap is rotated 180° to cover defect

The posterior tibial artery provides multiple cutaneous perforators but at unpredictable intervals. However, there are three distinct clusters found at predictable distances of 4-9 cm, 13-18 cm, and 21-26 cm proximal to the medial malleolus and are typically of larger caliber than other options more proximal on the limb. When using peroneal artery-based flaps, it should be noted that the blood supply tends to lie posterior to the fibula as opposed to over it when designing the skin paddles. This provides good form and function for elective and traumatic defects, offering an option in forefoot cover [22]. However, a recent literature review reports up to 16% of flaps suffering partial necrosis, with a third of them involving the whole flap [23].

Both the peroneal and anterior tibial artery flaps have small pedicles, around 3 cm, and sub-centimeter diameters, meaning their use as free flaps is limited. They are both type B fasciocutaneous flaps and can be harvested with the superficial peroneal or saphenous nerve for sensate flaps.

V-Y flaps, as described by Blasius in 1848 [24], are another option, particularly around the ankle and lower leg and can provide a sensate flap to the region [25].

Bipedicled flaps are random pattern flaps but, due to two pedicles, their continued viability is improved. They are a flap gaining popularity for closure of lower limb wounds, as is the keystone flap [26, 27].

The ad hoc perforator is a local flap that can be based on any type of perforator. Its concept was first alluded to by Quaba et al. in 1990 [28] and is analogous to the freestyle free flap concept of Wei and Mardini in 2004 [29]. With increased understanding of the cutaneous circulation and a sound knowledge of regional vascular anatomy, the reconstructive surgeon can tailor their approach to the presenting defect without being constrained by a previously described local flap or perforating vessel. Careful Doppler mapping and/or preliminary exploration is performed to identify a perforator adjacent to the defect. The presence of a positive Doppler signal in the territory of the defect allows planning and execution of the flap without the need to dwell on anatomical landmarks or variations [30].

For open fractures of the lower limb, local fasciocutaneous flaps should be used in low-energy tibial fractures (Fig. 35.3). As long as there is no vascular compromise by the initial injury, these can be used, along with free fasciocutaneous flaps, in metaphyseal injuries (particularly around the ankle) [31]. Muscle flaps would be suggested by experimental data in open tibial shaft fractures or where the blood supply is compromised, possibly helping to reduce both the healing time and risk of deep infection [31].

35.5.5.2 Fasciocutaneous Flaps 1. Groin

The earliest axial-based fasciocutaneous flap, the groin flap, has been used as both a free and pedicled flap (Table 35.3) [32] providing a substantial amount of both tissue and skin. Often needing subsequent debulking and due to the fact that it is a hair-bearing area, this flap can be a poorer aesthetic match compared to other options. The short venous supply to the region also causes an increased risk of flap failure. Often taken using a pedicle approach from the superficial circumflex iliac artery, the groin flap allows up to 20×10 cm flaps to be harvested alongside direct closure, and twice this with grafting of the donor site. The groin flap is a type A fasciocutaneous flap.

2. Medial Thigh and Transverse Upper Gracilis

Typically using the anterior septocutaneous artery and the venae comitantes from the superficial femoral vessels, this flap can be also be raised more anteriorly by using the lateral femoral circumflex artery, where it is more commonly referred to as the anteromedial thigh flap. The saphenous vein can be utilized to aid venous drainage as well as keeping a sensate flap when the medial anterior cutaneous nerve of the thigh is raised; the medial thigh flap is useful both as a free and pedicled flap. The latter will help cover wounds involving the perineum, groin, and thigh up to 10×20 cm in size. This skin paddle is now utilized in the transverse upper gracilis (TUG)



Fig. 35.3 Reconstruction of bilateral leg defects with exposed tibia. (a) External fixation in situ for tibial fractures. (b) Right leg reconstruction. Bony defects are cov-

Groin/SCIA flap		
Flap	Cutaneous flap taken with fat	
attributes	Can be harvested as free or pedicled flap	
Artery	Superficial circumflex iliac artery	
	(external iliac/superficial femoral artery)	
	1–2 mm	
Vein	Cutaneous vein draining into saphenous	
	system	
Pedicle	2–5 cm, generally short pedicle but can be	
	extended by more lateral skin paddle	
Nerve	N/A	

Table 35.3 Groin/SCIA flap

flap which is can be raised solely on medial femoral circumflex artery perforators through the gracilis. The medial thigh flap has a pedicle of 2–4 cm with a 1.5 mm diameter. This is a type B flap.

3. Lateral and Posterior Thigh

This flap and the posterior thigh flap exploit the profunda femoris perforating branches. Of the four, the first supplying the lateral thigh is used for proximal regions including the trochanteric and ischial areas, ered with ad hoc perforator flap laterally and posterior tibial perforator flap medially. Both donor sites grafted. (c) Left leg required only skin grafting to defect

and the third the posterior thigh [33]. The lateral thigh flap may also be harvested to include the lateral femoral cutaneous nerve as it can in the ALT flap. The lateral thigh flap often has a pedicle of 5–6 cm with a diameter between 1 and 2 mm. This is a fasciocutaneous type B flap.

4. Anterolateral Thigh (ALT) (Table 35.4)

Taken from the descending branch of the lateral femoral circumflex artery and thanks to an extended pedicle, the ALT is typically used as a free flap. A 7×20 cm skin paddle can be raised with a tight closure of the donor site. A type B and C fasciocutaneous flap, it is well used in head and neck reconstruction and allows a relatively slim flap for upper limb reconstruction. Its use as a pedicled flap or propeller flap is also useful for defects across the groin to knee regions (Fig. 35.4).

5. Sural

The sural artery allows probably the longest pedicled fasciocutaneous or fascial flap (Table 35.5). Also, with the ability of being

Table 35.4 ALT	flap
----------------	------

Anterolateral thigh flap (ALT)		
Flap	Skin, fat and fascial flap, pedicled or free	
attributes	flap options	
	Skin paddle can be up to 12×25 cm	
	Can be harvested as only an adipofascial	
	or fascial flap	
	Vastus lateralis muscle can also be	
	included in the flap dissection if required	
Artery	Descending branch of lateral femoral	
	circumflex artery (profunda femoral	
	trunk) 1.5–3 mm	
Vein	Slightly larger than artery, draining into	
	profunda femoral vein junction	
Pedicle	~7 cm, dependent on perforator entry to	
	flap and position skin paddle	
Nerve	Lateral femoral cutaneous nerve of the	
	thigh can be harvested with this flap,	
	entering at proximal part of design	

reversed, this flap can cover defects around the knee, anterior and posterior and upper third of the leg, as well as proximal foot defects. A type A fasciocutaneous flap skin flaps of up to 12 x 20 cm can be raised. The Medial Sural Artery Perforator (MSAP) flap has slowly gained popularisation. This utilises the same pedicle that the medial gastrocnemius flap would normally be harvested on so does mean sacrificing this muscle flap, but the fasciocutaneous flap dissection allows a long pedicle with often little disruption to the underlying muscle function.

6. Saphenous

Coverage of the knee can be achieved by raising this flap using the saphenous artery and venae comitantes. This is a continuation of the descending genicular branch of the superficial femoral artery. The saphenous artery perforator flap is supplied by septocutaneous perforators supplying the medial thigh skin above the knee. The saphenous artery also supplies another region of the skin anterior and medial aspects of the leg below the knee and originates from the descending genicular artery. A line from the anterior superior iliac spine to the medial epicondyle of the tibia approximates to the sartorius muscle, the key landmark in finding the vascular pedicle. The cutaneous branches are found between 3 and 10 cm from the saphenous artery origin which lies toward the adductor canal. It has been reported in varying degrees that the saphenous artery joins the dorsalis pedis artery in the foot allowing distal leg and foot coverage. With a more difficult dissection than those listed above due to increased vascular anatomy variance, this flap can also be reversed and includes an osteofasciocutaneous option (from the medial femoral condyle) using the articular branches of the genicular artery. Skin paddles 7 × 20 cm are typical, with a section of sartorius occasionally taken with the raised tissue to aid flap survival rates. The pedicle can be 5-15 cm length with a diameter of 1–2 mm. This is a type A flap (Fig. 35.5).

35.5.5.3 Muscle and Musculocutaneous Flaps

1. Gluteus Maximus

Being the largest muscle of the body and having both two dominant and two minor pedicles, this allows for a high degree of versatility. Reliable coverage of the buttock, hip, perineal, and upper thigh regions is achievable. Raised either from the lateral femoral circumflex artery to allow posterior thigh coverage in a reversed technique, or off of one of the gluteal arteries (superior or inferior) with the muscle split preserving function [34] and tissue to cover either anterior or posterior defects. These can incorporate either only muscle or muscle and skin coverage options.

(a) The superior and inferior gluteal perforator flaps (SGAP/IGAP) have replaced gluteal muscle flaps as they reduce buttock morbidity and are a mainstay of breast reconstruction. They allow a fasciocutaneous flap to be raised from the superior or inferior gluteal arteries with a 3–4 mm artery caliber, often larger veins, and pedicles up to 7 cm, with the IGAP-based flap also known as the posterior or gluteal thigh flap and not to be mixed up with Song's description of a posterior thigh flap raised on the third perforating branch of the profunda femoris artery [35]. This



Fig. 35.4 Anterolateral thigh (ALT) flap for medial groin defect. This case highlights a large defect in the medial groin of the left leg following excision of a fungating tumor. (a) Defect medial thigh. (b) Left and right: pedicled ALT raised on same leg, surface markers for perforators is the middle third along a line drawn between the anterior superior iliac spine and the lateral edge of the

patella. (c) Left: raised ALT flap showing perforator pedicle. Right: tunnel for ALT to be passed through to reach medial thigh defect. (d) Left: lateral thigh donor site defect. Right: this can generally be closed directly up to 8 cm. (e) Left and right: sutured pedicled ALT flap with donor site drain in situ. (f) Results at 4 weeks



Fig. 35.4 (continued)

Table 35.5	Sural	flap
------------	-------	------

Sural	
Flap attributes	Fasciocutaneous ± muscle
Artery	Perforating branches of medial sural artery as well as perforators from the peroneal artery, 1–2 mm diameter
Vein	Similar size to artery
Pedicle	3 mm, although reverse sural flap 10–15 cm
Nerve	Sural nerve can be harvested

latter flap gives a 5-10 cm pedicle with an artery diameter less than 2 mm. The posterior cutaneous nerve of the thigh can be harvested with the flap.

2. Tensor Fascia Lata (TFL)

Useful as a pedicled or free flap, the thin muscle belly and long fascial extension allow this flap to be used in a multitude of scenarios, as well as it being an expendable muscle unit in the majority (Table 35.6). Able to reach the umbilical region, perineum, ischium, and groin, it can incorporate skin to cover defects in the proximal lower limb, as well as iliac bone for osteomusculocutaneous coverage. When planning its dissection, the TFL flap is designed along a line between the anterior superior iliac spine and the lateral femoral condyle. The lateral femoral cutaneous nerve can be harvested to provide a sensate flap and enters the region of the flap just above the greater trochanter between the gluteus medius and gluteus minimus muscles (Fig. 35.6).


Fig. 35.5 (a) Cement burn to knee exposing patella and extensor apparatus of knee. (b) Saphenous flap drawn. (c) Saphenous flap dissected. (d) Transposed fasciocutaneous flap over exposed knee structures. (e) Transposed flap. (f)

Three weeks postoperative. (g) Six months postoperative showing healed flap and sheet skin graft to donor site medially

Table 35.6	TFL flap
------------	----------

Tensor fascia	a lata (TFL)
Flap	Muscle flap but can be harvested with
attributes	skin paddle
	Beware lateral knee instability in the
	athletic patient
Artery	Ascending, or Transverse, branch of
	lateral femoral circumflex artery
	(profunda femoral trunk)
	1–3 mm
Vein	Vein travels with artery draining into
	lateral femoral circumflex
Pedicle	5–10 cm
Nerve	Lateral cutaneous nerve of the thigh

3. Gracilis

A pedicled and innervated gracilis flap is useful in perineal and ischial coverage, but its relative lack of functional deficit on removal means its use as a free flap for the lower leg cannot be underestimated (Table 35.7). It allows purely lower limb anesthesia, and its small size does not cause gross contour changes in its final location. It is raised from its main pedicle, the terminal branch of the medial circumflex femoral artery. Although a consistent flap (the muscle lies posterior and



Fig. 35.6 (a) Ischial pressure sore. (b) Marking for pedicled tensor fascia lata muscle flap. Pedicle found at proximal and middle third junction along an axis drawn from anterior superior iliac spine and the lateral femoral con-

dyle. (c) Raised pedicled TFL. (d) Transposition to defect showing donor site wound. (e) Wound coverage by transposition of pedicled flap. (f) Closure of donor wound.

Gracilis	
Flap	Muscle flap
attributes	Generally can cover 6×20 cm wounds
	Can be harvested as a transverse upper gracilis (TUG) flap to include a skin paddle of up to 11 × 25 cm
Artery	Gracilis vessels from medial femoral circumflex system (profunda femoral artery branch)
	1–2 mm
Vein	Two venae, can be bigger than artery
Pedicle	6 cm
Nerve	Nerve to gracilis (branch of obturator nerve)

Table 35.7 Gracilis flap

Table 35.8 Soleus flap

Soleus		
Flap	Muscle flap	
attributes	Both muscle bellies can be utilized but generally medial belly is preferred as reliable blood supply, and	
	hemisoleus maintains foot plantar flexion strength	
Artery	Medial half has reliable medial perforators from posterior tibial artery	
	1.5–2 mm diameter	
Vein	Similar size to artery	
Pedicle	5-15 cm, generally used as a pedicled flap but can be proximally or distally based	
Nerve	N/A	

Table 35.9 Gastrocnemius flap

Gastrocnemius		
Flap attributes	Muscle flap	
	Both muscle bellies can be utilized but generally medial belly is used (larger)	
Artery	Medial sural artery (medial belly) from popliteal artery	
	1–4 mm	
Vein	Two venae or medial sural vein draining into the popliteal vein (medial belly)	
Pedicle	2-5 cm (short) generally used as a local pedicled muscle flap but can be used free	
Nerve	Medial and lateral branches to muscle bellies from posterior tibial nerve	

parallel to a line drawn between the pubic tubercle and the medial tibial epicondyle) it can often be too small to cover more severe defects of the lower limb, with any skin paddle unreliable when using the more distal skin of the thigh. For this reason, it is often useful to locate the distal insertion of the gracilis tendon before finalizing the design of a musculocutaneous flap if this is required.

4. Soleus

Used for defects of the middle third of the lower leg, soleus can be split to form a hemisoleus flap, thanks to its dual pedicle supply and bipennate morphology (Table 35.8) [36]. Due to an increased risk of substantial ankle flexion weakness alongside loss of lower limb venous return through the muscle, its use has been criticized [37].

5. Gastrocnemius

The two origins of this muscle allow separate muscle or musculocutaneous flaps to be raised on separate pedicles, along the lateral or medial sural arteries (Table 35.9). The cutaneous defect can be unsightly, so it is preferred to harvest as a muscle flap and cover this with a skin graft. Useful for distal femur, proximal tibia, and knee coverage, it may be advanced minimally to allow coverage over the Achilles tendon or rotated to the mid-tibia, thanks to the anastomosis across the muscular raphe. The gastrocnemius flap can only be employed in scenarios where soleus is intact as rehabilitation and walking are dependent on ankle plantar flexion (Fig. 35.7).

6. Vastus Lateralis

This muscle provides a musculocutaneous flap which offers no great deficit in ambulation which is not afforded by flaps raised using the rectus femoris muscle for hip and proximal thigh defects. The latter is now more utilized for abdominal defects, and the ALT flap supersedes both, using the same pedicle without the donor site morbidity of taking the muscles below.

35.5.5.4 Other Flap Choices

Free osteocutaneous flap options include, but are not limited to:

- 1. Iliac osteocutaneous flap (Table 35.10)
- Vascularized rib transfer ± serratus anterior and/or latissimus dorsi
- 3. Fibula osteocutaneous flap (Table 35.11)
- 4. Radial osteocutaneous flap (Table 35.12)

35.5.6 Choice of Reconstruction: By Anatomical Location of Injury

Anatomical zone of injury is a key determinant of introducing a more reliable pedicled flap to a wound bed. Many authors have stated success with varying options, and different flaps may be more suitable in a particular surgeons' expertise and personal experience.

The gluteal and the thigh regions, due to their option as free flap choice, allow great versatility in regard to local flaps. V-Y, bipedicled, and keystone flaps are all utilized with good outcomes (Fig. 35.8) (Table 35.13) [38].

The upper thigh and groin have a multitude of options. Most of the thigh flaps described before will reach groin to knee as pedicled options, with the sartorius being a further muscle or musculocutaneous option. The sartorius muscle is often "switched" to reduce dead space and protect the femoral vessels when performing groin or inguinal node-basin dissections.

Due to the unique anatomy of the knee, reconstruction of the soft tissues has been

attempted with both local and free flaps, the choice being more dependent on surrounding tissue availability and the amount of bony and soft tissue injury [39].

The knee and popliteal region can be covered by pedicled gastrocnemius, or proximally based hemisoleus, flaps [40, 41]. Significant tissue coverage here is important as loss of the extensor mechanism of the knee can have long-term functional consequences. Improved microsurgery has allowed the use of the genicular arteries as recipient vessels, minimizing trauma to the popliteal and femoral vessels [42].

The tibia provides a unique challenge as it not sheathed in a muscle coat, for instance, the femur, and consequently inhabits a poorly vascularized environment predisposing it to nonunion and infection. The tibialis anterior muscle, if not involved in the zone of injury, can be split to cover small defects over the bone. This can be done in a bipedicled turn-over or "book flap" design. As well as in traumatic injuries, it should be noted that sarcomas involving the tibial bone are not uncommon.

The proximal tibia is usually well placed to be covered with local flaps involving the gastrocnemius or soleus muscles.

The mid-tibia defect can also be covered using a combination medial hemisoleus and gastrocnemius flap, with an aim of maintaining the Achilles tendon and posterior tibial vessels to allow ankle plantar flexion post reconstruction [43] with the author also describing his use of the medial hemisoleus [44] and the reversed hemisoleus flap for distal tibia defects [45].

The middle and distal tibia defect has also been salvaged using the osteocutaneous fibula flap with good results, both as a pedicled and free flap [46–48]. The fibula's blood supply allows the bone to be hinged using osteotomy sites as needed, providing the periosteum is kept intact as the source of blood supply. This can be doublebarreled for reconstruction of long-bone defects, such as the femur. Another option is distraction osteogenesis. After removing the dead or infected bone of the tibia, achieving closure of the soft tissue, which is made easier with the shortened limb, the bone can be then distracted, often by as



Fig. 35.7 (a) Defect to anterior knee region following chronic wound after total knee replacement. (b) Following debridement of necrotic tissue. (c) Pedicled gastrocnemius muscle flap brought from donor to tunnel and pulled

through defect – anterior view. (d) Posterior flap view. (e) Muscle flap in situ – graft required as only muscle flap harvested. (f) Closure of donor site with donor site drain in situ

Iliac osteocu	Iliac osteocutaneous/DCIA		
Flap attributes	Iliac crest bone with adjacent periosteum, iliacus muscle ± skin paddle Useful if fibula option is not viable		
Artery	Deep circumflex iliac artery, branch of the external iliac artery 1.5–3 mm caliber vessel		
Vein	Usually larger than artery, draining into the saphenous vein		
Pedicle	4–7 cm, dependent on harvest technique of bone and or skin paddle and whether common DCIA/SCIA trunk		
Nerve	N/A		

Table 35.10 Iliac osteocutaneous/DCIA flap

 Table 35.11
 Fibula osteocutaneous flap

Fibula osteo	ocutaneous
Flap	Fibula none with adjacent periosteum and
attributes	muscle to improve skin flap reliability of
	up to 5 cm width to allow primary closure
	Preserve lower 6 cm of fibula for ankle
	function. Up to 25 cm bone able to be
	harvested
	Peroneal nerve in close proximity to
	proximal region of bone
	Check intact vascular arch supply to
	lower limb
Artery	Peroneal artery
	1–4 mm caliber vessel
Vein	Two venae, draining into posterior tibial veins
Pedicle	Generally short length but can be
	increased up to 12 cm by using distal
	bone and dissecting free of proximal
	fibula
Nerve	Lateral sural nerve can be harvested

Table 35.12	Radial	(osteocutaneous)	forearm	flap
-------------	--------	------------------	---------	------

Radial (osteo	ocutaneous) forearm
Flap	Fasciocutaneous ± tendon (palmaris
attributes	$longus) \pm bone (radius)$
	Skin paddle up to 10×40 cm
	Check intact vascular arch supply to
	hand
Artery	Radial artery with perforators
	2–4 mm
Vein	Subcutaneous venous system +/-
	cephalic vein
	Venae comitantes of the radial artery are
	also harvested but can be too small
Pedicle	12 cm
Nerve	Superficial radial nerve or antebrachial
	nerves (medial/lateral) can be harvested



Fig. 35.8 Arterial axis of the groin region showing arterial pedicles for the main pedicle and free flap options in this region

Tab	le 3	35.	.13	Α	variety	of	flaps
-----	------	-----	-----	---	---------	----	-------

	Perforating	
Artery	(typically)	Flap
Deep circumflex iliac artery		Iliac osteocutaneous flap
Superficial circumflex iliac Artery		Groin flap
Medial femoral circumflex Artery		Gracilis and TUG flap (Medial thigh/ groin flap)
Lateral femoral circumflex Artery	Ascending Transverse	Tensor fascia lata flap
	Descending	Anterolateral thigh flap Rectus femoris/ vastus lateralis

	Perforating branch	
Artery	(typically)	Flap
Profunda femoris (deep femoral) artery	1	Supplies adductor magnus muscle and overlying skin
	2	Lateral thigh flap
	3	Posterior thigh flap (as described by Song [37])
	4 (terminal)	
Superficial femoral artery		Supplies skin paddle over region of anterior thigh
		Sartorius

much as 1 mm a day, using external fixation. This can help to re-lengthen the bone over time which stretches the soft tissue envelope over it and reducing long-term disability.

This region can also be reached by fasciocutaneous flaps based on the peroneal and posterior tibial artery perforators described previously (Figs. 35.9 and 35.10).

The lower third of the lower leg, heel, and hind foot are technically challenging areas to cover. Options include the reverse saphenous and sural flaps. The saphenous flap provides a reliable and versatile option for the medial and anterior lower leg, as well as the hind foot and malleolar region [49]. The sural fasciocutaneous flap has successfully been used to reconstruct tissue loss in these areas. The distally based sural flap is safe, reliable, and operatively quick to perform negating free flap reconstruction [50]. However, this flap may be limited by the size of the defect, reasonably covering an area up to 10 cm square. Other flaps utilized in this region include the lateral calcaneal artery flap which can be transposed to cover the Achilles tendon which can be raised as a fasciocutaneous flap to cover defects up to 4 cm in size. Otherwise, local muscle coverage of the Achilles and malleolar region is fairly limited.

The plantar region of the foot has two distinct zones in terms of function: the weight-bearing and the non-weight-bearing. The former is made up of the heel, the head of the metatarsals, and the lateral strip adjoining them. The toe pulps to a lesser degree are used in some positions of gait for weight-bearing too. Evolution has allowed these areas to become hyper-keratinized, and there is increased strong fibrous attachments to the skin to deal with the repeated trauma. This needs to be taken into account when replacing defects of this region as thin grafts may do well in the non-weight-bearing zones but stand little chance when reconstructing the heavier loaded sites, and a repeatedly ulcerated reconstruction may be of poorer use to a patient than an amputation if the heel and weight-bearing zones have been degloved.

Heel defects in particular present a difficult area to reconstruct, being the main weightbearing zone. Delayed reverse sural flaps have been used successfully in cases of distal tibial and calcaneal fracture with neurofasciocutaneous coverage, improving long-term function and rehabilitation. The perforator supply to the suralbased flap allows numerous options, allowing reduced donor morbidity [51].

The dorsal foot and ankle are likewise difficult to reconstruct due to a functional lack of tissue around this site. Distal-based lateral supramalleolar adipofascial flaps have been described, providing less bulky flaps although requiring grafting of the transposed flap and covering only small defects [52]. They may also reduce long-term ulcer formation due to some retained sensation compared to the majority of free flap reconstructions.

The anterior tibial artery provides an adipofascial flap suitable for coverage over the malleolar regions [53]. Generally, if the paratenon is present, a skin graft is adequate, although there can be long-term pain and wound issues similar to those seen in dorsalis pedis donor site surgery. The temporoparietal fascial flap is a particularly unbulky flap which is ideal for this region.

Foot coverage has been successfully performed using sural artery, lateral calcaneal arterybased, extensor digitorum brevis muscle rotation, and abductor hallucis muscle rotation flaps (Table 35.14) [54–56]. The latter is of use in smaller defects of the medial foot, but does not reach the medial malleolus. It is based on the medial plantar artery and nerve. The lateral plan-



Fig. 35.9 (a) Anterior open tibial fracture with tissue loss. (b) Peroneal (fibular) artery fasciocutaneous perforator marked. (c) Pedicled perforator flap mobilized over

open fracture and donor defect reconstructed with skin graft. (d) Left and right: patient at 3 months



Fig. 35.10 (a) Open tibial fracture with dissected posterior tibial perforator flap (perforator marked). Note expansion of donor wound to be taken into account for donor site closure. (b) Fasciocutaneous perforator flap "propel-

lered" laterally to cover bony defect. (**c**–**d**) Flap sited and donor site grafted. (**e**) Outcome at 2 weeks with healed flap and healing graft

Table 35.14	EDB flap
-------------	----------

Extensor digitorum brevis		
Flap	Muscle flap, generally used as pedicled flap	
attributes	4×5 cm	
	Use of medial slip of EDB also known as	
	extensor hallucis brevis	
Artery	Lateral tarsal artery and branch to extensor	
	hallucis brevis, both branches of dorsalis	
	pedis	
Vein	Venae associated with dorsalis pedis or	
	anterior tibial artery	
Pedicle	Short, can be extended by following	
	anterior tibial arteriovenous system	
Nerve	Deep peroneal nerve (branch of)	

tar artery supplies the abductor digiti minimi which can be utilized to cover smaller lateral foot and heel defects.

Dorsalis pedis-based flaps are also often considered in the foot including variations arising from the first dorsal and plantar metatarsal arteries (Table 35.15) [57]. The dorsalis pedis offers a thin pliable free flap but unfortunately does result in a greater donor site morbidity. It has also been commented as absent in up to 15% of the population! A strong palpable pulse may be the only examination required; otherwise, angiography

Dorsalis pedis		
Flap	Fasciocutaneous flap	
attributes	Donor site morbidity as most defects need	
	grafting and blood supply to foot	
	diminished	
Artery	Dorsalis pedis artery (leave the deep	
	plantar arch to supply the foot)	
	1–2 mm	
Vein	Subcutaneous venous system (superficial	
	dorsal arch) draining into greater	
	saphenous vein medially and lesser	
	saphenous vein laterally	
Pedicle	Up to 3 cm	
Nerve	Superficial peroneal nerve	

Table 35.15Dorsalis pedis flap

Table 35.16 Medial plantar flap

Medial plantar		
Flap	Fasciocutaneous flap	
attributes	Up to 2 cm width can be closed directly	
Artery	Medial plantar artery	
	1–2 mm	
Vein	Subcutaneous venous system draining	
	into saphenous vein	
	Medial plantar vein often harvested but	
	very small	
Pedicle	Up to 3 cm	
Nerve	Cutaneous sensory branch from	
	posterior tibial nerve	

may be beneficial. It should be noted that the defect created does in the mainstay need grafting and due to the location and reduced blood supply can result in tender chronic wound breakdowns. This a type B fasciocutaneous flap.

Medial plantar flaps, both described as free or pedicled, have also been reported as successful in plantar forefoot repair, giving a sensate region which is preferential in the weight-bearing regions (Table 35.16) [58]. These are a variant on the abductor hallucis brevis flap utilizing the same pedicle as required with or without muscle.

Free flaps are generally a reliable option, with a specialist team, for both traumatic and nontraumatic defects. The serratus anterior, latissimus dorsi, lateral arm, rectus abdominis (including the deep and inferior epigastric perforator flaps), and parascapular free flaps can be added to those described above, with good results in both adult and child populations [59, 60].

It has been noted that the latissimus dorsi and rectus abdominis muscle flaps offer a more reli-

Table 35.17 LD) flap
-----------------------	--------

Latissimus dorsi (LD) (Fig. 35.11)	
Flap attributes	Muscle flap, can be harvested with skin paddle Can cover defects up to 20 × 40 cm size Used as a free flap for lower limb reconstruction
Artery	Thoracodorsal artery, from subscapular artery 1–3 mm
Vein	Venae comitantes, similar size to artery
Pedicle	From 5 to 15 cm
Nerve	Thoracodorsal nerve

able flap option with the less microsurgically experienced team than the anterolateral thigh flap (Table 35.17) [61]. It should be noted that these can be quite bulky flaps when transferred. The former has lost some of it's 'workhorse flap' function as thinner flaps have been utilised as well as the increased surgical time in rolling the patient for access to the back and the shoulder dysfunction post-operatievely which can impede the use of crutches in rehabilitation of the lower limb trauma.

In scenarios where a large defect is unable to be covered by a pedicled flap and there is contraindication to a free flap (included only one intact vascular axis), particularly in the heel region, the cross-leg flap has been used with reasonable results, using the medial saphenous flap with a mean division time of 27 days (Fig. 35.12) [62]. The cross-leg flaps have also been described [63], as well as scenarios where free flaps have been taken from one amputated limb to cover severe tissue loss of an intact lower limb.

Another option for the severely injured limb is the fillet flap. Utilizing the "spare parts" concept, tissue of non-salvageable limbs including amputations can be used to reconstruct complex defects of other regions of the body [64]. The use of fillet flaps works on the basis of axial pattern flaps of composite tissues. Pedicled and free flap options are dependent on the viable tissue but can minimize the need for more proximal amputation or help to lengthen limb, as well as reducing further donor site formation. Examples of these would include using toe or foot tissue to reconstruct foot and ankle defects, the fillet foot flap harvesting the entire soft tissue envelope of the foot raised on the dual pedi-



Fig. 35.11 Massive soft tissue defect to open tibia following road traffic incident. (a) Defect after first debridement and external fixator in situ. (b) Debrided wound with

tibial pin in situ. (c) Free latissimus dorsi muscle flap harvested from back and side-to-side anastomosis to posterior tibial artery. (d) Meshed graft to muscle flap

cle of the dorsal pedis and posterior tibial arteries. These need to both be included if plantar and dorsal skin is utilized as the deep plantar branch does not often allow adequate perfusion to both regions if only one vessel is anastomosed. This can also be sensate using the sensory portions of the tibial nerve. It is harvested at a deeper plane to the dorsalis pedis artery flap to allow a greater padding (often of the amputation stump) and easier dissection – often the extensor tendons being included and the plantar aspect being dissected straight off the bone. If the fillet flap is not a viable option, skin grafts can also be taken from the tissue as necessary.

35.5.7 Choice of Reconstruction: Alternatives and Adjuncts to a FLAP

35.5.7.1 Amputation

Amputation is an option for both traumatic and chronic wounds of the lower limb with them being generally taken electively at foot, ankle,



Fig. 35.12 Cross-leg flap for right leg defect prior to flap division

below-knee, or above-knee levels. Current consenus is for a trans-tibial or transfemoral level with the former thought to involve less physical effort and a superior quality of life.

There are few absolute indications for a primary lower limb amputation, them being a total leg amputation or sciatic nerve transection in an adult or the presence of irretrievable devascularization. An avascular limb with warm ischaemia time longer than 4-6 hours, two muscle compartment involvement with segmental muscle loss or segmental bone loss greater than one-third of the tibial length are also indicative of poor salvagability and primary amputation considered.

Other relative contraindications have been discussed but would include life-threatening multi-trauma, an insensate or degloved plantar foot, the crushed foot, extensive loss or multiple bone and joint disruptions, and multilevel injuries. The insensate sole often predisposed amputation but it is now thought to be an often common clinical finding and may often be in relation to neuropraxia and if a query exists the nerve should be explored. Transection of the tibial nerve may weigh towards amputation and continuity away from amputation. The very poor potential rehabilitation patient also requires specific consideration, and it has been shown that there is a failure for elective elderly patients (>55 years of age) to regain baseline function after 6 months, particularly in patients having a higher amputation level, poor baseline cognitive function, and high comorbidity including diabetes or advanced peripheral vascular disease [65]. Any decision for primary amputation should be preferably made by two consultant surgeons with patient and family involvement when able.

Similarly, above-knee amputation has been seen to have a larger impact on war victims compared with below-knee and through-knee amputation and requires greater energy expenditure to later mobilize [4, 66]. The normal below-knee amputation level is 6 cm below the knee joint, but any below-knee tissue may be of benefit as compared to a standard above-knee amputation if the choice is there.

Early distal amputation may also help minimize the need for major limb amputation as a definitive therapy [67], particularly after misguided reconstruction attempts which include significant morbidity [68, 69].

Hertel et al. [70] compared amputation versus patients undergoing complex microvascular reconstruction. They found an increased number of interventions (8 vs 3.5, p < 0.009) and rehabilitation time (30 vs 12 months, p < 0.009) in the reconstructed group, although this group retained their profession (81 vs 46%, p < 0.025) and required a less costly and lifelong invalidity pension (16 vs 54%, p < 0.02). There was no great difference in the cost of different interventions. Indications for amputation remain those having a fully severed limb or posterior tibial nerve (loss of foot plantar sensation), with a poor pre-injury health history, > 8 cm segmental tibial loss, or a limb ischemia time greater than 6 hours [4, 70].

There have been multiple attempts at guiding the choice of salvage and reconstruction versus primary amputation with the use of injury severity scoring systems. These include the following: the Mangled Extremity Severity Score (MESS) (Table 35.18) [71], the Predictive Salvage Index (PSI) [72], the Hanover Fracture Scale 1998 (HFS-98) [73], the Limb Salvage Index (LSI) [74], and the Nerve injury, Ischemia, Soft tissue injury, Skeletal injury, Shock, Age system (NISSSA) [75]. These have all been evaluated in their use to describe a recommended threshold for primary amputation in the adult trauma population. As with the majority of predictive index scores, they all have limitations, being difficult to apply, failing to define functional versus viability of limb as successful, or to predict those that fail in salvage techniques and result in delayed amputation.

The importance of the allied health professionals should not be underestimated. Contracture formation can severely hamper future mobility, and so physiotherapy and the avoidance of joint contractures are imperative. Likewise, in both the reconstructed and amputated limb, the transition from inactivity to a rehabilitated patient can be a long road, and therapy should be introduced at an early stage, even when the patient is still bed bound. Occupational and physical therapists will work together on improving, maintaining, and optimizing the patient's rehabilitation.

The amputation stump is prone to chronic pain and wound breakdown, often due to a combination of poorer blood supply and sensory input, changed pressure points, and residual limb swelling. These problems can be exasperated by a poorly fitting or maintained prosthesis, and so regular orthotic or prosthetic input is important. Prosthetics are generally well tolerated in the proactive patient and often allow a return to a high quality of functionality.

35.5.7.2 Negative-Pressure Wound Therapy

This has been documented for its use in wound coverage until definitive therapy is decided or indicated [5], as well as helping to reduce the size of wound, allowing free flap reconstruction of the massive lower limb wound, or the passage down

Tissue injury	Characteristics	Details	Points
1	Low energy	Stab wound, simple closed fracture, small caliber firearm	1
2	Medium energy	Multiple/open fractures, dislocation, moderate crush injury	2
3	High energy	High caliber/velocity firearm, shotgun	3
4	Massive crush	Logging, railroad, oil rig accidents	4
Shock group			
1	Normotension	BP stable	0
2	Transient hypotension	BP unstable but responding to resuscitation	1
3	Prolonged hypotension	SBP <90 mmHg and responding to resuscitation only when in theatre	2
Ischemia			
group			
1	None	Pulse without signs of ischemia	0
2	Mild	Diminished pulse without signs of ischemia	1
3	Moderate	No pulse on Doppler, prolonged capillary refill, paresthesia, diminished motor activity	2
4	Advanced	Pulseless	3
Age group			
1	<30 years		0
2	30-50 years		1
3	>50 years		2

Table 35.18 Mangled Extremity Severity Score (MESS); this score was designed as a standard for deciding upon whether to salvage an extremity or whether to amputate, and its use has expanded

It considers four aspects of the injury: degree of soft tissue/skeletal injury, ischemia of the limb, the degree of hemodynamic shock, and the age of the patient. A MESS score of 7 or more indicates the need for amputation [71] the reconstructive ladder to the point of foregoing the need of even a local flap, something improving investigations and surgical technique is also allowing [76]. NPWT helps to reduce dessication of the wound tissues, promotes wound granulation and provides a dressing for the wound. It should not be used as a substitute for prompt debridement and lavage of the wound, but postdebridement their use can be useful in patients with significant comorbidity or with antibioticimpregnated cement beads where segmental bone loss of established infection exists. Also, improving investigations and surgical technique can limit the need for free flap reconstruction.

NPWT is also of benefit in its use after amputation and wound line dehiscence for healing the wound [60] and in aiding flap success [77].

35.5.8 The Future, Replantation, and Regeneration

Upper limb allotransplantation has already been performed in many units across the world. The long-term immunosuppression and length of transplant survival are still to be quantified, and we are still away from lower limb cases, which is a feasible but little practiced option. The main reason being that opposed to the diverse function and interaction required in the upper limb, prosthetics alternatives are widely acceptable. Achieving a sensate, painless limb with a stable stance and a functional gait is probably out with most units limits and as with replantation, transplants may well cause a protracted and frustrating for all those concerned. With the improvement of microvascular techniques, replantation of amputated lower limbs may become a reliable option with improved results in the future.

There is ongoing research into regenerative potential of the limb, knowing that some areas of the human body have this potential (e.g., finger pulp or liver). Certain lower vertebrate species (salamander and newt genomes) are able to regenerate an amputated limb including nerve, skin, and bone structures. However, stem cell research and tissue engineering are likely to produce a quicker alternative in both finding an answer to and a quicker time frame in aiding human limb reconstruction.

Stem cell research is likely to be the main future of regenerative medicine, and its application is already being performed with success in laboratory work. Adipose-derived stem cells have been shown to have a potential therapeutic potential in tissue repair, restoring muscle function and increasing perfusion in mouse-modeled peripheral artery disease [78].

Fat grafting has also been utilized as an adjunct to help improve healing in chronic wounds, although these would not be used in the acute trauma setting. Mesenchymal stem cells have been biologically augmented with sutures and have demonstrated increased biomechanical and failure strength in repair of rat Achilles tendons [79].

There are promising signs in the use of autologous platelet-rich plasma in patients with chronic wounds of the lower limb, including those secondary to critical limb ischemia. However, there is not enough data to support its treatment recommendations for tendon and muscle injuries at present [80].

Scaffolds are being developed to provide a three-dimensional framework mimicking the natural environment for specific cell types, in particular research looking at skin, bone, and cartilage cell types.

Dermal substitutes, or acellular dermal matrices, are gaining popularity in aiding soft tissue coverage with good results reported. Usually in association with skin grafting, these templates are used to help cover areas where, otherwise, skin grafts would fail (lack of paratenon and periosteum) and in conjunction with NPWT. They are also becoming useful as a wound closure option in the emergency situation, particularly in war injuries, both allowing delayed, or negating, flap reconstruction [81, 82]. At present, they are supported in the use of aiding healing or soft tissue coverage of the lower limb, although current data is limited [83]. Their future use may well be determined by their long term ability to allow better pliabilty over areas where movement is needed in particular coverage of joints.

Biomolecular studies into the growth of both the upper and lower limb are sure to highlight potential areas for future research. These are likely to involve the hedgehog and wingless-type (WNT) signaling pathways and fibroblast and insulin-like growth factors involved in limb development.

35.6 Conclusions

Lower limb surgery, in particular reconstruction, is important to restore and maintain both balance and ambulation. Loss of the lower limb is a possible outcome in trauma, malignancy treatment, diabetes, peripheral vascular disease, and neuropathy. After appropriate debridement, reconstruction of any wound has a significant impact on the patient and their family. The salvage of the limb is preferred to amputation, reportedly being more cost-effective over the patient's lifetime [84].

Soft tissue coverage must be wound and area specific, involving the patient and a multidisciplinary approach as the unmotivated, poor preinjury ambulatory patient with multiple comorbidities is likely to have poorer outcomes.

The reconstruction ladder offers options, and the improvement in both pedicled and free flap microsurgery has made these the mainstay of therapy options. The choice of coverage should be determined by reliability, rather than ease of a procedure, and should be the least disabling with the future likely to provide pharmaceutical and engineered adjuncts to help reach these aims.

Acknowledgments Special thanks to Omar Quaba and Alex Munnoch, Consultant Plastic and Reconstructive Surgeons for use of images.

References

- Schulte E, Schumacher U. The lower limb. In: Schuenke M, Schulte E, Schumacher U, Ross LM, Lamperti ED, Voll M, editors. General anatomy and musculoskeletal system. NY: Thieme Atlas of Anatomy, Thieme; 2006. p. 360.
- Taylor SM, Kalbaugh CA, Blackhurst DW, Hamontree SE, Cull DL, Messich HS, Robertson RT, Langan EM 3rd, York JW, Carsten CG 3rd, Snyder BA, Jackson

MR, Youkey JR. Preoperative clinical factors predict postoperative functional outcomes after major lower limb amputation: an analysis of 553 consecutive patients. J Vasc Surg. 2005;42(2):227–35.

- American College of Surgeons Committee on Trauma: Resources for Optimal Care of the Injured Patient. https://www.facs.org/quality-programs/trauma/vrc/ resources Accessed 1 Oct 2017.
- 4. British Association of Plastic Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgeons. Standards for the management of open fractures of the lower limb, a short guide. Guidelines 2009. www.necn.nhs.uk/wp.../05/Open-Fractures-of-the-Lowerlimbp-Guidelines-BOA.pdf. Accessed 1 Oct 2017.
- Rodriguez ED, Bluebond-Langner R, Copeland C, Grim TN, Singh NK, Scalea T. Functional outcomes of posttraumatic lower limb salvage: a pilot study of anterolateral thigh perforator flaps versus muscle flaps. J Trauma. 2009;66(5):1311–4.
- Kolbenschlag J, Hellmich S, Germann G, Megerle K. Free tissue transfer in patients with severe peripheral arterial disease: defects. J Reconstr Microsurg. 2013;29(9):607–14.
- Ponten B. Events leading to the rediscovery of the fasciocutaneous flap. In: Hallock GG, editor. Fasciocutaneous flaps. Boston: Blackwell ScientIfic Publications; 1992. p. 10–2.
- Ponten B. The fasciocutaneous flap: its use in soft tissue defects of the lower leg. Br J Plast Surg. 1981;34:215–20.
- Taylor GI, Chubb DP, Ashton MW. True and 'choke' anastomoses between perforator angiosomes: part i. anatomical location. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2013;132(6):1447–56.
- Igari K, Kudo T, Toyofuku T, Jibiki M, Inoue Y, Tanaka K, Okazaki M. Combined arterial reconstruction and free tissue transfer for patients with critical limb ischemia. Ann Vasc Dis. 2013;6(4):706–10.
- Briggs SE, Banis JC Jr, Kaebnick H, Silverberg B, Acland RD. Distal revascularization and microvascular free tissue transfer: an alternative to amputation in ischemic lesions of the lower extremity. J Vasc Surg. 1985;2(6):806–11.
- Greenwald LL, Comerota AJ, Mitra A, Grosh JD, White JV. Free vascularized tissue transfer for limb salvage in peripheral vascular disease. Ann Vasc Surg. 1990;4(3):244–54.
- Mathes SJ, Nahai F. Classification of the vascular anatomy of muscles: experimental and clinical correlation. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1981;67:177–87.
- Cormack GC, Lamberty BGH. The arterial anatomy of skin flaps. 2nd ed. London: Churchill Livingstone; 1994.
- Biglari B, Büchler A, Reitzel T, Swing T, Gerner HJ, Ferbert T, Moghaddam A. A retrospective study on flap complications after pressure ulcer surgery in spinal cord-injured patients. Spinal Cord. 2014;52(1):80–3.
- Mackenzie DJ, Seyfer AE, Harvey EJ, Levin LS, Colen L, Uroskie T Jr. Reconstructive surgery: lower extremity coverage; skeletal reconstruction; foot

reconstruction. In: Mathes SJ, editor. Plastic surgery. Philadelphia: WB Saunders; 2006. p. 1355–453.

- Hallock GG. A paradigm shift in flap selection protocols for zones of the lower extremity using perforator flaps. J Reconstr Microsurg. 2013;29(4):233–40.
- Sheena Y, Jennison T, Hardwicke JT, Titley OG. Detection of perforators using thermal imaging. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2013;132(6):1603–10.
- Chubb DP, Taylor GI, Ashton MW. True and 'choke' anastomoses between perforator angiosomes: Part II. Dynamic thermographic identification. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2013;132(6):1457–64.
- Gir P, Cheng A, Oni G, Mojallal A, Saint-Cyr M. Pedicled perforator (propeller) flaps in lower extremity defects: a systematic review. J Reconstr Microsurg. 2012;28(9):595–601.
- Andrei R, Popescu SA, Zamfirescu D. Lower limb perforator propeller flaps-clinical applications. Chirurgia (Bucur). 2014;109(3):299–309.
- 22. Lei LG, He RX, Cheng P, Zhang JL, Qi DB. Free perforating flap of peroneal artery for repairing the forefoot skin defects. Zhongguo Gu Shang. 2013;26(8):634–6.
- Nelson JA, Fischer JP, Brazio PS, Kovach SJ, Rosson GD, Rad AN. A review of propeller flaps for distal lower extremity soft tissue reconstruction: Is flap loss too high? Microsurgery. 2013;33(7):578–86.
- Hauben DJ. Ernst Blasius's contributions to plastic surgery. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1984;74:561–70.
- Niran NS, Price RD, Govilkar P. Fascial feeder and perforator based V-Y advancement flaps in the reconstruction of lower limb defects. Br J Plast Surg. 2000;53(8):679–89.
- Granzow JW, Li A, Suliman A, Caton A, Goldberg M, Boyd JB. Bipedicled flaps in posttraumatic lowerextremity reconstruction. J Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg. 2013;66(10):1415–20.
- Chaput B, Herlin C, Espié A, Meresse T, Grolleau JL, Garrido I. The keystone flap alternative in posttraumatic lower-extremity reconstruction. J Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg. 2014;67(1):130–2.
- 28. Quaba AA, Davison PM. The distally-based dorsal hand flap. Br J Plast Surg. 1990;43:28–39.
- Wei FC, Mardini S. Free-style free flaps. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2004;114:910–6.
- Quaba O, Quaba A. Pedicled perforator flaps for the lower limb. Semin Plast Surg. 2006;20(2):104–11.
- Gayle LB, Lineaweaver WC, Buncke GM, Oliva A, Alpert BS, Billys JB, Buncke HJ. Lower extremity replantation. Clin Plast Surg. 1991;18(3):437–47.
- McGregor IA, Jackson IT. The groin flap. Br J Plast Surg. 1972;25:3–16.
- Song YG, Chen GZ, Song YL. The free thigh flap: a new free flap concept based on the septocutaneous artery. Br J Plast Surg. 1984;37(2):149–59.
- Ramirez OM, Swartz WM, Futrell JW. The gluteus maximus muscle: experimental and clinical considerations relevant to reconstruction in ambulatory patients. Br J Plast Surg. 1987;40:1–10.

- Ahmadzadeh R, Bergeron L, Tang M, Geddes CR, Morris SF. The posterior thigh perforator flap or profunda femoris artery perforator. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2007;119(1):194–200.
- Tobin GR. Hemisoleus and reversed hemisoleus flaps. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1985;76:87–96.
- Taylor GI, Pan WR. Angiosomes of the leg: anatomic study and clinical implications. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1998;102:599–616.
- Albu E, Aldea EA. Soft tissue reconstruction in the sacro-gluteal region after excision of a large verrucous carcinoma. Chirurgia (Bucur). 2013;108(5):729–31.
- Louer CR, Garcia RM, Earle SA, Hollenbeck ST, Erdmann D, Levin LS. Free flap reconstruction of the knee: an outcome study of 34 cases. Ann Plast Surg. 2015;74:57–63.
- Arnold P, Mixter R. Making the most of the gastrocnemius muscles. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1983;2:38–4.
- 41. Ahmad I, Akhtar S, Rashidi E, Khurram MF. Hemisoleus muscle flap in the reconstruction of exposed bones in the lower limb. J Wound Care. 2013;22(11):635.. 638–40, 642
- 42. Venkatramani H, Sabapathy SR, Nayak S. Free-flap cover of complex defects around the knee using the descending genicular artery as the recipient pedicle. J Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg. 2014;67(1):93–8.
- 43. Pu LL. Soft-tissue coverage of an extensive mid-tibial wound with the combined medial gastrocnemius and medial hemisoleus muscle flaps: the role of local muscle flaps revisited. J Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg. 2010;63(8):e605–10.
- 44. Pu LL. Further experience with the medial hemisoleus muscle flap for soft-tissue coverage of a tibial wound in the distal third of the leg. J Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg. 2008;121(6):2024–8.
- 45. Pu LL. The reversed medial hemisoleus muscle flap and its role in reconstruction of an open tibial wound in the lower third of the leg. Ann Plast Surg. 2006;56(1):59–63.
- 46. Yazar S, Lin CH, Wei FC. One-stage reconstruction of composite bone and soft-tissue defects in traumatic lower extremities. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2004;114(6):1457–66.
- Beris AE, Lykissas MG, Korompilias AV, Vekris MD, Mitsionis GI, Malizos KN, Soucacos PN. Vascularized fibula transfer for lower limb reconstruction. Microsurgery. 2011;31(3):205–11.
- 48. Hameed S, Ehtesham-ul-haq RH, Ahmed RS, Majid A, Waqas M, Aslam A, Yusuf O, Butt AM, Ali G. Use of vascularised free fibula in limb reconstruction (for non-malignant defects). J Pak Med Assoc. 2013;63(12):1549–54.
- 49. Lu S, Wang C, Wen G, Han P, Chai Y. Versatility of the greater saphenous fasciocutaneous perforator flap in coverage of the lower leg. J Reconstr Micro Surg. 2014;30(3):179–86.
- 50. Rudig LL, Gercek E, Hessmann MH, Müller LP. The distally based sural neurocutaneous island flap for coverage of soft-tissue defects on the distal

lower leg, ankle and heel. Oper Orthop Traumatol. 2008;20(3):252–61.

- Meng CH, Liang G, Sun JP. Utility of different levels of perforator based sural neurofasciocutaneous flaps in repairing lower limb defects. Zhongguo Gu Shang. 2013;26(8):631–3.
- 52. Lee YH, Rah SK, Choi SJ, Chung MS, Baek GH. Distally based lateral supramalleolar adipofascial flap for reconstruction of the dorsum of the foot and ankle. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2004;114(6):1478–85.
- Kilinc H, Bilen BT, Arslan A. A novel flap to repair medial and lateral malleolar defects: anterior tibial artery perforator-based adipofascial flap. Ann Plast Surg. 2006;57(4):396–401.
- 54. Boopalan PR, Nithyananth M, Titus VT, Cherian VM, Jepegnanam TS. Experience of using local flaps to cover open lower limb injuries at an Indian trauma center. J Emerg Trauma Shock. 2011;4(3):325–9.
- 55. Sirasanagandla SR, Swamy RS, Nayak SB, Somayaji NS, Rao MK, Bhat KM. Analysis of the morphometry and variations in the extensor digitorum brevis muscle: an anatomic guide for muscle flap and tendon transfer surgical dissection. Anat Cell Biol. 2013;46(3):198–202.
- Baltensperger MM, Ganzoni N, Jirecek V, Meyer VE. The extensor digitorum brevis island flap: possible applications based on anatomy. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1998;101:107–13.
- Earley MJ, Milner RH. A distally based first web flap in the foot. Br J Plast Surg. 1989;42:507–11.
- Lykoudis EG, Seretis K, Lykissas MG. Free sensate medial plantar flap for contralateral plantar forefoot reconstruction with flap reinnervation using end-toside neurorrhaphy: a case report and literature review. Microsurgery. 2013;33(3):227–31.
- Organek AJ, Klebuc MJ, Zuker RM. Indications and outcomes of free tissue transfer to the lower extremity in children: review. J Reconstr Micro Surg. 2006;22(3):173–81.
- Kang MJ, Chung CH, Chang YJ, Kim KH. Reconstruction of the lower extremity using free flaps. Arch Plast Surg. 2013;40(5):575–83.
- 61. Demirtas Y, Kelahmetoglu O, Cifci M, Tayfur V, Demir A, Guneren E. Comparison of free anterolateral thigh flaps and free muscle-musculocutaneous flaps in soft tissue reconstruction of lower extremity. Microsurgery. 2010;30(1):24–31.
- 62. Fitoussi F, Bajer B, Bégué T, Penneçot GF, Masquelet AC. The medial saphenous hetero (cross leg) flap in coverage of soft tissue defects of the leg and foot. Rec Chir Orthop Reparatrice Appar Mot. 2002;88(7):663–8.
- 63. Karşıdağ S, Akçal A, Turgut G, Uğurlu K, Baş L. Lower extremity soft tissue reconstruction with free flap based on subscapular artery. Acta Orthop Traumatol Turc. 2011;45(2):100–8.

- 64. Samir K, Shrirang P. Anurag. Double flap from amputated opposite lower limb for cover of plantar and dorsal surfaces of a crushed foot. Indian J Plast Surg. 2013;46(3):568–71.
- Vogel TR, Petroski GF, Kruse RL. Impact of amputation level and comorbidities on functional status of nursing home residents after lower extremity amputation. J Vasc Surg. 2014;59(5):1323–30.. e1.
- Penn-Barwell JG. Outcomes in lower limb amputation following trauma: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Injury. 2011;42(12):1474–9.
- Boffeli TJ, Thompson JC. Partial foot amputations for salvage of the diabetic lower extremity. Clin Pediatr Med Surg. 2014;31(1):103–26.
- 68. Bosse MJ, MacKenzie EJ, Kellam JF, Burgess AR, Webb LX, Swiontkowski MF, Sanders RW, Jones AL, McAndrew MP, Patterson BM, McCarthy ML, Travison TG, Castillo RC. An analysis of outcomes of reconstruction or amputation after leg-threatening injuries. N Engl J Med. 2002;347(24):1924–31.
- MacKenzie EJ. Long-term persistence of disability following severe lower-limb trauma. Results of a sevenyear follow-up. J Bone Joint Surg. 2005;87A(8):1801–9.
- Hertel R, Strebel N, Ganz R. Amputation versus reconstruction in traumatic defects of the leg: outcome and costs. J Orthop Trauma. 1996;10:223–9.
- Johansen K, Daines M, Howey T, Helfet D, Hansen ST. Objective criteria accurately predict amputation following lower extremity trauma. J Trauma. 1990;30(5):568–72.
- 72. Howe HR, Poole GV, Hansen KJ, Clark T, Plonk GW, Koman LA, Pennell TC. Salvage of lower extremities following combined orthopedic and vascular trauma. A predictive salvage index. Am Surg. 1987;53(4):205–8.
- Seekamp A, Köntopp H, Tscherne H. Hannover Fracture Scale '98–reevaluation and new prospects for an established score system. Unfallchirurg. 2001;104(7):601–10.
- 74. Russell WL, Sailors DM, Whittle TB, Fisher DF, Burns RP. Limb salvage versus traumatic amputation. A decision based on a seven part predictive index. Ann Surg. 1991;213(5):473–80.
- McNamara MG, Heckman JD, Corley FG. Severe open fractures of the lower extremity: a retrospective evaluation of the Mangled Extremity Severity Score (MESS). J Orthop Trauma. 1994;8(2):81–7.
- Hallock GG. Evidence-based medicine: lower extremity acute trauma. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2013;132(6):1733–41.
- Joethy J, Sebastin SJ, Chong AK, Peng YP, Puhaindra ME. Effect of negative-pressure wound therapy on open fractures of the lower limb. Singap Med J. 2013;54(11):620–3.
- Rybalko V, Hsieh PL, Ricles LM, Chung E, Farrar RP, Suggs LJ. Therapeutic potential of adipose-derived stem cells and macrophages for ischemic skeletal muscle repair. Regen Med. 2017;12(2):153–67.

- Tan EW, Schon LC. Mesenchymal stem cell-bearing sutures for tendon repair and healing in the foot and ankle. Foot Ankle Clin. 2016;21(4):885–90.
- Andia I, Maffulli N. Muscle and tendon injuries: the role of biological interventions to promote and assist healing and recovery. Arthroscopy. 2015;31(5):999–1015.
- Foong DP, Evriviades D, Jeffery SL. Integra[™] permits early durable coverage of improvised explosive device (IED) amputation stumps. J Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg. 2013;66(12):1717–24.
- 82. Helgeson MD, Potter BK, Evans KN, Shawen SB. Bioartificial dermal substitute: a preliminary report on its use for the management of complex combat-related soft tissue wounds. J Orthop Trauma. 2007;21(6):394–9.
- Iorio ML, Shuck J, Attinger CE. Wound healing in the upper and lower extremities: a systematic review on the use of acellular dermal matrices. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2012;130(5 Suppl 2):232S–41S.
- Kadam D. Limb salvage surgery. Indian J Plast Surg. 2013;46(2):265–74.



Correction to: The Regulatory Landscape of Cell- and Tissue-Based Regenerative Medicine: Current Challenges and Emerging Issues

Sarah Khalid Alageel, Martin Hildebrandt, and Ana Valéria Gouveia de Andrade

Correction to: D. Duscher, M. A. Shiffman (eds.), *Regenerative Medicine and Plastic Surgery*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19958-6_22

In the original version of Chapter 22 (pp. 229–243), Fig. 22.1 and Fig. 22.3 were inadvertently interchanged. The captions were correct. The figures are now paired with the correct captions.

The original version of this chapter has been revised.



Fig. 22.1 Classification of ATMPs according to EMA. (Adapted from Paul-Ehrlich-Institut Booklet [8])

The updated online version of this chapter can be found at https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19958-6_22



Fig. 22.3 Regulatory pathways and development phases for RM products in the USA. (Adapted from Sakai et al., 2017 [23] and FDA Regulations). CDER: Center for Drug Evaluation and Research, CBER: Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research, CDRH: Center for Devices and Radiological Health, IND: Investigative New Drug, IDE: Investigational Device Exemption, NDA: New Drug Application, BLA: Biologics Licence Application, PMA: Premarket Authorization, OCTGT: Office of Cellular, Tissue and Gene Therapies classification

Index

A

Abiotic prosthetic devices biofilm control strategies, 81 biofilm formation adsorption, 82 biofilm dispersal, 84 colony formation, 82-84 complications, 82 maturation, 84 stages, 83 biofilm infections catheters, 85-87 dental implants, 88 device-related infections, 85 endotrachael tubes (ETT), 87 intracardiac implants, 87 intrauterine/penile prosthetic devices, 87-88 microbial biofilms, 88 orthopedic implants, 87 periprosthetic joint infections (PJI), 87 phage coating, 90 therapeutic approach, 90 intracellular parasitic lytic agents, 82 microbial colonies, 81 microscopic, microbiological, and biochemical studies, 81 Above knee amputation, 452 Acellular dermal matrices (ADMs), 62 Ad hoc perforator, 436 Adipose-derived MSCs (AdSCs), 189 Adipose-derived stem cells (ASCs), 154, 454 Adipose tissue-derived stem cells (ADSC), 261 Adult mesenchymal stem cell (ASCs), 340 Adult stem cells, 61 Advanced therapy medicinal products (ATMPs), 230-232, 234-235, 238, 240, 241 Advanced trauma life support (ATLS) principles, 432 Agarose, 136 Alginate, 135 Allogeneic transplantation, 176-177 Allografts, 285, 403 Alpha-tocopherol, 413 Ameliorating tendon repair, 260

American Society of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgeons, 418 Amputation, 430 above knee amputation, 452 absolute indications, 452 complex microvascular reconstruction, 452 contracture formation, 453 contra-indications, 452 distal amputation, 452 indications, 452 injury severity scoring systems, 453 predictive index scores, 453 traumatic and chronic wounds, 451 Anaplastic large cell lymphoma (ALCL), 425 Anatomical zone of injury anterior tibial artery, 447 arterial pedicles, 446 cross leg flap, 450, 452 distal based lateral supramalleolar adipo-fascial flaps, 447 dorsalis pedis based flaps, 449, 450 fillet flap, 450, 451 foot coverage, 447 free flaps, 450 gluteal and thigh regions, 444 heel defects, 447 knee and popliteal region, 444 latissimus dorsi, 450 medial plantar flaps, 450 mid tibia defect, 444 middle and distal tibia defect, 444 peroneal and posterior tibial artery perforators, 447-449 plantar region, 447 proximal tibia, 444 rectus abdominis muscle flaps, 450 reverse saphenous and sural flaps, 447 upper thigh and groin, 444 V-Y, bipedicled and keystone flaps, 444 Angiogenesis, 165, 167, 169, 170 Anterior spinal iliac crest (ASIC), 350 Anterolateral thigh (ALT) flap, 437-439 Antero-medial thigh flap, 436

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019 D. Duscher, M. A. Shiffman (eds.), *Regenerative Medicine and Plastic Surgery*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19958-6 Anti-biofilm activity bacillus aneurinolyticus, 116 bacillus brevis, 116 bacillus safensis, 116 bacteriophages bacterial lysis, 113, 114 bacteriophage-encoded endolysins, 115 clinical applications, 114 clinical trials, 114 Cpl-1 and Cpl-7 lysozymes, 115 depolymerases, 114 endolysin MR-10, 115 Escherichia coli for, 114 gram-positive biofilm-related infections, 115 methicillin-resistant S. aureus (MRSA) biofilm, 114 murein hydrolase domain, 114 PlyGRCS, 115 polymer assembly, 113 SAP-2, 115 TTPAgp31, 115 TTPAgp44, 115 bifidobacteria, 117 endolysin MR-10, 115 Farnesol, 118 L. acidophilus, 116 L. fermentum, 117 L. kunkeei, 117 Lactobacillus salivarius, 117 lantibiotics, 117 lichens, 118, 119 Listeria monocytogenes, 117 mannoprotein, 118 mixed biofilms, 117 N-acetylmuramoyl-l-alanine amidase, 115 penicillium algidum, 118 plectosphaerella cucumerina, 118 sactibiotics, 117 sonorensin, 117 Spirulina platensis, 117 streptomyces hawaiiensis, 117 Antibiotic lock therapy (ALT), 93 Anti-Listeria phage cocktails, 75 Aquaphilus dolomiae, 161 Arterial anastomosis, 434 Artificial lymph nodes, 297 Artificial nerve guidance conduits, 403, 404 ATMP GMP Open Access Research Alliance (AGORA) group, 240 Attorney fees, 223 Autografts, 284, 398, 399 Autologous fat grafting (AFG), 247 Autologous platelet rich plasma, 454

B

Babysitter procedure, 401 Bacillus aneurinolyticus, 116 Bacillus brevis, 116 Bacillus safensis, 116

Bacterial biofilm formation, 306 Bacteriophage-encoded endolysins, 115 Bacteriophages abiotic prosthetic devices (see Abiotic prosthetic devices) antibacterial agents, 70 anti-biofilm phage treatments antibiotic resistance, 91, 92 CRISPR dependent biofilm inhibition, 92 Meropenem-phage and amikacin-phage combination, 91 phage cocktails, 91 phage enzybiotics, 91 phage modified polymeric substrates, 89-90 phage therapy, 91 phages and quorum sensing, 92 recombinant filamentous phages, 90 theranostics, 92 vaccine delivery agents, 92-93 antibiotics, 72 autodosing, 89 bacterial cell-bacteriophage interaction, 72 biofilms, 73 chloramphenicol, 76 classification, 71 current regulations, 75 genome sequence, 74 history, 70, 71 human applications, 75, 76 immunological response, 74 liquid-based phage skin disinfectants, 76 lysin, 73 lytic infections, 88 methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA), 69 non-human uses, 75 non-toxicity, 89 orally delivered phages, 73 perfect storm, 69, 70 phage control strategies, 93, 94 phage genetic engineering, 89 phage treatment, 73 phages, 73, 74 predator-prey relationship, 72 randomized controlled trial (RCT), 70 Shiga toxin production, 74 for skin infections, 76 skin infections in plastic surgery, 70 stability and formulation diversity, 89 strain specificity, 72 surgical site infection (SSI), 69, 70 tailed phages, 71 target specificity, 89 temperate phages, 72 therapeutic modality, 70 therapeutic option, 72 therapeutic preparations, 75 Baker classification, 411 Basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF), 261, 344 Bayh-Dole Act of 1980, 215

Benign tumor extirpations, 350 Berne Convention for the Protection of Literary and Artistic Works (1886), 222 Betamethasone valerate topical patch, 330 Beta tricalcium phosphate (β-TCP), 153 Beta-thalassemia, 205 Bioactive glasses or bioglasses, 287 Bioactive peptides, 130 Bioactive scaffolds, 130 Bioartificial lymph node, 297 Bio-electrical interfaces, 404-406 Biofilm control strategies, 81 **Bio-functionalization**, 305 Biointegrate silicone implants, 304 Biologic bovine-derived bone grafts, 153 Biological drug delivery therapies (BDDT), 260 **Biological integration**, 305 Biological tissue, 304 Biomaterials, 265 Biomimetic collagen hydrogels, 12 Biomimetics and biomimicry bone mineral components, 152, 153 bone regeneration, 151 cellular implants, 154 mechanical stability of implant, 152 recipient site, 151, 152 structural protein, 153, 154 Bionic reconstruction amputation and prosthetic fitting, 126-127 after avulsion injuries, 125 bionic hand reconstruction, 127 deafferentation pain, 127 hybrid hand, 126 myoelectric prosthetic device, 127 nerve conduction and EMG studies, 126 nerve regeneration period, 126 prosthetic device, 125 prosthetic replacement, 125 rehabilitation training, 126 BioPhotas, 416 Bioprinting, 263, 264 Bioresorbable plates, 359 Biotech investors, 218 Bi-pedicled flaps, 436 1,6-bis(phosphocholine)-hexane, 181, 182 Blunt dissection technique, 351 BMAC trocar system, 351 BMP + B MAC + allogeneic bone, 353 BMP receptor type-1b (BMPR-1b), 154 Bone marrow aspiration, 350, 351 Bone marrow-derived MSCs (BMSCs), 189 Bone mineral components, 152, 153 Bone morphogenetic protein (BMP), 153, 285, 289 Bone tissue engineering anatomy of bone tissue, 18 autogenous bone implants, 19 biodegradable tissue scaffolds, 17 biomaterials, 19-21, 23 bone tissue transplantation, 18 bone ultra-structure, 18

hAMSCs, 19 hydroxyapatite (HA), 18, 19 hydroxyapatite nanoparticles (HAp), 19 keratin-Collagen-nHA, 25–28 mechanical features of bone tissue, 18 regenerative capacities, 17 renewable materials, 17, 21, 22, 25 scaffold construction, 19, 20 scaffold fabrication techniques, 22 synthetic polymers, 20, 24 Brachial plexus lesions, *see* Bionic reconstruction Breast augmentation, 411 Burkholderia pseudomallei, 73 Burn wound, 329 Business model/commercialization, 217

С

Calvarium bone grafts, 286 Capsular contracture, 304 infection, 425, 426 surgical management (see Capsulectomy) Capsular contracture management Baker classification, 411 IV antibiotics, 412 herbal medication, 412 Keller funnel, 412 non-surgical options breast exercises, 412 external ultrasound, 415 LLLT, 415, 416, 418 Milk thistle (Silymarin), 414-415 Montelukast (Singulair), 414 vitamin E, 413 zafirlukast (Accolate), 413, 414 reported rates, 411 submuscular pocket, 412 textured implants, 412 triple antibiotic irrigation, 412 Capsulectomy Baker grade III or IV capsular contracture, 421 calcification of implant capsule, 421 capsule thickness, 420 change in volume of implant, 422 contraindications, 424, 425 delayed capsulectomy, 424 general indications, 419 implant replacement, 422 informed consent, 423 open capsulotomy, 423 operative time and technique, 422 position of existing and replacement implants, 419, 420 preoperative discussion, 423 risks and benefits, 418 ruptured silicone implants, 420 silicone granulomas, 420 smooth shell vs. textured shell of explanted implant, 421, 422 for subglandular contractures, 419 theory of biofilm, 418

Carbohydrate-based scaffolds applications, 132 architecture, 131 biocompatibility, 131 biodegradability, 131 choice of material, 132 ECM, 132 manufacturing technology, 131 mechanical properties, 131 polysaccharides, 132 Carbohydrates biocues, 137-142 cell adhesion cellobiose and cellotriose, 140 co-culture systems, 140 Coculture systems, 140 D- and L-glucose, 140 epitopes spatial presentation, 138 galactose, 138 glycosidic stereochemistry, 138 phytoglycans, 140 poly(e-caprolactone, PCL), 140, 141 polystyrene, 138, 139 small carbohydrate epitopes, 137, 140 stainless steel, 140 type-1 glucose transporter (GLUT-1), 138, 139 α -D-glucosides, 140 cell differentiation, 141, 142 Cathelicidin LL-37, 161 Catheter-associated urinary tract infections (CAUTI), 85, 93 Catheter-related bloodstream infections (CRBSI), 85, 93 CD105 (endoglin), 154 CD90 expression, 154 Cell-assisted lipotransfer, 340-341 Cell based therapy fat tissue defects, 262, 263 muscle, tendon, and ligament tissue defects, 262 nerve defects, 262 skin and subcutaneous tissue defects, 261, 262 Cell-free EmaCure technique, 263 Cell glycoengineering CD44 glycans, 145 cell surface glyco-engineering, 145 cell surface modification, 145 chemically modified liposomes, 143 CS-A, CS-C and CS-E, 143, 144 definition, 142 embryonic (E18) rat cortical neuron cell membranes, 143glyco-engineered cholesterylamine, 144 in vivo applications, 143 monosaccharide analogs, 142 N-butanoylmannosamine (ManBut), 143 sialic acid analog Ac5ManNTGc, 143 tetrasaccharide sialyl LeX (sLeX), 144 Cell surface markers, 154 Cellular implants, 154

Celluma, 416 Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research (CBER), 231 Center for Devices and Radiological Health (CDRH), 231 Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS), 216 Central line-associated bloodstream infections (CLABSI), 85-87 Ceramics, 287 Cerasorb, 153 Chest wounds, 324 Chin implantation, 313-314 Chitin, 134 ChondroCelect, 235 Chronic lymphedema, 293 Chronic wounds, 187 Ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF), 260 Clinical trials business model/commercialization, 217 commercialization process, 219, 220 de-risking technology, 216, 217 funding, 218, 219 ideation, 215 intellectual property, 215, 216 management team, 217 regulatory process, 216 reimbursement, 216 unmet clinical need, 214 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR), 233 Coleman technique, 264 Collagen, 22, 24, 202, 203 Collagen-originated biomaterials, 26 Committee for Advanced Therapies (CAT), 234 Committee for Medicinal Products (CHMP), 235 Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use (CHMP), 234 Complete decongestive therapy (CDT), 295 Composite biomimetic grafts, 153 Compression plates, 358 Compression therapy, 330, 334 Congenital hereditary lymphedema, 293 Corticosteroid injections, 331-333 Craniofacial deformities available therapies allografts, 285 autografts, 284 calvarium bone grafts, 286 degradability, 284 diverse grafts, 286 isografts, 285 osteoconductive grafts, 284 osteogenic grafts, 284 osteoinductivity, 284 reconstruction surgeries' methods, 284 vascularity and viability, 285 xenografts, 285 ceramics, 287 craniofacial dysostosis, 283

craniosynostosis, 283 embryonic stem cells, 288 growth factors, 288, 289 mesenchymal stem cells, 288 polymers, 286, 287 scaffolds, 286 tissue engineering approach, 286 Craniofacial dysostosis, 283 Craniofacial region, 283 Craniosynostosis, 283 C-reactive protein (CRP) B face (binding face), 177 1,6-bis(phosphocholine)-hexane, 177, 181 classical pathway, 175 conformational changes, 177, 178, 180 hsCRP, 175 inflammation marker, 175 IRI and allogeneic transplantation, 176, 177 ischemia/reperfusion injury, 173, 175, 176 mCRP accumulation, 179 pentraxin protein family, 177 phosphocholine, 175, 181 plasma concentrations, 175 regulation of, 173 severe burns, 176 therapeutic targeting of, 181 Cross-facial nerve grafting, 400, 401 Cross leg flap, 450, 452 Crouzon and Treacher Collins syndromes, 283 Crow's feet, 201 Cutaneous radial forearm free flap, 350 Cyclic-AMP binding protein (CBP), 204 Cysteinyl leukotrienes (CysLTs), 304, 305 Cytal® Burn matrix, 372, 374, 382 sheet, 382 treatment, 374 Cytal® 6-layer surgical matrix, 374 Cytal® surgical sheets, 369

D

D-amino acids, 116 Danger hypothesis, 177 Defend Trade Secrets Act (DTSA) 2016, 225 Defensins, 161 Defensive publications, 223, 224 Deferiprone (DFP), 206 Deferoxamine (DFO), 206, 260 Degenerative end traumatic injuries, 342 Delayed capsulectomy, 424 Dental follicle progenitor cells (DFPCs), 340 Dental implants, 88 Dental pulp stem cells (DPSCs), 338 Deprodone propionate tape (Eclar® plaster), 330 De-risking technology, 216, 217 Dermal substitutes/acelluar dermal matrices, 454 Dermicidin, 161 Device-related infections (DRI), 85

Dextran, 136 Diabetic wounds, 326 Dimethyloxalylglycine (DMOG), 205 Distal amputation, 452 Distal based lateral supramalleolar adipo-fascial flaps, 447 Distal electrical stimulation, 263 Doppler and anatomical landmark techniques, 435 Dorsalis pedis based flaps, 449, 450 Drug based therapy fat tissue defects, 261 muscle, tendon, and ligament tissue defects, 260 nerve defects, 260, 261 skin and subcutaneous tissue defects, 259, 260

E

ECM wound device therapy, 367 Elastic degradable polymers, 129 Elastin, 202, 203 Elastosis, 202 Electrical stimulation (ES), 263 Embrace[™] device, 42 Embryonic stem cells (ESCs), 288, 338 Endonasal technique, 314 Endothelial NOS (eNOS), 169 Endotrachael tubes (ETT), 87 Epidermal growth factor (EGF), 9 Epineural sleeve repair, 396, 398 Epineural sleeve technique, 396 Erythropoiesis, 166, 167 Erythropoietin (EPO) adverse effects, 166 definition, 165 effects after trauma, 165, 166 in humans, 167, 168 pro-regenerative effects in animal models, 167 receptors, 166 secondary burn progression prevention, 168 secondary reconstruction, 168-169 severely burned patients, 166, 167 Erythropoietin gene expression, 205 Escherichia coli, 114 European Compliance Academy (ECA), 240 European Medicines Agency (EMA), 221, 229, 234 European Patent Office, 224 European Society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation (EBMT), 240 European Union Tissue and Cells Directives (EUTCD), 234 Evernic acid, 119 Exopolymeric substances (EPS), 94 Extensor digitorum brevis (EDB) flap, 447, 449 External rhinoplasty approach, 315 Extracellular matrix (ECM), 61, 365 Extrinsic aging, 202 Ex-vivo reproduction, 338 Ex vivo skin culture, 162

F

Facial nerve dysfunction, 360 Facial nerve paralysis algorithm, 396, 397 bio-electrical interfaces, 404-406 clinical decision making, 396 communication, 395 diagnosis, 395, 396 emotion and social interaction, 395 functional electrical stimulation, 404 nerve regeneration artificial nerve conduits, 404 artificial nerve guidance conduits, 403 motor nerve donor graft, 404 nerve allografts, 403 non-neural biological grafts, 403 reanimation free muscle transfers, 402, 403 regional muscle transfers, 403 reinnervation (see Reinnervation technique) static slings and non-surgical approaches, 395 Familial lymphedema, 293 Farnesol, 118 Fascia/fasciocutaneous flap classification, 434 Fasciocutaneous flap ALT, 437, 439 antero-medial thigh flap, 436 groin, 436, 437 lateral thigh flap, 437 posterior thigh flap, 437 saphenous artery perforator flap, 438, 441 sural, 437, 440 transverse upper gracilis flap, 437 Fat grafting, 454 Fat tissue defect, 246 Fibrin clot, 342 Fibroblast, 455 Fibroblast growth factors (FGFs), 9, 259, 260, 263 Fibula osteocutaneous flap, 446 Filing fees, 223 Filing IP rights, 225 Fillet flap, 450, 451 First-inventor-to-file system (FITF), 224 First-to-file (FTF), 222 Flap reconstruction, 433, 434 Flap vasculature, 434 Flexor carpi ulnaris, 254 Flurandrenolide tape, 330 Food and Drug Administration (FDA), 221 Foundation for the Accreditation of Cellular Therapy (FACT), 240 Free and pedicled flap, 436 Free flap coverage, 434 Free flap reconstruction, 432, 434 Free flap surgery, 434 Free muscle transfers, 402, 403 Free osteocutaneous flaps, 444 Freestyle free flap, 436

Fretting implants, 152 Functional electrical stimulation, 404 Functional tissue regeneration, 263, 264 Functionalizing/modifying surgical implants, 304

G

Gastrocnemius flap, 443, 445 Gelatin microparticles, 288 Gellan gum, 136 Gene therapy medicinal products (GTMPs), 230 Genetically Modified Organism (GMO), 234 Gentrix® Surgical Thick sheets, 369 Glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF), 260 Gluteal and thigh regions, 444 Gluteal augmentation, 248 Gluteus maximus, 438 Glycocalyx, 130 Glycosaminoglycans, 203 Gold nanoparticles (GNPs), 256 Good Clinical Practices (GCPs), 237 Good Laboratory Practice (GLP), 235, 236 Good Manufacturing Practice (GMP), 240 Good Tissue Practice (GTP), 235 GoreTex, 308, 309 GoreTex rhinoplasty, 314 Grace period, 224 Gram-negative bacilli, 69 Gram-positive biofilm-related infections, 115 Groin flap, 436, 437 Growth factor therapy, 8-9 Growth factors, 288, 289

H

Hanover Fracture Scale 1998 (HFS-98), 453 HAPEX, 153 Hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs), 188-190, 338 Hemisoleus flap, 443 Hemochromatosis, 205 HIF-1 DNA-binding activity, 206 High sensitivity assays (hsCRP), 175 Huge tissue defects, 345 Human adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells (hAMSCs), 19 Human bone marrow (hBM), 338 Human iPSCs, 194 Human legs, 429 Human lower limb, 429 Human periapical cysts-mesenchymal stem cells (hPCy-MSCs), 340 Hyaluronic acid (or hyaluronan), 132, 153 Hydrogel-coated silicone catheters, 93 Hydrogel injection, 153 Hydroxyapatite (HAp), 25, 287, 344 Hypertrophic scars causes. 329 features, 329

follow-up, 334 injured skin, 329 local mechanical forces, 329 natural healing, 330 prevention, 329, 330 surgical treatment compression therapy, 334 corticosteroid injections, 331-333 full-thickness skin grafting, 331, 332 laser therapies, 333, 334 local/regional flaps, 331 wound stabilization treatments, 334 Zigzag sutures, 331 Hypoglossal facial nerve, 399 Hypoxia inducible factor 1 HIF-1a pathway, 205 iron chelation for, 205, 206 Ln-332, 205 modulation pathway regulation, 204 oxygen-sensitive prolyl-hydroxylases, 203 physiological activation, 203 Pro-OH HIF-1α, 204 subunits, 203 VHL E3 ligase protein, 204 Hypoxia response elements (HRE), 203

I

Iliac osteocutaneous /DCIA flap, 446 Ilizarov technique, 254 Imbedded growth factors, 327 Immune system problems, 264, 265 Implant surface, cell and tissue penetration, 305 Induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs), 194, 262, 265, 338 Inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), 169 Infectious Diseases Society of America (IDSA), 69 Infratemporal facial nerve, 399 IngeniOs Hydroxyapatite Synthetic Bone Particles, 153 Inguinal transplanted fragments, 297 Injury severity scoring systems, 453 Institutional Review Board (IRB), 237 Insulin-like growth factor (IGF), 288, 344, 455 Integra® Bilayer Matrix Wound Dressing, 366 Intellectual property (IP), 222, 223 Interleukin-1_β, 161 International Council for Harmonisation of Technical Requirements for Pharmaceuticals for Human Use, 235 International Federation for Adipose Therapeutics and Science (IFATS), 189 International Society for Cellular Therapy (ISCT), 188, 189, 240 Intracardiac implants, 87 Intrauterine/penile prosthetic devices, 87-88 Intrinsic/innate aging, 202 Investigational Device Exemption (IDE), 237 Investigational New Drug (IND), 232, 237

Iron chelation, for HIF-1 modulation, 205, 206 Isografts, 285

J

Japanese Pharmaceuticals and Medical Devices Agency (PMDA), 221 Jellyfish collagen isolation, 27 Joint Accreditation Committee isctebmt (JACIE), 240 Joint-commercialization, 219

K

Keratin-collagen-nHA 3D osteoinductive biocomposite scaffolds, 28 Keratin extraction process, 26 Keratinocyte growth factor (KGF), 190 Keratins, 22 Key opinion leaders (KOLs), 217

L

Lactobacillus plantarum, 116 Lactobacillus salivarius, 117 Lag screws fixation, 358 LaRoche-Posay thermal water, 162 Lateral thigh flap, 437 Latissimus dorsi (LD) flap, 434, 450 Leishmania major infection, 161 Leucine-Aspartic Acid-Valine (LDV), 22 Life Sciences Innovation Forum (LISF), 240 Limb edema, 294 Limb Salvage Index (LSI), 453 Limb salvage procedure, 432 Liposuction technique, 252 LISTEX™ P100, 75 ListShield[™], 75, 95 Ln-332, 205 L-nitro-L-arginine methyl ester (L-NAME), 169 Local cutaneous flaps, 433 Local fasciocutaneous flaps, 436, 437 Local flap reconstruction ad hoc perforator, 436 bi-pedicled flaps, 436 freestyle free flap, 436 local fasciocutaneous flaps, 436, 437 muscle flaps, 436 peroneal and anterior tibial artery flaps, 436 posterior tibial artery, 436 propeller flaps, 435 random pattern cutaneous flaps, 435 type B fasciocutaneous, 436 V-Y flaps, 436 Local mechanical forces, 329 Locking plate/screw systems, 358 Long-pulsed (not Q-switched) 1064 nm Nd:YAG laser, 333, 334

Low level light therapy (LLLT), 415, 416, 418

Lower limb autologous platelet rich plasma, 454 biomolecular studies, 454 choice of reconstruction amputation, 451, 453 anatomical zone of injury (see Anatomical zone of injury) direct closure and local alternatives, 433 factors, 432 fasciocutaneous flap, 436-438 flap complications, 434, 435 flap failure, 434 flap reconstruction, 433, 434 flap vasculature, 434 free osteocutaneous flaps, 444 local flap, 435-437 muscle and musculocutaneous flaps, 438-444 NPWT, 453 patient assessment, 431, 432 patient's motivation and compliance, 432 patient's psychological state, 432 physical examination, 431 rehabilitation and functional end point, 432 "stepwise" assessment, 430, 431 dermal substitutes/acellular dermal matrices, 454 evolution, 429 fat grafting, 454 human legs, 429 mesenchymal stem cell, 454 reconstruction, 430 scaffolds, 454 stem cell research, 454 upper limb allotransplantation, 454 LTU-904 laser, 416 Lymph node tissue engineering artificial lymph nodes, 297 bioartificial lymph nodes, 297 cell types, 297 scaffold, 296, 297 transplanting autologous lymph node fragments, 297 Lymphatic transport, 293 Lymphedema autologous transplantation, 295 chronic lymphedema, 293 clinical presentation and diagnosis, 294, 295 complete decongestive therapy, 295 primary, 293 reconstructive procedures, 295 secondary, 293 tarda, 293 Lyophilized sheet formulation, 369 Lysate®, 75

M

Malunions, 360, 361 Mandibular angle region, 305 Mandibular augmentation, 305 Mandibular fracture management advantages, 357

complications infection, 359, 360 major and minor, 361 malunions, 360, 361 nerve injury, 360, 361 nonunion, 360, 361 rates, 359 scars, 361 teeth damage, 361 TMJ disorders, 361 wound dehiscence, 361, 362 disadvantages, 357 effects of immobilization, 357 etiologic factors, 357 mechanism of injury, 357 open vs. closed reduction, 357 principles, 357 surgical treatment bioresorbable plates, 359 compression plates, 358 intermaxillary fixation, 358 lag screws fixation, 358 locking plate/screw systems, 358 miniplates, 359 reconstruction plates, 358 subperiosteal dissection, 358 three-dimensional miniplates, 359 Mandibular implantation, 314 Mangled Extremity Severity Score (MESS), 453 Mannoprotein, 118 Masseteric-facial coaptation, 400 Masseteric nerve, 400 Massive soft tissue defect, 451 Mastectomy, 62 Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), 203 Maxillofacial soft-tissue defect, 350 Mechanotransduction in cutaneous fibrosis, 35 definition, 35 environmental cues, 41 extracellular matrix (ECM), 36, 37 intracellular mechanotransduction calcium-dependent ion channels, 38 central mediators, 37 focal adhesion kinase (FAK), 38, 39 growth factors and cytokines, 38 Hippo pathway, 39, 40 ion channels and cytokines, 38 RhoGTPases, 39 signaling pathways, 37 stromal cell-derived factor 1 (SDF-1), 38 TGF-β signaling, 38 of scar formation, 35-36 pharmacological approaches, 40 Medial plantar flaps, 450 MedPor, 308 Mersilene mesh, 309 Mesenchymal stem/stromal cells (MSCs), 154, 188, 189, 256, 288, 454 cell-based therapies, 103

cellular and molecular mechanisms, 341 clinical applications aesthetic procedures, 340, 341 cosmetic procedures, 340 in regenerative medicine, 341-342 on tissues defects, 340-341 clinical indications, 101 comprehensive profiling, 103 with deferoxamine preconditioning, 105 dental follicle progenitor cells, 340 experimental in vivo studies, 341 extracellular vesicles (EVs), 102, 103 apoptotic bodies, 102 differential ultracentrifugation, 103 exosomes, 102 microvesicles, 102 size-exclusion chromatography, 103 therapeutic potential, 106, 107 ex vivo expansion, 101 genetic modifications, 104 growth factors and cytokines, 102 hPCy-MSCs, 340 human periapical cysts-mesenchymal stem cells, 340 hypoxic preconditioning, 104 in vitro preconditioning regimens, 105 in vitro pretreatment, 105 in vivo MSCs, 101 markers, 338 oral and maxillofacial application, 342 oral tissues, 338, 339 periodontal ligament stem cells, 339 preconditioning, 104 preincubation with growth factors, 105 protective and regenerative effects, 103, 342 regenerative medicine, 337 ROS generation, 105 SCAP, 340 SHEDs, 338 stem cell character, 101 therapeutic effect, 341 treatment degenerative end traumatic injuries, 342 fabrication of membranes, 343 growth factors, 344 huge tissue defects, 345 inorganic materials, 344 non-resorbable membranes, 343 scaffolds, 345 synthetic membranes, 343 tissue engineering methods, 345 Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA), 69, 73 Microbiota characterization difficulties, 160 definition, 160 in wound healing, 161, 162 skin, 160, 161 Microdeformational wound therapy (MDWT) chest tubes draining, 322 chest wounds, 324

clinical application, 323 complex wounds, 321 contraindications, 323 diabetic wounds, 326 exudative management, 323 imbedded growth factors, 327 indications, 323 loss of domain, 325 macrodeformation, 323 mechanical device, 323 mechanisms of action, 322 microdeformation, 323 natural mechanisms, 321 non-modifiable factors, 321 open abdominal wounds, 324, 325 open acute traumatic wounds/chronic pressure ulcers, 326 peripheral vascular disease, 326 safety concerns, 326 sealed, thermoregulated and moist environment, 323 secondary effects, 324 simple wounds heal, 321 surgical management, 322 temporary abdominal closure, 325 Microelectrical system-based devices, 404 Microgen, 95 MicroMatrix[®] powder, 369, 372, 374, 382 MicroRNAs (miRNAs), 263 Midface augmentation, 305 Midfacial implantation, 314 Milk thistle (Silymarin), 414-415 Miniplates, 359 Modified Allen's test (MAT), 351 Modular mismatch, 152 Mollusks, 152 Monotone diet, 7 Montelukast (Singulair), 414 Motor nerve donor graft, 404 Muscle and musculocutaneous flaps, 436 classification, 434 gastrocnemius, 443, 445 gluteus maximus, 438 pedicled and innervated gracilis flap, 442, 443 soleus, 443 tensor fascia lata, 440, 442 vastus lateralis, 444 Muscle's dominant vascular pedicle, 433 Muscle, tendon, and ligament tissue defects, 246

Ν

N-acetylmuramoyl-l-alanine amidase, 115 Nacre, 152 Nasal implantation, 305, 314, 315 National Center for Advancing Translational Sciences (NCATs), 213 National Institute of Health, 81 Natural/artificial material scaffolds, 129 Natural hydroxyapatite, 344 Natural polymers, 287 N-butanoylmannosamine (ManBut), 143 Negative pressure technique, 312 Negative pressure wound therapy (NPWT), 9, 10, 322, 434, 453 Nerve allografts, 403 Nerve defects, 246 Nerve injury, Ischemia, Soft tissue injury, Skeletal injury, Shock, Age system (NISSSA), 453 Nerve reconstruction and transfers babysitter procedure, 401 cross-facial nerve grafting, 400, 401 hypoglossal nerve, 399 masseteric nerve, 400 Nerve regeneration artificial nerve conduits, 403, 404 electrical stimulation, 263 motor nerve donor graft, 404 nerve allografts, 403 non-neural biological grafts, 403 Non-dilutive funding, 218 Non-neural biological grafts, 403 Nonunion, 360 Nutritive blood vessels, 203

0

Office of Cellular, Tissue and Gene Therapies (OCTGT), 237 Office of Combination Products (OCP), 231 Off-the-shelf therapy, 194 2-OG competitive inhibitor, 205 Oligo (poly (ethylene glycol) fumarate) (OPF), 288 Onlay graft, 349 Open abdominal wounds, 324, 325 Open acute traumatic wounds/chronic pressure ulcers, 326 Open capsulotomy, 423 Oral microbiota, 116 Oral rehabilitation systems, 88 Orthopedic implants, 87 Osteoconductive grafts, 284 Osteogenesis imperfecta (OI), 154 Osteogenic grafts, 284 Osteoinductivity, 284 Oxygen-sensitive asparaginyl hydroxylase FIH, 204 Oxygen-sensitive prolyl-hydroxylases (PHD), 203

P

Palmaris longus tendon, 254
Paris Convention for the Protection of Industrial Property (1883), 222
Pathological scars, 329
Pedicled flaps, 434

and free flap, 450
and innervated gracilis flap, 442, 443

Peer-reviewed journals, 224
Penicillium algidum, 118
Perfect storm, 69, 70
Periodontal ligament stem cells (PDLSCs), 339

Periodontic healing, 153 Periosteum, 153 Peripheral blood monocytes (PBM), 175 Periprosthetic joint infections (PJI), 87 Peroneal and anterior tibial artery flaps, 436 Peroneal and posterior tibial artery perforators, 447-449 Personalized cell therapy, 341 Peyronie's disease, 88 Phosphocholine (PC), 175 Photoaging, 202 Physiokinesis therapy, 361 Plastic surgery, 129, 130 Platelet-derived angiogenesis factor (PDAF), 263 Platelet-derived epidermal growth factor (PDEGF), 263 Platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), 9, 190, 288, 344 Platelet gels, 342 Platelet-rich fibrin (PRF), 342-343 Platelet-rich plasma (PRP), 263, 289, 342, 343 Plectosphaerella cucumerina, 118 Polycaprolactone, 287 Poly-DL-Lactic Acid Mesh Carrier, 353 Poly-DL-lactic-coglycolic acid (PLGA), 287 Poly(DTE carbonate), 344 Polyglycolic acid (PGA), 343 Polylactic acid (PLA), 287, 343 Polylactic acid-polyglycolic acid (PLLA-PGA) co-polymer, 344 Polylactic-co-glycolic acid (PLGA), 257 Polymers, 286 Polysaccharides from algae agarose, 136 alginate, 135 carrageenan, 136 from animal sources chitin, 134 chitosan, 134, 135 hyaluronic acid (hyaluronan), 132, 134 from microbial sources dextran. 136 Gellan gum, 136 Pullulan, 136 Xanthan, 136, 137 from plant sources cellulose, 135 starch, 135 Poly-α-2,8-sialic acid (PSA), 142 Posterior thigh flap, 437 Posterior tibial artery, 436 Post-traumatic maxillary alveolar ridge defect benign tumor extirpations, 350 to BMAC harvest, 350 BMP + B MAC + allogeneic bone, 353 bone marrow aspiration, 350, 351 cutaneous radial forearm free flap, 350 endosteal implants, 354 exposure, 353 fibrous scar tissue, 352 indications, 350 poly-DL-lactic acid mesh carrier, 353

radial forearm flap, 351-354 radial forearm harvest, 350 split thickness skin graft, 353, 354 traditional reconstructive ladder, 349 Predictive index scores, 453 Predictive Salvage Index (PSI), 453 Premarket approval (PMA), 214, 216 Pressure ulcer coverage, 435 Primary end-to-end neurorrhaphy, 396, 398 Primary lower limb amputation, 452 Primary suture repair, 396, 398 Priority Medicines (PRIME), 234 Product's claimed mode of action, 233 Profunda femoris artery, 438 Proline hydroxylated (Pro-OH) HIF-1α, 204 Propeller flaps, 435 Prophylactic antibiotics, 70 Prosthetic joint infections (PJI), 93 Prosthetic valve endocarditis (PVE), 87 Pseudomonas aeruginosa, 93, 161 Public Health Service Act (PHS), 236 Pullulan, 136 Pulsed dye laser (PDL), 333 Pyridoxatin, 119 Pyrvinium, 11

Q

Q submissions/Q-subs, 237

R

Radial forearm free flap (RFFF), 246, 351, 352, 446 Random pattern cutaneous flaps, 435 Random pattern skin flaps, 433 Reactive oxygen species (ROS), 205 Reanimation free muscle transfers, 402, 403 regional muscle transfers, 403 Reconstruction plates, 358 Reconstruction surgeries' methods, 284 Reconstructive ladder, 430, 432 Rectus abdominis muscle flaps, 450 Regeneration, definition, 159 Regenerative medicine (RM), 3, 337 academic initiatives, 241 collaborative parties formation, 240 distribution models cultural, 239 economics, 239 ethics, 239, 240 EU and US ATMPs, 230 CAT issues, 234 CHMP, 234 combination products, 231, 233 drugs/biological products, 231 essential function, 233 GTMPs, 230 high risk, 232

HCT/Ps, 232, 233 legal framework, 236-238 medicinal devices, of human tissues, 231 PRIME, 234 product's claimed mode of action, 233 RMAT designation, 231, 232 SCMPs, 230 similarities, 232 substantially (major) manipulated vs. nonsubstantially (minimally) manipulated, 233 **TEPs**, 230 regulation framework and jurisdiction, 238 regulatory clarity, 238 Regenerative Medicine Advanced Therapy (RMAT) designation, 231 Regenerative treatment breast asymmetry, 247 breast augmentation, 247 breast reconstruction, 246 facial rejuvenation, 248 gluteal augmentation, 248 replacement vs. regeneration fat tissue defects, 252 muscle, tendon, and ligament tissue defects, 250 nerve defects, 252 skin and subcutaneous tissue defects, 250 scar formation vs. regeneration muscle, tendon, and ligament tissue defects, 249 nerve defects, 249, 250 skin and subcutaneous tissue defects, 248 scars and burns, 247, 248 Regional muscle transfers, 403 Reinnervation technique, 249 nerve grafts, 398, 399 nerve reconstruction and transfers babysitter procedure, 401 cross-facial nerve grafting, 400, 401 hypoglossal facial nerve, 399 masseteric nerve, 400 primary suture repair, 396, 398 tissue adhesives, 397 Requests for Designations (RFDs), 231 Retigeric acid B, 119 RNA interference (RNAi), 11, 263

S

Saphenous artery perforator flap, 438, 441 Saphenous flap, 447 Scaffold based treatment fat tissue defects, 259 muscle, tendon, and ligament tissue defects, 256, 257 nerve defects, 257–259 skin and subcutaneous tissue defects, 256 Scaffold bioengineering, 130 Scaffolds, 286, 345 Scar formation, 35 Scar mitigation, 35 Schwann cells, 249, 250, 257, 261, 262

defensive publications, 223, 224 filing IP rights, 225 IP protection, 222, 223, 225, 226 patent filing, 223 trade secret, 224, 225 Self-commercialization, 219 Sensory nerve injury, 360 Sharpey's fibers, 152 Short interfering RNAs (siRNAs), 263 Silicone granulomas, 420 Silicone implants biointegration, 304, 305 cysteinyl leukotrienes, 304, 305 functionalizing/modifying surgical implants, 304 locations midface, 309 nasal, 309, 310 Silicone tape, 330 Skin-aging biological basis, 201 collagen, 203 elastin, 203 elastosis, 203 extrinsic aging, 202 HIF-1 HIF-1α pathway, 205 iron chelation, 205, 206 Ln-332, 205 modulation pathway regulation, 204 oxygen-sensitive prolyl-hydroxylases, 203 physiological activation, 203 Pro-OH HIF-1α. 204 subunits, 203 VHL E3 ligase protein, 204 intrinsic/innate aging, 202 layers of skin, 201 MMPs, 203 young vs. aged skin, 202 Skin and subcutaneous tissue defects, 245, 246 Skin lesions, 161 Skin tissue regeneration, 263 Small and Medium sized Enterprises (SMEs), 241 Small Business Innovation Research (SBIR), 218 Small Business Technology Transfer (STTR) Programs, 218Smart Negative Pressure (SNaP) Wound Care System, 323 Smooth implants, 308 Soft tissue defects fat tissue defects, 246 muscle, tendon, and ligament tissue defects, 246 nerve defects, 246 skin and subcutaneous tissue defects, 245, 246 Soft tissue regeneration antioxidant treatment, 10 bioactive dressings, 12 biomimetic collagen hydrogels, 12 biomimetic scaffolds, 12 chronic wounds, 7 genetic and epigenetic indicators, 12 growth factor therapy, 8-9

mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs), 12 monotone diet, 7 neovascularization, 12 NPWT. 9, 10 Pullulan (a polysaccharide polymer)-collagen matrices, 12 RNA-interference-based therapy, 11 ROS, 10 stem cell-based therapy, 11-12 surgical techniques fat tissue defects, 255, 256 muscle, tendon, and ligament tissue defects, 254 nerve defects, 254, 255 skin and subcutaneous tissue defects, 254 wnt pathway, 11 wound healing, 7 Solar elastosis, 203 Soleus, 443 Solid implants complications, 306 GoreTex, 308, 309 MedPor, 308 Mersilene mesh, 309 silicone, 308 in facial reconstruction, 305, 306 implant shaping, 313 infection, 311, 312 intraoperative antibiotics, 312 intraoperative techniques and implant placement chin Implantation, 313-314 mandibular implantation, 314 midfacial implantation, 314 nasal implantation, 314, 315 locations mandibular, 310 midface, 309 mandibular augmentation, 305 midface augmentation, 305 patient selection, 311 postoperative antibiotic use, 313 preoperative antibiotic soak/impregnation, 312 procedure, 311 surgical approach, 313 Somatic cell therapy medicinal products (SCMPs), 230 Spirulina platensis, 117 Spring water, 161, 162 Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs), 237 Staphylococcus epidermidis, 161 Stem cell-based therapies, 337 Stem cell differentiation breast reconstruction ADM, 62 biodegradable scaffolds, 62 mammary adipose tissue, 64, 65 mammary epithelial tissue, 65 mastectomy, 62 tissue engineering scaffolds, 62 material cues, 64 mechanical cues, 63, 64

Scientific research

Stem cells, 3 adipose tissue advantages, 191 challenges and potential strategies, 191, 192 delivery system, 193, 194 harvesting method, 193 optimization, 193 pathology and aging, 192 pro-angiogenic growth factors, 190 SVF, 189 transcriptomic and proteomics analysis, 190 wound healing mechanisms, 190, 191 iPSCs, 194 recruitment, 165 research. 454 wound healing, 188, 189 Stem cells isolated from the root apical papilla of the human teeth (SCAP), 340 Steroid tape, 330 Streptomyces hawaiiensis, 117 Stress shielding, 152 Stretching wounds, 330 Stromal cell-derived factor 1 (SDF-1) signaling bone marrow (BM) maintenance, 49, 50 cell migration and behavior, 47 chetomin, 53 disease states over-expression, 52, 53 under-expression, 52 embryological development, 48 molecular mechanisms, 47 Sitagliptin inhibits dipeptidylpeptidase-IV (DPP-IV), 53 small molecule CXCR4 antagonists, 53 structure and function, 47, 48 tissue repair and regeneration, 49-51 Stromal vascular fraction (SVF), 189 Structural protein, 153, 154 Subatmospheric pressure treatment, 322 Suction infiltration technique, 312 Sugar code, 137 Superior and inferior gluteal perforator flaps (SGAP/ IGAP), 438 Sural fasciocutaneous flap, 447 Sural flap, 437, 440 Surgical Care Improvement Project (SCIP), 70 Surgical site infection (SSI), 69 Synthetic hydroxyapatite, 344 Synthetic polymers, 287

Т

Technological commercialization, 219 Technology transfer office (TTOs), 215 Telomere length, 202 Temporomandibular joint (TMJ) disorders, 361 Tendon healing, 249, 263 Tensor fascia lata (TFL), 440, 442 Theranostics, 94 Three-dimensional (3D) culture systems, 61 Three-dimensional miniplates, 359 Tibialis anterior muscle, 444 Tinel-Hoffman sign, 126 Tinel's sign, 402 Tissue adhesives, 397 Tissue Engineered Nerve Grafts (TENGs), 257, 261, 262 Tissue engineered products (TEPs), 230 Tissue engineering approach, 3, 286 Tissue expansion, 433 Titanium hollow-screw osteointegrated reconstruction plate (THORP), 358 Titanium implants, 152 Topical bacterial lipopolysaccharide, 161 Trade-related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights (the TRIPS Agreement), 225 Trade secret, 224, 225 Traditional block bone graft, 349 Traditional reconstructive ladder, 349 Transactivation domains (TAD), 204 Transforming growth factor (TGF), 259, 260, 262 Transforming growth factor beta (TGFβ), 9, 190, 289 Transplanting autologous lymph node fragments, 297 Transverse rectus abdominis myocutaneous (TRAM) flap, 247 Transverse upper gracilis (TUG) flap, 436-437 Tumor anemia, 166 Tumor necrosis factor-a (TNF-a), 161, 190 Tumor-resected maxillomandibular defects, 349 Type B fasciocutaneous, 436

U

UniQure'sGlybera, 235 United States Patent and Trademark Office (USPTO), 224 Upper limb allotransplantation, 454 U.S.A. Human Microbiome Project (HMP), 160 US FDA-EMA-Health Canada Advanced Therapy Medicinal Products Cluster, 240 Use of porcine urinary bladder matrix (UBM-ECM) acute trauma degloving type wounds, 369 clinical cases facial soft tissues, 382-388 forehead and scalp, 372-374 nasal reconstruction, 374-382 facial scarring, 365, 366 forehead and scalp wound patients, 366 head and neck wound reconstruction, 365 limitations, 369 lyophilized sheet formulation, 369 MatriSome and MatriSome-associated proteins, 367 MicroMatrix® powder, 369 Mohs surgical management, 367, 368 nasal wounds, 366 normal inflammatory healing response, 367 outcomes, 369 peptide fragments, 367 pustular dermatosis, 368 secondary skin graft, 366 vacuum-pressed sheets, 369 wound bed preparation, 366 wound devices, 365-367, 369

V

Vacuum-Assisted Closure (VAC), 322 Vacuum-pressed sheets, 369 Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), 9, 190, 259, 261, 262 Vascularization, 264 Vascularized Composite Allotransplant (VCA), 176 Vascularized grafts, 285 Vastus lateralis, 444 VEGFR-3 tyrosine kinase signaling pathway, 293 Vital signal molecules (HGF), 264 *Vitreoscilla filiformis*, 162 Volumetric muscle loss, 246 Von Hippel-Landau (VHL) E3 ligase protein, 204 V-Y, bipedicled and keystone flaps, 444, 446–447 V-Y flaps, 436

W

Wallerian degeneration, 249 Wingless-type (WNT) signaling pathways, 455 World Intellectual Property Organization (WIPO), 222 World Trade Organization, 225 Wound care, 70 Wound healing, 7, 8, 159, 161, 165, 167, 169 microbiota role, 161, 162 proliferative phase, 159 stem cells adult stem cells, 188 bone marrow derived stem cells, 189 embryonic stem cells, 188 MSCs, 188, 189 Wound stabilization treatments, 334

Х

Xanthan, 136, 137

Y

Young's modulus, 152

Ζ

Zafirlukast (Accolate), 413, 414 Zigzag sutures, 331 Z-plasties, 331